## **ABSTRACT BOOK**

## 11<sup>th</sup> International BCI Meeting

Building Momentum: Fostering Collaboration in BCI June 2-5, 2025 Banff, Canada



Graz



@BciSociety

bcisociety.org

#BCI2025

## Imprint

Editors:	Reinhold Scherer, Rob Gaunt, Eli Kinney-Lang, Marc Slutzky, Mariska Vansteensel, Gernot Müller-Putz				
Layout:	Nitikorn Srisrisawang, Gernot Müller-Putz				
Cover picture:	Getty Images				

2025 Verlag der Technischen Universität Graz

www.tugraz-verlag.at

ISBN (e-book): 978-3-99161-050-2

DOI: 10.3217/978-3-99161-050-2



This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0) license. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en

This CC license does not apply to the cover, third party material (attributed to other sources) and content noted otherwise.

#### 11<sup>th</sup> International BCI Meeting

#### **Building Momentum: Fostering Collaboration in BCI**

Dear colleagues and participants,

We were thrilled to present to you the Proceedings of the 11th International Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) Meeting in Banff, Canada! As the flagship event of the International BCI Society, this gathering brings together experts from the field to share groundbreaking research, engage in insightful dialogues, and build lasting relationships. Our goal is to inspire and connect you with the latest advancements and opportunities in BCI technology, ensuring we **keep up the momentum and foster collaboration to shape the future of BCIs**.

The International BCI Meeting features dynamic workshops, inspiring posters, and thoughtprovoking presentations. Special events support growth and collaboration for all expertise levels. Covering foundational, translational, and clinical BCI research, the event drives progress with unmatched energy and enthusiasm. The abstracts collected in these Proceedings highlight the diversity of applications, user needs, and scientific and technological advancements in the field, as presented in the 11<sup>th</sup> edition.

Conducting research with and for end-users is crucial for developing impactful solutions. Codevelopment and foundational research must work hand in hand to address challenging research questions and reliably capture and translate brain signals into actionable outcomes. Our distinguished keynote speakers embody this approach. The invaluable experiences and profound insights of Melanie Fried-Oken from Oregon Health & Science University, Juan Gallego from Imperial College London, and Karunesh Ganguly from the University of California, San Francisco, inspire us all to push the boundaries of BCI technology.

In addition to our keynote speakers, we like to take a moment to extend our heartfelt gratitude to everyone involved in making the meeting a success. To our helpers, thank you for your unwavering support. To our reviewers, your insightful feedback greatly enhanced our work. And to everyone involved, your collective efforts truly made a difference.

On behalf of the BCI Society and the Program Committee, we extend our sincere thanks for your interest in the BCI Meeting. We look forward to connecting with you at future instalments of the BCI Meeting Series. Your participation is what makes these gatherings truly special, and we can't wait to see the incredible collaborations and research ideas that will emerge.

Reinhold Scherer University of Essex, UK Scientific Program Committee Chair

## **Table of Contents**

Development of a Novel Clinical Outcome Assessment: The Digital Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale	1
An EEG Artifact Removal Neural Network for BCI Applications with EEG-ViTNet	2
Deep learning-based electroencephalic decoding of coherence and direction of the random dot kinematogram	3
Evaluation of a P300 BCI for augmentative and alternative communication in children with disabilities	4
A Speech Neuroprosthesis for Decoding High Frequency Activity in Anterior Cingulate and Orbitofrontal Cortices and Hippocampus for Phonemes Articulation	5
Ambiguous Text Input for Brain-Computer Interfaces	6
Subject-Transfer Approach based on Convolutional Neural Networks for Classifying Gait-related Motor Imagery	7
A Novel Rhythmic Motor Imagery BCI with High Efficiency	8
Neural encoding and decoding of multidimensional handwriting movement	9
Quantifying the spatial stability of sensory stimulation projected fields for neuroprostheses	10
Mitigating EEG Non-Stationarity in Multi-Session MI BCI with Autoencoder Denoisers	11
Autoregressive model for artifact detection in finger motor imagery decoding for EEG BCI	12
Finding the Groove in Neural Space	13
Asynchronous Voluntary Self-regulated Near-infrared Spectroscopy Brain-Computer Interface for Children with Cerebral Palsy	14
The potential of the 1/f EEG slope at rest for predicting BCI performance: a brain criticality hypothesis for BCI use	15
Speech mode classification from electrocorticography signals	16
Beyond Single Datasets: Transfer Learning for iBCI Decoding	17
Task-Based Functional Network and Topological Data Analysis of Event Related Potentials in Chronic Tinnitus	18
Towards the Clinical Translation of Implantable Brain-Computer Interfaces for Motor Impairment: Research Trends and Outcome Measures	19
Understanding Patient Preferences for Implantable Brain–Computer Interfaces in Motor Neuron Disease: A Cross- Sectional Survey	20
Automatic EEG Channel Optimization Based on Integrated Gradients for Auditory Attention Tasks	21
An SSVEP Regression Network for Cross-stimulus Transfer in SSVEP-BCIs	22
A novel method for visual cortical prosthesis	23
Adaptive EEG-Based Brain-Computer Interfaces for Stroke Patients: A Scoping Review	24
Movement-based navigation of a matrix-speller via EEG	25
Transparent c-VEP-based passive BCI to probe spatial attention	26
A non-invasive brain computer-brain stimulation interface to enhance motor rehabilitation	27
Real-Time BCI Control of a Virtual Third Arm	28
Bilateral frontotemporal neuronal dynamics during natural conversation: Single-neuron insights for BCI technologies	29
Recalibration of implantable brain-computer interface devices to enable long- term independent use: a systematic review	30
EEG-based Motor Imagery Neurofeedback Enhance Mu Suppression during Motor Attempt in Stroke Patients	31
Collaborative Virtual Reality BCI Post-Stroke Neurorehabilitation Using Head-Mounted Displays	32
Self-Correcting Multi-Command Brain-Computer Interfaces based on Error-Related Potentials	33
Exploring Early Predictability of Grasping Movements with non-invasive EEG	34

Defining Out-of-Distribution detection for EEG-BCIs	35
A Continuously Learning Neural Decoder for Versatile and Transferable Motor Control	36
Optimizing Decoder Dynamics Strength for Closed-Loop Brain-Computer Interfaces	37
MultiPy – An open-source Python toolbox for multimodal real-time analysis	38
Exploring fNIRS-guided neurofeedback to alleviate motor symptoms: A proof-of-concept study in Parkinson's disease and healthy older adults	39
Genetic Algorithm Implementation for Intersubject Motor Imagery Classification	40
Bayesian Reinforcement Learning for Optimizing the BCI-Utility of P300 Brain-Computer Interfaces	41
Classification of upper extremity function in stroke using magnetic resonance imaging acquired during Brain- computer interface protocols for neurorehabilitation	42
Building ethics into next-generation BCI: A model for embedded ethics in neurotechnology industry	43
From Physical to Virtual: Expanding Boccia Accessibility through Patient Partner Engagement	44
The first BCI clinical trial for stroke neurorehabilitation in Latin America: The ReHand-BCI trial	45
Wavelet Scattering-based EEG Channel Reduction for Motor Imagery Classification	46
Transformative and Generative Data Augmentation for EEG-based BCIs	47
Too busy to feel? Studying the impact of workload on visuo-tactile perception through EEG	48
Addressing the Non-stationary Learning Problem with Graph Attention Networks in Motor Imagery	49
Dynamic Class Balancing for Real-time Decoder Learning	50
An intuitive, bimanual, high-throughput QWERTY keyboard touch typing neuroprosthesis	51
Virtual Reality-Based Investigation of Error-Related Potentials in ADHD for BCI applications	52
Decoding Hand Gestures from Gyral and Sulcal Regions of the Sensorimotor Cortex Using High-Resolution fMRI	53
Identifying Brain Activity Biomarkers For Cognitive Skills In Children Aged 7 To 12 Years Using The EPOC X Mobile EEG	54
Should BCIs shape experiences of communication of people with LIS, and if so, how?	55
Imagined Phoneme Decoding and Protocol Optimization for Non-invasive EEG-based Speech BCIs	56
Predicting V1 spiking activity from scalp EEG in macaques	57
BCI Training-Induced Neuroplasticity: Evidence from Long-Term Neural Activity Analysis	58
Impact of Surrounding Audio-Visual Complexity on Symptomatology of Laryngeal Dystonia: A Virtual Reality Study	59
Patient-Specific Visual Neglect Severity Estimation for Stroke Patients using an AR and EEG based BCI	60
Adaptive Closed-Loop Neurofeedback Brain-Computer Interface for Treatment of Laryngeal Dystonia	61
Hardware Friendly Corticomorphic Hybrid CNN-SNN Architecture for EEG-Based Auditory Attention Detection	62
Zero-shot Deep Learning for Calibration-free Motor Imagery BCIs	63
Closed-loop error damping in human BCI using endogenous modifications in motor cortex activity	64
MindVoice: A Multimodal Framework for EEG-Based Speech Decoding	65
Toward Commercialization of a High-Efficiency AAC System with BCI Access for Individuals with Minimal Movement	66
Neuroethical considerations on Brain Computer Interface research in Latin America	67
An Innovative Method for Detecting P300 Signals in Patients with Disorders of Consciousness	68
Measuring motor intent for BCI control – a comparative analysis of the Stentrode and scalp EEG	69
Ear-EEG Auditory Error-Related Potentials	70
A biomimetic iBCI decoder for restoring hand function in people with spinal cord injury	71

II

The AppleCatcher Game: A Novel Motor Imagery BCI for Hand Rehabilitation	72
Investigating inter-participant performance variability in mental imagery EEG-BCIs: Descriptive methods to analyze inter- and intra-trial signal variation	73
Autonomic Activation, Mental Effort, and Fatigue While Using Non-Implantable RSVP and Matrix cBCIs	74
Comparative Evaluation of Compact and Research-Grade EEG in BCI: P300-Based Visual/Auditory Oddball Tasks	75
Daily independent conversational speech decoding from the intracortical neural activity of a man with ALS	76
A Pilot Study for SSVEP-based Person Recognition	77
Improving P300 BCI Performance with OSCAR	78
Towards a decision-making BCI for dynamic detection of uninformed decisions	79
Investigation on the material-tissue-interface of flexible epicortical electrode arrays in a ferret animal model	80
EEG-Based Brain-Computer Interface for a Tetraplegic Individual Using Motor Imagery for Cybathlon 2024	81
A P300 Brain-Computer Interface as a Diagnostic Tool for Measuring the Efficacy of Psychotherapeutic Intervention	82
Detailed Somatotopy of Speech Articulators in the Somatosensory Cortex to Define Electrocortical Stimulation Location	83
Do Complex Vision Models Improve Feature Alignment with fMRI for Neural Decoding of Visual Stimuli?	84
The neural representation of fine hand movements in an individual approaching locked-in syndrome	85
Redwood: A user friendly extension to the BCPy2000 system for developing advanced BCI Applications	86
Towards Multimodal BCIs for Access: A Performance & Usability Comparison of Individual Modalities	87
Identifying Motor-Specific Biomarkers in Parkinson's Disease: A Focus on Neural Activity in the Primary Motor Cortex	88
BCI-sift: An Automated Feature Selection Toolbox for Brain-Computer Interface Applications	89
Intracortical neural representation of finger movements in a nonhuman primate preserved over 400 days	90
A Transfer Learning Framework for Across-speaker Articulatory Movement Decoding in Sensorimotor Cortex	91
Temporal Dynamics of Neural Activation and Inhibition Patterns During Motor Imagery	92
Toward EEG discrimination of fingers movements during motor imagery vs passive movement	93
Manifold-Based Diffusion Models for Generating Synthetic Motor Imagery EEG	94
Theta-to-Alpha Frequency Ratio as an Indicator of Mindfulness During Binaural Beat Listening	95
Riemannian-Based Convolutional Neural Networks for EEG Classification	96
Brain-Computer Interface Games for Cognitive Assessment: A Scoping Review	97
EEG-based correlates of attention in intracortical BCI motor tasks	98
Advancing speech BCIs towards conversational speeds in people with paralysis	99
μECoG Array with 3,072 Electrodes for High-Density and Large-Area Cortical Recordings Based on Scalable Thin- Film Electronics	100
Quantizing the Growth in Clinical Trials for Implanted Brain-Computer Interfaces Addressing Motor, Sensory, and Communication Applications.	101
Quantifying Neuro-motor Relationships using Deep Learning for Deep Brain Stimulation Targeting in Parkinson's Disease	102
Efficient and accurate cortical spike train decoding for BCI implants with recurrent spiking neural networks	103
Can sex be decoded from MI features in deep learning based BCIs?: an exploratory analysis	104
Evoking Facial Expressions by Functional Electrical Stimulation in Healthy Volunteers	105
Development of Brain-Computer Interface Translational Research Platform in Canine Models	106

Ш

Closed-Loop Augmentation of Cognitive States	107
Feasibility of Non-Invasive EEG Brain-Computer Interfaces in Neurologic Music Therapy for Attention Training in Children with Neuromotor Disorders	108
Proprioceptive and Visual Feedback Effects on iBCI Decoding of Hand Grasps	109
The Application of Stereo-electroencephalography for Brain-computer Interfaces	110
Affective-Visual-Voice-Feedback Immersive Brain-Computer Interface Integrating EEG-Based Motor Imagery and Generative AI for Stroke Patients	111
Comparative covariance example selection: a weak labelling approach to MI BCI classification	112
Large-scale fMRI dataset for the design of motor-based Brain-Computer Interfaces	113
Speech decoding performance is influenced by perceiving auditory feedback or not: Implications for locked-in individuals	114
Jitter and Latency Characterization in Closed-Loop Neuromodulation during NREM Sleep in elderly and pathological population	115
Sequential Forward Selection (SFS) for Transfer Learning Source Selection in Motor Imagery BCI	116
Combatting percept adaptation to intracortical microstimulation in humans	117
Functional ultrasound neuroimaging through a human cranial window for decoding of movement effector somatotopy in primary motor cortex	118
Neural Mechanisms of Dual Motor and Language Processing	119
EEG decoding of gait for clinical rehabilitation and assessment	120
A BCI Robotic Glove System for Hand Motor Rehabilitation	121
EEG-based classification of awareness in disorders of consciousness	122
Star-Burst paradigm: implementation of an "invisible" dry-EEG reactive BCI	123
Movement decoding: dealing with neural signal drift	124
Minimal calibration MI-BCIs via inter-subject transfer learning with optimal transport	125
An efficient protocol to optimize ICMS encoding of artificial sensation	126
Multimodal Multivariate Granger Causality Between EEG and fNIRS during an Auditory Task	127
Implementing a Wearable BCI with Patients with Disorders of Consciousness: An Inter-professional Approach	128
Physiologic Manifestations of Communication & Learning in a Patient with Remote TBI & Disorders of Consciousness: Lessons from Establishing a Non-Invasive BCI Protocol	129
Changes in Brain Oscillatory Dynamics in Elderly Adults as a Consequence of Natural Aging	130
Toward Home-Use BCIs: Development and Evaluation of ECoG WIMAGINE Neuroprosthesis	131
Neural control of a robotic hand prosthesis by posture-related activity in the grasping circuit	132
Neurophysiologically-guided optimization of neuronal avalanches for BCI	133
A sEEG-based BCI for Brain-to-Chinese Language Decoding	134
Supporting the user learning process in MI-BCI based on backward adaptation and neurofeedback	135
Development and Validation of a Fully Implantable Brain-Computer Interface System	136
Meta-AlignNN: A Meta-Learning Framework for Stable BCI Performance Across Subjects, Time, and Tasks	137
Decoding of Lower-Limb Movement Intent from Scalp Electroencephalography (EEG) in Children	138
Cognitive requirements for effective brain-computer interface (BCI) use in children with cerebral palsy.	139
Enriching the Image: Does Combining Motor Imagery with Haptic Input Affect the Event-Related Desynchronization?	140
Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) in Latin America: a scientometrics perspective	141

Real-Time Classification and Modulation of the Distractor Positivity with an EEG BCI	143
Examining sEEG Traveling Wave Instances During Speech Production and Auditory Perceptual Contexts	144
Designing an Eye-Gaze Tracking System with Computer Vision to Enhance Children's Intention in BCI	145
The Impact of Directed Attention on ICMS in Human Somatosensory and Motor Cortex	146
Closed-loop applications for deep brain stimulation and code-modulated visual evoked potentials on Dareplane	147
Optimizing P300 Speller Performance through Uncertainty Quantification	148
Error-Positivity Amplification with Alternating-Current Stimulation Augments Perceptual Skills to Detect Errors	149
Stereo-EEG Based Brain Computer Interfacing Across a Large Patient Cohort	150
Efficacy of Recalibration for a P300 Speller	151
Unlocking Neural Patterns: A Graph Neural Network Model to Classify and Analyze EEG Connectivity in Parkinson's Disease	152
Simulated online typing performance in a cBCI using different language models	153
An implantable brain-spine interface restoring lower limb movements in a patient with motor complete spinal cord injury	154
Optimizing Imagined Speech Decoders: A Comprehensive Study on Intra-Subject Classification	155
Brain-Computer Interface Communication Application for Children with Diverse Learning Needs	156
Decoding hierarchical elements of language from speech motor cortex to restore communication for people with ALS	157
Integrating BCI, FES, and social media for Rehabilitation of Upper Extremity Motor Function in Youth	158
Perceptogram: Reconstructing Visual Percepts from EEG	159
A preliminary evaluation of a fully implantable speech BCI	160
A stabilization approach to improve decoding performance using non-linear dynamical models	161
Temporally Interfering electrical stimulation reduce interictal epileptiform discharges in rats	162
Preliminary Evaluation of the Safety of Single-Parameter Ultrasound Stimulation on the Visual Cortex in Rats	163
TMS-based neurofeedback facilitates motor imagery of different hand actions	164
A Brain-Computer Interface Approach to Music and Sound Generation	165
Building a taxonomy of variability factors in active BCI	166
Passive Neuroart BCI for Health: A Perspective	167
Blink Artifacts in EEG For Classifying Sight-read Music	168
Fostering Ethical Neurotechnology Leadership: Preparing BCI Innovators Through Education	169
DBS-evoked ECoG responses in depression: first characterization and possible implications for closed-loop applications	171
Benchmarking one-class Riemannian EEG classifiers to detect wakefulness under general anesthesia	172
Neuromorphic Processing of sEMG Signals for Finger Position Estimation	173
A Novel Fully Implantable High Data Rate BCI for Speech Restoration	174
Enhanced SSVEP Classification with Pre-trained Models: The SSVEP-CAT Approach for Calibration-Free BCI	175
Challenges in Common Spatial Pattern Reliability for Neurofeedback	176
Navigating the clinical trial pathway for implantable brain-computer interfaces: the COMMAND study	177
Clinical Evaluation of Communication Brain Computer Interfaces in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: A Landscape Analysis	178
Decoding of Coordinated Hand and Arm Movements	179

Motor-imagery neurofeedback for beta downregulation in Parkinson's disease	180
Consumer grade in-ear EEG for at home pediatric BCI	181
Closed Loop Decoding of Ipsilateral and Contralateral Proximal Movements in an Individual with Tetraplegia	182
Designs for no-control functionality using dynamic stopping algorithms as gatekeepers in P300 BCIs	183
Phoneme Sequence Encoding in Ventral Motor Cortex	184
A pilot study towards synthesizing speech during intraoperative recordings using the Layer 7 cortical interface	185
Intraoperative detection and classification of speech neural signals using the Layer 7 Cortical Interface	186
Towards Calibration-Free ECoG-Based Brain-Computer Interfaces: A Dual-Alignment Incremental Approach	187
Recent Improvements of the Wireless Link of the CorTec Brain Interchange Implanted BCI	188
Improving validation of BCI-based CV assessment	189
Enhancing Online Learning through Neuroadaptive Interfaces: The Role of Motivation and Task Load Adaptation	190
Intracortical voice synthesis neuroprosthesis to restore expressive speech to an individual with ALS	191
Simultaneous independent control of two cursors on the first day of intracortical BCI use by a participant with microelectrode arrays in bilateral precentral gyri.	192
A Wearable BCI Mediated Generative AI System for Conversational Interactions	193
Using a Long Short-Term Memory Neural Network for Generation of Control Signals from $\mu$ ECoG Data	194
Decoding gestures from intracortical neural activity in ventral precentral gyrus	196
TALES – Tech, Analysis, Legal, Ethics, Social: A Comprehensive Impact Assessment Framework for Responsible Neurotech Innovation	197
Comparative Analysis of the NeuroExo, the Stentrode, and the N1 BCI devices	198
Multimodal Sensor Fusion for EEG-Based BCI Typing Systems	199
A Family-centered Brain-Computer Interface Clinical Research Program for Children with Severe Disabilities	200
BCI-FIT: Effects of cBCI customization on performance	201
Neural Dynamics of Cognitive Tasks in Human Prefrontal and Parietal Cortex	202
Neural activity during persistent sensations caused by intracortical microstimulation	203
Long-term stability and performance of stimulation and recording in a human participant over 2,800 days	204
Motor imagery and execution activate similar finger representations that are spatially consistent over time	205
Riemannian Tangent Alignment Enhances BCI Decoding Across Subjects, Sessions, and Modalities	206
Decoding Text Embeddings From Functional MRI Data Using Deep Learning	207
Impact of local Laplacian Spatial Filters on C-VEP-Based BCI Performance	208
Clinical Brain Computer Interface for adaptive neuromodulation in Parkinson's disease as regular clinical care: a protocol	209
Reporting checklist for observational implanted and non-implanted neural interface studies: protocol for a Delphi process	210
Multi-gesture BCI control of a communication board	211
Design of a Sensor System for a Semi-Autonomous BCI Controlled Mobility Device	212
Observed Changes in the Visual Odd ball Event-Related Potential in a 10-Session, Longitudinal Study	213
From Research to Reality: Advancing Pediatric BCI Innovations into Clinical Practice	214
Representation of syntax in intracortical inferior frontal gyrus signals	215
Changes in globus pallidus internus local field potentials during freezing-of-gait in Parkinson's disease	216
Evaluation of spatial and frequency features for improving the classification of motor imagery	217

Population Transformer: Learning Population-level Representations of Neural Activity	218
Exploring the Potential of Motor Imagery-Based BCIs for Targeted Motor Function Recovery	219
NAVSync: A Real-Time Neural Audiovisual Synchronization Platform for Silent Speech Research	220
The History and Future of (Re) Defining BCIs	221
Versatile Modular Research Platform for Brain-Wide Neuroscience in Navigating Non-Human Primates	222
An Assessment of the Impact of Feature Preprocessing on Deep Learning Models for P300 Classification	223
Fine-Tuning a Foundation Model for Motor Imagery Pediatric Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs)	224
Considerations for Utilizing the mindBEAGLE's Hybrid BCI-Based Paradigms in Bilingual Patients with Decompressive Hemicraniectomy and Hydrocephalus: A Case Study	225
ezmsg: An Enhanced Open-Source Framework for High-Performance Brain-Computer Interface Development	226
Gathering Clinicians' Perspectives for an Initial Design for Hybrid BCI Wheelchair Control	227
Bimanual BCI: Combining a Brain-Controlled Hand Exoskeleton with the Functional Limb	228
Brain-Computer Interface Operation in Virtual Reality for Children with Complex Mobility Needs	229
Brain-Computer Gaming Control through Imagined Speech Commands in Single-player	230
EEG Data Segmentation Inducing Performance Overestimation	231
Robotic Exploratory Control Via Subcortical Oscillations	232
Accuracy Analysis of P300 BCI Famous Face Stimuli	233
Distinguishing foveal and peripheral vision from brain activity using fNIRS	234
Smart Gel-Enabled EEG Systems for Brain-Computer Interfaces in Children with Profound Motor Impairments	235
Parametric control of neurons in IT cortex as a stringent generalization test for deep encoding models	236
Learning cause and effect using a BCI: two case studies	237
Neural Symbolic Regression for Interpretable & Efficient Brain- Computer Interfaces	238
Improving Speech Perception Through Brain-Driven Target Speech Selection	239
Unsupervised Manifold Stabilization Method for Across- Session Brain-Computer Interface Decoding	240
Brain-Informed Auditory Scene Understanding: A Listener-Aware Auditory Foundation Model for Personalized Speech Processing	241
Extensive, non-uniform neural activation from intracortical electrical stimulation drives weak sensory perception in mice	242
Semantic Decoding Advances in BCI via the Novel Graded Inventory of Semantic Triggers (GIST)	243

## Development of a Novel Clinical Outcome Assessment: The Digital Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale

Sawyer A\*#1, Brannigan J\*2, Spielman L1, Putrino D1, Fry A1.3

<sup>1</sup>Department of Rehabilitation and Human Performance, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA; <sup>2</sup>Nuffield Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK; <sup>3</sup>Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia<sup>#</sup>5E 98th Street, New York, NY, USA. Email: <u>abbey.sawyer@mountsinai.org</u>,\*Contributed equally

*Introduction:* With the proliferation of digital technology, previously non-digital activities have come to be performed digitally and new inherently digital activities have become essential to daily life [1]. Digital exclusion is now associated with higher functional dependence [2], and people with motor disabilities are at the highest risk of digital exclusion. People with motor impairments report significantly higher satisfaction and quality of life when they are able to use digital environment should be considered a basic human right for those with severe disability [4]. However, assessment tools that can accommodate digital performance of instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs) for those living with severe quadriplegia are lacking. This gap was emphasized during the joint FDA and NIH workshop on implantable brain-computer interface clinical outcome assessments held in September 2024. To address this need in-part, our aim was to develop a novel Digital IADL Scale for research and clinical practice.

*Materials, Methods and Results:* This study comprised a multi-stage methodology, aligned with FDA guidance for the development of clinical outcome assessments. The methodology included: (i) deductive item generation (systematic review), (ii) inductive item generation (survey and interview of people with lived experience), (iii) item refinement and rating (key opinion leaders and people with lived experience), and (iv) focus group discussions (by key opinion leaders and people with lived experience).

71 validated IADL scales were retrieved. 935 items were extracted from the scales identified during database searching, and 315 items were added from grey literature (total n=1250 items). Of these items, 224 were excluded on the basis of being purely cognitive and 260 were BADLs and removed. A further 414 items were removed as they were deemed unable to be performed digitally in their entirety. Remaining items were deduplicated, reducing the number of items to 77. The remaining 77 items were presented in the Delphi process and reduced to 42 items during two survey rounds. People with lived experience inductively generated 152 items, which were reduced to 41 through a deduplication process. 83 items (42 deductive, 41 inductive) were evaluated by experts for representativeness within their domain and eight items were removed. In response to focus group feedback, the list was reduced to 37 items.

*Conclusion:* The aim of this study was to develop a set of domains, items and accompanying scoring scale that would address an important gap in the clinical assessment of functional independence in a world that can be empowered by digital technologies. This process created an initial draft of a scale to assess digital functional independence, which will be submitted to further validation.

Acknowledgements & Disclosures: We acknowledge the contributions from Maria Nardozzi, OTD, OTR/L, who provided clinical insights. We acknowledge contributions from Professor Todd Little, who reviewed and provided input on our methodology. We acknowledge the assistance of medical librarian Gloria Wilson from Mount Sinai. Support for this project was provided in kind by the Abilities Research Centre. No formal funding was received.

[1] Fessler, E. B., Brown, R. T., & Miller, R. K. (2022). Rebooting instrumental activities of daily living for the 21st century. Annals of Internal Medicine, 175(3), 278–279. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/M21-3065</u>. [2] Lu, X., Yao, Y., & Jin, Y. (2022). Digital exclusion and functional dependence in older people: Findings from five longitudinal cohort studies. EClinicalMedicine, 54, 101708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2022.101708</u>. [3] Rigby, P., Ryan, S. E., & Campbell, K. A. (2011). Electronic aids to daily living and quality of life for persons with tetraplegia. Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology, 6(3), 260–267. [4] United Nations General Assembly (2016). Human Rights Council thirty-second session, agenda item 3: promotion and protection of all human rights, civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights, including the right to development. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.article19.org/data/files/Internet\_Statement\_Adopted.pdf">https://www.article19.org/data/files/Internet\_Statement\_Adopted.pdf</a>;

1

#### An EEG Artifact Removal Neural Network for BCI Applications with EEG-ViTNet

Jerry Wan<sup>1</sup>, Erica D. Floreani<sup>1, 2</sup>, Tom Chau<sup>1, 2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>PRISM Lab, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada <sup>2</sup>Institute of Biomedical Engineering, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada \*Corresponding author: wanj21@mcmaster.ca

**Introduction:** Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) are systems that translate brain activity into commands to control external devices, replacing motor pathways in individuals with disabilities. However, artifacts from eye movements (EOG) [1] and muscle activations (EMG) [2] often contaminate neural signals (EEG) and obfuscate meaningful physiological information. Effectively removing these artifacts from EEG with minimal distortion can enhance signal quality and improve downstream BCI tasks [3]. Traditional blind source separation methods, such as independent component analysis (ICA), are limited in their ability to efficiently denoise EEG in real-time. In contrast, deep learning (DL) techniques, which have shown success in computer vision and medical image segmentation, offer a promising approach for EEG artifact removal, potentially leading to more effective denoising and thus more accurate BCI control.

**Methods & Results:** An open-access dataset (*EEGDenoiseNet*) was used to train and test the DL models [4]. The dataset consists of 4514 EEG, 3400 EOG, and 5998 EMG segments. Clean and contaminated segments were linearly combined at varying SNR levels (-7 to 2dB) to generate semi-synthetic data, which was then split into training (80%), validation (10%), and testing set (10%). A novel 1D vision transformer-based model (EEG-ViTNet) was proposed and compared with existing state-of-the-art models from literature using metrics such as relative root mean squared error (RRMSE) and correlation coefficient (CC) (Fig A). A second open-access dataset (*PhysioNet EEG Motor Imagery Dataset*) was used to validate the DL models on a real-world BCI task [5]. Data from 80 participants were selected to assess accuracy of a 2-class motor imagery task (hands and feet) using the Riemannian tangent space method and a logistic regression classifier [6]. The novel EEG-ViTNet was used to pre-process the motor imagery data in the classification pipeline, and resulting accuracies were benchmarked against traditional methods, including bandpass filtering, ICA, and other DL models. The novel model achieved a RRMSE of 0.252 (temporal) and 0.272 (spectral), and a CC of 0.955, outperforming the current state-of-the-art model (0.266/0.309/0.950) (Fig B). Furthermore, it achieved the highest classification accuracy (55.2 $\pm$ 4.3%) on the validation motor imagery dataset, boosting accuracy for the lowest performers and surpassing the raw baseline (43.6 $\pm$ 4.3%), bandpass filter (51.9 $\pm$ 4.3%), and other DL models (53.1 $\pm$ 4.5%), while displaying comparable performance with the state-of-the-art ICA (54.6 $\pm$ 4.3%) (Fig C).



**Discussion & Significance:** The preliminary results show strong potential of EEG-ViTNet for artifact removal in BCI tasks. However, the substantial interparticipant performance variability in the motor imagery task suggests the need for larger sample validation. Future work will explore additional BCI tasks (i.e., P300 event-related potential) and consider challenges like single-channel limitations, reliance on semi-synthetic data, and individual EEG variability. Overall, the EEG-ViTNet could be a promising pre-processing step to improve BCI control for people with disabilities.

#### References

[1] Croft R J and Barry R J 2000 Removal of ocular artifact from the EEG: a review Clin. Neurophysiol. 30 5-19

[2] Muthukumaraswamy S D 2013 High-frequency brain activity and muscle artifacts in MEG/EEG: a review and recommendations Front. Hum. Neurosci. 7 138

[3] Jung T-P, Makeig S, Westerfield M, Townsend J, Courchesne E and Sejnowski T J 2000 Removal of eye activity artifacts from visual eventrelated potentials in normal and clinical subjects *Clin. Neurophysiol.* **111** 1745–58

[4] Haoming Zhang et al 2021 J. Neural Eng. 18 056057

[5] Schalk G, McFarland DJ, Hinterberger T, Birbaumer N, Wolpaw JR. BCI2000: a general-purpose brain-computer interface (BCI) system. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2004 Jun;51(6):1034-43. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2004.827072. PMID: 15188875.

[6] Congedo, M., Barachant, A., & Bhatia, R. (2017). Riemannian geometry for EEG-based brain-computer interfaces; a primer and a review. *Brain-Computer Interfaces*, 4(3), 155–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/2326263X.2017.1297192

# Deep learning-based electroencephalic decoding of coherence and direction of the random dot kinematogram

Jaewon Yang<sup>1,2†</sup>, Sangbin Yun<sup>1,2†</sup>, Byoung-Kyong Min<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Brain and Cognitive Engineering, Korea University, Republic of Korea; <sup>2</sup>BK21 Four Institute of Precision Public Health, Korea University, Republic of Korea; <sup>3</sup>Institute of Brain and Cognitive Engineering, Korea University, Republic of Korea

> <sup>†</sup>These authors contributed equally to this work. \*Anam-ro 145, Seongbuk-gu, Seoul, Republic of Korea. \*Correspondence: min\_bk@korea.ac.kr

*Introduction:* EEG-based mind-reading under covert attention shifts is an essential research topic in brain-machine interfaces (BMI) [1]. Specifically, identifying electrophysiological signatures underlying motion direction perception of moving stimuli with varying motion coherence is crucial for understanding human attentional mechanisms and coherent motion processing [2]. Despite its significance, few studies have explored this area, highlighting the need for further research [3]. This study aimed to determine whether coherence levels and motion direction could be decoded above chance levels using the random dot kinematogram (RDK) task and EEGNet, a deep learning model [4].

*Material, Methods and Results:* Participants performed a behavioral task that required identifying the direction of coherently moving dots among randomly moving ones under three coherence levels (25%, 50%, and 75%) and two directions (left and right). EEG data were recorded from 25 participants (mean age: 23.8, 16 female) using 63 channels. Ocular artifacts were removed using independent component analysis (ICA), and EEG data were segmented from stimulus onset to 1-second post-stimulus. Artifact-contaminated trials were excluded from further analyses. Data were split 4:1 for training and testing, with 5-fold cross-validation to optimize model parameters. Trained over 500 iterations in a cross-participant setting, the EEGNet model classified coherence (3 classes), direction (2 classes), and combined conditions (6 classes). It achieved accuracies of 0.61 for coherence decoding, 0.77 for direction decoding, and 0.41 for combined classification—all above chance levels (Figure 1A). Additionally, the model achieved AUC values of 0.77, 0.84, and 0.69, respectively (Figure 1B).

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrated the feasibility of decoding coherent and directed motion perception using EEG signals. The findings highlight the potential of deep learning-based EEG decoding approaches to advance our understanding of human motion integration. However, despite these promising results, the model's performance is currently insufficient for practical applications. Future research will focus on improving decoding accuracy and analyzing decoded EEG components to gain deeper insights into the underlying neural mechanisms.



Figure 1: (A) Accuracies and (B) AUCs of EEGNet-based decoding performance for coherence, direction, and combined classification. The dotted lines indicate the chance level of decoding performance.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by the Convergent Technology R&D Program for Human Augmentation (grant number 2020M3C1B8081319 to B.K.M.), funded by the Korean government through the National Research Foundation of Korea.

- [1] Min BK, Dähne S, Ahn MH, Noh YK, Müller KR. Decoding of top-down cognitive processing for SSVEP-controlled BMI. *Scientific* reports, 6(1), 36267, 2016.
- [2] Nakamura H, Kashii S, Nagamine T, Matsui Y, Hashimoto T, Honda Y, Shibasaki H. Human V5 demonstrated by magnetoencephalography using random dot kinematograms of different coherence levels. *Neuroscience research*, 46(4), 423-433, 2003.
- [3] Bae GY, Luck SJ. Decoding motion direction using the topography of sustained ERPs and alpha oscillations. *NeuroImage*, *184*, 242-255, 2019.
- [4] Lawhern VJ, Solon AJ, Waytowich NR, Gordon S, Hung CP, Lance BJ. EEGNet: a compact convolutional neural network for EEGbased brain-computer interfaces. *Journal of neural engineering*, 15(5), 056013, 2018.

#### Evaluation of a P300 BCI for augmentative and alternative communication in children with disabilities

Jason Leung 1\*, Tom Chau 1,2

<sup>1</sup> Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada; <sup>2</sup> University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Introduction: P300 brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) have been previously investigated as an access method for augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) applications. However, the efficacy of P300-BCI-AAC for functional communication in children with severe physical disabilities remains underexplored [1]. In pursuit of practical communication, the present study aims to evaluate event-related potential (ERP) characteristics and user experience in children with motor impairments during a P300 task for functional communication.

**Methods and Results:** A 16-year-old non-verbal male participant (GMFCS Level III) was recruited for 5 sessions. The participant was instructed to attend to a target button in a personalized 2x2 grid created with the Tobii Dynavox AAC application. In each trial, buttons were flashed in a random order with an inter-stimulus interval of 450 ms until the cumulative probability of any button exceeded a dynamic threshold. Upon successful selection of the target button, a YouTube video was played as a reward for the participant. During each session, EEG were acquired using a 32-channel BrainVision Liveamp with the R-Net system (Brain Products GmbH). Eye gaze data were recorded simultaneously to track visual attention and reject trials where participants did not attend to the target stimuli. EEG signals were bandpass filtered between 1 and 40 Hz, and epochs were extracted from -200 ms and 800 ms around the onset of the visual stimuli. During online trials, Xdawn covariances from single-trial ERPs were classified with a Riemannian geometry classifier using the Mindset BCI system [2]. Figures 1a and 1b show the averaged ERP response for the target stimuli and the eye gaze heat map, respectively, during online trials across all sessions. Table 1 presents BCI performance metrics such as the target button cumulative probability, selection accuracy and information transfer rate (ITR), as well as eye gaze metrics, including the dwell time, continuous dwell time, and trial duration for each session and for all sessions combined. Chance levels for different number of trials were estimated based on simulation results over 10000 iterations with a confidence interval of  $\alpha = 5\%$  [3].



Figure 1: a) Averaged event-related potential during target stimuli across all online sessions; and b) heat map of eye gaze coordinates during online trials plotted over the target button in the 2x2 communication grid presented on the monitor

Session	Num. of trials	Stimuli per trial (avg. ± std.)	Target Button Cumulative Probability (%) (avg. ± std.)	Chance Level (%)	BCI Accuracy (%)	BCI ITR (bits/min)	Dwell Time (s) (avg. ± std.)	Continuous Dwell Time (s) (avg. ± std.)	Trial Duration (s) (avg. ± std.)
1	48	18.06 ± 13.58	90.31 ± 4.38	37.50	50.00	1.54	7.51 ± 5.62	$6.09 \pm 4.87$	8.07 ± 6.11
2	52	11.17 ± 10.08	90.81 ± 4.76	36.54	55.77	3.71	4.68 ± 4.52	4.24 ± 4.12	$4.99 \pm 4.60$
3	48	9.96 ± 4.73	91.92 ± 4.08	37.50	75.00	10.79	4.20 ± 2.11	$3.72 \pm 2.02$	4.41 ± 2.13
4	43	18.33 ± 12.37	90.42 ± 4.78	39.53	55.81	2.27	$7.12 \pm 5.30$	$6.16 \pm 4.85$	8.19 ± 5.59
5	57	$15.25 \pm 10.05$	89.39 ± 3.96	36.84	50.88	1.94	6.27 ± 4.07	$4.45 \pm 2.46$	$6.87 \pm 4.55$
All	248	14.45 ± 10.99	90.53 ± 4.43	30.65	57.26	3.14	5.92 ± 4.61	4.88 ± 3.89	6.46 ± 4.97

Table 1: Brain-computer interface and eye gaze performance metrics for online trials

Note: BCI = brain-computer interface, ITR = information transfer rate

**Discussion and Significance:** The P300 component was distinctly observed in the ERP plot as a positive peak in posterior channels up to 10 µV in amplitude approximately 300 ms after stimulus onset. A weaker but noticeable P200 component was also observed, potentially indicating some aspect of high-order perceptual processing and attention modulation. These ERP components may have supported online selection with the BCI system. The eye gaze heat map and dwell duration metrics confirm visual attention towards the target button, which likely facilitated elicitation of the visual P300. Although BCI performance varied across sessions, BCI accuracy and ITR reached 75% and 10.71 bits/min respectively in the best performing session. Further investigation into the factors contributing to variability in BCI performances is warranted. Potential factors such as user fatigue as well as cognitive and visual attention levels should be systematically examined to understand their impact. Future research will also include a larger and more diverse participant sample to ensure findings are generalizable to children with other disability profiles. Additionally, further optimization of the BCI system, such as fine-tuning the stimuli and signal processing parameters, will be explored to further enhance BCI performance. This study provides preliminary evidence supporting the feasibility of P300-based BCI access for AAC in children with disabilities. The findings pave the way for refining BCI-AAC systems and broadening their use in functional communication applications.

- 1. K. M. Pitt, 'Development and preliminary evaluation of a grid design application for adults and children using scanning and bci-based augmentative and alternative communication', Assist Technol, pp. 1–8, Oct. 2024.
- 2. J. Leung and T. Chau, 'Mindset—A General Purpose Brain–Computer Interface System for End-Users', IEEE Access, vol. 12, pp. 112249–112260, 2024.
- G. Müller-Putz, R. Scherer, C. Brunner, R. Leeb, and G. Pfurtscheller, 'Better than Random? A closer look on BCI results', International Journal of Bioelektromagnetism, vol. 10, pp. 52–55, 01 2008.

## A Speech Neuroprosthesis for Decoding High Frequency Activity in Anterior Cingulate and Orbitofrontal Cortices and Hippocampus for Phonemes Articulation

A. Tankus<sup>1,4,5\*</sup>, E. Stern<sup>1,4</sup>, G. Klein<sup>5,6</sup>, N. Kaptzon<sup>5,6</sup>, L. Nash<sup>5,6</sup>, T. Marziano<sup>7</sup>, O. Shamia<sup>7</sup>, G. Gurevitch<sup>2,8</sup>, L. Bergman<sup>1</sup>, L. Goldstein<sup>3</sup>, F. Fahoum<sup>3,4</sup>, I. Strauss<sup>1,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Functional Neurosurgery Unit, <sup>2</sup>Sagol Brain Institute, <sup>3</sup>Department of Neurology, Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Center, Tel Aviv, Israel. <sup>4</sup>Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Faculty of Medicine, <sup>5</sup>Sagol School of Neuroscience, <sup>6</sup>Blavatnik School of Computer Science, <sup>7</sup>School of Electrical Engineering, <sup>8</sup>Department of physiology and pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel.

\*Functional Neurosurgery Unit, Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Center, Tel Aviv 6423906, Israel. E-mail: arielta@gmail.com

*Introduction:* Speech is a main form of communication for humans. Its loss due to injury or disease is terrible. Here, we report a novel speech neuroprosthesis that artificially articulates building blocks of speech based on the high frequency activity, that includes single neuron activity, in the anterior cingulate and orbitofrontal cortices, and hippocampus. These brain areas were never harnessed for a neuroprosthesis before. However, our earlier studies found neuronal populations in these [1] and other [2-5] brain areas that encode these building blocks and demonstrated high accuracy decoding.

*Material, Methods and Results:* A 37-year-old neurosurgical epilepsy patient with intact speech, was implanted with depth electrodes solely for clinical reasons. He gained control over the neuroprosthesis almost immediately and silently produced two vowel sounds voluntarily [6]. During the first set of trials, the participant made the neuroprosthesis produce the different vowel sounds artificially with 85% accuracy. Performance improved consistently as more trials were conducted. This may be attributed to neuroplasticity, as the decoder remained the same along the experiment. The decoder was trained on overt speech data, but was utilized for silent control over the closed-loop speech neuroprosthesis.

*Conclusion:* The ability of a neuroprosthesis trained on overt speech data to be controlled silently may open the way for a novel strategy of neuroprosthesis implantation. In ALS patients, for example, the neuroprosthesis may be implanted at early stages of the disease, while speech is still intact, for improved training of the decoder, and be utilized at later stages for silent control. The results demonstrate clinical feasibility of direct decoding of high frequency activity, including spiking activity, in the aforementioned areas for silent production of phonemes that may serve as a part of a neuroprosthesis for replacing lost speech control pathways.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This research was supported by Israel Ministry of Innovation, Science and Technology (Grants 17630 and 1818105) and Alrov Research Fund. The authors wish to thank the study participant for his devotion; Shy Shoham of NYU; Genela Morris, Efrat Rabstein, Malki Langerman, Esther Tadesse, Snejana Vaiberman, and Geula Levy for technical assistance.

- [1] Tankus A, Fried I, Shoham S. Structured neuronal encoding and decoding of human speech features. *Nature Communications*, 3:1015, 2012.
- [2] Tankus A, Fried I. Degradation of neuronal encoding of speech in the subthalamic nucleus in Parkinson's disease. *Neurosurgery*, 84(2):378–387, 2019.
- [3] Tankus A, Solomon L, Aharony Y, Faust-Socher A, Strauss I. Machine Learning Algorithm for Decoding Multiple Subthalamic Spike Trains for Speech Brain-Machine Interfaces. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 18:066021, 2021.
- [4] Tankus A, Lustig Y, Gurevitch G, Faust-Socher A, Strauss I. Neuronal Encoding of Speech Features in the Human Thalamus in Parkinson's Disease and Essential Tremor Patients. *Neurosurgery*, 94(2):307-316, 2024.
- [5] Tankus A, Rosenberg N, Ben-Hamo O, Stern E, Strauss I. Machine Learning Decoding of Single Neurons in the Thalamus for Speech Brain-Machine Interfaces. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 21(3):036009, 2024.
- [6] Tankus A, Stern E, Klein G, Kaptzon N, Nash L, Marziano T, Shamia O, Gurevitch G, Bergman L, Goldstein L, Fahoum F, Strauss I. A speech neuroprosthesis in the frontal lobe and hippocampus: decoding high frequency activity into phonemes. *Neurosurgery*, 2024.

## **Ambiguous Text Input for Brain-Computer Interfaces**

**Chirag Panchakshari**<sup>1</sup>, **Betts Peters**<sup>2</sup>, **Mackenzie Miller**<sup>1</sup>, **& Dylan Gaines**<sup>1\*</sup> on behalf of the

Consortium for Accessible Multimodal Brain-Body Interfaces (CAMBI) <sup>1</sup>Michigan Technological University, Houghton, MI, USA <sup>2</sup>Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, USA \*1400 Terrened De Juerker, MI 40021, USA E resile designed and

\*1400 Townsend Dr., Houghton, MI 49931, USA. E-mail: dcgaines@mtu.edu

*Introduction:* One of the main driving forces of current BCI research is robust and consistent results with a high information transfer rate (ITR). Code-modulated Visual Evoked Potentials (c-VEP) have been shown to provide high ITR in target-related applications [1]. Our research aims to explore the effect of using an ambiguous text entry method [2] on our system's accuracy and ITR, and its overall efficacy as a communication BCI. We design a system that allows users to input text by selecting a sequence of ambiguous character groups instead of requiring individual character selections.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Our user interface consists of eight target boxes (Figure 1). Boxes 1–4 in the top row contain ambiguous groups of letters, while boxes 5–8 in the bottom row contain a mode switch, two word suggestions, and backspace. To enter text, a user selects the target box for each letter in their desired word. For example, to type "WORLD", the user would select boxes in the sequence 43321. After each selection, the word suggestion boxes are updated with the most likely words that match the selected group sequence. Users can select their intended word if it appears, or select mode switch to choose specific letters if the system is not able to predict their word. This would replace the existing ambiguous targets with the individual letters from each selected group in turn.

During selection, each target box is replaced by a checkerboard pattern that flickers in a pseudo-random sequence specific to that target. We place electrodes at O1, Oz, and O2 (by the international 10-20 system) to detect the c-VEP produced in response to the attended stimulus. We amplify the EEG signals using the OpenBCI Cyton Board and transmit them to Lab Streaming Layer (LSL) software on a desktop computer. Using Canonical Correlation Analysis (CCA) [3], we compare the recorded signals with the



Figure 1: The user interface for our system. The target and currently typed text are displayed at the top. The selected character groups in the current word are shown in the middle of the screen, surrounded by the eight target boxes.

templates produced for each target sequence during calibration to discern the user's target.

To determine the most likely matching words, we leverage a large language model domain-adapted on conversational text [4]. Given the text the user has typed so far, we use the model to evaluate the likelihood of all text that matches the selected letter groups. The two most likely predictions are displayed to the user in boxes 6 and 7. In future work, we seek to extend this algorithm to enable the model to predict words that start with the entered group sequence, allowing it to finish the user's word.

*Conclusion:* We have designed a preliminary system for ambiguous text input using a c-VEP braincomputer interface. We will validate the efficacy of our system with quantitative data and qualitative feedback from BCI users in the next phase of this project.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* This project was funded by the Michigan Technological University Research Excellence Fund (24-0702) and by the National Institutes of Health (DC009834). We also thank CAMBI and its associated researchers. The authors have no conflicts of interest to report.

- [1] Spüler, M., Rosenstiel, W., and Bogdan, M. 2012. Online adaptation of a c-VEP brain-computer interface (BCI) based on error-related potentials and unsupervised learning. *PloS one*, 7(12), e51077.
- [2] Gaines, D. and Vertanen, K. 2024. Improving FlexType: Ambiguous text input for users with visual impairments. In *Proceedings of the* 17th International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments. 130.
- [3] Martínez-Cagigal, V., Thielen, J., Santamaria-Vazquez, E., Pérez-Velasco, S., Desain, P., and Hornero, R. 2021. Brain–computer interfaces based on code-modulated visual evoked potentials (c-VEP): a literature review. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 18(6), 061002.
- [4] Gaines, D. and Vertanen, K. 2025. Adapting large language models for character-based augmentative and alternative communication. arXiv preprint. arXiv:2501.10582.

## Subject-Transfer Approach based on Convolutional Neural Networks for Classifying Gait-related Motor Imagery

#### Keun-Tae ${\rm Kim^{1*}}$

<sup>1</sup>Department of Artificial Intelligence Convergence, Hallym University \*P.O. Box 24252, Chuncheon, Republic of Korea. E-mail: ktkim@hallym.ac.kr

Introduction: Recently, electroencephalography (EEG)-based brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) for controlling a lower-limb robotic exoskeleton have been developed in several research groups [?]. In particular, gait-related motor imagery-based BCIs have been developed to assist gait in individuals with Spinal Cord Injury. However, the accuracy of classifying gait-related motor imagery needs to be improved to ensure safety. Therefore, we applied the subject-transfer approach, as an advanced algorithm, and compared the performance with the previous algorithm.

Material, Methods and Results: In this study, publicly available gait-related data [?] which is from a total of nine healthy subjects was used to investigate the performance of a subjecttransfer approach. The subjects performed gait-related motor imagery while wearing the lowerlimb robotic exoskeleton (resting task for 15 sec, and motor imagery task for 24 sec according to voice commands). The subjects repeated the tasks 16 times and the EEG signal was acquired on the 27 electrodes based on the International 10-10 system.

Principal component analysis (PCA)-based spectral feature was firstly extracted and reshaped into a  $5 \times 5$  matrix for input to the convolutional neural network [?]. The simple CNN classifier was designed (see Fig. 1A) and trained using other subjects' whole data. Then, the trained CNN was fine-tuned using the target subject's training data (see Fig. 1B).

As the results of the cross-validation, the subject-transfer approach showed  $87.1\pm6.4\%$  on average, approximately 6% higher performance than the previous algorithm which consists of the common spatial pattern filtering and linear discriminant analysis classifier [?].

Conclusion: Based on our results, we can confirm that the subject-transfer approach can improve the accuracy of classifying the gait-related motor imagery. As further research, we plan to verify its efficiency via a real-time control experiment of a lower-limb robotic exoskeleton.

Acknowledgments: This work was supported in part by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) grant funded by the Korean government (MSIT) (No. 2021R1C1C2008446) and in part by the National Research Foundation funded by the Korean government (Ministry of Science and ICT, Project Number: RS-2024-00417959).



Figure 1: Gait-related motor imagery-based EEG signal processing. (A) CNN structure and (B) Subject-transfer approach

- Choi, J. et al.Developing a motor imagery-based real-time asynchronous hybrid BCI controller for a lower-limb exoskeleton. Sensors, Vol. 20, No. 24, p. 7309, 2020.
- [2] Ortiz M. et al. An EEG database for the cognitive assessment of motor imagery during walking with a lower-limb exoskeleton. Scientific Data, Vol. 10, No. 1, p. 343, 2023.
- [3] Kim, KT. et al. A subject-transfer framework based on single-trial EMG analysis using convolutional neural networks. IEEE Trans. on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering, Vol. 28, No. 1, pp. 94-103, 2019.

### A Novel Rhythmic Motor Imagery BCI with High Efficiency

Yuxuan. Wei<sup>1</sup>, Jianjun. Meng<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Robotics, School of Mechanical Engineering, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China \*corresponding author. E-mail: mengjianjunxs008@sjtu.edu.cn

*Introduction:* Conventional motor imagery (MI) tasks are often abstract, and the current decoding performance of MI-BCIs remains suboptimal. In our previous work, we demonstrated that both rhythmic movements [1] and rhythmic MI [2] can elicit brain activity at the task rhythm and its first harmonic. This novel electrophysiologic feature, which we summarized as steady-state movement-related rhythms (SSMRR), has been shown to facilitate higher decoding accuracy compared to conventional sensorimotor rhythm (SMR)-based decoding. Here, we aim to provide a preliminary validation that this more concrete rhythmic MI paradigm, with the SSMRR feature, can serve as a foundation for developing an efficient online BCI system even for naïve users.

*Materials and Methods:* Thirty BCI-naïve subjects participated in the experiment (average age  $22.03 \pm 3.40$  years, all right-handed, 15 female). Four kinds of rhythmic MI tasks (1.0Hz-Lefhand, 1.2Hz-Righthand, 1.4Hz-Lefthand, 1.6Hz-Righthand) were arranged in a block-randomized manner. As shown in figure 1(A), the subjects were instructed to perform rhythmic MI in sync with the video (as if they were controlling the hand in the video). Notably, we informed the subjects that they could associate themselves with the hand on the screen instead of explicitly imagining a hand in their mind, thereby reducing the cognitive load. The experiment consisted of three sessions, each comprising three runs with 40 trials per run. The offline session 1 followed the same design as in our previous work [2]. Session 2 and 3 were designed as online target-selection tasks. Task-discriminant component analysis (TDCA) [3] was employed for online decoding. The data from session 1 was used for initial TDCA training, and after each subsequent run, new data was integrated into the training process. Details of the offline electrophysiologic analysis followed the same methodology as in our previous work [2].

**Results and Discussions:** As shown in figure 1(B), temporal and spectral-spatial patterns during the task can be clearly observed. By the end of the experiment, 30 BCI-naïve users achieved an average online accuracy of  $79.33\% \pm 12.85\%$  in the 4-class classification task (figure 1(C)). At the beginning of session 2, the accuracy was relatively low, primarily due to differences in paradigms between sessions. As new training data was accumulated in subsequent runs, the accuracy gradually improved.

*Significance:* Based on the rhythmic MI paradigm and the SSMRR feature, we achieved nearly 80% accuracy in four-class online motor decoding among 30 BCI-naïve subjects. This novel BCI holds great promise as a new approach for device control and motor rehabilitation.

Acknowledgements: National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 52175023).



Figure 1. (A) The experimental paradigm. A/B/C/D represent video guides of four different rhythmic movements. (B) The group-level timeseries of two selected channels and whole-brain coherence topology of the 1.4Hz-Lefthand MI task in session 3. The black vertical dashed lines in the upper figure indicate the begin and the end of the rhythmic MI. The sine wave at the task-related rhythm (the grey curve) was given as a reference. (C) The 4-class online decoding accuracies. The circular markers represent individual subjects, while the error bars indicate the standard deviation. The grey horizontal dashed line indicates the theoretical chance level (25%).

- Y. Wei *et al.*, "Decoding movement frequencies and limbs based on steady-state movement-related rhythms from noninvasive EEG," J Neural Eng, vol. 20, no. 6, p. 066019, 2023/11/28 2023, doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/ad01de.
- [2] Y. Wei et al., "Action Observation with Rhythm Imagery (AORI): A Novel Paradigm to Activate Motor-Related Pattern for High-Performance Motor Decoding," *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, vol. PP, Oct 28 2024, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2024.3487133.
- [3] B. Liu et al., "Improving the Performance of Individually Calibrated SSVEP-BCI by Task- Discriminant Component Analysis," IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng, vol. 29, pp. 1998-2007, 2021, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2021.3114340.

#### Neural encoding and decoding of multidimensional handwriting movement Yaoyao Hao<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Guangxiang Xu<sup>1,3</sup>, Zebin Wang<sup>1,3</sup>, Yueming Wang<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The State Key Lab of Brain-Machine Intelligence; <sup>2</sup> College of Computer Science and Technology; <sup>3</sup> Department of Biomedical Engineering, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China \*38 Zheda Rd., Hangzhou, China. E-mail: <u>yaoyaoh@zju.edu.cn</u>

*Introduction:* The handwriting-based brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) have showed remarkable performance in brain-to-text communication [1], but the capacity to decode intricate handwriting movements, such as trajectories, from brain signals is an area that remains largely unexplored. A significant challenge is the limited understanding of how the brain encodes the nuances of fine handwriting movements.

Material, Methods and Results: We recorded intracortical neural signals from a paralyzed patient during imaginary handwriting of complex Chinese characters (Fig.1A), from which we reconstructed the trajectories of the handwriting and delved into the neural encoding properties. We introduced an innovated decoding framework that accommodates both shape and temporal distortions between movement and neural activity, and reconstructed closely resembled and human-recognizable handwriting trajectories (average CC >0.75, Fig.1B). Utilizing a dynamic time warping approach, we achieved a recognition rate of up to 91.1% within a 1000-character database (Fig. 1C) [2]. Upon examining the neural encoding properties of handwriting, we discovered that the tuning properties of individual strokes aligned with classical motor directional tuning theories [3]. However, the neural encoding of cohesions—air connections between strokes—differed significantly from that of the strokes themselves. Given that the kinematics of handwriting were not available from our paralyzed subject, we recorded multidimensional handwriting movements from healthy subjects to serve as a template, which encompassed 3D velocity of the pen tip, pen grip strength, pen tip pressure on paper, and 8channel electromyography (EMG) on the forearm (Fig. 1D). Using a neural encoding model, we found that these additional variables accounted for more variance in the neural signals, suggesting that the brain encodes handwriting in multiple dimensions rather than just 2D. When these additional dimensions were decoded and incorporated for handwriting trajectory recognition, the decoding performance could be significantly improved.

*Conclusion:* We demonstrated a new decoding scheme for BCIs that could accurately reconstruct the imaginary handwriting trajectory, which paves the way for a universal brain-to-text communication system that is translational to any written language. Moreover, our results indicated that the brain encodes handwriting as multidimensional movements, and by leveraging this, we can further enhance the decoding performance for handwriting-based BCIs.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by STI 2030—Major Projects (2021ZD0200404). Authors declare no competing interests.



Figure 1: *A, Experimental setup. B, Example decoding trajectories for 5 Chinese characters. C, Recognition rate as a function of character number in the library. D, Multidimensional kinematic and kinetic traces for handwriting of the English word 'Brain'.* 

#### *References:*

- Willett, F. R., D. T. Avansino, L. R. Hochberg, J. M. Henderson and K. V. Shenoy (2021). "High-performance brain-to-text communication via handwriting." Nature 593(7858): 249-254.
- [2] Xu, G., Z. Wang, K. Xu, J. Zhu, J. Zhang, Y. Wang and Y. Hao (2024). "Decoding imaginary handwriting trajectories with shape and time distortion loss for brain-to-text communication." medRxiv: 2024.2007.2002.24309802.
- [3] Georgopoulos, A.P., Kalaska, J.F., Caminiti, R. & Massey, J.T. (1982) On the relations between the direction of two-dimensional arm movements and cell discharge in primate motor cortex. J Neurosci 2, 1527-1537.

CC BY 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en This CC license does not apply to third party material and content noted otherwise

### Quantifying the spatial stability of sensory stimulation projected fields for neuroprostheses

Keqin Ding<sup>1</sup>\*, Mark Iskarous<sup>1,5</sup>, Luke Osborn<sup>6,7</sup>, Breanne Christie<sup>6</sup>, Dayann D'Almeida<sup>2</sup>, Kaichen Yu<sup>1</sup>, Matthew Fifer<sup>6</sup>, Pablo Celnik<sup>8</sup>, Francesco Tenore<sup>6</sup>, Brian Caffo<sup>3</sup>, Nitish Thakor<sup>1,4</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, <sup>2</sup>Department of Computer Science, <sup>3</sup>Department of Biostatistics,
<sup>4</sup>Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD; <sup>5</sup>Department of Organismal Biology and Anatomy, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL; <sup>6</sup>Research and Exploratory Development Department, Johns Hopkins University Applied Physics Laboratory, Laurel, MD; <sup>7</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, Case Western University, Cleveland, OH; <sup>8</sup>Shirley Ryan AbilityLab, Chicago, IL \* Traylor 701, 720 Rutland Ave, Baltimore, MD 21205, USA. E-mail: kding3@jhu.edu

*Introduction:* Cutting edge research done in the field of neuroprostheses has demonstrated that electrical stimulation elicits somatosensory percepts in the phantom or paralyzed limbs of individuals with amputations or spinal cord injuries. As the goal is to provide long-term sensory feedback, stability of the percepts has become a key objective for translation to the clinic and users' home. Nevertheless, only a few studies have quantitatively characterized the projected fields (PFs), the locations of perceived sensations elicited by stimulation, and their spatial stability [1–3]. Investigating PF spatial stability over time will confirm that the stimulation design properly serves long-term goals, thus advancing translation for independent use. Here, we present a quantitative framework that determines the spatial stability of PFs and can generalize to PFs collected from different electrical stimulation paradigms.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We design a graph-based average hand model to represent the recorded PF data. Each node represents a PF element, while each edge represents the average 2-point discrimination threshold at the corresponding region of the human hand. To quantify spatial stability, we combine the frequency of activation of each PF element and its co-occurrence with other PF elements. This characterization reveals percept regions that were consistently elicited together. We use the model to represent PFs obtained from two different electrical stimulation paradigms. The first used non-invasive transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) [2]. Surface electrodes were placed on the residual limb of an individual with upper limb amputation to activate their underlying nerves. The second applied intracortical microstimulation (ICMS) to the primary somatosensory cortex of an individual with spinal cord injury [4]. There were 96 electrodes (3 microelectrode arrays, 32 electrodes each) across the left and right somatosensory cortices.

We find that for PFs that were not frequently elicited, the framework properly distinguished between when PFs co-occurred with other PFs versus when they did not. While co-occurrence values vary for different PFs and electrodes, we use statistical null models to identify PFs that show statistically significant levels of co-occurrence with other PFs. Furthermore, we investigate the spatial stability of functionally relevant PFs, hand contact areas involved in exploration and manipulation tasks. We demonstrate that our method can identify stimulating electrode(s) that elicit percepts in specific regions, such as the fingertips.

*Discussion and Significance:* The graph model enables representing PFs collected from different sensory stimulation paradigms with the same approach. Therefore, our method can generalize to PFs elicited from different sensory stimulation paradigms. Our framework bridges the gap between the intuition of PF stability and the experimental data towards a more systematic assessment of the efficacy of sensory neuroprostheses for long-term use.

*Acknowledgements:* This work was supported by the National Institute of Health, the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (F31NS139615), and the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Advanced Scientific Computing Research (DE-SC0022150).

- 1. Greenspon, C. M. et al. Evoking stable and precise tactile sensations via multi-electrode intracortical microstimulation of the somatosensory cortex. Nat. Biomed. Eng 1–17 (2024).
- 2. Osborn, L. E. et al. Sensory stimulation enhances phantom limb perception and movement decoding. J. Neural Eng. 17, 056006 (2020).
- 3. Chandrasekaran, S. *et al.* Sensory restoration by epidural stimulation of the lateral spinal cord in upper-limb amputees. *eLife* **9**, e54349 (2020).
- Fifer, M. S. et al. Intracortical Somatosensory Stimulation to Elicit Fingertip Sensations in an Individual With Spinal Cord Injury. Neurology 98, e679–e687 (2022).

## Mitigating EEG Non-Stationarity in Multi-Session MI BCI with Autoencoder Denoisers

#### Y. Noah<sup>1\*</sup>, R. Rosipal<sup>2</sup>, O. Shriki<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel; <sup>2</sup>Slovak Academy of Sciences, Bratislava, Slovakia E-mail: yoavno@post.bgu.ac.il, shrikio@bgu.ac.il

#### Introduction:

A fundamental challenge in motor imagery (MI) brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) is related to the nonstationary nature of brain signals. This inherent variability undermines the performance of classifiers, as models trained on data from one session often fail to generalize effectively to subsequent sessions. Traditionally, addressing this issue requires recalibrating the model for each session, a labor-intensive process that limits the scalability and practical deployment of BCIs in real-world applications.

#### Material, Methods and Results:

We propose a preprocessing method to enhance EEG signals using an autoencoder (AE) based on a convolutional neural network (CNN) architecture. The AE captures a low-dimensional latent representation of EEG signals from the initial N days, effectively filtering out noise while preserving essential features. The decoding step reconstructs EEG signals with an enhanced signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), providing stable signals across sessions without the need for recalibration [1]. The reconstructed signals represent a stable, invariant representation of the subject's intent, while the residual signals capture session-specific information. These reconstructed signals are then utilized for feature extraction and classification. When applied to longitudinal motor imagery (MI) data from a stroke patient, the proposed method demonstrates a substantial improvement in performance, as measured by accuracy and the area under the ROC curve (AUC), compared to the same classifier without the AE preprocessing as depicted in Fig 1. Additionally, the application of Artifact Subspace Reconstruction (ASR) does not significantly alter the performance, indicating that the observed improvement arises primarily from addressing non-stationarity rather than artifact removal.



Figure 1: Performance analysis across 131 daily sessions from a stroke patient, trained on the first 30 days and tested on the rest.

#### Conclusion:

The proposed AE effectively captures a low-dimensional invariant representation of the subject's intent, eliminating the need for recalibration in subsequent sessions. The residual signals, which encapsulate session-specific variations, may offer valuable insights into the underlying sources of EEG non-stationarity.

#### References:

 Almagor O, Avin O, Rosipal R, Shriki O. Castor G, Simon J, Pilz A, Niedermark I, Klocke RK. Using autoencoders to denoise crosssession non-stationarity in EEG-based motor-imagery brain-computer interfaces. In 2022 IEEE 16th International Scientific Conference on Informatics (Informatics), 24-29, 2022.

## Autoregressive model for artifact detection in finger motor imagery decoding for EEG BCI

#### L. M. Damm\*, D. Jiang, A. Demosthenous

UCL, London, UK; \*UCL Department of Electronic & Electrical Engineering Torrington Place London WC1E 7JE E-mail: laura.damm.23@ucl.ac.uk

*Introduction:* Invasive recording mechanisms such as electrocorticography (ECoG) achieve high classification accuracy of motor imagery tasks, even for highly correlated signals as elicited by finger movement. The focus of regaining control over fingers, i.e. post-stroke, is on rehabilitation, not substitution, which makes electroencephalography (EEG) the preferred choice. However, EEG suffers from a low signal-to-noise ratio (SNR), which causes significantly lower classification performance. When considering the low-amplitude neural signal of finger motor imagery in EEG, it is crucial to distinguish between event-related neural activity and event-related noise activity. Channels are referred to as bad channels, where erratic waveforms indicate an artifact-heavy recording. SNR can be increased when those bad channels are interpolated to retain their information. The automatic detection of bad channels has been based on a variety of statistical methods, such as standard deviation. Autoregressive model (AR) assesses a given time series considering probable future values, where significant deviations from these values are treated as artifacts [1].

*Material, Methods and Results:* The dataset was taken from [2] where 256 EEG channels were applied contralateral to the handedness of each subject, where the left-handed subject (S1) was left out for simplicity. Prior to bad channel detection, a bandpass filter (1-40 Hz) was applied. For a z-score greater than 6, as in [2], channels were determined as bad; for AR a threshold of 3 was applied. Bad channels were interpolated, before common average referencing (CAR) and epoch creation. Features were extracted with five component frequency band common spatial patterns (FBCSP), where one subject (S5) had to be regularised at 0.01 post AR.

Conclusion: The findings in table 1 indicate that AR outperforms z-score in bad channel detection wherelow SNR is precedent. As subjects 2 and 3 performed similar across AR and z-score, subjects with highervariance and lower average with the z-score methodology improved significantly when applying AR.These findings are congruent with previous research on AR for artifact detection and relevant to the cur-rentfocusonincreasingclassificationaccuracy.

Table 1: Classification parametrics of S2-5 comparing z-score and AR model for artifact detec- Acknowledgments and Disclotion.

Subject	Method	Acc.(%)	A. Dev.(%)	Prec.(%)	P. Dev.(%)
2	Z-Score	92.4	8.8	94.1	6.9
2	AR	93.5	7.4	94.7	6.1
3	Z-Score	93.7	9.5	94.8	8.2
3	AR	93.3	8.4	95.3	5.6
4	Z-Score	66.1	16.5	75	15.7
4	AR	85.4	12.1	88.9	10.1
5	Z-Score	71.2	16.8	76.3	23.1
5	AR	77.4	16.9	81	16.3

sures:

No conflicts of interest occurred. This research was supported by the Engineering and Physical Science Research Council (EPSC), grant EP/ S022139/1 - the Centre for Doctoral Training in Connected Electronic and Photonic Systems.

#### References:

V. Lawhern, W. D. Hairston, K. McDowell, M. Westerfield, and K. Robbins, "Detection and classification of subject-generated artifacts in EEG signals using autoregressive models," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, vol. 208, no. 2, pp. 181–189, May 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2012.05.017.

[2] H. S. Lee et al., "Individual finger movement decoding using a novel ultra-high-density electroencephalography-based brain-computer interface system," Frontiers in Neuroscience, vol. 16, Oct. 2022, doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.1009878. 1007/s42979-024-02773-w.

## Finding the Groove in Neural Space

R. Bhatt<sup>1</sup>\*, J. Downey<sup>2</sup>, H. Merchant<sup>3</sup>, C. Greenspon<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Wallace H. Coulter Dept. of Biomed. Engin., Emory Univ. and Georgia Inst. of Technol., Atlanta, GA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Department of Organismal Biology and Anatomy, Univ. of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA; <sup>3</sup>Instituto de Neurobiologia UNAM, Juriquilla, Querétaro, México. \*1745 Haywood Drive, Rm. W200, Atlanta, GA 30322. Email: rashi.bhatt@emory.edu

*Introduction:* A fundamental component of coordinated periodic movements is **rhythm**. From locomotive actions, such as walking or reaching, to more complex actions, such as dancing or playing an instrument, periodic movements require precise synchronization. Although substantial research has explored the neural underpinnings of broad cyclic movements like locomotion in preclinical models [1-3], it remains unclear how rhythms are represented, especially in humans, and what role sensory feedback plays in generating and maintaining rhythms.

*Materials, Methods, and Results:* In this study, we investigated the neural representations underlying rhythmic hand movements in the human sensorimotor cortex of participants with intracortical implants in the primary somatosensory (S1) and motor (M1) cortices. We sought to understand how M1 encodes rhythm and characterizes the dynamics of this encoding at both the single-neuron and population levels. Participants were instructed to tap their index finger in tandem with an auditory cue presented at different tempos. In the first experiments, participants were presented with both distinct groups of tempos and a continuous range of tempos. In the second experiment, participants performed a similar tapping task but on some trials did not tap a surface and instead tapped with their hand freely, removing sensory feedback. Finally, we asked participants to continue tapping with the same tempo after the cessation of the auditory cue.

At the single-neuron level, we found signatures of entrainment and identified subsets of neurons across M1 and S1 that were phase-locked, frequency-tuned, both, or neither. Examining the population, we identified a low-dimensional representation, or manifold, in neural state space that displayed frequency-dependent rotational dynamics. Within this manifold, oscillations (one per tap) existed along a tempo axis. We quantified the geometry of this manifold by calculating the trajectory speed and diameter of the individual rotations. We found that the geometry and location of these rotations in state space were highly variable during the initial taps of a trial, but became more stable over time as the *groove* was found. This transition functionally distinguished an establishment period from a maintenance period. Lastly, although we observed these rotations in the absence of tactile feedback or auditory cues, the organization of them never fully stabilized, particularly in the absence of tactile feedback, suggesting that the groove was never established.

*Conclusion:* In this study, we demonstrated that single-neuron activity in the human sensorimotor cortex exhibits signatures of rhythmic entrainment. More importantly, we showed that population activity contains frequency-dependent rotational dynamics that govern the entrainment and maintenance of rhythmic hand movements. However, these dynamics struggled to find the *groove* in the absence of sensory feedback. Future experiments will explore more complex rhythms, such as syncopation.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: This work is dedicated to Sliman Bensmaia. Thank you for your mentorship; your love for music and neuroscience continues to inspire us today. We would also like to thank the human participants for their generous contributions to this research. There are no conflicts of interest to disclose.

#### References:

- [1] Churchland, M., Cunningham, J., Kaufman, M. et al. Neural population dynamics during reaching. Nature 487, 51–56, 2012.
- [2] Saxena S., Russo A. A., Cunningham J., Churchland M.M. Motor cortex activity across movement speeds is predicted by network-level strategies for generating muscle activity. eLife 11:e67620, 2022.
- [3] Rajendran, V. G., Marquez, J. P., Prado, L., Merchant, H. Monkeys have rhythm. bioRxiv 2024.03.11.584468 2024.

CC BY 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en This CC license does not apply to third party material and content noted otherwise

## Asynchronous Voluntary Self-regulated Near-infrared Spectroscopy Brain-Computer Interface for Children with Cerebral Palsy

Christine Horner<sup>1,2</sup>, Ledycnarf Holanda<sup>1</sup>, Tom Chau<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Institute of Biomedical Engineering, University of Toronto, Canada \*Toronto, Canada. E-mail: tom.chau@utoronto.ca

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interfaces (BCI) hold promise as an access method for children with cerebral palsy (CP) [1]. Challenges such as distinguishing control states with an fNIRS BCI is a challenging task, which involves addressing issues like overlapping neural signals, variability in brain responses, and maintaining a good signal-to-noise ratio to ensure accurate detection and classification of intentional control (IC) versus non-control (NC) states. Previous studies, including Koo et al.[2] developed a hybrid electroencephalography (EEG)-functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS)-BCI system for self-paced motor imagery, and Millán et al.[3] used an EEG-BCI system with a mixture of Gaussian generative models of multiple IC states. However, none have combined self-regulation with asynchronous algorithms for fNIRS-BCI systems. This research aims to develop an intuitive and user-driven asynchronous fNIRS-BCI for voluntary self-regulation for children with CP.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Four participants (3 males and 1 female, aged 13-18 years, GM-FCS levels III-V) with CP completed four self-regulation sessions on different days. The first two sessions were offline, while the last two sessions used an NIRS-BCI to control a toy car during the online sessions. fNIRS channels were placed on the prefrontal cortex using a wireless Artinis Brite fNIRS headset (Elst, The Netherlands) at 25 Hz. Data from self-regulation and rest tasks were converted into hemoglobin concentrations based on the Beer-Lambert law and baseline correction with noise reduction applied through a third-order Chebyshev type II low-pass filter (passband: <6 dB). Features (signal mean,



Figure 1: Classifier accuracies evaluated using 10 by 5-fold crossvalidation. White triangles represent the mean accuracy value. The dashed line marks the upper bound, corresponding to the maximum 97.5th percentile of the chance level across all classifiers and participants.

signal slope, signal variance, and root mean square values) were selected through ReliefF. Seven classifiers were tested using a 1000-fold permutation test with 10 by 5-fold cross-validation for each fold, with hyperparameters tuned through grid search (Fig. 1). The offline and online cross-validation achieved average classification accuracies of  $85.3\pm7.17\%$  and  $77.2\pm5.83\%$ , respectively.

*Conclusion:* Our findings show that self-regulated asynchronous real-time fNIRS-BCI is feasible for children with CP. Personalized approaches for channel selection, feature extraction, and classifier optimization may effectively address individual differences. These advances emphasize the potential for translating BCI into clinical or home settings as an access technology.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors thank all volunteers who participated in this study. The authors express their gratitude to members of the PRISM lab for their continuous support. The authors did not report any potential conflict of interest.

- S. Orlandi, S.C. House, P. Karlsson, R. Saab, and T. Chau, "Brain-computer interfaces for children with complex communication needs and limited mobility: a systematic review," *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, vol. 15, pp. 1-28, 2021.
- [2] B. Koo, H.G. Lee, Y. Nam, H. Kang, C.S. Koh, H.C. Shin, S. Choi, "A hybrid NIRS-EEG system for self-paced brain-computer interface with online motor imagery," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, vol. 244, pp. 26-32, 2015.
- [3] J.D.R. Millán, F. Renkens, J. Mouriño, and W. Gerstner, "Noninvasive brain-actuated control of a mobile robot by human EEG," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 1026–1033, 2004.

## The potential of the 1/f EEG slope at rest for predicting BCI performance: a *brain criticality hypothesis for BCI use* T. Settgast<sup>1\*</sup>, A. Kübler<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg, Institute of Psychology, Section Intervention Psychology \*Marcusstraße 9-11, 97070, Würzburg, Germany, Email: tomko.settgast@uni-wuerzburg.de

*Introduction:* Recently, several studies have highlighted the influence of the *aperiodic*, *scale-free* component, i.e. the *1/f* slope, of the resting-state EEG on subsequent task performance. We investigated this relationship for subsequent BCI (brain-computer interface) performance [1]. We observed two opposing relationships. In a large cohort of healthy participants (n=55, recently reanalyzed in [2]), the BCI performance decreased with a steepening 1/f EEG slope at rest, whereas the opposite was observed in a single *locked-in* (LIS) patient with *amyotrophic lateral sclerosis* (ALS). To reconcile these conflicting results, we referred to the *brain criticality hypothesis* (see e.g., [3]). Brain criticality has been related to the

1/f EEG slope, where a flatter slope typically indicates greater criticality. According to the brain criticality hypothesis, cognitive processing capacity is optimal at the point of criticality, with reduced performance in subcritical and supercritical states. This nonlinear relationship helped us explain our findings and formulate *the brain criticality hypothesis for BCI use* that is presented here.

*Hypothesis*: Resting-state brain criticality predicts subsequent BCI performance. Performance improves as the brain approaches the point of criticality at rest, regardless of whether



Figure 1: Hypothetical relationship between resting-state (RS) brain criticality and BCI performance. The relationship is shown exemplarily for healthy participants (left; as found in [2]) and a LIS-ALS patient (right; as found in [1]).

the starting point is subcritical or supercritical.

*Initial evidence*: Our results [1, 2] suggest that both healthy participants and a LIS-ALS patient benefit from approaching the point of criticality at rest for subsequent BCI performance. While BCI performance increases with increasing resting-state brain criticality in healthy participants (Figure 1, left), the opposite occurs in the LIS-ALS patient (Figure 1, right). In both cases, however, performance increases as one approaches the point of criticality at rest. The underlying assumption that brain criticality in ALS patients is generally elevated – eventually even being super-critical (Figure 1, right) – was recently supported by Trubshaw and colleagues [4] who showed the flattening of the 1/f EEG slope, consistent with increased criticality, in a large cohort of ALS patients.

- Settgast, T., Zilio, F., Kübler, A., & Northoff, G. (2023, February). Correlation between Neurophysiological Measures of Consciousness and BCI Performance in a Locked-in Patient. In 2023 11th International Winter Conference on Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.
- [2] Settgast, T., & Kübler, A. (2024). Resting-State Brain Criticality and Performance with P300-Based BCIs. In Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Brain-Computer Interface Conference, Technical University of Graz, Graz Austria.
- [3] O'Byrne, J., & Jerbi, K. (2022). How critical is brain criticality?. Trends in Neurosciences, 45(11), 820-837.
- [4] Trubshaw, M., Gohil, C., Yoganathan, K., Kohl, O., Edmond, E., Proudfoot, M., ... & Turner, M. R. (2024). The cortical neurophysiological signature of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Brain Communications, 6(3), fcae164.

## Speech mode classification from electrocorticography signals

Aurélie de Borman<sup>1,\*</sup>, Benjamin Wittevrongel<sup>1</sup>, Bob Van Dyck<sup>1</sup>, Kato Van Rooy<sup>2</sup>, Ine Dauwe<sup>2</sup>, Evelien Carrette<sup>2</sup>, Alfred Meurs<sup>2</sup>, Dirk Van Roost<sup>3</sup>, Paul Boon<sup>2</sup>, Marc M. Van Hulle<sup>1,4,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory for Neuro- and Psychophysiology, KU Leuven, Belgium; <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurology, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent, Belgium; <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium; <sup>4</sup> Leuven Brain Institute (LBI), Belgium; <sup>5</sup> Leuven institute for Artificial Intelligence (Leuven.AI), Belgium \* corresponding author: <u>aurelie.deborman@kuleuven.be</u>

*Introduction*: Speech processing involves distributed networks across the brain with similarities observed across speech modes. However, the interplay among these modes remains elusive. In this study, we classified 5 different speech modes: speaking, listening, imagining speaking, reading and miming.

Materials, Methods and Results: Electrocorticography signals were recorded from 27 participants using one of two paradigms. In the sentence paradigm, 19 participants were asked to speak, listen and imagine speaking 20 Dutch sentences. In the navigation paradigm, 8 participants first either read or listened to a word (up, down, left, right, stop in Dutch) and then spoke, imagined speaking or mimed the word. Hilbert envelopes were computed for 7 different frequency bands from delta to high gamma. Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) classifiers were trained to classify trials (1 second epochs) of different speech modes. Statistically significant accuracies were observed at both electrode- and subject-level when concatenating the features from all channels of each subject. Figure 1a shows the distribution of the electrode-level normalized accuracy. The highest performance was achieved in the sensorimotor cortex and superior temporal gyrus. We did not observe an increased performance in the left hemisphere compared to the right hemisphere. This might be attributed to a stronger engagement of all speech modes in the language-dominant hemisphere (left hemisphere for most participants) not helping the classification due to shared patterns across modes. Figure 1b displays the confusion matrix of the speech mode classification at subject-level, averaging predictions from subject-specific models. The overall accuracy was 69.54% (chance level: 20%).



Figure 1- **Speech mode classification a** Electrode-level: The size and color of the electrodes are proportional to the normalized accuracy (see color bar in b). **b** Subject-level: The confusion matrix shows the labels predicted by subject-specific models against the true labels for all trials.

#### Conclusion

High performance could be achieved using a simple linear model. The results confirm the importance of the sensorimotor cortex and superior temporal gyrus in speech processing and highlight their role in differentiating between speech modes. In a self-paced speech brain-computer interface, a speech mode classifier would prevent spurious output while the patient is engaging speech-related brain areas through activities such as reading or listening to speech.

## **Beyond Single Datasets: Transfer Learning for iBCI Decoding**

**E. Mo Nipshagen<sup>1,3\*</sup>, Yağmur Güçlütürk<sup>1</sup>, Pieter L. Kubben<sup>3</sup>, Marcel van Gerven<sup>1</sup>, Julia Berezutskaya<sup>2</sup>** <sup>1</sup>Donders Centre for Cognition, Department of Social Sciences, Radboud University, Nijmegen, Netherlands; <sup>2</sup>Brain Center, Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands; <sup>3</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, School of Mental Health and Neurosciences, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands \*E-mail: mo.nipshagen@ru.nl

*Introduction:* Implanted brain-computer-interfaces (iBCIs) using (high-density, HD) electrocorticography (ECoG) grids have successfully been used to help individuals with severe motor paralysis interact with their environment via synthesising speech or translating their movement intent into functional outputs. Due to differences in grid placement and interindividual variability, these high-performing systems usually need to be trained from scratch to be tailored to each user, which requires large amounts of labelled data. Acquiring that labelled data takes a lot of time and effort from iBCI users. In this work, we aim to create a model that can leverage unlabelled neural data, pooled from several HD ECoG participants and datasets. If successful, such a model can be used to reduce iBCI training time for new users (and tasks), create meaningful neural representations, and improve closed-loop, continuous iBCI decoding.

*Material and Methods:* One approach to transfer learning and dealing with ECoG grid placement variability was demonstrated with HT-Net [1], which classified neural data as either rest or task-related activity. Beyond pooling different datasets, we expand on their work in several ways: 1) We filter and reconstruct the data in 3 individual frequency bands to capture the movement-relevant high-frequency parts of activity. 2) We build three model variations, all based on the auto-encoder structure to compress and reconstruct neural data:

a) linear, b) recurrent and c) convolutional recurrent models. 3) We define a denser set of common sources aligned with HD grid spacing in sensorimotor regions following the Human Connectome Atlas.

Our dataset consists of two finger movement experiments, totalling two hours across 14 able-bodied participants, who were being monitored for medication-resistant epilepsy and had 64- to 128-channel HD ECoG grids implanted. The models are trained on time-domain data sampled at 250 Hz, fed into the model in 500-ms windows, and band-passed into 0-12, 12-24, and 24-125 Hz bands. Our models consist of an encoder, which extracts spatiotemporal features and compresses the 500-ms window into a bottleneck representation, and a decoder, which mirrors the architecture of the encoder and reconstructs the three frequency bands from the bottleneck. The models are optimised by reducing the mean-squared error between reconstruction and input signal for each band. The model performance is assessed on unseen data: 1) in-participant: the models are trained on one run of the task and are tested on an unseen run; 2) across-participants: trained on multiple participants (from one or several datasets), tested on an unseen participant.

*Results:* The convolutional recurrent model outperformed the linear and recurrent models by a significant margin in baseline tests, for both in-participant (correlation of reconstruction: 0.543, compared to 0.221 & 0.238 for the linear and recurrent models respectively, p < 0.0001) and across-participants evaluation (0.576, vs 0.338 & 0.526, p < 0.0001). Adding the projection matrix (ECoG channels to common sources), and bandpass filters to the model yielded further improvement for in-participant reconstruction (0.628 correlation on test set).

*Conclusion:* We are introducing a novel approach for transfer learning in iBCI development, combining data across several datasets to learn motor-relevant neural dynamics that are applicable to unseen participants. Our study showcases a potential avenue to lower the hurdle of training iBCI devices for new users. In further evaluation, we will assess the performance of this method for fine-tuning to an individual participant, explore what dynamics & features the model extracts from the data, and employ it to decode motor intent when applied in a closed-loop setting.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* This publication is part of the project INTENSE (project number 17619) of the crossover research program, which is partly financed by the Dutch Research Council (NWO).

*References:* [1] S. M. Peterson, Z. Steine-Hanson, N. Davis, R. P. N. Rao, and B. W. Brunton. Generalized neural decoders for transfer learning across participants and recording modalities. In *Journal of Neural Engineering, vol. 18, no. 2. IOP Publishing, p. 026014*, 2021

## Task-Based Functional Network and Topological Data Analysis of Event Related Potentials in Chronic Tinnitus Jihoo Kim<sup>1\*</sup>, Seunghu Kim<sup>2\*</sup>, June Choi <sup>3†</sup>, Sungkean Kim<sup>1,2,4†</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Interdisciplinary Robot Engineering Systems, Hanyang University, Ansan, Republic of Korea; <sup>2</sup>Department of Applied Artificial Intelligence, Hanyang University, Ansan, Republic of Korea;

<sup>3</sup>Department of Otorhinolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery, Ansan Hospital, Korea University College of Medicine, Republic of

Korea; <sup>4</sup>Department of Human-Computer Interaction, Hanyang University, Ansan, Republic of Korea

\*P.O. Box 15588, Ansan, Gyeonggi-do, Korea. E-mail: kimsk@hanyang.ac.kr

*Introduction:* Brain network analysis, powered by advancements in network science and graph theory, provides crucial insights into the neural mechanisms underlying mental disorders and brain pathophysiology. In tinnitus, characterized by the perception of sound without an external source, investigating altered brain networks is essential to understanding its pathophysiology. Graph-theory-based functional networks enable comparisons of the small-world organization characteristic of healthy brain networks with the disrupted architecture observed in tinnitus patients. However, constructing brain networks is often hindered by the lack of standardized criteria for threshold selection, which impacts network topology and interpretation. Persistent homology, a topological data analysis (TDA) method, addresses this challenge by quantifying topological features across multiple scales without relying on arbitrary thresholds.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Seventy participants, including 38 tinnitus patients and 32 healthy controls (HCs), underwent audiological evaluations and EEG recordings during a cognitive auditory oddball task. P3 components were extracted from midline electrodes (Fz, Cz, and Pz). Neural sources were reconstructed using a minimum-norm imaging technique, and current source density was estimated within predefined functional brain regions. Functional connectivity was computed using wPLI to construct adjacency matrices. Persistent homology was derived from the adjacency matrices to compute Rips complexes, quantifying topological features such as connected components ( $\beta$ 0) and higher-order loops ( $\beta$ 1). Subsequently, persistent topological features are visualized using persistence diagrams. Persistent entropy, derived from these diagrams, quantifies the complexity of topological features by measuring the distribution of interval lengths. Higher entropy values indicate greater diversity and uniformity in the persistence of features, while

lower values reflect dominance by a few significant features, suggesting simpler underlying structures. Bottleneck and Wasserstein distances are used to assess the stability and similarity of topological features, with Bottleneck capturing localized differences and Wasserstein reflecting global variations [1]. Using the random forest algorithm, we employed a filter-based feature selection method utilizing the Fisher score combined with leave-one-out cross-validation. With functional network features from each frequency band, the model achieved a maximum accuracy of 67.14% using 13 selected features. In contrast, incorporating non-linear topological features from each



Figure 1: Comprehensive representation of a persistence homology, with A. persistence diagrams and B. the mathematical formulations for persistence distances.

frequency band improved the model's performance to 77.14% with only 5 selected features, highlighting the efficiency and discriminative power of topological features in the classification task.

*Conclusion:* The experimental results demonstrate that persistent homology effectively captures the nonlinear and non-stationary topological features of brain networks, which are inadequately characterized by conventional linear graph-theoretical approaches. This study establishes a comprehensive framework for modeling complex brain dynamics in topological systems, offering deeper insights into their nonlinear behaviors and enabling more robust analyses and predictions. It particularly highlights the utility of identifying higher-order topological structures in nonlinear brain functional networks. *References:* 

1. Atienza, N., R. González-Díaz, and M. Soriano-Trigueros, *On the stability of persistent entropy and new summary functions for TDA.* arXiv preprint arXiv:1803.08304, 2018.

## Towards the Clinical Translation of Implantable Brain-Computer Interfaces for Motor Impairment: Research Trends and Outcome Measures

E. Dohle<sup>1</sup>, E. Swanson<sup>2</sup>, L. Jovanovic<sup>3</sup>, S. Yusuf<sup>4</sup>, L. Thompson<sup>5</sup>, H. Layard Horsfall<sup>6</sup>, W. R. Muirhead<sup>6</sup>, L. Bashford<sup>7,8</sup>, J. Brannigan<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Oxford, Medical Sciences Division, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford, UK, <sup>2</sup>Queen Square Institute of Neurology, University College London, London, UK, <sup>3</sup>East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, Lister Hospital, Stevenage, UK, <sup>4</sup>John Radcliffe Hospital, Headley Way, Oxford, UK, <sup>5</sup>Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College London, London, UK, <sup>6</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery, London, UK, <sup>7</sup>Department of Neuroscience, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, <sup>8</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, University of Colorado, Denver, USA

\* University of Oxford, Medical Sciences Division, Oxford OX3 9DU. E-mail: jamie.brannigan@medsci.ox.ac.uk

*Introduction:* Implantable brain-computer interfaces (iBCIs) translate neural signals into motor commands, such as the movement of a device or synthesis of speech, offering potential to restore function in patients with severe motor impairments. This systematic review provides a comprehensive analysis of the evolution of implantable BCI research so far, as well as the need for robust, clinically meaningful outcome measures to enable clinical translation.

Material, Methods and Results: A sensitive search strategy was developed and applied across MEDLINE, Embase, and CINAHL databases. Studies involving iBCIs with intracranial sensing and external effector components were included. Records were screened by two independent reviewers. Data was extracted using a piloted proforma, and the risk of bias was evaluated using the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT). A total of 112 studies met the inclusion criteria, with a significant proportion published since 2020, accounting for 49.1% of included studies (n=55). Most research was concentrated in the United States (83.0%; n = 93), with notable contributions from Europe, Australia, and China. Over the past decade, electrocorticography (ECoG)-based devices have increasingly emerged alongside micro-electrode arrays (MEAs) as the sensing devices in iBCI studies. This coincides with a shift in focus from exclusively decoding individual neuron spiking activity to also incorporating spectral features derived from the oscillatory activity of large populations of neurons. iBCI devices are now being used to control an increasingly diverse range of effectors, including robotic prosthetic limbs and consumer digital technologies. Although most (69.6%, n = 78) studies reported outcome measures prospectively, these most commonly related to decoding (69.6%, n = 78) and task performance (62.5%, n = 70). Clinical outcomes were rarely reported, with only 20 studies (17.9%) reporting a use of clinical outcome measure. These measures were heterogenous and most often were related to robotic prosthetic upper limb functions, or the completion of activities of daily living.

*Discussion and Conclusion:* The clinical and engineering focus of iBCI studies has rapidly evolved since the first human studies, and fully implantable devices have now emerged which may enable clinical translation. This review highlights the dominance of U.S.-based research, the shift towards ECoG-based systems, the expanding array of controllable effectors and the predominance of engineering-related outcome measures. iBCI systems have the potential to restore functional independence at scale, however challenges remain regarding cross-subject generalisation, scalable implantation of devices, and standardisation in the reporting of clinically-meaningful outcomes. Development of novel outcome measures should involve engineers, clinicians and individuals with lived experience of motor impairment.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: LB is supported by the NUAcT Fellowship and Rosetrees and Stoneygate Trust. JB is a clinical consultant for Synchron Inc.

#### Understanding Patient Preferences for Implantable Brain–Computer Interfaces in Motor Neuron Disease: A Cross-Sectional Survey J. F. M. Brannigan MA MBBChir<sup>1\*</sup>, H. L. Horsfall MBBS MRCS<sup>2,3,4</sup>, R. Cave RCSLT PhD<sup>5,6</sup>, L. Bashford PhD<sup>7</sup>, W. Muirhead MD FRCS<sup>2,3</sup>

1. Nuffield Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK, 2. Department of Neurosurgery, National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery, London, UK, 3. The Francis Crick Institute, London, UK, 4. UCL Hawkes Institute, University College London, London, UK, 5. Department of Computer Science, University College London, London, UK, 6. Motor Neuron Disease Association, Northampton, UK 7. Faculty of Medical Sciences, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK \*Jamie Brannigan; John Radcliffe Hospital, Headley Way, Headington, Oxford, OX3 9DU; jamie.brannigan@medsci.ox.ac.uk

*Introduction:* Motor neuron disease (MND), often presenting as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), leads to profound motor and communication deficits. Implantable brain–computer interfaces (iBCIs) that decode cortical signals to drive assistive devices represent a promising avenue for restoring functional independence. However, patient preferences and tolerances regarding iBCI risks, training burdens, and desired outcomes remain incompletely understood. This cross-sectional survey sought to characterize these preferences in people with MND (pwMND) in the UK.

*Material, Methods and Results:* A web-based survey was disseminated by the MND Association (30 September–15 December 2024). Thirty-nine pwMND responded (32 complete responses, 7 partial), encompassing varied ages and disease severities. Most (66.7%) used digital devices hourly, although 30.8% could not operate these devices by hand and relied on assistive technologies such as eye tracking. Self-reported familiarity with BCIs was generally low, but individuals with more advanced disease tended to have slightly higher awareness.

Asked which functions they would most like an iBCI to restore, participants prioritised mobility, communication, and arm/hand control. Among digital-specific applications, communication tools, work/employment, and entertainment/leisure emerged as the top three preferences. Other activities, such as managing finances and controlling smart home environments, were also mentioned as top priorities.

Respondents were generally open to neurosurgical implantation if it led to meaningful functional benefits (80% "Agreed" or "Strongly Agreed"). However, only 60% accepted implantation if the device would remain effective for just one year. Respondents were also willing to receive a device in the context of higher surgical risk (1% risk of death), with 80% of patients again indicating they would accept implantation to restore meaningful functions.

When asked about post-implantation training, participants reported a median upper limit of 12 total sessions if they could be conducted at home, but only 5 sessions if they required travel to a clinical site. Almost half (48.5%) indicated that each session should not exceed two hours, and most participants preferred infrequent device recalibrations (ideally once every few weeks or months). These findings suggest tolerance for a training and recalibration burden lower than is required in most iBCI academic studies.

Accuracy, ease of use, and long-term reliability were top priorities when deciding whether to receive an iBCI, surpassing raw speed in importance. More than 90% wanted guarantees of ongoing technical support to minimise the risk of device abandonment.

*Conclusion:* This survey offers new insights into the real-world priorities of pwMND regarding surgically implanted BCIs. Whilst there is a clear willingness to accept neurosurgical risk for potentially life-enhancing gains in mobility and communication, participants desire robust device accuracy, reliable technical support, and minimal training burdens. The absence of any iBCI background knowledge indicates that patient groups may benefit from the delivery educational workshops or materials where individuals are being recruited to iBCI studies. These patient-informed preferences should help guide clinicians, researchers, and industry partners in designing and evaluating iBCIs that align with the practical realities and aspirations of individuals living with MND.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We are grateful to the MND Association and all participants for their time and support. LB is supported by the NUAcT Fellowship and Rosetrees and Stoneygate Trust. JB has received consultant fees from Synchron Inc. and the UK Advanced Research and Invention Agency

## Automatic EEG Channel Optimization Based on Integrated Gradients for Auditory Attention Tasks

Xue Yuan<sup>1,2</sup>, Keren Shi<sup>1,2</sup>, Hanbin Wang<sup>3</sup>, Ning Jiang<sup>1,2</sup>, Jiayuan He<sup>1,2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>National Clinical Research Center for Geriatrics, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, Sichuan 610017, China; <sup>2</sup>Med-X Center for Manufacturing, Sichuan University, Chengdu, Sichuan 610017, China; <sup>3</sup>Institute of Electronic Engineering, China Academy of Engineering Physics (CAEP), Mianyang, China \*Correspondence: E-mail, jiayuan.he@wchscu.cn

*Introduction:* Humans have the ability to focus on the specific speaker's voice in a noisy environment, and the attention could be decoded from neural signals, such as Electroencephalography (EEG) [1]. To achieve high accuracy, EEG-based auditory attention decoding studies often employ dozens of electrodes, which increases the complexity of the system and reduces its portability [2]. Previous channel pruning algorithms typically relied on prior assumptions or require additional costs [3]. This work proposed to employ integrated gradients (IG) and directly infer the channels related to auditory tasks without extra training and learning costs.

*Material, Methods and Results:* EEG data from 16 subjects with 32 channels were collected under an auditory attention paradigm. IG performs Riemann integration on the gradients along the path between the EEG signal and the reference baseline to stably quantify channel contributions, guiding channel pruning. IG significantly outperforms random channel selection (see Fig. 1). The top 20 selected channels achieve similar decoding performance to using full channels. Even with just 5 channels, accuracy remains above 80%. Additionally, the task-relevant channels identified by IG are located in the prefrontal cortex, which is involved in attention allocation and decision-making.



Figure 1: (A) The impact of channel count on decoding performance. The dark lines show average decoding performance, while light lines represent individual results for 16 subjects. (B) Top 10 electrodes identified by IG, with orange dot size indicating contribution level.

*Conclusion:* IG incurs a small causal inference cost, reducing over half the channels while maintaining performance, and successfully identifying channels related to the neural mechanisms of auditory attention. These results support neuro-guided hearing device applications.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* We thank the participants, without whom this research would not have been possible. This work was supported by the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities under Grant YJ202373. We declare that there are no conflicts of interest related to this study.

- E. C. Cherry, "Some Experiments on the Recognition of Speech, with One and with Two Ears," J Acoust Soc Am, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 975–979, Sep. 1953, doi: 10.1121/1.1907229.
- [2] O. F. Kucukler, A. Amira, and H. Malekmohamadi, "EEG channel selection using Gramian Angular Fields and spectrograms for energy data visualization," *Eng Appl Artif Intell*, vol. 133, p. 108305, Jul. 2024, doi: 10.1016/j.engappai.2024.108305.
- [3] A. M. Narayanan and A. Bertrand, "Analysis of Miniaturization Effects and Channel Selection Strategies for EEG Sensor Networks With Application to Auditory Attention Detection," *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 234–244, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2019.2911728.

## An SSVEP Regression Network for Cross-stimulus Transfer in SSVEP-BCIs

#### Ximing. Mai<sup>1</sup>, Jianjun. Meng<sup>1</sup>\*, Xiangyang. Zhu

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Robotics, School of Mechanical Engineering, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

\*corresponding author. E-mail: mengjianjunxs008@sjtu.edu.cn

*Introduction:* SSVEP-based BCIs achieve high information transfer rates (ITR) over 300 bits/min but require prolonged calibration time. Cross-stimulus transfer addresses this by enabling models trained on a subset of classes (seen classes) to decode both seen and unseen classes. Existing approaches obtain templates of unseen classes for decoding using common components from seen class templates [1]; however, these templates suffer from class-relevant activities, leading to degraded performance. This study proposes a neural network to directly map visual stimuli (sine-cosine reference signals) to SSVEP responses (SSVEP templates). Moreover, a novel framework is introduced by combining the proposed regression network and spatial filtering to identify targets from both seen and unseen classes.

*Materials and Methods:* A public SSVEP dataset comprising 35 participants was utilized [2]. Each participant completed six blocks, each containing 40 trials representing 40 classes/visual stimuli. A k-fold cross-validation scheme was implemented, with one block as the test set and the remaining as the training blocks. In the training blocks, 32, 20, and 8 classes were chosen as the training set, i.e., the seen set, with the remaining classes as the unseen set. The network employs three modules: (i) an Embedding block, embedding sine-cosine reference signals into high-dimensional features; (ii) a Spatial-temporal Extraction block, using 1D convolutional layers and residual connections to extract spatial and temporal features; and (iii) a Bi-direction block, using recurrent layers to further extract temporal features. As shown in Figure 1(A), with obtained SSVEP templates of all classes, spatial filters mapped multichannel data into 1D vectors, followed by correlation analysis for target prediction.

**Results and Discussions:** Figure 1(B) shows that the regressed SSVEP templates closely align with the true templates, indicating that the proposed network captures frequency and phase information. Moreover, Figure 1(C) shows that the framework outperforms existing approaches by a 10% improvement.

*Significance:* The proposed network can regress SSVEP responses of any class without collecting corresponding training samples. Integrated with the spatial filtering technique, the proposed framework enhances decoding performance and facilitates practical applications of SSVEP-based BCIs.

*Acknowledgements:* The Science and Technology Commission of Shanghai Municipality (STCSM, Grant No. 24YL1900200), and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 52175023 & No. 52227808).



Figure 1. (A) Overall scheme of the proposed framework. SSVEP templates of seen classes, spatial filters w, and RegNet are derived from the training set. SSVEP templates of unseen classes are regressed by the RegNet using sine-cosine reference signals as input. (B) Comparison between true SSVEP templates and regressed SSVEP templates. (C) Accuracies of different approaches under eight unseen classes.

- Z. Wang, C. M. Wong, A. Rosa, T. Qian, T.-P. Jung, and F. Wan, "Stimulus-Stimulus Transfer Based on Time-Frequency-Joint Representation in SSVEP-Based BCIs," *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, vol. 70, no. 2, pp. 603–615, Feb. 2023, doi: 10.1109/TBME.2022.3198639.
- [2] Y. Wang, X. Chen, X. Gao, and S. Gao, "A Benchmark Dataset for SSVEP-Based Brain–Computer Interfaces," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 25, no. 10, pp. 1746–1752, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2016.2627556.

### A novel method for visual cortical prosthesis

R. Gefen<sup>1</sup>\*, D. Rigler<sup>1</sup>, H. Slovin<sup>2</sup>, S. Harnof<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>CoritiSight Medical Ltd. Israel; <sup>2</sup>Gonda Brain Center, Bar-Ilan University, Israel; <sup>3</sup>Rabin Medical center, Israel \*P.O. Box 1224, Modiin, 7179902 Israel. E-mail: raanan@cortisight.com

*Introduction:* Visual cortex stimulation is a cutting-edge technique in neuroscience that targets the primary visual cortex (V1) to modulate visual processing. It utilizes various forms of electrical stimulation which has attracted attention for its potential to restore visual perception in blind patients, regardless of the underlying cause, and possibilities for enhancing and augmenting visual processing in individuals with intact vision. The devices are designed to bypass damaged visual pathways by directly stimulating the brain's visual processing areas and reactivate neural circuits, induce artificial visual experiences, promote neuroplasticity, and assist in rehabilitating individuals who have lost their sight due to impaired visual pathways while retaining their brain's capacity to process visual information. In the past decade, interest in developing cortical stimulation prostheses has surged, largely driven by developments in cortical stimulation waveform design [<sup>1,2</sup>] that have been demonstrated in humans and primates, brain command connectivity [<sup>3</sup>], advanced visual mapping techniques [<sup>4,5</sup>] and the apparent shortcomings of retinal prostheses in offering a comprehensive solution. Projects such as the Orion and Chicago ICVP systems that cover a limited central field of view with low resolution utilizing penetrating or surface epicortical electrodes have advanced to the point of clinical research.

*Material, Methods, and Results*: While still in the experimental phases, the CortiSight technology adopted recent advances in neurotechnology, high capacitance electrode design, application of AI-based algorithms for image-brain-computer interfaces, and advanced electrode arrays deployment surgical techniques, and not only aims to provide basic visual sensations but also aspires to facilitate chronic complexed functional vision experiences for individuals with blindness and deepen our understanding of brain function and sensory restoration. The device uses wide multiple electrode arrays embedded within flexible intra-cortical threads to enable an extensive and effective number of cortical neurostimulation signals. The four electrode arrays aim to cover a large visual field on both hemispheres. The 386 distinct electrodes controlled by a single implant case can be used for both active stimulation and local return to localize the affected Phosphene. The electrodes are coated with non-faradic TiN highly porosive deposition, which allows for safe, long-lasting stimulation with minimal gliosis. The implant is wirelessly linked to a headset unit to

receive power and stimulation instructions. The headset uses a camera to capture images of visual scenes and provide stimulation directions that consider the patient's gaze direction as well as audio commands for zooming and brightness adjustments. The optimal wide spatial distribution of electrode arrays is achieved using a rigid *comb-like* delivery tool. The accurate and robust delivery of the tool in close proximity to the target cortical cell layer was demonstrated in a sheep model following a 3x3cm craniotomy. Lateral introduction aimed to cover the foveal visual region, while the medial introduction was applied along the calcarine sulcus to enable the activation of para-foveal visual regions (fig. 1). This approach minimizes the risk of accidentally interacting with the superior sagittal sinus vein.



Figure 1: A sheep brain with several orientations of the comb-like introduction tool: 1. Lateral cortex surfaces; 2. Medial cortex surfaces.

**Conclusion:** A unique method of visual cortical prosthesis that may allow significant spatio-temporal resolution to blind patients has been developed and an early demonstration was performed.

Acknowledgement and Disclosures: R.Gefen and D. Rigler are personnel of CortiSight Medical Ltd.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Chen X. et.al., Shape perception via a high-channel-count neuroprosthesis in monkey visual cortex. Science 370, 1191–1196 (2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Beauchamp et al., Dynamic Stimulation of Visual Cortex Produces Form Vision in Sighted and Blind Humans. 2020, Cell 181, 774–783

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> David C. Van Essen et.al., The WU-Minn Human Connectome Project: An Overview. Neuroimage. 2013 October 15; 80: 62–79

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Slovin H. et.al., Long-term voltage-sensitive dye imaging reveals cortical dynamics in behaving monkeys. J Neurophysiol. 88:3421-38, 2002
<sup>5</sup> Oz R. et.al., Microstimulation in the primary visual cortex: Activity patterns and their relation to visual responses and evoked saccades. Cerebral Cortex. 2023; 33(9):5192-5209

## Adaptive EEG-Based Brain-Computer Interfaces for Stroke Patients: A Scoping Review

#### Celeste Cisi<sup>1</sup>, Maryam Alimardani<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands \*De Boelelaan 1111, 1081 HV Amsterdam E-mail: <u>m.alimardani@vu.nl</u>

*Introduction:* EEG-based brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) have gained attention for their potential to enhance post-stroke rehabilitation through motor imagery tasks. By dynamically tailoring the system to individual neurophysiological responses, adaptive BCIs promise more personalized rehabilitation, potentially improving patient engagement and intervention outcomes [1,2,3]. However, given the diversity in post-stroke motor impairments and neuro-rehabilitation approaches, the comparative efficacy of adaptive versus non-adaptive BCIs remains unclear [4, 5]. Hence, the current study aimed to systematically evaluate empirical evidence on adaptive EEG-based BCIs, focusing on their benefits, challenges, and effectiveness in post-stroke rehabilitation.

*Material, Methods and Results:* A scoping review was conducted following the PRISMA-ScR protocol to investigate the benefits and effectiveness of adaptive EEG-based motor imagery BCIs for post-stroke patients. A systematic search of 3 databases (Scopus, PubMed and IEEE Xplore) with the query "(BCI OR Neurofeedback) AND stroke AND EEG AND adaptive AND motor" provided 62 original publications, 13 of which met the predefined inclusion/exclusion criteria. Data extraction from these 13 studies highlighted that adaptive BCIs can effectively address challenges such as inter-user variability and EEG non-stationarity through real-time adaptation of the feedback and model recalibration. For instance, personalized calibration could enhance classification accuracy for stroke patients by up to 13.5% when adapting to inter-session signal fluctuations [3, 5]. Additionally, real-time feedback mechanisms were shown to promote cortical reorganization. One study reported a 15% improvement in Fugl-Meyer Assessment scores for upper extremities when combining adaptive BCIs with virtual reality and functional electrical stimulation [3]. Therefore, positive trends in motor recovery and user engagement were identified [3, 6], yet direct comparisons to non-adaptive systems were considered limited. Variability in study designs and outcome measures further constrained definite conclusions about the comparison between adaptive and non-adaptive systems [4, 5, 6].

*Conclusion:* Our scoping review shows that while adaptive BCIs offer significant promise in stroke rehabilitation by personalizing feedback and addressing EEG signal variability, limitations exist in comparative studies and standardization, highlighting the need for further research. Future studies should prioritize direct comparisons between adaptive and non-adaptive systems, alongside longitudinal designs to assess long-term impacts on motor recovery and daily functioning.

- [1] Zhao C. Brain-computer interface technology in stroke rehabilitation. Dean&Francis Press, 2024. https://doi.org/10.61173/4y3cdc08.
- [2] Girouard A. Adaptive brain-computer interface. In Proceedings of the CHI '09 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 3097–3100, Association for Computing Machinery, 2009. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/1520340.1520436</u>.
- [3] Zhang R, Wang C, He S, Zhao C, Zhang K, Wang X, Li Y. An adaptive brain-computer interface to enhance motor recovery after stroke. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, 31, 2268–2278, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1109/TNSRE.2023.3272372.
- [4] Faller J, Scherer R, Friedrich EV, Costa U, Opisso E, Medina J, Müller-Putz GR. Non-motor tasks improve adaptive brain-computer interface performance in users with severe motor impairment. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 8, 320, 2014. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2014.00320.
- [5] Astrand E, Plantin J, Palmcrantz S, Tidare J. EEG non-stationarity across multiple sessions during a motor imagery-BCI intervention: Two post-stroke case series. In Proceedings of the 2021 International IEEE/EMBS Conference on Neural Engineering (NER), 817–821, IEEE, 2021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/NER49283.2021.9441076</u>.
- [6] Yang H, Guan C, Chua KS, Chok SS, Wang CC, Soon PK, Ang KK. Detection of motor imagery of swallow EEG signals based on the dual-tree complex wavelet transform and adaptive model selection. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 11(3), 035016, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1088/1741-2560/11/3/035016.

## Movement-based navigation of a matrix-speller via EEG

M. R. Crell<sup>1</sup>, K. Kostoglou<sup>1</sup>, G. R. Müller-Putz<sup>1,2,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Neural Engineering, Graz University of Technology, Graz, Austria; <sup>2</sup>BioTechMed Graz, Graz,

\*E-mail: gernot.mueller@tugraz.at

*Introduction:* Restoring communication for locked-in patients is an important task to improve their quality of life [1]. Although invasive methods have demonstrated great advances, they are associated with surgical implantation and therefore not feasible for all patients. Non-invasive methods such as electroencephalography (EEG) can offer an alternative. The current study investigates the implementation of a training paradigm and online matrix-speller to restore communication via movement detection using EEG. Such spellers offer an alternative to P300-spellers for locked-in patients or people with cerebral palsy [2]. The paradigm was designed to enable fast, cue-based data collection. This preliminary study explored the general feasibility of the approach with five healthy participants.

Material, Methods and Results: Participants executed two paradigms: a training paradigm and an online spelling task. The training paradigm consisted of three cue-based runs and one run of self-paced movement execution. During cue-based runs, participants executed finger flexion whenever a rotating cross overlapped a static cross. Each run lasted 330 s during which 100 movements were executed. In the self-paced run, participants executed movements at times of their choosing. The online spelling task contained six runs with matrices of size  $3 \times 3$  (run 1-3) or  $5 \times 5$  (run 4-6). Row-column scanning was implemented by sequentially highlighting the rows until a motion was detected and the currently highlighted row was selected. Subsequently, columns were highlighted until another motion was detected and the highlighted tile was selected. In runs 1 and 4, tiles were empty and the current target tile was marked with a red dot. In runs 2,3 and 5,6, participants spelled two five-letter words with upcoming letters being highlighted in red (runs 2,5) or participants having to locate the letters themselves within the matrix (runs 3,6). Runs 1-3 and 4-6 had timeouts of 3 and 4 min, respectively, after which the next word was displayed. Five participants (3 male, 2 female) completed the study. All participants were equipped with 60 EEG electrodes and 4 EOG electrodes for measuring eye movements. Movement onsets were tracked via motion capture software. EEG data was bandpass-filtered between 0.5 and 70 Hz and eyeartifacts were removed using the EOG channels [3]. Features were extracted by lowpass-filtering the data (cutoff frequency: 3.5 Hz), downsampling to 10 Hz and re-referencing to the common average. A shrinkage linear discriminant analysis (sLDA) was trained on data from the training paradigm to detect movement onsets from neural signals. The model was evaluated on data from the self-paced movement execution and the probability threshold of the sLDA was adapted to result in a maximum of one false positive per minute (FP/min) while achieving the maximal true positive rate. The grand average true positive rate over all matrix modes in the online spelling task was 59.1 % with a grand average of 0.87FP/min. 65.8 % of all words were correctly completed within the timeout period.

*Conclusion:* The results from the spelling task show that the introduced training paradigm and the utilized model lead to an online performance feasible for spelling complete words. The success rate of 65.8 % within the timeout period shows that a useful communication can be achieved. Future work will investigate the performance of the model in people with motor-impairments and the possible adaptations of the algorithm required for these patients.

*Acknowledgments:* This work was funded by the European Union's HORIZON-EIC-2021-PATHFINDER CHALLENGES program under grant agreement No 101070939 and by the Swiss State Secretariat for Education, Research and Innovation (SERI) under contract number 22.00198.

Austria;

<sup>[1]</sup> J., V. M. et al. Fully Implanted Brain–Computer Interface in a Locked-In Patient with ALS. N. Engl. J. Med. 375, 2060–2066 (2016).

<sup>[2]</sup> Scherer, R. et al. Thought-based row-column scanning communication board for individuals with cerebral palsy. Ann. Phys. Rehabilitation Med. 58, 14–22 (2015).

<sup>[3]</sup> Kobler, R. J. et al. Corneo-retinal-dipole and eyelid-related eye artifacts can be corrected offline and online in electroencephalographic and magnetoencephalographic signals. NeuroImage 218, 117000 (2020).

# Transparent c-VEP-based passive BCI to probe spatial attention

P. Cimarosto<sup>1</sup>\*, K. Cabrera Castillos<sup>1</sup>, S. Velut<sup>1,2</sup>, R. N. Roy<sup>1</sup>, F. Dehais<sup>1</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Fédération ENAC ISAE-SUPAERO ONERA, Université de Toulouse, France;
<sup>2</sup>A&O - LISN - Université Paris-Saclay, 1 rue René Thom, 91190 Gif-sur-Yvette - France \*10, Avenue Marc Pélegrin, 31055, Toulouse, France. E-mail: Pietro.cimarosto@isae-supaero.fr

*Introduction:* Code Visually Evoked Potentials (c-VEP) have garnered significant attention within the Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) community. Traditionally employed for enabling hands-free interactions in reactive BCI systems, c-VEP present a novel application within passive BCI systems, aimed at spatial attention tagging. Our team has innovatively developed transparent textured flickers to seamlessly integrate attention tagging without causing distraction or eye strain, achieved by carefully adjusting contrast and intensity to remain at the threshold of conscious perception [1][2].

*Material, Methods and Results:* In this study, we aim to extend the current paradigm to more ecologically valid settings, using the Multi-Attribute Task Battery (MATB), which includes three subtasks: Monitoring (responding to visual alerts), Tracking (maintaining a crosshair in the center), and Communications (reading back radio communications) – see Fig. 1a. Three stimuli were presented imperceptibly across these subtasks. These stimuli, flashed aperiodically with unique binary codes (sequences of 1 -on, and 0 -off), are designed to minimize correlation. By reconstructing the observed c-VEP codes in real time, we achieved predictions of participants' spatial attention targets at ~30 Hz. We tested our approach on 10 participants using the LiveAmp EEG system, alongside an eye tracker as ground truth for spatial attention. The session included an 80s calibration followed by 300s of passive supervision of cued MATB subtasks. The results are displayed on Fig. 1b.

*Conclusion:* The results demonstrate that our system successfully generated continuous predictions that were consistent with the output of the eye tracker, validating the effectiveness of our pBCI with its short calibration time and nearly invisible flickers. Future research will focus on the real-time integration of EEG and eye-tracking data streams to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the user's state. By leveraging neural responses as indicators of cognitive processing depth, this approach aims to enable cooperative and synergistic use of neural information, enhancing human-computer interaction.





Figure 1: a) Implementation of the c-VEP based BCI and the eye tracking system to tag spatial attention; b) Confusion matrix of pBCI predictions and Eye Tracker predictions and related Accuracy, Precision and Recall;

- Dehais, F., Cabrera Castillos, K., Ladouce, S., & Clisson, P. (2024). Leveraging textured flickers: a leap toward practical, visually comfortable, and high-performance dry EEG code-VEP BCI. *Journal of neural engineering*, 21(6), 10.1088/1741-2552/ad8ef7
- [2] Ladouce, S., & Dehais, F. (2024). Frequency tagging of spatial attention using periliminal flickers. Imaging neuroscience, 2, 1-17.
# A non-invasive brain computer-brain stimulation interface to enhance motor rehabilitation

AJ. Hamoodi<sup>1</sup>, SD. Foglia<sup>2</sup>, AJ. Nelson<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Kinesiology, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada <sup>2</sup>School of Biomedical Engineering, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada \*AB 131. Ivor Wynne Centre, Hamilton, ON, Canada. E-mail: nelsonaj@mcmaster.ca

*Introduction:* Rehabilitative brain-computer interfaces (BCI) improve motor function by inducing neuroplasticity [1]. Typically, these BCIs either use neurofeedback or neuromuscular electrical stimulation to induce neuroplasticity in the motor cortex, both of which don't directly stimulate the brain [1]. A rehabilitative BCI that directly stimulates the brain on movement-intention may cause greater motor cortex activity, amplifying the magnitude of Hebbian plasticity (Fig 1.). In this way, a direct brain stimulation BCI may induce greater neuroplasticity than standard rehabilitative BCI, enhancing motor recovery. Thus, we set out to develop and test the effects of a BCI that triggers a burst of gamma frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) when movement intention is detected (Fig 1.).

*Material, Methods and Results:* The BCI is trained on a participant's electroencephalography (EEG) data recorded during 30 trials of cued right-hand clenching. Specifically, the BCI uses 9 sensorimotor electrodes (FC3/z/4, C3/z/4, CP3/z/4) that are bandpass filtered between 8-40Hz. The data are split into noise [-3, -1] and movement [-1, 1] epochs. A common-spatial pattern (CSP) is fit to the epochs and a support-vector machine (SVM) is trained on the CSP transformed data. Five-fold cross-validation is then performed on the training data and the elbow of the receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) curve obtained from the fifth fold of cross-validation is used as the threshold in testing. We tested the BCI in pseudo-real-time using a 2s sliding window with a step-size of 83ms and a 2s window jump when the BCI detects movement regardless of whether movement truly occurred. We computed the true-positive and false-positive rates, where a true positive is defined as being within 1s of movement intention. Across 2 healthy adults and 2 fibromyalgia patients we achieved an average true-positive rate of 83% and false-positives/minute of 6.34/min with a mean latency of 123.7ms. In practice, real-time data will be streamed to a custom Python script running the tuned BCI that triggers an rTMS 100Hz triplet over the right-hand representation of the participant's motor cortex (Fig. 2).

*Conclusion:* We have successfully developed and obtained pilot validation data for a BCI that can trigger rTMS 100Hz triplets when movement intention is detected. This work introduces a novel form of rehabilitative BCI that directly and non-invasively stimulates the brain. This novel rehabilitative BCI has the potential to significantly enhance motor recovery through greater motor cortex plasticity. Our next steps are to test BCI performance in real-time and determine the effects of this BCI on motor cortex plasticity in healthy adults.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We have no conflicts of interest to disclose.



#### References:



Figure 1: Proposed Hebbian plasticity through co-incident movement-intention and brain stimulation.



CC BY 4.0

<sup>[1]</sup> Cerva MA, Soekadar SR, Ushiba J, Millan JR, Liu M, Birbaumer N, Garipelli G. Brain-computer interfaces for post-stroke motor rehabilitation: a meta-analysis. In *Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology*, 651–663, 2018.

## **Real-Time BCI Control of a Virtual Third Arm**

Gilad Schrift<sup>1\*</sup>, D. Abeles<sup>2</sup>, Nitzan Censor<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Sagol School of Neuroscience, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel ; <sup>2</sup> School of Psychological, Tel Aviv University, Israel ;

\*P.O. Box 39040, Tel Aviv 6997801, Israel. E-mail: Giladsc@gmail.com

*Introduction:* Motor augmentation is a transformative field in neuroscience and robotics, enabling humans to extend their physical capabilities beyond natural anatomical boundaries [1]. This study focuses on the development of a virtual reality (VR) paradigm designed to facilitate the learning processes for controlling a supernumerary effector (SE), a third arm, through an electroencephalography (EEG)-based brain-computer-interface (BCI).

Material, Methods and Results: A VR-based simulator was developed to integrate an EEGdriven BCI for controlling a virtual SE. Seven participants controlled a modified avatar featuring a third arm in a virtual reality environment, performing tasks requiring the use of the SE alongside natural arms (see Fig. 1). The SE's actions - grasping and releasing were operated using motor imagery (MI), with sensory feedback delivered via a haptic vest to enhance embodiment [2]. EEG signals collected during a motor imagery task were processed using Common Spatial Patterns (CSP) and Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) to train a hand state classifier [3]. The classifier achieved an average accuracy of 73% ( $\pm 4\%$  std) for recognizing hand grasping, and 71% ( $\pm$ 5% std) for releasing (Fig. 2). Neural activity patterns during motor imagery exhibited event-related desynchronization in the mu band. Additionally, participants reported high levels of ownership and control over the virtual SE.

*Conclusion:* This preliminary study validates the feasibility of direct MI BCI-controlled



Figure 1: A user interacting with the virtual environment using the modified avatar equipped with a supernumerary effector (SE). The left panel shows an external view of the avatar, and the right panel shows the first-person perspective of the user.



Figure 2: Accuracy of the supernumerary arm actions during the motor imagery task.

motor augmentation within a VR setting. The findings lay the groundwork for future research into motor augmentation, with potential applications for assistive technologies and rehabilitation.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This study was supported by the European Research Council (ERC-2019-COG 866093).

- [1] Eden, J. et al. Principles of human movement augmentation and the challenges in making it a reality. Nat Commun 13, 1345 (2022).
- [2] Hussain, I., Meli, L., Pacchierotti, C., Salvietti, G., & Prattichizzo, D. (2015, June). Vibrotactile haptic feedback for intuitive control of robotic extra fingers. In World Haptics (pp. 394-399).
- [3] Ramoser, H., Muller-Gerking, J., & Pfurtscheller, G. (2000). Optimal spatial filtering of single trial EEG during imagined hand movement. *IEEE transactions on rehabilitation engineering*, 8(4), 441-446.

# Bilateral frontotemporal neuronal dynamics during natural conversation: Single-neuron insights for BCI technologies

M. Jamali<sup>\*1,2</sup>, I. Caprara<sup>1,2</sup>, A. Bottinger<sup>3</sup>, E. Jacobowitz<sup>3</sup>, Z. Williams<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>3</sup>Northeastern University, Boston, MA, USA

Boston, Massachusetts General Hospital, E-mail: mjamali@mgh.harvard.edu

*Introduction:* Recent neurotechnology advancements, particularly single-neuron recordings in humans, offer unprecedented insights into language processing at previously inaccessible spatiotemporal scales [1,2]. This study leverages bilateral single-neuron recordings from human frontotemporal cortices during natural dialogue to uncover cellular processes involved in language production and comprehension. By analyzing structural features of speech from word to sentence and dialogue levels, along with their temporal dynamics, we provide a unique perspective on language representation across cortical regions. These insights could help the development of advanced communication-restoring brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) and deepen our understanding of the neural basis of human communicative competence.

Material, Methods and Results: We conducted semi-chronic recordings from 251 neurons across both hemispheres in five participants implanted with Utah arrays in temporal (i.e., MTG, STG) and frontal (i.e., LPFC) regions. Participants engaged in natural conversations with familiar people (friends and



Figure 1: Population response of frontotemporal neurons during speaking versus listening

family) and healthcare professionals (doctors, nurses, etc.) while we simultaneously recorded neural activity. Employing speech-tracking algorithms, we segmented dialogues into individual utterances and mapped them to specific linguistic constructs using natural language processing and word embedding techniques. We then identified neurons with selective responses to these constructs and modeled their ensemble activities. Our analysis revealed distinct neuronal populations in both hemispheres that selectively represented various aspects of language production and comprehension. The temporal lobe distinguished between speaking and listening, displaying greater activity during comprehension, while the frontal lobe exhibited comparable activity patterns in both comprehension and production (Fig.1). We observed dynamic transitions in neuronal activity patterns during turn-taking and identified neurons that encoded speaker identity. Notably, the activity patterns of these neurons demonstrated predictive capabilities for upcoming linguistic elements and conversational flow. Employing BERTopic to create dense topic clusters, we discovered that sentences within the same topic elicited highly similar neuronal responses, as measured by cosine similarity. In contrast, comparisons with no-topic sentences yielded lower similarity scores, indicating topic-specific neural representations together suggesting a rich representation of linguistic information at cellular scale.

*Conclusion:* This research provides new insights into the bilateral dynamics of language processing at the cellular level, illuminating linguistic and pragmatic components of human communication. By revealing some of the basic cellular building blocks underlying natural language processing, we offer a neuron-based framework for understanding communication disorders and a prospective platform for developing BCIs capable of decoding and generating natural language.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was funded by R01DC019653

#### References:

[1] Khanna, A.R., Muñoz, W., Kim, Y.J. et al. Single-neuronal elements of speech production in humans. Nature 626, 603-610 2024.

[2] Jamali, M., Grannan, B., Cai, J. et al. Semantic encoding during language comprehension at single-cell resolution. *Nature* 631, 610–616 2024.

### Recalibration of implantable brain-computer interface devices to enable longterm independent use: a systematic review

# Eleanor Swanson MSc<sup>1</sup>, Esmee Dohle MA MB BChir<sup>2</sup>, Luke Bashford PhD<sup>3</sup>, Hugo Layard Horsfall<sup>4</sup>, Luka Jovanovic MA MB BChir<sup>5</sup>, Jamie F.M. Brannigan MA MBBChir<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University Medical Centre Utrecht, Utrecht, NL; <sup>2</sup>Nuffield Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK; <sup>3</sup>Faculty of Medical Sciences, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK; <sup>4</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery, London, UK; <sup>5</sup>East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust, Lister Hospital, Stevenage, UK \*Jamie Brannigan; John Radcliffe Hospital, Headley Way, Headington, Oxford, OX3 9DU; jamie.brannigan@medsci.ox.ac.uk

*Introduction:* Implantable brain-computer interfaces (iBCIs) decode neural signals to generate command signals for effector devices which can restore a lost function, such as movement or speech. However, maintaining device performance over time requires recalibration of decoding algorithms due to inherent instability in neural signals. To this end, we systematically reviewed recalibration procedures in iBCIs for patients with motor impairments, focusing on the clinical implications of recalibration requirements and strategies to enable long-term, independent use.

Methods and Results: A systematic search was conducted across EMBASE, MEDLINE, and CINAHL databases to identify studies involving recalibration of iBCIs. After deduplication, 2767 studies remained which were then screened to yield 58 studies. Data on recalibration frequency, duration, staff requirements, and location were extracted and analysed, along with other outcomes like user pathology and signal stability. Penetrating arrays, i.e., microelectrode arrays (MEA) or microwires, were used in 67.2% of studies (n=39), while electrocorticography (ECoG) arrays, were used in 32.8% of studies (n=19). Recalibration practices varied widely amongst studies and were typically performed according to predetermined study protocols, rather than clinical need due to deteriorating device performance. Practices were divided into manual recalibration requiring a specialist research team (89.7% of studies; n=52), semi-automatic recalibration which could be performed by a non-specialist caregiver (3.4%; n=2), and automatic recalibration methods whereby patients did not require assistance (6.9%; n=4). In 63.8% (n=37) of the included studies, iBCIs were recalibrated before each testing session. In contrast, 36.2% (n=21) reported device use for periods >24 hours without recalibration, with an average duration of  $13.8 \pm 14.2$  weeks (ranging from 32 hours to 61 weeks). Notably, 92.3% (n=36) of studies using intracortical (MEA-/microwire-based) iBCIs required daily or per-session recalibration. Studies employing ECoG iBCI devices generally reported less frequent recalibration, with intervals ranging from several weeks to over a year. Extended independent use was more frequently reported with ECoG-based iBCIs. Regarding the location of recalibration, 69% (n=40) took place in a lab (research) setting. Others were carried out at home (13.9%; n=8), both in the lab and at home (10.3%; n=6), not at all (1.7%; n=1), or it was unclear (5.2%; n=3). Across all studies, the most common conditions among iBCI users were spinal cord injury (42%; n=37), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (29.5%; n=26), and stroke (21.6%; n=19). In the subgroup with less frequent recalibration, ALS was relatively more prevalent than other conditions (48.4%; n=15), possibly reflecting the greater clinical need for reduced recalibration burden in individuals with advanced ALS.

*Conclusions:* Reducing recalibration frequency and/or complexity can improve patient autonomy, and optimizing recalibration strategies is crucial for enhancing the long-term independent use of iBCIs in home and clinical settings. ECoG iBCI studies typically have a low recalibration burden due to inherent signal stability. Whilst MEA iBCI studies usually involve a higher recalibration burden, recent studies have demonstrated reductions in recalibration burden, due to both latent space analysis methods, and continuously updating models during device use. Despite this progress, recalibration procedures are often not fully defined in iBCI studies, and where they are, they usually relate to the study protocol rather than the clinical meaningful requirement of recalibration due to worsening device performance. Future studies should continue to develop user-friendly recalibration procedures and outline the clinically relevant recalibration requirements where possible.

*Disclosures:* This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors. LB is supported by the NUAcT Fellowship and Rosetrees and Stoneygate Trust. JB has received consultant fees from Synchron Inc. and the UK Advanced Research and Invention Agency.

# EEG-based Motor Imagery Neurofeedback Enhance Mu Suppression during Motor Attempt in Stroke Patients

Hyunmi Lim<sup>1</sup>, Wonseok Kim<sup>2</sup>, Jeonghun Ku<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, Keimyung University, Daegu, Korea; <sup>2</sup>Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea \*P.O. Box 1095, Dalgubeol-daero, Dalseo-gu, Daegu, Korea. E-mail: kujh@kmu.ac.kr

*Introduction:* Neurofeedback using EEG-based event-related desynchronization (ERD) has shown potential in stroke rehabilitation [1]. However, its effects on ERD during actual motor attempts remain underexplored. This study investigates the impact of motor imagery-based neurofeedback on mu suppression in the sensorimotor cortex, aiming to inform its role in enhancing neuroplasticity and improving rehabilitation outcomes.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Fifteen patients with hemiplegia after subacute ischemic stroke participated in a randomized cross-over study. The study consisted of two experimental conditions: neurofeedback and sham. Each condition was divided into four sequential blocks: resting, grasp, resting, and intervention, followed by an additional block of resting and grasp. During resting sessions, participants fixated on a white cross on a black screen for 2 minutes without moving their upper limbs. In grasp sessions, they repeatedly opened and closed their affected hand at approximately 1 Hz for 3 minutes while maintaining fixation on the same cross. The neurofeedback intervention displayed a punching image of the impaired limb corresponding to imagined movement-induced mu suppression, while the sham condition used mu suppression data from other participants.



Figure 1: (a) Study design (b) Mu suppression in the ipsilesional and contralesional cortex

The neurofeedback intervention produced significant mu suppression in the bilateral motor and parietal cortices compared to the sham condition across repeated sessions (p < 0.001). During real grasping sessions following neurofeedback, progressive increases in mu suppression were observed in the ipsilesional motor cortex and bilateral parietal cortices compared to sessions after sham (p < 0.05). This effect was not present in the contralesional motor cortex.

*Conclusion:* Motor imagery-based neurofeedback effectively enhances mu suppression in the ipsilesional motor cortex and bilateral parietal cortices during motor execution in patients with subacute stroke. These results highlight the potential of motor imagery neurofeedback as an adjunctive therapeutic approach to improve motor-related cortical activity and support motor rehabilitation in stroke recovery.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) grant funded by the Korea government (MSIT) (No. NRF-2022R1A2B5B01001443, RS-2024-00397674)

Wolpaw JR, Birbaumer N, McFarland DJ, Pfurtscheller G, Vaughan TM. Brain-computer interfaces for communication and control. Clin Neurophysiol. 2002;113(6):767-91.

# **Collaborative Virtual Reality BCI Post-Stroke Neurorehabilitation Using Head-Mounted Displays**

R. Rosipal<sup>1\*</sup>, N. Evetović<sup>1</sup>, Z. Rošť áková<sup>1</sup>, A. Polyanskaya<sup>1</sup>, M. Vankó<sup>1</sup>, Š. Korečko<sup>2</sup>,
 B. Sobota<sup>2</sup>, N. Porubcová<sup>1</sup>, L. J. Trejo<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Measurement Science, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Bratislava, Slovakia;
 <sup>2</sup>Department of Computers and Informatics FEEI, Technical university of Košice, Košice, Slovakia;
 <sup>3</sup>Pacific Development and Technology, LLC, Capitola, CA, USA
 \*Dúbravská cesta 9, 841 04 Bratislava, Slovakia. E-mail: roman.rosipal@savba.sk

*Introduction:* We are thrilled to present our newly developed collaborative Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) and Head-Mounted Display (HMD) system, designed to revolutionize post-stroke neurorehabilitation. In this system, both the post-stroke patient and a healthy therapist enter a shared virtual environment (VE) through their respective avatar representations. This immersive setup enables real-time interaction, allowing the therapist to guide and support the patient in performing rehabilitative tasks. By combining neural signal processing with virtual reality, our collaborative BCI-HMD system fosters motor recovery and cognitive engagement, offering a novel approach to accelerating rehabilitation outcomes and improving quality of life.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Our collaborative BCI-HMD system builds upon the theoretical framework outlined in [1] and the practical implementation described in [2]. The system combines a collaborative VE developed using the Unity game engine with a BCI that detects the patient's motor imagery intentions. Publicly available OpenViBE<sup>TM</sup> software for BCI integrates EEG signal acquisition, processing, and classification. A proprietary VE server application facilitates communication between the VEs of the patient and therapist and the OpenViBE<sup>TM</sup> engine. This setup allows the therapist to control, modify, and pace the neurorehabilitation training, while the patient, through motor imagery (MI) intentions, carries out the designed motor rehabilitation tasks (Fig. 1).

EEG-based control leverages the concept presented at the 17th BCI Meeting [3], with its core element being the tensor decomposition of EEG data. The tensor method extracts subject-specific, spatially, and spectrally constrained EEG oscillations associated with the MI process [4]. Additionally, the system is enhanced with functional electrical stimulation.

We conducted a series of experiments with healthy volunteers and post-stroke patients during the system's development stages, focusing on user acceptability. The results of these experiments will be reported.

*Conclusion:* While we can currently support the validity of the proposed BCI neurorehabilitation system only with partial clinical results, we believe that the collaborative concept between therapist and patient within the BCI-VR environment has the potential to significantly influence wider clinical practice.



Figure 1: A therapy room showing a standing therapist's avatar on the left and a sitting patient's avatar on the right. A control menu visible to the therapist is displayed on the back wall. The therapist selects, modifies, and paces the task, while the patient controls the avatar's hand movements in a closed BCI loop utilizing recorded EEG. Interaction between the therapist and patient takes place throughout the experiment.

*Acknowledgments:* This research was funded by the EU NextGenerationEU through the Recovery and Resilience Plan for Slovakia under the project No. 09I03-03-VO4- 00443, and APVV-21-0105, TInVR, programs. N.E. received funding from the HORIZON-MSCA-2022-DN, 101118964-DONUT project.

- Rosipal R, Korečko Š, Rošť áková Z, Porubcová N, Vankó M, Sobota B. Towards an Ecologically Valid Symbiosis of BCI and Headmounted VR Displays. In *Proceedings of the 16th International Scientific Conference on Informatics*, 251–256, 2022.
- [2] Korečko Š, Sobota B, Nehila P, Chmura D. Architecture, Enhancements and Perspective of the L-NeRVEn Virtual Environment for Neurorehabilitation. In Proceedings of the 17th International Scientific Conference on Informatics, 2024.
- [3] Rosipal R, Porubcová N, Cimrová B, Farkaš. Mirror-therapy as a way to start BCI robot-assisted rehabilitation: a single case longitudinal study of a patient with hemiparesis. Presented at *The Seventh International BCI Meeting*, Pacific Grove, CA, USA, 2018.
- [4] Rosipal R, Rošť áková Z, Trejo LJ. Tensor Decomposition of Human Narrowband Oscillatory Brain Activity in Frequency, Space and Time. *Biological Psychology*, 169:108287, 2022.

# Self-Correcting Multi-Command Brain-Computer Interfaces based on Error-Related Potentials

T. Shavit, M. Benyamini, I. Demchenko, M. Zacksenhouse<sup>\*</sup> Brain-Computer Interfaces for Rehabilitation Laboratory, Technion, Israel Institute of Technology <sup>\*</sup>Technion City, Haifa, Israel, Email: <u>mermz@technion.ac.il</u>

*Introduction:* Electroencephalogram (EEG)-based Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) are often hindered by high error rates, limiting their effectiveness. In previous work we developed a self-correcting BCI, based on classification, rather than just detection, of error-related potentials (ErrPs), which are evoked when users observe erroneous BCI actions. The error classifier (EC) had three outputs: (1) correct movement, (2) failure to remain idle (i.e., performing a movement when none was intended), and (3) erroneous movement (i.e., performing one movement when another was intended). This approach was successfully demonstrated on a three-command BCI that adjusted the pose of the right hand, left hand, or neither hand, achieving an average accuracy improvement of  $6.6\pm3.8\%$  (n=11) [1]. However, scaling this methodology to BCIs with more commands introduces new challenges, as detecting an "erroneous movement" does not resolve which of the remaining movements should be executed.

*Methods and Results:* We present the development and evaluation of a novel self-correcting BCI designed to handle five commands. The system integrates a basic Movement Classifier (bMC) and an enhanced Movement Classifier (eMC), as illustrated in Figure 1. The eMC incorporates an EC followed by a novel combined classifier (CC) that determines the final command. Various CC configurations were evaluated, leveraging different features and scores derived from the convolutional neural networks (CNNs, [2]) used to implement the bMC and EC. All CC configurations demonstrated significant performance improvement, with the best configuration achieving an average accuracy improvement of  $10.1\pm4.8\%$ , resulting in average accuracy of  $79.0\pm10.4\%$  (n=18).

*Conclusions:* This study demonstrates that ErrPs encode valuable information about the type of error that elicit them and can be leveraged to enhance self-correcting BCIs capable of handling multiple commands. These findings represent a critical advancement in the development of more accurate, reliable, and user-adaptive non-invasive BCIs.

Acknowledgement and Disclosures: This work was supported by Dan and Betty Kahn Foundation, and the Technion's PMRI and ADRI grants. There is no conflict of interest.

#### References:

[1] Demchenko I, Shavit T, Benyamini M, and Zacksenhouse M, Self-correcting brain computer interface based on classification of multiple error-related potentials, *Journal of neural engineering*, accepted with minor revision.

[2] Lawhern, VJ, Solon, AJ, Waytowich, N., Gordon, SM, Hung, CP, & Lance, BJ, EEGNet: a compact convolutional neural network for EEG-based brain–computer interfaces. *Journal of neural engineering*, *15*(5), 056013, 2018.



Figure 1: Architecture of self-correcting brain-computer interface.

# Exploring Early Predictability of Grasping Movements with non-invasive EEG

E. Fenoglio<sup>1,2</sup>\*, I. Ceroni<sup>1,2</sup>, P. Di Bello<sup>1,2</sup>, F. Garro<sup>1</sup> and M. Semprini<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Rehab Technologies Lab, Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia, Italy; <sup>2</sup>Department of Informatics, Bioengineering, Robotics and Systems Engineering, University of Genoa, Italy.

\*E-mail: elena.fenoglio@iit.it

*Introduction:* Grasping is a complex neural process integrating motor control and intention. In braincomputer interface (BCI) research, interpreting human intentions to control assistive devices is a key focus. Electroencephalography (EEG) serves as a critical tool for studying grasping, but traditional methods like movement-related cortical potentials and spectral power analysis often perform poorly [1]. Few studies have explored neural activity during the planning phase to predict grasp types early [2,3]. This study investigates the predictability of four grasp types—power, tripod, lateral, and cylindrical—during the planning phase.

*Materials, Methods, and Results:* We recorded EEG data (64 channels) from 10 healthy participants (3 males, 7 females, age  $27.3 \pm 3.7$ ) during a reach-grasp-relocation task (Fig. 1A-C). Each participant performed 30 repetitions per grasp type across five directions. EEG preprocessing included bandpass filtering (0.1–45 Hz), artifact removal, re-referencing, and independent component analysis. We epoched from -2.3 to 0.9 seconds relative to movement onset, capturing peak motor planning activity [4]. Features were extracted using Common Spatial Patterns (CSP) [3], xDAWN spatial filter [3], and wavelet transform, paired with machine learning classifiers (LDA, LR, RF, SVM) and validated via 10-fold cross-validation. Data were tested for normality and 3-way ANOVA was used to assess performance with different parameter configurations.

We evaluated classifiers performance across two EEG configurations (64- vs 5-channel) and three feature sets. We found (Fig 1C) that xDAWN outperformed CSP and Wavelet, and CSP outperformed wavelet. RF and SVM outperformed LDA and LR. The 64-channel setup significantly improved performance over the 5-channel configuration, highlighting the benefits of broader spatial coverage. Statistical analysis revealed SVM using xDAWN and 64-channel setup as the best configuration.



Figure 1: A) Experimental paradigm. B) Grasping types. C) Balanced accuracy for classifying four grasps using three feature extraction methods (CSP, xDAWN, Wavelet) across two electrode configurations (5-channel and 64-channel). Performance is shown for four classifiers: Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA), Logistic Regression (LR), Random Forest (RF), and Support Vector Machine (SVM). A dashed line indicates the chance level (25%).

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates EEG's ability to differentiate grasp types during the planning phase, offering valuable insights into motor control. These findings could inform methodologies for investigating grasp and for assistive technology development. Future research is needed to validate these results and optimize prediction strategies.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors thank N. Boccardo, M. Canepa, M. Mozzon, and A. Salvia for their support in experimental design and technical implementation. Authors have no conflicts of interest.

- Xu B, Zhang D, Wang Y, Deng L, Wang X, Wu C, Song A. Decoding different reach-and-grasp movements using noninvasive electroencephalogram. Front Neurosci. 2021;15:684547. doi:10.3389/fnins.2021.684547.
- [2] Sburlea AI, Wilding M, Müller-Putz GR. Disentangling human grasping type from the object's intrinsic properties using low-frequency EEG signals. Neuroimage: Reports. 2021;1(2):100012. doi:10.1016/j.ynirp.2021.100012.
- [3] Jakubowitz E, Feist T, Obermeier A, Gempfer C, Hurschler C, Windhagen H, Laves M-H. Early Predictability of Grasping Movements by Neurofunctional Representations: A Feasibility Study. Applied Sciences. 2023; 13(9):5728. https://doi.org/10.3390/app13095728Malmivuo J, Plonsey R. Bioelectromagnetism: Principles and Application of Bioelectric and Biomagnetic Fields. Oxford University Press, New York, 1995.
- [4] Jeannerod M. The timing of natural prehension movements. J Mot Behav. 1984;16(3):235-254. doi:10.1080/00222895.1984.10735319.

### **Defining Out-of-Distribution detection for EEG-BCIs**

Ivo Pascal de Jong\*, Matias Valdenegro-Toro, Andreea Ioana Sburlea Bernoulli Institute, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands \*Nijenborgh 9, 9747 AG, Groningen, The Netherlands, E-mail: ivo.de.jong@rug.nl

*Introduction:* Out-of-Distribution (OoD) detection methods are variations on Machine Learning (ML) models that can detect when a sample is different from the data the model is trained on [1]. OoD is minimally explored in BCI research [2], but it has the potential to make a BCI system that detects problems and delivers corrective action. OoD detection may detect: variabilities that cause decreases in performance, bugs in preprocessing that cause bad predictions, destructive artifacts that obfuscate the signal, and even off-task neural patterns. Traditional ML would give arbitrary guesses in these cases. The broad definition of OoD makes the effectiveness of general OoD-detection hard to measure. In Computer Vision research this definition is worked out into established benchmarks covering a broad range of causes. For evaluating universal OoD detection in BCIs we should define BCI-specific causes that generate OoD data. This requires an employable definition for OoD specific to (EEG-based) BCIs. Our aim is to create a dataset of a broad range of artifacts, variabilities and other problems that can arise in BCIs that should be detectable by a good OoD detection system. At the 2025 BCI Meeting, we will establish with the community a shared definition of what OoD data in BCIs really is. We will then continue to develop a matching benchmark to evaluate various OoD detection methods.

Material, Methods and Results: As an example we consider a common OoD detection task called *leave-one-class-out*. Here, a model is trained on C - 1 classes, and is tested on all C classes. It should report high uncertainty for the excluded class, which would represent off-task behaviour as OoD. We previously presented results on (non-BCI) datasets with various models, where the uncertainty is higher for the excluded class. This allowed us to detect them with AUROC scores between 0.65 and 0.98 [4]. However, in Fig. 1 we show that in a within-subject four-class Motor Imagery classification task [5] these methods fail with an AUROC score of ~ 0.5. Leave-one-class-out OoD detection is a moderately difficult OoD



Figure 1: Leave-one-class-out OoD detection works well on non-BCI datasets, but not for four-class Motor Imagery.

detection task. Some large artifacts or bugs in preprocessing may be more easily detected, whereas variabilities could be more difficult. A good and community-supported understanding of what OoD detection can mean for BCIs is needed to construct proper benchmarks

*Conclusion:* OoD detection identifies when traditional ML methods may fail. However, it has a very broad definition. To be able to work with OoD detection and advance the BCI field, our community needs to define an agreed set of examples that are to be worked out into benchmarks. We aim to implement such benchmarks in an open-source repository using public datasets. We already have plans for defining OoD data (including off-task behavior, movement artifacts, disconnected electrodes, hardware and preprocessing differences, and cross-subject BCIs), but by getting input from the community we can create a complete and appropriate benchmark. A definition of OoD will include a better understanding of variabilities [6], which is an established need in BCI research.

- [1] Yang J, Zhou K, Li Y, Liu Z. Generalized out-of-distribution detection: A survey. In International Journal of Computer Vision, 2024.
- [2] de Jong IP, Sburlea AI, Valdenegro-Toro MA. Uncertainty Quantification in Machine Learning for Biosignal Applications-A Review.
- arXiv preprint arXiv:2312.09454, 2023.

- [4] de Jong IP, Sburlea AI, Valdenegro-Toro MA. How disentangled are your classification uncertainties?. arXiv preprint arXiv:2408.12175, 2024.
- [5] Brunner C, Leeb R, Müller-Putz G, Schlögl A, Pfurtscheller G. BCI Competition 2008–Graz data set A. Institute for knowledge discovery (laboratory of brain-computer interfaces), Graz University of Technology, 2008.
- [6] Riascos J, Molinas M, Lotte F. Machine Learning Methods for BCI: challenges, pitfalls and promises. In ESANN 2024-European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks, Computational Intelligence and Machine Learning, 2024.

<sup>[3]</sup> Manivannan P, de Jong IP, Valdenegro-Toro M, Sburlea AI. Uncertainty Quantification for cross-subject Motor Imagery classification. In 9th Graz Brain-Computer Interface Conference, 2024.

#### A Continuously Learning Neural Decoder for Versatile and Transferable Motor Control

Paul Weger<sup>\*1</sup>, Maxime Verwoert<sup>1</sup>, Sophia Gimple<sup>1</sup>, Maarten C. Ottenhoff<sup>1</sup> Pieter L. Kubben<sup>1,2</sup> and Christian Herff<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, School of Mental Health and Neurosciences, Maastricht University, Maastricht, The Netherlands; <sup>2</sup>Academic Center for Epileptology, Kempenhaeghe/Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, The Netherlands

\*E-mail: paul.weger@maastrichtuniversity.nl

*Introduction*: Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) offer individuals with conditions such as paraplegia or ALS the ability to gain control of assistive devices. Most BCIs rely on fixed neural decoders that require a long initial calibration to achieve accurate functionality. The non-stationarity of brain signals however often causes performance degradation over time, making frequent recalibration necessary – a time consuming and frustrating process that limits BCI practicality. To address these limitations, we present a novel neural decoder that combines short calibration time, continuous learning, and versatile feature selection - making it robust to a wide range of neural oscillations and implant locations. This approach allows for dynamic adaptation to changing brain signals, fostering co-adaptation between the user and the decoder while reducing the need for frequent recalibration.

*Methods*: We recorded brain activity using intracranial electroencephalography (iEEG) from multiple epilepsy patients undergoing presurgical monitoring. All patients engaged in a short, supervised calibration to initially train a closed-loop decoder on executed and imagined movement. The decoder uses a novel feature selection strategy that combines distributed low-frequency and localized high-frequency signals to enhance performance. Prior to testing the closed-loop system, patients used Neurofeedback to learn to control the continuous decoder output. The decoder then enabled control of a racing game, integrating continuous learning via real-time finetuning using pseudo-labeled data.

*Results and Discussion*: The decoder accurately identified motor intention above chance in all participants. After just one minute of calibration, the algorithm achieved over 90% of each participant's personal maximum performance. Patients found that the neurofeedback prior to the closed-loop game helped make the BCI feel more intuitive, as they could directly manipulate and observe the movement probability in real-time. Throughout the closed-loop sessions, the decoder was updated every minute with the newly acquired data, enabling continuous adaptation to evolving brain signals.



*Figure 1. Experimental setup for a continuously learning decoder, featuring an initial calibration, neurofeedback, and a closed-loop game to fine-tune the decoder and facilitate patient adaptation.* 

*Significance*: This work contributes to improving the usability of brain-computer interfaces by reducing calibration time and the need for frequent re-calibration. With continuous adaptation and minimal manual setup, the system becomes more autonomous, empowering patients with greater control and making long-term use more practical.

# **Optimizing Decoder Dynamics Strength for Closed-Loop Brain-Computer Interfaces**

J. T. Costello<sup>1</sup>\*, L. H. Cubillos<sup>1</sup>, P. G. Patil<sup>1</sup>, C. A. Chestek<sup>1</sup>, M. S. Willsey<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

\*2800 Plymouth Rd Bldg 14, Ann Arbor, MI, USA, 48109. E-mail: costellj@umich.edu

*Introduction:* The use of artificial neural networks for decoding movement from neural signals has led to recent improvements in closed-loop brain-computer interface (BCI) control [1, 2]. Since neural signals typically have low signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) for task relevant information, the decoder must find the optimal balance between relying on noisy inputs versus prior knowledge of movement patterns. However, open-loop accuracy does not directly predict closed-loop performance [3, 4] making it challenging to design neural network decoders that optimize this balance. Here we investigated a novel decoder loss function, which allows for tuning the degree of decoder memorization, on closed-loop performance.

*Materials, Methods and Results:* We trained recurrent neural network (RNN) decoders to predict finger kinematics from spiking-band power features. RNNs were trained using a loss function that combined mean-squared error (MSE) with additional, tunable weight penalties that varied the decoder's reliance on learned task dynamics versus neural inputs. By tuning the penalties, we trained decoders with reduced reliance on neural inputs ("strong dynamics") or with increased reliance on inputs ("weak dynamics"). Additionally, we created a "dynamics strength" metric that quantifies the ratio of the current hidden state's sensitivity to its previous hidden state (derivative with respect to the prior hidden state) versus its sensitivity to neural inputs (derivative with respect to neural inputs), averaged over time. Using simulated data from an open-loop 3-target task with log-linear tuned channels, weak and strong dynamics decoders had similar kinematic decoding accuracies (correlations of 0.94 and 0.97, respectively) despite having largely different dynamics strengths (1.01 versus 5.75, respectively), suggesting different internal decoding mechanisms (Figure 1). We tested both decoders in closed-loop

trials across three sessions with one rhesus macaque who was implanted with Utah arrays in motor cortex and trained to perform a 1-degree-of-freedom (DoF) continuous targetacquisition task. Both weak and strong dynamics decoders had 100% success rate, however, the smoothness of decoder movements increased as dynamics strength increased. When dynamics strength was increased further by training with a 100x instead of 10x weight penalty, the decoder failed to generalize to produce corrective movements resulting in a decreased success rate of 83%.



Figure 1: PCA of the hidden state of GRU decoders trained with strong vs weak dynamics, on a 3-target task. Each dot is one time-point, and color represents the output position. Both decoders have similar accuracy but have visually different state trajectories.

*Conclusion:* These results suggest that decoder generalization can be tuned using the loss function, which may be an important tool as BCIs expand to more complex tasks. Future work may investigate the optimal decoder dynamics strength for closed-loop control with varied SNR neural signals, and how this impacts the choice of decoder architecture.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank Eric Kennedy for animal and experimental support. We thank the University of Michigan Unit for Laboratory Animal Medicine for expert surgical and veterinary care. The authors declare no competing interests.

- Willsey, M.S., Shah, N.P., Avansino, D.T., Hahn, N.V., Jamiolkowski, R.M., Kamdar, F.B., Hochberg, L.R., Willett, F.R., Henderson, J.M., 2024. A real-time, high-performance brain-computer interface for finger decoding and quadcopter control.
- [2] Costello, J., Temmar, H., Cubillos, L., Mender, M., Wallace, D., Willsey, M., Patil, P., Chestek, C., 2023. Balancing memorization and generalization in RNNs for high performance brain-machine Interfaces, in: Oh, A., Naumann, T., Globerson, A., Saenko, K., Hardt, M., Levine, S. (Eds.), Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems. Curran Associates, Inc., pp. 7462–7474
- [3] Cunningham, J.P., Nuyujukian, P., Gilja, V., Chestek, C.A., Ryu, S.I., Shenoy, K.V., 2011. A closed-loop human simulator for investigating the role of feedback control in brain-machine interfaces. Journal of Neurophysiology 105, 1932–1949.
- [4] Deo, D.R., Willett, F.R., Avansino, D.T. et al. Brain control of bimanual movement enabled by recurrent neural networks. Sci Rep 14, 1598 (2024)

# MultiPy – An open-source Python toolbox for multimodal real-time analysis

F. Klein<sup>1</sup>\*, J. Räker<sup>1</sup>, S.A.A. Mohaddes<sup>1</sup>, L. Scheidsteger<sup>1</sup>, F. Müller-von Aschwege<sup>1</sup>, A. Hein<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Biomedical Devices & Systems Group, R&D Division Health, OFFIS e.V. – Institute for Computer Science, Oldenburg, Germany; <sup>2</sup>Assistance Systems and Medical Technology Group, University of Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany

\*Escherweg 2, 26121 Oldenburg, Germany. E-mail: franziska.klein@offs.de

*Introduction:* Real-time data processing is essential for interpreting neural signals in mobile brain-computer interfaces (BCI) and neurofeedback (NFB) [1]. Current systems often rely on unimodal approaches like electroencephalography (EEG) or functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) [2]. EEG provides high temporal resolution for detecting fast electrical brain activity but is limited by noise, artifacts, and poor spatial information. Conversely, fNIRS measures hemodynamic responses such as blood flow and oxygenation with higher spatial specificity and lower artifact sensitivity but suffers from slower temporal resolution due to the nature of hemodynamic signals [3]. Combining EEG and fNIRS could offer complementary insights, improve accuracy, and address challenges like BCI illiteracy [3,4]. However, implementing real-time multimodal systems remains challenging due to a lack of software for simultaneous integration and analysis [4]. To address this, we present MultiPy, an open-source Python toolbox that integrates and analyzes EEG and fNIRS data in real time.

Material, Methods and Results: MultiPy is a graphical user interface (GUI) toolbox (cf. Fig. 1) designed to integrate real-time data streams from multiple modalities via the Lab Streaming Layer (LSL) protocol [5]. It includes three modules that can operate independently or **fNIRS** module together. The enables visualization, preprocessing, and key functions such as channel quality assessment, pruning, and converting light intensity to hemoglobin concentration using the modified Beer-Lambert law. It also offers motion artifact and Figure 1 GUI of MultiPy in the fNIRS module, showing channel with or without short-distance channels. The options.



(extracerebral) systemic activity correction, selection, real-time data visualization and available preprocessing

EEG module provides real-time signal visualization and robust preprocessing tools, including artifact subspace reconstruction and temporal filtering. The feature extraction and machine learning (ML) module extracts time- and frequency-domain features from both modalities and integrates them using ML algorithms. Additionally, EEG and fNIRS data can be combined using a generalized linear model (GLM), allowing EEG features to inform fNIRS GLM analysis. Preliminary tests show MultiPy successfully integrates and synchronizes EEG and fNIRS data streams in real time, improves signal quality through preprocessing, and mitigates motion artifacts and noise using advanced algorithms.

Conclusion: The open-source MultiPy toolbox facilitates real-time integration and analysis of EEG and fNIRS data and is designed to support any device that enables real-time data streaming via the LSL protocol [5], thus aiming to increase the reach of NFB and BCI applications. This promotes accessibility and standardization in the field and allows researchers to easily develop and test multimodal approaches. Since MultiPy is open-source software, the community can participate in the development, provide feedback, and make MultiPy a versatile and comprehensive tool for advancing neurotechnology.

- [1] Klein F. Optimizing spatial specificity and signal quality in fNIRS: an overview of potential challenges and possible options for improving the reliability of real-time applications, Front Neuroergon., 2024.
- [2] Sitaram R et al. Closed-loop brain training: the science of neurofeedback, Nat Rev Neurosci., 2017.
- [3] Li Ret al. Concurrent fNIRS and EEG for Brain Function Investigation: A Systematic, Methodology-Focused Review, Sensors (Basel), 2022.
- [4] Klein F et al. Developing Advanced AI Ecosystems to Enhance Diagnosis and Care for Patients with Depression, Stud Health Technol Inform, 2023.
- [5] Kothe C et al. The Lab Streaming Layer for Synchronized Multimodal Recording. bioRxiv, 2024 (Preprint)

# Exploring fNIRS-guided neurofeedback to alleviate motor symptoms: A proof-of-concept study in Parkinson's disease and healthy older adults

F. Klein<sup>1</sup>\*, M. Lührs<sup>2,3</sup>, S. Topp<sup>4</sup>, S. Debener<sup>5</sup>, K. Witt<sup>4,6</sup>, C. Kranczioch<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Biomedical Devices & Systems Group, R&D Division Health, OFFIS e.V. – Institute for Computer Science, Oldenburg, Germany; <sup>2</sup>Faculty of Psychology and Neuroscience, Maastricht University, The Netherlands; <sup>3</sup>Brain Innovation, Maastricht, The Netherlands; <sup>4</sup>Evangelical Hospital, Oldenburg, Germany; <sup>5</sup>Neuropsychology Lab, Department of Psychology, University of Oldenburg, Germany; <sup>6</sup>Department of Human Medicine, University of Oldenburg, Germany; \*Escherweg 2, 26121 Oldenburg, Germany. E-mail: franziska.klein@offs.de

Introduction: Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder and affects up to 3% of people over 80 years, with its prevalence and societal costs expected to rise by 2030 [1]. Motor symptoms such as tremor, bradykinesia and rigidity are due to neuropathological causes, including degeneration of the substantia nigra and the supplementary motor area (SMA) [2]. Current therapies, including medications, exercise and deep brain stimulation, often face challenges such as side effects and varying effectiveness. Neurofeedback (NFB) in combination with motor imagery (MI) offers a promising complementary therapy [2]. Initial findings from fMRI show that NFB can increase SMA activation in PD [3]. After confirming with fMRI that fNIRS reliably measures SMA activity [4], here we test an NFB system with healthy older adults and PD patients to investigate its potential for motor neurorehabilitation [5]. This study is the first to use fNIRS to guide NFB based on changes in deoxygenated hemoglobin ( $\Delta$ [HbR]) concentration during MI tasks in PD.

*Material, Methods and Results:* 19 early-stage PD patients (**PD-NFB** group,  $63.95 \pm 8.41$  years, 7F/12M) and 38 healthy older adults participated in the study. Healthy adults were divided into an **NFB** group (63.63  $\pm$  9.04 years) and a **noNFB** control group (63.68  $\pm$  7.75 years), both age- and gender-matched to the PD-NFB group. The NFB groups performed MI of whole-body movements with real-time NFB based on SMA activity ( $\Delta$ [HbR]), while the noNFB group performed MI without NFB. All participants completed 4 training sessions

(S1–S4), with SMA activation assessed before and after training (PRE & POST) using MI without NFB. SMA activation was quantified with GLM-based analyses, incorporating nuisance regressors from short-distance channels and EMG of all limbs to account for voluntary movements.

As shown in Fig. 1, the NFB group had significantly higher SMA activation than the noNFB group during training sessions (S1–S4), especially for  $\Delta$ [HbR]. SMA activation in the NFB group increased significantly from PRE to S1 (p < 0.05), while the noNFB group showed minimal changes. Between-group comparisons revealed significantly higher activation for the NFB group during S1 and S3 (p < 0.05). The PD-NFB group showed moderate but non-significant increases in SMA activation during training, remaining lower than the NFB group. Both NFB groups reported positive perceptions of NFB controllability.



Figure 1 Mean beta values across all runs (PRE, S1–S4, POST) for  $\Delta$ [HbO] (a, b) and  $\Delta$ [HbR] (c, d). Panels (a) and (c) compare noNFB and NFB groups, while panels (b) and (d) compare PD-NFB and NFB.

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrated the feasibility of an fNIRS-guided NFB system targeting the SMA during MI in healthy older adults and PD patients. Results showed that combining MI with NFB significantly enhanced SMA activation in healthy adults, with good perceived controllability reported across sessions. The PD-NFB group exhibited lower and more variable SMA activation, reflecting potential challenges related to disease pathology and individual differences. These findings highlight the potential of fNIRS-based NFB for motor rehabilitation while emphasizing the need for protocol refinements, optimized channel selection, motor improvement assessments, and further testing with a PD-noNFB control group.

- [1] Kouli A et al. Parkinson's Disease: Etiology, Neuropathology, and Pathogenesis. Codon Publications. 2018.
- [2] Mehler DMA. Turning markers into targets scoping neural circuits for motor neurofeedback training in Parkinson's disease. Brain-Apparatus Communication: A Journal of Bacomics, 2022.
- [3] Subramanian L et al. FMRI Neurofeedback-guided Motor Imagery Training and Motor Training for Parkinson's Disease: Randomized Trial. Front Behav Neurosci. 2016
- [4] Klein F et al. fMRI-based validation of continuous-wave fNIRS of supplementary motor area activation during motor execution and motor imagery. Sci Rep. 2022.
- [5] Klein F et al. Exploring fNIRS-guided neurofeedback to alleviate motor symptoms: A proof-of-concept study in Parkinson's disease and healthy older adults. osf, 2024 (Preprint).

# Genetic Algorithm Implementation for Intersubject Motor Imagery Classification

#### Cristofher A. Toledo-Broca<sup>1\*</sup>, Alejandro A. Torres-García<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Biosignals Processing and Medical Computing Laboratory, Instituto Nacional de Astrofísica Óptica y

Electrónica

\*Luis Enrique Erro # 1, 72840 Puebla, Mexico. Email: cristofher.toledo@inaoep.mx

*Introduction:* The classification of EEG signals for motor imagery (MI) presents significant challenges, particularly in recognizing new subjects based on limited instances. For this reason, this project explores whether shared characteristics among subjects can allow the recognition of new individuals using a set of well-known methods to tackle this problem. After that, we assess whether the methods' performances could be improved using genetic algorithms (GA) to find a good set of models' parameters and features that allow for this purpose. These approaches allow us both to detect patterns from minimal instances of new subjects without extensive retraining of the models and to optimize the performances of the models, ultimately streamlining the classification process in BCI applications.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* This work analyzes a 62-channel EEG dataset comprising recordings from 20 participants during two motor imagery tasks (left and right hand). This dataset was chosen because it has few instances for each subject, 20 epochs per subject (10 epochs for each class). We followed a leave-one-subject-out scheme for the evaluation, i.e., using only one subject to test the model.

To estimate the performance of non-optimized methods with their default parameters, the EEG signals were cleaned and filtered to remove artifacts and noise, ensuring high-quality data for analysis. Later on, several sets of features were extracted from the signals in different domains (time, frequency, and fractal dimension) [1]. Then several classifiers of different types such as Random Forest, SVM, Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA), Convolutional Neural Network (CNN), and EEGNet were implemented to evaluate model performance [2]. On the other hand, to assess whether an optimization process could improve the performance (accuracy) of the aforementioned methods, a GA was implemented (See Figure 1 for consult its main parameters) to explore different combinations of preprocessing methods, feature extraction techniques, and classifiers. Before applying genetic algorithms, the initial accuracies were as follows: SVM at 48.5%, RF at 48.25%, LDA at 45%,



Figure 1: Diagram of the configuration of the genetic algorithm with the probabilities in each evolution and the genes that will change.

and CNN at 70%. Whereas, using the GA for the optimization stage, CNN achieved 80% accuracy, Support Vector Machine (SVM) reached 57.75%, Random Forest (RF) 65.5%, and LDA 47%.

*Conclusion:* Our experiments suggest that the classification of EEG signals related to motor imagery of a new subject using fewer instances is feasible in an intersubject scheme. Two approaches were assessed, highlighting the approach based on GA to optimize the models. A better performance could be reached by applying fine-tuning to the model for a new subject using a few instances of this.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The first author thanks the Secretaría de Ciencia, Humanidades, Tecnología e Innovación (Secihti) from Mexico for supporting the research project through master's scholarship (CVU #1288427).

- W.-Y. Hsu and Y.-W. Cheng, EEG-channel-temporal-spectral-attention correlation for motor imagery EEG classification, *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 31, pp. 1659–1669, 2023.
- [2] Tibrewal, N., Leeuwis, N., & Alimardani, M. (2022). Classification of motor imagery EEG using deep learning increases performance in inefficient BCI users. PLOS ONE, 17(7), e0268880. Public Library of Science San Francisco, CA USA.

# Bayesian Reinforcement Learning for Optimizing the BCI-Utility of P300 Brain-Computer Interfaces

Bangyao Zhao<sup>1</sup>, Yixin Wang<sup>2</sup>, Jane E. Huggins<sup>3</sup>, Jian Kang<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biostatistics, <sup>2</sup>Department of Statistics, <sup>3</sup>Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Corresponding Author: Jian Kang, Email: jiankang@umich.edu

*Introduction:* P300 brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) provide a means of communication for individuals with severe disabilities by analyzing EEG responses to a series of stimuli [1]. A key challenge in these systems is optimizing BCI-utility, a comprehensive metric that balances accuracy and speed while incorporating the cost of error correction [2]. Methods such as dynamic stopping, which determines when enough information has been collected, and dynamic stimulus selection, which determines the next stimulus based on prior EEG responses, can potentially significantly improve BCI-utility. Meanwhile, advances in reinforcement learning (RL) have demonstrated its potential to address complex decision-making tasks in diverse domains, making it a promising approach for optimizing real-time BCI systems.

*Methods:* We propose a Bayesian model-based reinforcement learning (RL) framework that systematically optimizes both a dynamic stopping policy and a dynamic stimulus selection policy to maximize BCI-utility. The BCI system is treated as an agent, with each stimulus representing a state. The state consists of confidence scores for characters, calculated from classifier scores of previous EEG responses. At each state, the agent decides whether to stop and predict the target character (dynamic stopping policy,  $\pi_1$ ) or to continue by selecting the next stimulus to present (dynamic stimulus selection policy,  $\pi_2$ ). The dynamic stopping policy is implemented using an actor-critic algorithm. For stimulus selection, a Gaussian process-based Bayesian model predicts changes in confidence scores resulting from the next stimulus, guiding the agent to select the next stimulus that maximizes the expected BCI-utility. Figure 1 illustrates the workflow of this framework. Furthermore, the framework can effectively address online implementation challenges, including the double-target issue and delayed EEG responses.

*Results:* The proposed framework was evaluated on simulated datasets with varying signalto-noise ratios (SNRs) and validated using recorded EEG data from a P300 speller study conducted by the Uni-



Figure 1: Illustration of the reinforcement learning framework in P300 BCIs.

versity of Michigan Direct Brain Interface (UMDBI) laboratory [3]. Simulations demonstrated that our method significantly improved BCI-utility compared to benchmark methods across different SNR conditions. On real participant data, the framework achieved approximately a 20% improvement in BCI-utility while maintaining an accuracy of around 90% and reducing the time required per character. These results highlight the framework's ability to enhance BCI-utility by balancing speed and accuracy.

*Conclusion:* By integrating Bayesian model-based reinforcement learning, the proposed framework demonstrates significant improvements in BCI performance.

- Farwell, L. A., & Donchin, E. (1988). Talking off the top of your head: Toward a mental prosthesis utilizing event-related brain potentials. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 70(6), 510–523.
- [2] Dal Seno, B., Matteucci, M., & Mainardi, L. T. (2009). The utility metric: A novel method to assess the overall performance of discrete brain-computer interfaces. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, 18(1), 20–28.
- [3] Thompson, D. E., Gruis, K. L., & Huggins, J. E. (2014). A plug-and-play brain-computer interface to operate commercial assistive technology. *Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology*, 9(2), 144–150.

# Classification of upper extremity function in stroke using magnetic resonance imaging acquired during Braincomputer interface protocols for neurorehabilitation

J. Cantillo-Negrete<sup>1</sup>, M.E. Rodriguez-García<sup>2</sup>, P. Carrillo-Mora<sup>1</sup>, N. Marín-Arriaga<sup>1</sup>, R. Valdés-Cristerna<sup>2</sup>, RI. Carino-Escobar<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>National Institute of Rehabilitation Luis Guillermo Ibarra Ibarra, Mexico City, Mexico; <sup>2</sup>Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana, Mexico City, Mexico \*P.O. Box 14389, Mexico City, Mexico. E-mail: rubencarinoe@hotmail.com

*Introduction:* Upper extremity (UE) motor function is highly relevant for assessing the clinical and neuroplastic effects of brain-computer interfaces (BCI) aimed at stroke neurorehabilitation. However, trained personnel and specialized material are needed for performing clinical assessments of the UE. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is already employed for stroke diagnosis and could also be used for UE motor function assessment within BCI protocols.

*Material, Methods and Results:* In this study, a dataset acquired during two BCI studies aimed at stroke neurorehabilitation with the ReHand-BCI system was used [1]. The dataset was comprised by 85 measurements of UE sensorimotor function measured with the Fugl-Meyer Assessment for Upper Extremity (FMA-UE) [2], functional performance measured with the Action Research Arm Test (ARAT) [2], as well as diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) obtained from MRI. The ratio of fractional anisotropy, a measure of interhemispheric white matter integrity was computed from the DTI sequences across 21 regions of interest. These features were used to classify if patients had UE motor function in their paralyzed hand using a hyperparameter-free machine learning algorithm [3]. For FMA-UE the model had a classification accuracy of 88% while for ARAT it was 81%. For assessing FMA-UE, the white matter integrity of the superior coronata radiata was the most important feature, while for ARAT, it was the posterior limb of internal capsule, as shown in Fig.1.

*Conclusion:* Interhemispheric white matter integrity can be used to detect if stroke patients present UE motor function in their paralyzed hand during BCI neurorehabilitation interventions.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors declare no conflicts of interest and acknowledge Consejo Nacional de Humanidades, Ciencias y Tecnologías for supporting this study through grant SALUD-2018-02-B-S-45803.



Figure 1: Importance of regions of interest within the corticospinal tract (CST) for the classification of upper extremity motor function.

- [1] Cantillo-Negrete J, Carino-Escobar RI, Carrillo-Mora P, Rodriguez-Barragan MA, Henrnandez-Arenas C, Quinzaños-Fresnedo J, Hernandez-Sanchez I, Galicia-Alvarado MA, Miguel-Puga A, Arias-Carrión O. Brain-Computer Interface Coupled to a Robotic Hand Orthosis for Stroke Patients' Neurorehabilitation: A Crossover Feasibility Study. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, Vol. 15, 2021*.
- [2] Carino-Escobar RI, Alonso-Silver GA, Alarcón-Paredes A, Cantillo-Negrete J. Feature-ranked self-growing forest: a tree ensemble based on structure diversity for classification and regression. *Neural computing and Applications*, 9285–9298, 2023.
- [3] Hoonhorst MH, Nijland R, van den Berg JS, Emmelot CH, Kollen BJ, Kwakkel G. How do Fugl-Meyer Arm Motor Scores Relate to Dexterity According to the Action Research Arm Test at 6 Months Poststroke?. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 1845– 1849, 2015.

# Building ethics into next-generation BCI: A model for embedded ethics in neurotechnology industry

Juhi Farooqui<sup>1</sup>\*, Landan M. Mintch<sup>2</sup>, Jon Nelson<sup>2</sup>, Jacob T. Robinson<sup>2,3</sup>, Anna Wexler<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Motif Neurotech, Inc., Houston, TX, USA;

<sup>3</sup>Rice University, Houston, TX, USA \*E-mail: jhf@upenn.edu

*Introduction:* Over the last decade, brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) and neurotechnology have become an impactful industry, innovating for various applications and enjoying optimistic market projections.<sup>1</sup> In this context, deep ethics integration is more important than ever. Embedded ethics, popularized via frameworks like responsible research and innovation (RRI),<sup>2</sup> has been applied in some academic neurotechnology research labs.<sup>3</sup> However, despite industry members' interest in ethics,<sup>4,5</sup> this model is largely absent from neurotechnology industry.<sup>6</sup> Prior work in our lab identified some potential reasons for this. For instance, traditional embedding emphasizes idea generation through embedded observation, which can be impractical in industry. Moreover, the distinction between embedding and consulting can become blurred in the industry context. Here we present a partial embedding approach that addresses these challenges to support research that both draws from and contributes to neurotechnology industry.

*Materials, Methods and Results:* We implemented our model in partnership with Motif Neurotech, a company developing novel therapeutic neurotechnology to measure and regulate mental and cognitive states. Our process (Fig. 1) begins with pre-embedding discussions between neuroethicists and company leadership to identify valuable research directions. Background research based on this early brainstorming informs both the project proposal and the identification of relevant teams for embedding. In this project, we established relationships with product, science, clinical, and lived experience teams that ranged from participation in team meetings to one-on-one meetings with team members to develop research questions, methods, applications of potential findings, and more. Through this process, we co-developed a research project examining how factors such as neurotechnology device characteristics, implantation procedures, and therapeutic regime impact patients' risk perceptions and willingness to undergo a neurotechnology intervention. As study activities are completed in the spring, we will collaborate with Motif team members to incorporate findings into future decision-making related to device development and commercialization activities. Critically, the project is designed to generate insights into patient perspectives that will inform not only the specific partner company, but also priorities for future implanted BCI and neurotechnology research across the field.



Figure 1: Process for conducting embedded ethics research with neurotechnology industry partners. Ovals represent steps taken in active collaboration with team members at the partner company.

*Discussion and Significance:* This project presents a new model for ethics engagement in the neurotechnology industry. Beyond collaboration or consulting, the embedded model fosters deeper integration of the ethicist with the company and prioritizes research with broad implications for the field while remaining grounded with practical industry needs. Moreover, the embedded model can generate ethics recommendations that are mindful of the constraints and realities of neurotechnology companies.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: This work was supported by a grant from the Dana Foundation. L.M.M., J.N. & J.T.R. are shareholders, directors, and employees (L.M.M. & J.T.R)/ consultants (J.N.) of Motif Neurotech, Inc.

- 1. Titchmarsh, K. L. et al. Brain Computer Interface Primer: The Next Big MedTech Opportunity? (2024).
- 2. Pansera, M., Owen, R., Meacham, D. & Kuh, V. Embedding responsible innovation within synthetic biology research and innovation: insights from a UK multi-disciplinary research centre. *J. Responsible Innov.* **7**, 384–409 (2020).
- 3. Goering, S. & Klein, E. Embedding Ethics in Neural Engineering: An Integrated Transdisciplinary Collaboration. 17-34 (2020).
- 4. MacDuffie, K. E., Ransom, S. & Klein, E. Neuroethics Inside and Out: A Comparative Survey of Neural Device Industry Representatives and the General Public on Ethical Issues and Principles in Neurotechnology. *Ajob Neurosci* 1–11 (2021)
- 5. Maiques, A. To Be or Not To Be Involved in Neuroethics: An Entrepreneurial Perspective. AJOB Neurosci. 10, 202–204 (2019).
- 6. Pfotenhauer, S. M. et al. Mobilizing the private sector for responsible innovation in neurotechnology. Nat Biotechnol 39, 661-664 (2021).

# From Physical to Virtual: Expanding Boccia Accessibility through Patient Partner Engagement

D. Bourque<sup>1</sup>, A. Tuladhar<sup>2</sup>, E. Schrag<sup>3</sup>, N. Romanow<sup>2</sup>, D. Nikitovic<sup>2</sup>, A. Hilderley<sup>2</sup>, E. Kinney-Lang<sup>1</sup>, A. Kirton<sup>1, 2, 3</sup>, and D. Comadurán Márquez<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Biomedical Engineering, <sup>2</sup>Cumming School of Medicine, <sup>3</sup>Neurosciences. University of Calgary, Canada <sup>\*</sup>2500 University Dr. NW. Calgary, AB. Canada T2N 1N4. E-mail: dcomadur@ucalgary.ca

*Introduction:* Participation in sports provides significant development, social, and quality of life benefits. Paralympic sports, such as Boccia, provide an avenue for individuals with complex needs to participate in sports. Boccia is a precision Paralympic sport that consists of propelling a ball as close as possible to a target (i.e., a jack ball). Athletes who cannot propel the ball by themselves can use a ramp operated by an assistant. However, those with complex motor needs and limited communication cannot currently play and are deprived of their right to participate. To allow these individuals to play Boccia, we developed a brain computer interface (BCI)-enabled Boccia system that consists of a hardware ramp prototype, and P300-based software to control the rotation of the ramp or the height of the ball [1]. The hardware prototype was functional but lacked ease of transportation and operation. Additionally, the software required multiple P300 selections to reach the desired position. The purpose of this work was to improve the design using a patient partner engagement approach.

Material, Methods, and Results: To improve the ease of use and the user experience we engaged six patient partners. This included three families with BCI experience, two professional Boccia athletes, and one recreational Boccia athlete. Patient partner input for the hardware prototype focused on the importance of ramp stability, rigidity, and ease of transportation (Fig. 1A). We adapted the rolling floor stand from Ideas for Independent Living, Inc



Fig. 1. A). Render of the modified hardware prototype. B) Screenshots of the new software interface. Top: coarse fan for absolute position. Bottom: fine-tunning fan for smaller, relative position adjustments. The player can adjust the number of segments of the fans, and ranges of motion to suit their needs.

(Scarborough, Canada). Patient partner input for the software prototype focused on requiring fewer P300 selections to position the ramp. We developed the new software using the Unity 3D game engine with the BCI-essentials Unity package [2]. The new ramp control interface consists of two fan-shaped selectors that allow more intuitive positioning of the ramp while requiring fewer P300 selections (Fig. 1B). Additionally, patient partners highlighted the importance of being able to use the system at home. Thus, we implemented a software simulation mode. In this mode, the user can control a simulated virtual ramp to practice with the BCI system.

*Conclusion:* Patient partner engagement resulted in improvements of the hardware prototype and software of the BCI-enabled Boccia system. This new design promises to improve user experience thanks to more stable hardware that is easier to operate and transport, and software that is more intuitive to use. Further validation of the system with the target population will focus on measuring ease of use.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank the patient partners that contributed to the co-design of the new software and hardware. The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

- D. C. Marquez et al., "Development and Validation of a BCI-Enabled Boccia Ramp for Sport Participation," in 2023 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC), Oct. 2023, pp. 1098–1103. doi: 10.1109/SMC53992.2023.10394191.
- B. Irvine, E. Kinney-Lang, Wehner, Matthew, and Wilding, Greg, "BCI-essentials-unity." [Online]. Available: <u>https://github.com/kir-tonBCIIab/bci-essentials</u>.

# The first BCI clinical trial for stroke neurorehabilitation in Latin America: The ReHand-BCI trial

J. Cantillo-Negrete<sup>1</sup>\*, M.E. Rodriguez-García<sup>2</sup>, P. Carrillo-Mora<sup>1</sup>, O. Arias-Carrión<sup>3</sup>, E. Ortega-Robles<sup>3</sup>, M. Galicia-Alvarado<sup>1</sup>, R. Valdés-Cristerna<sup>2</sup>, A.G. Ramirez-Nava<sup>1</sup>, C. Hernandez-Arenas<sup>1</sup>, J. Quinzaños-Fresnedo<sup>1</sup>, M.R. Pacheco-Gallegos<sup>1</sup>, N. Marín-Arriaga<sup>1</sup>, R.I. Carino-

Escobar<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>National Institute of Rehabilitation Luis Guillermo Ibarra Ibarra, Mexico City, Mexico; <sup>2</sup>Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana, Mexico City, Mexico; <sup>3</sup>General Hospital Manuel Gea Gonzalez, Mexico City, Mexico \*P.O. Box 14389, Mexico City, Mexico. E-mail: jessica.cantillo.negrete@gmail.com

*Introduction:* More than 20 million people are estimated to live with stroke sequalae in Latin America, with limited access to rehabilitation, particularly for upper extremity (UE) neurorehabilitation [1]. Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCI) could increase neurorehabilitation access for the region. However, more clinical trials are needed for assessing their clinical and physiological effects. For these reasons, an electroencephalography-based BCI for stroke UE neurorehabilitation, the ReHand-BCI, was developed and assessed in the National Institute of Rehabilitation at Mexico City in the first clinical trial of its type in Latin America (NCT04724824).

*Material, Methods and Results:* The study was a triple-blinded randomized controlled clinical trial, that aimed to assess the clinical and neuroplastic effects of 30 sessions of therapy with the ReHand-BCI (depicted in Fig. 1) [2]. In the experimental group (EG), patients attempted to control the movement of a 3D-printed robotic orthosis that provided passive finger movement by decoding hand movement

intention from electroencephalography (EEG). The control group (CG) was comprised by a sham-BCI intervention. Nineteen patients completed the trial. There were no significant between-group differences. However, only the EG had significant improvements in both clinical measures after the intervention and at follow-up, and a tendency of higher ipsilesional corticospinal integrity measured with the ratio of fractional anisotropy computed from magnetic resonance imaging, as shown in Fig. 2.



Figure 1: The ReHand-BCI system.

Conclusion: Stroke patients can improve their upper

extremity function with both a BCI and sham-BCI intervention, but functional performance of the upper extremity and ipsilesional enhancement of corticospinal tract integrity seems to be promoted in a greater degree if kinesthetic feedback is provided according to hand motor intention.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors declare no conflicts of interest and acknowledge Consejo Nacional de Humanidades, Ciencias y Tecnologías for supporting this study through grant SALUD-2018-02-B-S-45803 and DGPIS for the grant FPIS2024-INR-6865.



Figure 2: a) Outcomes of the Fugl-Meyer of the Upper Extremity (FMA-UE), b) Action Research Arm Test (ARAT) c) Ratio of fractional anisotropy (rFA) for pre (T0), intermediate (T1), post (T2), and 6-month follow-up (T3) intervention measurements.

#### *References:*

- Cagna-Castillo D, Salcedo-Carrillo AL, Carrillo-Larco RM, Bernabé-Ortiz A. Prevalence and incidence of stroke in Latin America and the Caribbean: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Scientific reports*, Vol 13, 2023.
- [2] Cantillo-Negrete J, Carino-Escobar RI, Carrillo-Mora P, Rodriguez-Barragan MA, Henrnandez-Arenas C, Quinzaños-Fresnedo J, Hernandez-Sanchez I, Galicia-Alvarado MA, Miguel-Puga A, Arias-Carrión O. Brain-Computer Interface Coupled to a Robotic Hand Orthosis for Stroke Patients' Neurorehabilitation: A Crossover Feasibility Study. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, Vol. 15, 2021.

CC BY 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en This CC license does not apply to third party material and content noted otherwise

# Wavelet Scattering-based EEG Channel Reduction for Motor Imagery Classification

Dong Jin Sung<sup>1,2</sup>, Ji-Hyeok Jeong<sup>1,2</sup>, Song Joo Lee<sup>2</sup>, Hyungmin Kim<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Korea University, Seoul, Korea; <sup>2</sup>Korea Institute of Science and Technology, Seoul, Korea; \*02792, Seoul, Korea. E-mail: hk@kist.re.kr

*Introduction:* EEG-based motor imagery (MI) classification has been widely used for movement brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) to enable intuitive control of external devices. A key challenge in MI-BCIs is reducing the number of EEG channels to minimize computational burden and improve user comfort, while maintaining robust classification performance [1]. Wavelet scattering, a method that captures hierarchical time-frequency features, has shown promise for robust feature extraction from EEG signals [2]. Here, we investigate wavelet scattering-based channel selection for MI classification and evaluate its performance.

*Methods and Results:* This study utilized the publicly available Shu EEG dataset [3], consisting of motor imagery (MI) data from 25 subjects across five sessions, recorded during left- and right-hand MI tasks using 32 EEG channels. Wavelet scattering was used to process the raw EEG signals, which involves wavelet filter convolution, modulus transformation, and low-pass filter averaging. Scattering coefficients for each channel were ranked by their mutual information with MI class labels, and the top 15, 9, 7, 5, and 3 channels were selected. A simple convolutional neural network (CNN) consisting of three convolutional layers was used for 10-fold cross validation classification. The classification accuracy was 79.24% when all channels were used, and showed the highest of 79.81% with 9 selected channels. A performance of 77.44% was reported when only 3 channels were used. Statistical analysis using the Friedman test followed by the Wilcoxon signed-rank test with Bonferroni correction showed no significant differences in accuracy across all channel counts. We also examined the differences in selected channels between a high and low performer. The high performer showed a consistent selection of channels on the motor and prefrontal cortex, while the low performer displayed a more dispersed selection pattern.

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates the effectiveness of wavelet scattering as a robust feature extraction method for EEG-based motor imagery classification. We achieved comparable classification performance with significantly reduced channel sets, underlining the potential for efficient BCIs without compromising performance.

Acknowledgments: This work was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea(NRF) grant funded by the Korea government(MSIT)(RS-2024-00417959).



Figure 1. *a* Schematic of wavelet scattering-based channel selection using mutual information. *b* Classification accuracies across all sessions according to the number of selected channels showed no significant differences. *c* Heatmap of selected channels. The good performer consistently selected motor and prefrontal cortex electrodes unlike the bad performer (top: 15 channels, bottom: 9 channels).

- [1] Varsehi, Hesam, and S. Mohammad P. Firoozabadi. "An EEG channel selection method for motor imagery based brain-computer interface and neurofeedback using Granger causality." *Neural Networks* 133 (2021): 193-206.
- [2] Buriro, Abdul Baseer, et al. "Classification of alcoholic EEG signals using wavelet scattering transform-based features." Computers in biology and medicine 139 (2021): 104969.
- [3] Ma, Jun, et al. "A large EEG dataset for studying cross-session variability in motor imagery brain-computer interface." *Scientific Data* 9.1 (2022): 531.

### **Transformative and Generative Data Augmentation for EEG-based BCIs**

Manuel Weiss, Ricardo Chavarriaga\*

Zurich University of Applied Sciences (ZHAW), Winterthur, Switzerland \*Technikumstrasse 71, 8400, Winterthur, Switzerland. E-mail: char@zhaw.ch

Introduction: The effectiveness of machine learning models used in brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) is often limited by the availability of training data [1]. In this study, we explore data augmentation methods to enhance machine learning classifier performance on imbalanced datasets, specifically in BCIs based on the Rapid Serial Visual Presentation (RSVP) paradigm [2].

Materials, Methods and Results: We considered two types of data augmentation techniques. First, trans*formative* methods that generate new samples by manipulating existing datasets, including frequency shift (FS), Fourier transform surrogate (FTS), smooth time mask (STM), and time shift (TS) [3]. The second type uses *generative* artificial intelligence approaches to produce synthetic data, including classconditioned Wasserstein GANs (CCWGAN) [4] and a conditioned denoising diffusion probabilistic model (CDDPM) [5]. The impact of these methods for augmenting data in two RSVP public datasets [1, 6] was assessed using four different classifiers: LDA, RSVM [7], MDM [8], and EEGNet [9].

Among the transformative methods, STM provided the most consistent performance improvement, with gains of up to 8.36%, followed by TS with improvements of up to 5.29%.

Regarding the generative methods, the EEGoptimized CCWGAN excelled in generating signals with high temporal similarity and validity (c.f., Figure 1). Meanwhile, the CDDPM, adapted from computer vision, demonstrated improved training stability. However, both generative methods showed a consistent decrease in classification performance when synthetic data was used to train an MDM classifier. In turn, the EEGNet decoder maintained comparable average performance across subjects regardless of the amount



Figure 1: Qualitative Comparison between generative Results of ICD-DPM and CCWGAN.

of augmented data used, while some subjects exhibited improved performance.

*Conclusion:* We found that *transformative* data augmentation event yield more consistent performance improvement in RSVP paradigms characterized by high class imbalance. Synthetic data created with generative approaches yielded signals with similar temporal an spectral characteristics. However, our results suggest that data augmentation using generative methods is more subject-dependent than for transformative methods. Acknowledgments and Disclosures: N/A.

#### References:

- [1] Zhang S., et al. A benchmark dataset for RSVP- Based Brain-Computer interfaces. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 14, 2020. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.568000.
- Kenneth I. Forster. Visual perception of rapidly presented word sequences of varying complexity. *Perception & Psychophysics*, 8(4):215–221, July 1970. doi: 10.3758/BF03210208. [3] Rommel C., et al. Data augmentation for learning predictive models on EEG: a systematic comparison, 2022. URL https://arxiv.org/abs/2206.14483.
- [4] Panwar S., Rad P., et al. Modeling EEG data distribution with a Wasserstein generative adversarial network to predict RSVP events.

IEEE TNSRE, 28(8):1720-1730, 2020. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE. 2020.3006180.

[5] Quinn Nichol A. and Dhariwal P. Improved denoising diffusion probabilistic models. In Marina Meila and Tong Zhang, editors, Proceedings of the 38th Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, 139:8162–8171. PMLR, 2021-07-18/2021-07-24. [6] Matran-Fernandez A., Poli R. (2017) Towards the automated localisation of targets in rapid image-sifting by collaborative brain-computer

interfaces. PLoS ONE 12(5): e0178498. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0178498 [7] Barachant A. MEG decoding using Riemannian geometry and unsupervised classification. Notes on the winner of the Kaggle

DecMeg2014 - Decoding the Human Brain" competition, 2014. [8] Barachant, A., et al. Riemannian geometry applied to BCI classification. International conference on latent variable analysis and signal

separation. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.

Vernon J Lawhern, et al. EEGNet: A compact convolutional neural network for EEG-based brain- computer interfaces. Journal of Neural [9] Engineering, 15(5):056013, July 2018. doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/aace8c.

# Too busy to feel? Studying the impact of workload on visuo-tactile perception through EEG

Emile Savalle<sup>1</sup>, Léa Pillette<sup>1</sup>, Kyungho Won<sup>2</sup>, Ferran Argelaguet<sup>2</sup>, Anatole Lécuyer<sup>2</sup>, Marc J-M Macé<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> Univ. Rennes, Inria, CNRS, IRISA – F35000 Rennes, France <sup>2</sup> Inria, Univ. Rennes, IRISA, CNRS – F35000 Rennes, France

\* E-mail: emile.savalle@inria.fr

*Introduction:* Perception lies at the heart of our interaction with the environment. Users in virtual reality (VR) can develop a sense of ownership over their virtual body [2]. This sense of embodiment leads users to interact with and protect their virtual body as if it were their own. However, it remains unclear how brain activity reflects the perception of virtual interactions. Furthermore, workload is known to influence attention processes and perception [3], with these effects varying depending on the sensory modalities that are overtaxed [1]. Thus, the goal of our study was to assess neurophysiological modifications occurring during visual and visuo-tactile stimulation in VR under different workload conditions.

*Material, Methods and Results:* A total of 32 participants were embodied in a virtual avatar, that resembled them (e.g., in terms of gender), using an HTC Vive Cosmos and a Leap Motion. A 6-axis robotic arm (Universal Robot UR5) with a soft foam ball as end effector, delivered tactile stimulation to the participant's hand, while a replication of the virtual robot delivered visual stimulation to the avatar's hand following the movement of the real robot. Using this system, visuo-tactile touch (using real and virtual robot) or visual-only touch (using virtual robot) was delivered while the brain activity was recorded using EEG (48 active electrodes; g.USBAmp from g.tec). To assess the impact of workload, we employed a N-back task in which participants had to compare a number displayed on their hand after each stimulation, determining whether it matched the number from one stimulus ago (1back, low workload) or three stimuli ago (3-back, high workload). Signal was filtered using a notch filter at 50 Hz and a band-pass filter

between 0.1 and 30 Hz. We applied an independant component analysis to mitigate artifacts. Epochs were realigned so that the onset of the stimulation is at time 0. We studied the impact of workload on the perception of touch by observing event-related potentials (ERP) over the sensorimotor band relative to the left hand (CP4) (Figure 1a). We found significantly lower ERP amplitudes (F(1, 26) = 13.17, p = 0.001,  $\eta^2 = 0.071$ ) (Figure 1b) in response to the visuo-tactile touch



Figure 1: (a) Grand-average event-related potential in reaction to the stimulation. (b) Amplitude of the positive potential measured between 400 ms and 700 ms after stimulus onset for the visuo-tactile touch.

when the workload was high (mean =  $5.01(\pm 2.23)\mu V$ ) compared to low (mean =  $3.96(\pm 1.58)\mu V$ ), suggesting that workload led to a reduction in ERP amplitudes in response to visuo-tactile touch. However, we didn't find any significant difference in the visual-only condition.

*Conclusion:* In this experiment, we show a direct evidence of the impact of workload on the tactile perception, consistent with findings in the literature [4], but not on the visual stimulation. Subsequent analyses will investigate the underlying reasons for the differences in the effect of workload between visual and visuo-tactile touch, as well as the potential role of embodiment in shaping these differences.

- Jeunet C., Vi C.; Spelmezan D., N'Kaoua B., Lotte F., Subramanian S. Continuous tactile feedback for motor-imagery based braincomputer interaction in a multitasking context. HCI–INTERACT 2015: Part I 15. Springer Int. Publishing, 2015.
- [2] Kilteni, K., Groten, R., & Slater, M.. The sense of embodiment in virtual reality. Presence: Teleop. Virt., 21(4), 373–387, 2012.
- [3] Lavie, N. . Distracted and confused?: Selective attention under load. Trends Cogn. Sci., 9(2), 75-82, 2005.
- [4] Mun, S., Whang, M., Park, S., & Park, M.-C. Effects of mental workload on involuntary attention: A somatosensory ERP study. *Neuropsychologia*, 106, 7–20, 2017.

# Addressing the Non-stationary Learning Problem with Graph Attention Networks in Motor Imagery

**R.** Patel<sup>1\*</sup>, **B.** Bryson<sup>2</sup>, **D.** Jiang<sup>1</sup>, **T.** Carlson<sup>3</sup>, **A.** Demosthenous<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Electrical and Electronic Engineering, University College London, London, United Kingdom;
 <sup>2</sup>Institute of Neurology, University College London, London, United Kingdom;
 <sup>3</sup>Department of Orthopaedic and Musculoskeletal Science, University College London, Stanmore, United Kingdom;

*Introduction:* ALS progression causes non-stationary EEG signals, challenging methods like Common Spatial Patterns (CSP). While adaptive BCI research addresses non-stationarity and cross-session adaptation, they often rely on few sessions from healthy subjects [1] thereby neglecting to truly tackle the issue. Representing EEG signals as graphs provides a dynamic framework for decoding neuronal interactions with reduced computational cost, improving motor imagery classification in the face of non-stationarity. We propose using Graph Attention Networks to enhance classification accuracy over sessions, advancing longitudinal, robust BCIs for real-world applications [2].

*Material, Methods and Results:* We use two multi-session datasets: 25 healthy subjects (SHU dataset: 5 sessions, 500 trials/class) and 8 ALS patients (4 sessions over 2 months, approx. 160 trials/class), both performing Left and Right Motor Imagery. A novel 3 Layer GAT model (GAT Layer, ReLu, GraphNorm per layer) ( $\approx$ 7000 Parameters) with Phase Locking Value input is trained on the first session of each dataset, with subsequent sessions used for testing. The performance is compared against Band Power of each electrode with LDA, CSP with SVM, EEGNet ( $\approx$  3000 Parameters), and DeepConvNet ( $\approx$  180000 Parameters).

*Conclusion:* BCI subjects from diverse cohorts and varying performance levels consistently achieve better outcomes with PLV-GAT compared to alternative state-ofthe-art methods as demonstrated in Fig. 1, which are often computationally intensive. This



Figure 1: Cross session accuracies over SHU and ALS datasets with five models including PLVGAT

underscores PLVGAT's effectiveness in capturing dynamic brain connectivity, providing a more accurate and adaptable solution for longitudinal motor imagery classification across larger cohorts. Notably, the model excels with participants who struggle with traditional techniques, thereby addressing BCI Inefficiency and improving usability.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* This work was supported by the EPSRC Doctoral Training Program (EP/W524335/1). The authors thank Dr. Geronimo from Penn State University for providing the data.

- T. Lotey, P. Keserwani, G. Wasnik, and P. P. Roy, "Cross-session motor imagery eeg classification using self-supervised contrastive learning," in 2022 26th International Conference on Pattern Recognition (ICPR), pp. 975–981, 2022.
- [2] V. Sakkalis, "Review of advanced techniques for the estimation of brain connectivity measured with eeg/meg," *Computers in Biology and Medicine*, vol. 41, pp. 1110–1117, 12 2011.

# **Dynamic Class Balancing for Real-time Decoder Learning**

R. Souriau<sup>1</sup>, F. Martel<sup>1</sup>, T. Aksenova<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CEA, Leti, Clinatec, F-38000 Grenoble, France \*17 rue des Martyrs, 38054, Grenoble cedex 9, France. E-mail: tetiana.aksenova@cea.fr

*Introduction:* Real-time BCI decoders training enables taking into account the sensitive responses in the brain neural signals. However, during the training sessions, class imbalance can occur, significantly decreasing the decoder's performance. Class balancing during online streaming model learning is a challenging task as the full training dataset is not available. Moreover, during a session, the experimenter can add new classes/tasks, disrupting class balance. This paper introduces an algorithm for dynamic class balancing during real-time BCI decoder learning, and addressing key BCI requirements: multiclass support, online training, low computational requirements for high-dimensional data.

Material, Methods and Results: This paper proposes the Recursive Sample Weighted – N-way Partial Least Squares (RSW-NPLS) algorithm integrated into a HMM, for dynamic online class balancing during decoder training. The algorithm dynamically tracks the size of classes to compute weights assigned to the training samples at each decoder update. A constraint is applied to avoid large weights. The proposed algorithm is compared in pseudo-online configurations to the generic Recursive Exponentially Weighted – N way Partial Least Squares (REW-NPLS) algorithm using 3 databases from 2 patients. BCI - Exo5, and BCI - Exo8 databases were recorded with a tetraplegic patient (P1) [1] (clinical trial "BCI and Tetraplegia", NCT02550522). BSI – Gait database was recorded in a paraplegic patient (P2) [2] (clinical trial "STIMO-BSI", NCT04632290). Both patients were implanted with two WIMAGINE ECoG recording implants [3] placed in the skull, facing the sensory motor cortex. The patient P2 was also implanted with a spinal cord stimulator to activate his leg muscle groups and restore gait. We consider a 5 states classification problem (right and left hands translation, wrists rotation, idle states) with the database BCI – Exo5. BCI – Exo8 introduces 3 additional classes (right and left grasps, and a walking state). 3 states (left and right hips flexion, idle states) were decoded for the database BSI - Gait. The features were extracted using complex continuous wavelet transform (Morlet) from ECoG recording of 64 channels. The proposed RSW-NPLS based HMM outperforms the generic REW-NPLS based HMM in term of classification performance (56%, 209%, 18% of improvement for BCI – Exo5. BCI – Exo8, BSI – Gait databases respectively) (Fig.1). The proposed algorithm effectively compensates class imbalance in real-time and maintains high performance, even in case of significant training data imbalance.



Figure 1: Gmean performance criterion depending on Class Imbalance Ratio (CIR), the ratio of the majority and the minority class sizes, for 3 databases for the generic REW-NPLS based HMM and the proposed RSW-NPLS based HMM algorithms.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank the technical and clinical teams of CEA-LETI-DTIS (Clinatec), CHU-Grenoble Alpes, EPFL and CHUV Lausanne for their participation in the clinical trials. The study was partially supported by the CEA, the Carnot Institute CEA-Leti, Horizon Europe - European Innovation Council, French National Research Agency, Fonds Clinatec.

- Benabid A L, Costecalde T, Eliseyev A, Charvet G, ... & Chabardes S 2019 An exoskeleton controlled by an epidural wireless brainmachine interface in a tetraplegic patient: a proof-of-concept demonstration Lancet Neurol. 18 1112–22
- [2] Lorach H, Galvez A, Spagnolo V, Martel F, ... & Courtine G 2023 Walking naturally after spinal cord injury using a brain-spine interface Nature 618 126-33
- [3] Mestais C, Charvet G, Sauter-Starace F, Foerster M, ... & Benabid A L 2015 WIMAGINE: Wireless 64-Channel ECoG Recording Implant for Long Term Clinical Applications IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng. 23 10–21

### An intuitive, bimanual, high-throughput QWERTY keyboard touch typing neuroprosthesis

Justin Jude<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Hadar Levi-Aharoni<sup>1,2</sup>, Alexander Acosta<sup>1</sup>, Shane Allcroft<sup>4</sup>, Nicholas S. Card<sup>7</sup>, Maitreyee Wairagkar<sup>7</sup>, David M. Brandman<sup>7</sup>, Sergey D. Stavisky<sup>7</sup>, Ziv Williams<sup>1,2,3</sup>, John Simeral<sup>6,4,5</sup>, Leigh R. Hochberg<sup>6,4,1,2,5</sup>, Daniel B. Rubin<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Ctr. for Neurotechnology and Neurorecovery, Dept. of Neurology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA;
 <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Neurology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA;
 <sup>3</sup>Program in Neuroscience, Harvard-MIT Program in Health Sciences and Technology, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA;
 <sup>4</sup>Sch. of Engineering, Brown University, Providence, RI;
 <sup>5</sup>Carney Institute for Brain Science, Brown University;
 <sup>6</sup>VA R&D Ctr. for Neuroestoration and Neurotechnology, Dept. of VA Med. Ctr., Providence, RI;
 <sup>7</sup>Dept. of Neurological Surgery, University of California Davis, Davis, CA;

\*E-mail: jjude@mgh.harvard.edu

*Introduction:* Keyboard touch typing represents a high information rate communication paradigm that most people are familiar with. In this work we introduce an intracortical brain computer interface (iBCI) typing neuroprosthesis that mimics a bimanually controlled QWERTY keyboard layout with corresponding able-bodied typing imagery. Typing with our keyboard involves minimal attempted finger movements which, as we show, can be decoded accurately and robustly, and may be less effortful for the user compared to other augmentative and alternative communication methods. Decoding is performed at the sentence level, allowing typing speed to be regulated by the user.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Previous iBCI handwriting [1] decoding has the potential to be limited in accuracy for users with overlapping neural trajectories pertaining to similarly shaped characters. Our typing paradigm provides versatility, by offering an alternative iBCI communication method for users who may have superior finger decoding. Our typing neuroprosthesis performs sequence decoding of key presses using a Recurrent Neural Network (RNN) decoder trained using a Connectionist Temporal Classification (CTC) loss function, similarly to [2, 3, 4]. When paired with a probabilistic 5-gram language model, decoding is much improved via integration of RNN decoder output and English language statistics, where the deliberate QWERTY keyboard layout reduces sentence inference confusion, in an out sized way compared to other communication based sequence decoding paradigms [1, 2, 3, 4]. The results from two iBCI clinical trial participants (T17 and T18) communicating using this decoding paradigm indicates that our neuroprosthesis is user and pathology robust. We report communication speeds reaching 84 characters per minute, approaching the state-of-the-art in hand-motor based iBCI communication rate [1], resulting in 16 words per minute with a character error rate of 1% at this high speed.

*Conclusion:* In this work we introduce a touch typing neuroprosthesis which we show to be among the fastest iBCI communication methods based on decoding of hand motor cortex neuron populations, while maintaining high precision. Our typing neuroprosthesis represents an intuitive, familiar, and easy-to-learn communication device for individuals with quadriplegia caused by ALS, spinal cord injury, and related conditions.

Acknowledgments and Support: We thank T17, T18, their families and carepartners for the time and effort they contributed to the BG2 trial. This work was supported by Office of Research and Development, Rehabilitation R&D Service, Department of Veterans Affairs (N2864C,A4820R, A2295R); NIH NIDCD (U01DC017844, R01DC014034, U01DC019430, K23DC021297,1DP2DC021055); NIH NINDS (U01NS123101, R25NS065743), AHA (23SCEFIA1156586); CDMRP (HT94252310153), A.P. Giannini Postdoctoral Fellowship to N. Card. Disclosures: IDE Caution Statement: CAUTION: Investigational Device. Limited by Federal Law to Investigational Use. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health, or the Department of Veterans Affairs, or the United States Government. The MGH Translational Research Center has a clinical research support agreement (CRSA) with Axoft, Neuralink, Neurobionics, Precision Neuro, Synchron, and Reach Neuro, for which LRH provides consultative input. LRH is a co-investigator on an NIH SBIR grant with Paradromics, and is a non-compensated member of the Board of Directors of a nonprofit assistive communication device technology foundation (Speak Your Mind Foundation). Mass General Brigham (MGB) is convening the Implantable Brain-Computer Interface Collaborative Community (iBCI-CC); charitable gift agreements to MGB, including those received to date from Paradromics, Synchron, Precision Neuro, Neuralink, and Blackrock Neurotech, support the iBCI-CC, for which LRH provides effort. Stavisky is an inventor on intellectual property owned by Stanford University that has been licensed to Blackrock Neurotech and Neuralink Corp. Wairagkar, Stavisky, and Brandman have patent applications related to speech BCI owned by the Regents of the University of California. Stavisky was an advisor to wispr.ai and received equity. Brandman is a surgical consultant to Paradromics Inc.

- Willett, F. R.; Avansino, D. T.; Hochberg, L. R.; Henderson, J. M.; Shenoy, K. V. High-performance brain-to-text communication via handwriting. Nature 2021, 593.
- [2] Willett, F. R.; Kunz, E. M.; Fan, C.; Avansino, D. T.; Wilson, G. H.; Choi, E. Y.; Kamdar, F.; Glasser, M. F.; Hochberg, L. R.; Druckmann, S.; Shenoy, K. V.; Henderson, J. M. A high-performance speech neuroprosthesis. Nature 2023, 620.
  [3] Card, N. S. et al. An Accurate and Rapidly Calibrating Speech Neuroprosthesis. New England Journal of Medicine 2024, 391, 609–618.
- [4] Metzger, S. L.; Littlejohn, K. T.; Silva, A. B.; Moses, D. A. et al. A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control. Nature 2023, 620.

# Virtual Reality-Based Investigation of Error-Related Potentials in ADHD for BCI applications

N. C. Brand<sup>1\*</sup>, T. L. W. Nowicki<sup>2</sup>, S. Enriquez Geppert<sup>2</sup>, A. I. Sburlea<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Technical University Munich, Munich, Germany; <sup>2</sup>University of Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands; \*Arcisstr. 21, 80333 Munich, Germany. E-mail: Niclas.Brand@tum.de

*Introduction:* Error-related potentials (ErrPs) represent specific brain activity patterns elicited when individuals recognise errors during task performance, measurable via electroencephalography (EEG), and have been linked to executive functions and self-monitoring processes. In individuals with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), atypical cognitive and brain functions include reduced amplitudes of error-related negativity (ERN), (McLoughlin et al., 2022) and affected self-monitoring. To better understand potential biomarkers and treatment targets, we developed and tested a virtual reality (VR) environment of an adapted Wisconsin Card Sorting test to study ERN in ADHD and neurotypical populations (Figure 1) in a more ecologically valid way, using machine learning to classify the ErrPs.

*Material and Methods:* Participants (*N*=20) were divided into ADHD and neurotypical groups based on Conners' Adult ADHD Rating Scales. A VR-based task inspired by the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (Berg, 1948) required sorting study-related objects by colour or shape, with feedback indicating correct or incorrect actions. Two error types were simulated: feedback errors (intentional incorrect feedback) and tracking errors (object manipulation failures). EEG data was recorded and processed to identify Er-rPs. Machine learning classifiers were trained to distinguish between error types and participant groups.

*Results:* Behavioural and EEG data analysis revealed a trend towards a reduced ERN amplitude in the ADHD group compared to controls, aligning with prior meta-analytic findings (e.g., Bellato et al., 2021). However, this reduction was not statistically significant. Machine learning classifiers successfully distinguished error types and participant groups, with all tested models outperforming a dummy classifier, emphasizing the potential use of ErrPs in Brain-Computer Interface applications.

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates the feasibility of using VR to investigate ErrPs in ADHD and control groups. While the reduction in ERN amplitude in ADHD was not significant, the medium effect size suggests the potential for further exploration with larger samples. Machine learning-based classification supports the future development of various BCI applications, such as adaptive self-corrective systems leveraging real-time brain data.



Figure 1: Left: VR-based task environment. Right: Grand average ErrP and topoplot in the "Tracking Error" condition in the area of interest.

Acknowledgments: We thank Alexandros Christopoulos for his support in data collection and analysis.

- Bellato A et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of altered electrophysiological markers of performance monitoring in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD), Gilles de la Tourette Syndrome (GTS), Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and Autism. In Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 964-987, 2021.
- Berg, E. A. (1948). A Simple Objective Technique for Measuring Flexibility in Thinking. The Journal of General Psychology, 39(1), 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309.1948.9918159
- [3] McLoughlin, G., Gyurkovics, M., Palmer, J., Makeig, S. (2022). Midfrontal theta activity in psychiatric illness: an index of cognitive vulnerabilities across disorders. Biological Psychiatry, 91(2), 173-182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2021.08.020

# Decoding Hand Gestures from Gyral and Sulcal Regions of the Sensorimotor Cortex Using High-Resolution fMRI

M. Kromm<sup>1</sup>\*, M. Raemaekers<sup>1</sup>, M.P. Branco<sup>1</sup>, N.F. Ramsey<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University Medical Center Utrecht Brain Center, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands. <sup>2</sup>Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands.

\*P.O. Box 85060, Utrecht, The Netherlands. E-mail: m.kromm-2@umcutrecht.nl

*Introduction:* Implantable brain-computer interfaces (iBCIs) aim to restore communication for individuals with severe motor impairments by establishing a pathway between signals measured from the surface of the brain and a computer. The recording electrodes are commonly placed in or on the sensorimotor gyri, covering parts of the precentral and/or postcentral gyrus. However, much of the human primary motor cortex (M1) is located within the central sulcus [1] and is thereby not easily accessible for electrodes [2]. To establish the potential contribution of sulcal information for decoding, this study compares the classification performance of hand movements in the sulcal and gyral part of the sensorimotor cortex using 7-Tesla functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI).

*Material, Methods and Results:* Ten able-bodied volunteers (age: *mean* = 25.5 years, *range* = 21–42 years, 6 females) participated in the 7-Tesla fMRI study. They performed 20 different gestures with the right hand during fMRI acquisition (*voxel size* = 1.5 mm<sup>3</sup>). Results showed that all 20 gestures were classified above chance level (5%) in the primary motor cortex (M1; *mean* = 26%, *SD* = 5%, p < 0.001) and the somatosensory cortex (S1; *mean* = 42%, *SD* = 7.4%, p < 0.001). The most informative voxels for gesture classification within the combined sensorimotor cortex were located in the hand knob region, covering both the sulcal and gyral areas (Fig. 1B). In M1, classification performance did not significantly differ between the sulcus and the gyrus (t(9) = -0.5, p = 0.6, CI = [-5.5, 3.3]; Fig.1A), while in S1, the classification performance was significantly higher in the gyrus than in the sulcus (t(9) = 5.3, p < 0.001, CI = [7.2, 17.7]).

*Conclusion:* These findings suggest that choosing intrasulcal recordings for decoding from M1 and S1 may not benefit performance compared to gyral recordings for BCIs. It should be noted that S1 activity during the task might be driven by proprioceptive and tactile feedback of the executed movements. Thus, the observed higher classification performance in the S1 gyrus compared to the sulcus might be absent in paralyzed individuals.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: Funded by Dutch Research Council OCENW.M.22.142, EU EIC-101070939 and USA NIH NINDS UH3NS114439. There are no disclosures to declare.



Figure 1: A) Mean gyral (light) and sulcal (dark) classification accuracy of 20 gestures for M1 (blue) and S1 (red). The circles and connecting black lines show single-subject performance. B) Group-averaged SVM-weights show the contribution of sulcal and gyral parts of the sensorimotor cortex to the gesture classification; yellow color indicates higher contribution.

- Rademacher J, Bürgel U, Geyer S, Schormann T, Schleicher A, Freund HJ, Zilles K. Variability and asymmetry in the human precentral motor system: a cytoarchitectonic and myeloarchitectonic brain mapping study. Brain. 2001.
- [2] Volkova K, Lebedev MA, Kaplan A, Ossadtchi A. Decoding movement from electrocorticographic activity: a review. Frontiers in neuroinformatics. 2019.

# Identifying Brain Activity Biomarkers For Cognitive Skills In Children Aged 7 To 12 Years Using The EPOC X Mobile EEG

### Théo Marchand<sup>1,2</sup>, Lucie Pisella<sup>2</sup> Vanessa Douet Vannucci<sup>2,3</sup> and Rodney O'Connor<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Bioelectronics Department, Ecole des Mines de Saint-Étienne, 880 route de Mimet, 13120 Gardanne, France <sup>2</sup>R&D Lab, O-Kidia, 36 boulevard Gorbella, 06 100 Nice, France <sup>3</sup> UPR Risk Epidemiology Territory <sup>3</sup>Informatics Education and Health (UPR RETINES), Université Côte d'Azur, Nice, France

\*Departement BEL, Mines Saint-Etienne, Centre CMP, F - 13541 Gardanne. rodney.oconnor@emse.fr

*Introduction:* Neurodevelopment disorders (NDDs) are one of the most frequent disabilities among children. However, strong overlap exists across NDDs symptoms that are challenging for diagnosis and therapeutic intervention [1]. Among emerging techs, mobile electroencephalography (mEEG) is a good candidate for identifying brain activity biomarkers of NDD children and for understanding the underlying neural mechanisms of these conditions, such as cognitive, linguistic and emotional dysfunctioning [2]. The present study intends to identify brain activity biomarkers for specific cognitive skills in children aged 7 to 12 years.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Participants were retrieved from the EPIDIA4Kids study (CPP Sud-Est II, 2022-A00766-37) database as of December  $22^{nd}$  2024. Quantitative EEG (qEEG) signals were recorded from 12 French-speaking children without brain injuries or epilepsy (mean age = 11.0 years) during gamified psychometric task sessions. These children also underwent neuropsychological assessments (WISC-V) and self-report questionnaires (children and parents). EEG data were preprocessed using Emotiv Pro. Correlations were identified between neuropsychological performance scores and EEG power bands in two fronto-central regions (FC5 and FC6). Relationships of relative alpha band power (8–13 Hz) were examined with linguistic performance through mixed models and principal component analyses (MATLAB and SAS Version 9.4).

During gamified psychometric task sessions, alpha power in FC5 and FC6 was found associated with performances on the "Similarities" (F=5.91, p=0.03) and "Vocabulary" subtests (F=6.99, p=0.02), both involved in lexical information processing and altered in NDD while no association was found on "Matrix reasoning".

*Conclusion:* These findings strongly suggest alpha power in the fronto-central regions as a good candidate for linguistic processes biomarker. Future analyses will extend to beta power and the theta/beta ratio (TBR) to further explore their associations with cognitive performance, providing additional insights into NDD diagnostic markers.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to express our sincere gratitude to the entire O-Kidia team and the Bioelectronics Department at Ecole des Mines Saint-Etienne for their invaluable support and collaboration throughout this study. We are especially thankful to the children and their parents who participated in the research, as their contributions were essential to the success of this work.

- [1] Willcutt, EG, Pennington BF. Psychiatric Comorbidity in Children and Adolescents with Reading Disability. In *J. Child Psychol. Psychiat* (Vol. 41, Issue 8), 1039-1048, 2000.
- [2] Lau-Zhu A, Lau MPH, McLoughlin G. Mobile EEG in research on neurodevelopmental disorders: Opportunities and challenges. In *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience* (Vol. 36), 100635, 2019

# Should BCIs shape experiences of communication of people with LIS, and if so, how?

B. van Balen<sup>123</sup>, J. van Grunsven<sup>3</sup>, W. IJsselsteijn<sup>2</sup>, N.F. Ramsey<sup>1,4</sup>, M.J. Vansteensel<sup>1</sup>
 <sup>1</sup>UMC Utrecht Brain Center, Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Utrecht, The Netherlands;
 <sup>2</sup>Human Technology Interaction, Eindhoven University of Technology, Eindhoven, The Netherlands;
 <sup>3</sup>Ethics and Philosophy of Technology, Delft University of Technology, The Netherlands;
 <sup>4</sup>Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands

\*P.O. Box 85060, 3508 AB Utrecht. E-mail: b.j.vanbalen@umcutrecht.nl

*Introduction:* Locked-In Syndrome (LIS) is defined by (near) complete paralysis and intact cognition [1]. This condition profoundly shapes a person's experiences of communication [2]. Not much is known about the lived experiences of communication of people with LIS [3], which is related to the nature of LIS, where one loses almost all abilities to communicate and is reliant on augmentative and assistive communication (AAC) devices such as letter boards and eye-trackers to communicate. A promise of implantable communication-BCIs (cBCIs) is to 'restore' the communication abilities of people with LIS [4]. Considering the call for user-centered approaches to cBCI design [5], this raises the ethical question: should cBCIs shape the experience of communication of people with LIS, and if so, how?

*Material, Methods and Results:* We interviewed 8 people with LIS (4 female), 8 caregivers (5 female), and 10 medical professionals (8 female). The interviews with people with LIS were conducted with typing text, the others face to face. The goal of the interview was to explore typical experiences of communication, personhood, and wellbeing of people with LIS and familiar interlocutors. All interviews followed a phenomenological approach, where the goal of the interview was an in-depth, open exploration of the lived experience of the interviewee [6]. Interviews were transcribed ad verbatim and coded thematically following a grounded theory approach, making sense of the data in an iterative back and forth between the transcripts and the emerging themes. The following intertwined themes emerged to describe typical experiences of embodied communication: 1) intimate technological mediation of embodied interaction with the world (AACs shaping experiences of the voice, emotional expression, reliability, tempo and access to the world), 2) altering of familiar embodied expressions of aliveness (dehumanization, cyborgization, new communicational affordances in relation to skilled interlocutors, embodied diversity) 3) temporal delay in communication leading to a breakdown of flow (alienation from social life, failure of conversational flow).

*Conclusion:* For research and design of cBCIs, these results mean that user adoption stands to benefit from a focus on (tone of) voice, emotional expression, speed and reliability of communication, aesthetics of the device, designs that can adapt to the social setting and physical environment that a user is situated in, and subtle forms of embodied communication required for flow (nods, hmhm's, etc.). Moreover, these results imply a much-required shift from seeing a cBCI 'user' not as an individual but as a network that includes their close interlocutors.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We want to thank all the interviewees that participated in our study for sharing their experiences with us. Support by the Ethics of Socially Disruptive Technologies research program, funded by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research [#024.004.031]. We have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

#### References:

- [1] American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine. (1995). Recommendations for use of uniform nomenclature pertinent to patients with severe alterations in consciousness. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 76(2), 205–209.
- [2] Van Balen, B. (2025). Can communication Brain-Computer-Interfaces read minds? Phenomenology and the Cognitive Sciences,
- [3] Vidal, F. (2020). Phenomenology of the Locked-In Syndrome: an Overview and Some Suggestions. *Neuroethics*, 13(2), 119–143.

[6] De Haan S, Rietveld E, Stokhof M, Denys D (2015) Effects of Deep Brain Stimulation on the Lived Experience of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder Patients: In-Depth Interviews with 18 Patients. PLOS ONE 10(8): e0135524.

<sup>[4]</sup> Metzger, S. L., Liu, J. R., Moses, D. A., Dougherty, M. E., Seaton, M. P., Littlejohn, K. T., Chartier, J., Anumanchipalli, G. K., Tu-Chan, A., Ganguly, K., & Chang, E. F. (2022). Generalizable spelling using a speech neuroprosthesis in an individual with severe limb and vocal paralysis. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1), 6510.

<sup>[5]</sup> Kübler, A., Holz, E.M., Riccio, A., Zickler, C., Kaufmann, T., Kleih, S.C., Staiger-Sälzer, P., Desideri, L., Hoogerwerf, E.J. & Mattia, D. (2014). The User-Centered Design as Novel Perspective for Evaluating the Usability of BCI-Controlled Applications. *PloS One* 9(12).

# Imagined Phoneme Decoding and Protocol Optimization for Non-invasive EEG-based Speech BCIs

Ziyue Zhu<sup>1</sup>\*, Rishan Patel<sup>1</sup>, Emmanuel Garrison-Hooks<sup>1</sup>, Youngjun Cho<sup>1</sup> and Tom Carlson<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>University College London, London, UK

\*Gower Street, London, WC1E 6BT. E-mail: ziyue.zhu.23@ucl.ac.uk, t.carlson@ucl.ac.uk

*Introduction:* Speech impairments can seriously hinder quality of life. Brain-computer Interfaces (BCIs) provide a potential solution to convert thoughts into text or audio for communication restoration. Non-invasive neuroimaging techniques such as electroencephalography (EEG) offer a safe rehabilitation method [1]. However, abstract neural activities from speech and noise from scalp challenge the imagined speech decoding. Compared with motor imagery, a mature BCI paradigm with standard tasks of 'left/right' hand movement imagery [2], it is also crucial to find a robust paradigm for intuitive speech imagery (SI) BCIs with a distinct word set.

Material, Methods and Results: 10 subjects with English proficiency were asked to imagine silently speaking 6 phonemes (/b/, /p/, /s/, /e/, /i:/, /u:/). 32-channel EEG covering the temporal and primary motor cortex was recorded [3]. Then, a paired twotailed t-test within the same subjects was done on EEG power and evoked potential to find the difference between imagined phonemes. We used a non-parametric cluster-based permutation test to reduce type I error for multiple comparisons problems [4]. Finally, binary classification tasks were performed for all 15 phoneme pairs. For each subject, we trained a CSP-SVM model and evaluated it with 5-fold cross-validation.



Figure 1: (A) EEG spectrogram contrast for imagined phoneme /b/ and /u:/. showing significant time-frequency cluster (brightened) with T-values maximized over the significant channels cluster (white circles). (B) EEG evoked potential contrast for imagined phoneme /s/ and /e/ showing significant time window clusters (brightened) with evoked potentials averaged over the significant channel clusters (white circles).

A significant time-frequency cluster was found for class power contrast between /b/ and /u:/ within the frequency band from 31 to 53 Hz (p=0.026) (Fig. 1(A)), indicating the importance of the gamma band to distinguish between bilabial plosive and rounded vowel phonemes. A significant temporal cluster was also found for evoked potential contrast between /s/ and /e/ around 300ms after the event (p=0.02) (Fig. 1(B)), showing the potential response differing between the fricative consonant and mid-front unrounded vowel. The subject with the best decoding accuracy reached an average accuracy of 67.14% on /b/ and /e/ comparison. The spectral and temporal contrast might indicate that the imagined articulation between consonants and vowels is more distinct and ideal for classification commands [5].

*Conclusion:* This research studied the EEG pattern of phoneme imagery and provided considerations for command selection for universal speech imagery paradigm optimization. We found significant temporal-spectral differences between some consonant-vowel pairs and the great potential of selecting the distinct phoneme set for reliable SI decoding performance. This ongoing work represents an important step towards real-time decoding with a relatively low-density EEG setup.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: All authors declare no conflicts of interest.

- D. Lopez-Bernal, D. Balderas, P. Ponce, and A. Molina, 'A State-of-the-Art Review of EEG-Based Imagined Speech Decoding', Front. Hum. Neurosci., vol. 16, p. 867281, Apr. 2022.
- [2] B. J. Edelman *et al.*, 'Non-invasive Brain-Computer Interfaces: State of the Art and Trends', *IEEE Rev. Biomed. Eng.*, pp. 1–25, 2024.
- [3] L. Wang, W. Huang, Z. Yang, X. Hu, and C. Zhang, 'A method from offline analysis to online training for the brain-computer interface based on motor imagery and speech imagery', *Biomed. Signal Process. Control*, vol. 62, p. 102100, Sep. 2020.
   [4] M. Marra, D. Lamar, F. Karkar, S. Harning, and P. Ostanulla, 'Elements' developmental EEC methods. PDC
- [4] M. Meyer, D. Lamers, E. Kayhan, S. Hunnius, and R. Oostenveld, 'Enhancing reproducibility in developmental EEG research: BIDS, cluster-based permutation tests, and effect sizes', *Dev. Cogn. Neurosci.*, vol. 52, p. 101036, Dec. 2021.
- [5] N. Mesgarani, C. Cheung, K. Johnson, and E. F. Chang, 'Phonetic Feature Encoding in Human Superior Temporal Gyrus', *Science*, vol. 343, no. 6174, pp. 1006–1010, Feb. 2014.

### Predicting V1 spike dynamics using scalp EEG in macaques Dixit Sharma<sup>1,2\*</sup> & Bart Krekelberg<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Graduate Program in Neuroscience; <sup>2</sup>Rutgers University – Newark 197 University Ave, Newark, NJ 07102. Email: dixit.sharma@rutgers.edu

*Introduction:* Despite decades of electroencephalography (EEG) research, the relationship between EEG and underlying spiking dynamics remains unclear. This gap in knowledge limits our ability to infer intracranial signals from EEG, a critical step to bridge electrophysiological findings across species and to develop non-invasive brain-computer interfaces (BCIs).

*Methods and Results:* We recorded both spiking activity from a 32-channel floating microarray permanently implanted in parafoveal V1 and scalp-EEG in a male macaque monkey. While the animal fixated, the screen flickered at different temporal frequencies (0, 5, 10, 20, and 40 Hz) to induce steady-state visual evoked potentials (SSVEP). We analyzed the relationship between the V1 multi-unit spiking activity envelope (MUAe) and EEG frequency bands to predict MUAe at each time point from EEG. We found that the phase and amplitude of EEG frequency bands are differentially related to V1 MUAe, and this relationship is further dependent on stimulus frequencies. Additionally, phase-amplitude coupling exists between EEG bands. Using multivariate linear regression to predict MUAe from EEG frequency bands, we found that flickering SSVEP stimuli help predict MUAe from EEG better than non-flickering stimuli at both the trial-averaged and single-trial levels. Subsequent analyses revealed that the amplitude, phase, and coupling of EEG bands each contribute to model predictions, with MUAe signals in shallow cortical layers predicted better than deep layer MUAe. Interestingly, the phase of stimulus frequency also improved EEG-to-MUAe prediction.

*Conclusion:* Our study shows that non-invasive EEG can predict V1 spiking activity under SSVEP stimulus conditions by utilizing the phase and amplitude of EEG frequency bands. By bridging the gap between invasive cortical signals and non-invasive EEG signals, these results help identify candidate scalp EEG signals that could benefit brain-computer interfaces.

*Acknowledgements*: Supported by Graduate Program in Neuroscience and National Eye Institute. No conflicts of interest.

57

# BCI Training-Induced Neuroplasticity: Evidence from Long-Term Neural Activity Analysis

A. Bleuzé<sup>1</sup>, J. Faber<sup>1,2</sup>, A. Carvallo Pecci<sup>1</sup>, S. Chabardès<sup>1,3</sup>, G. Charvet<sup>1</sup>, T. Aksenova<sup>1</sup>, L. Struber<sup>1\*</sup> <sup>1</sup>Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CEA, LETI, Clinatec, Grenoble, France; <sup>2</sup>Neuroscience Division, Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Escola Paulista de Medicina, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil; <sup>3</sup>Univ. Grenoble Alpes, Grenoble University Hospital, Grenoble, France

\*17 rue des Martyrs, 38054, Grenoble cedex 9, France. E-mail: lucas.struber@cea.fr

*Introduction:* Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) offer innovative potential for motor substitution and rehabilitation by facilitating direct communication between the brain and external devices. Beyond their practical applications, BCI protocols can also induce neural plasticity, driven by prolonged training. Despite its importance, the dynamics of BCI-induced plasticity remain poorly explored. Yet, it could highlight that BCI is supported by a mutual learning process between brain and the algorithmic decoder, often referred as co-adaptation [1].

Material, Methods and Results: This studv investigates the potential of BCI-induced neural plasticity in a patient implanted with WIMAGINE® electrocorticographic (ECoG) recording device [2]. We analyzed brain activity of a patient engaged in an extended BCI training over several months with a fixed decoder (without any recalibration) [3]. Using the ECoG recordings of BCI sessions, we evaluated both sensorimotor activity patterns and functional connectivity at regular intervals. Connectivity is a key marker of neuroplasticity, reflecting changes in the interaction between neural networks. Results revealed progressive changes in brain activation patterns overs Connectivity analysis sessions. demonstrated cortical synchronization, increased interregional suggesting an adaptive remodeling of functional



Figure 1: Evolution of brain patterns over sessions. (A) Regression of activation over the sessions in gamma band (100Hz – left minus right motor imagery). (B) Degree of activation between electrodes in the first and last session of training.

networks. These findings provide compelling evidence of sustained changes in motor brain function induced by BCI training, even in the absence of decoder updates.

*Conclusion:* Our findings demonstrates that the user's brain undergoes significant changes in intensive BCI training, highlighting patient's learning and adaptation, even under fixed decoder. This potential of BCIs to drive neuroplasticity underlines the dual role of BCIs as tools for both motor compensation and rehabilitation, offering new avenues for neurorehabilitation and optimized therapeutic protocols.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank all the multidisciplinary technical and clinical teams at Clinatec (CEA-LETI and CHU-Grenoble Alpes) for their participation in the BCI&Tetraplegia clinical trial (NCT02550522 [4]). The work presented here is supported by the CEA, the Carnot Institute CEA-Leti, Horizon Europe - European Innovation Council (EIC), the French National Research Agency (ANR), the Fonds Clinatec, the Neurotech project of CDP UGA and partially supported by Coordenadoria de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES), Brazilian Government.

- [1] Perdikis S and Millan J del R 2020 Brain-Machine Interfaces: A Tale of Two Learners IEEE Syst. Man Cybern. Mag. 6 12–9
- [2] Mestais C S, Charvet G, Sauter-Starace F, Foerster M, Ratel D and Benabid A L 2015 WIMAGINE: Wireless 64-Channel ECoG Recording Implant for Long Term Clinical Applications IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng. 23 10–21
- [3] Moly A, Costecalde T, Martel F, Martin M, Larzabal C, Karakas S, Verney A, Charvet G, Chabardes S, Benabid A L and Aksenova T 2022 An adaptive closed-loop ECoG decoder for long-term and stable bimanual control of an exoskeleton by a tetraplegic *J. Neural Eng.* 19 026021
- [4] Benabid A L, Costecalde T, Eliseyev A, Charvet G, Verney A, Karakas S, Foerster M, Lambert A, Morinière B, Abroug N, Schaeffer M-C, Moly A, Sauter-Starace F, Ratel D, Moro C, Torres-Martinez N, Langar L, Oddoux M, Polosan M, Pezzani S, Auboiroux V, Aksenova T, Mestais C and Chabardes S 2019 An exoskeleton controlled by an epidural wireless brain-machine interface in a tetraplegic patient: a proofof-concept demonstration *Lancet Neurol.* 18 1112–22

# Impact of Surrounding Audio-Visual Complexity on Symptomatology of Laryngeal Dystonia: A Virtual Reality Study

J. Petit<sup>1,2</sup>, S. K. Ehrlich<sup>1,2</sup>, G. Tougas<sup>1</sup>, J. M. Berstein<sup>1</sup>, N. E. Buie<sup>1</sup>, K. Simonyan<sup>1,2,3</sup>\* <sup>1</sup>Massachusetts Eye and Ear, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>3</sup>Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA \*243 Charles Street, Suite 421, Boston, MA 02114, USA. E-mail: Kristina simonyan@meei.harvard.edu

*Introduction:* Laryngeal dystonia (LD) is an isolated focal dystonia characterized by involuntary spasms in laryngeal muscles selectively impairing speech production. Anecdotal observations reported the worsening of LD symptoms in stressful or vocally demanding situations [1, 2]. We examine the impact of surrounding audio-visual on Laryngeal Dystonia (LD) symptomatology to better understand its phenomenology.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* We developed well-controlled virtual reality (VR) environments of real-life interpersonal communications to investigate how different levels of audio-visual complexity may impact LD symptoms. The VR experiments were conducted over five consecutive days, during which each patient experienced 10 hours of 4,100 experimental trials in VR with gradually increasing audio-visual complexity. Daily reports were collected about patients' voice changes, as well as their comfort, engagement, concentration, and drowsiness from using VR.

After a weekly exposure, 82% of patients reported differences in their voice symptoms related to changes in audio-visual complexity. Significant differences in voice symptoms were found between the first two levels of the audio-visual VR challenge, independent of study sessions or scenes. Self-reported changes in voice symptoms were significantly positively correlated with scene level.

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrated that LD symptoms are impacted by audio-visual background across various virtual realistic settings. These findings should be taken into consideration when planning behavioral experiments and evaluating the outcomes of clinical trials in these patients. Moreover, VR presents a reliable and useful tool for providing real-life assessments of the impact of various experimental settings, such as during the testing of novel therapeutic interventions in these patients.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This study was funded by the grant R01DC019353 from the National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders, National Institutes of Health, to KS. No conflict of interest for any author relevant to this study.

A. Blitzer and N. Kohli, "Laryngeal dystonia: Phenomenology, genetics, and management," Toxicon, vol. 233, p. 107258, September 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2023.107258.

<sup>[2]</sup> M. F. Brin, A. Blitzer, and M. Velickovic, "Movement Disorders of the Larynx," in Neurologic disorders of the larynx, 2nd ed. New York: Thieme, 2009.

# Patient-Specific Visual Neglect Severity Estimation for Stroke Patients using an AR and EEG based BCI

Deniz Kocanaogullari<sup>1</sup>, Richard Gall<sup>1</sup>, Jennifer Mak<sup>1</sup>, Xiaofei Huang<sup>2</sup>, Katie Mullen<sup>1</sup>, Sarah Ostadabbas<sup>2</sup>, George F. Wittenberg<sup>1</sup>, Emily S. Grattan<sup>1</sup>, Murat Akcakaya<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Northeastern University, Boston, MA, USA

\* E-mail: akcakaya@pitt.edu

*Introduction:* Visual spatial neglect is a condition that causes inattention to contralesional stimuli after a stroke. It disrupts basic and instrumental activities of daily living (such as dressing and driving) and increases the risk of falling and hospitalization. The current standards for neglect detection are successful in identifying neglect but do not provide any information on the extent/severity of neglect, i.e., the neglected field of view (FOV), which can be useful to inform personalized neglect rehabilitation. Previously, we built a BCI system called Augmented Reality-based EEG-guided Neglect Detection, Assessment, and Rehabilitation System (AREEN). We have already shown that the AREEN BCI system, using EEG can detect neglect with high accuracy and can classify among neglected and non-neglected visual targets [1]. In this work we aim to expand upon the previous findings, and develop and evaluate a machine learning method for the estimation of neglected FOV.

*Material, Methods and Results:* For FOV estimation, we propose EEG-based Spatio-Temporal Network (ESTNet) that captures essential EEG frequency band/time information associated with visual neglect. Through a Bayesian fusion, ESTNet combines EEG evidence with probabilistic prior information on potentially neglected visual field, which we denote as FOV correction module. ESTNet also generates an average saliency map to improve the explainability of the network model and identifies EEG time ranges



Figure 1: Average saliency maps for a) time domain and over 50ms long windows and b) frequency domain data over EEG bands delta (0-4Hz), theta (0-8Hz), alpha (8-13Hz), beta (13-30Hz) and gamma (30-40Hz). Note that both domains are normalized within themselves for better visibility and model/data explainability.

(i.e., potential event related potentials – ERPs) and frequency bands most informative on neglected FOV estimation. Using our proprietary AREEN dataset (a total of 20 stroke patients including 11 with visual neglect and 9 without neglect), the performance of ESTNet is compared to benchmark machine learning models in a leave-one-subject-out (LOSO) manner. ESTNet outperformed the benchmark machine learning methods for FOV estimation, achieving 79.62% accuracy, 76.71% sensitivity, and 86.36% specificity. Average saliency map (Fig. 1) demonstrates the frequency/time ranges for each EEG channel identified to be most informative for FOV estimation: (i) ERPs in the 100-150 ms and 300-400 ms range associated with visual attention tasks [2, 3]; (ii) alpha and beta bands which are biomarkers associated with visual attention [4] and visual task correction [5].

*Conclusion:* The AREEN BCI system with high accuracy can estimate neglected FOV. This severity assessment does not require any input from stroke patients, could potentially supplement other clinical neglect related disability measures, and in the future could inform personalized neglect rehabilitation.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work is supported by NSF award # 2234346

- J. Mak, D. Kocanaogullari, X. Huang, J. Kersey, M. Shih, E. S. Grattan, E. R. Skidmore, G. F. Wittenberg, S. Ostadabbas, and M. Akcakaya, "Detection of stroke-induced visual neglect and target response prediction using augmented reality and electroencephalography," *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.*, vol. 30, pp. 1840–1850, July 2022.
- [2] S. A. Hillyard and L. Anllo-Vento, "Event-related brain potentials in the study of visual selective attention," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, vol. 95, p. 781–787, Feb. 1998.
- [3] C. Bledowski, D. Prvulovic, K. Hoechstetter, M. Scherg, M. Wibral, R. Goebel, and D. E. J. Linden, "Localizing p300 generators in visual target and distractor processing: A combined event-related potential and functional magnetic resonance imaging study," *The Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 24, p. 9353–9360, Oct. 2004.
- [4] W. Klimesch, M. Doppelmayr, H. Russegger, T. Pachinger, and J. Schwaiger, "Induced alpha band power changes in the human EEG and attention," *Neurosci. Lett.*, vol. 244, pp. 73–76, Mar. 1998.
- [5] M. Gola, M. Magnuski, I. Szumska, and A. Wróbel, "Eeg beta band activity is related to attention and attentional deficits in the visual performance of elderly subjects," *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, vol. 89, p. 334–341, September 2013.

# Adaptive Closed-Loop Neurofeedback Brain-Computer Interface for Treatment of Laryngeal Dystonia

J. Petit<sup>1,2</sup>, S. K. Ehrlich<sup>1,2</sup>, G. Tougas<sup>1</sup>, J. M. Berstein<sup>1</sup>, N. E. Buie<sup>1</sup>, K. Simonyan<sup>1,2,3</sup>\* <sup>1</sup>Massachusetts Eye and Ear, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>3</sup>Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA \*243 Charles Street, Suite 421, Boston, MA 02114, USA. E-mail: Kristina simonyan@meei.harvard.edu

*Introduction:* Laryngeal dystonia (LD) is a task-specific focal dystonia characterized by involuntary spasms of laryngeal muscles that selectively impair the production of speech but not whispering, crying, or laughing. A recent EEG study [1] showed apparent differences in brain activity between speaking and whispering in LD patients compared to healthy individuals. In a double-blind, sham-controlled study, we aimed to build on the selectivity of speech impairment in LD for the development of a non-invasive adaptive closed-loop neurofeedback-based brain-computer interface (NF-BCI) for the treatment of this disorder.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* Eighteen LD patients participated in the study, divided into two groups: nine in the active condition and nine in the sham condition. The personalized EEG-based NF was displayed using the head-mounted virtual reality (VR) goggles and included real-life scenarios with various auditory and visual complexity and high vocal demand to elicit LD symptoms. Over five consecutive days, each patient participated in two one-hour NF-BCI sessions daily, during which they were trained to modulate abnormally increased EEG activity associated with impaired speaking to the levels associated with normal whispering. All patients assessed changes in their symptom severity after each session using a Likert-item questionnaire, ranging from -5, Worsened to +5, Improved. In addition, patients assessed their level of comfort, engagement, concentration, controllability, and responsiveness during NF-BCI sessions. Repeated-measures Friedman ANOVA corrected for ties was used to examine the differences in symptom severity and the overall performance during NF-BCI between the active and sham LD groups.

We found that patients who received active NF-BCI had a statistically significant improvement of their voice symptoms compared to patients who had sham NF-BCI ( $Chi^2 = 9.99, p = 0.002$ ). Patients with active NF-BCI had significantly greater controllability of NF-BCI than patients with sham condition ( $Chi^2 = 10.05, p = 0.002$ ) but had no difference in their comfort, engagement, concentration, or responsiveness during the training (all  $Chi^2 \le 2.6, p \ge 0.10$ ).

*Conclusion:* By integrating personalized EEG modeling, neurofeedback, and VR, this first study of adaptive closed-loop BCI intervention in LD patients demonstrated the feasibility of the treatment of this disorder, opening new opportunities for patients with LD and other focal task-specific dystonias.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This study was funded by the grant R01DC019353 from the National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders, National Institutes of Health, to KS. No conflict of interest for any author relevant to this study.

References:

 S. K. Ehrlich, G. Battistella, and K. Simonyan, "Temporal Signature of Task-Specificity in Isolated Focal Laryngeal Dystonia," *Movement Disorders: Official Journal of the Movement Disorder Society*, July 2023, doi: 10.1002/mds.29557.

# Hardware Friendly Corticomorphic Hybrid CNN-SNN Architecture for EEG-Based Auditory Attention Detection

Richard Gall<sup>1\*</sup>, Deniz Kocanaogullari<sup>1</sup>, Murat Akcakaya<sup>1</sup>, Deniz Erdogmus<sup>2</sup>, Rajkumar Kubendran<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Northeastern University, Boston, MA, USA E-mail: rtg16@pitt.edu

*Introduction:* For a healthy listener, the ability to selectively attend to a particular speaker in a multiplespeaker, or "cocktail party" [1], scenario is a trivial task. Those who suffer from hearing loss or are hearing impaired have difficulty with selective auditory attention [2]. Cognition and selective auditory attention of an individual play an important role in listening and communication [2], but unfortunately,

these are currently not fully utilized during hearing aid design [3]. Studies into the auditory attention network of the brain have shown that it is possible to decode auditory attention through the neural responses of a listener, suggesting that assisted selective auditory attention is possible, which led to developments in auditory attention decoding (AAD) using EEG-based BCIs. The current AAD methods are impractical for hearing aids due to large model architectures, requiring many operations, that when ported to hardware call for a sizable memory footprint, more compute resources, and higher power consumption than realistic.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Our work demonstrates a pioneering approach to developing a hardware-friendly corticomorphic neural network modeled to mimic the layered cortical structure of the brain. Our proposed hybrid network is biologically inspired by the organization of the auditory cortex, Fig. 1. The proposed hybrid convolutional and spiking neural network (CNN-SNN) is evaluated on our own EEG-based BCI dataset [4] (10 participants) and, additionally, compared to



Figure 1: The proposed corticomorphic hybrid architecture, inspired by the anatomy of the auditory cortex. Speech input and contextual evidence from other regions in the brain are passed into the primary auditory cortex (A1). The processed signals are then transmitted to the belt (A2), and finally the parabelt (A3). We hypothesize that the convolution layer will mimic the primary auditory cortex (A1) while the spiking neural network layer will emulate the belt (A2) and parabelt (A3).

the current state-of-the-art AAD methods on a publicly available dataset, DTU [5] (18 participants). The CNN-SNN achieved an accuracy of 98.8% on our dataset with int8 precision, while utilizing 50% fewer EEG channels with an  $\sim 5\%$  decrease in operations. Similarly, the model was able to outperform all state-of-the-art models on the DTU dataset by  $\sim 10\%$  for the 0.5, and 1 second decision windows, while using 87.5% fewer EEG channels and int8 precision. Hence, the overall benefits of using fewer channels, reducing the memory footprint with a lower bit precision, and a shorter decision window.

*Conclusion:* The proposed model architecture has surpassed current state-of-the-art results for AAD. The CNN-SNN architecture performs within a more desirable decision window (0.5 or 1 sec), uses fewer EEG channels, and increases the accuracy compared to state-of-the-art models. These results indicate that with the proposed model, it is possible to accurately decode auditory attention with high accuracy and less power consumption and smaller memory footprints compared to a conventional ANN.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: There are no conflicts of interest to disclose.

- [1] E. C. Cherry, "Some experiments on the recognition of speech, with one and with two ears," *The Journal of the acoustical society of America*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 975–979, 1953.
- [2] B. G. Shinn-Cunningham and V. Best, "Selective attention in normal and impaired hearing," *Trends in amplification*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 283–299, 2008.
- B. Taylor and D. Hayes, "Does current hearing aid technology meet the needs of healthy aging," *Hearing Review*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 22–26, 2015.
- [4] M. Haghighi, M. Moghadamfalahi, M. Akcakaya, B. G. Shinn-Cunningham, and D. Erdogmus, "A graphical model for online auditory scene modulation using eeg evidence for attention," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 1970–1977, 2017.
- [5] S. A. Fuglsang, T. Dau, and J. Hjortkjær, "Noise-robust cortical tracking of attended speech in real-world acoustic scenes," *Neuroimage*, vol. 156, pp. 435–444, 2017.
### Zero-shot Deep Learning for Calibration-free Motor Imagery BCIs

Berat Aras<sup>1</sup>, Maryam Alimardani<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands \*De Boelelaan 1111, 1081 HV Amsterdam E-mail: m.alimardani@vu.nl

*Introduction:* Despite the potential of motor imagery (MI) BCIs, their usability outside of laboratory settings is limited due to the need for frequent system calibration and user training. A promising direction to create more user-friendly, plug-and-play BCIs is **zero-shot learning** [1]. This approach enables models trained on data from a set of subjects or tasks to generalize and perform classification on unseen subjects/tasks. While this approach has been previously attempted on task-to-task learning [2,3], very few studies have applied it to cross-subject learning for calibration-free MI-BCIs, and those that have suffer from limitations such as relying on small datasets and hand-crafted machine learning models [4]. Contrary to past research, this study aimed to leverage end-to-end deep learning (DL) to evaluate the robustness of zero-shot learning on a large dataset, which included MI EEG signals from **142 participants**. Our RQ was: Is calibration-free MI BCI feasible if zero-shot learning is applied to a large group of users?

*Methods and Results:* To obtain a large dataset, we aggregated two existing datasets; Leeuwis et al. (55 subjects, 2021) [5] and Dreyer et al. (87 subjects, 2023) [6], both employing the same EEG device and right- vs. left-hand MI protocol. The signals were resampled and overlapping electrodes relevant to MI task were selected (C3, C4, Cz, CP1, CP2). For each subject, the available trials (min 120, max 320) were included. From each trial, 4 seconds of MI was selected for model training. Five models were selected for zero-shot learning; an SVM trained with ERD/ERS patterns (used as the baseline) and 4 DL models namely, EEGSimpleConv [7], EEGNet, Deep and Shallow ConvNets [8] trained with raw EEG data. The training pipeline consisted of leave-one-subject-out cross-validation (LOSO-CV), where models were trained on all subjects except one, and then tested on the left-out subject. The obtained accuracies per model are presented in Figure 1.





Figure 1: Comparison of model accuracies.

free MI BCIs remain a challenging task due to the high inter-subject variability of MI patterns. Future research could explore the benefits of one-shot or few-shot learning, allowing pre-trained models to adapt to new users with minimal data.

- Ko, W., Jeon, E., Jeong, S., Phyo, J., & Suk, H. I. (2021). A survey on deep learning-based short/zero-calibration approaches for EEGbased brain-computer interfaces. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 15, 643386.
- [2] Gwon, D., & Ahn, M. (2024). Motor task-to-task transfer learning for motor imagery brain-computer interfaces. *NeuroImage*, 302, 120906.
- [3] Duan, L., Li, J., Ji, H., Pang, Z., Zheng, X., Lu, R., ... & Zhuang, J. (2020). Zero-shot learning for EEG classification in motor imagerybased BCI system. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, 28(11), 2411-2419.
- [4] Wang, Y., Wang, J., Wang, W., Su, J., & Hou, Z. G. (2023, August). Calibration-Free Transfer Learning for EEG-Based Cross-Subject Motor Imagery Classification. In 2023 IEEE 19th International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (CASE) (pp. 1-6).
- [5] Leeuwis, N., Paas, A., & Alimardani, M. (2021). Psychological and Cognitive Factors in Motor Imagery Brain Computer Interfaces (Version 1.0) [Data set]. DataverseNL.
- [6] Dreyer, P., Roc, A., Pillette, L., Rimbert, S., & Lotte, F. (2023). A large EEG database with users' profile information for motor imagery brain-computer interface research. Scientific Data, 10(1), 580.
- [7] Ouahidi, Y. E., Gripon, V., Pasdeloup, B., Bouallegue, G., Farrugia, N., & Lioi, G. (2023). A strong and simple deep learning baseline for BCI MI decoding. arXiv preprint arXiv:2309.07159.
- [8] Schirrmeister, R. T., Springenberg, J. T., Fiederer, L. D. J., Glasstetter, M., Eggensperger, K., Tangermann, M., ... & Ball, T. (2017). Deep learning with convolutional neural networks for EEG decoding and visualization. *Human Brain Mapping*, 38(11), 5391-5420.

### **Closed-loop error damping in human BCI using endogenous modifications in motor cortex activity**

C. Gontier<sup>1</sup>, N. Kunigk<sup>1,2\*</sup>, W. Hockeimer<sup>1,3</sup>, E. Canario<sup>1</sup>, L. Endsley<sup>4</sup>, J. Downey<sup>4</sup>, J. Weiss<sup>1,3</sup>, B. Dekleva<sup>1,3</sup>, J. Collinger<sup>1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Rehab Neural Engineering Labs, Pittsburgh, PA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Bioengineering, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA; <sup>3</sup>Dept. of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA; <sup>4</sup>Department of Organismal Biology and Anatomy, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA \*1622 Locust St, Pittsburgh, PA 15219. E-mail: nik94@pitt.edu

*Introduction:* The motor cortex is known to encode motor intents, carrying rich information about movement kinematics. Interestingly, motor cortex activity also includes an *error signal*, i.e. a neural correlate of erroneous motor control that does not align with the movement goal. This error signal could potentially be leveraged during real-time BCI control, to detect a discrepancy between the decoded movement and the user's intent and to perform on-the-fly error correction. Previous studies have been able to identify a neural correlate of such periods of erroneous motor control to perform on-the-fly detection of BCI control in monkeys [1]. However, whether this signal is sufficiently robust to be used in human applications, and can generalize across realistic tasks, is still unknown. Here, we train a classifier to detect periods of erroneous motor control based on intracortical recordings from motor cortex, and use it to perform real-time error detection and control signal modulation in different BCI tasks with human participants.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We obtained intracortical data from 3 human participants (C2, P2, and P4) who were asked to perform a BCI 2D cursor control center-out task. Participants provided informed consent prior to enrolling in a clinical trial of an intracortical sensorimotor BCI that was approved under an FDA Investigational Device Exemption (NCT01894802). We trained a classifier to detect periods of erroneous control using data collected while the participants performed the center-out task, where "error" was defined as an increasing distance between the cursor and the target. Crucially, neural features immediately preceding the onset of an error (and which represent endogenous activity rather than responses to visual feedback) are also included in the training set, allowing earlier error detection. Then, in subsequent testing blocks, whenever the detected error probability reached a defined threshold, the system performed error modulation by reducing the decoded velocity, hence preventing the cursor from moving further away from its target (Fig.1**A**). Error modulation significantly improved BCI performance on a variety of performance metrics (Fig.1**B**). In individual participants, we demonstrated improved performance when applying error modulation to a more realistic and multidimensional click and drag task (Fig.1**C**) and to the precision task from the recent Cybathlon BCI competition (Fig.1**D**), where stability is especially critical to performance.

*Conclusion:* Results show that motor cortex activity is significantly modified during erroneous control, and that this neural signature can be leveraged to minimize errors, hence improving BCI performance.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This project was supported by the Swiss NSF (grant P500PM\_210800) and by the NINDS (award numbers R01NS121079 and UH3NS107714). BD and JW serve as consultants for Blackrock Neurotech, Inc.



Figure 1: (A) A BCI system is used to decode the motor intent and to move a cursor towards a target in a 2D control task. In parallel, a classifier detects the error signal and modulates the decoded velocity accordingly. (B) Trajectory accuracy metrics without (blue) and with (orange) error modulation. (C) Target acquisition rate without and with error modulation during a click-and-grasp task. (D) Completion time improvements with error modulation during the precision task from the BCI Cybathlon competition.

#### References:

[1] Wallace, Dylan M., et al. "Error detection and correction in intracortical brain–machine interfaces controlling two finger groups." Journal of Neural Engineering 20.4 (2023): 046037.

### MindVoice: A Multimodal Framework for EEG-Based Speech Decoding

Anarghya Das<sup>1\*</sup>, Matthew Li<sup>2</sup>, Wenyao Xu<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University at Buffalo, Buffalo, USA; <sup>2</sup>Purdue University, West Lafayette, USA;

E-mail: anarghya@buffalo.edu

*Introduction:* Speech impairments pose challenges for automatic speech recognition (ASR) systems, which struggle with slurred pronunciation, unpredictable pauses, and variability in speech patterns [1]. We propose a contrastive learning framework combining speech and EEG, designed to decode speech from neural signals using minimal EEG channels, enabling scalable solutions for speech impairments.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We developed a robust data collection protocol to record EEG and speech data from 13 participants, which consisted of 20 English words carefully selected to maximize phonemic diversity and three paragraphs commonly used in speaking tests. The stimuli were designed to ensure a broad representation of English phonemes, enabling the model to learn the phonetic patterns of the language. Stimuli presentation was fully automated using PsychoPy [2] and time-synchronized using the Lab Streaming Layer (LSL). A multimodal model was trained to encode EEG and speech data into a shared latent space, employing cross-attention to enrich EEG embeddings with temporally aligned speech audio and a contrastive loss to align these embeddings effectively. Trained on 1,366 samples (1,093 training, 273 validation), the model achieved an impressive top-1 validation accuracy of 98.94%, highlighting its capacity to capture complex EEG-speech relationships. A channel ablation study confirmed robustness, showing minimal accuracy decline to 97.90% even when using a single EEG channel (F4) selected from the cortical region involved in speech production. This minimal performance drop underscores the model's suitability and potential for deployment in practical, low-channel wearable devices. The overall workflow is illustrated in Figure 1.

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates a generalizable contrastive learning framework for decoding speech from EEG signals, extending our previous work [3]. Our proposed model provides robust shared embeddings between EEG and speech, facilitating downstream decoding tasks such as zero-shot classification and EEG-to-text applications. Its effectiveness with fewer EEG channels further highlights its potential for scalable deployment in low-channel wearable devices, extending the reach of brain-computer interface (BCI) applications beyond assistive communication.



Figure 1: Overview of experimental setup and pipeline for EEG and audio data collection, synchronization, encoding, and multimodal alignment for speech decoding.

- S. Alharbi, M. Alrazgan, A. Alrashed, T. Alnomasi, R. Almojel, R. Alharbi, S. Alharbi, S. Alturki, F. Alshehri, and M. Almojil. utomatic Speech Recognition: Systematic Literature Review. In *Proceedings of the 14th Annual International Conference of the IEEE/EMBS*, vol. 9, pp. 131 858–131 876, 2021.
- [2] Peirce, J. W., Gray, J. R., Simpson, S., MacAskill, M. R., Höchenberger, R., Sogo, H., Kastman, E., Lindeløv, J. PsychoPy2: experiments in behavior made easy. *Behavior Research Methods*, 2019.
- [3] Das, P. Soni, M.-C. Huang, F. Lin, and W. Xu. ultimodal speech recognition using EEG and audio signals: A novel approach for enhancing ASR systems. *Smart Health*, vol. 32, p. 100477, 2024.

### Toward Commercialization of a High-Efficiency AAC System with BCI Access for Individuals with Minimal Movement

S.R. Malcomson<sup>1</sup>\*, K. Hill<sup>2</sup>, J.E. Huggins<sup>3</sup>, J. Zolyak<sup>1</sup>, M.X. Zhang<sup>2</sup>, M.S. O'Leary<sup>2</sup>,

K.G. Colleran<sup>3</sup>, C.J. Ferguson<sup>2</sup>, A.M. Lieto<sup>2</sup>, M.C. Wall<sup>1</sup>, S. Babu<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>PRC-Saltillo, Wooster, OH, USA; <sup>2</sup>University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA; <sup>3</sup>University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA \*PRC-Saltillo, 1022 Heyl Road, Wooster, OH 44691. E-mail: shawn.malcomson@prc-saltillo.com

*Introduction:* Augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) systems are widely used for efficient communication, but require movement, preventing use by people with the most severe impairments. Wearable P300 brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) offer an alternative AAC access method.

*Material, Methods and Results:* AAC manufacturer and university research resources supported a mixed-methods approach for late-stage development to commercialize an AAC-BCI system (now at translational level T2). We have started a small clinical trial of in-home product use to optimize the design, evaluate training resources, plan future, larger clinical trials, and prioritize regulatory and reimbursement pathways.

The PRC BCI system (Fig. 1) is designed as an add-on access method for the PRC Accent speech generating device. The AAC-BCI consists of a Wearable Sensing VR300 dry electrode headset and the PRC BCI application program controlling all the BCI features and functionality. The BCI application is a stand-alone Windows program that has been granted permission to run in an overlay window on top of the Empower AAC



Figure 1: The PRC AAC-BCI includes the Accent speech generating device and a VR300 dry electrode headset.

program (design schematic in Fig. 2). The BCI app uses the Accent device's computational and display resources while Empower is waiting for the user to make a vocabulary selection. BCI prediction begins with the BCI app sending a Microsoft User Interface Automation (MUIA) command to Empower requesting a list of all the GUI elements on the AAC display. The BCI app creates a transparent layer of stimuli with the same size and location as the AAC display elements to produce the P300 evoked response from the user. The BCI application analyzes the resulting EEG, sends a MUIA command to activate the selected AAC key, and the Accent device produces the speech associated with that key.

Evaluation of dosage and delivery modality for AAC-BCI trainings and resources relied on published feedback results [1]. Competency-based assessment compared training types and lengths. A 3-day inperson, hands-on workshop resulted in PRC service delivery consultants achieving competence at the train-the-trainer level with a high degree of trainee satisfaction.

*Conclusion:* A small T2 clinical trial was initiated successfully to evaluate in-home use of a commercial AAC-BCI across the US. Paperwork is in development to ensure that the AAC-BCI qualifies for medical

device reimbursement and other US and international regulations.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: SM, JZ, & SB work for PRC-Saltillo. Funded by National Institute of Deafness and other Communication Disorders (NIDCD) in the National Institutes of Health (#SB1DC015142).

#### References:

[1] Hill K, Huggins J & Woodworth C, (2021) Interprofessional practitioners' opinions on features and services for an AAC BCI device. *Phys Med & Rehab.* 13 (10) 1111-1121.



### Neuroethical considerations on Brain Computer Interface research in Latin America

A. C. Pliego<sup>1</sup>\*, H.D. Villota<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Universidad Autónoma del Estado de México, Toluca, Mexico; <sup>2</sup>Institución Universitaria de Envigado, Antioquía, Colombia \*ZIP Code 50180, Toluca, Mexico. Email: acpliegoc@uaemex.mx

*Introduction:* Neuroscientific research in Latin America (LA) focuses on biology, psychology, and neurology, often guided by a clinical perspective. The countries with the most significant contributions in international neuroscientific literature are Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, and Mexico [1]. Research on brain-computer interfaces (BCI) has become increasingly significant over the past 20 years. EEG presents advantages compared such as being a non-invasive, relatively low-cost, easy-to-use technique, that does not require special facilities to function. Furthermore, open-access datasets facilitate complex computational processing methods, spearing the purchase of the acquisition device. However, experts from LA highlight the lack of legal means to protect brain data and its integrity [2]. In this sense, our aim is to highlight the main ethical considerations related to BCI research in LA, according to the acquisition method, signal processing, application, and training paradigm.

Material, Methods and Results: Previous scientometric research collected 1458 publications on BCI from Pubmed, Science Direct, IEEE, Scopus, and Redalyc databases authored by scientists affiliated in LA and the Caribbean (unpublished data). Results for number of publications for these countries showed Brazil (515), Mexico (292), Colombia (197), Argentina (128), and Chile. Five subcategories were considered for scientometric purposes: Acquisition (EEG, fMRI, MRI/MEG, ECoG, and fNIRS), Signal processing (feature extraction, classification models, and filtering), Application (rehabilitation, robotics, neuroscience, robotics, and human-computer interface), and Paradigm (P300, MI, SSVEP, and other). In this study, EEG represented the acquisition method in 85% of the publications, while MI was used in 62% of them. The most common Application found was neuroscience (41.38 %), followed by rehabilitation (25.61%). EEG Acquisition must consider privacy, agency, and data protection. Privacy guarantees anonymity, by protecting the identity of the participants. Agency refers to the right of individuals to preserve their personality. The Paradigm of MI has raised questions on how much control/intention/responsibility is attributable to the user and to the coding/decoding algorithm [3]. Nowadays, no country in LA, except for Chile, explicitly mentions the protection of neural data on a fundamental legal document. On Signal processing and Application: Informed consent must clearly explain the use and purpose of brain information. It should also state the clinical benefit of the application and/or how it contributes to humanity. About brain open datasets, we found poor dissemination of the FAIR requirements (Findable, Accessible, Interoperable, and Reusable), that promote data integrity, identity protection, and liability.

*Conclusion:* BCI research in LA has grown significantly, primarily utilizing EEG and employing motor imagery (MI) with fundamental neuroscience applications. Ethical considerations regarding these aspects of BCI must be incorporated during protocol planning and explicitly stated in publications. Privacy, agency, data protection, and informed consent should adhere to international guidelines while accommodating regional disparities. To address these challenges, it is crucial to promote ethical frameworks, equitable research funding, and regional collaboration to ensure that BCI research in LA progresses responsibly and inclusively.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors thank LASCON IX for enabling this collaborative research. The authors express no conflict of interest.

- Forero, D. A., Trujillo, M. L., González-Giraldo, Y., & Barreto, G. E. (2019). Scientific productivity in neurosciences in Latin America: a scientometrics perspective. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 130(4), 398–406.
- [2] Ochang, P., Eke, D., & Stahl, B. C. (2024). Perceptions on the Ethical and Legal Principles that Influence Global Brain Data Governance. *Neuroethics*, 17(2), 23.
- [3] Rainey, S., Maslen, H., & Savulescu, J. (2020). When thinking is doing: responsibility for BCI-mediated action. *AJOB neuroscience*, 11(1), 46-58.

# An Innovative Method for Detecting P300 Signals in Patients with Disorders of Consciousness

L. Bianchi<sup>1</sup>\*, F. Frisardi<sup>2</sup>, F. Cum<sup>3</sup>, L. Mattioli<sup>3</sup>, F. Leonardis<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dipartimento di Ingegneria Civile e Ingegneria Informatica, Tor Vergata University, Rome, Italy; <sup>2</sup> Intensive Care Unit, Policlinico Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy; <sup>3</sup>Neuro-Physiopathology Lab, Policlinico Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy; <sup>4</sup> Intensive Care Unit, Tor Vergata University, Rome, Italy \*E-mail: luigi.bianchi@uniroma2.it

*Introduction:* Distinguishing between patients in a vegetative state (VS) and those in a minimally conscious state (MCS) is challenging due to the complexity of clinical manifestations and the limitations of current diagnostic tools. Behavioral differences between VS and MCS can be subtle and are often easily mistaken for reflexive or random activities. Passive acoustic P300 has emerged as a valuable tool for detecting cognitive functions, even in individuals unable to actively engage or respond. The primary challenge lies in reliably detecting the P300 component, as its latency, amplitude, spatial distribution, and polarity can vary significantly across patients [1].

*Material, Methods and Results:* A dedicated software was developed to generate a P300 sequence of acoustic stimuli, consisting of 50 target and 250 standard stimuli. Twenty-seven non-responsive subjects were tested (10-20 EEG System) before they were diagnosed, with the stimuli being the patient's name and a masked version of the same name to preserve the same envelope. The NPXLab suite was used for signal preprocessing (including ICA, filtering, etc.). A custom software implementation was used to compare responses to target and standard stimuli with the following methodology with no assumptions regarding P300 latency, amplitude, spatial distribution, and polarity:

- For 1000 iterations, 50 standard stimuli were randomly selected to compute the standard responses for each channel before (-1750ms to -250ms) and after (250ms to 1750ms) the stimuli.
- 2) After each iteration, a t-test on each of the 14592 samples (768 per 19 channels), was conducted between the standard and target responses for all channels.
- 3) Samples with a statistical difference (ttest) less than 0.01 were counted
- 4) Histograms (pre, post, standard, target) were constructed from all iterations, with the number of samples identified in step 3, and compared. (Fig. 1).



Figure 1: Histograms relative to the number of statistically different samples computed by comparing Target Pre vs Standard Post epochs (blue) and Target Post vs Standard Post epochs (red) of one subject. It can be deduced that Standard Post activity is similar to Target Pre stimuli (values are close to the 0 bar), while Standard Post and Target Post stimuli activities belong to a different distribution (KS test p < 0.001).

All 17 subjects who exhibited a significant difference between standard and target

responses (K-S test) were later diagnosed as MCS, with no false positives observed. Five false negatives were detected.

*Conclusion:* Accurately differentiating between VS and MCS is crucial for determining appropriate treatment, guiding rehabilitation efforts, and making end-of-life decisions. Here, a method that is shaped for each subject is shown.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this article.

Lugo ZR, et al. Cognitive Processing in Non-Communicative Patients: What Can Event-Related Potentials Tell Us? Front Hum Neurosci. 2016 Nov 14;10:569. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00569. PMID: 27895567; PMCID: PMC5107572.

### Measuring motor intent for BCI control – a comparative analysis of the Stentrode and scalp EEG

N. Chetty<sup>1\*</sup>, J. Bennett<sup>2</sup>, A. K. Feldman<sup>1</sup>, K. Kacker<sup>1</sup>, P. E. Yoo<sup>2</sup>, N. L. Opie<sup>2</sup>,

D. Lacomis<sup>3</sup>, J. L. Collinger<sup>3</sup>, T. J. Oxley<sup>2</sup>, D. F. Putrino<sup>4</sup>, D. J. Weber<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Carnegie Mellon University, <sup>2</sup>Synchron, Inc, <sup>3</sup>University of Pittsburgh, <sup>4</sup>Icahn School of Medicine, Mount Sinai \*5000 Forbes Avenue, Pittsburgh, PA 15213. \*E-mail: nikolechetty@cmu.edu

*Introduction:* The Stentrode is a novel endovascular brain-computer interface (BCI) that is implanted within the superior sagittal sinus to record bilaterally from the motor cortices. The device has enabled people with severe paralysis to gain computer control and digital communication. The Stentrode is currently undergoing an early feasibility clinical trial in the United States (NCT 05035823).

For any BCI to be viable long-term, the signals need to be high quality and remain stable over time to enable high-accuracy decoding of user intent. Multiple factors contribute to the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) including distance to neural source, task attention, electrical contact and spacing, referencing scheme, physiological noise (such as ocular, muscular, cardiac, etc), feedback, and environmental noise. While the Stentrode sits closer to the cortex, in the absence of interceding bone, than scalp electroencephalography (EEG) electrodes and would presumably have higher signal quality, there has been no reported comparison of intravascular to scalp-based signal quality in humans.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Here, we explore the quality of vascular ECoG and scalp EEG signals during volitional motor attempts in one participant with paralysis due to ALS, who retains some residual movement. During two training sessions, the participant underwent simultaneous recording with the Stentrode and a scalp EEG with a standard, commercially available 64-channel gel cap. During the sessions, they were visually cued to attempt various motor tasks, such as repeated flexion and extension of the wrists and ankles. Signal quality was assessed by analyzing motor event related synchronization/desynchronization during cued movement tasks. SNR was defined as 10\*log((Attempted movement band power)/(Resting band power)). The correlation between task conditions (move vs. rest) and specific frequency bands was examined via the correlation coefficients.

During attempted flexion of both ankles, the most modulated channel on the EEG cap, Cz, had a mean SNR in the beta band (13-30 Hz) of -1.69 (strong desynchronization), while the most modulated channel on the Stentrode had an SNR of -0.43. Of particular interest is the highgamma band (70-200 Hz), which offers rich, focal information with high utility in BCIs. In this band, the scalp EEG and



Figure 1: Example power spectral density showing both ankle movement compared to rest for both scalp EEG (Ch Cz) and Stentrode recordings (Ch 12).

Stentrode had SNRs of 0.57 and 1.95 respectively. The high SNR in the high-gamma band for the Stentrode, which doesn't face the attenuating effects of the skull, is promising for successful, reliable decoding of user intention. Data will be presented for a variety of channels, frequency bands, and referencing schemes while the participant attempts different types of movements.

*Conclusion:* Overall, the scalp EEG shows alpha and beta desynchronization during movement and post-movement beta rebound, while the Stentrode shows strong gamma synchronization. The ongoing study will continue to evaluate the signal quality and stability in multiple participants across modalities.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) (UH3NS120191) and National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship Program (NSF GRFP 2140739). JB, PEY, NLO, and TJO hold stock options from Synchron. PEY, NLO, and TJO hold patents related to the Stentrode.

### **Ear-EEG Auditory Error-Related Potentials**

Allan Frederick<sup>1\*</sup>, Deland Liu<sup>1</sup>, Ju-Chun Hsieh<sup>2</sup>, Huiliang Wang<sup>2</sup> José del R. Millán<sup>1,2,3\*</sup> <sup>1</sup>Chandra Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, <sup>2</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, <sup>3</sup>Department of Neurology, The University of Texas at Austin, TX, USA. \* E-mail: allanfrederick1224@utexas.edu, jose.millan@austin.utexas.edu

*Introduction:* Ear-EEG provides a comfortable, user-friendly alternative to traditional scalp-EEG, supporting the use of daily, wearable recording of EEG. By integrating custom 3D-printed earpieces with AIRTrode-sponge electrodes [1, 2], this study advances ear-EEG technology, enabling the recognition of error-related potentials (ErrPs) in real-time. ErrPs are neural correlates of error awareness [3].

*Material, Methods and Results:* Custom right-oriented earpieces were fabricated using flexible resin and embedded with AIRTrode-sponge electrodes for enhanced biocompatibility, contact quality, and long-term recording. The earpieces contained 4 electrodes. For all experiments, both ear-EEG and scalp-EEG were acquired. Characterization included recording impedance, changes in alpha rhythms, and auditory steady-state responses. Auditory ErrPs were elicited by subjects perceiving incorrect answers to questions delivered via audio. The brain-computer interface (BCI) relied on the AIRTrode-sponge electrodes and on a Riemannian geometry-based classification framework to decode auditory ErrP [4]. BCI output feedback was delivered via audio, indicating whether or not the classifier successfully decoded the subjects' EEG as either ErrP or correct depending on the trial. Ten healthy subjects participated in the experiments. Results showed that all 4 electrodes captured the ErrPs, albeit with different dynamics, thus, demonstrating the high spatial resolution of our AIRTrode-sponge electrodes. Furthermore, the BCI achieved a statistically significant online performance in the recognition of the presence or absence of auditory ErrPs, outperforming pseudo-online performance of a BCI that used scalp-EEG. Figure 1 displays the online performance of the ear-EEG ErrP BCI for each subject, as measured by Cohen's Kappa, indicating reliable accuracy for 9 out of 10 subjects.

*Conclusion:* The AIRTrode-sponge ear-EEG device successfully captured EEG signal including ErrPs, demonstrating its potential for BCI applications. To address reduced spatial coverage limitations and improve performance, future work will incorporate dual-ear devices and extend training sessions to multiple consecutive days. This study establishes a strong foundation for practical, long-term neural monitoring and BCI development using ear EEG recorded with AIRTrode-sponge electrodes.



Figure 1: Online and pseudo-online performance evaluation metric Cohen's Kappa of the auditory ErrP BCI using ear-EEG and scalp-EEG, respectively. The Cohen's Kappa value for each subject represents the grand average of all their corresponding runs in the online session. Scalp-EEG for subjects 7,8, and 10 were discarded due to poor quality.

- [1] Hsieh JC, He W, Venkatraghavan D, Koptelova VB, Ahmad ZJ, Pyatnitskiy I, Wang W, Jeong J, Tang KKW, Harmeier C, Li C, Rana M, Iyer S, Nayak E, Ding H, Modur P, Mysliwiec V, Schnyer DM, Baird B, Wang H. Design of an injectable, self-adhesive, and highly stable hydrogel electrode for sleep recording. *Device*, 2(2):100182, 2024.
- [2] Liu DH, Hsieh JC, Alawieh H, Kumar S, Iwane F, Pyatnitskiy I, Ahmad ZJ, Wang H, Millán JdR. Novel AIRTrode-based wearable electrode supports long-term, online brain-computer interface operations. J. Neural Engineering, 22:016002, 2025.
- [3] Iwane F, Sobolewski A, Chavarriaga R, Millán JdR. EEG error-related potentials encode magnitude of errors and individual perceptual thresholds. iScience, 26(9):107524, 2023.
- [4] Kumar S, Alawieh H, Racz FS, Fakhreddine R, Millán JdR. Transfer learning promotes acquisition of individual BCI skills. PNAS Nexus, 3(2):pgae076, 2024.

#### A biomimetic iBCI decoder for restoring hand function in people with spinal cord injury

# F. Rizzoglio<sup>1, 2\*</sup>, M. Carvajal<sup>1,2</sup>, P. Firouzabadi<sup>1,2</sup>, V. Darbhe<sup>1</sup>, A. Sobinov<sup>3</sup>, G.L. Cerone<sup>4</sup>, A. Botter<sup>4</sup>, N. Suresh<sup>1,2</sup>, W. Murray<sup>1,2</sup>, L. Miller<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA; <sup>2</sup>Shirley Ryan Ability Lab, Chicago, IL, USA; <sup>3</sup>University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA, <sup>4</sup>Politecnico di Torino, Turin, Italy \*310 E. Superior St., Ward 5-305, Chicago, IL 60611. E-mail: fabio.rizzoglio@northwestern.edu

*Introduction*: Intracortical brain-computer interfaces (iBCIs) offer paralyzed individuals the ability to generate movement. While effective for guiding a computer cursor [1] or a robotic arm [2], [3], current systems lack the ability to control applied forces and adjust limb compliance—critical limitations for grasping and interacting with objects. To address this, we propose developing an iBCI that decodes intended muscle activity (EMG) from primary motor cortex (M1) recordings. This system would then control joint kinematics and impedance, as well as contact forces via a forward musculoskeletal model of the hand [4], more closely mimicking the natural function of M1 than do existing iBCI decoders. We hypothesize that this biomimetic iBCI will be easier to learn and outperform existing decoders for hand function tasks.

Material, Methods and Results: Data to train kinematic iBCIs is obtained as users observe and attempt to replicate a certain movement trajectory; the decoders are built by correlating the recorded neural activity with the observed kinematics. To create a muscle-based equivalent, we first needed to determine the muscle activity patterns that a paralyzed individual might use when observing and attempting to mimic hand actions. For this, we collected data from an able-bodied individual performing a series of multi-degree-offreedom hand posture-matching movements. We recorded intrinsic hand muscle activity using high-density surface electrode grids (LISiN, Torino, Italy) placed on the dorsal and palmar side of the hand, along with intramuscular leads also targeting the dorsal interossei. We recorded extrinsic hand muscles using standard surface bipolar electrodes (Delsys Inc., Boston, USA) on the forearm. We were able to accurately classify hand postures using only data from the surface recordings. Intramuscular leads offered only minor improvements in accuracy. This suggests that high-density grids alone provide sufficient information about intrinsic muscle activity, potentially eliminating the need for intramuscular leads in the hand. We next used these EMG signals as decoding templates together with M1 data recorded from a spinal cord-injured participant, implanted with two microelectrode arrays (Blackrock Microsystems, Salt Lake City, UT) in the arm and hand representations of M1, who attempted the same posture-matching task. To ensure consistency between the able-bodied participant's actual movements and the paralyzed participant's attempted movements, we recreated the actual hand kinematics in virtual reality through an avatar hand, which the participant observed. They were prompted to attempt to replicate the motion using their own hand. Posture classification accuracy using the M1 signals was well above significance, but below that achieved in the able-bodied participant using EMG signals. We also used the M1 signals in combination with the EMG templates to compute EMG decoders. The predicted EMG activity from left-out M1 data had R<sup>2</sup> values (computed with respect to the separately recorded EMG templates) ranging from 0.2 to 0.4.

*Conclusion*: Our findings demonstrate that hand muscle activation can be effectively decoded from the M1 signals of a paralyzed participant attempting to imitate various hand postures. Although our experiments were limited to posture-matching movements, we intend to extend them to object manipulation and force generation. Our results represent a critical step towards using decoded EMGs to drive a musculoskeletal model of the hand for improved performance compared to standard kinematic decoders.

- [1] L. R. Hochberg *et al.*, "Neuronal ensemble control of prosthetic devices by a human with tetraplegia," *Nature*, vol. 442, no. 7099, Art. no. 7099, Jul. 2006, doi: 10.1038/nature04970.
- [2] L. R. Hochberg *et al.*, "Reach and grasp by people with tetraplegia using a neurally controlled robotic arm," *Nature*, vol. 485, no. 7398, Art. no. 7398, May 2012, doi: 10.1038/nature11076.
- [3] J. L. Collinger et al., "High-performance neuroprosthetic control by an individual with tetraplegia," The Lancet, vol. 381, no. 9866, pp. 557–564, Feb. 2013, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61816-9.
- [4] D. Blana et al., "Model-Based Control of Individual Finger Movements for Prosthetic Hand Function," IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 612–620, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2020.2967901.

### The AppleCatcher Game: A Novel Motor Imagery BCI for Hand Rehabilitation

E. Skredsvig<sup>1\*</sup>, R. Kneider<sup>2</sup>, M. Molinas<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway; <sup>2</sup>Ecole Normale Supérieure, Lyon,

France

\*O. S. Bragstads Plass 7034, Trondheim, Norway. E-mail: erleskre@stud.ntnu.no

*Introduction:* The AppleCatcher game is a novel motor imagery brain-computer interface (BCI) designed with the idea to facilitate hand rehabilitation for individuals with motor impairments. It was developed to address the limitations of traditional methods by providing a more engaging and usercentered approach to rehabilitation. The system utilizes electroencephalography (EEG) to detect and interpret brain activity associated with motor imagery, allowing users to control a virtual apple-catching game. AppleCatcher leverages the brain's neural plasticity by tapping into the overlapping neural pathways of motor imagery and motor execution. Through mental rehearsal, it can enable users to practice and enhance their motor skills, fostering motor recovery and rehabilitation. Unlike conventional motor imagery-based BCIs that rely on EEG data processing in the sensor space, the AppleCatcher game employs EEG source imaging (ESI) to enhance classification performance. This method has proven effective in improving the accuracy of motor imagery detection. [1, 2].

Material, Methods and Results: The player's objective is to use motor imagery to catch an apple falling

on the screen, as shown in Fig. 1. The two vertical lines on the green progress bar serve as markers for when the player is supposed to perform the motor imagery, and data is collected between these two markers using a 32-channel Mentalab Explore EEG cap. Features are extracted from the data by isolating the  $\mu$  frequency band and then computing the average power of source estimates obtained with sLORETA. These features are classified using Linear Discriminant Analysis, and the output is used to control the virtual hands. For initial testing and validation of the classification pipeline, data from [3] was used. The results of live gameplay tests are promising, with subjects achieving an average accuracy of 75.5%. The accuracy increased by an average of 11.5% between the first and second test session, demonstrating the potential for improving motor imagery skills by playing AppleCatcher. In subsequent offline testing with improved parameters the accuracy rose to 85.0%, equal to the initial test results obtained from the ten best subjects in [3].



Figure 1: AppleCatcher game interface.

*Conclusion:* The initial results reported here suggest that the AppleCatcher game serves as a promising proof of concept for a motor imagery-based gaming concept. Further refinement and broader testing with a larger, more diverse participant group are needed to evaluate its effectiveness in hand movement rehabilitation.

- Soler A, Naas V, Giri A, Molinas M. EEG Source Imaging Enhances Motor IMagery Classification. In ESANN 2024 proceedings, pages 577-582, 2024.
- [2] Edelman BJ, Baxter B, He B. EEG Source Imaging Enhances the Decoding of Complex ight-Hand Motor Imagery Tasks. IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, pages 4-14, 2016.
- [3] Cho H, Ahn M, Ahn S, Kwon M, Jun SC. EEG datasets for motor imagery brain-computer interface. *GigaScience*, 6(7), 2017.

### Investigating inter-participant performance variability in mental imagery EEG-BCIs: Descriptive methods to analyze inter- and intra-trial signal variation

Nicolas Ivanov<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Tom Chau<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Biomedical Engineering, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada; \*150 Kilgour Rd, Toronto, ON, Canada, M4G 1R8. E-mail: nicolas.ivanov@mail.utoronto.ca

*Introduction:* Vast literature has reported high inter- and intra-individual variation in electroencephalography (EEG) signals [1]. However, few methods exist to assess and describe EEG signal variability. Here, we present methods to assess EEG variability for mental imagery BCIs. The methods yield insight into different aspects of signal variation, specifically (i) inter-individual, (ii) inter-task, (iii) inter-

trial, and (iv) intra-trial variation. These methods are part of broader work developing descriptive user-performance assessments to improve user training and personalization of BCI design.

Material, Methods and Results: A novel representation of the time evolution of EEG signals was developed. Task trials were segmented into shorter 2 second temporal windows and represented in a feature space derived from unsupervised K-means clustering of trial covariance matrices [2]. Using this representation, temporal signal trajectories through the feature space were constructed as shown in Fig. 1A. Two metrics were defined to assess user performance based on these trajectories: (1) InterTaskDiff, based on time-varying distances between the mean trajectories of different tasks, and (2) InterTrialVar, which measured the inter-trial variation along the different feature dimensions of the observed temporal trajectories. Analysis of three-class BCI data from 14 adolescents revealed both metrics correlated significantly with classification results (Fig. 1B). Further analysis of intra-trial trajectories suggested the existence characteristic taskand user-specific temporal dynamics.



Figure 1: (A) Example of intra-trial temporal trajectories for a single user. Rows and columns represent different feature space dimensions and tasks, respectively. Horizontal axes represent temporal segment windows and vertical axes represent positions along feature space dimensions. Bold lines indicate the mean trajectories; points connected by thin lines are individual trial observations. (B) Classifier-based discernibility metric (RWCA: run-wise classification accuracy [3]) vs. InterTaskDiff (left) and InterTrialVar (right). Dashed lines indicate lines of best fit; r values are pearson correlation coefficients.

*Conclusion:* Our analysis demonstrated significant associations between the proposed metrics and the machine discernibility of EEG-BCI data. Moreover, the methods provide opportunity for more nuanced descriptions of intra- and inter-trial EEG data variation for mental imagery BCIs. Further work will investigate whether participant-specific characteristics revealed by this analysis could be used to improve user training feedback or select user-optimal classification algorithms and hyperparameters.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work has been supported by NSERC CGS-D, Ontario Graduate, and a Kimel Family Pediatric Rehabilitation Scholarships.

- [1] Saha S, Baumert M. Intra- and inter-subject variability in EEG-based sensorimotor brain-computer interface: A review. *Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience*, 13, 2020.
- [2] Ivanov N, Lio A, Chau T. Towards user-centric BCI design: Markov chain-based user assessment for mental imagery EEG-BCIs. Journal of Neural Engineering, 20(6), 2023.
- [3] Lotte F. Jeunet C. Defining and quantifying users' mental imagery-based BCI skills: a first step. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 15(4), 2016.

### Autonomic Activation, Mental Effort, and Fatigue While Using Non-Implantable RSVP and Matrix cBCIs

D. Klee<sup>1</sup>\*, T. Memmott<sup>1</sup>, B. Oken<sup>1</sup> on behalf of the Consortium for Accessible Multimodal Brain-

Body Interfaces (CAMBI)

<sup>1</sup>Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, USA

\*3181 SW Sam Jackson Park Rd, Mail Code CR-120, Portland, OR, U.S.A. E-mail: klee@ohsu.edu

*Introduction:* Non-implantable communication BCI (cBCI) systems may offer substantial benefits to individuals with communication impairments. However, prior research has suggested that sustained use of these systems may be impeded by factors such as fatigue, sleepiness, and boredom [1]. Relatedly, there is little extant data to directly compare differences in mental effort or autonomic activation between two common P300-based cBCI paradigms: Rapid Serial Visual Presentation (RSVP) and Matrix. The present study compared measurements of autonomic activation during both RSVP and Matrix tasks, as well as self-reported mental effort, fatigue, sleepiness, and boredom. We predicted elevated autonomic and self-report levels during RSVP as compared to Matrix, and also increases in these measures over time.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Twenty-four healthy adult participants (age range 22-49 years) provided physiologic and self-report data during a single experimental visit to OHSU. Participants completed P300-based RSVP and single-character Matrix spelling tasks in BciPy [2], both of which were delivered in random counterbalanced order across individual sessions. Each paradigm included calibration (50 inquiries with 1 target and 9 non-target letters, with an additional 5 inquiries with 10 non-targets), resulting classifier calculation, and three copy-spelling sessions to complete 5-letter words. EEG was recorded with a dry-sensor DSI VR-300 (Wearable Sensing); autonomic measures were collected with a VitalStream CT5 (Caretaker Medical) and included systolic and diastolic blood pressure, mean arterial pressure, heart rate (HR), and respiration rate. Self-reported state sleepiness [3], mental fatigue [4], and boredom [5] were collected before/after each calibration and copy-spelling phase. Mental effort was measured using a single item from the Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory, "It took a lot of effort to concentrate on things." The entire visit with a total of two calibrations and six copy spelling tasks lasted approximately 105 minutes.

Calibration AUC estimates during RSVP (M=0.85; SD=0.10) were slightly lower on average than Matrix (M=0.88; SD=0.10), though this difference was not significant (p=0.08). The number of target letters correctly copied during copy-spelling was significantly higher in Matrix (M=13.54; SD=3.14) than in RSVP (M=12.08; SD=3.90; p=0.012). Results indicated a main effect of time on all self-report measures, such that all self-reported fatigue and effort measures increased significantly over the course of the visit (all p values < 0.001). The changes in self-report measures from the beginning to the end of RSVP and Matrix were not different. There were significantly greater increases in all self-report levels from the beginning to the end of calibration, as compared to the beginning to the end of copy-spelling (all p values  $\leq$  0.006).

With regard to the autonomic measures, we observed a main effect of paradigm (RSVP vs. Matrix) for mean HR (p=0.005), which increased during RSVP (M=72.15; SD=9.42) as compared to Matrix (M=70.60; SD=8.51). There was a main effect of task phase as well, such that all autonomic measures were higher during calibration relative to copy-spelling (all p values  $\leq 0.035$ ).

*Conclusion:* Participants demonstrated significant increases in self-reported mental effort, fatigue, sleepiness, and boredom across completion of two cBCI paradigms and following calibration relative to copy-spelling. Autonomic measures increased during calibration relative to copy-spelling, suggesting calibration is more effortful and fatiguing than copy phrase. Elevated HR during RSVP likewise suggests increased effort.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors report no conflicts of interest. This work was supported in part by NIH National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (R01DC009834). We thank Andy Fish for additional administrative support.

- [1] Oken B, Memmott T, Eddy B, Wiedrick J, Fried-Oken M. Vigilance state fluctuations and performance using braincomputer interface for communication. *Brain-Computer Interfaces*, 5(4), 146-156, 2018.
- [2] Memmott T, Koçanaoğulları A, Lawhead M, Klee D, Dudy S, Fried-Oken M, Oken B. BciPy: brain-computer interface software in Python. *Brain Computer Interfaces*, *8*(4), 137-153, 2021.
- [3] Kaida K, Takahashi M, Åkerstedt T, Nakata A, Otsuka Y, Haratani T, Fukasawa K. Validation of the Karolinska sleepiness scale against performance and EEG variables. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *117*(7), 1574-1581, 2006.
- [4] Smets EMA, Garssen B, Bonke B, De Haes JCJM. The multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI) psychometric qualities of an instrument to assess fatigue. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 39(3), 315-325, 1995.
- [5] Fahlman SA, Mercer-Lynn KB, Flora DB, Eastwood JD. Development and validation of the Multidimensional State Boredom Scale. Assessment, 20(1), 68-85, 2013.

# Comparative Evaluation of Compact and Research-Grade EEG in BCI: P300-Based Visual/Auditory Oddball Tasks

Suyeon Yun<sup>1,2</sup>, Sunghan Lee<sup>2</sup>, In cheol Jeong<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Artificial Intelligence Convergence, Hallym University, Chuncheon, Republic of Korea; <sup>2</sup>Cerebrovascular Disease Research Center, Hallym University, Chuncheon, Republic of Korea; <sup>3</sup>Department of Population Health Science and Policy, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA. <sup>\*</sup>Hallymdaehak-gil, Chuncheon, Republic of Korea. E-mail: incheol.jeong@hallym.ac.kr

*Introduction:* One of the main challenges in the practical adoption of brain-computer interfaces (BCI) is the cumbersome nature of traditional electroencephalography (EEG) systems, requiring extensive setup and wet electrodes. Recently, compact and cost-effective portable EEG devices with dry electrodes have emerged as promising solutions to address these barriers. Devices such as Muse have shown potential in BCI applications, with studies demonstrating their ability to detect ERP components like N200 and P300 [1]. However, systematic evaluations of the signal quality and feature consistency between portable and research-grade EEG systems remain limited [2, 3]. This gap raises critical questions about the reliability of portable devices in extracting and reproducing features comparable to those of high-fidelity systems.

Material, Methods and Results: This study employed LiveAmp system (32 chs, wet type) and Muse (4 ch, dry type). Data were collected from 6 healthy adults (mean age:  $24 \pm 2.1$  years) during P300-based visual and auditory oddball tasks. EEG signals were preprocessed with band-pass filtering (1–40 Hz), segmentation, and artifact removal. P300 response time and peak amplitude were compared for each condition. Additionally, BCI performance was assessed using classification accuracy. LiveAmp signals displayed lower amplitude, faster P300 response times, and cleaner waveforms, while Muse exhibited higher noise levels (Fig. 1). LiveAmp achieved higher averaged accuracy in both visual (0.8554) and auditory (0.8210) tasks compared to Muse (0.6848 and 0.5790, respectively), with differences more pronounced in auditory conditions.



Fig. 1. Example ERP waveform comparison of target signals between LiveAmp and Muse in auditory oddball task (S04).

*Conclusion:* Muse offers a user-friendly and cost-effective option for basic P300-based BCI tasks but demonstrates lower accuracy, reduced signal amplitude, and delayed response time compared to LiveAmp. While promising for portable applications, improvements in dry-electrode technology are necessary for precision-demanding tasks.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) grant funded by the Korea government(MSIT) (No. 2022R1A5A8019303). The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

- Krigolson, O. E., et al. "Choosing muse: Validation of a low-cost, portable EEG system for ERP research." Frontiers in Neuroscience, 11 (2017): 109. DOI: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00109.
- [2] Frey, J. "Comparison of consumer-grade EEG systems for BCI applications." arXiv preprint arXiv:1606.02438 (2016). DOI: arXiv:1606.02438.
- [3] Malmivuo J, Plonsey R. Bioelectromagnetism: Principles and Application of Bioelectric and Biomagnetic Fields. Oxford University Press, New York, 1995.Kam, J. W. Y., et al. "Systematic comparison between a wireless EEG system with dry electrodes and a wired EEG system with wet electrodes." NeuroImage, 184 (2019): 119-129. DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.09.012

# Daily independent conversational speech decoding from the intracortical neural activity of a man with ALS

N. S. Card<sup>1\*</sup>, H. Peracha<sup>1</sup>, T. Singer-Clark<sup>1</sup>, C. Iacobacci<sup>1</sup>, M. Wairagkar<sup>1</sup>, X. Hou<sup>1</sup>,

L. R. Hochberg<sup>2,3,4</sup>, D. M. Brandman<sup>1+</sup>, S. D. Stavisky<sup>1+</sup>

<sup>+</sup>Co-senior authors

<sup>1</sup>U.C. Davis Dept. of Neurological Surgery; <sup>2</sup>Sch. of Engin. and Carney Inst. for Brain Sci., Brown Univ., Providence, RI; <sup>3</sup>VA RR&D Ctr. for Neurorestoration and Neurotechnology, Providence VA Med. Ctr., Providence, RI; <sup>4</sup>Dept. of Neurol., Massachusetts Gen. Hosp., Boston, MA \*202 Cousteau Pl Suite 160, Davis, CA, USA. E-mail: nscard@ucdavis.edu

*Introduction:* Communication is a priority for the millions of people living with dysarthria due to brain injuries or neurological disorders such as stroke and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). BCIs can enable rapid, intuitive communication for people with paralysis by transforming the cortical activity associated with attempted speech into text. Recent advancements in speech BCIs have demonstrated that attempted speech can be accurately decoded during prompted speech tasks [1, 2, 3]. However, work remains to achieve accurate speech decoding in a conversational setting that enables the user to communicate their own thoughts and needs with those around them. Here, we report a speech BCI that was accurate enough to enable the user to have extensive conversations with family, friends, and colleagues independently and on a daily basis.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* A 45-year-old man ('T15') with ALS and severe dysarthria was enrolled into the BrainGate2 clinical trial. Four microelectrode arrays were placed in his left precentral gyrus to record neural activity from 256 intracortical electrodes. We trained a recurrent neural network to decode sequences of phonemes (i.e., the building blocks of words) from T15's neural signals as he attempted to speak. The recurrent neural network was continuously finetuned with new data to enable stable decoding over weeks of use. Predicted phoneme sequences were assembled into the most likely words being spoken by a language model with a potential output vocabulary size of 125,000 words and displayed on a screen in real time. At the end of a sentence, the decoded words could be played aloud using a text-to-speech tool that was programmed to sound like T15's pre-ALS voice, or entered as text on his personal computer. We developed a "conversation mode" user interface that detects when T15 attempts to speak, decodes accordingly, and allows him to make simple corrections to decoded sentences. T15's care partners were trained to connect T15 to the neural recording system whenever he wanted to use it, and the BCI computer system was streamlined so it could be turned on with just a few button presses.

Throughout 550 days since T15's implant surgery, he has independently used the speech BCI as his primary form of communication on more than 300 individual days. He has used the BCI system for >2,500 hours to utter >150,000 sentences (>1,400,000 words) at an average rate of 64.6 words per minute. At the end of each sentence he uses an eye tracker to rate the correctness of the decoded sentence, yielding a distribution of 65.8% of all sentences being "completely correct", 26.1% being "mostly correct", and the remainder being "incorrect". In recent months, sentence-level accuracy has increased to up to 85% of sentences being "completely correct". Furthermore, we have conducted periodic decoding accuracy benchmarks where T15 attempts to say prompted sentences, resulting in an average word error rate of 2.5% maintained throughout 550 days post-implant.

*Conclusion:* We demonstrate a speech BCI that has enabled a severely dysarthric man with ALS to engage in conversations with his friends, family, and colleagues. The BCI now serves as his preferred method of communication.

*Disclosures:* <u>M. Wairagkar</u>: Inventor on IP owned by UC Davis; <u>L.R. Hochberg</u>: Consultant to Neuralink, Synchron, Axoft, Precision Neuro, Reach Neuro; <u>D.M. Brandman</u>: Inventor on IP owned by UC Davis; surgical consultant to Paradromics; <u>S.D. Stavisky</u>: Inventor on IP owned by Stanford University (licensed to Blackrock Neurotech and Neuralink) and UC Davis; advisor to Sonera.

References:

[2] Willett, FR et al. A high-performance speech neuroprosthesis. Nature 620, 1031-1036 (2023).

<sup>[1]</sup> Card, NS et al. An accurate and rapidly calibrating speech neuroprosthesis. New Engl. J. Med. 391, 609-618 (2024).

<sup>[3]</sup> Metzger, SL et al. A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control. Nature 620, 1037–1046 (2023).

### A Pilot Study for SSVEP-based Person Recognition

Yu-Lin Chu, Yu Te Wang

Academic Sinica, Taipei, Taiwan E-mail: yutewang@citi.sinica.edu.tw

*Introduction:* Steady-state visual evoked potential (SSVEP) is widely used in brain-computer interfaces (BCI) due to its high signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). Although many studies focus on optimizing decoding algorithms to maximize the information transfer rate (ITR) in target classification tasks [1], there is still no universal decoding model due to inter-subject differences. In other words, using individual decoding models as classifiers for person recognition seems to be a feasible research direction. In this proof-of-concept study, we use state-of-the-art decoding algorithms to evaluate the false positive positives (the model mistakenly recognizes others as me) and the false negatives rate (model mistakenly identifies me as someone else) on a public dataset. The preliminary result highlight the potential of utilizing personalized decoding models for person recognition, taking a step toward in addressing the challenges of biometric recognition based on brain activity.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Thirty-five healthy participants volunteered for a 40-stimuli SSVEP study [1]. EEG data were recorded from 8 channels around the Oz region, with a 50 Hz notch filter and a 1-50 Hz band-pass filter applied for data preprocessing. Only the 0.5 to 4.5 second segment of the EEG data was retained for further analysis. Task-Related Component Analysis [2] and Canonical Correlation Analysis were combined (referred to as TRCCA) into a unified data processing pipeline to extract features in both the spatial and temporal domains. Specifically, TRCCA computes a weight matrix to extract the most relevant features from the multichannel EEG data, compares the feature templates with the testing features using the same weight matrix, and generates a correlation score for classification. The data processing pipeline is illustrated in Fig. 1a. Fig. 1b presents the decoding accuracy of the proposed model. The mean accuracy achieved 96.59%, with a mean false positive rate of 3.1% and a mean false negative rate of 11.6% among the 35 participants.

*Conclusion:* SSVEP is widely recognized for its high SNR and relatively short training time. However, numerous studies indicate that there is no universal decoding model for the general population. This proof-of-concept study proposes that an individualized SSVEP decoding model could serve as a classifier for person recognition. Our results (FPR of 3.1% and FNR of 11.6%) are close to a fingerprint-based recognition system, which typically exhibits an FPR ranging from 0.1% to 3% and an FNR between 1% and 10%, depending on image quality [4]. Future work will focus on optimizing the decoding pipeline to achieve the performance comparable to other biometric-based mechanisms.



(a) Block diagrams of training process (top) and testing process (bottom).

(b) False positive rate and false negative rate among 35 participants. Each dot represents one participant.

Figure 1: The proposed data pipeline and the decoding accuracy of person recognition using a public dataset [1].

#### References:

- Y. Wang, X. Chen, X. Gao, and S. Gao. A benchmark dataset for SSVEP-based brain-computer interfaces. In *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 25, no. 10, pp. 1746–1752, 2017.
- [2] H. Tanaka, T. Katura, and H. Sato. Task-related component analysis for functional neuroimaging and application to near-infrared spectroscopy data. In *NeuroImage*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 308–327, 2013.
- [3] Nakanishi, M., et al. Task-related component analysis for brain-computer interface applications. In *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical* Engineering, 2017
- [4] Temirlan Meiramkhanov and Arailym Tleubayeva. Enhancing Fingerprint Recognition Systems: Comparative Analysis of Biometric Authentication Algorithms and Techniques for Improved Accuracy and Reliability in arXiv, 2024

Acknowledgments: This work was supported by the Academia Sinica under grant AS-HLGC-113-04.

### **Improving P300 BCI Performance with OSCAR**

J. Grünwald<sup>1\*</sup>, S. Sieghartsleitner<sup>1,2</sup>, C. Guger<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>g.tec medical engineering GmbH, Schiedlberg, Austria; <sup>2</sup>Johannes Kepler University Linz, Linz, Austria \*Sierningstraße 14, 4521 Schiedlberg, Austria. E-mail: gruenwald@gtec.at

*Introduction:* Real-time artifact removal is essential for reliable EEG-based brain-computer interfaces (BCIs), as artifacts from eye blinks, muscle activity, and environmental noise degrade system performance [1]. Numerous algorithms have been developed to mitigate EEG artifacts, each with its own advantages and limitations [2]. We present an evaluation of the Online Signal Conditioning and Artifact Removal (OSCAR) module on P300 BCI performance. In particular, we assessed OSCAR LIVE, which is the real-time implementation with  $\approx$ 250 ms delay and part of g.HIsys high-speed online processing for Simulink (g.tec medical engineering GmbH, Austria).

*Material, Methods and Results:* Dataset 1 (DS1) comprises 10 clean recordings from five subjects in auditory and visual oddball paradigms, which we randomly contaminated with template artifacts to produce 300 pseudo-recordings. Dataset 2 (DS2) consists of 120 recordings with real artifacts, obtained from five subjects and the same paradigms.

We processed all recordings using a standard P300 classification pipeline: bandpass filtering (0.5–10 Hz), epoching (-0.1 to 0.7 s, relative to stimulus onset), decimation, and 500 repetitions of a randomized hold-out validation (20 training trials, 4 test trial averages) with a linear discriminant analysis (LDA) classifier. The pipeline was applied to raw EEG and OSCAR LIVE-preprocessed EEG.

Figure 1 shows that OSCAR LIVE improved BCI accuracy in most recordings. Using a  $\pm 5\%$  margin to define "similar performance," OSCAR LIVE improved 76.7% of recordings and worsened 6.0% in DS1. In DS2, improvement was observed in 39.4%, with deterioration in 12.5%. Overall, OSCAR LIVE achieved similar or better performance in 94.0% of DS1 and 87.5% of DS2 recordings. Grand average performance improvement was +17.0% (DS1) and +7.1% (DS2).



Figure 1: Scatter plots showing P300 BCI accuracy with OSCAR versus original BCI accuracy for DS1 (left) and DS2 (right). Each dot represents the result of one recording. The red, blue, and green areas relate to worse, similar, and better performance, respectively.

*Conclusion:* Our findings demonstrate that OSCAR LIVE effectively enhances P300 BCI performance for artifact-contaminated EEG recordings.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: J.G. and S.S. are employees and C.G. is the CEO of g.tec medical engineering GmbH, which may pose a conflict of interest.

#### References:

- [1] M. Fatourechi, A. Bashashati, R. K. Ward, and G. E. Birch, 'EMG and EOG artifacts in brain computer interface systems: A survey', *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, vol. 118, no. 3, pp. 480–494, Mar. 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2006.10.019.
- [2] M. K. Islam, A. Rastegarnia, and Z. Yang, 'Methods for artifact detection and removal from scalp EEG: A review', *Neurophysiol. Clin. Clin. Neurophysiol.*, vol. 46, no. 4–5, pp. 287–305, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.neucli.2016.07.002.

CC BY 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en This CC license does not apply to third party material and content noted otherwise

#### Towards a decision-making BCI for dynamic detection of uninformed decisions

Sophia Gimple<sup>1\*</sup>, Maxime Verwoert<sup>1</sup>, Laura Marras<sup>3</sup>, Paul Weger<sup>1</sup>, Yasin Temel<sup>1</sup>, Marcus L.F. Janssen<sup>1,2</sup> and Christian Herff<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Mental Health and Neuroscience Research Institute, Maastricht University, Maastricht, The Netherlands; <sup>2</sup>Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, Mental Health and Neuroscience Research Institute, Maastricht University, Maastricht; <sup>3</sup>MoMiLab Research Unit, MoMiLab IMT School for Advanced Studies Lucca, Italy

\*E-mail: Sophia.gimple@maastrichtuniversity.nl

*Introduction*: Making fast and accurate decisions utilizing the available information is essential for animal survival and human success. However, especially in the time of enhanced communication and information systems, additional information seeking behavior can enhance decision making quality in a time-efficient way. Previous studies have identified a decision variable signal decodable from animal single cell recordings and human electroencephalographic recordings that reflects a variety of decision parameters and cognitive processes. Passive BCIs are proposed to decode these decision parameters in real time. A BCI automatically differentiating between more or less informed decisions could assist a user by detecting uninformed decision-making and recommending the initiation of additional information search. This could be especially relevant in situations where important decisions need to be made under factors that have been reported to affect decision quality such as time pressure or stress. Additionally, patients suffering from disorders associated with decision making impairments could benefit from such an application.

*Methods*: Cortical and subcortical electrophysiological signals are acquired using stereoelectroencephalography (sEEG) implanted in 6 epilepsy patients for localization of the epileptogenic zone. The participants perform a computerized decision-making task where they are asked to decide which group each stimulus belongs to. While this decision is random in the first iteration, the participants are expected to learn from their previous decisions and to make an informed decision in the second and third iteration of seeing the same stimulus.



Figure 1. (A)Task setup: 60 different stimuli are presented 3 times in random order (first, second and third presentation). For each stimulus participants are prompted to respond with a button press. Feedback is provided using a colored screen and an audio signal. (B) Electrode locations of the 6 participants included in this study are depicted in the left hemisphere, right hemisphere and in a top-down view in both hemispheres.

*Results and Discussion*: From the electrophysiological signal we extract time-domain and oscillatory features during different time-intervals time-locked to stimulus presentation and response. We evaluate these features for their predictability for differentiating between random and informed decision-making using machine learning. We show the general feasibility of a passive BCI for detecting random versus informed decision-making above chance level.

*Significance*: This work contributes to gaining insights into the neural dynamics of decision-making and the differences between informed and uninformed decision-making. Additionally, it highlights relevant time-windows, electrode locations and neurophysiological features for decoding in invasive and non-invasive BCIs that aim to improve decision-making quality.

### Investigation on the material-tissue-interface of flexible epicortical electrode arrays in a ferret animal model

I.G. Vasilaş<sup>1</sup>, J. Schulte<sup>1</sup>, P. Čvančara<sup>1</sup>, F. Pieper<sup>2</sup>, A.K. Engel<sup>2</sup>, T. Stieglitz<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory for Biomed. Microtechnol., IMTEK & BrainLinks-BrainTools Center, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany; <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Neurophysiology and Pathophysiology & Hamburg Center of Neuroscience, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

 $*IMBIT//Neuroprobes, Georges-Koehler-Allee\ 201,\ 79110\ Freiburg,\ Germany.\ E-mail:\ thomas.stieglitz@imtek.uni-freiburg.de$ 

*Introduction:* Engineering and material sciences have driven developments of miniaturized neural probes as tools to decipher function of the brain in neuroscientific investigations. Translation of implantable brain-computer-interfaces into clinical applications, however, is quite slow [1]. Development of active implantable devices has to comply with medical device regulations to meet safety standards. Amongst the most important topics should always be the investigation of the stability of implants for a predetermined time and their effect on the brain tissue. This work is about such a study.

*Material, Methods and Results:*  $\mu$ ECoG arrays have been developed of polyimide with thin-film metal (platinum, iridium oxide) as electrode and interconnect material for chronic neuroscientific investigations in ferrets (Mustela putorius) [2] obtaining LFP and spike-like activity. Studies have been conducted up to one year with high quality of the recordings over the whole time. After termination of the experiments, methods for probe and brain dissection were developed (Fig.1). Initially,  $\mu$ ECoGs and brain tissue were jointly investigated before being separated for detailed characterization. Even though probe thickness of 10  $\mu$ m should not lead to any mechanical interaction with the brain [3], cortical depression was still observed. Electrodes showed signs of stress cracking, embrittlement and progressive adhesion loss [4].

*Conclusion:* Flexible µECoG allow stable recordings over months. Despite excellent functionality, deterioration of thin-films and tissue alterations around the array indicate limits in longevity and knowledge of the comprehensive processes in foreign body reactions for translation of implantable brain-computer-interfaces for life-long human applications.

Acknowledgments: Part of this work has been conducted within BrainLinks-BrainTools, which is funded by the Federal Ministry of Economics, Science and Arts of Baden Württemberg within the sustainability program for projects of the excellence initiative.



Figure 1: Investigation of ECoG arrays after chronic implantation in ferrets. Fixed brains with probes were dissected, separated and evaluated with respect to morphological changes of the brain and material alterations and adhesion loss of the ECoG array.

- Schalk G., Brunner P, Allison BA, Soekadar SR, Guan C, Denison T, Rickert J, Miller KJ. Translation of Neurotechnologies. Nat Rev Bioeng 2, 637–652, 2024
- [2] Stitt I, Hollensteiner KJ, Galindo-Leon E, Pieper F, Fiedler E, Stieglitz T, et al. Dynamic reconfiguration of cortical functional connectivity across brain states. Sci Rep.;7: 8797, 2017.
- [3] Vomero M, Porto Cruz MF, Zucchini E, Ciarpella F, Delfino E, Carli S, Boehler C, Asplund M, Ricci D, Fadiga L, Stieglitz T. Conformable polyimide-based µECoGs: Bringing the electrodes closer to the signal source. *Biomaterials*. 255: 120178, 2020.
- [4] Schulte J, Hofert MM, Vasilaş IG, Stieglitz T. Biological Impact on the Stability and Reliability of Acute and Chronic Platinum based Thin Film Neural Interfaces in Vivo. in Proceedings of the 44th Annual International Conference of the IEEE/EMBS, 4139-4142, 2022.

### EEG-Based Brain-Computer Interface for a Tetraplegic Individual Using Motor Imagery for Cybathlon 2024

I.W. Tscherniak<sup>1,3\*</sup>, I. Curcean<sup>1,3\*</sup>, L. Jokinen<sup>2,3\*</sup>, S. Hodzic<sup>2,3</sup>, T.E. Huber<sup>1,3</sup>, D. Pavlov<sup>1,3</sup>, M. Methasani<sup>1,3</sup>, A. McWhinnie-Fernández<sup>1,3</sup>, T. Le<sup>1,3</sup>, N.C. Thiemann<sup>1,3</sup>, F. Pallotti<sup>1,3</sup>, L.M. Castro<sup>1,3</sup>, E.A. Fazzi<sup>1,3</sup>, L. Frim<sup>1,3</sup>, D.L.T. Espinoza<sup>1,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany; <sup>2</sup>Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Munich, Germany; <sup>3</sup>neuroTUM e.V., Munich, Germany \*Boltzmannstr. 11, 85748 Garching, Deutschland. E-mail: team@neurotum.com

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) have shown significant promise over the past decades but often fail to meet the requirements for robustness, portability, and usability in real-world scenarios [1]. Motivated by the Cybathlon 2024 competition, we worked towards addressing these challenges by developing a modular, online EEG-based BCI system to increase accessibility for individuals with severe mobility impairments, such as tetraplegia.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* Our system uses three mental and motor imagery (MI) tasks for up to five control signals. The data is collected using a 24-channel mobile EEG with a custom electrode layout. The pipeline consists of four modules: data acquisition, preprocessing, classification, and the transfer function to map classification output to control dimensions. These modules run in parallel to optimize the online delay. The preprocessing includes FIR bandpass filtering between 4 and 40 Hz, artifact removal (ASR and auto-rejection), and epoching with a sliding time window of 1.5 seconds. The feature extraction was done with Morlet and Common Spatial Pattern. As our deep learning classifier we use three S4D-layers [2] trained on augmented offline data achieving an accuracy of up to 82% for three classes.

We developed a data collection tool in the form of a T-Rex Dinosaur game, where the mental tasks control the game during quick-time events. This resulted in a better user experience, improving the collected data quality and quantity. We also implemented a mobile feedback application that can be used by any device with an internet connection. The components were designed with a human-centered approach in collaboration with the tetraplegic user to ensure optimal usability.

Our pilot completed one task during the Cybathlon competition but faced performance challenges under high-stress conditions in the arena, reducing accuracy. These observations suggest that stress negatively impacts MI performance, affecting BCI reliability. Despite these setbacks, our low budget set up (ca. 3000  $\in$  all costs included) and the pipeline demonstrated feasibility for real-world applications and laid the groundwork for further optimization.

*Conclusion:* We provide insights into developing a framework for portable BCIs, bridging the gap between the laboratory and daily life. Specifically, our framework integrates modular design, real-time data processing, user-centered feedback, and low-cost hardware to deliver an accessible and adaptable BCI solution, addressing critical gaps in current BCI applications. Future work will focus on increasing the robustness of our system by for example quantifying the effects of stress on MI and BCI performance, and improving system adaptability with increased data reusability through meta-learning.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank all members of the BCI Team who made this work possible (<u>https://www.neurotum.com/cybathlon-credit</u>). This work is supported by Freunde der TUM e.V., TUM Venture Labs, Initiative for Industrial Innovators, mBrainTrain, Institute of Cognitive Systems, and the Associate Professorship of Neuroelectronics.

- [1] Mridha MF, Das SC, Kabir MM, Lima AA, Islam MR, Watanobe Y. Brain-Computer Interface: Advancement and Challenges. Sensors (Basel). vol. 21, no. 17:5746, 2021.
- [2] Gu A, Gupta A, Goel K, Ré C. On the Parameterization and Initialization of Diagonal State Space Models. In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, pp. 35971-35983, 2022.

# A P300 Brain-Computer Interface as a Diagnostic Tool for Measuring the Efficacy of Psychotherapeutic Intervention

S. Kleih-Dahms<sup>1</sup>\*, A. Kübler<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Julius-Maximilians-University of Würzburg, Intervention Psychology, Würzburg, Germany \*Marcusstraße 9-11, 97070 Würzburg, Germany. E-mail: <u>sonja.kleih@uni-wuerzburg.de</u>

Introduction: Systemic therapy is a psychotherapeutic treatment that focuses on the patient's social and family relationships. It uses the Family Constellation Method (FCM), in which patients externalize a representation of their experienced family constellation by arranging people representing family members in a room. Non-verbal aspects, including distance between people, direction of gaze, and facial expression, are interpreted to facilitate the patient's insight into their family constellation. This process can lead to new insights or the revival of emotions from past experiences and is expected to have a positive impact on the patient's social interactions and well-being in the present. For example, if a person discovers through FCM that there was an unspoken rule in his or her family of origin to avoid conflict and maintain harmony, that person may be able to reconsider the pattern of avoiding conflict in current relationships. The efficacy of the FCM has been demonstrated [1], however, mainly questionnaires and subjective reports were used to evaluate therapeutic success. We argue that the efficacy of the FCM should have a neural correlate that might be measurable using a P300-based brain computer interface (BCI). According to Johnson's Triarchic Model, the P300 amplitude is influenced by the meaning of a stimulus [2]. We hypothesized that the P300 amplitude would increase for spelling words representing improved social interactions after undergoing the FCM as due to an increased meaning to the participant. We predicted that this P300 increase would exceed the P300 increase observed for control words.

Material, Methods and Results: For this pilot study we recruited 3 female participants, 31 (A), 34 (B), and 39 (C) years old from the Würzburg Systemic Institute and all of them participated in a family constellation seminar as part of their training to become counsellors. We assessed their subjective experience in social systems using the EXIS pers questionnaire [3] which comprises 12 items assessing the subscales Belonging, Autonomy, Accord, and Confidence before and after undergoing the FCM. Higher values in the subscales represent more satisfying social experiences. For the BCI spelling task, we chose 12 words, two representing one category (e.g. autonomous and self-determined for Autonomy) and four control words. Participants spelled these words before and after participation in the FCM. We measured Fz, FCz, C3, Cz, C4, CPz, P3, Pz, P4, PO7, Oz and PO8, used two electrodes at the outer canthi for horizontal EOG and two electrodes for the vertical EOG. We used a 16-channel g.Tec amplifier (g.Tec, Austria) with a sampling rate of 256 Hz, a high pass filter of 0.1 Hz, a low pass filter of 30 Hz, and a notch filter of 48–52 Hz. The spelling was controlled by the BCI 2000 Software [4]. In all three participants the questionnaire scores increased in some subscales, but the P300 amplitudes of the corresponding target words showed a decrease. In Participant B, the two subscales Accord and Autonomy did not change, but an increase in P300 amplitudes was found for the target words. For participant C, a decrease in the Confidence subscale resulted in increased P300 amplitudes for the corresponding target words. P300 amplitudes decreased for control words for participants A and B, but remained constant for participant C.

*Conclusion:* Contrary to our hypothesis, P300 amplitudes decreased with improved subjective experience of social systems. This result may indicate that higher satisfaction with a component of social interaction, such as autonomy, leads to subjectively lower meaning of corresponding target words, compared to our hypothesis of higher meaning. Before we can interpret these results further, they need to be confirmed in a larger sample.

*Acknowledgments:* We would like to thank the Würzburg Institute for Systemic Thinking and Acting (WISH, Würzburg, Germany) for their support in participant recruitment.

References:

[2] Johnson Jr R. A triarchic model of P300 amplitude. *Psychophysiology*. 1986;23(4).

[3] Hunger C, Bornhäuser A, Link L, Geigges J, Voss A, Weinhold J, Schweitzer J. The Experience in Personal Social Systems Questionnaire (EXIS. Pers): development and psychometric properties. Family Process. 2017;56(1):154-70.

[4] www.bci2000.org

Konkolÿ Thege B, Petroll C, Hunger-Schoppe C, Rivas C, Scholtens S. An updated systematic review on the effectiveness of family constellation therapy. *Psychotherapeut*. 2022;66:487-95.

### Detailed Somatotopy of Speech Articulators in the Somatosensory Cortex to Define Electrocortical Stimulation Location

A. Bekius<sup>1</sup>\*, M. Kromm<sup>1</sup>, M. Raemaekers<sup>1</sup>, E.J. Aarnoutse<sup>1</sup>, F.R. de Andrade<sup>1</sup>, S. Blok<sup>1</sup>, M.S.W. Verberne<sup>1</sup>, N.F. Ramsey<sup>1,2</sup>, M.J. Vansteensel<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University Medical Center Utrecht Brain Center, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands; <sup>2</sup>Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands \*P.O. Box 85060, 3508 AB Utrecht, The Netherlands. E-mail: a.bekius@umcutrecht.nl

*Introduction:* Communication through speech is an important aspect in our daily life. People with severe motor impairment, caused by neurological disorders such as brainstem stroke or amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, are unable to speak or communicate effectively. Brain computer interfaces (BCIs) may offer a solution to this problem by using voluntarily induced signal changes in the sensorimotor brain areas, produced by attempts to move a body part (e.g., hand or speech articulators), to control a communication device. Achieving reliable BCI control can be a difficult and time-consuming process, likely related to the absence of relevant somatosensory feedback on the movement attempts. Indeed, somatosensory feedback through electrocortical stimulation improved robotic arm control in a person with tetraplegia [1], which suggests that also communication BCIs may benefit from this strategy. To determine where to apply electrical stimulation to the somatosensory cortex for relevant feedback, it is necessary to understand the underlying brain processes of tactile perception. Previous research consistently found an ordered representation of the hand and fingers in the somatosensory cortex [2], but the somatotopic organization of the speech articulators in this brain region remains unclear. We aimed to investigate the detailed representation of the speech articulators in the somatosensory cortex and assess how this representation relates to the location of sensations induced by electrocortical stimulation.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We recorded 7 Tesla functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) data of ten healthy participants (mean age 26.8±6.7 years, 7 female) during pneumatic stimulation of the speech articulators (inner mouth, upper/lower lip, left/right cheek, chin, and neck) with an in-house developed air puff device. We mapped fMRI activity patterns per participant to a common surface space and calculated the mean activity map per articulator. In addition, we performed electrocortical stimulation on a high-density 32-channel electrocorticography (ECoG) grid implanted over the left ventral sensorimotor cortex of an individual with epilepsy (age 46 years, female). The epilepsy participant was asked to inform the researcher when she felt a sensation, and to indicate its location. The left hemisphere fMRI data revealed a ventral to dorsal arrangement of the speech articulators: the inner mouth (including tongue) covered a relatively large area of the somatosensory cortex, followed by the lips, and subsequently by overlapping areas of the chin and left and right cheek. The ECoG grid of the epilepsy participant only covered the inner mouth and lip regions of the fMRI activity maps. Stimulation of several electrodes in the ECoG grid induced sensation in the palate, teeth, jaw, tongue, right lower lip, and right cheek.

*Conclusion:* The speech articulators were found to be orderly represented in the somatosensory cortex, and results between fMRI and a preliminary electrocortical stimulation experiment seemed to align. These findings indicate that non-invasive methods, such as fMRI, may predict the optimal electrode locations for providing relevant somatosensory feedback and are therefore important for the correct placement of ECoG grids for communication BCIs. However, the results need to be confirmed with inclusion of more participants.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This project has received funding from Health Holland Top Sector Life Sciences and Health (PPP Allowance made available to the Dutch Brain Foundation; NOTION project, grant PPS-2021-02), and the Dutch Research Council (INTENSE, 17619).

- Flesher SN, Downey JE, Weiss JM, Hughes CL, Herrera AJ, Tyler-Kabara EC, Boninger ML, Collinger JL, Gaunt RA. A brain-computer interface that evokes tactile sensations improves robotic arm control. *Science*, 831-836, 2021.
- [2] Schellekens W, Thio M, Badde S, Winawer J, Ramsey N, Petridou N. A touch of hierarchy: population receptive fields reveal fingertip integration in Brodmann areas in human primary somatosensory cortex. *Brain Structure and Function*, 2099-2112, 2021.

### **Do Complex Vision Models Improve Feature Alignment** with fMRI for Neural Decoding of Visual Stimuli?

**M. Finocchiaro**<sup>1\*</sup>, S. Calcagno<sup>1</sup>, F. Proietto Salanitri<sup>1</sup>, L. Passarrello<sup>1</sup>, C. Spampinato<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>*PeRCeiVe Lab, University of Catania, Italy* 

\*E-mail: finocchiaro.marco@phd.unict.it



Figure 1: (A) Performance of ViT self-attention layers in aligning with fMRI data, highlighting the impact of layer depth on model identification accuracy. (B) A schematic comparison showing that more complex networks, such as ViT, are outperformed by simpler CNN architectures.

*Introduction:* Recent advancements in computer vision, particularly with Vision Transformers (ViTs) and foundation models, have led to significant improvements across various tasks by utilizing selfattention mechanisms to capture intricate patterns and global relationships in visual data. This study explores whether these advanced models, compared to traditional convolutional neural networks (CNNs), offer better alignment with neural data, particularly fMRI responses. We specifically investigate the impact of model complexity on interpreting brain activity by evaluating the alignment between fMRI data and features from several neural network architectures, including ViT, ResNet18, DenseNet [1, 2, 4], and simpler models like VGG11, and AlexNet [5, 7].

*Materials, Methods, and Results:* We used the fMRI dataset in [3], which links visual stimuli from ImageNet categories to corresponding fMRI data. The training set consisted of 1200 samples from 150 image classes (8 images per class), while the test set included 1750 recordings from 50 image classes, each observed 35 times. Preprocessed data through motion correction, voxel normalization, and ROI selection, was used for training AlexNet, VGG11, ResNet18, DenseNet, and ViT.

Performance in terms of identification accuracy [3] across features extracted from different layers, shows that simpler models, like VGG11 and AlexNet, outperform more complex architectures such as ResNet, DenseNet, and ViT. Notably, ViT exhibited the lowest performance, highlighting its reduced compatibility with fMRI signals.

With ViT models increasingly explored for decoding brain activity due to their representational power [6], we also investigated their alignment with fMRI data across all layers. As shown in Fig.1a, ViT exhibits a distinct trend compared to CNNs, where performance typically improves in early layers, peaks at intermediate layers, and declines in deeper layers[3]. In ViT, alignment gradually improves from early to deeper layers, with a performance drop in the final layer. This discrepancy may arise from fundamental differences in processing: CNNs hierarchically encode perceptual features in early layers and abstract semantics in deeper ones, while ViTs use self-attention to refine token relationships, emphasizing global context and abstraction throughout the network, especially in the last layer. Thus, the lower performance by ViT likely suggests that its highly abstract and complex representations are less compatible with the predominantly low- and mid-level features captured by fMRI signals.

*Conclusion:* This work indicates that higher architectural complexity does not always translate to improved compatibility with biological signals, underscoring the importance of considering model complexity and representation characteristics when applying machine learning to decode brain activity.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: M. Finocchiaro is a PhD student enrolled in the National PhD in Artificial Intelligence - "Health and Life Sciences", Università Campus Bio-Medico di Roma.

- [1] A. Dosovitskiy. "An image is worth 16x16 words: Transformers for image recognition at scale". arXiv preprint (2020).
- [2] K. He et al. "Deep residual learning for image recognition". CVPR. 2016.
- [3] T. Horikawa and Y. Kamitani. "Generic decoding of seen and imagined objects using hierarchical visual features". Nat. Comm. (2017).
- [4] G. Huang et al. "Densely connected convolutional networks". CVPR. 2017.
- [5] A. Krizhevsky, I. Sutskever, and G. E. Hinton. "Imagenet classification with deep convolutional neural networks". *NeurIPS* (2012).
- [6] Ken Shirakawa et al. "Spurious reconstruction from brain activity: The thin line between reconstruction, classification, and hallucination". *Journal of Vision* 24.10 (2024), p. 321. DOI: 10.1167/jov.24.10.321.
- [7] K. Simonyan. "Very deep convolutional networks for large-scale image recognition". arXiv preprint (2014).

### The neural representation of fine hand movements in an individual approaching locked-in syndrome

S.H. Geukes<sup>1\*</sup>, A. Bekius<sup>1</sup>, M.P. Branco<sup>1</sup>, M.S.W. Verberne<sup>1</sup>, A. Schippers<sup>1</sup>, Z.V. Freudenburg<sup>1</sup>, E.J. Aarnoutse<sup>1</sup>, M.J. Vansteensel<sup>1</sup>, N.E. Crone<sup>2</sup>, N.F. Ramsey<sup>1,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University Medical Center Utrecht Brain Center, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands; <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurology, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, USA; <sup>3</sup>Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands

\* P.O. Box 85060, 3508 AB, Utrecht. E-mail: S.H.Geukes-2@UMCUtrecht.nl

*Introduction:* For individuals who are paralyzed due to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) based on electrocorticography (ECoG) may restore communication [1, 2]. BCI control is driven by attempted movements of for example the hand, and next to the primary motor cortex (M1), the somatosensory cortex (S1) may contribute to decoding movements [1, 2]. Yet, in these BCI studies most participants were incompletely paralyzed, meaning they could still move parts of their body. To our knowledge, BCI users with locked-in syndrome (i.e., complete paralysis; LIS) due to ALS controlled the BCI using a simple attempted hand movement [2]. It remains unclear how the degeneration of neurons in M1 due to late-stage ALS and the absence of movement-related sensory feedback affect the neural representation of attempted movements in individuals who are locked-in as a result of ALS. In the current study, we explored the representation of attempted fine hand movements of an individual who was approaching LIS due to ALS.

Material, Methods and Results: We implanted four 32-channel subdural high-density ECoG grids with 3 or 4 mm pitch in an individual (41 years old, female) who was quadriplegic and anarthric due to ALS. Grid placement was based on pre-surgical functional MRI activation in response to attempted hand and mouth movements. For ECoG data collection, the participant performed a task where active trials were interleaved with rest trials. Prior to the task, the participant was instructed to attempt one out of six predefined movement types (classes) at the onset of each active trial, being index, thumb or little finger flexion/extension, or grasp, pinch or American sign language 'Y' movement (18 active trials during each of 3 sessions). After standard preprocessing, we calculated high-frequency band power (HFB, 60-120 Hz) per trial, for each electrode. HFB power was compared to a regressor, with the correlation coefficient calculated per class, averaged across the three sessions. Each class resulted in a different pattern of activation, with the strongest response generally over the central sulcus or postcentral electrodes (Fig. 1).

Conclusion: The pronounced post-central response, even in the absence of



Figure 1. Electrode locations on the brain of the BCI participant. For the upper two grids, the correlation coefficients are shown for electrodes where the HFB showed a positive correlation to attempted movement in at least one of the three sessions. The electrode radius increases with the magnitude of the correlation coefficient.

movement-related sensory feedback, warrants further investigation to better understand the neural representation of attempted movements in LIS, and its implications for BCI control.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: The study is supported by National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (UH3NS114439) of the US National Institutes of Health. There are no disclosures to declare.

- [1] Candrea DN, Shah S, Luo S, Angrick M, Rabbani Q, Coogan C, Milsap GW, Nathan KC, Wester BA, Anderson WS, Rosenblatt KR, Uchil A, Clawson L, Maragakis NJ, Vansteensel MJ, Tenore FV, Ramsey NF, Fifer MS, Crone NE. A click-based electrocorticographic braincomputer interface enables long-term high-performance switch scan spelling. In *Communications Medicine*, 207, 2024.
- [2] Vansteensel MJ, Leinders S, Branco MP, Crone NE, Denison T, Freudenburg ZV, Geukes SH, Gosselaar PH, Raemaekers M, Schippers A, Verberne M, Aarnoutse EJ, Ramsey NF. Longevity of a Brain-Computer Interface for Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. In *New England Journal* of Medicine, 619–626, 2024.

# Redwood: A User Friendly Extension to the BCPy2000 System for Developing Advanced BCI Applications

Z.V. Freudenburg<sup>\*1</sup>, E.J. Aarnoutse<sup>1</sup>, E. Erdal<sup>1</sup>, E.C. Offenberg<sup>1</sup>, J. Berezutskaya<sup>1</sup>, M.J. Vansteensel<sup>1</sup>, N.F. Ramsey<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University Medical Center Utrecht Brain Center, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands; <sup>2</sup>Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands. •P.O. Box 1234, Utrecht, Netherlands. E-mail: Z.V.Freudenburg@umcutrecht.nl

*Introduction:* BCI2000 [1] is a widely used software platform in BCI research. It has been integrated with a large range of brain signal acquisition modalities and hardware systems and has been used in many BCI research paradigms. The growing trend towards using advanced machine learning tools for online brain signal analysis has also led to the integration of Python, which provides cutting edge machine learning tools, into BCPy2000 [2]. While this allows for both Python-based signal processing (SP) and application (App) development it runs the Python code within the traditional C++-based BCI2000 framework. A fundamental feature of this framework is the process block cycle that ties the speed at which BCI Apps can update the feedback screen to the computational time needed to acquire, process and save new brain data. While BCI2000 has proven itself in the BCI research arena, we present Redwood as an extension to the BCPy2000 framework that aids in advanced BCI App development.

*Materials and Methods:* **BCI2000** is a modular system with 3 modules for: signal acquisition, signal processing (SP), and BCI application logic (App). These 3 modules are governed by an Operator module that calls each module in sequence each process cycle. The Operator process cycle is determined by the 'block size', which is the number of data samples acquired, processed and responded to by the App. Communication between the modules is achieved via 'state' variables that can be defined, read, and written by each module and are saved to a 'dat' file with the block of raw data samples each process cycle. **BCPy2000** supports Python use in the SP and App modules. The **Redwood** system builds on the BCPy2000 framework by adding a thread (Screen) that runs a PyQt based application parallel to App and accesses state variables via the BCI2000Remote class. In this way the BCPy2000 App logic that updates state values and responds to SP output is split from logic updating the visual feedback to the user. Redwood also opens a RedwoodOperator window to provide direct interaction with App.

*Results:* Building on BCPy2000. Redwood inherits its advantages while adding features that ease Python application development. By decoupling the Screen logic from that of App the update rate of the user feedback screen is no longer tied to the BCI2000 process cycle. This allows for two advantages; Firstly, complex logic defining the visual response to BCI events (e.g. computing AI agent behaviour or using language models for word completion) can be spread across multiple App cycle blocks. Secondly, the refresh rate of the Screen can be faster than the App cycle block. Given that with a BCI system of 100+ data channels and advanced SP a BCI2000 cycle time below 100ms is challenging, when a user initiates a screen action it will be made at 10fps if the screen is updated by App. However, Screen can easily meet the lower bound of 30 fps often needed for acceptable gaming interaction. Additionally, the RedwoodOperator allows the App to be started after the Screen window has been resized and positioned for the user, to be paused without stopping the .dat file recording, and to give real-time feedback about states. Finally, Screen can also create a log of screen events that happen in response to App state changes at the screen fps time scale.

*Conclusion:* Redwood expands capabilities for App development with Python while preserving all the benefits the BCI2000 platform offers.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The research is funded by NIDCD U01DC016686, NINDS UH3NS114439, and EU EIC-101070939. No disclosures to report.

<sup>[1]</sup> Schalk G, McFarland DJ, Hinterberger, T, Birbaumer, N, Wolpaw JR, *BCI2000: a general-purpose brain-computer interface (BCI) system.*, IEEE Transactions on biomedical engineering, 51(6), 1034-1043, 2004.

<sup>[2]</sup> Hill NJ, Schreiner T, Puzicha C, Farquhar J, BCPy2000, http://bci2000.org/downloads, 2007.

#### Towards Multimodal BCIs for Access: A Performance & Usability Comparison of Individual Modalities

Erica D. Floreani1\*, Tom Chau1

#### <sup>1</sup>Institute of Biomedical Engineering, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, \* <u>erica.floreani@mail.utoronto.ca</u>

Introduction: Individuals with severe motor limitations rely on access technologies - tools that assist in translating intent into functional actions - to interact with the world around them. Existing access technologies, such as mechanical switches and eve-gaze devices are designed to harness residual voluntary motor control<sup>1</sup>. However, for many individuals, producing the coordinated movements required by these devices can be fatiguing, unreliable, or impossible<sup>2</sup>. Alternatively, bio-signals such as EOG, EMG, and EEG can register more subtle movements that are easier to produce<sup>3</sup>. Each of these modalities have been investigated independently as access methods, each with their own set of limitations that have restricted widespread adoption<sup>3</sup>. Combining multiple modalities into one hybrid brainor human-computer interface may help overcome these limitations, yielding an access solution that is more accurate, reliable, and easier to use<sup>4</sup>. As a first step, we present a comparison of the performance and usability of each modality. Methods: 15 neurotypical adults used eye movements (EOG), facial muscle activations (EMG), and imagined movements (motor imagery, MI/EEG) to complete a simple computer game. Participants were cued to use either their brain/eye/muscle activity to control a virtual character in one of four directions (up, down, right, or left). 400 trials, 100 per direction, were collected over 10 blocks for each modality. Online processing pipelines were implemented to provide real-time feedback and keep participants engaged. EEG data were recorded from 32 saline-based electrodes (RNet, Brain Products), and EOG/EMG data were recorded from 5 pairs of bipolar Ag/AgCl surface electrodes placed around the eyes and over the zygomaticus and frontalis muscles. All data were acquired using a wireless amplifier (LiveAmp, Brain Products). Participants also answered a series of questions on the usability of each modality.

**Results:** Classification accuracies for each participant and modality were calculated with 5-fold crossvalidation using an 80/20 traintest split. Participants achieved similar accuracies using either EMG or EOG, at 82.0% and 82.4% respectively, although there was greater interparticipant variability with EOG control (std. of 18.3%, compared to 10.4% for



Figure 1: A) User interface of the computer game task; B) Cross-validated classification accuracy scores for each modality; C) Overall ease-of-use rankings for each modality; D) Preference rankings of each modality.

EMG). MI/EEG was the least accurate modality, with participants achieving an average accuracy of  $51.8\pm17.4\%$ . EMG and EOG were perceived to be the easiest to control (avg. ranking of  $7.7\pm1.9$  and  $7.5\pm2.0$  on a 10-point Likert scale). EMG was most consistently ranked as the preferred modality (8/15 participants). EMG and EOG were both significantly more physically demanding than MI (p=0.01), while MI was significantly more cognitively demanding (p=0.01). Participants cited fatigue and discomfort as the main limitations of EMG and EOG, and low accuracy as the main limitation of MI. EMG, EOG and MI data were also pooled together for each participant and used to evaluate a simple hybrid classification scheme (ensemble of modality-specific classifiers with majority voting), resulting in a superior average classification accuracy of  $85.7\pm8.4\%$ .

**Discussion:** Both EMG and EOG offer superior levels of control over MI. The practice of motor imagery is somewhat of a nebulous skill for many users, generally requiring extensive training to obtain proficiency (if it can be reached at all). However, EMG and EOG involve a significantly greater physical demand, and further, require precise timing of these physical movements, which can be considerably difficult for an individual with severe motor impairments. Combining information from each modality will likely improve overall performance and usability - even with a very simple hybrid classification scheme, we already see an increase in accuracy. Next steps for this work will include using the collected dataset of MI, EMG, and EOG samples to design and evaluate a more sophisticated multimodal fusion algorithm for self-paced control in a hybrid human-computer interface system, as well as engaging with potential end-users to gather insights on the opportunities and challenges of such a system.

- 1. Cook, A. M., Polgar, J. M. & Encarnação, P. 8 Control Interfaces for Assistive Technologies. in Assistive Technologies (Fifth Edition) (eds. Cook, A. M., Polgar, J. M. & Encarnação, P.) 137–168 (Mosby, St. Louis, 2020). doi:10.1016/B978-0-323-52338-7.00008-1.
- Griffiths, T. & Addison, A. Access to communication technology for children with cerebral palsy. *Paediatrics and Child Health* 27, 470–475 (2017).
- 3. Tai, K., Blain, S. & Chau, T. A Review of Emerging Access Technologies for Individuals With Severe Motor Impairments. Assistive Technology 20, 204–221
- (2008).
   Pfurtscheller, G. *et al.* The hybrid BCI. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 4, (2010).

### Identifying Motor-Specific Biomarkers in Parkinson's Disease: A Focus on Neural Activity in the Primary Motor Cortex X. Shen<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Guangdong Institute of Intelligence Science and Technology, Guangdong, China \*2515 North Huandao Road, Hengqin Guangdong-Macao In-Depth Cooperation Zone, Guangdong, E-mail: shenxiang@gdiist.cn

*Introduction:* Current research on Parkinson's disease (PD) leverages beta-band oscillations from the subthalamic nucleus (STN) as a biomarker for optimizing deep brain stimulation (DBS) therapy. However, the beta dynamics in STN are not motor-specific [1], which constrains the effectiveness of adaptive DBS. A key challenge lies in the need to identify a more specific feedback control biomarker. In this context, we propose to expand the search for potential biomarkers to the primary motor cortex [2]. Our goal is to extract neural activity correlated with PD symptoms from M1 and investigate whether this biomarker is consistent across different stages of the disease.

*Material, Methods and Results:* The data acquisition and training process is shown in Fig. 1. We use Male C57BL/6 mice to build a PD model with 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP). Before that, we implanted the 2\*8 microelectrode array into the primary motor cortex, collecting both the spike activity and local field potentials. The mice were trained to perform the open-field test across early, middle, and late stages of Parkinson's progression. Meanwhile, signals from the motor cortex were recorded to assess whether the identified biomarker remains consistent throughout these stages. The PD-related features are learned via a Feature Extraction network [3], and then fed into classification models, including Support Vector Machines (SVM) and Long Short-Term Memory networks (LSTM), to validate its effectiveness. By comparing results across different disease stages, we assess whether the biomarker maintains consistent performance throughout all stages of PD.



Figure 1. The experimental setup of this work.

*Discussion and Significance:* This work identifies a novel biomarker from M1 for Parkinson's disease and evaluates its performance across three stages of disease progression. The findings will provide a deeper insight into the underlying pathophysiology of PD. Future work will involve integrating this biomarker with an adaptive deep brain stimulation (DBS) device to create a closed-loop system, which could enable real-time monitoring and more personalized treatment strategies for patients.

*Acknowledgments:* This work was supported by the China Postdoctoral Science Foundation (Grant No. 2024M750596).

- [1] Chen, Jia Zhi, Jens Volkmann, and Chi Wang Ip. "A framework for translational therapy development in deep brain stimulation." *npj Parkinson's Disease* 10.1 (2024): 216.
- [2] Opri, Enrico, et al. "Chronic embedded cortico-thalamic closed-loop deep brain stimulation for the treatment of essential tremor." Science translational medicine 12.572 (2020): eaay7680.
- [3] Haghi, Benyamin, et al. "Enhanced control of a brain-computer interface by tetraplegic participants via neural-network-mediated feature extraction." *Nature Biomedical Engineering* (2024): 1-18.

# **BCI-sift: An Automated Feature Selection Toolbox for Brain-Computer Interface Applications**

E.C. Offenberg<sup>1</sup>\*<sup>†</sup>, D. Keller<sup>1†</sup>, M. J. Vansteensel<sup>1</sup>, M.P. Branco<sup>1</sup>, N.F. Ramsey <sup>1,2</sup>, J. Berezutskaya<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University Medical Center Utrecht Brain Center, Utrecht University, Utrecht, The Netherlands;

<sup>2</sup>Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands \*P.O. Box 85500, 3508 GA Utrecht, the Netherlands. E-mail: <u>e.c.offenberg@umcutrecht.nl</u>

 $\ensuremath{^\dagger}$  These authors contributed equally to this work

*Introduction:* Advancements in Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) for clinical applications rely on precise and reliable signal interpretation. However, the high-dimensional and noisy nature of data captured from both implanted and non-implanted BCIs presents significant challenges, necessitating the use of sophisticated filtering techniques, such as feature selection algorithms. We introduce the Python-based BCI-sift (BCI Systematic and Interpretable Feature Tuning) Toolbox, a comprehensive tool designed to streamline the application of diverse machine-learning algorithms to BCI datasets for identifying the most relevant features in classification tasks. By enhancing classification accuracy, inference speed, and interpretability, BCI-sift addresses key challenges in developing efficient and transparent BCI systems.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Our scikit-learn-compatible toolbox (github.com/UMCU-RIBS/BCIsift) simplifies feature selection in classification tasks by integrating advanced machine learning methods, including stochastic hill climbing, simulated annealing, evolutionary algorithms, recursive feature elimination, and particle swarm optimization. These techniques optimize classification performance on cross-validated training sets, with reported accuracies reflecting the application of identified optimal features to held-out test data.

We validated the toolbox using a dataset of eight able-bodied participants with 64 to 128 implanted high-density electrocorticography (ECoG) electrodes (1-mm exposed diameter, 3- or 4-mm interelectrode distance). The electrodes were placed on the sensorimotor cortex (SMC), and participants repeatedly spoke 12 different words. BCI-sift effectively identified informative neural features across time points, channels, and frequency bands.

In the channel dimension, BCI-sift identified an optimal number and location of channels associated with highest classification accuracy. These selections were consistent across participants and aligned with the functional and anatomical organization of motor activity in the SMC. In the time dimension, the most relevant time points were clustered around word pronunciation on- and offsets. In the frequency dimension, when selecting from delta [0,5 - 3 Hz], theta [4 - 7 Hz], alpha [8 - 12 Hz], beta [13 - 30 Hz], and the high frequency band (HFB) [70 - 170 Hz], BCI-sift identified HFB as most informative for classification, consistent with prior research.

Beyond providing interpretability, BCI-sift significantly improved classification accuracy compared to using no feature selection. For instance, the classification accuracy of 12 different spoken words across eight participants increased from  $26\pm10\%$  to  $75\pm22\%$  (p = 0.008, Wilcoxon signed-rank test) with the best-performing optimization algorithm (recursive feature elimination) on the frequency band dimension, driven by the removal of noisy features. BCI-sift selects optimally performing classification features automatically from multi-dimensional input brain data. It outputs informative plots and tables for interpreting results.

*Conclusion:* With BCI-sift, we provide an accessible and versatile platform for feature selection in BCI research, enabling improved classification accuracy, automatic feature analysis, and enhanced interpretability. Although we validated BCI-sift with ECoG data, the underlying principles are equally applicable to other implanted recording modalities as well as non-implanted BCI data. We encourage researchers to explore and apply BCI-sift in these contexts as well.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: Funded by the Dutch Brain Interface Initiative (Dutch Research Council 024.005.022), EU EIC-101070939 and the Dutch Research Council (17619). Nothing to disclose.

# Intracortical neural representation of finger movements in a nonhuman primate preserved over 400 days

M. Mender<sup>1</sup>\*, H. Temmar<sup>1</sup>, J. Costello<sup>1</sup>, C.A. Chestek<sup>1</sup>, M.S. Willsey<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

\*E-mail: mmender@umich.edu. Address: NCRC Building 26 G06b 2800 Plymouth Rd. Ann Arbor, MI 48109

*Introduction:* Most motor brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) require calibration on the day of use. To reduce the burden of calibration, the decoding algorithm, which maps neural activity to a control signal for a device, can be realigned from day to day or subject to subject [1, 2]. These approaches rely on the underlying principle that the neural inputs can be transformed into a stable representation across days, enabling a static decoder to infer motor movements. While these techniques were developed for single effectors, we investigated whether neural data can be transformed into a stable representation of multiple individuated finger movements using latent factor analysis via dynamical systems analysis (LFADS) [3, 4]. We also explored whether this stable representation can be inferred – without recalibration – from neural inputs conditioned only by channel statistics.

*Material, Methods and Results:* During 12 sessions spanning 427 calendar days, intracortical recordings in the precentral gyrus and movements from the index and middle-ring-small finger groups were recorded while one monkey (nonhuman primate) performed a finger-movement task. First, to illustrate how neural instabilities degrade BCI performance, we trained a ridge regression decoder on a single day (from the 12-day set) to predict finger flexion velocity from spiking activity and used this linear decoder to predict finger movements on all subsequent days (see Fig. 1a; yellow). Prediction performance decreased with the number of days a. Performance Predicting Future Days b. LFADS Factors During Movement

since training (5.93e-4 correlation/day; p = 1.2e-8).

To understand whether a consistent latent representation existed across days for fingers, a multiday LFADS model with session-specific readin and read-out layers was trained over all 12 sessions. The multiday LFADS model revealed latent factors that were qualitatively similar across days (see Fig. 1b). Quantitatively, consistent latent factors allowed decoding finger movements from the factors with a static decoder. Specifically, we found that finger velocities on one day could be accurately predicted using a ridge regression decoder learned on a previous day (see Fig. 1a; blue), with little drop in performance over time (-9.8e-5 corr/day; p = 0.07).



Figure 1: (a) Finger velocity prediction performance using spiking activity (yellow) or multiday LFADS factors (blue). X-axis represents the calendar days between the day the decoder was trained and tested (b) Representative latent factors from the multiday LFADS model. Trial-averaged factors during both fingers flexing (yellow) and both fingers extending (blue) is shown in bold with thin lines representing individual trials. Results for trials during the first session (solid) and last session (dashed – 420 days later).

Toward improving decoding without recalibration, we tested a static read-in network for the neural activity, which used an encoding of channel statistics (mean and covariance) as additional inputs. We trained an LFADS model with this static read-in network during the 12 sessions. On 7 held-out sessions using this pretrained model, a decoder mapping factors to finger velocity was trained on a single day and tested at the next session. This approach improved velocity predictions compared to smoothed spikes trained and tested on the same 2 days (delta corr = 0.1; p = 7e-3; paired *t*-test).

*Conclusion:* We demonstrate a consistent latent representation of fingers over 427 days using LFADs and present a pretrained decoding approach, which we are continuing to optimize and develop, that may reduce sensitivity to daily neural instabilities.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We appreciate the support of Eric Kennedy and the University of Michigan unit for laboratory animal medicine. There are no disclosures to report.

- A. D. Degenhart *et al.*, "Stabilization of a brain-computer interface via the alignment of low-dimensional spaces of neural activity," *Nat Biomed Eng*, vol. 4, no. 7, pp. 672–685, Jul. 2020.
- [2] B. M. Karpowicz *et al.*, "Stabilizing brain-computer interfaces through alignment of latent dynamics," *bioRxiv*, 2022.
- C. Pandarinath *et al.*, "Inferring single-trial neural population dynamics using sequential auto-encoders," *Nat Methods*, vol. 15, no. 10, 805–815, Sep. 2018.
- [4] A. R. Sedler and C. Pandarinath, "Ifads-torch: A modular and extensible implementation of latent factor analysis via dynamical systems," ArXiv, Sep. 2023.

# A Transfer Learning Framework for Across-speaker Articulatory Movement Decoding in Sensorimotor Cortex

R. Wu<sup>1</sup>\*, J. Berezutskaya<sup>1</sup>, Z. V. Freudenburg<sup>1</sup>, E. C. Offenberg<sup>1</sup>, N. F. Ramsey<sup>1,2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Dept. of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University Medical Centre Utrecht Brain Centre, The Netherlands <sup>2</sup>Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands \* Heidelberglaan 100, 3584 CX Utrecht, Netherlands. E-mail: rwu@umcutrecht.nl

*Introduction:* Severe paralysis resulting from medical conditions like neurodegenerative diseases and stroke can lead to speech loss. Recent advances in brain-computer interfaces demonstrate the possibility to restore speech by decoding articulatory movements from brain activity for participants who cannot speak intelligibly [1]. However, for individuals with vocal-tract paralysis, it is difficult to learn a mapping of brain data to articulatory movements without transferring from models trained on healthy individuals. Here, we propose a novel framework for 1) extracting articulatory features of spoken words shared across healthy speakers and 2) mapping them to the brain activity of individuals for whom we do not have articulatory movement data. Our findings show promising results for developing word decoding models for individuals with vocal-tract paralysis using group-level articulatory features derived from healthy speakers.

Materials and Methods: Articulatory data. We used articulatory movement data during word production from a publicly available electromagnetic articulography (EMA) dataset [2]. In the dataset, EMA were recorded in eight healthy participants. They were required to speak 97 Dutch words. Each word was repeated twice. In our study, we included seven EMA sensors: three on lips (upper lip, lower lip, and right side of the upper lip), three on the tongue (dorsal part, body, and tongue tip), and one on the chin. We analyzed articulatory movements in the front-back and the up-down directions. We applied a tensor component analysis (TCA) [3] to extract group-level low-dimensional articulatory features per word from EMA. We used dimensionality [4] as a metric to evaluate each participant's contribution to each articulatory feature. If all participants contribute equally, dimensionality is close to the number of participants. Brain data. High-density electrocorticographic (ECoG) recordings were obtained over the ventral sensorimotor cortex (vSMC) of the left hemisphere in three participants (P1, P2 and P3). Each participant spoke the same set of words as in the EMA dataset. TCA was applied to the ECoG recordings to extract neural features for each subject separately. We used a gradient boosting regression model to decode across-speaker articulatory features from neural features of each ECoG participant. The decoding performance was measured as the Pearson's correlation between decoded and target grouplevel articulatory features. Reported correlation values are cross-validated across all individual words using a leave-one-out procedure.

*Results:* The mean dimensionality of the extracted articulatory features was  $7.61\pm0.14$ , which means the extracted articulatory features captured articulatory patterns shared across EMA participants. The mean correlation of the articulatory features between repetition 1 and 2 was  $0.95\pm0.01$ , while the correlation of extracted neural features between repetition 1 and 2 was  $0.70\pm0.07$ ,  $0.37\pm0.04$  and  $0.49\pm0.06$  for ECoG participant P1, P2 and P3 respectively. These results demonstrate the robustness of the articulatory and neural features across repetitions. We decoded generalized articulatory features with the mean correlation of 0.78, 0.54, and 0.51 for ECoG participant P1, P2 and P3, respectively.

*Conclusion:* The proposed framework can extract articulatory features shared across healthy speakers and decode them from brain activity of unseen speakers. Our framework may provide a new way to develop speech BCI applications for people unable to make mouth movements.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work is supported by Dutch Brain Interface Initiative (DBI2), project number 024.005.022 of the research programmed Gravitation, which is financed by the Dutch Ministry of Education, Culture, and Science (OCW) via the Dutch Research Council (NWO)

- Metzger, Sean L., et al. "A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control." Nature 620.7976 (2023): 1037-1046.
- [2] Wieling, Martijn, et al. "Investigating dialectal differences using articulography." Journal of Phonetics 59 (2016):122-143.
- [3] Williams, Alex H., et al. "Unsupervised discovery of demixed, low-dimensional neural dynamics across multiple timescales through tensor component analysis." Neuron 98.6 (2018): 1099-1115.
- [4] Mazzucato, Alfredo Fontanini., et al. "Stimuli reduce the dimensionality of cortical activity." Frontiers in systems neuroscience 10 (2016): 11.

# **Temporal Dynamics of Neural Activation and Inhibition Patterns During Motor Imagery**

Zhichun Fu<sup>1\*</sup>, Xiaolong Wu<sup>1</sup>, Zehan Wu<sup>2</sup>, Liang Chen<sup>2</sup>, Dingguo Zhang<sup>1\*</sup> <sup>1</sup>University of Bath, Bath, UK; <sup>2</sup>Huashan Hospital, Fudan University, People's Republic of China

\*Claverton down, Bath, UK BA27AY. E-mail: d.zhang@bath.ac.uk

Introduction: Motor Imagery (MI), the mental simulation of movement without actual physical execution, plays an important role in motor learning and rehabilitation. Previous studies have identified the involvement of specific brain regions and suppression from supplementary motor area to M1 during MI [1], [2]. However, the precise temporal dynamics of neural activation and inhibition patterns across different phases of motor imagery remain uncovered, due to the limitations in temporal resolution of conventional neuroimaging techniques such as functional magnetic resonance imaging. Based on the high temporal resolution of stereo-electroencephalography (sEEG), this study used sEEG to investigate neural activation and inhibition during the preparation phase and the execution phase of motor imagery. We aim to provide more detailed insights into the rapid neural processes underlying motor imagery that have been elusive in previous fMRI-based research.

Material, Methods and Results: A total of seven epileptic patients were collected in this study and implanted electrodes were distributed in seven different brain regions. Participants were implanted with SEEG electrodes for presurgical assessment of seizure focus. During the experiment, participants were asked to imagine either moving their left/right hands or dorsiflexing their left/right foot. The sEEG signals were downsampled to 1000Hz and a notch filter was used to remove the powerline noise. No epileptic activity was observed in the data. After that, the data was re-referenced using the bipolar re-referencing, where each channel was re-referenced to its adjacent channel on the same electrode shaft. Then, power spectral density (PSD) was calculated using the Welch method with 1000 ms Hann window and 500 ms overlap. From calculated PSD, 8-33 and 65-116 Hz averaged broadbands were calculated, and the signed r-squared crosscorrelation was calculated between PSDs of rest and preparation, preparation and imaging stage [3]. An unpaired two-sample t-test was performed for each channel and each movement type. For each movement, the features were screened for all significant levels (p < 0.05) in the different phases and their corresponding relevance were multiplied to calculate the trend of each channel, reflecting its dynamic contribution in the different phases. In multiple patients, we observed some suppressions in the high-frequency band within the caudal anterior cingulate cortex, inferior part of precentral gyrus and the pars triangularis of right inferior frontal gyrus. Regardless of lateralization or the specific body part involved in motor imagery, a notable suppression was detected during the transition from the resting state to the preparatory phase (Rp = $-0.453 \pm 0.016$ ). Conversely, a strong activation emerged during the transition from the preparatory phase to the motor imagery phase ( $Rp = 0.693 \pm 0.030$ ).

Conclusion: Our findings show a unique pattern of neural activity during MI, where in some specific brain regions, high-frequency inhibition occurs in that brain region prior to the onset of real imagined movement. And this temporal variation is independent of both imagined limb site and lateralization type.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: The authors acknowledge the support of Huashan Hospital for providing access to data collection. The authors declare no competing financial or non-financial interests.

<sup>[1]</sup> C. H. Kasess, C. Windischberger, R. Cunnington, R. Lanzenberger, L. Pezawas, and E. Moser. The suppressive influence of SMA on M1 in motor imagery revealed by fMRI and dynamic causal modeling. In NeuroImage. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2008.

T. Hanakawa, M. A. Dimyan, and M. Hallett. Motor Planning, Imagery, and Execution in the Distributed Motor Network: A Time-Course [2] Study with Functional MRI. In Cereb. Cortex. Oxford Academic, Oxford, 2008.

<sup>[3]</sup> K. J. Miller, G. Schalk, E. E. Fetz, M. den Nijs, J. G. Ojemann, and R. P. N. Rao. Cortical activity during motor execution, motor imagery, and imagery-based online feedback. In

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C., 2010.

### Toward EEG discrimination of fingers movements during motor imagery vs passive movement

T. Lefeuvre<sup>1,\*</sup>, K. Won<sup>1</sup>, M. Malvezzi<sup>2</sup>, M. Dragusanu<sup>2</sup>,

C. Pacchierotti<sup>1</sup>, A. Lécuyer<sup>1</sup>, M. J.-M. Macé<sup>1</sup>, L. Pillette<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Univ. Rennes, Inria, CNRS, IRISA, Rennes, France; <sup>2</sup>University of Siena, Siena, Italy \*263 Av. Général Leclerc, 35000 Rennes, France. E-mail: theo.lefeuvre@inria.fr

*Introduction:* BCIs based on finger motor imagery (MI) show promising potential but limited performance, due to the proximity of the cortical areas dedicated to the fingers of the same hand and the low signal-to-noise ratio of EEG, which results in overlapping signals [1]. To delve into this challenge, previous studies have demonstrated that calibrating BCIs using passive movement may offers a more efficient alternative to MI, particularly by reducing the cognitive and physical load on participants [3]. The goal of our study is to determine whether passive finger movements can induce significantly stronger modifications in the motor cortex compared to when those same movements are imagined.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Twenty-six healthy participants completed a 2-hour experiment where they: (1) performed MI and (2) experienced passive movements (applied by a custom-built exoskeleton), while their EEG data was recorded using 20 active electrodes (g.USBAmp, g.tec). The motor tasks involved flexion and extension of the index, middle and ring fingers independently, as well as simultaneous movements of all 3 fingers. The sequence of conditions and tasks was randomized, with 30 trials per movement type per condition. Signal from 24 participants was filtered using notch filter and a 0.5-40 Hz band-pass filter. Automatic artifact rejection, independent component analysis and common average reference were applied to limit artifacts. Time-frequency representations were computed using Morlet wavelets. Significant effects ( $p \le 0.05$ ) were identified with a non-parametric cluster-based paired t-test,

and averaged across participants (see Fig. 1). In the  $\alpha$  (8-12 Hz) and sub-part of  $\beta$  (20-25 Hz) bands, a greater number of significantly stronger event-related desynchronizations (ERDs) were observed during the passive movement tasks than during the MI tasks. A repeated measures ANOVA on ERDS values between 8 to 36 Hz and 1 to 5 s after task onset revealed a significant effect of the experimental condition (F = 19.77,  $p < 10^{-3}$ ,  $\eta^2 = 0.12$ ) and the movement type (F = 8.16,  $p < 10^{-3}$ ,  $\eta^2 = 0.02$ ) on these values. However, the interaction between condition and movement is not significant (F = 0.87, p = 0.45,  $\eta^2 = 10^{-2}$ ), indicating two independent factors.

*Conclusion:* In accordance with the literature, passive movements consistently elicited stronger contralateral ERD in the motor cortex compared to MI [2]. Interestingly, significant ERSP differences were found between the different finger



Figure 1: Grand-averaged ERSP at C3 for MI and passive movement tasks for right index finger and three-fingers movements.

movements. Future analyses will examine whether training classifiers on MI data or movement data results in the greatest accuracy when tested on MI data.

- Liao K, Xiao R, Gonzalez J, Ding L. Decoding individual finger movements from one hand using human EEG signals. *PloS one*, 9(1), e85192, 2014.
- [2] Kaiser V, Kreilinger A, Müller-Putz G, Neuper C. First steps toward a motor imagery based stroke BCI: new strategy to set up a classifier. In Front Neurosci, 5, 86, 2011.
- [3] Ang, K. K, Guan C, Wang C, Phua K. S, Tan A. H, Chin Z. Y. Calibrating EEG-based motor imagery brain-computer interface from passive movement. In Annual Int. Conf. of IEEE EMBS, 4199–4202, 2011.

### Manifold-Based Diffusion Models for Generating Synthetic Motor Imagery EEG

#### Imad Eddine Tibermacine<sup>1\*</sup>, Christian Napoli<sup>1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Computer, Control and Management Engineering, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy; <sup>2</sup>Institute for Systems Analysis and Computer Science, Italian National Research Council, Rome, Italy; <sup>3</sup>Department of Computational Intelligence, Czestochowa University of Technology, Czestochowa, Poland \* E-mail: tibermacine@diag.uniroma1.it

*Introduction:* Generating realistic synthetic EEG can alleviate dataset size, privacy, and session variability concerns in motor imagery (MI) brain–computer interfaces. Conventional diffusion-based models risk off-manifold artifacts, ignoring the manifold structure of EEG in space and time[1]. We employ *Symmetric Positive Definite* (SPD) matrices derived from EEG covariance to capture electrode correlations. Constraining diffusion on this SPD manifold yields higher-fidelity reconstructions and generated signals for MI tasks[2].



Figure 1: Combined time-domain and spectral comparisons of real, generated, and reconstructed EEG signals for Channel Fp1.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* We used the BCI Competition IV dataset 2a (BCIC-IV-2a), which includes four-class motor imagery EEG from nine subjects, with 288 trials per session recorded over 22 electrodes at 250 Hz. Preprocessing steps involved noise reduction, down-sampling to 128 Hz, and segmenting 3.5-second epochs, producing  $22 \times 22$  covariance matrices on the SPD manifold. A forward stochastic differential equation (SDE) was defined,

$$d\mathbf{z} = f(\mathbf{z}, t) \, dt + g(\mathbf{z}, t) \, d\mathbf{w},$$

where z represents latent SPD coordinates, and  $f(\cdot), g(\cdot)$  regulate manifold-constrained noise injection. The reverse-time SDE was approximated by a neural network using mean squared error and cosine similarity, incorporating *log* and *exp* mapping operations alongside a multi-scale diffusion strategy. Synthetic SPD outputs were mapped back to time-domain EEG through Cholesky factorization. Figures 1a and 1b demonstrate that the generated signals preserve amplitude fluctuations and alpha-band peaks (10–12 Hz), improving classification accuracy and reducing Fréchet distance compared to Euclidean baselines.

*Discussion and Significance:* Constraining diffusion to the SPD manifold minimizes off-manifold artifacts and preserves critical temporal and spectral features of the MI EEG. The overlap between real and synthetic signals demonstrates the retention of inter-electrode correlations and alpha oscillations, making this approach valuable for data augmentation in small-sample or privacy-restricted scenarios. Future work could refine Riemannian metrics, extend to multi-class MI tasks, and validate on larger clinical datasets, solidifying manifold-based diffusion as a reliable method for generating realistic EEG data.

- [1] J. Ho, A. Jain, and P. Abbeel, "Denoising Diffusion Probabilistic Models," Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 2020.
- [2] Song, Yang, Jascha Sohl-Dickstein, Diederik P. Kingma, Abhishek Kumar, Stefano Ermon, and Ben Poole, "Score-based generative modeling through stochastic differential equations," arXiv preprint arXiv:2011.13456 (2020).

### Theta-to-Alpha Frequency Ratio as an Indicator of Mindfulness During Binaural Beat Listening

Merlin Kelly<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Tom Carlson<sup>2</sup>, Youngjun Cho<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Global Disability Innovation Hub, UCL, London, England; <sup>2</sup>Aspire Create, UCL, London, England; \*GDI Hub lab, UCL East Marshgate, E20 2AE, London, England. E-mail: ucabmk5@ucl.ac.uk

*Introduction:* Mindfulness is a measure of an individuals ability to be in the present and can vary due to many factors effecting their day-to-day life. Studies suggest that meditation techniques can help individuals enhance mindfulness, yet beginners often find meditation challenging. Binaural beats (BBs) are an auditory illusion that can aid users in meditation, although they can also cause distraction for different individuals [1]. Moreover, there is no definitive explanation for how or why BBs either facilitate or hinder mindfulness during meditation. In this preliminary study, we employ the theta-to-alpha frequency ratio (TAR) as a neural indicator to determine whether novice meditators experienced benefit or hindrance while listening to BBs during meditation.

*Material and Methods:* 17 participants were recruited to meditate on two separate days, one day with the BB audio and another without with each meditation session lasting 10 minutes. The BB frequencies were set to 126Hz for the left ear and alternated between 134Hz to 140Hz for the right ear, ensuring the frequency difference consistently fell within the alpha range. Seven electrodes were placed in the frontal lobe as shown in Figure 1 left, as a reduction in the TAR in this area when meditators are attentive rather than mind-wandering [2]. After each meditation session, participants were asked to complete the Toronto mindfulness scale to record user experience. After all data was collected, the TAR was averaged across all electrodes. A one-tailed Pearson Correlation test calculated the correlation between the survey and the extracted TAR.



Figure 1: (Left) The EEG montage chosen for the study. (Right) A scatter plot showing the correlation between the results of the Toronto Mindfulness Scale and the theta-to-alpha frequency ratio for all 17 participants during the binaural beat session

*Results:* As shown in Figure 1 right for the Toronto Mindfulness Scale and the TAR during the BB condition, a correlation coefficient of 0.641 (p=0.003) indicating a strong correlation.

*Discussion:* This correlation between mindfulness and TAR wasn't present during the no audio condition, suggesting that this relationship is BB dependent. This discovery may offer additional understanding of the mechanism underlying BBs and their potential use as a tool for meditation.

*Significance:* This index can offer instantaneous insights into a person's level of mindfulness or distraction during BB-mediated meditation sessions, and if applied in a closed-loop neurofeedback setting, it could enable the audio to be adjusted to optimize mindfulness.

- [1] Sas, C., Chopra, R. MeditAid: a wearable adaptive neurofeedback-based system for training mindfulness state. *Pers Ubiquit Comput 19*, 1169–1182 (2015).
- [2] Rodriguez-Larios J, Alaerts K. EEG alpha-theta dynamics during mind wandering in the context of breath focus meditation: An experience sampling approach with novice meditation practitioners. *Eur J Neurosci*. 2021; 53: 1855–1868, 2020.

### Riemannian-Based Convolutional Neural Networks for EEG Classification

#### Imad Eddine Tibermacine<sup>1\*</sup>, Christian Napoli<sup>1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Computer, Control and Management Engineering, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy <sup>2</sup>Institute for Systems Analysis and Computer Science, Italian National Research Council, Rome, Italy <sup>3</sup>Department of Computational Intelligence, Czestochowa University of Technology, Czestochowa, Poland \* E-mail: tibermacine@diag.uniroma1.it

*Introduction:* Electroencephalography (EEG) data are essential for BCI tasks such as motor imagery and mental state analysis. Traditional Euclidean approaches overlook the manifold structure of multichannel covariance matrices, which reside on *Symmetric Positive Definite* (SPD) manifolds. This neglect diminishes accuracy and obscures critical inter-channel relationships[1]. Recognizing these limitations, researchers have turned to Riemannian geometry to analyze the inherent structure of SPD matrices. This paper adopts a Riemannian-based convolutional neural network (CNN) paradigm that integrates geometric insights into feature extraction and classification steps. In doing so, it maintains important spatial dependencies among EEG electrodes and takes advantage of the interpretability afforded by manifold-based representations[2].

Materials and Methods: We used the BCI Competition IV dataset 2a (BCIC-IV-2a), which provides four-class motor imagery data from nine subjects. Each session comprises 288 trials collected over 22 electrodes at a sampling rate of 250 Hz. Initial preprocessing includes noise reduction, down-sampling to 128 Hz, and extraction of 3.5-second epochs to focus on the most discriminative time window. This procedure yields  $22 \times 22$  covariance matrices per trial, and these matrices are then viewed as points on the SPD manifold. In our approach, we first feed the raw EEG signals into a CNN-based feature extractor to learn preliminary spatial and temporal filters. However, instead of applying standard Euclidean operations, we compute covariance matrices from the learned features to preserve the inter-channel structure in a geometry-aware manner. A Stiefel manifold transformation reduces matrix dimensionality while maintaining orthonormal constraints, which is critical to avoid distortion of manifold geometry. We then map these lower-dimensional SPD matrices into a tangent space using the matrix logarithm, allowing subsequent linear layers to handle the features more effectively. Throughout training, orthonormal constraints on the Stiefel manifold are enforced via a custom optimizer that corrects parameters after each gradient update. This design adheres to a geometry-aware classification pipeline. Rather than flattening or ignoring inter-channel correlations, we exploit the SPD manifold structure to reflect the nuanced relationships among electrodes. By localizing covariance in a Riemannian tangent space, the model aligns with intrinsic EEG signal geometry and is better positioned to overcome the non-linearities often overlooked by purely Euclidean CNNs.

*Discussion and Significance:* By integrating Riemannian geometry into CNNs, we address the misalignment between Euclidean assumptions and the manifold nature of EEG covariance data. Evaluated on the BCIC-IV-2a dataset, this approach achieves a validation accuracy of approximately 80% for four-class motor imagery, representing a 10% improvement over purely Euclidean CNN approaches, credited to its faithful representation of channel dependencies and covariance-based noise robustness. Beyond boosting accuracy, this geometry-aware model improves interpretability by revealing global spatio-temporal patterns and effectively generalizing across subjects. Its promise extends to cognitive workload assessment, neurorehabilitation, and adaptive BCIs, where inter-channel dynamics are crucial. Future directions include exploring alternative Riemannian metrics and developing manifold-aware neural layers for end-to-end geometry-preserving representations, underscoring the potential for deep learning and Riemannian geometry to further advance EEG-based BCI systems.

#### References:

[2] Yger, Florian, Maxime Berar, and Fabien Lotte, "Riemannian approaches in brain-computer interfaces: a review," IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering 25, no. 10 (2016): 1753-1762.

<sup>[1]</sup> Congedo, Marco, Alexandre Barachant, and Rajendra Bhatia, "Riemannian geometry for EEG-based brain-computer interfaces; a primer and a review," *Brain-Computer Interfaces 4, no. 3 (2017): 155-174.* 

### **BCI Games for Cognitive Assessment: A Scoping Review**

Munirah Alsubaie<sup>12</sup>\*, Salamah Alshammari<sup>12</sup>, Yusuf Ahmed<sup>1</sup>, Shaniff Esmail<sup>1</sup>, Kim Adams<sup>13</sup>, Hossein Rouhani<sup>3</sup>, Adriana Rios Rincon<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Occupational Therapy Program, College of Applied Medical Sciences, King Saud bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Alahsa, Saudi Arabia; <sup>3</sup>Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital, Edmonton, Canada E-mail: malsubai@ualberta.ca

*Introduction:* Traditional assessment tools, such as the Montreal Cognitive Assessment and the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, rely on verbal or motor responses, presenting challenges for individuals with limited communication or mobility [1], [2]. Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) present a transformative solution, allowing direct measurement of brain activity, particularly through BCI games, promoting active participation without motor or verbal demands [3]. Despite their potential, there is limited research on BCI games, especially in understanding their applicability and effectiveness across diverse populations [4]. This scoping review investigates the current state of BCI games for cognitive assessment, analyzing their application across diverse populations, the cognitive skills measured, the types of games utilized, and the BCI technologies employed.

Methods and Results: 7 electronic databases were systematically searched using Arksey and O'Malley's scoping review framework and PRISMA-ScR guidelines. Studies implementing BCI games to assess cognition were included and reviewed, focusing on game types, BCI paradigms, electrode placement, brainwave frequency, and cognitive skills targeted. We synthesized data on study designs, population characteristics, and standardized assessments for comparison. Of 4735 studies in the title and abstract screening phase, 33 met the inclusion criteria, encompassing a total sample size of 694 individuals. Most studies investigated adults 61% and neurotypical individuals 76%, with 33% children and 6% older adults. Most of the participants were neurotypical individuals 72%, while fewer had conditions such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder 18%, mild cognitive impairment 5%, autism and hearing loss 2% each, cerebral palsy 1%, and developmental disorders 1%. Most studies, with some examining multiple cognitive skills and others focusing on just one, focused on attention at 88%, followed by memory at 27%, inhibition at 18%, and spatial perception at 12%. Commonly used technologies included MindWave 39% and Emotiv EPOC+ 21%, highlighting a reliance on EEG-based devices for real-time monitoring of brainwave activity.  $\beta$  and  $\theta$  brainwaves were the most analyzed. Nine studies compared BCI games to standardized cognitive assessments, with 67% demonstrating moderate to strong correlations. BCI games outperformed traditional tools in engagement and adaptability in some of those studies, achieving up to 98% classification accuracies in attention-related tasks.

*Conclusion:* This review underscored the potential of BCI games as inclusive and adaptive tools for cognitive assessment. Gamification using BCI enhances engagement, particularly in BCI applications, providing immersive environments for active participation. While validation against standardized tools remains limited, existing studies often demonstrate their validity. The current focus on healthy adults establishes a baseline for this emerging field, but future research should explore diverse age groups and conditions to address specific needs and ensure inclusivity. Predominantly assessing attention, BCI games align well with fundamental cognitive skills; however, broader evaluations of cognition are needed [5]. This review informs future research by addressing these gaps and paves the way for advancing BCI-based cognitive assessment tools.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank Janice Kung, who supervised and approved the implementation of the search strategy.

References:

- Z. S. Nasreddine *et al.*, "The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A Brief Screening Tool For Mild Cognitive Impairment," J Am Geriatr Soc, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 695–699, Apr. 2005, doi: 10.1111/J.1532-5415.2005.53221.X.
- [2] D. Wechsler, "Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children--Fifth Edition," *PsycTESTS Dataset*, Aug. 2024, doi: 10.1037/T79359-000.
- [3] F. Leutner, S. C. Codreanu, S. Brink, and T. Bitsakis, "Game based assessments of cognitive ability in recruitment: Validity, fairness and test-taking experience," *Front Psychol*, vol. 13, p. 942662, Jan. 2023, doi: 10.3389/FPSYG.2022.942662/BIBTEX.
- [4] D. Kelly, E. Zewdie, H. Carlson, and A. Kirton, "Brain-Computer Interfaces for Children: A Comparative Study of Five Common
- EEG-based Paradigms," Apr. 2023, doi: 10.21203/RS.3.RS-2836229/V1.
  [5] M. C. Miranda, S. Batistela, and M. V. Alves, "Attention and Academic Performance: From Early Childhood to Adolescence," Cognitive Sciences and Education in Non WEIRD, Populations: A Lettin American Perspective pp. 43–57. Inp. 2022. doi:

[5] M. C. Milanda, S. Batistela, and M. V. Alves, Attention and Academic Performance. From Early Clinichou to Adolescence, Cognitive Sciences and Education in Non-WEIRD Populations: A Latin American Perspective, pp. 43–57, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1007/978-3-031-06908-6\_4.

#### **EEG-based correlates of attention in intracortical BCI motor tasks**

E. Canario<sup>1,5\*</sup>, M. Akcakaya<sup>6</sup>, S. Chase<sup>3,4</sup>, D. Weber<sup>7</sup>, J. L. Collinger<sup>1-5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Rehab Neural Engineering Labs, University of Pittsburgh;<sup>2</sup>Dept. of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Pittsburgh;<sup>3</sup>Center for Neural Basis of Cognition;<sup>4</sup>Dept. of Biomedical Engineering, Carnegie Mellon University;<sup>5</sup>Dept. of Bioengineering, University of Pittsburgh;<sup>6</sup>Dept. of Electrical & Computer Engineering, University of Pittsburgh;<sup>7</sup>Dept. of Mechanical Engineering, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, USA \*1622 Locust St, Pittsburgh, PA 15219, E-mail: edc48@pitt.edu

*Introduction:* Intracortical brain-computer interface (iBCI) performance varies within and across sessions. A few studies have demonstrated that attention is one factor which can affect performance, but most have used EEG-BCI rather than iBCI and focused on simplistic tasks. To investigate the impact of attentional load on iBCI performance and the movement-related activity in motor cortex, we induced attentional load using a dual-tasking paradigm and measured the effects.

Materials. Methods. and Results: Two participants used an iBCI as part of a clinical trial under an FDA Investigational Device Exemption (NCT01894802). Participants performed a complex 2D computer cursor translation + click iBCI task alone (BCI Only) or paired with an N-Back (BCI + 1Back and BCI + 2Back) to induce attentional load. EEG (g.tec, 16 channels, 256 Hz sampling rate, 1-59 Hz bandpass filter) was recorded to quantify neural measures of attention including frontal region theta (3-7



Figure 1:A) Normalized path length in P2 is highest in BCI + 1Back. B) Frontal theta power increases in both participants. C) Parietal alpha power increases in BCI + 1Back in P2. D) Firing rate increases for P4. E) Reaction time increases for P2

Hz) power, expected to increase with attention, and parietal region alpha (8-12 Hz) power, expected to decrease with attention. BCI performance was quantified as trial completion time, normalized path length, and success rate. Performance was robust to changes in attentional load induced by the N-back with only one participant (P2) showing any significant differences across conditions, indicating iBCI's resilience to high attentional load. P2 experienced a slight increase in normalized path length in the BCI+1Back condition compared to BCI+2Back, (Fig.1A). Further, P2 showed increased attention, indicated by significantly higher theta and alpha band power, in the BCI+1Back condition (Fig.1B). Finally, P2 demonstrated slower reaction times (time to peak firing rate) in BCI+1Back compared to BCI only (Fig.1C) and a higher firing rate during the BCI+2Back condition, reflecting a stronger motor signal (Fig.1D). Overall, P2 displayed greater changes in performance and attention compared to P4 with the BCI+1-back task combination having the greatest effect. P2 may have had more difficulty with the dual-tasking conditions because his implant duration is significantly longer than P4 (~9 years vs. < 2 years) and therefore has lower signal quality. P2 may have required more effort to maintain stable performance.

*Conclusion:* iBCI performance is robust to attentional load with only minor changes in performance in one participant. BCI+1Back required the most compensation for P2 as indicated by iBCI performance metrics, EEG attention signals, and reaction time estimated from intracortical firing rates. This study demonstrated the successful use of EEG to measure neural correlates of attention during iBCI performance, which provides a foundation for further exploration of BCI performance in additional participants and conditions.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: This work was funded by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke of the National Institutes of Health (R01NS121079) and a Department of Defense fellowship (#HQ00342110020) and the K. Leroy Irvis Fellowship. We thank Dr. Matthew Smith for his aid.
## Advancing speech BCIs towards conversational speeds in people with paralysis

Kamran Hussain<sup>1,2,\*</sup>, Erin M. Kunz<sup>2</sup>, Nick Hahn<sup>2</sup>, Akansha Singh<sup>2</sup>, Leigh R. Hochberg<sup>3,4,5</sup>, Francis. R. Willett<sup>2</sup>, Jaimie M. Henderson<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of California Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA; <sup>3</sup>Brown University, Providence, RI, USA; <sup>4</sup>Massachussets General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>5</sup>Dept. Veteran Affairs Medical Center, Providence, RI, USA; \*E-mail: kamranh@stanford.edu

*Introduction:* Intracortical speech Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) have shown promise for restoring rapid communication for individuals with paralysis by decoding the neural representation of speech into text [1, 2, 3, 4]. However, current speech BCI systems still operate at speech rates below that of typical speech, possibly because BCI participants naturally set their own pace at slower speeds (20–70 words per minute) that are approximately half that of natural conversational speech (160 words per minute) [1, 2, 3]. We hypothesize that participants are speaking slower as a natural result of their dysarthria during articulation and vocalization. It remains unknown whether people with dysarthria can comfortably increase their speech rate when instructed to do so, and if so, whether decoding accuracy is affected by this change in preferred speech behavior.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We tested the maximum speech rates achievable by BrainGate2 clinical trial participant T12, who has two 64-channel microelectrode arrays in speech motor cortex, using various verbal behaviors. Imagined speech reached conversational speeds (120-160 words per minute), while even attempted speech at higher instructed rates surpassed T12s typical pace (100 words per minute compared to her usual 60). We then tested how decoding performance varied across four attempted speaking rates using non-vocalized, mimed speech (attempted mouthed behavior): 15, 30, 60, and 120 words per minute, using an open-loop karaoke-style task (Figure 1b) to help T12 pace her speech. In offline evaluations with a limited 50-word vocabulary, we found that decoding accuracy decreased with increasing speech rate, with the optimum decoding accuracy occurring at 30 words per minute. (Figure 1c). Finally, we examined the neural correlates of speech rate and found sentences spoken at different rates were largely stretched or compressed versions of a consistent neural activity template.

*Conclusion:* Encouragingly, these results suggest that, at least for the participant studied here, speaking rates can be increased substantially when instructed, and the resulting neural activity remains decodable (although accuracy declines). Additionally, the maximum speech rate for each verbal behavior indicates imagined behaviors can achieve average conversational rate while potentially being less tiring and uncomfortable, though trade-offs with decoding accuracy will need to be addressed.



Figure 1: Maximum speech rate across behavior (a), karaoke task design (b), and word error rate for offline decoding when trained and tested at different instructed speeds (c).

*Disclosures:* The MGH Translational Research Center has a clinical research support agreement (CRSA) with Axoft, Neuralink, Neurobionics, Precision Neuro, Synchron, and Reach Neuro, for which LRH provides consultative input. FRW is an inventor on intellectual property licensed by Stanford University to Blackrock Neurotech and Neuralink. JMH is a consultant for Neuralink and Paradromics, serves on the Medical Advisory Board of Enspire DBS and is a shareholder in Maplight Therapeutics. He is also the co-founder of Re-EmergeDBS, and an inventor on intellectual property licensed by Stanford University to Blackrock Neurotech and Neuralink.

- [1] Willett, F.R., Kunz, E.M., Fan, C. et al. A high-performance speech neuroprosthesis. Nature 620, 1031–1036 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06377-x
- [2] Metzger, S.L., Littlejohn, K.T., Silva, A.B. et al. A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control. Nature 620, 1037–1046 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06443-4
- [3] Card, N.S, et al. An Accurate and Rapidly Calibrating Speech Neuroprosthesis. N Engl J Med 2024;391:609-618, doi: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2314132
- Kunz, E.M., Meschede-Krasa, B., et al. Representation of verbal thought in motor cortex and implications for speech neuroprostheses. bioRxiv 2024.10.04.616375; doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/2024.10.04.616375

## μECoG Array with 3,072 Electrodes for High-Density and Large-Area Cortical Recordings Based on Scalable Thin-Film Electronics

Paoline Coulson<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Sofie Luijten<sup>1,4</sup>, Florian De Roose<sup>2</sup>, Kris Myny<sup>2,3</sup>, Jan Genoe<sup>2,3</sup>, Sebastian Haesler<sup>1,2,3,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Neuroelectronics Research Flanders – NERF, Leuven, Belgium ; <sup>2</sup>imec, Leuven, Belgium ; <sup>3</sup>KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium ; <sup>4</sup>VIB, Leuven, Belgium

\*Campus Gasthuisberg, O&N5b | 8th floor, Herestraat 49 box 4039, 3000 Leuven, Belgium. E-mail: paoline.coulson@nerf.be

*Introduction:* Large-scale neural implants, involving hundreds of electrodes and spanning multiple cortical areas, are emerging in clinics and neuroscience laboratories [1][2], however their accessibility remains limited. These technologies are based on cutting-edge flexible materials and rely on advanced integrated circuits for their acquisition, and therefore are only produced in research environments at high costs. We propose a novel system, including an industrially manufactured multi-thousand channel  $\mu$ ECoG implant, and a commercially available acquisition tool, resulting in a full neural implant solution, easily integrated in any laboratory environment.

Material, Methods and Results: Our µECoG can simultaneously record neural signals in the 1-200 Hz ECoG bandwidth, with 3,072 multiplexed electrodes. The embedded metal-oxide thin-film transistors

used to switch between electrodes have previously been established by our group [3], and are now being manufactured in an industrial foundry. Moreover, we have shown their biocompatibility according to ISO standards [3]. Their new low-cost and rapid production yields scaled devices, optimized for high conformability to the brain tissue with an 18  $\mu$ m thick polyimide substrate. High resolution and very high-density is achieved through iridium electrodes with 200  $\mu$ m pitch and customizable size between



Figure 1: Micrograph of the 3,072 electrode  $\mu ECoG$  implant with  $100 \times 100 \mu m^2$  iridium electrodes and 200  $\mu m$  electrode pitch.

30\*30 and  $100*100 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ . We have developed a small headstage and flexible connectors which enable a smooth implantation of the devices. Interfacing printed circuit boards (PCBs) were designed to achieve a compact system connecting to a carefully selected standard acquisition tool for electrophysiology laboratories. Demultiplexing of the signals is performed in near real-time enabling monitoring of the signals during recordings. In-vivo experiments have shown the capability of the implant to delineate whisker movements in the somatosensory cortex of rodents and has revealed dynamics across several cortical areas.

*Conclusion:* The accessible  $\mu$ ECoG system developed in this work yields unparalleled high-density recordings over large areas of the cortex. Thanks to its industrial production, the number of electrodes could be drastically increased compared to state-of-the-art implants and enables the rapid and low-cost manufacturing of the devices. Multi-thousand channel implants thus become easily accessible and can help push the boundaries of neuroprostheses.

- Benabid AL, et al. An Exoskeleton Controlled by an Epidural Wireless Brain–Machine Interface in a Tetraplegic Patient: A Proof-of-Concept Demonstration. In *The Lancet Neurology 18*, no. 12: 1112–22, 2019.
- [2] Moses DA, et al. Neuroprosthesis for Decoding Speech in a Paralyzed Person with Anarthria. In New England Journal of Medicine 385, no. 3, 2021.
- [3] Londoño-Ramírez H, Huang X, Cools J, Chrzanowska A, Brunner C, Ballini M, Hoffman L, Steudel S, Rolin C, Mora Lopez C, Genoe J, Haesler S. Multiplexed Surface Electrode Arrays Based on Metal Oxide Thin-Film Electronics for High-Resolution Cortical Mapping. In Advanced Science, 11, 2308507, 2024.

## Quantizing the Growth in Clinical Trials for Implanted Brain-Computer Interfaces Addressing Motor, Sensory, and Communication Applications.

K. M. Patrick-Krueger<sup>1</sup>\*, I. Burkhart<sup>2</sup>, J.L. Contreras-Vidal<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Texas Health Sciences, Houston, Texas, US; <sup>2</sup>BCI Pioneers Coalition, Columbus, Ohio, US; <sup>3</sup>University of Houston, Texas, US \*1133 John Freeman Blvd, 440-1, Houston, Texas. E-mail: KMPatKru@gmail.com

*Introduction:* The total number of people living with motor control, sensory or communication impairments who have undergone long-term electrodes implanted to become a participant in implanted brain-computer interface (iBCI) clinical trials has more than doubled in the past six years [1]. In the past 18 months, two new electrodes have entered clinical trials: Neo by Neuracle Neuroscience and N2 by Neuralink. This emerging technology is demonstrating clinically viable results and is rapidly moving toward commercialization, yet there is no comprehensive data repository to guide the progression of the field.

*Material, Methods and Results:* An accurate and timely accounting that includes the increasing number of research groups, implanted participants, and electrodes in active clinical trials quantifies the rapid growth of the field. These parameters will be identified by surveying literature and ClinicalTrials.gov, requesting new participant information from known research groups, and reviewing university and industry press releases with a data collection date of 31 April 2025. These results will be compared with data collections ending December 2023 [1] and September 2024 (Figure 1) to provide the scale of growth in the iBCI field.

*Conclusion:* By demonstrating the growth in clinical trials, we propose an urgent need for the creation of an implanted brain-computer interface (iBCI) registry to act as a repository to provide accurate information to guide researchers, industry, investors, and regulators.

*Acknowledgments:* We thank all of the research groups who helped ensure the accuracy of this data by providing information for their labs, as well as all the participants and their support networks, without whom none of this would be possible.

*Disclosures:* KMPK and JLCV have no disclosures. IB is a consultant to Blackrock Neurotech and the FDA, and co-founder of the BCI Pioneer Coalition.

#### Reference:

[1] Patrick-Krueger, K.M., Burkhart, I, Contreras-Vidal, J.L. The state of clinical trials of implantable brain–computer interfaces. *Nat Rev Bioeng* **3**, 50-67 (2025).

## Quantifying Neuro-motor Relationships using Deep Learning for Deep Brain Stimulation Targeting in Parkinson's Disease

E.M. Radcliffe<sup>1,2\*</sup>, D.R. Kramer<sup>1</sup>, D.S. Kern<sup>1,3</sup>, J.A. Thompson<sup>1,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Dept. of Neurosurgery, Aurora, CO, USA; <sup>2</sup>University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Dept. of Bioengineering, Aurora, CO, USA; <sup>3</sup>University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Dept. of Neurology, Aurora, CO, USA

\*13001 East 17th Place, Aurora, CO, 80045. E-mail: erin.radcliffe@cuanschutz.edu

*Introduction:* Deep brain stimulation (DBS) of the subthalamic nucleus (STN) is an established treatment for medication-refractory Parkinson's disease (PD) [1]. Optimal targeting of the DBS electrode within the sensorimotor region of the STN attenuates many PD motor symptoms [2]. Conventional techniques for intraoperative STN-DBS targeting rely on time-intensive clinical assessments of movement-related electrophysiological signatures in real-time [3]. This standard procedure is subjective, arduous, and requires advanced clinical expertise [3]. In this study, we performed a correlation between neuronal firing rate (FR) within the STN and volitional movements tracked using computer vision (CV) to inform more objective, efficient strategies for optimizing DBS targeting and programming.

Material, Methods and Results: Datasets from 4 patients with PD (N=5 hemispheres) were analyzed. During awake DBS surgery within distinct STN subregions, we collected single neuron activity synchronized with multi-camera video recordings while subjects performed repeated trials of upper extremity motor tasks. Neural signal processing, markerless motion tracking, and deep learning-based kinematic feature extraction were used to evaluate STN neurophysiological dynamics in relation to CV-tracked movements (Fig. 1A). Repeated-measures ANOVAs compared within-subject averages of normalized FR across STN regions, with post-hoc tests applied to investigate significant comparisons. In 3 hemispheres, mean neuronal FR was highest and increased most significantly during active movement, relative to baseline activity, in the dorsolateral STN (Fig. 1B).

*Conclusion:* Preliminary results support the hypothesis that correlation strength between neuronal firing rate and kinematic features provides a basis for predicting the sensorimotor region of the STN during DBS surgery. Computational tools that quantify relevant neuro-motor relationships may assist clinicians in optimizing DBS targeting for PD.



Figure 1: A) Neural network-labeled video frames (top) and tracking of an anatomical coordinate (bottom) during repetitions of a Hand Pronation/Supination motor task; B) Raster plot of spike times during repetitions of the motor task (seen in A) at distinct STN depths: dorsal (green), central (purple), ventral (blue).

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank the patients who participated in this research. E.M.R. receives fellowship support from the National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship Program (NSF GRFP). D.S.K. receives research funding from Boston Scientific, Medtronic, University of Colorado Department of Neurology, and the Parkinson's Foundation. J.A.T. receives research funding from Boston Scientific, Medtronic, and the National Institute of Health (NIH).

- Limousin P, Krack P, Pollak P, Benazzouz A, Ardouin C, Hoffmann D, Benabid A-L. Electrical Stimulation of the Subthalamic Nucleus in Advanced Parkinson's Disease. New England Journal of Medicine, 1998.
- [2] Thompson JA, Oukal S, Bergman H, Ojemann S, Hebb A, Hanrahan S, Israel Z, Abosch A. Semi-automated application for estimating subthalamic nucleus boundaries and optimal target selection for deep brain stimulation implantation surgery. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 2018.
- [3] Tekriwal A, Baker S, Christensen E, Petersen-Jones H, Tien RN, Ojemann S, Kern DS, Kramer DR, Felsen G, Thompson JA. Quantifying neuro-motor correlations during awake deep brain stimulation surgery using markerless tracking. *Scientific Reports*, 2022.

### Efficient and accurate cortical spike train decoding for BCI implants with recurrent spiking neural networks

Tengjun Liu<sup>1,2</sup>, Tuoru Li<sup>1</sup>, Julia Gygax<sup>2</sup>, Julian Rossbroich<sup>2</sup>, Tianyang Li<sup>3</sup>, Yuqi Yang<sup>1</sup>, Zihao

Li<sup>1</sup>, Yansong Chua<sup>4\*</sup>, Jie Yang<sup>3</sup>, Weidong Chen<sup>1</sup>, Friedemann Zenke<sup>2</sup>, Shaomin Zhang<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China; <sup>2</sup>Friedrich Miescher Institute for Biomedical Research, Basel, Switzerland;

<sup>1</sup>Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China; <sup>2</sup>Friedrich Miescher Institute for Biomedical Research, Basel, Switzerland; <sup>3</sup>Westelake University, Hangzhou, China; <sup>4</sup>China Nanhu Academy of Electronics and Information Technology, Jiaxing, China \*111 Qixing Road, Jiaxing, China. E-mail: caiyansong@cnaeit.com

*Introduction:* Externally mounted pedestals of invasive brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) risk infection, requiring fully implanted systems. These systems must meet strict latency and energy limits with reliable decoding. While recurrent spiking neural networks (RSNNs) are well-suited for low-power neuromorphic hardware, it is unclear if they can provide both high decoding performance and low energy use.

*Material, Methods and Results:* To evaluate this, we trained a tinyRSNN to decode finger velocity from cortical spike trains (CSTs) of two monkeys (Fig. 1A-C). Our tinyRSNN outperformed classical Kalman Filter (KF) and max coefficient of determination ( $R^2$ ) baselines in NeuroBench [1] (ANN3d, SNN3), though it fell behind AEGRU, the top R2 achiever in the IEEE BioCAS 2024 neural decoding challenge [2]. However, we can achieve comparable  $R^2$  by scaling up our model to bigRSNN (Fig. 1D). The tinyRSNN, notably, consumed less energy in synaptic operations than the baselines for balancing high  $R^2$  with low energy need in NeuroBench (ANN2d, SNN2) [1], while achieving much higher  $R^2$ . In particular, tinyRSNN consumed only around 1/2557 AEGRU's effective energy (Fig. 1E). To determine what contributes to this good trade-off, we show in ablation studies that dynamic synapses, recurrent connections, learnable heterogeneous time constants, and pretraining improved  $R^2$ , while synaptic pruning and activity regularization reduced energy use (Fig. 1F). Finally, tinyRSNN was deployed on an FPGA (VCU118), achieving low power (around 12mW) and similar  $R^2$  to GPU-based results (Fig. 1G).

*Conclusion:* Our results thus show that tinyRSNN offers competitive CST decoding performance under tight resource constraints and can be deployed on low-power FPGAs without a loss in decoding accuracy.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work is funded by: ZJU Doctoral Graduate Academic Rising Star Development Program (No. 2023059), EU's Horizon Europe Research and Innovation Programme (Grant Agreement No. 101070374, CONVOLVE) funded through SERI (Ref. 1131-52302), the Swiss National Science Foundation (Grant Number PCEFP3\_202981), and the Novartis Research Foundation.



Figure 1: *A. RSNN* model: one input layer, one recurrent hidden layer (leaky integrate-and-fire neurons), and one output layer (leaky integrator neurons). *B.* Two monkeys (*L* & *I*) perform a random dot reaching task [3]. *C. RSNN* activities: Bottom: recorded CSTs (input layer); middle: hidden layer spike raster; Top: output layer membrane potentials (predictions) vs. ground truth. *D.* Decoding performance ( $R^2$ ) of *RSNN* models vs. baselines. \* denotes statistical significance of the proposed tinyRSNN and other models, based on paired t-test: \*\*: p < 0.01, \*\*\*: p < 0.001. n.s.: not significant. Results are shown from six sessions (*L1-L3, 11-13*) and five random initializations each. *E.* Comparison of energy consumption (effective energy ratio). *F.* Ablation studies for decoding accuracy (purple) and energy consumption (green). Each point (representing one session) should be interpreted according to the axis of its corresponding color. Ab. & Unab.: Ablated & Unablated results. DynSyn: dynamical synapses, LearnHetTC: learnable heterogeneous time constants, RecCon: recurrent connections, UBReg: upper bound neuronal activity regularization. *G.* tinyRSNN implementation on the FPGA (VCU118) with its decoding accuracy and energy consumption.

- [1] Yik, J., Frenkel, C. & Reddi, V. J. Advancing Neuromorphic Computing Algorithms and Systems with NeuroBench. In *NeurIPS 2024 Workshop Machine Learning with new Compute Paradigms*, 2024.
- [2] Zhou, B., Sun, P. S. V., Yik, J., et al. Grand Challenge on Neural Decoding for Motor Control of non-Human Primates. In 2024 IEEE Biomedical Circuits and Systems Conference (BioCAS), 2024.
- [3] O'Doherty, J. E., Cardoso, M. M. B., Makin, J. G., et al. Nonhuman Primate Reaching with Multichannel Sensorimotor Cortex Electrophysiology [Data set]. Zenodo, 2017.

## Can sex be decoded from MI features in deep learning based BCIs?: an exploratory analysis

#### **B. J. Zorzet<sup>1\*</sup>**, V. Peterson<sup>2</sup>, **D. H. Milone<sup>1</sup> and R. Echeveste<sup>1</sup>**

<sup>1</sup>Research Institute for Signals, Systems and Computational Intelligence sinc(i), FICH–UNL/CONICET, Santa Fe, Argentina.; <sup>2</sup> Instituto de Matemática Aplicada del Litoral, IMAL, UNL-CONICET, Santa Fe, Argentina \*Ciudad Universitaria UNL, Ruta Nacional Nº 168, km 472.4, FICH, 4to Piso (3000) Santa Fe – Argentina. E-mail: bzorzet@sinc.unl.edu.ar

*Introduction:* Deep Learning (DL) methods in Motor Imagery Brain-Computer Interfaces (MI-BCI) are promising models for capturing complex EEG representations. Nevertheless, biases based on attributes such as sex and age can, although inadvertent, be introduced [1]. Previous studies have explored decoding age and sex through various techniques [2, 3, 4, 5], but it remains unexplored whether sex-related information is present in the features of DL models trained for MI tasks. This study aims to examine if features in the intermediate layers of a MI-BCI DL model include such information.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Two datasets were used, referred here to as Cho 2017 [6] and Lee 2019 [7]. Preprocessing included band-pass filtering, re-referencing to Fz, and downsampling to 128 Hz. A 2-second EEG window (0.5–2.5 s post-MI cue) was extracted for channels C3, C4, and Cz. The EEGNet [8] was used as DL model. It was trained using Leave-One-Subject-Out cross-validation balanced by sex. Per each leave-out subject, 100 models were trained (20 data splits and 5 model initializations). We first verified that models were successfully trained for the MI task for both male and female subjects (Table 1, top). A consistent trend favoring female performance is observed, but no significant sex differences were found. Next, we assessed the presence of sex-related information in the learned features. To do this the MI models were modified by freezing all layers except the final classification layer, which was re-trained for sex classification. Results reveal that sex-related information is present for male subjects (significantly above chance level classification), while not for female subjects (Table 1, bottom).

*Conclusion:* Our results show that sex-related information in DL trained for an unrelated MI-BCI task is present in the features of the model. At the same time, we observe a slight (though n.s.) trend toward better performance for women in MI tasks in both datasets. In contrast, sex can be better detected from model activations in the case of male subjects, suggesting that spurious correlations with sex are detrimental to BCI performance. Our work thus raises a concern: if demographic information like sex are still present in

Dataset	Global Accuracy	Female	Male							
Motor Imagery Classification										
Cho 2017	0.709 ± 0.131 ***	0.755 ± 0.132 ***	0.682 ± 0.124 ***							
Lee 2019	0.710 ± 0.115 ***	0.738 ± 0.111 ***	0.690 ± 0.120 ***							
Sex Classif	ication									
Cho 2017	0.591 ± 0.276 *	0.446 ± 0.309 n.s.	0.674 ± 0.248 *							
Lee 2019	0.550 ± 0.258 n.s.	0.470 ± 0.297 n.s.	0.609 ± 0.254 n.s.							

Table 1: Global accuracy values and sex-specific performances for each dataset for Motor Imagery (MI) and sex classification. A Wilcoon test was applied to each accuracy greater than chance level (Wilcoxon test). \*: p < 0.05, \*\*: p < 0.01, \*\*\*: p < 0.001.

features extracted by DL models (like EEGNet) trained with balanced by sex data, and this correlates with model performance, more complex architectures may amplify biases. Further assessment of these potential issues is crucial for ensuring fair, transparent, and robust DL systems for MI-BCIs.

- [1] Ricci Lara MA, Echeveste R, Ferrante E. Addressing fairness in artificial intelligence for medical imaging. *Nature Communications*, 13(1):4581, 2022.
- [2] Kaur B, Singh D, Roy PP. Age and gender classification using brain-computer interface. *Neural Computing and Applications*, 31(10):5887–5900, 2019.
- [3] Wang P, Hu J. A hybrid model for EEG-based gender recognition. *Cognitive Neurodynamics*, 13(6):541–554, 2019.
- [4] Kaushik P, Gupta A, Roy P, Dogra D. EEG-based age and gender prediction using deep BLSTM-LSTM network model. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 18(1):1–1, 2018. doi:10.1109/JSEN.2018.2885582.
- [5] Van Putten MJAM, Olbrich S, Arns M. Predicting sex from brain rhythms with deep learning. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1):3069, 2018.
- [6] Cho H, Ahn M, Ahn S, Kwon M, Jun SC. EEG datasets for motor imagery brain–computer interface. *GigaScience*, 6(7):gix034, 2017.
  [7] Lee MH, Kwon OY, Kim YJ, Kim HK, Lee YE, Williamson J, et al. EEG dataset and OpenBMI toolbox for three BCI paradigms: An
- [7] Lee MH, Kwon OY, Kim YJ, Kim HK, Lee YE, Williamson J, et al. EEG dataset and OpenBMI toolbox for three BCI paradigms: An investigation into BCI illiteracy. *GigaScience*, 8(5):giz002, 2019.
- [8] Lawhern VJ, Solon AJ, Waytowich NR, Gordon SM, Hung CP, Lance BJ. EEGNet: a compact convolutional neural network for EEGbased brain-computer interfaces. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 15(5):056013, 2018.

## **Evoking Facial Expressions by Functional Electrical Stimulation in Healthy Volunteers**

M.S.W. Verberne<sup>1\*</sup>, N. Chadly<sup>1</sup>, N.F. Ramsey<sup>1,2</sup>, M.J. Vansteensel<sup>1</sup>, J. Berezutskaya<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University Medical Center Utrecht Brain Center, The Netherlands <sup>2</sup>Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands

\* P.O. Box 3584CX, Utrecht, The Netherlands, E-mail: M.S.W.Verberne@umcutrecht.nl

*Introduction:* Individuals with facial or full-body paralysis face significant challenges in expressing themselves, which greatly limits their ability to communicate with family and loved ones. Augmentative and alternative communication technology including brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) has so far prioritized enabling verbal communication for these people. Natural communication, however, involves emotional facial expressions and other forms of non-verbal communication that are lacking in currently existing solutions. The present study explores the feasibility of using functional electrical stimulation (FES) to evoke facial expressions in healthy participants. In the future, this could lead to combining BCIs with FES to restore facial movement in people with severe paralysis.

*Material & Methods & Results:* We conducted an experiment to evoke up to six basic facial expressions with surface FES in healthy participants. We used an ELPHA 3000 medical device with Axelgaard surface hydrogel electrodes (2,5 cm in diameter) to deliver stimulation. Eighteen participants never previously exposed to facial FES were included (15 female, 2 male, 1 unknown; mean age of 23). Per participant, up to six facial expressions were stimulated (five on average) by applying two-second-long stimulations on two target facial muscles (**Table 1**) simultaneously only on the right side of the face. After every stimulation attempt, participants rated their <u>discomfort</u> level on a five-point Likert scale. We started with lowest stimulation intensity possible and, if participants' discomfort level was low, increased stimulation intensity by 1 mA until movement was observed. At final settings, stimulation was applied three times consecutively and videorecorded. In addition, participants reported <u>what facial expression</u> <u>they perceived</u> upon stimulation by choosing one out of all six options and their <u>certainty</u> about their answer on a five-point Likert scale. The stimulation results are summarized in **Table 1**.

**Table 1.** Results of FES stimulation of six facial expressions in 18 healthy participants. Achieved observed movement (%): percentage of participants in whom stimulated facial expression was successfully evoked based on movement observed by two researchers. Self-reported correctly: percentage of facial expressions reported by participants that matched the target of stimulation. Certainty: mean and standard deviation of participants' certainty regarding self-reported evoked facial expressions. Target muscles are the muscles stimulated per expression. Intensity is the stimulation intensity required to achieve observed movement. Discomfort is the discomfort level at which the observed movement was achieved (0 = sensation absent; 1-5 = sensation present discomfort rating).

Facial expression	Achieved observed movement (%) [n <sub>achieved</sub> /n <sub>attempt</sub> ]	Self- reported correctly (%)	Certainty (min: 1, max: 5)	Targeted muscles	Intensity (mA)	Discomfort (min: 0, max 5)
happy	94.4 [17/18]	43.14	2 5+1 50	orbicularis oculi (tighten the eyelid)	4.56±1.86	2.06±0.97
			5.5±1.50	zygomaticus major (elevate the lip corner)	7.18±1.32	1.94±0.97
angry	91.6 [11/12]	60.61	3.45±0.94	corrugator (lower the inner eyebrow)	6.32+1.12	3.20±0.79
				orbicularis oris (tighten/pucker the lip)	9.18±2.28	3.00±0.94
disgusted	100 [16/16]	58.33	3.18±1.39	levator labii superioris alaeque nasi (elevate upper lip)	7.06±1.42	2.27±1.16
				depressor anguli oris (lower the lip corner)	9.00±2.16	2.53±1.13
sad	88.9 [16/18]	20.83	3.33±1.64	frontalis medial (elevate the inner eyebrow)	5.88±1.04	2.85±0.99
				depressor anguli oris (lower the lip corner)	9.5±2.73	2.62±0.77
scared	100 [18/18]	14.81	3.00±0.93	frontalis lateral (elevate the entire eyebrow)	5.61±2.17	2.54±0.66
				depressor anguli oris (lower the lip corner)	9.44±2.50	2.46±0.78
surprised	85.7 [12/14]	33.33	2.44±0.67	frontalis lateral (elevate the entire eyebrow)	5.5±1.09	1.94±0.97
				masseter (lower the jaw and stretch the mouth)	7.76±1.70	1.94±0.97

*Discussion & Significance:* Present results show that FES can evoke noticeable movement at slight to moderate discomfort levels in more than 85% of tested participants for all facial expressions. Evoked expressions do not yet seem to be reliably perceived by participants as target expressions. Further work assessing perception of evoked expressions by independent observers will be done. Altogether, present work shows promising results for using FES to evoke facial movement for enabling non-verbal communication in people with severe motor paralysis.

*Acknowledgments & Disclosures:* Funded by the Dutch Research Council grants OCENW.XS22.4.118 and VI.Veni.232.230. Nothing to disclose.

## **Development of Brain-Computer Interface Translational Research Platform in Canine Models**

F. Lampert<sup>1</sup>\*, F. Mivalt<sup>2,3</sup>, W. Engelhardt<sup>4</sup>, I. Kim<sup>2</sup>, J. Kim<sup>2</sup>, G. Schalk<sup>5</sup>, N.F. Ince<sup>1,6</sup>, P. Brunner<sup>4</sup>, G.A. Worrell<sup>2,6</sup>, K.J. Miller<sup>1,6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Mayo Clinic, MN, USA; <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurology, Mayo Clinic, MN, USA; <sup>3</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, Brno University of Technology, Czechia; <sup>4</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Washington University School of Medicine, St Louis, MO, USA; <sup>5</sup>Fudan University, Shanghai, China; <sup>6</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, Mayo Clinic, MN, USA

\* 200 First Street SW, Rochester, MN 55905, USA; E-mail: lampert.frederik@mayo.edu;

Introduction: Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) applications require expertise in hardware, software. neurophysiology and signal processing, limiting their widespread use. To lower the entry barrier and to encourage potential clinical BCI applications, we are developing an open-source ecosystem in canine models combining the BCI2000 software environment and CorTec's Brain-Interchange (BIC) platform (see Fig.1). This ecosystem enables real-time signal visualization, analytical online processing pipelines for BCI applications, as well as both open & closed-loop stimulation paradigms across all 32 channels independently [1].

Methods and Results: We have implanted three canines with cortical or deep brain stimulation (DBS) electrodes. Following surgical recovery, canines were monitored on daily basis for over 23 months (in total), during which we evaluated in-vivo capabilities of the BIC, including the device's noise floor, packet loss rate and impedance fluctuations. We recorded signals during various brain states, including task-based movement & multi-sensory behavior, rest or sleep in all three canines. We triggered closed-



Figure 1: CorTec BIC–BCI2000 recording setup. Implant is powered inductively by a magnetically attached headpiece. Data are transferred wirelessly to a communication unit and visualized on a PC running BCI2000 software.



Figure 2: Schematic figure of the closed-loop stimulation. Local field potentials (LFPs) are streamed to PC and signal power in band is calculated. After exceeding a threshold, stimulation is triggered.

loop stimulation based on different brain oscillations (see Fig.2). After almost a year post implant, we conducted series of simple functional tasks in one canine and successfully decoded brain activity by capturing broadband spectral changes associated with local neuronal activation [2]. Additionally, we recorded and quantified evoked response potentials triggered by single-pulse stimulation in all three of the canines and captured epileptic activity during sleep in the canine with natural occurring epilepsy.

*Conclusion:* We are developing a powerful open-source ecosystem that will bridge research and clinical settings, enabling closed-loop neuromodulation or BCI applications therapies for patients with various neurological disorders, such as ALS, stroke or epilepsy.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This research is conducted under Mayo Clinic IACUC protocol A00001713-16-R19. All dogs will be available for adoption at the conclusion of the research in accordance with the Minnesota state Beagle Freedom Bill. This work was supported by the NIH U01-NS128612 (KJM, GAW, PB). Sketches in the figures were created using generative AI.

- [1] Schalk G et al. *Toward a fully implantable ecosystem for adaptive neuromodulation in humans: Preliminary experience with the Cortec braininterchange device in a canine model.* Frontiers in Neuroscience. 2022;16:932782.
- [2] Miller KJ, Honey CJ, Hermes D, Rao RP, Ojemann JG, et al. Broadband changes in the cortical surface potential track activation of functionally diverse neuronal populations. Neuroimage. 2014;85:711–720.

## **Closed-Loop Augmentation of Cognitive States**

Z. Steine-Hanson<sup>1\*</sup>, M. Mahmood<sup>1</sup>, A. Covalin<sup>2</sup>, N. Khodaparast<sup>2</sup>, J. Kohl<sup>1</sup>, I. Plotkin<sup>1</sup>, J. Artuso<sup>1</sup>, C. Russomanno<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>OpenBCI, Inc <sup>2</sup>Spark Biomedical, Inc <sup>\*</sup> 67 West St, Brooklyn, NY 11222 Email: zoe@openbci.com

#### Introduction:

Enhancing cognitive ability is crucial for improving decision-making and job performance in the future. In this study, our objective is to extend periods of optimal cognitive performance by applying neurostimulation to buffer participants against the effects of increased levels of stress, distraction, and cybersick-We use OpenBCI's ness. Galea biosensing headset to measure cognitive state and Spark Biomedical's Sparrow Link neurostimulation device to deliver external stimulation in a closed-loop system (figure 1).



Figure 1: Overview of the CAMSAN project. Pilots often use virtual reality to train for in-thefield scenarios. We can improve pilot performance during training by developing a closed-loop system to modulate performance. OpenBCI's Galea biosensing headset is used to record multimodal biosignals during VR experiences. We interpret the signals to predict a users stress, attention and cybersickness. When these cognitive states cross a threshold, we apply neurostimulation on the vagal nerve using Spark Biomedical's Sparrow Link tAN system.

#### Material, Methods and Results:

This study contains three phases of data collection. In Phase 1, participants completed four tasks in VR: Flanker [1], GradCPT [2], MATB [3] and a custom cybersickness task, while wearing the Galea headset without any neurostimulation. Galea simultaneously collects EEG, EMG, EDA PPG and EOG during these tasks [4]. In Phase 2, participants completed the same tasks, but with manual tAN applied based on cognitive state. In Phase 3, participants completed the same tasks with the automated closed-loop neurostimulation system. At the time of writing, we have collected Phase 1 data from 15 participants.

*Conclusion:* This study shows the potential for non-implanted technologies that improve cognitive performance using a passive closed-loop BCI system, and multi-modal biosensors.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: All authors of this submission are employees of either OpenBCI or Spark Biomedical. As such, they may derive financial gain from the submitted work, whether in cash or in-kind, through mechanisms such as product sales, intellectual property, or other business-related benefits. This research is sponsored by the U.S. Air Force.

- [1] Barbara A. Eriksen and Charles W. Eriksen. "Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task". In: *Perception & Psychophysics* 16.1 (Jan. 1, 1974), pp. 143–149. ISSN: 1532-5962. DOI: 10.3758/BF03203267.
- [2] Monica Rosenberg et al. "Sustaining visual attention in the face of distraction: a novel gradual-onset continuous performance task". In: Attention, Perception & Psychophysics 75.3 (Apr. 2013), pp. 426–439. ISSN: 1943-393X. DOI: 10.3758/s13414-012-0413-x.
- [3] OpenMATB: A Multi-Attribute Task Battery promoting task customization, software extensibility and experiment replicability - PubMed. URL: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32140999/.
- [4] Galea. OpenBCI Online Store. URL: https://shop.openbci.com/products/galea.

## Feasibility of Non-Invasive EEG Brain-Computer Interfaces in Neurologic Music Therapy for Attention Training in Children with Neuromotor Disorders

Si Long Jenny Tou<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Susannah Van Damme<sup>1</sup>, Andrea Lamont<sup>1</sup>, Eunice Kang<sup>1</sup>, Tom Chau<sup>1,2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital; <sup>2</sup>University of Toronto \*150 Kilgour Rd, Toronto, ON, M4G1R8, Canada. E-mail: sl.tou@mail.utoronto.ca

*Introduction:* Neurologic Music Therapy (NMT) uses music-based interventions to enhance neurorehabilitation outcomes. Non-invasive EEG brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) have shown promise in clinical settings for recreational therapy in children with special needs [1]. In this study, we explore the feasibility of integrating BCIs with NMT for attention training in children with neuromotor disorders.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Three participants (ages 7–15) were each recruited for sixteen 45minute sessions of BCI-NMT, alongside pre- and post-intervention attention assessments. To date, one participant has completed the study. Across all participants, 35 sessions have been conducted, with BCI data recorded in 33 sessions. Each session is facilitated by a certified music therapist and a BCI technician, and includes three NMT interventions using traditional musical instruments, followed by three BCI-NMT interventions. BCI activations were enabled by Mindset software [2] to control 1–2 switches that triggered prerecorded musical outputs. The BCIs were trained using three trials of each 5-second task of familiar mental imagery activities. All sessions were video recorded for subsequent analysis.

No adverse events were reported during the study. All participants reported enjoyment with the BCI-NMT sessions and demonstrated high motivation for continued participation. One participant used a 32-channel BrainVision R-Net EEG headset throughout the study, while two others initially tried the R-Net but transitioned to the Emotiv Epoch X headset after reporting better comfort and tolerability. All participants consistently produced discernible brain signals for 1–2 active mental imagery tasks and rest, achieving 100% training accuracy across all sessions. With manual adjustments to the classification thresholds, all



Figure 1: Illustration of BCI-NMT setup. Music therapist tailored the intervention to the child's needs and provided musical cues for the child to follow. Mental imagery EEG was transmitted to Mindset then to switch musical outputs.

participants were able to use the BCI effectively for NMT activities during online tasks.

*Conclusion and Next Steps:* This preliminary investigation demonstrates the feasibility of using noninvasive EEG BCIs for NMT in attention training for children with neuromotor disorders. Key to the success of these interventions were child-specific adaptations, including individualized headset selection, tailored control signals, task designs, and personalized music and instrument preferences. Future work will focus on annotating video recordings to evaluate real-time BCI accuracy and quantify attention-related outcomes across sessions. These findings aim to inform further development of BCIenabled NMT for pediatric populations with neuromotor challenges.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* We extend our gratitude to Ka Lun Tam and Jason Leung for their technical support and to our summer students Huda Jirreh, Melody Nguyen, Anusha Broekhuyse, and Ethan Dhanraj for their dedication to this project. This work was supported by the Kimel Family Pediatric Rehabilitation Scholarships.

- Van Damme, S., Mumford, L., Johnson, A., & Chau, T. (2024). Case report: Novel use of clinical brain-computer interfaces in recreation programming for an autistic adolescent with co-occurring attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 18, 1434792.
- [2] Leung, J., & Chau, T. (2024). Mindset-a general purpose brain-computer interface system for end-users. IEEE Access.

### Proprioceptive and Visual Feedback Effects on iBCI Decoding of Hand Grasps

J. Gusman<sup>1,4\*</sup>, D. de Lucena<sup>2</sup>, T. Hosman<sup>1,4</sup>, A. Kapitonava<sup>3</sup>, C. Nicolas<sup>3</sup>, A. Acosta<sup>3</sup>, D. Wagner<sup>2</sup>, D. Rubin<sup>2,3</sup>, J. Simeral<sup>1,4</sup>, C. Vargas-Irwin<sup>1,4</sup>, C. Walsh<sup>2</sup>, L. Hochberg<sup>1,2,3,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Brown University, Providence, RI, USA; <sup>2</sup>Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA; <sup>3</sup>Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>4</sup>Dept. of VA Medical Center, Providence, RI, USA.

\*131 Waterman St., Providence, RI, USA. E-mail: jacob\_gusman@brown.edu

*Introduction:* Intracortical brain-computer interfaces (iBCIs) enable people with paralysis to control assistive devices by decoding motor signals directly from motor-related areas of the brain. Augmenting visual feedback with somatosensory feedback, such as through haptic interfaces [1] or intracortical microstimulation [2], has been shown to enhance iBCI performance for users who have also lost the ability to feel with their hands. Meanwhile, the integration of iBCI decoding with soft robotic wearables presents an opportunity to restore movement of one's own limbs while incorporating information from residual proprioceptive pathways available to some users, such as those with ALS. Although proprioceptive signals have been observed in human motor cortex recordings [3], it remains unclear how these inputs interact with concurrent motor attempt–related activity. Here, we investigated how visual and proprioceptive feedback provided by a soft robotic glove (SRG) modulate neural activity in motor cortex and affect grip decoding performance for iBCIs.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Experimental sessions were performed by two BrainGate participants: T17, a 34-year-old man with advanced ALS, and T11, a 40-year-old man with a spinal cord injury (C4 AIS-B). T17 had six 64-electrode arrays implanted in his left precentral gyrus (PCG), and T11 had two 96-electrode arrays implanted

in his left PCG. A fabric-based, pneumatically actuated glove and control system were manufactured and programmed to provide 4 grip states: power grip, pinch grip, open hand, and relax. Using the SRG, we recorded neural responses while participants actively attempted or passively observed hand grips in the presence or absence of proprioceptive feedback (SRG on own hand vs. on mannequin) and in the presence or absence of visual feedback (SRG visible vs. behind a barrier). For T17, 59% of neurons selective for grip type during the motor intention only condition (no sensory feedback, "M") were also grip-selective during passive movement of the hand with the SRG (proprioception only, "P"). Only 5% of



Figure 1: Offline LDA grip classification performance on SRG grasps performed with concurrent motor attempts (M), visual feedback (V), proprioceptive feedback (P), and combinations.

neurons selective during M trials were selective during the visual feedback only condition ("V"). For T11, of the neurons identified as grip-selective during M trials, none were selective during P trials, but 30% were selective during V trials. Although the presence of sensory feedback (visual or proprioceptive) did not significantly affect decoding of grip attempts in T11, sensory feedback provided moderate decode performance gains in T17 (Fig. 1).

*Conclusion:* Our findings highlight the presence of sensory modulation in human PCG while confirming that iBCI decoding of attempted hand grasps remains robust when proprioceptive feedback is present and may further benefit from its inclusion. The results support the potential of soft robotics for the restoration of movement through iBCI decoding.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors would like to acknowledge T11, T17, and their care partners, as well as Beth Travers, Maryam Masood, and Dave Rosler. This work was supported by American Heart Association 19CSLOI34780000; NIH-NIDCD U01DC017844, NIH-NINDS U01NS123101; Department of Veterans Affairs Rehabilitation Research and Development Service A2295R, N2864C, and A4820R. The MGH Translational Research Center has a clinical research support agreement (CRSA) with Axoft, Neuralink, Neurobionics, Paradromics, Precision Neuro, Synchron, and Reach Neuro, for which LRH provides consultative input. LRH is a non-compensated member of the Board of Directors of a nonprofit assistive communication device technology foundation (Speak Your Mind Foundation). Mass General Brigham (MGB) is convening the Implantable Brain-Computer Interface Collaborative Community (iBCI-CC); charitable gift agreements to MGB, including those received to date from Paradromics, Synchron, Precision Neuro, Neuralink, and Blackrock Neurotech, support the iBCI-CC, for which LRH provides effort. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health, or the Department of Veterans Affairs or the United States Government. CAUTION: Investigational Device. Limited by Federal Law to Investigational Use.

- [1] Deo DR, Rezaii P, Hochberg LR, et al. Effects of peripheral haptic feedback on intracortical brain-computer interface control and associated sensory responses in motor cortex. IEEE Trans Haptics. 2021;14(4):762–775.
- Flesher SN, Downey JE, Weiss JM, et al. A brain-computer interface that evokes tactile sensations improves robotic arm control. Science. 2021;372(6544):831–836.
- [3] Shaikhouni A, Donoghue JP, Hochberg LR. Somatosensory responses in a human motor cortex. J Neurophysiol. 2013;109(8):2192–2204.

#### The Application of Stereo-electroencephalography for Brain-computer Interfaces

Maxime Verwoert<sup>1\*</sup>, Paul Weger<sup>1</sup>, Sophia Gimple<sup>1</sup>, Pieter L. Kubben<sup>1,2</sup> and Christian Herff<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Mental Health and Neuroscience Research Institute, Maastricht University, Maastricht, The Netherlands; <sup>2</sup>Academic Center for Epileptology, Kempenhaeghe/Maastricht University Medical Center, Maastricht, The Netherlands

\*E-mail: m.verwoert@maastrichtuniversity.nl

*Introduction*: Stereo-electroencephalography (sEEG) has grown to be the most prominent method in the treatment of medication-resistant epilepsy due to its minimally invasive nature and ability to target deep subcortical brain regions with high temporal resolution (Fig. 1). Despite its growing use in the clinic and in neuroscientific research, its potential for brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) has remained underexplored [1]. Over the past 5 years, our lab has investigated sEEG's potential in decoding a wide range of cognitive processes relevant for BCIs, including hand movement [2], speech [3], navigation [4] and decision-making [5]. We have also addressed key preprocessing challenges such as re-referencing, which arise from its unique electrode coverage.

*Methods*: We evaluated the impact of six re-referencing methods (bipolar, laplacian, electrode shaft, common average, common median, and a data-driven independent component-based method) on sEEG signal quality and decoding performance of two tasks in beta and broadband frequency ranges. Additionally, we applied machine learning techniques to evaluate the potential of decoding different cognitive processes from sEEG recordings: hand movement (grasping motion), speech (overt production), navigation (movement speed) and decision-making (arbitrary and informed decisions).



Figure 1: Electrode locations on an averaged brain for the 15 stereo-electroencephalography participants included in the re-referencing analysis. Each color represents one participant and each sphere represents one electrode channel.

*Results and Discussion*: We found that the optimal re-referencing method depends primarily on the frequency range of interest, where local references (bipolar, laplacian) are preferable for low-frequency activity and global references (common average, electrode shaft) for high-frequency activity. However, the choice should be tailored to the goal of the study. The remaining results show that we can decode meaningful cognitive states from sEEG data, across a wide range of different tasks and processes. The depth electrodes offer the benefit of reaching sulci and deeper nuclei that other common invasive neurotechnologies cannot reach.

*Significance*: This work provides valuable insights into re-referencing strategies and decoding applications for sEEG, highlighting its potential as a versatile tool for both clinical and BCI developments.

- [1] Herff, C., Krusienski, D. J., & Kubben, P. (2020). The potential of stereotactic-EEG for brain-computer interfaces: current progress and future directions. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, *14*, 123.
- [2] Ottenhoff, M.C., Verwoert, M., Goulis, S., Wagner, L., van Dijk, J.P., Kubben, P.L. and Herff, C., 2024. Global motor dynamics-Invariant neural representations of motor behavior in distributed brain-wide recordings. *Journal of neural engineering*, 21(5), p.056034.
- [3] Angrick, M., Ottenhoff, M.C., Diener, L., Ivucic, D., Ivucic, G., Goulis, S., Saal, J., Colon, A.J., Wagner, L., Krusienski, D.J. and Kubben, P.L., 2021. Real-time synthesis of imagined speech processes from minimally invasive recordings of neural activity. *Communications biology*, 4(1), p.1055.
- [4] Saal, J., Ottenhoff, M.C., Kubben, P.L., Colon, A.J., Goulis, S., van Dijk, J.P., Krusienski, D.J. and Herff, C., 2023. Towards hippocampal navigation for brain–computer interfaces. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), p.14021.
- [5] Marras, L., Verwoert, M., Ottenhoff, M.C., Goulis, S., van Dijk, J.P., Tousseyn, S., Wagner, L., Colon, A.J., Kubben, P.L., Janssen, M.L. and Herff, S.A., 2023. Decoding Arbitrary and Informed Decisions from Intracranial Recordings in Humans. *bioRxiv*, pp.2023-06.

## Affective-Visual-Voice-Feedback Immersive Brain-**Computer Interface Integrating EEG-Based Motor Imagery and Generative AI for Stroke Patients**

Chia-Hsin Chen<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Jyun-Rong Zhuang<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Kaohsiung Medical University Hospital, Taiwan; <sup>2</sup> Neurotechnology and Assistive Technology Research Center, Taiwan; <sup>3</sup> Department of Mechanical Engineering, National Chung Hsing University, Taiwan

\*E-mail: chchen@kmu.edu.tw

Introduction: Stroke patients often use the exoskeleton system in a passive mode during the rehabilitation period. Motor imagery (MI) is controlled by capturing rhythmic signals, which promote the activation of motor nerves in the brain and accelerate their remodeling. This study aims to evaluate the effectiveness of a robot-assisted system combined with proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation (PNF) training compared to conventional treatment in subacute stroke patients. Affective, voice, and visual feedback can enhance the MI system's effectiveness.

Material, Methods and Results: Patients in good condition wear a 32-channel EEG dry cap during the BCI rehabilitation process. EEG recordings are used to monitor brain activity and control the BCI. We have developed a new BCI system that integrates motor



Figure 1: Affective-Visual-Voice-Feedback Immersive Brain-Computer Interface.

imagery, positive emotion recognition, visual-voice immersive environment, and generative speech AI, combined with an upper limb exoskeleton, to facilitate brain-computer loop rehabilitation and explore the relationship between neuroplastic changes and motor function recovery (see Figure 1). The detailed methods are as follows: 1. MI Recognition: Event-related resynchronization energy changes in the primary motor area of the cerebral cortex are used to determine whether the subject is performing MI. 2. Development of a visual-voice immersive environment: A Generative AI speech module, GPT-SoVITS-WebUI, is applied to imitate the voices and timbre of relatives to praise and encourage patients while using the upper limb exoskeleton to play an interactive rehabilitation game. 3. Emotion and **Concentration Recognition**: Concentration indicator ( $\beta_{avg}/\alpha_{avg}$ ) and Valence-Emotion indicator ( $\alpha_{F4}/\beta_{F4}$  $-\alpha_{\rm F3}/\beta_{\rm F3}$ ) are used to monitor patients' mental states during the new BCI system usage. These indicators, together with the immersive environment system, are employed to enhance the effectiveness of interactive rehabilitation.

The visual and auditory feedback are based on the allows the brain to communicate directly with external devices without the involvement of the peripheral nervous system and muscle tissue, allowing paralyzed people to do so without the need for physical movement. Limb MI can activate the plasticity of brain cells as real limb movements and can accelerate the repair of neural functional connections between limbs and the brain from EEG recording. Results from three subjects showed that using this system effectively improved concentration by 16.67% compared to not using it. During the rehabilitation task period, the average results indicated that the subjects successfully performed motor imagery 52.67% of the time. Positive emotions were detected 39.3% of the time, with approximately 12% of positive emotions lasting more than 10 seconds.

#### Conclusion:

The proposed BCI system can recognition module to instantly identify the patient's movement intention, feed the results back to the interactive scene to control the movement of interactive objects and the state of the brain topography, forming a real-time interactive closed-loop control structure.

# Comparative covariance example selection: a weak labelling approach to MI BCI classification

A. Thomas<sup>1\*</sup>, T. Carlson<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Aspire CREATe, University College London, London, United Kingdom; \*Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital, London, United Kingdom. E-mail: alex.thomas@ucl.ac.uk

*Introduction:* Motor Imagery (MI) Brain computer interfaces (BCI) require a significant training period to train the user and the BCI system. The effectiveness of this training can be increased by providing feedback to the user [1], however if the feedback is incorrect, it can cause the user to perform "incorrect mental tasks". Labeling these examples as correct examples will negatively affect system performance and not knowing where after the cue these poor examples are creates a weak-labeling multi-instance learning problem [2]. In this paper we propose a method to select correct examples to train MI systems.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We opted to use a filter matching approach to select what we believe to be correct examples. After applying a 4-40Hz 4th order butterworth filter, each participant's cross-sessional left- and right-hand mental tasks were segmented into 1 second epochs. A "perfect" example of mu rhythm event related de-synchronization with the same epoch length is then generated by creating a sinusoid for each channel at 10Hz to mimic alpha activity using the equation  $x_n = \sin((2\pi n f)/fs)$  where f is the desired frequency and fs is the sampling frequency of our signal. Using the same equation the channels C2 & C4 for left examples and C1 & C3 for right examples are set to a sinusoid at 20 Hz, mimicking the beta activation seen in motor imagery. We can then score the similarity between the cross channel covariance matrix of each example and the "perfect" example covariance matrix using the forbinius inner product ( $score \subset \mathbb{R} = tr(\overline{A^T}B)$ ).

After normalizing each participants instruction scores we then select all examples with a score above a threshold. Applying this method to the Physionet BCI2000 motor imagery dataset [3] and selecting 15 electrodes over the motor cortex with a score threshold > 0.5, we achieved a statistically significant increase in a 5 fold classification accuracy compared to not selecting examples (p < 0.05, wilcoxon signed rank test) for each participant using a simple 4 component common spatial pattern (CSP) transformation followed by a linear class balanced SMV (Figure 2). A simple CSP classifier was chosen to assess the effectiveness of the proposed method and provide spatial information on the selected examples (Figure 1).

*Conclusion:* The findings of this study suggest that example selection methods can improve classifier accuracy and may provide more accurate feedback to the user during human in the loop MI BCI training. Further testing is required to assess the effectiveness during training and how it effects the accuracy of more complex classifiers.



Figure 1: CSP pattern plots of left and right hand motor imagery sets. Left is all examples while right is with example selection



Figure 2: Boxplot of classification accuracies per participant with and without example selection. \* indicates a significant difference

- [1] Pfurtscheller G, Neuper C. Motor imagery and direct brain-computer communication. in *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 89(7), 1123–1134. 2001.
- [2] Cheng L, Luo S, Li B, Liu R, Zhang Y, Zhang, H. Multiple-instance learning for EEG based OSA event detection. *Biomedical Signal Processing and Control*, 80, 2023.
- [3] Goldberger A, Amaral L, Glass L, Hausdorff J, Ivanov P. C, Mark R. ... Stanley H. E. PhysioBank, PhysioToolkit, and PhysioNet: Components of a new research resource for complex physiologic signals, 2000. https://physionet.org/content/eegmmidb/1.0.0/.

## Large-scale fMRI dataset for the design of motor-based Brain-Computer Interfaces

E.J. Aarnoutse<sup>1</sup>, M.S. Bom<sup>1</sup>, A.M.A. Brak<sup>1</sup>, M. Raemaekers<sup>1</sup>, N.F. Ramsey<sup>1,2</sup>, M.J. Vansteensel<sup>1</sup>, M.P. Branco<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, UMC Utrecht Brain Center, University of Utrecht, the Netherlands, <sup>2</sup>Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands

\*P.O. Box 85060, 3508 AB Utrecht, the Netherlands. E-mail: m.pedrosobranco@umcutrecht.nl

*Introduction:* Motor based Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) can potentially be used to help children and young adults with severe communication impairment due e.g. Cerebral Palsy [2]. For implanted BCIs, the precise identification of electrode target areas prior to implantation is crucial for optimal performance. Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI), commonly used to map sensorimotor cortical organization, has been shown to predict BCI performance [1]. To date, it is unknown whether BCI targets can be determined adequately in younger age groups. Here we present the first large-scale fMRI dataset of 155 (able-bodied) children and adults performing a standardized set of motor and somatosensory tasks. Public availability of this dataset can lead to better insight into feasibility of identifying BCI targets for implanted BCIs in the younger population.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Data was collected from 155 participants (mean age:  $35.5\pm21.3$ , range: 6-89; 11.6% (18) under age 12; 8.4% (13) aged 12-17; 49.7% (78) females, 88.5% (139) right-handed and 1.9% (3) ambidextrous). 63 participants were admitted to the hospital for diagnostic procedures related to their medication-resistant epilepsy (N = 60) or surgical removal of a tumour (N = 3). The remaining 92 participants were healthy volunteers in studies on functional mapping of movement. All participants and/or their parents gave written informed consent.

The dataset includes a total of 471 fMRI runs (repeated in various participants) involving the hand and fingers, tongue, and other limbs, such as the arms or legs. Participants performed one of six tasks: Motor2Class, Motor2ClassKids and Sensory2Class were block design tasks with two conditions: rest and active. The Motor3Class task is a block design task with one rest and two active conditions, being executed movements and imagined movements. The Mapping3Fingers task mapped the thumb, index and little finger using an event-related design. The Mapping5Fingers task likewise mapped thumb, index finger, middle, ring and little finger. Structural and functional images were acquired on either a 1.5T ACS-NT Philips scanner (20 runs), a 3T Achieva Philips scanner (434 runs) or a 7T Achieva Philips scanner (17 runs). For functional scans, a PRESTO (1.5T and 3T) or EPI (7T) pulse sequence was used. Data was converted to Brain Imaging Data Structure (BIDS). Data quality validation revealed that 30 participants had more than 10% motion outliers and 17 participants had framewise displacement larger than 4 mm. The dataset can be downloaded from the open public repository at https://openneuro.org/datasets/ds005366/ and the code used for validation is available in https://github.com/UMCU-RIBS/PANDA-fmri-dataset-validation.

*Conclusion:* This dataset is particularly relevant to study developmental patterns in motor representation on the cortical surface and for the design of paediatric motor-based implanted BCIs.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This research was supported by the Dutch Research Council (PANDA project, grant 19072), Dutch Technology Foundation UGT7685, EU ADV-320708 and USA NIH NIDCD U01DC016686. The authors declare no conflicts of interest to disclose.

- [1] Leinders, S., Vansteensel, M. J., Piantoni, G., Branco, M. P., Freudenburg, Z. V., Gebbink, T. A., Pels, E. G. M., Raemaekers, M. A. H., Schippers, A., Aarnoutse, E. J., & Ramsey, N. F. (2023). Using fMRI to localize target regions for implanted brain-computer interfaces in locked-in syndrome. Clinical Neurophysiology, 155, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2023.08.003
- [2] Bergeron, D., Iorio-Morin, C., Bonizzato, M., Lajoie, G., Orr Gaucher, N., Racine, É., & Weil, A. G. (2023). Use of Invasive Brain-Computer Interfaces in Pediatric Neurosurgery: Technical and Ethical Considerations. Journal of Child Neurology, 38(3–4), 223–238. https://doi.org/10.1177/08830738231167736

## Speech decoding performance is influenced by perceiving auditory feedback or not: Implications for locked-in individuals

A. Schippers<sup>1\*</sup>, J. Berezutskaya<sup>1</sup>, Z.V. Freudenburg<sup>1</sup>, E.J. Aarnoutse<sup>1</sup>, M. Raemaekers<sup>1</sup>, M.J. Vansteensel<sup>1</sup>, N.F. Ramsey<sup>1,2</sup>

 Dept. of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University Medical Center Utrecht Brain Center, The Netherlands
 Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, Nijmegen, The Netherlands \*Universiteitsweg 100, 3584 CG, Utrecht, The Netherlands. E-mail: a.schippers-5@umcutrecht.nl

*Introduction:* Recent developments in speech BCI technology have demonstrated its potential to restore communication in individuals who have lost the ability to produce intelligible speech by translating neural signal modulations associated with (attempted) speech into computerized speech [1, 2]. For the accurate production of speech sounds by able-bodied people, auditory feedback plays an important role, evidenced by the fact that speech output is directly affected when feedback is altered or absent. Importantly, individuals with locked-in syndrome (LIS) are unable to produce speech and articulator movements, and therefore lack auditory feedback. The question remains if the speech decoding performance levels reported recently for less severely impaired individuals can be attained by people with LIS as well. Here, we investigated if and how speech decoding performance differs in the presence and absence of auditory feedback.

*Material, Methods and Results:* High density electrocorticography (ECoG) grids were subdurally placed on the left SMC in three epilepsy patients. These participants completed two speech tasks, in which they were instructed to produce a sequence of seven syllables. In the first task they could hear themselves speak, while in the second their auditory feedback was masked by pink noise. After preprocessing the ECoG data and extracting the HFB power (65 - 95 Hz), electrodes with a significant increase in HFB power during speech compared to rest were identified by computing R2 values. Then, a support vector machine classifier was applied to the speech trials following a nested cross-validation approach to determine decodability of the brain signals in both tasks. A leave-one-group-out approach was applied, where on every fold one instance of each of the seven syllables was left out as test data. Decoding accuracies were compared between tasks.

Results showed that for both tasks, all participants displayed widespread SMC engagement during speech production. Decoding accuracies for all participants were well above chance, ranging between 36% - 62% (chance level 11%). There was a consistent difference in decoding accuracy between the two tasks, where each participant displayed significantly lower performance in the task with masked feedback compared to the task in which auditory feedback could be perceived.

*Conclusion:* The perception of auditory feedback during speech production influences speech decoding performance. This finding stresses the need to validate speech BCI performance with participants who are unable to produce any speech movements and sounds.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors thank the Utrecht-BCI team for their contributions to this study. This study is supported by the Dutch Science Foundation (SGW-406-18-GO-086), Dutch Technology Foundation (UGT7685), European Research Council (ERC-Advanced 'iConnect' project, grant ADV 320708), the National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (U01DC016686) and the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (UH3NS114439) of the National Institutes of Health, and EU EIC-101070939 project INTRECOM. The authors have no potential conflicts of interest to be disclosed.

#### References:

[1] Card NS, Wairagkar M, Iacobacci C, Hou X, Singer-Clark T, Willett FR, Kunz EM, Fan C, Vahdati Nia M, Deo DR, Srinivasan A, Choi EY, Glasser MF, Hochberg LR, Henderson JM, Shahlaie K, Stavisky SD, Brandman DM. (2024). An Accurate and Rapidly Calibrating Speech Neuroprosthesis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 391(7), 609-618.

[2] Moses DA, Metzger SL, Liu JR, Anumanchipalli GK, Makin JG, Sun PF, Chartier J, Dougherty ME, Liu PM, Abrams GM, Tu-Chan A, Ganguly K, Chang EF (2021). Neuroprosthesis for Decoding Speech in a Paralyzed Person with Anarthria. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 385(3), 217-227.

## Jitter and Latency Characterization in Closed-Loop Neuromodulation during NREM Sleep in elderly and pathological population

R.Ramele<sup>1\*</sup>, M.Pretel<sup>1</sup>, A.Vazquez-Chenlo<sup>1</sup>, L.Capurro<sup>1</sup>, C.Forcato<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Instituto Tecnológico de Buenos Aires (ITBA), Buenos Aires, Argentina

\*Iguazú 341, C1437 FBG, Ciudad de Buenos Aires, Argentina. E-mail: rramele@itba.edu.ar

*Introduction:* Neuromodulation based on EEG is a promising therapeutic approach to regulate brain activity. Particularly, Closed-Loop Auditory Stimulation (CLAS) can be used to manipulate slow oscillations in sleep to influence memory consolidation [1,2,3]. However, enhancing individual oscillations by presenting a tone at a precise moment in time requires a highly controlled understanding of the feedback loop parameters. *Material, Methods and Results*: We developed a testbed stimulation sleep-monitoring device [4] based on ESP32 and the Cython board from OpenBCI [1] to measure latency and jitter of various closed-loop configurations and its impact on slow oscillations. Results show that to exert the stimulus at precise timing of the slow-wave cycle [3] requires a very low jitter and, more importantly, stringent low latency. Discussion: Based on the idea that N3 is mostly characterised as an oscillatory process, phase-locked acoustic stimulation (PLAS) was successfully applied to enhance the naturally occurring oscillations characteristic of young adults. However, in elderly or pathological populations, individual transient slow waves are more prominent [3] and more accurate and precise systems are required. Significance: In young adults, results have shown that CLAS procedure enhances slow-wave amplitude and memory consolidation. However, this is not the case with elderly or pathological populations, where we show that understanding the CLAS device's jitter and latency is fundamental. Disclosures: RR and CF are cofounders of NeuroAcoustics Inc., DE, US.

#### References

[1] Schalk G. et al (2024) A General-Purpose Non-Invasive Neurotechnology Research Platform. bioRxiv.pp.2024-01.

<sup>[2]</sup> Zaaimi, B. et al (2024). Brain-responsive music enables non-invasive, targeted and unobtrusive neurostimulation. bioRxiv, 2024-07.

<sup>[3]</sup> Capurro, L. et al (2024). Changes in Brain Oscillatory Dynamics in Elderly Adults as a Consequence of Natural Aging. ResearchSquare 10.21203/ rs.3.rs-5655250/v1

<sup>[4]</sup> Pretel, M. et al (2024). A low-cost and open-hardware portable 3-electrode sleep monitoring device. HardwareX, 19, e00553.

### Sequential Forward Selection (SFS) for Transfer Learning Source Selection in Motor Imagery BCI

B. Irvine<sup>1</sup>\*, E. Kinney-Lang<sup>1</sup>, A. Kirton<sup>2</sup>, H. Abou-Zeid<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Schulich School of Engineering, <sup>2</sup>Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary. Calgary, AB. Canada \*University of Calgary, 2500 University Drive, Calgary, Canada. E-mail: brian.irvine1@ucalgary.ca

*Introduction:* The tedious process of calibrating a brain-computer interface (BCI) for control creates a barrier to the adoption of this technology, especially for children who have been neglected from fundamental BCI research despite high user need. Transfer learning leverages previously collected BCI data from other users (sources) to reduce the calibration needed to train a classifier for a new user (target) [1]. However, not all source data is beneficial, and some can be detrimental to the training of a new classifier. Despite this understanding, little work has been done to investigate what factors influence the 'transferability' of a source. One assumption is that the users with the highest within-session (WS) classification performance should be the most beneficial. We challenge this assumption by comparing the transfer learning with the top WS performers to a technique called sequential forward selection (SFS).

*Materials and Methods:* For this investigation we used previously collected left/right motor imagery data from 32 children [2]. We aimed to compare the performance of 3 source selection methods. First, the WS ranking method includes the top sources based on their within-session classification accuracy. Second, individual SFS started with an empty subset and iteratively added the source which most improved the AUC score. This continued until all sources were included. Third, SFS ranking attempted to build a measure of transferability, based on the SFS subsets, such that sources were ranked by how early, on average, they were added to the source subset. All methods used the same Riemannian recentering method for transfer, and minimum distance to the Riemannian mean for classification [1].

*Results:* Fig. 1 shows how the classifier AUC score varied with different methods and with subsets of different sizes. As expected, scores converge when all 31 sources are included. WS ranking method declined with the addition of the 6<sup>th</sup> and 7<sup>th</sup> ranked sources, indicating that these sources have poor transferability despite strong WS performance. Individual SFS demonstrated the strongest performance and did not include these detrimental sources until necessary. SFS ranking nearly matched individual SFS in terms of AUC score and does not include the detrimental sources until necessary.

*Conclusion:* WS performance is not always a good indicator of transferability for children performing motor imagery. Individual SFS is more robust and achieves higher AUC scores but has the tradeoff of requiring more target data to evaluate subsets. SFS ranking balances high AUC scores without requiring target data for evaluation. This work motivates greater investigation into other data-driven methods for source selection.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank Alberta Innovates for funding this research.



Figure 1: A plot of the AUC scores of different source domain selection methods with increasing numbers of included source subjects. Bold lines indicate the mean and shaded areas indicate the standard error of the mean (SEM).

- Zanini P, Congedo M, Jutten C, Said S, Berthoumieu Y. Transfer Learning: A Riemannian Geometry Framework with Applications to Brain-Computer Interfaces. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 2018.
- [2] Keough JRG, Irvine B, Kelly D, Wrightson J, Comaduran Marquez D, Kinney-Lang E, Kirton A. Fatigue in children using motor imagery and P300 brain-computer interfaces. *Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation*, 2024.

#### Combatting percept adaptation to intracortical microstimulation in humans

#### Taylor Hobbs<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Charles Greenspon<sup>3</sup>, Michael Boninger<sup>1,4</sup>, Robert Gaunt<sup>1,4</sup>

Rehab Neural Engineering Labs<sup>1</sup>, Depts. of Bioengineering<sup>2</sup>, University of Pittsburgh, Dept. of Organismal Biology and Anatomy<sup>3</sup>, University of Chicago, Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation<sup>4</sup>, University of Pittsburgh \*1622 Locust St, 4th Floor, Pittsburgh, PA, USA, 15219, Email: tgh28@pitt.edu

*Introduction:* Without tactile sensation, even simple, everyday tasks become nearly impossible [1]. Intracortical microstimulation (ICMS) in the human somatosensory cortex (S1) can restore tactile sensations by using electrical stimulation to activate sensory neurons in the brain that would normally respond to touch [2]. Typically, ICMS trains consist of unmodulated single-channel stimulation with a constant amplitude and frequency. These stimuli evoke vivid tactile percepts originating from the participants' own hands. Unfortunately, the perceived intensity of these sensations can rapidly decrease during stimulation, falling below the perceptual threshold in tens of seconds [3]. Desensitization may occur, in part, because these ICMS trains do not resemble naturally evoked neural activity.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Two microelectrode arrays were implanted in both the motor and somatosensory cortices of 3 participants with tetraplegia as part of a clinical trial (NCT01894802). We designed two ICMS encoding schemes leveraging biological principles: biomimetic ICMS, which mimics natural spatiotemporally modulated neural activity, and interleaved ICMS, which takes advantage of overlapping sensory fields to distribute stimulation across multiple electrodes. For biomimetic ICMS, we

co-modulated frequency and amplitude (40 to 80  $\mu$ A at 100 to 200 Hz) with a large but brief (200 ms) onset and offset transient stimulation bursts. For interleaved ICMS we used four electrodes with overlapping projected fields and cycled through each electrode using 200 ms of ICMS at 40  $\mu$ A at 100 Hz, parameters that were above threshold for each of the four electrodes. To test percept resiliency, participants either watched a clock face and were asked to report how long the sensation lasted or used a tablet to continuously report the stimulation intensity. Stimulation durations were randomly chosen from 1 to 180 s intervals. Preliminary results show that unmodulated ICMS led to rapid adaptation, biomimetic stimulation increased the perceived duration, and interleaved ICMS completely eliminated percept adaptation (see Fig. 1, n = 7 electrodes). In fact, sensations from interleaved ICMS could be reliably felt for over a minute.



Figure 1: Best-fit lines comparing true stimulation duration to the reported perceived duration. Lines below the dashed unity line indicate percept adaptation, where perceived duration is shorter than the actual stimulation duration.

*Conclusion:* These experiments demonstrate that both biomimetic and interleaved ICMS encoding schemes greatly extend the perceived sensation duration compared to traditional unmodulated stimulation. These improvements likely arise from dynamic and distributed stimulation patterns, which may reduce neural adaptation. Notably, biologically inspired ICMS overcomes a critical limitation for the practical use of ICMS in restoring sensation, providing reliable and uninterrupted sensory percepts for neuroprosthetics. Future experiments will expand these experiments to additional electrodes and participants.

*Acknowledgements and Disclosures*: This work was supported by NIH UH3NS107714 and NDSEG Fellowship. RG is on the advisory board of Neurowired and previously consulted for Blackrock Neurotech.

References:

<sup>[1]</sup> R. S. Johansson, "Hand and Brain," Part 5 Sensorimotor Hand, pp. 381-414, 1996, doi: 10.1016/b978-012759440-8/50025-6.

<sup>[2]</sup> S. N. Flesher et al., "Intracortical microstimulation of human somatosensory cortex," Sci Transl Med, vol. 8, no. 361, 2016, doi:

<sup>10.1126/</sup>scitranslmed.aaf8083.

<sup>[3]</sup> Hughes, Christopher L., Sharlene N. Flesher, and Robert A. Gaunt. "Effects of stimulus pulse rate on somatosensory adaptation in the human cortex." *Brain stimulation* 15.4 (2022): 987-995.

## Functional ultrasound neuroimaging through a human cranial window for decoding of movement effector somatotopy in primary motor cortex

Lydia J. Lin<sup>1,7\*</sup>, Thierri Callier<sup>1</sup>, Charles Y. Liu<sup>1,5,6,8</sup>, Mikhail G. Shapiro<sup>2,3,9</sup>, Richard A. Andersen<sup>1,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Biology and Biological Engineering; <sup>2</sup>Division of Chemistry & Chemical Engineering; <sup>3</sup>Andrew and Peggy Cherng Department of Medical Engineering; <sup>4</sup>Tianqiao & Chrissy (T&C) Chen Brain-Machine Interface Center, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, CA, USA; <sup>5</sup>Department of Neurological Surgery; <sup>6</sup>USC Neurorestoration Center, <sup>7</sup>Keck School of Medicine of USC, Los Angeles, CA, USA; <sup>8</sup>Rancho Los Amigos National Rehabilitation Center, Downey, CA, USA; <sup>9</sup>Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Pasadena, CA, USA \*1200 E. California Blvd, MC 216-76, Pasadena, CA 91125, USA. E-mail: ljlin@caltech.edu

*Introduction:* Brain machine interfaces (BMIs) can help patients with disabilities achieve greater independence by using their thoughts to control assistive devices. However, they commonly require highly invasive brain surgery for electrode implantation while conventional non-invasive imaging techniques like fMRI and EEG lack sufficient spatial resolution for high-bandwidth BMI use. Functional ultrasound (fUS) is a novel neuroimaging technique that balances these tradeoffs and can image from outside the dura with high sensitivity, high spatial resolution, and large field of view [1], demonstrating potential for use in less invasive BMIs. Prior work demonstrated that fUS can be used to decode movement intention in non-human primates [2,3] and task state through a polymeric acoustic skull window in a human patient [4] – the first steps toward enabling a minimally invasive fUS BMI. In this study, we show that fUS can further be used to decode motor effector information from primary motor cortex (M1) in a human participant with an acoustic window implant, demonstrating the growing applications of fUS for BMIs.

*Materials, Methods and Results:* Experiments were performed on a human participant who had previously undergone a hemicraniectomy procedure and polymeric skull reconstruction including an acoustic window. We acquired fUS data from the left M1 as the participant performed randomized instructed movement tasks using different body parts or "effectors" and repeated the movement over a block of time to amplify signal.

We first looked into general effectors – right finger, right wrist, lip, and tongue. Using general linear modelling (GLM) analysis, we identified statistically significant regions of interest (ROIs) linked to each effector, indicating a dorsomedial to ventrolateral distribution for finger, wrist, lip, and tongue, respectively. This matches canonical somatotopic mappings in M1. Furthermore, we found that average fUS activity for these ROIs was tuned to each corresponding effector. Using classwise principal component analysis (CPCA) and linear discriminant analysis (LDA), we were able to significantly decode motor effector at above chance level. We conducted additional experiments on distinguishing contralateral individual finger representation in M1, which requires more refined spatial resolution given the more mixed representation of fingers in M1. Using the same analysis and decoder as the prior experiment, we were similarly able to identify ROIs tuned to each individual finger and significantly decode individual finger movements above chance level.

*Conclusion:* This work demonstrates that fUS is a robust neuroimaging technique that can be used to map and decode movement effector information in a human subject with an acoustic window implant. This presents significant progress in the development of a fUS-based BMI for decoding higher-level functions in humans and highlights the potential of fUS as a minimally invasive alternative for BMIs in the future.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: We thank participant JH for their devotion that has made this research possible. Funding was provided by the NIH and T&C Chen BMI Center. There are no conflicts of interest.

#### References:

 Mace E, Montaldo G, Osmanski BF, Cohen I, Fink M, Tanter M. Functional ultrasound imaging of the brain: theory and basic principles. IEEE Trans Ultrason, Ferroelect, Freq Contr. 2013.

- [2] Norman SL, Maresca D, Christopoulos VN, Griggs WS, Demene C, Tanter M, Shapiro MG, Andersen RA. Single-trial decoding of movement intentions using functional ultrasound neuroimaging. Neuron. 2021.
- [3] Griggs WS, Norman SL, Deffieux T, Segura F, Osmanski BF, Chau G, Christopoulos V, Liu C, Tanter M, Shapiro MG, Andersen RA. Decoding motor plans using a closed-loop ultrasonic brain-machine interface. Nat Neurosci. Nature Publishing Group; 2023.
- [4] Rabut C, Norman SL, Griggs WS, Russin JJ, Jann K, Christopoulos V, Liu C, Andersen RA, Shapiro MG. Functional ultrasound imaging of human brain activity through an acoustically transparent cranial window. Sci Transl Med. 2024.

#### Neural Mechanisms of Dual Motor and Language Processing

C. Foli<sup>1,3\*</sup>, E.C. Conlan<sup>1,3</sup>, WD Memberg<sup>1,3</sup>, A.B. Ajiboye<sup>1,2,3</sup> <sup>1</sup>Biomed. Engin., <sup>2</sup>Sch. of Med., Case Western Reserve Univ., Cleveland, OH, USA; <sup>3</sup>FES Ctr. of Excellence, Rehab. R&D Service, Louis Stokes Cleveland Dept. of Veterans Affairs Med. Ctr., Cleveland, OH, USA; 10900 Euclid Ave, Cleveland, OH 44120, USA. E-mail: cxf306@case.edu

#### Introduction

While the human cortical grasp network—which includes key regions such as the primary motor cortex (M1), the anterior intraparietal area (AIP) and inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) —has historically been regarded as specialized for motor functions, emerging evidence indicates that it also supports language-related tasks, challenging traditional models of functional specialization. Multiple studies based on intracortical Brain-Machine Interfaces (BMIs) have demonstrated that areas within this network (namely, the motor and premotor cortices) exhibit dual-task representation [1], [2], suggesting that motor and cognitive functions may coexist within overlapping neural populations. However, the neural mechanisms enabling this versatility remain unclear. Additionally, it is unclear whether this versatile functionality generalizes to other regions within this network.

#### Materials, Methods, and Results

This study focuses on AIP and IFG, two regions classically associated with motor planning and execution. Neural activities were recorded using chronically implanted microelectrodes in a human subject with C3/C4-level AIS B Spinal Cord Injury during experiments involving two tasks: speech motor processing (overt versus covert word enunciation) and motor execution (closed-loop grasp aperture control in a virtual reality environment). Multi-unit neural activities in both regions were analyzed to examine task-specific and shared neural representations. Our results revealed that both AIP and IFG exhibit dual-tuning, allowing them to flexibly encode information for both motor and language tasks as shown by significant cross-validated decoding accuracies. We then explored multiple hypotheses to identify a neural mechanism that best explained the co-existence of information about different tasks within the same neural population. Using a previously developed metric for assessing tuning selectivity[3], we found that dual-task representation in both AIP and IFG was supported by mixed selective (as opposed to task-specialized) neural populations that flexibly reconfigured their functional architecture between tasks. Consequentially, we observed that the low dimensional subspaces within which the two tasks are embedded are not entirely independent, showing a degree of overlap that could represent generalizable patterns between tasks. This cross-task subspace overlap underscores the grasp network's efficient and economic architecture.

#### Conclusion

This study makes two primary contributions to the understanding of the cortical grasp network. First, it extends previous findings on the network's versatile functionality by demonstrating the multi-functionality of two additional regions, namely, AIP and IFG. Second, it provides novel insights into the functional architecture of the grasp network, uncovering mechanisms that enable neural populations to flexibly represent multiple tasks. These findings fill a critical knowledge gap and lay the groundwork for developing advanced BMIs capable of seamlessly integrating communication and motor functions, meeting the diverse needs of individuals with paralysis.

#### Acknowledgments and Disclosures

The authors would like to acknowledge the study participant, RP1, and his family for their time and commitment to this study. Support for this work was provided by the following grants: VAMR 5I01RX002654, DoD CDMRP SCIRP SC180308. No conflicts of interest are reported.

- [1] G. H. Wilson *et al.*, "Decoding spoken English from intracortical electrode arrays in dorsal precentral gyrus," *J. Neural Eng.*, vol. 17, no. 6, p. 066007, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/abbfef.
- [2] F. R. Willett *et al.*, "A high-performance speech neuroprosthesis," *Nature*, vol. 620, no. 7976, pp. 1031–1036, Aug. 2023, doi: 10.1038/s41586-023-06377-x.
- [3] G. R. Yang, M. R. Joglekar, H. F. Song, W. T. Newsome, and X.-J. Wang, "Task representations in neural networks trained to perform many cognitive tasks," *Nat Neurosci*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 297–306, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0310-2.

# EEG decoding of gait for clinical rehabilitation and assessment

#### N. Robinson<sup>↑</sup>, X. Fu<sup>↑</sup>, R. Liu, A. A. P. Wai, L. J. Liang, Y. Tang, C. Guan<sup>\*</sup> Nanyang Technological University

<sup>↑</sup>co-first authors, \*College of Computing and Data Science, 50 Nanyang Avenue, Singapore 639798. E-mail: ctguan@ntu.edu.sg

*Introduction:* The reconstruction of lower limb movement patterns using non-invasive EEG is a relatively less explored area of neural signal decoding [1]. Accurately and continuously tracking the movement of lower limb joints holds significant clinical potential for advancing the rehabilitation of motor impairments. To achieve a comprehensive and objective assessment of gait performance and functional improvement in stroke survivors, EEG-based decoding can offer a more sophisticated and neurophysiologically sound measure.

#### Material, Methods and Results:

To address this, our research focuses on predicting gait patterns through deep learning using EEG data. Our team proposed a multi-model attention network (MATN) that utilizes self-attention to adaptively learn the temporal dynamics of spatio-temporal EEG features [2, 3]. The network learns the neural foundations through a two-stage training approach, where a teacher model is first trained and later assists the student model in training on data from separate recording session. The core components of our base model include temporal, spatial, and separable convolution, and a fully connected layer. In the student model, a self-attention block is integrated after the spatial convolution block. We evaluated the proposed network using the mobile brain-body imaging (MoBI) dataset [1]. Our results summarized in Fig.1(c) show that, compared to state-of-the-art methods in EEG regression, MATN achieves the highest Pearson's correlation coefficient of 0.752, surpassing the best baseline model performance by over 18%.

*Conclusion:* Using the proposed approach with data from healthy subjects, we found a correlation of 0.752 between the recorded and predicted joint angle values. Building on this, we are currently evaluating our proposed method on clinical data and refining our techniques for robust predictions on large-scale healthy participant datasets as well. Currently, a clinical trial is in progress to assess stroke survivors through clinical metrics and EEG predictions at three time points, four weeks apart. The findings indicate that the proposed approach is feasible and that EEG decoding holds promise as an effective tool for rehabilitating and assessing lower limb impairments.

*Acknowledgment:* This work was supported by the RIE2020 AME Programmatic Fund, Singapore (No. A20G8b0102).



Figure 1: (a) Illustration of reconstructed gait patterns of the participant (b) A subject preparing to walk, wearing EEG and goniometer sensors. The use of walking aids effectively minimized potential confounding effects of upper body movements on EEG signals. (c) Summary of results.

- [1] Y. He et. al., A MoBI dataset recorded during treadmill walking with a brain-computer interface. In Scientific data. vol. 5, 2018.
- [2] Fu, Xi et. al., Gait Pattern Recognition Based on Supervised Contrastive Learning Between EEG and EMG. In EMBC, 2023.
- [3] Fu, Xi et. al., MATN: Multi-model attention network for gait prediction from EEG. In IJCNN, 2022.

### A BCI Robotic Glove System for Hand Motor Rehabilitation

S. Zhang<sup>1</sup>, N. Robinson<sup>1</sup>, K. P. Thomas<sup>1</sup>, Y. Tang<sup>1</sup>, H. W. Ng<sup>1</sup>, A. A. P. Wai<sup>1</sup>, N. Khendry<sup>1</sup>, C. W. K. Kuah<sup>2</sup>, S. K. Wee<sup>2</sup>, K. S. G. Chua<sup>2</sup>, C. Guan<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Nanyang Technological University, Singapore; <sup>2</sup>Institute of Rehabilitation Excellence (IREx), Tan Tock Seng Hospital Rehabilitation Centre, Singapore;

\*50 Nanyang Ave, Singapore. E-mail: ctguan@ntu.edu.sg

*Introduction:* Although several brain-computer interfaces (BCI) have been developed for upper limb rehabilitation, most primarily target gross motor functions and place limited emphasis on the fine motor control of hand [1]. To address this gap, we developed a novel integrated BCI robotic glove rehabilitation system specifically aimed at training hand movements in individuals recovering from a stroke.

#### Material, Methods and Results:

The clinical study is designed as a three-arm assessor-blinded randomized controlled trial, assessing the efficacy of a combined intervention of BCI robotic glove training and conventional occupational therapy (COTS), compared to COTS alone and robotic glove training with COTS. The proposed BCI detects motor attempts made by the user their affected hand. The system components are illustrated in Fig.1. Accurate detection of attempts to open and close the hand triggers the



Figure 1: Schematic of BCI robotic glove rehabilitation system.

robotic glove to execute the corresponding movements, thereby providing precise motor training. The system delivers both robotic and visual feedback to promote neuroplasticity. An attention-based temporal convolutional network is employed for the detection of hand open and close attempt by the user. The network utilizes multihead self-attention and temporal convolution layers to efficiently derive relevant EEG features [2, 3]. To evaluate whether the BCI system can identify distinct patterns generated by the user during more precise tasks, we conducted a screening session. Users are required to achieve an accuracy of 70% or higher to qualify to undergo the proposed training. We propose 6 week training in which the users participate in three 45-minute training sessions of BCI training every week. The results obtained from the screening session are summarized in Table 1. Over 73% of the patients achieved over 70% accuracy and were recruited for training. The training of these patients is currently in progress.

Table 1: Classification accuracies (%) for all participating patients in the screening session.

Subject	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	Mean (±STD)
Open	74.00	80.50	79.50	67.50	85.00	84.00	75.50	92.00	86.00	50.00	89.00	55.50	79.00	95.00	49.00	76.10 (±14.08)
Close	84.00	85.00	83.00	63.00	96.50	90.00	70.50	93.00	81.50	65.00	89.50	54.50	90.50	97.00	69.50	80.83 (±12.75)
Average	79.00	82.75	81.25	65.25	90.75	87.00	73.00	92.50	83.75	57.50	89.25	55.00	84.75	96.00	59.25	78.47 (±12.92)

*Conclusion:* Preliminary results show the system detects hand opening and closing with an average accuracy of 78.47% ( $\pm$ 12.92%), highlighting its potential for upper limb rehabilitation. Future research will investigate its clinical efficacy in fine motor rehabilitation following a stroke.

Acknowledgments and disclosures: This work was supported by the RIE2020 AME Programmatic Fund, Singapore (No. A20G8b0102).

- [1] R. Mane, T. Chouhan, C. Guan. BCI for stroke rehabilitation: motor and beyond. JNE, 17(4), 2020.
- [2] H. W. Ng, K. Thomas, N. Robinson, A. A. P. Wai, L. J. Liang, N. Khendry, A. Nagarajan, C. Guan. CASTNet: Cycle-Consistent Attention-based Network for Decoding Open/Close Hand Movement Attempts using EEG. *IEEE IJCNN*, 1-10, 2024.
- [3] S. Zhang, D. Zheng, N. Tang, E. Chew, R. Y. Lim, K. K. Ang, C. Guan. Online adaptive CNN: A session-to-session transfer learning approach for non-stationary EEG. *IEEE SSCI*, 164-170, 2022.

# EEG-based classification of awareness in disorders of consciousness

A. Matran-Fernandez<sup>1\*</sup>, S. Perdikis<sup>1</sup>, R. Nawaz<sup>1</sup>, M. Lopes da Silva<sup>2</sup>, T. Bertoni<sup>3</sup>, J.-P. Noel<sup>3</sup>, J. Jöhr<sup>2</sup>, A. Serino<sup>3</sup>, K. Diserens<sup>2</sup>, R. Scherer<sup>1</sup>, S. Halder<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Computer Science and Electronic Engineering (CSEE), University of Essex, UK; <sup>2</sup>Department of Clinical Neurosciences, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, Switzerland;

<sup>3</sup>*MySpace Lab, University Hospital of Lausanne, University of Lausanne, Switzerland* 

\*E-mail: amatra@essex.ac.uk

*Introduction:* Reliably assessing consciousness of patients with disorders of consciousness (DOC) is crucial for clinical decision-making. The Coma Recovery Scale-Revised (CRS-R) is commonly to differentiate between coma, minimally conscious state, and locked-in syndrome. Recent neuroimaging advancements allow motor-independent assessment of consciousness.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* EEG data were recorded from 84 patients with DOC (23 female, age range=18–84, CRS-R range=0–23). We excluded seven due to incomplete data. For the remaining n=77 patients, 202 sessions were available. One third of the sessions were reserved for testing. Full experimental and preprocessing details can be found in [1] and [2]. We used features including event-related potential (ERP) amplitudes (0–200, 200-500, and 500–1000 ms), Lempel-Ziv Complexity, the periodic component of delta (1-3.5 Hz) and alpha (8-13 Hz) bandpower computed with FoooF [3], and spectral slopes between 1–45 and 20–40 Hz [4]. We augmented our data by generating 50 bootstraps of size 50 from the auditory close trials from each session and averaged across each bootstrap (i.e., 50 "bootstrap trials"/session) and across electrodes for each feature. A random forest classifier was trained to categorize patients as Unaware, Minimally Conscious, or Aware. Distributions of feature amplitudes for each class are shown in Fig. 1a. Performance was evaluated with leave-one-session-out cross-validation, and classification results are shown in Fig. 1b.



Figure 1: (a) Distributions of feature values in the train set across all classes for each feature. (b) Percentages of bootstrap epochs that are classified as each of the classes, separately for each class.

*Conclusion:* Our model performs well in distinguishing minimally conscious from aware states, but it shows misclassifications within the unaware category. Notably, for all classes, these errors tend to occur between adjacent classes (e.g., no unaware cases are misclassified as aware). Although no machine learning is perfect, there is always the possibility that some patients have been misdiagnosed. This dual challenge—imperfect machine learning and potentially noisy labels—underscores the importance of developing an objective alternative to the CRS-R to improve clinical utility.

- Noel JP, Chatelle C, Perdikis S, Jöhr J, Lopes Da Silva M, Ryvlin P, De Lucia M, Millán JD, Diserens K, Serino A. Peri-personal space encoding in patients with disorders of consciousness and cognitive-motor dissociation. In *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 2019.
- Halder S, Matran-Fernandez A, Nawaz R, Lopes da Silva M, Bertoni T, Noel JP, Jöhr J, Serino A, Diserens K, Scherer R, Perdikis S. To repeat or not to repeat? ERP-based assessment of the level of consciousness A case study. In 9<sup>th</sup> Graz BCI Conference, Austria, 2024.
   Donoghue T, Haller M, Peterson EJ, Varma P, Sebastian P, Gao R, Noto T, Lara AH, Wallis JD, Knight RT and others. Parameterizing
- neural power spectra into periodic and aperiodic components. In *Nature Neuroscience*, 2020 [4] Colombo MA, Napolitani M, Boly M, Gosseries O, Casarotto S, Rosanova M, Brichant J-F, Boveroux P, Rex S, Laureys, S and others.
- The spectral exponent of the resting EEG indexes the presence of consciousness during unresponsiveness induced by propofol, xenon, and ketamine. In *NeuroImage*, 2019.

#### Star-Burst paradigm: implementation of an "invisible" dry-EEG reactive BCI J. Gomel<sup>1</sup>, J. Torre-Tresols, P. Cimarosto<sup>1</sup>, K. Cabrera Castillos<sup>1</sup>, F. Dehais <sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Fédération ENAC ISAE-SUPAERO ONERA, Université de Toulouse, France;

\*10, Avenue Marc Pélegrin, 31055, Toulouse, France. E-mail: jules.gomel@isae-supaero.fr

*Introduction:* Code Visually Evoked Potentials (c-VEP) have become increasingly popular in the rBCI community, leveraging pseudo-random visual flickers that offer shorter calibration times compared to Steady State VEP [1]. However, the application of c-VEP-based reactive BCIs has largely remained confined to laboratory settings due to the reliance on wet EEG systems and synchronous paradigms with fixed decoding times. To address these challenges, our team used innovative repetitive visual stimuli called StAR (Stimuli for Augmented Response). These stimuli are engineered with specific, mostly invisible textures that elicit neural responses ranging from retinal ganglion cells (contrast detection) to visual cortex cells (orientation selectivity) [2]. Our StAR stimuli are activated using a burst-code VEP paradigm, featuring brief, aperiodic visual flashes presented at a slower rate of three flashes per second. This approach elicits stronger visual evoked responses compared to traditional maximum length sequences [3]. Each stimulus (e.g., a letter or digit) is presented with its own unique pseudo-random code comprising an alternating sequence of '1' (on) and '0' (off). This innovative approach dramatically reduces calibration time to under one minute, as the algorithms only need to differentiate brain responses to the presence (visual ERP) or absence of a flash (no visual ERPs).

Material, Methods and Results: The online StAR-Burst rBCI was developed using Timeflux framework [4]. This system was specifically designed for an 11-class classification task to predict participants' attention in real time based on visual stimuli. It utilizes a combination of XDawn spatial filtering and Riemannian-based tangent space classifiers for optimal performance. The 11 commands corresponding to the T9 keypad were encoded using 11 unique burst codes [3], carefully designed to maximize discrimination between commands. The classification pipeline was followed by a correlation-based accumulation method, allowing flexible, self-paced decoding time. Eighteen participants were equipped with an 8-channel dry EEG system (Enobio), with electrodes placed over the occipital and parieto-occipital cortex areas (PO7, O1, Oz, O2, PO8, PO3, PO2, PO4) to capture visually evoked potentials (VEPs). They underwent an 40-second calibration procedure before performing an online T9 pinpad self-paced task consisting of 10 sequences, each containing four targets, resulting in a total of 40 targets per participant. The StAR-Burst rBCI demonstrated high performance, achieving a mean accuracy of 96.3% (SD = 4.79) and a mean decoding time of 4.2video seconds (SD 5.5). А showcasing the BCI can be seen here https://nextcloud.isae.fr/index.php/s/dxLqYXRAMEep98C.

*Conclusion:* Collectively, these findings highlight the transformative potential of StAR-Burst paradigm driving the evolution to make BCIs more user friendly and efficient. Our implementation achieved high accuracy levels with a dry EEG system, requiring only minimal calibration data (40s). This paradigm, characterized by comfort and subtle perceptibility in peripheral vision, show potential for applications in various reactive BCI paradigms such as P300 speller, SSVEP, and oddball-based BCI. The application of the proposed StAR approach may be extended beyond technological innovation to fundamental cognitive neuroscience research, providing a valuable avenue for exploring cognition.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work is funded by Agence Innovation Defense (VIPER)

#### References:

 Martínez-Cagigal, V., Thielen, J., Santamaria-Vazquez, E., Pérez-Velasco, S., Desain, P., & Hornero, R. (2021). Brain–computer interfaces based on code-modulated visual evoked potentials (c-VEP): a literature review. Journal of Neural Engineering, 18(6), 061002.
 Dehais, F., Cabrera Castillos, K., Ladouce, S., & Clisson, P. (2024). Leveraging textured flickers: a leap toward practical, visually

comfortable, and high-performance dry EEG code-VEP BCI. Journal of neural engineering, 21(6), 10.1088/1741-2552/ad8ef7 [3] Castillos, K. C., Ladouce, S., Darmet, L., & Dehais, F. (2023). Burst c-VEP based BCI: optimizing stimulus design for enhanced

classification with minimal calibration data and improved user experience. NeuroImage, 284, 120446.

<sup>[4]</sup> P Clisson, R Bertrand-Lalo, Marco Congedo, G Victor-Thomas, J Chatel-Goldman. Timeflux: an open-source framework for the acquisition and near real-time processing of signal streams. *BCI 2019 - 8th International Brain-Computer Interface Conference* 

### Movement decoding: dealing with neural signal drift

E. Montalivet<sup>1</sup>, N. Mojtahedi<sup>1</sup>, I. Toye<sup>1</sup>, S. Sun<sup>2,3,4</sup>, T. Brossy<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Q. Devaud<sup>3,4</sup>, C. Latchoumane<sup>2,3,4</sup>, J. Bloch<sup>2,3,4,5</sup>, G. Courtine<sup>2,3,4</sup>, \*K. Lee<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Wyss Center for Bio and Neuroengineering, Geneva, Switzerland; <sup>2</sup>NeuroX Institute, Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Geneva, Switzerland; <sup>3</sup>University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland; <sup>4</sup>NeuroRestore, Defitech Center for Interventional Neurotherapies, Lausanne, Switzerland; <sup>5</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Lausanne University Hospital, Lausanne, Switzerland

\*E-mail: kyuhwa.lee@wysscenter.ch

*Introduction:* Recent BCI hardware advances have enabled long-term implantable devices in humans, allowing extended interaction with the environment and diverse BCI strategies. However, achieving stable decoding with minimal recalibration remains challenging due to the ever-changing nature of neural signals and electrode properties, as well as individual variability. In response, researchers are increasingly adopting advanced deep learning approaches, as they hold promise for meeting these demands.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We develop and evaluate real-time decoding methods using electrocorticography (ECoG) data collected across multiple subjects over several months. The experiments involve upper-limb motor tasks, focusing on wrist, elbow, and shoulder joint movements in non-human primates. We analyze the drift in the underlying structure of neural signals over time and propose methods to compensate for this drift to improve decoding reliability. Specifically, we leverage manifold alignment techniques via self-supervised learning, employing a generative model to detect the drift in the manifold space and align neural data accordingly. This alignment enables a pretrained decoder to maintain comparable accuracy across time without retraining. We demonstrate the application of our alignment approach in online experiments using a real-time decoding platform, achieving state-of-the-art latency and robust performance.

*Conclusion:* This study presents a self-supervised manifold alignment approach using ECoG data that effectively compensates for neural signal drift, enabling stable, real-time decoding across time without retraining.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare that are relevant to the content of this article.

## Minimal calibration MI-BCIs via inter-subject transfer learning with optimal transport

C. M. Galván\*<sup>1</sup>, R. D. Spies<sup>1</sup>, D. H. Milone<sup>2</sup> and V. Peterson<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Instituto de Matemática Aplicada del Litoral, IMAL, UNL-CONICET, Santa Fe, Argentina; <sup>2</sup>Instituto de Investigación en Señales, Sistemas e Inteligencia Computacional, sinc(i), FICH, UNL-CONICET, Santa Fe, Argentina.

\*CCT CONICET Santa Fe, Colectora Ruta Nac. Nº 168, Paraje El Pozo, 3000 Santa Fe, Argentina. E-mail: cgalvan@santafe-conicet.gov.ar

*Introduction:* The prolonged calibration phases required to record user-specific electroencephalography (EEG) data for training decoding models constitute a significant barrier to the practical implementation of motor imagery-based brain-computer interfaces (MI-BCIs). When deep learning (DL) models are used to decode brain data, these calibration times might need to be extended even further. A potential solution to this issue is leveraging available EEG data from other subjects to train the model. However, the inherent high inter-subject variability of EEG signals requires effective adaptation methods to enable transfer learning across subjects. Here, we use a supervised version of the Backward Optimal Transport for Domain Adaptation (BOTDA) [1] approach to align the DL features of the target subject with the feature distribution of the training set derived from other users.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Experiments were conducted using three right vs. left hand MI publicly available EEG datasets: Lee2019\_MI [2] (training dataset), and Cho2017 [3] and Dreyer2023 [4] (testing datasets). EEG data from only three channels (C3, C4, and Cz) were employed. The EEGNet [5] was used as the DL model. It was trained with the full Lee2019\_MI dataset with the default AdamW optimizer and the cross-entropy loss for 500 epochs. The learning rate was set to 0.001. For each target subject from the testing datasets, the 10 first trials of each MI class were kept as adaptation/fine tuning data, while the remaining trials constituted the testing data. In our approach, the full model trained from the Lee2019\_MI dataset was kept frozen at the evaluation stage. The representations preceding the classification block were used as DL features, with adaptation applied at this level. Our approach was compared with two reference methods: (a) trained model without adaptation, (b) trained model fully fine-tuned for 100 epochs using subject-specific adaptation data. The mean classification DL reference, and 0.62 ± 0.12 for the fine-tuning method.

*Discussion:* The results presented highlight the effectiveness of DL+BOTDA in overcoming the challenges of high inter-subject variability in EEG data for MI-BCIs. By applying adaptation at the feature level, a substantial improvement in performance was achieved with the proposed method, outperforming the no-adaptation baseline and the fine-tuning approach. It is important to note that although fine-tuning is a widely used method to adapt pre-trained models to subject-specific characteristics, it does not perform well with limited target subject data, reinforcing the advantage of the BOTDA method in this scenario.

*Significance:* Reducing subject-specific calibration data to only 20 trials could enhance and empower the usability and practicability of MI-BCIs, especially in motor rehabilitation scenarios.

<sup>[1]</sup> Peterson, V., Nieto, N., Wyser, D., Lambercy, O., Gassert, R., Milone, D. H., & Spies, R. D. Transfer learning based on optimal transport for motor imagery brain-computer interfaces. In *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 69(2), 807-817, 2021.

<sup>[2]</sup> Lee M H, Kwon O Y, Kim Y J, Kim H K, Lee Y E, Williamson J, Fazli S, Lee S W. EEG dataset and OpenBMI toolbox for three BCI paradigms: An investigation into BCI illiteracy. In *GigaScience*, 8(5), giz002, 2019.

<sup>[3]</sup> Cho, H., Ahn, M., Ahn, S., Kwon, M., & Jun, S. C. EEG datasets for motor imagery brain-computer interface. In *GigaScience*, 6(7), gix034, 2017.

<sup>[4]</sup> Dreyer, P., Roc, A., Pillette, L., Rimbert, S., & Lotte, F. (2023). A large EEG database with users' profile information for motor imagery brain-computer interface research. In *Scientific Data*, 10(1), 580, 2023.

<sup>[5]</sup> Lawhern, V. J., Solon, A. J., Waytowich, N. R., Gordon, S. M., Hung, C. P., & Lance, B. J. EEGNet: a compact convolutional neural network for EEG-based brain–computer interfaces. In *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 15(5), 056013, 2018.

## An efficient protocol to optimize ICMS encoding of artificial sensation

#### Samuel Senneka<sup>1\*</sup>, Maria Dadarlat<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Weldon School of Biomedical Engineering, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA \*3164 Pheasant Run Dr. Apt 407, West Lafayette, IN 47909,USA. Email: ssenneka@purdue.edu

*Introduction:* Most prosthetic limbs lack proprioceptive feedback, which is essential for making complex movements [1, 2]. Intracortical microstimulation (ICMS) of the somatosensory cortex can be used to elicit sensory perceptions and guide active movements, which could serve as an artificial proprioceptive signal [3, 4]. However, movements guided by ICMS remain slower and less accurate than those guided by natural sensation. To improve sensory encoding via ICMS, we have developed a behavioral paradigm in freely moving mice to efficiently evaluate algorithms for encoding artificial sensory information via spatial and temporal patterns of ICMS.

*Material, Methods and Results:* C57BL/6J mice between 3-4 months were implanted with a TDT 8x2 microwire electrode array (N = 5). ICMS stimuluation was controlled by a Ripple Neuro Grapevine Processor and behavioral data was tracked with DeepLabCut Live. Mice were trained to navigate to targets within the training cage guided by combined visual and ICMS feedback (Fig. 1a). Target location (distance and direction relative to mouse's heading) was encoded via patterned ICMS across all sixteen electrodes. For electrode *i*, stimulation frequency at time *t* was set to  $f_i(t) = \delta(t) * e^{\kappa * \cos(\phi_i - \theta(t))}$ , where  $\theta(t)$  is animal's heading relative to the target direction,  $\delta(t)$  scales with distance to the target, and  $\phi_i$  is fixed for each electrode. Stimulation pulses were cathode-leading biphasic symmetric pulses with a fixed amplitude between 10-20  $\mu$ A and pulse frequency ranging from 10-200 Hz; stimulation parameters were updated at 10 Hz. Once subjects became proficient in the behavioral task, probe trials were introduced: ICMS-only, visual-only, and sham (no inputs). Mice quickly learned the task, achieving  $\geq 80\%$  accuracy on combined trials in 4-6 training sessions (400-600 trials). Mice could complete ICMS-only trials with 70% accuracy, which was statistically equivalent to their performance on visual-only trials (Fig. 1b). Animal performance on combined trials was statistically better than on unimodal trials (ICMS-only or dim visual-only), suggesting that the two signals were integrated (Fig. 1c).

*Conclusion:* Mice quickly learn the behavioral task and perform many trials (150-200) per training session. The speed and extent of learning that we present here support this approach for communicating multivariate sensory information (direction and distance) to the central nervous system. This behavioral paradigm can be easily adapted to further investigate how specific parameters of ICMS (such as the number of electrodes used) impact encoding accuracy. Using this approach, we can aim to delineate the limits and capabilities of using ICMS to provide artificial sensation.



Figure 1: (a) Trial structure: Target is randomly selected and trial start is indicated by go cue. Subject receives either combined visual-ICMS, visual only, ICMS only, or no feedback (sham) and have 5 seconds to reach the target. Successful trials are indicated by a success tone and rewarded with juice. A new trial starts 5-7 seconds after reward is collected or at the end of a failure trial. (b) Learning of task structure and ICMS, shown as the (smoothed) fraction of correct trials across training sessions for one subject. (c) Success rates for all subjects for each trial type over last five training sessions for each subject. Asterisks indicate significant difference in success rates between paradigms. Performance on sham trials was significantly worse than all others.

#### Acknowledgments: This work was supported by a fellowship for SS from the Purdue TPAN program.

*References* [1] Sainburg et al. "Control of Limb Dynamics in Normal Subjects and Patients Without Proprioception". In: Journal of neurophysiology 73 (2 1995), p. 820. [2] Suminski et al. "Incorporating Feedback from Multiple Sensory Modalities Enhances Brain–Machine Interface Control". In: The Journal of Neuroscience 30 (50 Dec. 2010), p. 16777. [3] Flesher et al. "Intracortical microstimulation of human somatosensory cortex". In: Science Translational Medicine 8 (361 Oct. 2016). [4] Dadarlat et al. "A learning-based approach to artificial sensory feedback leads to optimal integration". In: Nat Neurosci. 18.1 (2015), pp. 138–144.

## Multimodal Multivariate Granger Causality Between EEG and fNIRS during an Auditory Task

J. McLinden<sup>1</sup>\*, B. Adeli<sup>1</sup>, A. Cerullo<sup>1</sup>, M. Shao<sup>2</sup>, K.M. Spencer<sup>3</sup>, M. van 't Wout-Frank<sup>4</sup>, Y. Shahriari<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Rhode Island, Kingston, RI, USA; <sup>2</sup>University of Massachusetts Dartmouth, MA, USA; <sup>3</sup>VA Boston Healthcare System and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>4</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Human Behavior, Brown University and Butler Hospital COBRE Center for Neuromodulation, Providence, RI, USA

\*2 East Alumni Ave, Kingston, R.I., USA 02881. E-mail: john\_mclinden@uri.edu

*Introduction:* Multimodal noninvasive neuroimaging approaches, most often relying on simultaneously recorded electroencephalography (EEG) and functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS), have garnered interest in both open- and closed-loop brain-computer interface (BCI) applications by providing complementary information underlying neural function [1,2]. However, effective connectivity between electrical (EEG) and vascular-hemodynamic (fNIRS) responses remains poorly understood. Here we developed a multimodal multivariate Granger causal (mMVGC) framework to investigate the causal interactions between electrical and vascular responses during an auditory processing task designed to elicit the auditory steady-state response (ASSR).

*Material, Methods and Results:* Data were collected from 17 healthy participants using 15 EEG electrodes and 14 fNIRS channels spread across the Frontal/Fronto-Central (F/FC), Left Auditory (LA), and Right Auditory (RA) regions of interest. The task consisted of 72 blocks of auditory stimuli (15s) followed by a 15s resting state period. A full description of the experimental task and montage is provided in [1]. After rejecting artifactual independent components extracted from band-pass filtered EEG data (0.5-55 Hz), the amplitude envelope of the Hilbert transform of narrow-band filtered EEG signals was extracted for the  $\alpha$  (8-13 Hz),  $\beta$  (13-30 Hz), and ASSR (38-42 Hz) bands. EEG features and fNIRS data were down-sampled to 4 Hz, filtered 0.02-0.5 Hz, and averaged within ROIs. For EEG, only the FC ROI was included for further analysis. Epoched signals were detrended and the temporal and ensemble averages were subtracted from each epoch. The Bayesian information criterion (BIC) was used to estimate the optimal multivariate autoregressive model order. mMVGC was estimated for the task and resting state periods separately using the MVGC toolbox [3]. Values were compared across conditions by using a permutation test with false discovery rate (FDR) correction. Selected results of this test are presented in Fig. 1. MVGC in the direction originating from RA fNIRS to EEG in the ASSR band (p = 0.001, Cohen's d = 0.88) was significantly different between the task and rest conditions.



Figure 1: Selected estimated MVGC values compared across the Task and Rest conditions. A significant difference between conditions was observed in the direction originating from RA fNIRS to EEG in the ASSR band, denoted with an asterisk (\*). Conclusion: The difference across conditions in the direction originating from RA fNIRS to ASSR band EEG suggests that hemodynamic state in the auditory cortex may have a modulatory effect on the ASSR.

Acknowledgments/Disclosures: Study funded by the National Science Foundation [NSF-2024418]

- McLinden J, Rahimi N, Kumar C, Krusienski D.J., Shao M, Shahriari Y. Investigation of electro-vascular phase-amplitude coupling during an auditory task. *Computers in Biology and Medicine*, 169:107902, 2024.
- [2] Hosni SI, Borgheai B, McLinden J, Zhu S, Huang X, Ostadabbas S, Shahriari Y. A Graph-Based Nonlinear Dynamic Characterization of Motor Imagery Toward an Enhanced Hybrid BCI. *Neuroinformatics*, 20(4):1169-1189, 2022.
- [3] Barnett L & Seth AK. The MVGC multivariate Granger causality toolbox: A new approach to Granger-causal inference. Journal of Neuroscience Methods, 223:50-68, 2014.

### Implementing a Wearable BCI with Patients with Disorders of Consciousness: An Inter-professional Approach

K. Hill<sup>1</sup>\*, A.K. Wagner<sup>2</sup>, A.M. Lieto<sup>1</sup>, S. Baker<sup>1</sup>, E. Mariperisena-Meinert<sup>1</sup>, A. Bauer<sup>2</sup>, G. Galang<sup>2</sup>, K. Franzese<sup>2</sup>, S. Koo<sup>2</sup>, A. Yan<sup>2</sup>, V.P. Reddy<sup>2</sup>, N. Enam<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA USA, <sup>2</sup>University of Pittsburgh Medical Center (UPMC), Pittsburgh, PA, USA; <sup>2</sup>; <sup>3</sup>University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

5023 Forbes Tower, University of Pittsburgh, 55106. Email: khill@pitt.edu

*Introduction:* Patients diagnosed with disorders of consciousness (DoC) face incomparable challenges in communicating awareness. DoC encompasses a spectrum of impaired consciousness, ranging from coma to minimally conscious states, where limited or intermittent interaction with the environment may P300 occur. Research using functional magnetic resonance imaging suggests that approximately 1 in 5 individuals with DoC exhibit what is known as cognitive motor dissociation (also known as covert consciousness)- a state in which they are aware of their surroundings and can understand language but are unable to communicate. Wearable brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) offer a potential solution for providing prognostic insights and developing strategies to evaluate comprehension and communication abilities.

Material and Methods: Our feasibility trial was designed 1) to evaluate the technical and clinical challenges of successfully collecting physiological data derived from g.tec's mindBEAGLE P300 and motor imagery assessment paradigms among research participants with DoC 2) to establish data reproducibility and interpretability across multiple paradigms required for assessing and utilizing functional cognition and communication for the DoC population treated within the UPMC Rehabilitation Institute, 3) to characterize participant tolerance of training and communication within each paradigm. Our study focused on the Institutional Review Board (IRB) and data collection protocol development and refinements, as well as reporting individual case report results and preliminary interprofessional feedback regarding the acceptability of the protocol. Initial clinician training occurred over 5 days using a competency-based approach. Results indicated that a minimum of 35 hours of didactic and hands-on training was required for trainees to achieve competencies such as equipment set-up, cap fitting, electrode testing, executing paradigm assessments and recording data results. This training included multiple opportunities to perform the mindBEAGLE assessment and treatment protocols by troubleshooting common scenarios, identifying the key variables for clinical assessment and interpretation, and becoming familiar with the software and associated data management. Training considered how DoC participants might vary in terms of feasibility and implementation, data reproducibility and interpretation, and patient tolerance and conditioning over time for participation and considerations for measuring physiological changes and neurological improvement within and between sessions.

The initial protocol design approved by the University of Pittsburgh's IRB was revised early in the study to address identified challenges with inclusion/exclusion criteria, recruitment strategy (inpatient/outpatient), participant age range and diagnosis, participant availability, and the clinical environment. Protocol changes were made in collaboration with g.tec on how to manage artifacts due to participant movement, electrode placement, and software data capture and utilization. In addition, database development using REDCap provided for systematic data collection that required refinement in data structure an expanded menu of data elements.

*Results and Conclusion*: Our inter-professional approach allowed for ongoing protocol refinement and identification of implementation strategies and techniques to begin to advance feasibility and personcentered implementation goals needed for clinical sustainability. Exemplars demonstrating our progress with both inpatient and outpatient participants are provided across the various technical and implementation themes introduced. Multiple DoC participants were able to reproducibly communicate with yes/no responses using at least one mindBEAGLE paradigm. Our inter-professional approach will continue to advance this work into a T2-Translation to Patients Clinical trial.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* The team wishes to thank the Beckwith Institute Clinical Transformation Research Program and the UPMC Rehabilitation Institute for funding and support, Ms. Jessa Darwin for Program Management, Vishruth Reddy and Celeste Picone for Data Management, and Jennifer Biller and Kim Huster for Research Coordination.

## Physiologic Manifestations of Communication & Learning in a Patient with Remote TBI & Disorders of Consciousness: Lessons from Establishing a Non-Invasive BCI Protocol

S. Koo<sup>1</sup>, A. Yan<sup>1</sup>, A. Lieto<sup>2</sup>, S. Baker<sup>2</sup>, E. Mariperisena-Meinert<sup>2</sup>, A. Bauer<sup>2</sup>, G. Galang<sup>1</sup>, N. Enam<sup>3</sup>, K. Franzese<sup>1</sup>, K. Hill<sup>2</sup>, and A.K. Wagner<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Pittsburgh, PA, USA <sup>2</sup>University of Pittsburgh School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, Department of Communication Sciences and Disorder, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

<sup>3</sup>University of Pennsylvania, Penn Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Philadelphia, PA, USA \*3471 Fifth Avenue, Suite 910, Pittsburgh, PA 15219. E-mail: wagnerak@upmc.edu

Introduction: Patients with disorders of consciousness (DoC) can present with cognitive motor dissociation (CMD), in which they can follow cognitive commands without motor expression, limiting their interaction with their environment using traditional communication methods. The mindBEAGLE, a noninvasive brain computer interface (BCI), has shown promise in analyzing neuroelectrical activity such as event-related potentials (ERP) on electroencephalography (EEG) to assess communication and command following in DoC patients. Here we present results of a DoC patient using the mindBEAGLE in terms of physiological manifestations and command following. Our subject is a 28-year-old male who sustained a traumatic brain injury (TBI) in 2018 from a fall resulting in a multicompartmental hemorrhage.

<u>Materials. Methods</u>: Subject recruitment was based on the JFK coma recovery scale - revised (CRS-R) designating unresponsive wakefulness state (UWS) or minimally conscious state (MCS) patients. Our subject's CRS-R score upon evaluation was 7 out of 23, consistent with UWS. MindBEAGLE paradigms of auditory evoked potentials (AEP) and vibrotactile evoked potentials (VEP) using the P300 ERP approach, and motor imagery (MI) using the event related desynchronization/synchronization (ERD/ERS) approach were used as measures of functional brain activity. CRS-R scores and physiologic parameters such as blood pressure were collected before and after each session by a physician. Heart rate and blood oxygen saturation was collected intermittently over the course of multiple paradigms administered during each session. Relationships were analyzed using Pearson correlations between physiologic parameters and classification accuracies, and significance was evaluated using the student's t-test.

<u>Results</u>: The patient demonstrated an initial improvement in classification and yes/no question accuracy during the initial 3 evaluation sessions, but had a sharp decline in the 4th evaluation session; accuracy slowly improved into the 5th evaluation session and 2 subsequent treatment sessions (total 7 sessions). This accuracy pattern was positively correlated with changes in the patient's mean arterial pressure (MAP) (r=0.48, p=0.00015), and negatively correlated with changes in heart rate (r=0.61, p=0.00062). Quantitatively, after the first session, the CRS score increased from 7 to 10, and all subsequent CRS scores ranged from 8-10 pre-session and 9-10 post session. Qualitatively, the patient was initially only able to fixate and track his mirror image, but began to track the examiner's finger after the 3rd session. There were no significant associations regarding blood oxygen saturation.

#### Conclusion:

The mindBEAGLE was able to detect a DoC subject's attempts at communication and track paradigm learning over multiple sessions. Physiologic responses were suggestive of increased metabolic demand, conditioning, and potential conscious effort in cognitive tasks. Sessions were overall well tolerated and can be medically feasible in the chronic DoC population.

<u>Acknowledgments</u>: The authors do not have any conflicts of interest. We thank the Beckwith Institute Clinical Transformation Research Program and UPMC Rehabilitation Institute for funding support, Jessa Darwin for Program Management, Vishruth Reddy and Celeste Picone for Data Management, and Jennifer Biller and Kim Huster for Research Coordination.

<sup>[1]</sup>Bodien, Yelena G., et al. "Cognitive Motor Dissociation in disorders of consciousness." New England Journal of Medicine, vol. 391, no. 7, 15 Aug. 2024, pp. 598–608, https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa2400645.

<sup>[2]</sup>Annen, J., Filippini, M. M., Bonin, E., Cassol, H., Aubinet, C., Carrière, M., ... & Chatelle, C. (2019). Diagnostic accuracy of the CRS-R index in patients with disorders of consciousness. Brain injury, 33(11), 1409-1412.

<sup>[3]</sup>Guger, C., Allison, B., Spataro, R., La Bella, V., Kammerhofer, A., Guttmann, F., ... & Cho, W. (2017, October). MindBEAGLE—A new system for the assessment and communication with patients with disorders of consciousness and complete locked-in syndrome. In 2017 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC) (pp. 3008-3013). IEEE.

<sup>[4]</sup>Picton, T. W. (1992). The P300 wave of the human event-related potential. Journal of clinical neurophysiology, 9, 456-456.

## Changes in Brain Oscillatory Dynamics in Elderly Adults as a Consequence of Natural Aging

L. Capurro<sup>1\*</sup>, M. Radloff<sup>2</sup>, LI. Brusco<sup>3,4</sup>, R. Ramele<sup>1</sup>, C. Forcato<sup>1</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Instituto Tecnológico de Buenos Aires (ITBA), Buenos Aires, Argentina; <sup>2</sup>Department of Health Psychology, Institute for Psychology, University of Klagenfurt, Klagenfurt, Austria.;
 <sup>3</sup>Centro de Neuropsiquiatría y Neurología de la Conducta-CENECON, Facultad de Ciencias Médicas, Universidad de Buenos Aires (UBA), Buenos Aires, Argentina.; <sup>4</sup>Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Buenos Aires, Argentina.

\*Iguazú 341, C1437 FBG, Ciudad de Buenos Aires, Argentina. E-mail: lcapurro@itba.edu.ar

*Introduction:* The oscillatory nature of slow waves during non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep has recently been proposed as crucial for the glymphatic system, facilitating the clearance of metabolic waste from the brain [1]. While aging-related reductions in slow wave quantity and amplitude are well-documented [2] and linked to this cleansing function [3, 4], we propose that the rhythmic dynamics in which slow waves occur may also play a critical role.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Thus, we introduce a novel classification of slow waves based on their temporal dynamics, categorizing them into isolated waves and oscillation trains. Using overnight EEG recordings from young and elderly adults, we compared the proportions of these wave types. Additionally, we analyzed train composition, including the proportion of slow waves that initiate a train (lead waves) and the lengths of the oscillation trains (number of consecutive slow waves initiated by one lead wave). Our results revealed that elderly adults exhibited a higher prevalence of isolated waves and a lower proportion of oscillation trains. Moreover, while elderly adults showed a higher proportion of lead waves, their oscillation trains were significantly shorter compared to those of young adults.

**Conclusion:** We propose that natural aging may result in a less oscillatory brain state, characterized by a diminished ability to produce sustained, periodic oscillations. This diminished rhythmicity could impair cerebrospinal fluid pulsation, potentially reducing the brain's ability to efficiently clear pathogenic substances during sleep. Given the established link between impaired glymphatic clearance and neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's, this diminished capacity to sustain slow wave trains may contribute to age-related decline in neurological functioning.

Disclosures: RR and CF are co-founders of NeuroAcoustics Inc., DE, US.

- Jiang-Xie LF, Drieu A, Bhasiin K, Quintero D, Smirnov I, Kipnis J. Neuronal dynamics direct cerebrospinal fluid perfusion and brain clearance. Nature. 2024;627(8002):157–64. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-024-07108-6.
- [2] Carrier J, Land S, Buysse DJ, Kupfer DJ, Monk TH. Sleep slow wave changes during the middle years of life. Eur J Neurosci. 2011;33(4):758-66. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07543.x.
- [3] Winer JR, Mander BA, Kumar S, Reed M, Baker SL, Jagust WJ, et al. Sleep disturbance forecasts β-amyloid accumulation across subsequent years. Curr Biol. 2020;30(21):4291–8.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.08.017.
- [4] Varga AW, Wohlleber ME, Giménez S, Romero S, Pérez-Escuredo J, Huertas A, et al. Reduced slow-wave sleep is associated with high cerebrospinal fluid Aβ42 levels in cognitively normal elderly. Sleep. 2016;39(11):2041–8. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.6240.

## Toward Home-Use BCIs: Development and Evaluation of ECoG WIMAGINE Neuroprosthesis

L. Struber<sup>1</sup>\*, F. Martel<sup>1</sup>, A. Carvallo Pecci<sup>1</sup>, R. Souriau<sup>1</sup>, V. Juillard<sup>1</sup>, S. Karakas<sup>1</sup>, M. Bosquet<sup>1</sup>, F. Sauter-Starace<sup>1</sup>, J. Saad<sup>2</sup>, A. Evans<sup>2</sup>, S. Chabardès<sup>1,3</sup>, T. Aksenova<sup>1</sup>, G. Charvet<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CEA, LETI, Clinatec, Grenoble, France; <sup>2</sup>Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CEA, LIST, Grenoble, France; <sup>2</sup>Univ. Grenoble Alpes, Grenoble University Hospital, Grenoble, France

\*17 rue des Martyrs, 38054, Grenoble cedex 9, France. E-mail: lucas.struber@cea.fr

*Introduction:* To restore autonomy and improve the quality of life of individuals with motor disabilities, Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) need to evolve from laboratory-based prototypes to functional systems that are practical for daily, home use. This shift requires addressing three critical challenges: (1) developing integrated, compact, and autonomous hardware suitable for patients' independent use; (2) implementing low-power, fast algorithms that run efficiently on small devices; and (3) integrating effectors, that are easy to setup and capable of producing meaningful functional changes for the user.

Methods and Results: The development of the Material. electrocorticographic (ECoG) WIMAGINE BCI neuroprosthesis [1] aims at overcoming these challenges. We integrated all hardware for recording and communication into a small, portable design. We implemented a highly optimized signal-processing pipeline capable of real-time operation on low-power embedded systems. The algorithms demonstrated robust decoding of neural signals with low computational time (<100 ms). Finally, we integrated a wireless surface functional electrical stimulation (sFES) sleeve (FESIA-Grasp®) that translates decoded neural commands into functional movements. The neuroprosthesis setup is user-friendly, requiring minimal training for installation and operation, enhancing user independence. Testing was conducted with individuals with spinal cord injury [2,3] implanted for several years (up to 7) with stable signal quality. Results indicate high system reliability and usability, with users able to achieve functional tasks with minimal supervision.



Figure 1: Principle of the home-use WIMAGINE BCI neuroprosthesis

*Conclusion:* This work represents a significant step toward enabling home-use BCIs. By integrating compact hardware, efficient algorithms, and functional effectors into the WIMAGINE neuroprosthesis, we have demonstrated the safety and feasibility of autonomous BCI systems for home applications. These advances pave the way for future developments aimed at improving the accessibility and practicality of BCIs outside clinical environments.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank all the multidisciplinary technical and clinical teams at Clinatec (CEA-LETI and CHU-Grenoble Alpes) for their participation in the BCI&Tetraplegia clinical trial (NCT02550522 [2]), but also at EPFL and CHUV in Lausanne for their involvement with Clinatec in the STIMO-BSI clinical trial (NCT04632290 [3]). We also would like to thank all the participants in our clinical trials, who make this work possible. The work presented here is supported by the CEA, the Carnot Institute CEA-Leti, Horizon Europe – EIC NEMO-BMI ID101070891, the French National Research Agency (ANR), the Fonds Clinatec and the Neurotech project of CDP UGA.

- [1] Mestais C S, Charvet G, Sauter-Starace F, Foerster M, Ratel D and Benabid A L 2015 WIMAGINE: Wireless 64-Channel ECoG Recording Implant for Long Term Clinical Applications *IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng.* 23 10–21
- [2] Benabid A L, Costecalde T, Eliseyev A, Charvet G, Verney A, Karakas S, Foerster M, Lambert A, Morinière B, Abroug N, Schaeffer M-C, Moly A, Sauter-Starace F, Ratel D, Moro C, Torres-Martinez N, Langar L, Oddoux M, Polosan M, Pezzani S, Auboiroux V, Aksenova T, Mestais C and Chabardes S 2019 An exoskeleton controlled by an epidural wireless brain-machine interface in a tetraplegic patient: a proof-of-concept demonstration *Lancet Neurol*. 18 1112–22
- [3] Lorach H, Galvez A, Spagnolo V, Martel F, Karakas S, Intering N, Vat M, Faivre O, Harte C, Komi S, Ravier J, Collin T, Coquoz L, Sakr I, Baaklini E, Hernandez-Charpak S D, Dumont G, Buschman R, Buse N, Denison T, van Nes I, Asboth L, Watrin A, Struber L, Sauter-Starace F, Langar L, Auboiroux V, Carda S, Chabardes S, Aksenova T, Demesmaeker R, Charvet G, Bloch J and Courtine G 2023 Walking naturally after spinal cord injury using a brain–spine interface *Nature* 618 126–33

## Neural control of a robotic hand prosthesis by posture-related activity in the grasping circuit

Hunaid Hameed<sup>1</sup>, Andres Agudelo-Toro<sup>1</sup>, Marco Controzzi<sup>2</sup>, Hansjörg Scherberger<sup>1,3\*</sup> <sup>1</sup>German Primate Center, Göttingen, Germany; <sup>2</sup>The Biorobotics Institute, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Pisa, Italy; <sup>3</sup>Department of Biology and Psychology, University of Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany "E-mail: HScherberger@dpz.eu

*Introduction:* Spinal cord injury can severely limit hand movement capacity, making it a top recovery priority for patients [1]. Although significant progress has been made towards hand neuro-prostheses, these devices are still limited to basic grasping and cannot reproduce the rich set of configurations of the native hand yet. Despite evidence of abundant posture information in cortical hand areas [2], hand neuroprosthetic protocols have focused predominantly on the movement velocity aspect of control, using this approach to control hand joint synergies, or individual finger movements [3, 4]. We recently demonstrated that the cortical posture signal in hand-related areas can support accurate hand neuroprosthetic control for multiple DOFs in a virtual environment [5]. Whether this technique extends to robotic control is yet to be tested.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Working with a macaque monkey implanted in motor cortex, we demonstrate that posture signals in hand-related cortical brain areas can support neuroprosthetic control on a robotic arm and hand platform (Fig. 1). Our intention estimation protocol incorporates position and velocity control through re-fitting to kinematic trajectories. The protocol assumes that the subject aims to execute a transition in the space of hand configurations, extending intention estimation for velocity control to posture-based control. In the present work, we aim to determine the changes in neural activity required to support posture based control and the lessons learned when porting our protocol to the robotic platform.

*Conclusion:* We demonstrate our posture and velocity intention estimation technique can extend to a robotic device, opening the door to future implementations using this additional position signal.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* We thank Judith Hampe, Sabine Borchert, Natalie Bobb, and James Goodman for help during monkey training and setup preparation, and Matthias Dörge for technical help. This work was supported by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft grants SFB-1690 and by the EU Horizon 2020 project B-CRATOS GA 965044. Marco Controzzi is founder of the spin-off company Prensilia Srl. which produced the robot hand used in the study.



Figure 1: A. Implant on areas M1 and S1 of monkey N. Only M1 was used for decoding. B. Example grasp and lift with the robotic platform.

- [1] Anderson, K.D. (2004). Targeting Recovery: Priorities of the Spinal Cord Injured Population. J. Neurotrauma 21, 1371–1383.
- [2] Goodman, J.M., Tabot, G.A., Lee, A.S., Suresh, A.K., Rajan, A.T., Hatsopoulos, N.G., and Bensmaia, S. (2019). Postural Representations of the Hand in the Primate Sensorimotor Cortex. Neuron 104, 1000–1009.e7.
- [3] Collinger, J.L., Wodlinger, B., Downey, J.E., Wang, W., Tyler-Kabara, E.C., Weber, D.J., McMorland, A.J.C., Velliste, M., Boninger, M.L., and Schwartz, A.B. (2013). High-performance neuroprosthetic control by an individual with tetraplegia. Lancet 381, 557–564.
- [4] Nason, S.R., Mender, M.J., Vaskov, A.K., Willsey, M.S., Ganesh Kumar, N., Kung, T.A., Patil, P.G., and Chestek, C.A. (2021). Real-time linear prediction of simultaneous and independent movements of two finger groups using an intracortical brain-machine interface. Neuron 109, 3164–3177.e8.
- [5] Agudelo-Toro A, Michaels JA, Sheng WA, Scherberger H. Accurate neural control of a hand prosthesis by posture-related activity in the primate grasping circuit. Neuron. 2024 Dec 18;112(24):4115-4129.e8.

## Neurophysiologically-guided optimization of neuronal avalanches for BCI

Camilla Mannino<sup>1</sup>\*, Mario Chavez<sup>1</sup>, Marie-Constance Corsi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Sorbonne Université, Institut du Cerveau – Paris Brain Institute -ICM, CNRS, Inria, Inserm, AP-HP, Hôpital de la Pitié Salpêtrière, F-75013, Paris, France E-mail: camilla.mannino@icm-institute.org

*Introduction:* Despite promising clinical applications, motor imagery-based Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) fail to detect the intent of 15-30% of users. This limitation partly stems from a focus on local oscillatory patterns, neglecting inter-regional interactions and treating aperiodic signals as noise. However, recent evidence demonstrated the coexistence of burst events and sustained oscillations, each providing unique insights. Neuronal avalanches, cascades of activity bursts propagating through neural networks, could address these gaps by elucidating mechanisms underlying BCI performance [1, 2]. Identifying optimal neuronal avalanche parameters is crucial to effectively integrate neuronal avalanches into BCI paradigms [2]. This study examines the correlation between BCI performance and factors such as the occurrence of regions of interest (ROIs), mean avalanche duration, and entropy rate of the brain signature, aiming to guide experimenters in selecting neurophysiologically relevant parameters of neuronal avalanches for BCI applications.

*Materials, Methods and Results:* We analysed EEG data from twenty healthy subjects who alternatively performed a right-hand motor-imagery (MI) task and remained at rest [3]. Using source-reconstructed signals, we estimated an Avalanche Transition Matrix (ATM), which mapped the probability of avalanche propagation across brain regions. To identify and selected task-related brain regions, we applied the PageRank algorithm to the ATMs (Markov Chains) and conducted t-tests and joint diagonalization between resting and MI states. Then, to identify which brain regions were the most often selected, we computed the associated occurrence. By correlating the mean avalanche duration and the ATM's entropy rate with BCI performance scores, we optimized key parameters. Additionally, by correlating the occurrence of significant ROIs with the BCI score, we validated the possibility of dataset reduction. Spearman's correlation was used to perform both correlations, and their significance was

confirmed using a t-test (p-value < 0.05) with FDR correction. Our analysis shows significant positive correlations between ROIs occurrence selection and BCI scores, particularly in the alpha band (8-12 Hz) (Fig. 1). Higher selection rates indicate conditions. less variability across parameter Neurophysiologically relevant regions, such as the left precentral and paracentral areas (linked to the primary motor cortex), emerged as key. In the initial 2 seconds of the trials, before providing the feedback, regions typically involved in task preparation showed stronger significant correlations. In contrast, visual and executive regions dominated during the second phase of the trial when the feedback was provided (last 3 seconds). The



positive correlation between mean avalanche duration and BCI score is highlighted during the MI task with more significant *BCI-scores. During Task+Feedback Interval, Alpha-Band* 

score is highlighted during the MI task with more significant <sup>BCI-scores. During Task+Feedback Interval, Alpha-Band</sup> values compared to resting state, suggesting that longer avalanches reflect more coordinated and sustained neural activity, which enhances BCI performance. In contrast, during the resting state, while a similar trend is observed, the correlations rarely reach statistical significance, indicating a less robust relationship. Additionally, a negative significant correlation between entropy rate and BCI score was found during the MI task with the longest avalanches, whereas the resting state showed a positive correlation with shorter avalanches. These findings suggest that longer avalanches are linked to sustained neural activity and reduced variability, both of which are linked to an improved BCI performance. Notably, the MI task exhibits less variability compared to the rest.

*Conclusion:* This study provides a data driven approach to optimize the ATMs characterization and to ensure their neurophysiological relevance. Such a tool could be used during the calibration period to adapt the training program to the subjects' specificities. Taken together, our results offer guidelines to use the neuronal avalanches in the context of BCI experiments.

References :

[1] Corsi, M.-C. et al. Measuring brain critical dynamics to inform Brain-Computer Interfaces. iScience 27, 108734 (2024)

[2] Mannino C. et al, Neuronal avalanch e for EEG-based motor imagery BCI (9th Graz BCI conference 2024, pp 98)

[3] Corsi, M.-C. *et al.* Functional disconnection of associative cortical areas predicts performance during BCI training. NeuroImage 209, 116500 (2020).

## A sEEG-based BCI for Brain-to-Chinese Language Decoding

#### Jie Yang<sup>1</sup>\*, Lu Cao<sup>2</sup>, Yifei Jia<sup>1</sup>, Di Wu<sup>1</sup>, Yue Zhang<sup>2</sup>, and Mohamad Sawan<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>CenBRAIN Neurotech, Westlake University, Hangzhou, China, 310030 <sup>2</sup>Natural Language Processing Lab, Westlake University, Hangzhou China, 310030 \*E-mail: {yangjie, sawan}@westlake.edu.cn

*Introduction:* Decoding language from neural signals can greatly improve the quality of life for individuals who have lost their ability to speak, such as those with ALS or stroke. Although significant progress has been made in brain-language decoding [1], relatively few studies have focused on Chinese—a representative syllabic language spoken daily by over one quarter of the global population. In our previous work, we introduced a decoding framework based on syllable elements [2]. In this study, we present our latest advancements in developing a Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) platform for Chinese language decoding, leveraging a medical sEEG system. This system demonstrates high performance processing with low latency, high inference speed, and competitive accuracy, showing great potential for both clinical and research applications.

*Material, Methods and Results:* A custom neural signal processing platform was developed to stream signals from a medical device intended for advanced epilepsy monitoring and research, specifically for long-term sEEG data acquisition. The platform can simultaneously process up to 1024 channels of streaming sEEG signals while recording and playing multimodal voice and video data, with automated marker labeling. With GPU acceleration, the platform performs numerical statistics, frequency processing and neural network inference. In our language decoding experiments, two epilepsy patients who had undergone sEEG electrode implantation participated during their inter-ictal periods. Chinese characters were presented to them sequentially on a screen, and they were instructed to read aloud after receiving a cue. The corresponding sEEG signal and voice signals were simultaneously recorded and processed by the platform. A short time window of sEEG data, with a margin to capture brain activity before and after sound production, was selected for processing.

The signal processing pipeline includes channel differential, filtering, standardization and frequency domain processing. The processed data was then fed into a neural network model for predicting the Chinese Pinyin initials corresponding to the sEEG signals. The network contains five convolutional for feature extraction and followed by a fully connected layer for the final classification decision. Causal convolution is adopted to prevent data leakage from future time steps. The experiment results showed that the top-1 accuracy for the initial prediction exceeded 50% and the top-3 accuracy achieved over 90% on the best performing subject, using an experimental corpus that contains 407 words with 23 distinct Chinese Pinyin initials. The platform is capable of performing over 200 inferences per second, with a processing delay of less than 20 ms.

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates the feasibility and potential of a high-performance Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) for Chinese language decoding, we achieved promising results in real-time, low-latency, and high-accuracy predictions of Chinese Pinyin initials from neural signals. It lays the foundation for future research on extending the decoding capabilities to full words or sentences.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by the Westlake startup funding, "Pioneer" and "Leading Goose" Research and Development Program of Zhejiang (Grant Number: 2024C03002) and Key Project of Westlake Institute for Optoelectronics (Grant Number: 2023GD004).

- Silva, A.B., Littlejohn, K.T., Liu, J.R. et al. The speech neuroprosthesis. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 25, 473–492 (2024). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-024-00819-9</u>
- [2] Feng, C., L. Cao, and D. Wu. Et al. "Acoustic inspired brain-to-sentence decoder for logosyllabic language." 2023-11-05)[2024-06-04]. http://biorxiv.org/lookup/doi/10.1101/2023.11.05.562313 (2023).
## Supporting the user learning process in MI-BCI based on backward adaptation and neurofeedback

V. Peterson<sup>1</sup>\*, C.M. Galván<sup>1</sup>, V. Spagnolo<sup>1</sup>, S. Gualpa<sup>1</sup>, D. Nigro<sup>1</sup>, D.H. Milone<sup>2</sup>, R.D. Spies<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Instituto de Matemática Aplicada del Litoral, IMAL, UNL-CONICET, Santa Fe, Argentina; <sup>2</sup>Instituto de Investigación en Señales, Sistemas e Inteligencia Computacional, sinc(i), FICH-UNL, CONICET, Santa Fe, Argentina.

\*CCT CONICET Santa Fe, Colectora Ruta Nac. Nº 168, Paraje El Pozo, 3000 Santa Fe, Argentina. E-mail: <u>vpeterson@santafe-</u> <u>conicet.gov.ar</u>

*Introduction:* To effectively command a motor imagery brain computer interface (MI-BCI), several sessions of practice are typically required. While the user learns how to control the BCI, the decoding algorithm should adapt to the brain signal changes that occur with learning. In electroencephalography (EEG) based BCIs for motor rehabilitation, such changes exacerbate due to multiple session usage. To support the user learning process, it is essential to assess and provide real-time feedback on their self-modulation skills. Moreover, such feedback should be clear and meaningful from the MI task viewpoint [1]. Here we present supportive backward adaptation (SBA), a method that allows across-sessions data adaptation while online assessing MI modulation proficiency. SBA is based on the backward optimal transport for domain adaptation method [2]. By means of SBA, a MI videogame for motor rehabilitation is designed with the aim of building co-adaptive BCIs to improve both the user learning process and the system decoding accuracy.

*Material, Methods and Results:* First, we assessed whether SBA is a reliable tool to measure MI-BCI skills in real-time. Real [3] and simulated [4] MI vs. rest EEG data were used. Data always comprised two sessions from two different days. Common spatial patterns (CSP) in combination with the linear discriminant analysis defined the decoding model. Training used data from the first session, while data from the second session was used for testing. SBA was applied at the CSP feature space level. The instructed cue information was used to guide the backward adaptation. The algorithmic support, i.e. the effort exerted by the model in performing the adaptation, was used as a measure of online MI modulation skill. Riemannian distinctiveness metrics [5] were used as gold-standard indices to assess users' BCI skills. Results showed that SBA algorithmic support is significantly correlated with the simulated MI capability as well as to Riemannian distinctiveness metrics. Then, we designed a videogame for MI-BCI in motor rehabilitation that uses SBA algorithmic support index to inform in real-time the BCI user on how well the instructed task was performed. Such feedback is presented as an energy bar. Feedback also comprises an avatar hand movement together with an audible tone indicating the predicted mental state. To encourage users, the goal of the game is to catch coins and maximize a score, which depends on the algorithmic support value. Pilot subjects claimed high agency and felt feedback was transparent.

*Conclusion:* SBA not only facilitates across-sessions adaptation but also measures in real-time the quality of the provided EEG patterns with respect to the indicated mental task. The design of meaningful feedback based on SBA algorithmic support has the potential to enhance users' MI-BCI control capabilities. Future plans involve the development of a longitudinal MI-BCI study to evaluate whether the neurofeedback based on the SBA algorithmic support metric fosters engagement, master MI skills, and ultimately, improve clinical outcomes in motor rehabilitation.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work is partially supported by the OpenBCI Discovery Program 2020. The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### References:

- Dussard C, Pillette L, Dumas C, Pierrieau E, Hugueville L, Lau B, Jeunet-Kelway C, George N. Influence of feedback transparency on motor imagery neurofeedback performance: the contribution of agency, Journal of Neural Engineering. 2014; 21(5).
- [2] Peterson V, Nieto N, Wyse D, Lambercy O, Gassert R, Milone DH, Spies RD. Transfer learning based on optimal transport for motor imagery brain-computer interfaces. IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering. 2021; 69(2): 807-817.
- [3] Peterson V, Wyser D, Lambercy O, Spies R, Gassert R. *A penalized time-frequency band feature selection and classification procedure for improved motor intention decoding in multichannel EEG.* Journal of Neural Engineering. 2019;16(1):016019.

[5] Lotte F, Jeunet C. Defining and quantifying users' mental imagery-based BCI skills: A first step. Journal of Neural Engineering. 2018; 15(4): 1–37.

<sup>[4]</sup> Galván CM, Spies RD, Milone DH, Peterson V. Neurophysiologically meaningful motor imagery EEG simulation with applications to data augmentation. IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering. 2024; 32:2346-2355.

## Development and Validation of a Fully Implantable Brain-Computer Interface System

Kai Tao<sup>1#</sup>, Huijuan Chen<sup>1#</sup>, Qiangpei Fu<sup>1#</sup>, Yu Ling<sup>1#</sup>, Guoliang Yi<sup>1#</sup>, Hongjun Zheng<sup>1#</sup>, Xiliang Guo<sup>1#</sup>, Bin Zhao<sup>1#</sup>, Zhenliang He<sup>1#</sup>, Yifan Huang<sup>1#</sup>, Jing Jia<sup>1#</sup>, Yulei Chen<sup>1#</sup>, Yue Lu<sup>1</sup>, Songwei Sun<sup>1</sup>, Longda Wang<sup>1</sup>, Wen Gu<sup>1</sup>, Jiayi Lu<sup>1</sup>, Enzhao Wang<sup>1</sup>, Cai Zhao<sup>1</sup>, Yu Jiang<sup>1</sup>, Liangliang Ju<sup>1</sup>, Jinpeng Lyu<sup>1</sup>, Xuqian Shi<sup>1</sup>, Wenxia Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Dandan Cao<sup>1</sup>, Mingxin Li<sup>1</sup>, Zhihua Li<sup>1</sup>, Zipei Shuai<sup>1</sup>, Congcong Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Jiawei Ju<sup>1</sup>, Ji Mu<sup>1</sup>, Zhicheng Shi<sup>1</sup>, Wei Wang<sup>1</sup>, Guang Xiong<sup>1</sup>, Han Yang<sup>1</sup>, Zhenda Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Yu Zhou<sup>1</sup>, Dan Li<sup>1</sup>, Hao Li<sup>1</sup>, Le Song<sup>1</sup>, Jie Sun<sup>1</sup>, Ming Tian<sup>1</sup>, Shibin Wei<sup>1</sup>, Lili Bu<sup>1</sup>, Yafei Cui<sup>1</sup>, Hongxiong Jiang<sup>1</sup>, Fei Wang<sup>1</sup>, Lei Wu<sup>1</sup>, Qing Xu<sup>1</sup>, Han Wang<sup>1</sup>, Xi Jiang<sup>1</sup>, Ruoyu Li<sup>1</sup>, Shi Wang<sup>1</sup>, Jingli Han<sup>1</sup>, Shouliang Guan<sup>1\*</sup>, Ning Xue<sup>1\*</sup>, Lei Yao<sup>1\*</sup>, Chengyu T. Li<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Lingang laboratory, Shanghai, 200031, China. # These authors contributed equally to this work. \* Building 8, 319 Yueyang Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, China; E-mails: Shouliang Guan, guansl@lglab.ac.cn; Ning Xue, xuening@lglab.ac.cn; Lei Yao, yaol@lglab.ac.cn; Chengyu T. Li,

tonylicy@lglab.ac.cn

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interface (BCI) systems hold significant promise for restoring motor, sensory, and communication functions in individuals with neurological disorders. However, challenges such as miniaturization, biocompatibility, and high-channel-count neural signal acquisition remain critical barriers to clinical translation. Here, we present a fully implantable BCI system featuring advanced integration of high-density flexible electrodes, signal acquisition, and wireless communication technologies, designed to meet safety and performance standards for long-term implantation.

*Material, Methods and Results:* The system incorporates 256-channel or 1024-channel flexible electrodes with a custom-designed 256-channel signal acquisition integrated circuit (IC), a low-power Bluetooth chip, and a wireless power supply module. This configuration enables the acquisition, processing, and wireless transmission of up to 256/1024 channels of neural data. The system is miniaturized and highly integrated, utilizing biocompatible materials and advanced packaging techniques to meet implantable safety standards. Animal studies have been conducted to evaluate the safety and efficacy of the implantable BCI system. Results indicate successful neural signal acquisition and transmission with minimal tissue inflammation and no adverse effects observed during the study period. The system has demonstrated the capability to perform real-time neural signal processing and BCI control by the animals, which is a critical step towards its application in clinical settings.

*Conclusion:* We have developed a fully implantable BCI system that showcases high performance, miniaturization, and integration, suitable for long-term use in clinical environments. Preliminary validation in animal models has confirmed the system's safety and effectiveness. With the system's design meeting implantable device safety standards, we are poised to initiate clinical trials this year. The outcomes of these trials will be instrumental in determining the clinical utility of this BCI system for a variety of neurological applications.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by Lingang Laboratory (Grant No.LG-GG-202402-06), Shanghai Municipal Science and Technology Major Project (Grant No. 2021SHZDZX), the National Key R&D Program of china (Grant Nos. 2021ZD0203601) and 2021ZD0203601), National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 32221003 and 32161133024), Shanghai Pilot Program (Grant No. JCYJ-SHFY 2022-010). The authors declare no conflicts of interest or commercial financial support related to this study.

## Meta-AlignNN: A Meta-Learning Framework for Stable BCI Performance Across Subjects, Time, and Tasks

Yongjie Zou<sup>1</sup>, Zhenliang He<sup>1</sup>, Congcong Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Kai Liu<sup>1</sup>, Yu Ling<sup>1</sup>, Fei Wang<sup>1</sup>, Mingxin Li<sup>1</sup>, Yulei Chen<sup>1</sup>, Mengyu Li<sup>1</sup>, Chengyu T. Li<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Lingang Laboratory, Shanghai, 200031, China

\*Building 8, 319 Yueyang Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, China. E-mail: tonylicy@lglab.ac.cn

*Introduction:* Practical application of brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) requires stable mapping between neuronal activity and behavior through various behavioral contexts and for different individuals. Because recorded neurons as well as neural activity from same neurons could change over time, BCIs require frequent recalibration to maintain robust performance. Early approaches to addressing BCI stability issues mainly focused on tackling the challenge of neural activity changes over time. However, future BCI applications involve diversified scenarios and subjects, requiring solutions that address neural variability across time, subjects, and tasks. This study proposes a meta-learning-based algorithm for achieving BCI stability.

Material, Methods and Results: Recent studies have explored stability and consistency of neural population dynamics across subjects, time, and tasks, highlighting how these properties support the generation and learning of complex behaviors [1, 2, 3], which forms the theoretical foundation for effectiveness of Meta-AlignNN. We aim to develop a meta-learner capable of aligning neural activity across subjects, time, and tasks, regardless of the changes or drifts in neural activity recorded from cortical electrodes. With minimal data, this meta-learner can align varying neural activity to the stable and consistent neural population latent dynamics across different subjects, time, and tasks, thereby maintaining high BCI performance. Meta-AlignNN consists of a meta-aligner and a decoder. Specifically, the decoder is first trained on several sessions to learn the relationship between latent states (extracted from neural activity) and movement intentions. Data from other recorded sessions (across different subjects, tasks, and time) are used to train the meta-aligner. During meta-training, the meta-aligner is trained using Model-Agnostic Meta-Learning strategy, with the decoder's parameters fixed. The trained meta-aligner can align varying neural activity into stable and consistent neural population latent dynamics across subjects, time, and tasks. The fixed decoder can then seamlessly predict behavior from these aligned dynamics. In practice, this approach achieved significant success in various cross-time, cross-task, and cross-subject experiments (offline decoding and real-time brain control) conducted over nearly two years involving three monkeys and four tasks (center-out reaching task, random-target reaching task, whacka-mole, and Black Myth: Wukong). The real-time brain control accuracy across time, tasks, and subjects reached approximately 98.2%. Notably, in the real-time brain control scenario involving *Black Myth*: Wukong, the task was completed in near-theoretical minimum time.

*Conclusion:* In this study, we present a unified meta-learning framework, Meta-AlignNN, designed to address the limitations of earlier approaches and to ensure BCI stability and robustness across subjects, time, and tasks. Tested over two years on four tasks with three monkeys, the approach achieved high real-time brain control performance. By capitalizing on the consistency of neural population dynamics and requiring minimal data for recalibration, this framework provides a compelling solution for clinical and practical BCI applications. Future work will explore its adaptability to diverse tasks and populations.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* This work was supported by Lingang Laboratory (Grant NO. LG-GG-202402-06) and Shanghai Municipal Science and Technology Major Project (Grant NO. 2021SHZDZX). The authors declare no conflicts of interest or commercial financial support related to this study.

- Gallego J. A. et al. Cortical population activity within a preserved neural manifold underlies multiple motor behaviors. *Nat. Commun.* 9, 4233 (2018).
- [2] Gallego J. A. et al. Long-term stability of cortical population dynamics underlying consistent behavior. *Nat. Neurosci.* 23, 260–270 (2020).
- [3] Safaie M. et al. Preserved neural dynamics across animals performing similar behaviour. Nature 623, 765–771 (2023).

## Decoding of Lower-Limb Movement Intent from Scalp Electroencephalography (EEG) in Children

## A.S. Alamir<sup>1,2</sup>\*, J.L. Contreras-Vidal<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Jazan University, KSA; <sup>2</sup>Noninvasive Brain-Machine Interface Systems Laboratory, NSF Industry-University Cooperative Research Center for Building Reliable Advances and Innovations in Neurotechnology (IUCRC BRAIN) Center, University of Houston, Texas, USA \*P.O. Box: 899, Abu Arish, Saudi Arabia; E-mail: <u>asalamir@uh.edu</u>

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) can be used to decode movement intent from brain signals and, thus, provide a direct communication link with external virtual or physical machines such as computers, exoskeletons or prosthetic limbs. Those signals can also be utilized to promote neuroplasticity in the central nervous system to recover motor functions. Although rehabilitation-based BCIs have been broadly applied to the adult population and showed promising results, these adult-optimized BCIs might not work well for the pediatric population. In a systematic review of children BCIs, Orlandi et al. found that only 12 publications published between 2008 and 2021 reported BCI performance. Out of those studies, only one non-invasive study addressed mobility, indicating the need for more studies in this field.

Material, Methods and Results: Two experiments were conducted. The first experiment (Cued Dataset, N=5, Age: 7.6  $\pm$  2.3 years; single session tasks: visually-cued sit-stand transitions and walk-stop locomotion with at least 20 of each) involved visual cues to indicate the start of movement, which can be suitable for synchronous BCIs. The second experiment (Self-initiated Case Study, N=1, Age: 12 years, a total of 12 sessions collected in a course of seven weeks, Task: volitional sit-stand transitions and walk-stop locomotions with at least 20 of each) was self-triggered in terms of timing of movement and its category (Sit/Stand/Walk), which is appropriate for asynchronous BCIs. Acquisition of Electroencephalography (EEG) and electromyography (EMG) data was synchronized. To characterize EEG, the time-locked signals were processed for offline analysis. To close the loop and implement a real-time BCI, two types of state-dependent classification models were built for decoding movement intent from EEG and predicting the next transition. Two pipelines for pre-processing EEG data before utilizing them as an input to neural networks for classification were tested: one with the adaptive noise cancelling H-infinity filter, and the other with an ICA-based spatial filter designed to decompose EEG into independent sources. The convolutional neural networks implemented for training, validation, and real-time testing are composed of normalization, 1-D temporal convolution, rectifying linear unit, selfattention, fully connected, and SoftMax layers. Sensitivity analysis was performed with the input to the neural networks altered in terms of duration, frequency, and channels. For the offline analysis, movement related cortical potentials are observed clearly, especially in the channels closer to the central areas. Event-related spectral perturbation analysis indicates that all movement classes show a large decrease in power in the  $\delta$  band. Moreover, an increase in power in the lower  $\delta$  band starts to appear about one second before the movement onset. ICA and EEG dipole source localization investigation revealed the involvement of Brodmann Areas 6 and 8, areas known for their roles in motor planning, learning, and control. The sensitivity test results highlight the significance of the  $\delta$ -band and window duration of 2 seconds for decoding. To investigate the capability of decoders to detect movement intent from single trials coming from completely an unseen session, models were trained on data from sessions 1 through 11 of the Case Study and tested on session 12. Overall, the mean F1-Score of the Seated Model was 0.80 (chance level  $\approx$  0.5) whereas it was 0.54 for the Standing Model (chance level  $\approx$  0.3).

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates the feasibility of using EEG signals to predict movement intent in children for synchronous and asynchronous BCIs. EEG preceding movement onset was characterized in time, frequency, and IC domains. A prototype BCI based on the outcomes of this research was developed and evaluated. The findings of this research could substantially assist in developing pediatric BCIs that are capable of controlling walking exoskeletons and, consequently, improving their users' motor control. This work also promotes access of BCI systems to pediatric populations.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: Funded in part by NSF IUCRC BRAIN award #2137255 and a doctoral fellowship offered to ASA by Jazan University.

# Cognitive requirements for effective brain-computer interface (BCI) use in children with cerebral palsy.

J. Rios Ortegon<sup>1\*</sup>, A. Leung<sup>2</sup>, K. Adams<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada, <sup>2</sup>Department of Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

\*3-48 Corbett Hall, Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G4; (t) 780-492-5422; jriosort@ualberta.ca.

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) requires specific user skills for successful operation. However, the cognitive demands remain relatively unexplored, particularly in pediatric populations, where developmental differences and cognitive variability significantly influence usability and performance. This is especially true for children with cerebral palsy (CP), who often face additional cognitive and motor challenges that can further impact their interaction with BCI systems. This review aims to examine existing research on the cognitive demands of BCI technology, with a special focus on children with CP.

*Methods and results:* A systematic search was conducted across six databases (Scopus, Web of Science, Embase, MEDLINE, PsycINFO, and CINAHL) for original research studies involving children aged 5-18 using BCIs for control purposes. Inclusion criteria focused on studies reporting cognitive factors relevant to BCI performance. Data extraction and analysis followed the PRISMA-ScR guidelines.

Initially, 724 articles were identified, with 446 screened after removing duplicates. Of these, 420 were excluded for not focusing on BCI, children with CP, and cognition. Full-text review of 26 articles excluded 19 that did not meet inclusion criteria, leaving five studies. Participants were aged 6 to 18 years. They included children with CP with Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) levels I to V.

Activities done with BCI varied, including cognitive assessments, spelling, and controlling devices like cars, games, and robots using P300- or MI-based BCIs. Cognitive areas crucial for BCI use included **attention**, which is critical for P300 tasks, and sustained focus, which is often challenging due to fatigue, long setup times, and unengaging stimuli (1–4). **Motivation and engagement** influence BCI performance (5). **Processing speed** and **fatigue**, both mental and physical, also impacted usability, particularly in synchronous systems (real-time) (1). Neuroimaging was noted as a valuable tool to help identify neuroanatomical changes that might affect performance, informing the electrode placement and ensuring eligibility.

*Conclusion*: These findings emphasize the need for customized, engaging, and developmentally appropriate BCI systems. The limited number of included studies underscores the need for further research to comprehensively understand the cognitive requirements for BCI performance.

Acknowledge and Disclosures: This work was supported by the NSERC SMART-CREATE Program at the University of Alberta.

<sup>1.</sup> Huggins JE, Karlsson P, Warschausky SA. Challenges of brain-computer interface facilitated cognitive assessment for children with cerebral palsy. Front Hum Neurosci. 2022 Sep 20;16:977042.

Alcaide-Aguirre RE, Warschausky SA, Brown D, Aref A, Huggins JE. Asynchronous brain–computer interface for cognitive assessment in people with cerebral palsy. J Neural Eng. 2017 Dec 1;14(6):066001.

Warschausky S, Huggins JE, Alcaide-Aguirre RE, Aref AW. Preliminary psychometric properties of a standard vocabulary test administered using a noninvasive brain-computer interface. Front Hum Neurosci. 2022 Jul 28;16:930433.

Taherian S, Selitskiy D, Pau J, Claire Davies T. Are we there yet? Evaluating commercial grade brain-computer interface for control of computer applications by individuals with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol. 2017 Feb 17;12(2):165–74.

Jadavji Z, Zewdie E, Kelly D, Kinney-Lang E, Robu I, Kirton A. Establishing a Clinical Brain-Computer Interface Program for Children With Severe Neurological Disabilities. Cureus [Internet]. 2022 Jun 22 [cited 2025 Jan 15]; Available from: https://www.cureus.com/articles/69343-establishing-aclinical-brain-computer-interface-program-for-children-with-severe-neurological-disabilities

# Enriching the Image: Does Combining Motor Imagery with Haptic Input Affect the Event-Related Desynchronization?

## J. Decker<sup>1</sup>\*, M. Khalillaeva<sup>1</sup>, C. Kranczioch<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Carl von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg, Oldenburg, Germany \* E-mail: jennifer.decker@uni-oldenburg.de

*Introduction:* Motor imagery (MI), often combined with neurofeedback (NF), has proven effective in promoting neural plasticity and aiding motor rehabilitation. A key element of MI-NF applications is event-related desynchronization (ERD), which serves as a marker of neural activation and sensorimotor engagement. Stronger and more stable ERD modulation can help optimizing MI-NF protocols, particularly for neurorehabilitation and brain-computer interface development. Haptic input during MI may help achieving this. By bridging perception and interaction, haptic input may close the sensorimotor loop and support neuroplasticity mechanisms necessary for motor recovery [1], and could also strengthen the memory trace for movement during MI [2]. Despite its potential, the impact of haptic input on MI-induced ERD remains underexplored. This study investigates whether congruent haptic input amplifies ERD during simple and complex MI tasks, narrowing the gap between motor execution (ME) and MI.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* We analyzed 64-channel EEG data from 20 healthy, right-handed participants (12 females, 57-82 years, M and SD:  $68.1 \pm 7.6$  years) performing ME and MI of a fingertapping task. For the ME and the haptic input MI conditions, participants' fingers rested on the keys of a keyboard. In the no-haptic MI conditions, the hand was relaxed and suspended. Two task difficulty levels were implemented to explore the effect of task complexity on haptic input in the ERD. The simple variant involved tapping with a single finger, while the complex variant required executing a pre-learned and practiced sequence involving multiple fingers. Preliminary data analysis focused on contralateral mu and beta frequency range (8–30 Hz) ERD. Conditions were compared using ANOVA and *t*-tests. Descriptively, the haptic condition was associated with a slightly larger ERD then the no-haptic condition, but the difference did not reach significance. A significant effect of task complexity on ERD was evident, with more complex tasks eliciting stronger desynchronization. Additionally, ERD was significantly stronger during ME compared to MI.

*Conclusion:* While the haptic condition showed a slight trend towards a larger ERD compared to the no-haptic condition, preliminary results do not support that congruent haptic input alone can significantly amplify contralateral ERD during finger-tapping MI. The absence of a significant effect may be attributed to a small effect size, high variability in participants' ERD responses, or a combination of both factors. However, task complexity significantly enhanced contralateral ERD, supporting previous findings that more cognitively demanding MI tasks elicit stronger neural activation [3].

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: This study was supported by the Research Training Group (RTG) 2783, funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG, Project ID 456732630). The authors declare no conflicts of interest. The authors acknowledge the use of OpenAI's ChatGPT for assistance with proofreading and language refinement (https://chat.openai.com/).

## **References:**

[1] Fleury, M., Lioi, G., Barillot, C., and Lecuyer, A.: 'A Survey on the Use of Haptic Feedback for Brain-Computer Interfaces and Neurofeedback', Front Neurosci, 2020, 14, pp. 528

Harris, J.E., and Hebert, A.: 'Utilization of motor imagery in upper limb rehabilitation: a systematic scoping review', Clin Rehabil, 2015, 29, (11), pp. 1092-1107

<sup>[3]</sup> Ruffino, C., Papaxanthis, C., and Lebon, F.: 'Neural plasticity during motor learning with motor imagery practice: Review and perspectives', Neuroscience, 2017, 341, pp. 61-78

# Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) in Latin America: a scientometrics perspective

Hernán Villota<sup>1</sup> & Jaime A. Riascos-Salas<sup>2</sup>

Faculty of Engineering, University Institution of Envigado, Envigado, Colombia ; Department of Psychology, University of Potsdam, 14476 Potsdam, Germany E-mail: hdvillota@correo.iue.edu.co

## Introduction:

Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) technology has gained significant attention, especially in fields such as medicine, rehabilitation, and human-computer interaction. Scientific productivity related to BCI in Latin America has been increasing, but comprehensive research on this trend is limited. This study aims to provide a scientometric analysis of BCI publications in Latin America, focusing on the distribution of research across countries, categories, and subcategories.

Materials,Methods,andResults:Data were collected from PubMed, ScienceDirect, IEEE, Scopus, and Redalyc, considering<br/>articles in English, Spanish, and Portuguese. Articles were selected if they included at least<br/>one Latin American author and were relevant to BCI development or application. A total of<br/>445 articles were analyzed after removing duplicates. The articles were classified into five<br/>main categories: Acquisition systems, Signal processing, Applications, Paradigms, and<br/>Others, each further subdivided. Descriptive statistical analysis was performed to explore the<br/>distributionof<br/>publications.Brazil led BCI publications with 155 articles, followed by Colombia (79) and Mexico (62).<br/>In the Acquisition systems category, EEG was the most frequent subcategory (94.68%). In<br/>Signal processing, Classification models were predominant (63.14%), while Neuroscience

led in Applications (43.24%). In Paradigms, MI was the most prevalent (63.11%), and in the Data Capture category, the "Yes" subcategory represented 60.65%.

## **Conclusion:**

Brazil, Colombia, and Mexico are the leading contributors to BCI research in Latin America. EEG, Classification models, Neuroscience, and MI paradigms dominate the research focus. However, subcategories like fMRI, fNIRS, and Ethics are less explored, suggesting potential areas for further investigation. Despite the growing scientific productivity, thematic distribution remains imbalanced, indicating the need for broader research topics to advance BCI technology in the region. Additionally, while no specific reports on BCI in Latin America have been found, studies on scientific productivity in neuroscience in the region (Forero et al., 2019) and a market report projecting growth in the BCI sector in Latin America to US\$ 361.9 million by 2030 (Brain Computer Interface Market Outlook, 2023-2030) reinforce the importance and potential of this technology in the region.

- Forero, D. A., Trujillo, M. L., González-Giraldo, Y., & Barreto, G. E. (2019). Scientific productivity in neurosciences in Latin America: a scientometrics perspective. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 130(4), 398–406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00207454.2019.1692837</u>
- Brain Computer Interface Market Outlook. Brain Computer Interface Market Size, Share & Trends Analysis Report By Application (Healthcare, Communication & Control), By Product (Invasive, Non-invasive), By End Use (Medical, Military), And Segment Forecasts, 2023 - 2030.



Figure 1: Distribution of the six main categories and their respective subcategories in Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) research in Latin America. The categories include Acquisition Systems (EEG, fMRI, MRI/MEG, ECoG, fNIRS, hardware development), Signal Processing (feature extraction, classification models, filters), Applications (rehabilitation, robotics, neuroscience, HCI), Paradigms (P300, MI, SSVEP), Others (reviews, ethics), and Data Capture (Yes/No).

## Real-Time Classification and Modulation of the Distractor Positivity with an EEG BCI

Anastasiia Melnichuk<sup>1\*</sup>, Alexandra Mikhael<sup>2</sup>, José del R. Millán<sup>2,3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dept. of Neuroscience, <sup>2</sup>Chandra Family Dept. of Electrical and Computer Engineering, <sup>3</sup>Dept. of Neurology, <sup>4</sup>Dept. of Biomedical Engineering. University of Texas at Austin. \* E-mail: amelnich@utexas.edu, jose.millan@austin.utexas.edu

*Introduction:* Every day, vast amounts of information compete for our limited attentional resources. Understanding how the brain filters out irrelevant stimuli is crucial, particularly for individuals with attentional deficits. In this study, we focused on the event-related potential known as distractor positivity (Pd), a positive voltage peak that occurs at parieto-occipital electrodes contralateral to salient distractors<sup>1</sup>. Pd amplitude has been linked to effective distractor suppression, whereas reduced Pd amplitude has been associated with severity of inattention symptoms<sup>2</sup>. Despite the significance of Pd, no prior studies have attempted to decode it in real time on a trial-by-trial basis or investigated whether it can be modulated via neurofeedback. Here, we demonstrate the feasibility of building a Pd-based decoder for real-time classification of distractor presence and of using closed-loop BCI to enhance Pd amplitude.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Five participants (2 males, mean age  $25.4 \pm 3.2$  years) completed the additional singleton paradigm, where they searched for a target shape. On half of the trials, a salient red distractor appeared, creating "distractor present" and "no distractor" conditions. Participants underwent 3 sessions: calibration and online on day 1 and on day 2. Data from the calibration session was used to train a linear discriminant analysis (LDA) classifier to distinguish between distractor-present and no-distractor trials. During online sessions, participants repeated the paradigm while receiving real-time feedback based on the BCI output.



Figure 1. Grand-average event-related potentials across 5 subjects during 3 experimental sessions: calibration, online 1 and 2. Shaded region indicates the time window selected for classification and amplitude analyses.

We observed a significant interaction between condition (distractor vs. no distractor) and session in Pd amplitude (F(2,8) = 4.74, p = 0.04). From calibration to online session 1, the amplitude difference between distractor and no-distractor conditions increased, indicating successful modulation of the late Pd components (*Fig. 1*). The BCI achieved mean accuracies of  $63\pm5\%$  during calibration,  $62\pm3\%$  in the online session 1, and  $62\pm6\%$  in the online session 2 (*Fig. 2*). Remarkably, accuracy was stable across sessions. Nevertheless, across subjects, accuracy tended to decrease in the second online session, probably due to changes in the Pd components with respect to the calibration session. To test this hypothesis, we recalibrated the BCI for subject 5 (purple in *Fig. 2*) after the online session 1, leading to an accuracy increase in the online session 2.



*Conclusion:* This proof-of-concept study is the first to show the feasibility of a BCI for real-time decoding and modulation of the Pd components, a marker of distractor suppression. Results indicate that participants can learn to enhance Pd amplitude through BCI neurofeedback, laying critical groundwork for Pd-based interventions aimed at improving distractor suppression. Ongoing work includes additional measures to link enhanced Pd with behavioral improvements in attentional control, building better decoders that adapt to the changes of Pd induced by BCI feedback, and longer training sessions. As increased distractibility is observed in clinical populations (such as those experiencing cognitive aging), this line of research could ultimately inform novel treatment applications.

- [1] Gaspelin, N. et al. The distractor positivity component and the inhibition of distracting stimuli. J. Cogn. Neurosci., 35:1693–1715, 2023.
- [2] Rodríguez-Martínez, E. I. et al. Neurophysiological differences between ADHD and control children and adolescents during the recognition phase of a working memory task. *Neurosci. Res.*, 164:46–54, 2021.

## Examining sEEG Traveling Wave Instances During Speech Production and Auditory Perceptual Contexts

**M. Dexheimer<sup>1\*</sup>**, **P. Z. Soroush<sup>1</sup>**, **H. Shah<sup>1</sup>**, **J. Shih<sup>2</sup>**, **P. Koch<sup>1</sup>**, **D. J. Krusienski<sup>1</sup>**, <sup>1</sup>Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, USA; <sup>2</sup>UCSD Health, San Diego, CA, USA

\*Aspen Lab, Virginia Commonwealth University, 737 N 5th St., 23219, Richmond, VA, USA. Email: dexheimermg@vcu.edu

*Introduction:* Invasive brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) leverage a range of electroencephalographic (EEG) biomarkers across various contexts [1-3]. Identifying and characterizing additional unique EEG biomarkers could prove useful for the continued development of BCI technology. Recent studies suggest that traveling waves (TWs) observed in EEG may be predictive of cognitive and behavioral outcomes in specific instances [4-6]. However, to fully understand the potential role of TWs as biomarkers in BCI applications, they must be more comprehensively characterized across cognitive, behavioral, and sensory modalities.

*Materials, Methods, and Results:* In this preliminary study, we identified traveling waves in patients undergoing stereo-electroencephalography (sEEG) monitoring for intractable epilepsy at UCSD and VCU Health. Seven sEEG patients performed a cued speaking task and an additional nine patients performed a passive listening task. Traveling waves were identified using a uniform detection pipeline across tasks and participants. This pipeline first identified consecutive neighboring electrodes along a given sEEG shaft that share a common dominant spectral peak. Narrowband filtering at this dominant spectral peak and a Hilbert transform was then applied to extract instantaneous phase characteristics and confirm coordinated phase progression among the channels. Instances meeting these propagation and frequency criteria were tested for statistical significance via permutation testing. Statistically significant (p < 0.05) traveling waves were observed in the theta (3–8 Hz), alpha (7–13 Hz), low-beta (12–21 Hz), and highbeta (20–31 Hz) frequency bands. Preliminary results suggest that theta-band TWs occur more frequently at specific instances of the tasks such as during the onsets of speech or the acoustic stimuli.

*Discussion and Significance:* Previous studies have linked intracranial EEG traveling waves to predictive outcomes in specific cognitive and behavioral tasks. In this work, traveling waves were detected and characterized in sEEG recordings during both speech and auditory tasks. Further investigation is needed to fully elucidate the relationship between TWs and these tasks, including an examination of the directionality and brain regions associated with the traveling waves.

- Herff, C., Krusienski, D. J. & Kubben, P. The Potential of Stereotactic-EEG for Brain-Computer Interfaces: Current Progress and Future Directions. Front. Neurosci. 14, 123 (2020).
- [2] Luo, S., Rabbani, Q. & Crone, N. E. Brain-Computer Interface: Applications to Speech Decoding and Synthesis to Augment Communication. *Neurotherapeutics* 19, 263–273 (2022).
- [3] Guger, C., Grünwald, J. & Xu, R. Noninvasive and Invasive BCIs and Hardware and Software Components for BCIs. in *Handbook of Neuroengineering* (ed. Thakor, N. V.) 1193–1224 (Springer Nature Singapore, Singapore, 2023)
- [4] Mohan, U. R., Zhang, H., Ermentrout, B. & Jacobs, J. The direction of theta and alpha travelling waves modulates human memory processing. *Nat Hum Behav* 8, 1124–1135 (2024).
- [5] Das, A., Zabeh, E., Ermentrout, B. & Jacobs, J. Planar, Spiral, and Concentric Traveling Waves Distinguish Cognitive States in Human Memory. *bioRxiv* (2024).
- [6] Bhattacharya, S., Brincat, S. L., Lundqvist, M. & Miller, E. K. Traveling waves in the prefrontal cortex during working memory. PLoS Comput Biol 18, e1009827 (2022).

# Designing an Eye-Gaze Tracking System with Computer Vision to Enhance Children's Intention in BCI

L. R. Borges<sup>1</sup>\*, A. Kirton<sup>1</sup>, E. Kinney-Lang<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Calgary, Calgary AB, Canada \*2500 University Drive NW, Calgary AB, T2N 1N4, Canada. E-mail: ludymila.ribeiroborg@ucalgary.ca

*Introduction:* BCI, while a promising solution for communication and interaction for children with severe disabilities, also introduces complexities in its use. Such children often suffer from impaired eye and head movement control as well as attention, decreasing efficacy of vision-dependent BCI paradigms. Often, the "good" electroencephalographic (EEG) signals obtained during visual fixation that are required for BCI to work are "contaminated" by noisy EEG signals when gaze is diverted. This study addresses these challenges by leveraging computer vision to analyze children's eye-gaze patterns. We aimed to develop an eye tracking system able to inform when the user is looking at the screen to integrate with BCI and reinforce children's intention.

Material, Methods and Results: Data were collected from 10 healthy control participants focusing on 17 predefined gaze positions (on- and off-screen) for 30 seconds each. Additionally, 10 five-minute frontal videos were recorded of 5 children with complex physical disabilities (GMFCS Levels 4 and 5) using the BCI through a motor imagery paradigm, where they mentally simulated movements without physically moving, during a training session with visual feedback on a screen. The videos were labelled to indicate on-screen and off-screen gaze moments. Eye-gaze features were extracted using Mediapipe's face blendshape function [1], an open-source component of Google's pre-trained models for markerless facial landmark detection. Although Mediapipe does not directly provide a dedicated eye-gaze model, a set of 14 eye-related features were extracted. These features were used to train a CatBoost model [2], a gradient-boosting framework known for its efficiency with categorical features and its ability to handle large datasets. To further enhance model performance, hyperparameter optimization was conducted using Optuna [3]. The model's performance was evaluated using Stratified K-Fold Cross-Validation and Group K-Fold Cross-Validation. The optimized CatBoost model trained with data from both healthy and children with complex physical disabilities was then deployed for real-time use. It detected landmarks from the integrated camera and used a sliding window of 30 frames (14 features each) to generate single output predictions aligned with on/off-screen eye-gaze intentions. The Stratified K-Fold Cross-Validation achieved an accuracy of  $0.9558 \pm 0.0010$ , this approach ensures that the distribution of class labels was preserved across all folds [4]. While the Group K-Fold Cross-Validation achieved an accuracy of  $0.6851 \pm 0.0523$  by splitting data based on participant groups, ensuring that data from the same individual did not appear in both training and testing sets [5]. Our findings show that, despite lower accuracy, the Group K-Fold Cross-Validation approach reflects real-world variations by accounting for individual differences. This is crucial for developing models that generalize effectively to new participants.

*Conclusion:* Computer vision can detect eye-gaze on/off screen patterns, even in children with severe disabilities. This provides a foundation for integrating eye-gaze tracking with BCI systems, potentially improving accessibility and participation for these children.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank contributors who did not qualify for authorship, as well as the University of Calgary's Eyes High Fellowship and the Robertson Fund for their support.

- [1] Google. MediaPipe Solutions Guide. Google AI, https://ai.google.dev/edge/mediapipe/solutions/guide. Accessed 14 Dec. 2024.
- [2] CatBoost: Gradient Boosting on Decision Trees. https://catboost.ai/. Accessed 14 Dec 2024.
- [3] Optuna. Optuna: A Hyperparameter Optimization Framework. Optuna, https://optuna.org/. Accessed 15 Dec. 2024.
- [4] Scikit-learn. Stratified K-Fold, <u>https://scikit-learn.org/stable/modules/generated/sklearn.model\_selection.StratifiedKFold.html</u>. Accessed 4 Jan. 2025.
- [5] Scikit-learn. Group K-Fold, https://scikit-learn.org/stable/modules/generated/sklearn.model\_selection.StratifiedGroupKFold.html Accessed 4 Jan. 2025.

## The Impact of Directed Attention on ICMS in Human Somatosensory and Motor Cortex

Ali H. Alamri<sup>1\*</sup>, NatalyaD. Shelchkova<sup>1\*</sup>, Nicholas G. Hatsopoulos, Charles M. Greenspon<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Organismal Biology and Anatomy, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA \*E-mail: ahalamri@uchicago.edu

*Introduction:* Intracortical microstimulation (ICMS) can be used to restore touch perception to individuals with spinal cord injury (SCI) using. Here we explore how top-down attention modulates ICMS-induced sensations in participants with Utah arrays implanted in the primary somatosensory and motor cortex. Attention is crucial for filtering relevant sensory inputs, a process which will be important for the effective operation of densely sensorized prosthetics. In this study we assess whether attention enhances or suppresses the perceptual clarity of ICMS sensations and if the locus of attention can be decoded from the sensorimotor cortices.

Participants performed a Material. Methods and Results: Posner-inspired ICMS task to examine attention's effects on ICMS detection. Two electrodes targeting distinct fingers (Fig. 1a) were selected based on their projected fields. Psychometric detection functions were computed for each electrode during attention to the stimulated finger. A detection task followed, with trials interleaved between electrodes (Fig. 1b). On 90% of trials, participants were cued to the correct finger (coherent trials), while on 10%, stimulation occurred at the other finger (incoherent trials). Effects of spatial attention were minimal and inconsistent across electrodes, suggesting challenges in directing attention to individual fingers or the salience of unattended stimulation (Fig. 2a,b). Incorporating baseline stimulation may improve consistency. Some channels showed increased activity with digit-specific firing rate increases, while others decreased during the cueing period (Fig. 2c). Motor cortex activity increased relative to baseline during cueing, whereas sensory cortex activity decreased.



Figure 1. (A) Left panet: Participant implants, showing two arrays in the motor cortex (list of the central sulcus, dished line) and two in the sensory cortex (right of the central sulcus). Middle panet: Sensory arrays with two example electrodes highlighted electrodes. (B) The Posne-like detection task begins by directing the participant's attention to one of the two digits selected for the session, indicated by white text on a screen. Stimulation is delivered to the electrode corresponding to the cured digit, with the text turning green as feedback. The participant reports whether they perceived any stimulation. On 10% of trials, stimulation is instead delivered to the electrode corresponding to the unattended digit.

Post-stimulation, ICMS-evoked responses were elevated and strongly digit-dependent in both cortices (Fig. 2d,e). The attended digit was decodable above chance from the motor cortex but not from the sensory cortex (Fig. 2f,g).

*Conclusion:* Spatial attention minimally influenced detection consistency, likely due to the salience of unattended stimulation. Neural activity revealed decreased sensory cortex activity during cueing and elevated ICMS-evoked responses in both motor and sensory cortices post-stimulation. Notably, motor cortex activity allowed above-chance decoding of the attended digit (Fig. 2f), unlike sensory cortex activity. This work advances the understanding of attention-driven ICMS modulation and suggests strategies for optimizing sensory prosthetics.



Figure 2. (A) Example psychometric detection curves for two channels during coherent trials, where stimulation was delivered to the cued digit (purple data points). Detection at the D7-50 amplitude, where incoherent trials (stimulation was delivered to the unattended digit) were lested, is shown in orange. (B) Left panet: Scatterplot depicting detection performance for each channel at the D7-50 amplitude across coherent and incoherent conditions. Right panet: Corresponding scatter plot displaying of (discriminability) values, a measure of sensitivity in distinguishing between signal (stimulation present) and noise (no stimulation) conditions. (C) Average firing rates for two representative channels across task phases, including baseline, cue, stimulation periods, (D) Left panet: Scatter box plot illustrating changes in average firing rate for all channels during the cueing period relative to baseline, separated by motor (blue) and sensory (orange) cortex. Right panet: Same analysis for the post-stimulation period. (E) Left panet: Scatterplot of Z-scored firing rates relative to baseline for "attend digit 4" (*x*-axis) versus "attend digit 4" (*y*-axis) during the cueing period, separated by motor and sensory cortex. Right panet: Scatterplot of Z-scored firing rates relative to baseline, for "attend digit 4" (*x*-axis) versus "attend digit 4" (*y*-axis) during the cueing period, separated by motor and sensory cortex. Right panet: Scatterplot for the post-stimulation period. (F) Projection of neural activity onto the top 3 PCs for each digit for sensory versus (G) dashed line indicates deployment of attention. (for) The classification accuracy of the attended digit from motor ontex. (bottom) Control, to determine whether what we were decoding was actually motor intertion to move.

# **Closed-loop applications for deep brain stimulation and code-modulated visual evoked potentials on Dareplane**

M. Dold<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, J. Pereira<sup>2,1</sup>, B. Sajonz<sup>2</sup>, V. A. Coenen<sup>2,3</sup>, J. Thielen<sup>1</sup>, M.L.F. Janssen<sup>4,5</sup>, M. Tangermann<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Data-Driven NeuroTechnology Lab, Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University; <sup>2</sup>Department of Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery, University Medical Center of Freiburg University; <sup>3</sup>Center for Deep Brain Stimulation, Freiburg University; <sup>4</sup>Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, Maastricht University Medical Center; <sup>5</sup> Mental Health and Neuroscience Research Institute, Maastricht University

\*P.O. Box 9010, 6500 HE Nijmegen, The Netherlands, E-mail: matthias.dold@donders.ru.nl

**Introduction**: The Dareplane platform [1], introduced as a modular open-source platform at the brain-computer interfacing (BCI) conference in 2023, enables BCI applications, ranging from classical BCI spellers to adaptive closed-loop deep brain stimulation ((a)DBS). We now present two use cases as proofs of principle with a single aDBS session using markers derived from electrocorticography (ECoG) signals, as well as results from three healthy participants using a code-modulated visual evoked potentials (c-VEP) speller, exemplifying a timing critical BCI application based on electroencephalography (EEG).



Figure 1: Schematic of the aDBS experiment with neural decoding model trained on th second day and applied on the third.

Methods and Results: An aDBS use case was conducted with a single patient receiving a DBS system for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. The patient temporarily obtained an epidural four-contact ECoG electrode over the left primary motor cortex. It was removed during the second part of a two-stage implantation. DBS and ECoG leads were externalized between stages. During three measurement days, the patient conducted the CopyDraw task [2]. We used the ECoG signals to decode the CopyDraw performance scores, thus extending our previous work on EEG [2]. Power estimates of six frequency bands per ECoG channel formed the input to a ridge regression model, leading to on average 71% Pearson's correlation between predicted and observed CopyDraw scores in a chronological 6-fold cross-validation on the second measurement day. On the third day, this

model provided input to a Bollinger band control to realize a fully closed-loop aDBS strategy.

The c-VEP speller use case replicated the work of Thielen et al. [3], with an eight-channel EEG system and a speller layout with 63 symbols. Per participant, data from 10 cued trials (42 seconds) were used to train spatial and temporal filters of a decoding model, realized by a reconvolution embedded in a canonical correlation analysis [2]. Each subject then conducted three online runs of spelling a target sentence, resulting in on average 13 correct symbols per minute and an information transfer rate of 82 bits/minute.

**Conclusion**: These two proofs of principle provide evidence for the claimed closed-loop capability of the Dareplane platform, including its use in the clinical aDBS setting. The c-VEP experiment was configured using a simple setup script, which can be found at <a href="https://github.com/thijor/dp-cvep">https://github.com/thijor/dp-cvep</a>. It is a good starting point for exploring the Dareplane platform and allows for easy replication of the results, which are in line with previously reported performance metrics [2].

Acknowledgements: The project is funded by Hersenstichting and Health~Holland, The Hague, The Netherlands. References:

- [1] Dold, M., Pereira, J., Sajonz, B., Coenen, V. A., Thielen, J., Janssen, M. L. F., & Tangermann, M. (2024). Dareplane: A modular open-source software platform for BCI research with application in closed-loop deep brain stimulation. arXiv preprint arXiv:2408.01242.
- [2] Castaño-Candamil, S., Piroth, T., Reinacher, P., Sajonz, B., Coenen, V. A., & Tangermann, M. (2020). Identifying controllable cortical neural markers with machine learning for adaptive deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 28, 102376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2020.102376
- [3] Thielen J, Marsman P, Farquhar J, Desain P. From full calibration to zero training for a code-modulated visual evoked potentials for brain-computer interface. Journal of Neural Engineering. 2021 apr;18(5):056007. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1741-2552/abecef</u>

## Optimizing P300 Speller Performance through Uncertainty Quantification

**B.** Renardi<sup>1\*</sup>, I. P. de Jong<sup>1</sup>, A. I. Sburlea<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>*Rijksuniversiteit Groningen, The Netherlands* \* Broerstraat 5, 9712 CP Groningen, E-mail: bernard.renardi111@gmail.com

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interfaces (BCI) provide individuals with impaired motor movements the ability to control communication devices. One prominent application is the P300 speller, which leverages the P300 event-related potential (ERP) captured through electroencephalography (EEG) to enable communication [1]. However, challenges such as slow speed and low accuracy hinder the effectiveness of current P300 speller systems. In this study, we propose an adaptive threshold method that incorporates uncertainty quantification (UQ) to improve the P300 speller [2].

Material, Methods and Results: We implemented two strategies: early stopping, which terminates the classification process once sufficient confidence is reached, and trial rejection, which prevents making predictions with high uncertainty. The Riemannian Minimum Distance Metric (MDM) with Bayesian Accumulation (BA) classifier was used to evaluate the model [3, 4, 5]. For our experiment, we rejected samples where the predictive confidence did not meet a set threshold. Testing on a dataset from 8 patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) [6] demonstrated that the integration of UQ significantly outperformed existing methods. Specifically, early stopping with UQ reduced the number of flashes by 12%. Trial rejection, on the other hand, improved accuracy to 94.1% (Fig.1) with



Figure 1: Average accuracy versus repetition index across all the participants. The plot demonstrates that our model with UQ matches the state-of-the-art accuracy at the 4th repetition and achieves the highest overall accuracy.

coverage of 75.3%, representing a 14.1% accuracy increase over the state-of-the-art classifier by rejecting 24.7% of the data.

*Conclusion:* These results demonstrate the potential of UQ to enhance both the speed and accuracy of the P300 speller, offering a more efficient and robust solution. Our method could be further improved by combining early stopping and trial rejection techniques, as both utilize similar approach based on the highest probability outputs. Moreover, adopting a data-driven approach to optimize these parameters could minimize manual intervention.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank dr. Sylvain Chevallier for the discussions and access to the implementation code. This research was conducted with no conflicts of interest.

- Farwell, L. (1988). Talking off the top of your head: A mental prosthesis utilizing event-related brain potentials. *Electroencephalography Clinical Neurophysiolgy*, 70:510–523.
- [2] de Jong, I. P., Sburlea, A. I., and Valdenegro-Toro, M. (2023). Uncertainty quantification in machine learning for biosignal applications a review. *arXiv*.
- [3] Barachant, A. and Congedo, M. (2014). A plug & play p300 bci using information geometry. arXiv.
- [4] Barthelemy, Q., Chevallier, S., Bertrand-Lalo, R., and Clisson, P. (2022). End-to-end p300 bci using bayesian accumulation of riemannian probabilities.
- [5] Milanes Hermosilla, D., Trujillo Codorniu, R., Lamar-Carbonell, S., Sagaro Zamora, R., Tamayo Pacheco, J., Villarejo Mayor, J., and Delisle Rodriguez, D. (2023). Robust motor imagery tasks classification approach using bayesian neural network. *Sensors*, 23:703.
- [6] Riccio, A., Simione, L., Schettini, F., Pizzimenti, A., Inghilleri, M., Belardinelli, M., Mattia, D., and Cincotti, F. (2013). Attention and p300-based bci performance in people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, 7:732.

## Error-Positivity Amplification with Alternating-Current Stimulation

## Augments Perceptual Skills to Detect Errors

Deland Liu<sup>1</sup>\*, Michael Solomon<sup>2</sup>, Holland Ernst<sup>3</sup>, Frigyes Samuel Racz<sup>4</sup>, Hannah Lee<sup>1</sup>, José del R. Millán<sup>1,3,4\*</sup>

Chandra Family Dept. of Electrical and Computer Engineering, <sup>2</sup> Dept. of Neuroscience, <sup>3</sup> Dept. of Biomedical Engineering,
 <sup>4</sup> Dept. of Neurology. The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, USA

Introduction Accurate perception of visuo-motor errors is crucial for sensorimotor learning and corrective actions [1]. Our ongoing research has identified the error positivity (Pe) component of the error-related potential (ErrP) as a neural correlate of perceptual ability for visuo-motor errors [2]. We hypothesize that 20 minutes of transcranial alternating current stimulation (tACS) at a personalized  $\theta$  frequency, targeting the frontocentral region, will increase Pe amplitude. To test this hypothesis, we evaluated the effects of tACS in a classic 1D error monitoring task involving discrete cursor jumps that induce expectation mismatches [3]. We expect similar Pe enhancement in a more cognitively demanding 2D continuous task, where visuo-motor perturbations introduce mismatches (Fig. 1a). Importantly, we also postulate that tACS will improve participants' perception of visuo-motor errors.

Material, Methods and Results Twenty-six healthy volunteers were randomised into two groups: 13 in the active stimulation group and 13 in the active control group (100-400 Hz transcranial random noise stimulation, tRNS). Stimulation was applied using a  $4 \times 1$  montage (FCz: 2 mA; AF3, AF4, C1, C2: -0.5 mA). Participants attended two days, each consisting of one pre-stimulation and three post-stimulation sessions. On Day 1, they performed the 1D discrete task [3] with 100 trials (30% erroneous) before and after 20 minutes of personalized  $\theta$ -tuned tACS or tRNS at rest. Post-stimulation sessions occurred immediately, 15, and 30 minutes later. Day 2 followed the same structure, with participants completing two runs of the 2D continuous task [2] per session. Each run included 36 trials where participants used a joystick to control a cursor along a straight trajectory. In 30% of the trials, the joystick-to-cursor mapping was altered with a small 6° visuo-motor rotation. Participants reported perceptual decisions via joystick button presses after each trial. Results showed that in the 1D task, tACS increased Pe amplitude, becoming significant at 30 minutes post-stimulation, with no effect in the control group (Fig. 1b). At this time point, tACS also enhanced Pe amplitude in the 2D continuous task, alongside improved error perception, while the control group showed no changes (Fig. 1c-d). Moreover, between-group comparisons showed significant differences in Pe amplitude and error perception in favor of tACS.

Active Control



Figure 1: a The 2D continuous visuo-motor error perception task. b Pe amplitudes at four time points (pre-, immediately post-, 15 min post-, and 30 min post-stimulation) in the 1D task. c Pe amplitudes at pre- and 30 min post-stimulation in the 2D task. d Perceptual accuracies at pre- and 30 min post-stimulation in the 2D task. Data for the active group (red, n=13) and control group (blue, n=13) are shown in panels b-d. \*P < 0.05, \*P < 0.01, n.s. P > 0.05.

**Conclusion** The proposed brain stimulation approach offers a non-pharmacological, non-invasive foundation for addressing perceptual impairments in elderly and clinical populations, avoiding drug side effects and accelerating perceptual learning compared to conventional methods.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures Authors thank participants and declare no conflict of interest. References

- S. T. Albert and R. Shadmehr, "The neural feedback response to error as a teaching signal for the motor learning system," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 36, no. 17, pp. 4832–4845, 2016.
- [2] D. Liu, F. Iwane, M. Zhang, and J. d. R. Millán, "Brain-computer interface training fosters perceptual learning," in 10th Int. BCI Meeting, 2023.
- [3] R. Chavarriaga and J. d. R. Millán, "Learning from EEG error-related potentials in noninvasive brain-computer interfaces," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 381–388, 2010.

\*2501 Speedway Ave, Austin, TX 78712, USA. E-mail: deland.liu@utexas.edu, jose.millan@austin.utexas.edu

# Stereo-EEG Based Brain Computer Interfacing Across a Large Patient Cohort

Michael A Jensen<sup>1</sup>, Gerwin Schalk<sup>1</sup>, Nuri Ince<sup>2</sup>, Dora Hermes<sup>2</sup>, Peter Brunner<sup>3</sup>, Kai J Miller<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Mayo Clinic, MN, USA

<sup>2</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, Mayo Clinic, MN, USA

<sup>3</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Washington University School of Medicine, St Louis, MO, USA

\* 200 First Street SW, Rochester, MN 55905, USA; E-mail: jensen.michael1@mayo.edu;

#### ABSTRACT:

*Introduction* Stereoelectroencephalography (sEEG) is a mesoscale intracranial monitoring method which records from the brain volumetrically using depth electrodes. Implementation of motor Brain Computer Interfacing (BCI) in sEEG has not been well-described across a diverse patient cohort. Here in we describe the application of sEEG-based motor BCI across a large patient cohort.

*Methods:* Across twenty-two subjects, channels with 65-115Hz power increases during hand, tongue, or foot movements during a motor screening task were provided real-time feedback to control a cursor on a screen. Power from 70-110 Hz, estimated using an autoregressive model, in one or more feedback channel(s) was used to control a cursor on a screen in one-dimension similar to previous ECoG studies<sup>1</sup> (Figure 1).

*Results:* Eighteen subjects established successful control of overt motor BCI, but only ten were able to control imagery BCI with accuracy above 80%. In successful imagery BCI, HFB power in the two target conditions separated into distinct subpopulations, which appear to engage unique subnetworks of the motor cortex compared to cued movement alone (Figure 2).

*Conclusion:* sEEG-based motor BCI utilizing overt movement and kinesthetic imagery is robust across all large cohort of patients and appears to selectively engage the motor network.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by the NIH U01-NS128612 (KJM, GAW, PB).

#### Reference:

[1] Miller KJ, Schalk G, Fetz EE, Den Nijs M, Ojemann JG, Rao RP. Cortical activity during motor execution, motor imagery, and imagery-based online feedback. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2010;107(9):4430–4435.



Figure 1. Schematic of online BCI feedback (A) Power from 70-110 Hz in the channel chosen in A determines the direction and velocity of the cursor on screen. (B) Targets are displayed prior to cursors to cue movement or rest and subjects attempt to direct cursors toward the rectangular target. (C) Subjects perform the BCI within their bed viewing a monitor 80-100 cm from their head.



Legend of regions associated with colored arrows (B-E). (B)  $r^2$  maps of hand movement vs rest (*No* feedback), broadband 65-115Hz power. (C-E)  $r^2$  maps of imagined hand movement vs rest (*with* feedback), broadband 65-115Hz power. Each row represents increasing BCI control from chance (C) up to 84% (E).

Note reintroduction of feedback channel (\*) activity once control Is > 80% (E) as well as the sharp drop off and gradual return of pre-motor activity as control in imagery BCI (C-E) control is established.

## **Efficacy of Recalibration for a P300 Speller**

Katherine G. Colleran<sup>1</sup>, Guoxuan Ma<sup>2</sup>, Jane E. Huggins<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Michigan Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Ann Arbor, Michigan; <sup>2</sup>University of Michigan Biostatistics Department, Ann Arbor, Michigan \*325 E. Eisenhower Pkwy, Ann Arbor, MI 48109. E-mail: janeh@umich.edu

*Introduction:* Most P300 brain-computer interface (BCI) designs require calibration for an individual user to teach the BCI how to interpret the event-related potentials (ERP) in that user's brain activity [1]. Re-calibration can increase BCI accuracy and efficacy, however it is not clear how beneficial re-calibration may be over different periods of time. Users find re-calibration tedious, and the process takes 20-30 minutes. The time cost and tedium of calibration should be weighed against the benefit. Previous studies suggest that the time of day does not directly effect P300 ERPs, but other factors such as recent food intake do [2]. Our study was designed to compare calibrations taken on different days and at different times of day to inform recommend timeframes for recalibration.

*Material and Methods:* Participants were five people without physical impairments or previous experience with this BCI. Participants were two females, three males and had mean age of 45.8 years; range 26-61. There were six sessions (about one per week): one 8-hour session followed by five 2-hour sessions. Each 2-hour interval, starting on an even hour, was called a time-slot and included calibration, copying sentences with corrections, and typing novel text describing a picture, creating the test data for each time-slot (average 60.5 selections, range 31 to 116). Participants wore a 7-channel dry electrode VR300 headset (300 Hz, re-referenced to linked ears) from Wearable Sensing. A custom BCI2000 module interfaced with PRC-Saltillo augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) NuVoice software using Microsoft User Interface Automation standards to identify active keys, create stimuli over them, and activate the key selected by the user [3]. A Mann-Whitney test was conducted to evaluate if there was a significant difference in character-level accuracy between using the most recent calibrations, both at the individual participant level and at the group level.

*Results*: Recalibration showed a statistically significant improvement in character-level accuracy at the group level (p < 0.001). Mean improvement at the group level was 7.65 percentage points (%), ranging from -0.83% to 31.5% for individual participants. For four of five participants, recalibration produced a statistically significant improvement in accuracy (p < 0.005). However, for the other participant, recalibration did not produce a significant effect (mean -0.83%, range -15.5% to 22.7%). Fig. 1 shows offline analysis of how two participants' calibrations interpreted their data collected at different times and/or sessions.

*Conclusion:* Recalibration usually improves accuracy. However, the magnitude of improvement may not be worth the time, especially for users who already have a high accuracy. Further analysis will determine if time of day has an effect on recalibration. Future analyses will test how to predict the efficacy of recalibration and if small amounts of data can be used to select an effective prior calibration.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: No conflicts of interest. Supported by PRC-Saltillo through

National Institutes of Health grant SB1DC015142 from the National Institute of Deafness and other Communication Disorders.

- [1] Farwell LA, & Donchin E, "Talking off the top of your head...", *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 70(6) (1988): 510-523.
- [2] Polich J, & Geisler MW, "P300 and time of day...", *Biol. Psychol.*, 31(2) (1990): 117-136.
- [3] Schalk G et al., "BCI2000: a generalpurpose..." *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, 51(6) (2004):1034-43.



Figure 1: Heat maps show accuracy for the participants who had the median (left) and most (right) improvement with recalibration. The calibration (y-axis) for each time-slot was tested on that participant's test data for each time-slot (x-axis). Time is arranged from top-to-bottom for calibrations and left-to-right for test data. The diagonal line marks calibrations and test data for the same day and time. Lighter colors indicate better accuracy. The first four rows/columns show different time slots in session 1.

#### Unlocking Neural Patterns: A Graph Neural Network Model to Classify and Analyze EEG Connectivity in Parkinson's Disease

A. Agaronyan<sup>1,3</sup>, M. Putzolu<sup>2</sup>, L. Avanzino<sup>2</sup>, E. Pelosin<sup>2</sup>, S. Anwar<sup>3</sup>, A. Vato<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The Catholic University of America, Washington, DC, USA; <sup>2</sup>University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy; <sup>3</sup>Children's National Hospital, Washington, DC, USA

*Introduction:* Recent advances in brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) have shown their potential for diagnosing and rehabilitating Parkinson's disease (PD) patients by promoting neuroplasticity [1]. These results support the development of personalized therapeutic interventions through techniques like motor imagery-based BCIs, enabling rehabilitation by recording electroencephalographic (EEG) signals during imagined movements. Unfortunately, traditional methods of analyzing EEG signals struggle to capture the complex neural patterns associated with PD [2]. Geometric deep learning network approaches such as graph neural networks (GNNs) have been used to express non-Euclidian spaces representing how information flows between brain regions observed by EEG electrodes [3].

*Material, Methods, and Results:* We developed a deep learning pipeline using graph neural networks to classify the brain signals as PD or healthy. Data were collected from 15 PD patients and 14 healthy subjects using a 128-channel EEG system. They were instructed to visually imagine walking on a straight pathway and crossing a hurdle. EEG data was preprocessed and transformed into graph representations - each node represented an EEG electrode, and edges represented connections between electrodes. We split the dataset into training and test sets and trained our model with a two-layer graph convolutional network (GCN). Then, we performed hyperparameter optimization

using Optuna and extracted weights from the first and second convolutional layers. The strength of each neural pathway was calculated by summing the absolute values of the weights for each electrode pair. The proposed GNN model achieved a mean test accuracy score of 83% in classifying EEG signals. The model demonstrated a mean precision of 0.88, a mean recall of 0.76, and a mean F1 score of 0.79. Figure 1 shows the connections between EEG electrodes critical for the model to make accurate predictions: the connection between the frontal midline electrode (Fz) and the right occipital electrode (O2) showed the highest importance for the model.





*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates the potential of using GNNs to identify PD patients using EEG signals recorded during motor imagery tasks. Finding specialized populations such as those with PD is a limiting factor for training conventional large-scale models because of the lack of a large quantity of high-quality data. Our model performed to a high degree of accuracy after training on only 29 patients. Our findings suggest that connectivity between the occipital and parietal lobes may play a more prominent role in motor imagery affected by PD than was previously known [4], [5]. Our work could help develop BCIs with improved diagnostic capabilities, reduced response times, and enable personalized therapeutic interventions. In particular, this deep learning model framework could help develop tools to support the rehabilitation of PD patients by identifying regions in real time that may be implicated in motor control with a high degree of accuracy.

- [1] Abiri R. et al., A comprehensive review of EEG-based brain-computer interface paradigms. J Neural Eng.;16(1):011001 (2019).
- [2] di Biase L. et al., Quantitative High-Density EEG Brain Connectivity Evaluation in Parkinson's Disease: The Phase Locking Value (PLV), Journal of Clinical Medicine vol. 12,4 1450. (2023).
- [3] Wang Z. et al., Phase-Locking Value Based Graph Convolutional Neural Networks for Emotion Recognition, IEEE Access, vol. 7, pp. 93711–93722, (2019).
- [4] Abe Y. et al., Occipital hypoperfusion in Parkinson's disease without dementia: correlation to impaired cortical visual processing, J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry, vol. 74, no. 4, pp. 419–422, (2003).
- [5] Burton E. J. et al., Cerebral atrophy in Parkinson's disease with and without dementia: a comparison with Alzheimer's disease, dementia with Lewy bodies and controls, Brain J. Neurol., vol. 127, no. Pt 4, pp. 791–800, (2004).

# Simulated online typing performance in a cBCI using different language models

T. Memmott<sup>1\*</sup>, D. Gaines<sup>2</sup>, M. Lawhead<sup>1</sup>, D. Klee<sup>1</sup>, B. Oken<sup>1</sup> & K. Vertanen<sup>2</sup> on behalf of the Consortium for Accessible Multimodal Brain-Body Interfaces (CAMBI)

<sup>1</sup>Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, USA; <sup>2</sup>Michigan Technological University, Houghton, MI, USA \*707 SW Gaines St #1290, Portland, OR, 97239. E-mail: memmott@ohsu.edu

*Introduction*: Communication Brain-Computer Interfaces (cBCIs) represent a crucial technological advancement for individuals with severe motor disabilities as they offer a direct pathway to express their thoughts and needs without physical movement. These systems commonly leverage the P300 ERP, a distinct neural response approximately 300–500ms after a novel stimulus. Language modeling presents a promising approach to enhancing the performance and usability of cBCIs. However, integrating language models with cBCI systems presents unique challenges, including balancing model complexity with real-time processing requirements and optimizing system performance parameters. This study utilizes simulations of online cBCI data to investigate the impact of different language models on typing rate and accuracy.



Figure 1: Simulated typing rate by language model.

Methods, Materials, and Results: Twenty-four participants (22-49 years of age) were recruited for a cBCI study on mental effort conducted at Oregon Health & Science University (IRB #27415). The experiment consisted of participants writing using two interfaces using BciPy [1]: Rapid Serial Visual Presentation (RSVP) and Matrix presentation. Each presentation included a calibration phase followed by three tasks where participants spelled words. EEG data were collected at 300 Hz using the DSI-VR-300 (Wearable Sensing). Date were filtered using the default settings in BciPy: second order, 1–20Hz bandpass filter, 60Hz notch filter, and downsampling of two. The default signal model and settings (PcaRdaKde) were also used. Three conditions were compared: (I) UNIFORM: a baseline language model that assumes an equal probability for all characters; (II) NGRAM: a 12-gram statistical language model trained on conversational sentences; and (III) LLM: a 350M parameter version of the OPT large language model (LLM) that was fine-tuned on conversational sentences [2]. The effectiveness of each language model was evaluated using twelve phrases of varying complexity (six easy and six hard) from a previous study [3]. The average phrase length was  $13 \pm 4.7$ characters. The copy phrase task implemented several thresholds for character selection: a maximum selection number of two times the phrase length, a maximum of eight inquiries per letter selection, and a decision threshold of 0.80. The backspace action was always presented and we used a starting backspace probability of 0.03. For each phrase and language model combination, the simulator performed 25 independent iterations using randomly sampled trial data from the earlier collected copy spelling tasks. The results were averaged across phrases and simulation runs for each participant using the three tested language models. Simulated typing rate was measured in characters per minute. The typing accuracy was calculated using the character distance between the final typed sentence and the reference phrase. The means between language models were compared using two-tailed t-tests with 10,000 permutations with statistical significance set at p < 0.05. As demonstrated in Figure 1, the NGRAM (M=3.5, SD=1.5) and LLM (M=3.5, SD=1.5) conditions significantly improved typing rate (t(23) = -5.7, p < 0.0001) when compared to UNIFORM (M=1.5, SD=0.8). However, there were no differences in simulated typing accuracy when compared to UNIFORM (p > 0.5) with the average accuracy being 83% for all conditions. There were no significant differences between the NGRAM and LLM conditions.

**Conclusion:** These results show that integrating language modeling into a cBCI may benefit end-users by significantly increasing communication rate without compromising accuracy. The uniform condition, which had comparable accuracy to the more complex language models, did so by acquiring evidence more gradually. Further analyses of typed text across simulations and difficulty of phrases may yield more insights into language model performance in diverse contexts. These simulations demonstrated that language model integration could lead to a more efficient communication system for individuals dependent on this technology.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This research was funded by the National Institutes of Health (DC009834) and the National Science Foundation (IIS-1750193). The authors thank CAMBI and all associated researchers. The authors report no conflicts of interest.

#### References:

[1] Menmott, T., Koçanaoğulları, A., Lawhead, M., Klee, D., Dudy, S., Fried-Oken, M., & Oken, B. (2021). BciPy: brain-computer interface software in Python. Brain- Computer Interfaces, 1-18.

[2] Gaines, D. and Vertanen, K. 2025. Adapting large language models for character-based augmentative and alternative communication. arXiv:2501.10582
 [3] Gaines, D., Kristensson, P.O., and Vertanen, K. 2021. Enhancing the Composition Task in Text Entry Studies: Eliciting Difficult Text and Improving Error Rate Calculation. In Proceedings of the ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '21). doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445199

#### CC BY 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en This CC license does not apply to third party material and content noted otherwise

## An implantable brain-spine interface restoring lower limb movements in a patient with motor complete spinal cord injury

Valeria Spagnolo<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Gaia Carparelli<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Laure Coquoz<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Nadine Intering<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Céline Deschenaux<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Sergio Hernandez Charpak<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Nicolas Hankov<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Thibault Collin<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Vincent Rouanne<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Icare Sakr<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Andrea Galvez<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Felix Martel<sup>4,5</sup>, Pedro Abranches<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Charles David Sasportes<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Malo Simodin<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Marina D'Ercole<sup>6</sup>, Charlotte Jacquet<sup>6</sup>, Anne Watrin<sup>6</sup>, Serpil Karakas<sup>4,5</sup>, Matthieu Bosquet<sup>4,5</sup>, Olivier Faivre<sup>4,5</sup>, Pierre Bessot<sup>6</sup>, Léa Bole-Feysot<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Jean-Baptiste Ledoux<sup>7</sup>, Camille Haxaire<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Fabio Becce<sup>7</sup>, Stefano Carda<sup>3</sup>, Tetiana Aksenova<sup>4,5</sup>, Robin Demesmaeker<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Léonie Asboth<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Guillaume Charvet<sup>4,5</sup>, Jocelyne Bloch<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Henri Lorach<sup>1,2,3</sup> and Grégoire Courtine<sup>1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> IDefitech Center for Interventional Neurotherapies (.NeuroRestore), Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (EPFL), of clinical neuroscience, Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV) and University of Lausanne (UNIL), Lausanne, Switzerland; <sup>2</sup>NeuroX Institute, School of Life Sciences, EPFL, Lausanne, Switzerland; <sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Neuroscience, CHUV and UNIL, Lausanne, Switzerland; <sup>4</sup>Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CEA, LETI, Clinatec, Grenoble, France; <sup>5</sup>Univ. Grenoble Alpes, Grenoble University Hospital, F-38000 Grenoble, France; <sup>6</sup>ONWARD Medical, Lausanne, Switzerland; <sup>7</sup>Department of Radiology, CHUV, Lausanne, Switzerland; \*E-mail: valeria.spagnolo@epfl.ch

*Introduction:* A spinal cord injury (SCI) interrupts the communication between the brain and the spinal cord, resulting in sensory, autonomic and motor deficits below the level of the lesion. Applying electrical epidural stimulation (EES) over the lumbosacral region of the spinal cord can reactivate the dormant, yet functional, motor neurons that control lower limb muscles and produce walking. In order to restore voluntary motor control, EES should be controlled by the motor intentions of the patients.

Material, Methods and Results: Here we designed a clinical trial (Think2Go, NCT0624395) to evaluate

the effectiveness of an implantable digital bridge (BSI) between the motor intentions recorded at the level of the motor cortex and EES to restore voluntary motor control after complete paralysis. The system is composed of one WIMAG-INE® device (64 ECoG electrodes) implanted over the leg sensorimotor cortex to decode motor intentions, connected to the purpose-built ARC<sup>IM</sup> Lumbar System (Onward medical) delivering EES. The system was implanted in one participant with severe chronic SCI (AIS-A, 39 y.o. female, 6 years postinjury). Raw brain signals were wirelessly streamed and decoded in real-time through classification algorithms, which generated online predictions of motor intentions. We are able to decode motor attempts of different lower limb joints with high accuracy. These intentions were translated into electrical stimulation commands that were wirelessly delivered to the neurostimulator targeting the dorsal roots of the spinal cord.



*Conclusion:* Within the first 3 days of use after implantation, we were able to calibrate a 3-states decoding model and connect it to primitive movements elicited through EES stimulation, producing braincontrolled stepping with assistance. Subsequently, we could decode up to 6 different movement intentions and link them to specific stimulation programs with high accuracy. The participant used the system during 4 months of rehabilitation including walking, single joint movements and standing exercises. The comparison of motor control performance between BSI<sup>ON</sup> and BSI<sup>OFF</sup> conditions, in different clinical tests and with various levels of assistance, demonstrates the effectiveness of the designed system as an implantable brain-spine interface for restoration of voluntary lower limb movements after complete motor paralysis.

## Optimizing Imagined Speech Decoders: A Comprehensive Study on Intra-Subject Classification

J. Muñoz-Montes de Oca<sup>1\*</sup>, A. Torres-García<sup>1</sup>, C. Reyes-García<sup>1</sup>, L. Villaseñor-Pineda<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Biosignals Processing and Medical Computing Laboratory, Instituto Nacional de Astrofísica, Óptica y Electrónica, Puebla, Mexico;

\*Luis Enrique Erro #1, Sta. María Tonanzintla, 72840 San Andrés Cholula, Puebla, Mexico. E-mail: jenny.munoz@inaoep.mx *Introduction:* Imagined Speech (IS) refers to the mental pronunciation of words without emitting audible sounds. This task would allow the development of Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) to facilitate communication for impaired people. Although deep learning (DL) algorithms have achieved promising classification rates in other neuroparadigms; their large data requirements, high computational demands, and training times limit their adoption in BCI-based IS, especially when multiclass IS tasks are involved.

*Methods and Results:* In this work, we analyzed the 2020 International BCI Competition dataset (Track #3) composed of 64-channel EEG signals from 15 participants imagining three words ("hello," "yes," "stop") and two phrases ("help me," "thank you") relevant for basic communication. Three preprocessing techniques were analyzed: bandpass filtering (0.1–45 Hz), detrending, common average referencing (CAR), and wavelet-based automatic tunable artifact rejection (ATAR), alongside 6 feature extraction techniques: statistical features, fractal dimension, discrete and continuous wavelet transforms (DWT, CWT), wavelet scattering transform (WST), and empirical mode decomposition-fractal (EMD-Fractal). Also, three classifiers (KNN, SVM and Random Forest (RF)) were evaluated in an intra-subject approach.

Statistical analysis identified CAR as the optimal preprocessing technique along with RF classifier. Three feature extraction techniques demonstrated comparable performance for IS classification, namely Fractal ( $58.0 \pm 9.7\%$ ), WST (using KNN,  $64.7 \pm 13.0\%$ ), and EMD-Fractal ( $62.5 \pm 11.2\%$ ) (See Fig. 1). Bayesian Optimization improved accuracy for 6 of 15 subjects, with average accuracies of  $60.0 \pm 10.3\%$  (Fractal-RF) and  $64.1 \pm 8.4\%$  (EMD-Fractal-RF). The proposed method achieves results similar to those reported in [1, 2], which used DL techniques with the drawbacks mentioned above. In contrast, the proposed methodology demonstrates training efficiency, with the best classifier (EMD-Fractal) requiring less than 1.5 minutes to train.

*Conclusion:* In this study, EMD-Fractal features which measure the complexity of EEG signals, were found to be important for IS decoding. Further, this study provides a comprehensive evaluation of different preprocessing, feature extraction, and classification techniques, resulting in a time efficient methodology for IS classification.

Acknowledgments: The first author thanks the Secretaría de Ciencia, Humanidades, Tecnología e Innovación (Secihti) for supporting this work (scholarship CVU #1231373).



Figure 1: a) Heatmaps show the average classification accuracy for each pipeline configuration (accuracy values are normalized from 0 to 1). b) Comparison of average accuracy for the best-performing pipelines before and after Bayesian optimization. All pipelines use CAR and RF, except WST Original, which uses KNN. Average training times (in seconds) are displayed above the boxplots.

- Lee, BH, Kwon, BH, Lee, DY, Jeong, JH. Speech imagery classification using length-wise training based on deep learning. In Proceedings of the 9th International Winter Conference on Brain-Computer Interface (BCI), 1–5, 2021.
- [2] Ko, W, Jeon, E, Suk, HI. Spectro-spatio-temporal eeg representation learning for imagined speech recognition. In Asian Conference on Pattern Recognition, 335–346, 2021.

## Brain-Computer Interface Communication Application for Children with Diverse Learning Needs

Collisson B<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Kinney-Lang E<sup>1</sup>, Brewin G<sup>3</sup>, Irvine B<sup>1</sup>, Dylke, MC<sup>3</sup>, Kirton, A.<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Alberta Children's Hospital, Calgary, Canada; <sup>3</sup>The Calgary Board of Education, Calgary, Canada

\* Owerko Centre, #355, 3820 - 24 Avenue NW Calgary, Canada. E-mail: Beverly.Collisson@UCalgary.ca

*Introduction:* The purposeful uses of communication include exclaiming, protesting, describing, and requesting, amongst others. Successfully communicating these intents is difficult, if not impossible, for children and adolescents with neurodiversity or neurodevelopmental conditions, such as cerebral palsy, genetic disorders, or Rett syndrome. This submission reports on an electroencephalography-based Brain-Computer Interface (EEG-based BCI) communication application delivered to children and adolescents with diverse learning needs using a Visual P300 event-related potential (ERP) oddball paradigm.

*Materials:* We used a research grade, seven-sensor dry electrode EEG system, the DSI-7 Flex (Wearable Sensing, San Diego, USA) in conjunction with a dedicated BCI communication software application built with Unity (Unity Software Inc., San Francisco, USA), and processed using an open-source, cross-platform toolbox called *BCI-Essentials* (Figure 1).

*Methods:* Our study used a within-participant pretest-posttest design with single baseline and control behaviors within an iterative testing approach. A four-week, 15 session intervention, applying the validated communication procedure, *The System for Augmenting Language* [1] was delivered within the contextually authentic school environment. Students learned to communicate a 'request' by visually focusing on the image that represented their desired choice. In each session, a Riemannian geometry classifier was trained on one of three or four objects available for students' selection, followed by online testing during which the software 'spoke' the estimated selection. A paired-samples t-test was conducted to determine the effect of the intervention on purposeful communication using BCI. We conducted offline analyses of the EEG data to inspect signal quality and consistency of the P300 signal.



Figure 1. BCI Communication Application

*Results*: Trials are ongoing. Three trials of two participants each (n = 6; 4 girls, 2 boys; 6 - 13 years of age) are complete. Students' behavioral 'look to request' scores before intervention (M = 6.8; SD = 11.1) and after intervention (M = 15.8; SD = 16) indicated a significant average increase in visual focus to request an object [t(5) = -2.9, p = 0.031]. Offline analyses of the EEG revealed instances of P300 evoked potentials for each participant. However, the majority of trials contained no discernable P300, which we hypothesize were highly detrimental for training the classifier, leading to ineffective classification.

*Conclusion:* Our BCI communication application demonstrates early feasibility of teaching a purposeful communication behavior in a way that is accessible and engaging for students with complex learning needs. We continue to iterate and improve the BCI signal processing and classification systems to more reliably build a performant classifier based on the EEG signals from our diverse population.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* This research is supported by the University of Calgary, Cumming School of Medicine, Transdisciplinary Connector Grant, and The Alberta Children's Hospital Foundation. We are grateful for the support of all the families and educators who cheerfully participated in this research.

Romski MA, Sevcik RA, Cheslock M, & Barton A. Augmented language interventions for children with severe disabilities. In McCauley R, & Fey M, eds. Treatment of language disorders in children: Conventional and controversial interventions. 1<sup>st</sup> ed. Paul H. Brookes; 2006: 123 – 148.

## Decoding hierarchical elements of language from speech motor cortex to restore communication for people with ALS

H. Levi-Aharoni<sup>1,3\*</sup>, J. J. Jude<sup>1,3</sup>, S. Allcroft<sup>2</sup>, A. J. Acosta<sup>1</sup>, S. Haro<sup>2</sup>, N. S. Card<sup>4</sup>, M. Wairagkar<sup>4</sup>, C. Iacobacci<sup>4</sup>, D. M. Brandman<sup>4</sup>, S. D. Stavisky<sup>4</sup>, S. S. Cash<sup>1,3</sup>, Z. Williams<sup>1,3,5</sup>, J. D. Simeral<sup>2,6,7</sup>, L. R. Hochberg<sup>1,2,3,6,7</sup>, D. B. Rubin<sup>1,3</sup> \*E-mail: hlevi-aharoni@mgh.harvard.edu

<sup>1</sup>Center for Neurotechnology and Neurorecovery, Department of Neurology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts, USA;
 <sup>2</sup>School of Engineering, Brown University, Providence, RI, USA;
 <sup>3</sup>Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, USA;
 <sup>4</sup>Department of Neurological Surgery, University of California Davis, Davis, CA, USA;
 <sup>5</sup>Program in Neuroscience, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, USA;
 <sup>6</sup>Center for Neurorestoration and Neurotechnology (CfNN), Dept. of VA Med. Ctr., Providence, RI, USA;

assachusetts, USA; "Center for Neurorestoration and Neuroteennology (CJNN), Dept. of VA Med. Ctr., Providence, Ri, USA; "Robert J. and Nancy D. Carney Institute for Brain Science, Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island, USA

*Introduction:* One of the most disabling symptoms of ALS is loss of communication. For people with dysarthria and loss of dexterous control of hand movement, commercially available augmentative and alternative communication devices can be used to maintain communication. However, these devices are often slow, error prone, and require frequent caregiver interaction, limiting their utility. Recently, intracortical brain computer interfaces (iBCIs) have been used to decode the neural correlates of intended speech, allowing users with speech-motor paralysis to communicate by attempting to talk [1, 2]. These systems work by identifying the phonemic components of intended speech based on neural activity recorded from speech motor cortex; however, they lack robustness for sub-optimal signal-to-noise ratio. Information pertaining to higher-order components of language, such as intended semantic content or sentence syntax, could be used to improve the speed and accuracy of speech decoding. It is unknown, however, which, if any, higher-order elements of language are encoded within speech motor cortex.

Methods and Results: In this work, we examine the cortical representation of linguistic information beyond the phoneme level, and characterize how this hierarchical linguistic information is encoded within speech motor cortex in two participants in the ongoing BrainGate clinical trial, both with ALS: participant T17, a 33-year-old man with quadriplegia, anarthria, and ventilator-dependence due to the advanced symptoms of ALS, implanted with six 64-channel microelectrode arrays in the dominant precentral gyrus, including four in the speech motor cortex (Brodmann areas 6v and 55b), and participant T15, a 45-year-old man with ALS, with tetraparesis and severe dysarthria, implanted with four microelectrode arrays in his left ventral precentral gyrus. To investigate the encoding of semantically and syntactically different stimuli in the neuronal activity within these areas, we asked the participants to attempt to speak one of four different types of visually-presented text [3]: (1) grammatically correct sentences, (2) agrammatic lists of words, (3) grammatically structured sentences with gibberish content words, or (4) agrammatic lists of gibberish words. Interestingly, our results show distinct, participant-dependent roles for areas 6v and 55b. Within area 6v, we find for both participants reliable decoding of phonemes that appears minimally modulated by sentence structure. In contrast, within area 55b, we observe a different behavior for the two participants: while for T15 area 55b shows similar characteristics to area 6v, for T17 we find strong encoding for the text category but minimal phonemic information. These results suggest that the area identified as 55b indeed encodes higher-order elements of intended language, however to different degrees for different participants.

*Conclusion:* Combining the data from the two participants, we show evidence for sentence-level representations in these motor cortex areas and suggest how this neuronal information can be used for improving the performance of iBCI speech neuroprostheses.

Acknowledgments and Support: We thank T17, T15 and their families and carepartners for the time and effort they contributed to the BG2 trial. This work was supported by Office of Research and Development, Rehabilitation R&D Service, Department of Veterans Affairs (N2864C, A4820R, A2295R); NIH NIDCD (U01DC017844, R01DC014034, U01DC019430, K23DC021297, 1DP2DC021055); NIH NIDDS (R25NS065743), AHA (23SCEFIA1156586); CDMRP (HT94252310153), Brown University Provost's STEM Postdoctoral Fellowship to S. Haro; A.P. Giannini Postdoctoral Fellowship to N. Card.

*Disclosures:* CAUTION: Investigational Device. Limited by Federal Law to Investigational Use. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health, or the Department of Veterans Affairs, or the United States Government. The MGH Translational Research Center has a clinical research support agreement (CRSA) with Axoft, Neuralink, Neurobionics, Precision Neuro, Synchron, and Reach Neuro, for which LRH and SSC provide consultative input. LRH is a co-investigator on an NIH SBIR grant with Paradromics, and is a non-compensated member of the Board of Directors of a nonprofit assistive communication device technology foundation (Speak Your Mind Foundation). Mass General Brigham (MGB) is convening the Implantable Brain-Computer Interface Collaborative Community (iBCI-CC); charitable gift agreements to MGB, including those received to date from Paradromics, Synchron, Precision Neuro, Neuralink, and Blackrock Neurotech, support the iBCI-CC, for which LRH provides effort. Stavisky is an inventor on intellectual property owned by Stanford University that has been licensed to Blackrock Neurotech and Neuralink Corp. Wairagkar, Stavisky, and Brandman have patent applications related to speech BCI owned by the Regents of the University

of California. Stavisky is an advisor to Sonera. Brandman is a surgical consultant to Paradromics Inc.

References:

[1] Willett, F.R. et al. A high-performance speech neuroprosthesis. Nature 620, 1031–1036 (2023).

- Winet, F.K. et al. A high-performance speech neuroprosthesis. *Nature* 020, 1031–1030 (2023).
   Metzger, S.L. et al. A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control. *Nature* 620, 1037–1046 (2023).
   Fedorenko et al. New Method for fMRI Investigations of Language: Defining ROIs Functionally in Individual Subjects. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 2010 104:2, 1177-1194 (2010)
- [4] Card, N. S. et al. An Accurate and Rapidly Calibrating Speech Neuroprosthesis. New England Journal of Medicine. 391:7, 609-618 (2024)

## <u>Integrating BCI, FES, and social media for Rehabilitation of Upper Extremity Motor</u> <u>Function in Youth</u>

Anna Bourgeois, Meghan Maiani, Araz Minhas, Brian Irvine, Ion Robu, Payton Shaw, Dejana Nikitovic, Zeanna Jadavji, Gregory Wilding, Nathan Brand, Mateo Ambrogiano, Emily Schrag, Nicole Romanow, Adam Kirton, Eli Kinney-Lang

## Introduction:

Perinatal stroke can lead to lifelong physical disabilities, but even small improvements in function can significantly increase quality of life. There is a window of opportunity after perinatal stroke to harness brain plasticity to improve outcomes.<sup>1</sup> However, current therapies are minimally effective, in part due to the boring, unengaging procedures required to achieve adequate repetitions that are not suited to children.<sup>1</sup> The combination of functional electrical stimulation and brain computer interface (FES/BCI) has been shown to be effective for adults with stroke<sup>2</sup> and hemiparesis and appears feasible in children.<sup>3</sup> We designed a novel FES/BCI system that uses social media to better engage youth, called "FlickTok".

## **Methods and Results:**

The research protocol was informed through engagement with three youth patient partners with lived



Figure 1. Patient Partner using Flick Tok app

experience who developed and tested FlickTok. Each participant is fitted with a 16 channel EEG gel headset. The BCI training consists of 20 trials of attempted movement and rest which is then classified using a binary Riemannian Geometry based motor imagery classifier. After training is complete, participants can independently swipe through videos that are coordinated with FES. Data collected includes Cohen's Kappa and motor assessments of passive and active range of motion and the box and blocks (BB) test. Participants complete qualitative interviews to obtain enjoyability metrics to further improve the system. To date, 7 participants have completed at least one session. Early results indicate technical feasibility and increased enjoyability. Initial qualitative interviews have explored functional improvements and methodological changes that should be implemented in future studies. The BB assessment improved by 29% and 45% respectively after 3 sessions of FlickTok in 2 participants.

## **Conclusion:**

Informed by users, simple EEG-based BCI can be integrated with FES and social media to perform upper extremity rehabilitation in youth with hemiparesis. This pilot trial will inform the design of future clinical trials required to evaluate efficacy.

- 1. Kirton, A. et al. Perinatal stroke: mapping and modulating developmental plasticity. Nat Rev Neurol 17, 415–432 (2021).
- 2. Biasiucci, A. *et al.* Brain-actuated functional electrical stimulation elicits lasting arm motor recovery after stroke. *Nature Communications* **9**, 2421 (2018).
- Jadavji, Z., Kirton, A., Metzler, M. J. & Zewdie, E. BCI-activated electrical stimulation in children with perinatal stroke and hemiparesis: A pilot study. *Front Hum Neurosci* 17, 1006242 (2023).

## **Perceptogram: Reconstructing Visual Percepts from EEG**

**T. Fei<sup>1\*</sup>, I. Jackson<sup>1</sup>, A. Uppal<sup>1</sup>, V.R. de Sa<sup>1</sup>** <sup>1</sup>University of California San Diego, CA, USA; \*E-mail: tfei@uesd.edu

*Introduction:* Visual perception is an important aspect of human cognition and a gateway to understanding more complex cognitive processes such as visual mental imagery and dream visualization. EEG has spatial resolution limited by volume conduction which has resulted in its underuse in decoding visual representation. In this work, we reconstruct viewed images from EEG recordings with state-of-the-art quantitative reconstruction performance using a linear decoder that maps the EEG to image latents.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We used the preprocessed version of THINGS-EEG2 dataset [1]. In the experiment, each image is presented for 100ms followed by a blank screen for 100ms before the next image. The image presentation order is pseudo-randomized across the entire image set. All 10 subjects view the same 16740 images, of which the same 200 images are test images. Each training image is shown 4 times, and each test image is shown 80 times. The image reconstruction is a 2-stage process: the first stage maps the brain signal onto the latent space of a variational auto-encoder (VAE), which provides a rough visual representation. The second stage maps the same brain signal onto each token of the CLIP-Vision. The image generator "unCLIP" [2] combines the CLIP and the encoded images from the VAE and produces the reconstructed images. The reconstructions often capture the semantic meanings as well as the visual features of the ground-truth images (see Fig. 1). The performance across subjects is relatively consistent with a small amount of variation.

*Conclusion:* We have demonstrated the surprising power of learned linear mappings to different latent spaces. When mapped to the CLIP and VAE latent spaces and reconstructed with unCLIP, realistic reconstructions are obtained that quantitatively and qualitatively outperform previous EEG reconstruction attempts, including those with much more sophisticated transformer-based decoding algorithms.



Figure 1: Left: example reconstructions of viewed images using EEG recorded from the viewing participant. Examples of the best, middle, and worst reconstructions were selected by visual inspection from Subject 1. The rows labeled GT (ground truth) show the image that was shown to the participant. The rows labeled reconstructed (recon) show the image that was created by our system Examples are sampled from among the best (top) middle (middle) and worst (bottom) reconstructions observed. Right: Robust reconstructions across subjects and diffuser random seeds. Top Row: the ground-truth stimulus images; subsequent 3 rows: different random seeds for the same subject; Last 4 rows: robust reconstructions across subjects. This work was supported in part by UCSD Social Sciences grant, NSF IIS 1817226 and IIS 2208362.

- [1] Gifford, Alessandro T. and Dwivedi, Kshitij and Roig, Gemma and Cichy, Radoslaw M. A large and rich EEG dataset for modeling human visual object recognition. In *NeuroImage*, 119754, 2022.
- [2] Ramesh, Aditya and Dhariwal, Prafulla and Nichol, Alex and Chu, Casey and Chen, Mark. Hierarchical Text-Conditional Image Generation with CLIP Latents. In arXiv. 2204.06125, 2022.

## A preliminary evaluation of a fully implantable speech BCI G. Saldanha<sup>1\*</sup>, M. B. Ben Ticha<sup>1</sup>, C. Arvis<sup>1</sup>, P. Roussel<sup>1</sup>, F. Bocquelet<sup>1</sup>, G. Le Godais<sup>1</sup>, M. Aubert<sup>1</sup>, T. Costecalde<sup>2</sup>, L. Struber<sup>2</sup>, G. Charvet<sup>2</sup>, P. Kahane<sup>3</sup>, S. Chabardès<sup>2,4</sup>, B. Yvert<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Univ, Grenoble Alpes, Inserm, U1216 Grenoble Institut Neurosciences, Grenoble, France; <sup>2</sup>CEA, LETI, Clinatec, Grenoble, France; <sup>3</sup>CHU Grenoble Alpes, Department of Neurology, Grenoble, France; <sup>4</sup>CHU Grenoble Alpes, Department of Neurosurgery, Grenoble, France

\*Bio B, 2280 Rue de la Piscine, 38400 Saint Martin d'Hères, France. E-mail: guillaume.saldanha@univ-grenoble-alpes.fr, blaise.yvert@inserm.fr

Introduction: Speech BCIs offer perspectives to restore natural communication in people with Locked-In Syndrome (LIS). Current speech BCI solutions have shown convincing demonstrations for intelligible speech reconstruction with either subdural ECoG [1] or intracortical Utah array [2] recordings over sensorimotor and premotor areas. Yet, these solutions still rely on implants that remain wired to external recording systems, creating risks of infection. Moreover, subdural ECoG and intracortical recordings have been shown to degrade over long periods of time. There is thus a critical need for speech BCI solutions relying on fully implantable wireless technologies offering stable signals over many years. In this context, we propose to use the epidural WIMAGINE implant [3], which has proven to have great recording stability over time [4], to build a chronic speech BCI. Here, we present a complete real-time speech BCI framework based on the fully implantable WIMAGINE technology and its preliminary tests in a patient able to speak and chronically implanted in the context of a clinical trial aiming at evaluating the WIMAGINE technology for the motor control of an exoskeleton [5] (NCT02550522).

Material, Methods and Results: Over the 64 implant electrodes covering the hand motor cortex, the 32 most ventral were used in order to be as close as possible to the dorsal laryngeal motor cortex [6]. In a first step, two open loop sessions were conducted during which the patient was asked to read aloud short French sentences and vowel sequences. The absence of acoustic contamination was verified [7]. This data was used to train a Vison Transformer (ViT) based decoder [8], which was then implemented in a real-time processing software developed in C++. This pipeline was then evaluated in subsequent online closed-loop sessions with the same patient in either a sentence-by-sentence or a frame-by-frame speech decoding paradigm.

Conclusion: A complete real-time closed-loop speech BCI framework has been developed for further evaluation in Locked-In individuals chronically implanted with the epidural WIMAGINE technology.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank participant CLIN1 for his cooperation. This work was supported by the FRM Foundation with the PhD grant ECO202206015553 of GS, and the French National Research Agency (www.anr.fr) for grants No. ANR-20-CE45-0005 (BrainNet project) and framework of the "Investissements d'avenir" program (ANR-15-IDEX-02).

References:

- [1] S. L. Metzger et al., "A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control," Nature, vol. 620, no. 7976, pp. 1037–1046, 2023, doi: 10.1038/s41586-023-06443-4.
- [2] N. S. Card et al., "An Accurate and Rapidly Calibrating Speech Neuroprosthesis," N. Engl. J. Med., vol. 391, no. 7, pp. 609-618, Aug. 2024, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2314132.
- [3] C. Mestais, G. Charvet, F. Sauter-Starace, M. Foerster, D. Ratel, and A. L. Benabid, "WIMAGINE®: Wireless 64-channel ECoG recording implant for long term clinical applications," IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng., vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 10-21, 2015, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2014.2333541.

[5] A. L. Benabid et al., "An exoskeleton controlled by an epidural wireless brain-machine interface in a tetraplegic patient: a proof-of-concept demonstration," Lancet Neurol., vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 1112-1122, 2019, doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30321-7.

[8] M. Benticha et al., "A Vision Transformer Architecture For Overt Speech Decoding From ECoG Data," presented at the 46th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society (EMBC), Orlando, Jul. 2024.

<sup>[4]</sup> C. Larzabal et al., "Long-term stability of the chronic epidural wireless recorder WIMAGINE in tetraplegic patients," J. Neural Eng., vol. 18, no. 5, p. 56026, 2021, doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/ac2003.

<sup>[6]</sup> B. K. Dichter, J. D. Breshears, M. K. Leonard, and E. F. Chang, "The Control of Vocal Pitch in Human Laryngeal Motor Cortex," Cell, vol. 174, no. 1, pp. 21-31.e9, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.016.
[7] P. Roussel et al., "Observation and assessment of acoustic contamination of electrophysiological brain signals during speech production and sound

perception," J. Neural Eng., vol. 17, p. 056028, 2020, doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/abb25e.

# A stabilization approach to improve decoding performance using non-linear dynamical models

C. Ciucci<sup>1,2</sup>\*, M. Pizzinga<sup>1</sup>, D. Carducci<sup>3</sup>, S. Micera<sup>1,2,4</sup>, E. Russo<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The Biorobotics Institute, Department of Excellence for Robotics and AI, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Pisa, Italy; <sup>2</sup>Modular Implantable Neuroprostheses (MINE) Laboratory, Università Vita-Salute San Raffaele & Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Milan, Italy; <sup>3</sup>Department of Physics, University of Pisa, Italy; <sup>4</sup>Bertarelli Foundation Chair in Translational Neural Engineering, Center for Neuroprosthetics and Institute of Bioengineering, EPFL, Lausanne, Switzerland \*E-mail: chiara.ciucci@santannapisa.it

*Introduction:* One of the key challenges in developing Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) is the presence of noise in recorded neural signals. Such noise may result from the recording hardware or from fluctuations in the subject's internal state, both of which can occur independently of the intended motor command. To address this issue, we propose leveraging accurate predictions from nonlinear functional models of neuronal dynamics to extract a stabilized control signal for the interface.

*Material, Methods and Results:* This study was conducted using recordings from the primary motor cortex of non-human primates performing an  $8 \times 8$  reaching task with simultaneous measurements of kinematic signals (finger position) and neural activity [1]. To infer the neuronal dynamics, we employed a shallow Piecewise Linear Recurrent Neural Network (sh-PLRNN) [2]. This architecture consists of two principal components: a latent model, which captures the temporal evolution of the underlying latent dynamical process z(t), and an observational model, which captures how the latent representations affect the recorded neural activity x(t).

Building on this framework, we introduced a stabilization approach aimed at reducing noise in the recorded neural data. As illustrated in Fig. 1A, we use the inferred nonlinear sh-PLRNN model to generate multiple predictions of the latent state z(t) based on the neuronal activity x recorded in a time window between t - T and t - 1. While these predictions estimate the latent state at the same time t, each is influenced by independent noise realizations, and can be combined to obtain a signal with lower noise variance.



Figure 1: Stabilization approach for BCI: (A) Schematic representation of the stabilization rationale. At each time t, the latent neural state  $z_t$  can be inferred directly from the recorded activity  $x_t$ , as  $\bar{z}_t$  (in light blue), as well as from the past recordings  $x_{t-\tau}$  through the inferred latent dynamics map f, as  $z_t^{\tau} = f^{\tau}(\bar{z}_{t-\tau})$  (in black). By combining predictions from multiple past steps,  $\tau = 0 \dots T$ , we can then derive an estimate of the ongoing neuronal state  $z_t^{stab}$  which better approximates the ground truth state  $z_t$  (blue) than  $\bar{z}_t$ . (B) Decoding results. Scatter plot comparing decoding performances with or without stabilization for three types of decoders.

To test the general applicability of this approach, we employed here three different decoders to estimate from the latent state z(t) the monkey finger's position: the Wiener filter, the Wiener cascade, and the Kalman filter (Fig. *1B*). Our results show that the proposed stabilization approach improves decoding accuracy. This method provides a scalable solution for stabilizing noisy recordings, thus favoring a more precise and stable BCI control.

- O'Doherty, J. E., Cardoso, M. M. B., Makin, J. G., & Sabes, P. N. (2017). Nonhuman Primate Reaching with Multichannel Sensorimotor Cortex Electrophysiology [Data set]. Zenodo. <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.583331</u>
- [2] Hess, F., Monfared, Z., Brenner, M., Durstewitz, D., (2023). Generalized Teacher Forcing for Learning Chaotic Dynamics. International Conference on Machine Learning.

# Temporally Interfering electrical stimulation reduce interictal epileptiform discharges in rats

Jiahui Che<sup>1</sup>, Tao Liu<sup>1</sup>, Xizi Song<sup>1</sup>\*, Shuang Liu<sup>1</sup>, Dong Ming<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Academy of Medical Engineering and Translational Medicine Tianjin University Tianjin, China Nankai District.Weijin Road.92, Tianjin, China. E-mail: songxizi@tju.edu.cn

*Introduction:* Epilepsy is one of the most common brain disorders[1], neurostimulation techniques such as deep brain stimulation (DBS) and vagus nerve stimulation (VNS) offer a new opportunity for patients with drug-resistant epilepsy who are unable to undergo surgery[2].However, these two treatment methods have disadvantages such as being invasive, having a high risk of operation, and being prone to infection. In contrast, Temporally Interfering electrical stimulation can take into account non-invasiveness, focus, and stimulation depth[3].

*Material, Methods and Results:* Sprague-Dawley rats were stereotactically injected with kainite to induce an animal model of epilepsy.Epilepsy rats were treated with electrical stimulation using a TI stimulator (Tianjin LuBao Technology Co., Ltd.). The current parameter is  $f_1$  1000Hz and  $f_2$  1130Hz, sine waves, and the current intensity was 1mA. The cumulative time was 40min, and the stimulation was performed once a day at the same time for 2 weeks. Before and after the treatment, EEG signals were collected and recorded by the SynAmps2 system (Neuroscan, USA), and the characteristic indicators of epileptic biomarkers interictal epileptiform discharges (IED), including spike amplitude and slow wave area, were analysed and compared before and after the treatment. The experimental results showed that non-invasive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the hippocampus of rats at a frequency of 130 Hz can reduce the characteristic indicators of epileptic biomarkers interictic indicators of epileptic biomarkers and slow wave area, thereby improving the severity of seizures in rats(Fig. 1).



Figure 1: (a) IED characteristic indicators: spike amplitude, slow-wave area; (b) IED spike amplitude; (c) slow-wave area

*Conclusion:* This study proves that the use of non-invasive transcranial electrical stimulation can improve the severity of seizures in rats by regulating hippocampal neurons, providing important experimental evidence for the application of non-invasive transcranial electrical stimulation in epilepsy treatment.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This research was supported by the National Key Research and Develop-ment Program of China (2023YFF1203700).

- Ryvlin P, Cross JH, Rheims S. Epilepsy surgery in children and adults. Lancet Neurol. 2014 Nov;13(11):1114-1126. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70156-5. PMID: 25316018.
- [2] Pérez-Carbonell L, Faulkner H, Higgins S, Koutroumanidis M, Leschziner G. Vagus nerve stimulation for drug-resistant epilepsy. Pract Neurol. 2020 May;20(3):189-198. doi: 10.1136/practneurol-2019-002210. Epub 2019 Dec 31. PMID: 31892545.Malmivuo J, Plonsey R. Bioelectromagnetism: Principles and Application of Bioelectric and Biomagnetic Fields. Oxford University Press, New York, 1995.
- [3] Grossman N, Bono D, Dedic N, et al. Noninvasive deep brain stimulation via temporally interfering electric fields[J]. Cell, 2017,169(6): 1029-1041.

# Preliminary Evaluation of the Safety of Single-Parameter Ultrasound Stimulation on the Visual Cortex in Rats

Shupeng Tao<sup>1</sup>, Jiande Guo<sup>1</sup>, Weiming Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Xizi Song<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Academy of Medical Engineering and Translation Medicine, Tianjin University, Tianjin, 300072, China \*Nankai District.Weijin Road.92, Tianjin, China. E-mail: songxizi@tju.edu.cn

*Introduction:* With the rapid development of Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) technology, ultrasound has emerged as a promising tool with significant potential for non-invasive applications[1]. However, a clear consensus on the safety parameters and evaluation protocols for ultrasound-based brain stimulation is still lacking, and existing data are insufficient to establish comprehensive guidelines[2, 3]. This study investigates the safety of ultrasound stimulation on the visual cortex of rats under specific parameters, providing a multidimensional evaluation across three key aspects: blood-brain barrier integrity, histological analysis, and electrophysiological signal assessment.

*Material, Methods and Results:* This study used 12 male Wistar rats (260–300 g) and applied a 1 MHz focused ultrasound transducer to stimulate the left visual cortex. Stimulation parameters were: pulse repetition frequency (PRF)=1000 Hz, tone burst duration (TBD)=10µs, spatial peak pulse average intensity( $I_{sppa}$ )=3.15 W/cm<sup>2</sup>, spatial peak temporal average intensity( $I_{spta}$ )=3.15 mW/cm<sup>2</sup>, mechanical index (MI)=0.12, sound pressure=1.57 MPa, and a single stimulation duration of 60 seconds. Bloodbrain barrier integrity was assessed using Evans blue dye injection, histological damage was evaluated with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining, and steady-state visual evoked potentials (SSVEP) were analyzed with electrodes combined with LED. H&E staining and blood-brain barrier verification results are shown in Fig. 1. Results showed no blood-brain barrier disruption or tissue damage. SSVEP analysis indicated that ultrasound exposure did not alter the rats' steady-state responses to specific frequency visual stimuli.

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates the safety of focused ultrasound stimulation on the visual cortex under specific parameters. A multidimensional assessment of the safety of ultrasound stimulation provides valuable data supporting the development of non-invasive BCI technologies. This foundation also provides insights for further optimization of parameter design and establishing standardized safety assessment protocols.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This research was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 62276183, 81925020, 81630051).



Figure 1: **a-b**: Evans blue dye extravasation for control and experimental groups; **c-d**:Coronal sections of brain tissues. **e–j**: Results of H&E staining; original magnification  $\times 10$  (f,i),  $\times 40$  (g,j). Black boxes represent the area depicted in the following panel.

- Zheng H, Niu L, Qiu W, Liang D, Long X, Li G, Liu Z, Meng L. The emergence of functional ultrasound for noninvasive braincomputer interface. Research, 6:Article 0200, 2023.
- [2] Pasquinelli C, Hanson LG, Siebner HR, Lee HJ, Thielscher A. Safety of transcranial focused ultrasound stimulation: A systematic review of the state of knowledge from both human and animal studies. Brain Stimulation, 12:1367-1380, 2019.
- [3] Blackmore J, Shrivastava S, Sallet J, Butler CR, Cleveland RO. Ultrasound neuromodulation: A review of results, mechanisms, and safety. Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology, 45(7):1509–1536, 2019.

# TMS-based neurofeedback facilitates motor imagery of different hand actions

## H.-J. Cheng<sup>1</sup>\*, O. Hochstrasser<sup>1</sup>, E. Tai<sup>1</sup>, D. Chong<sup>1</sup>, N. Wenderoth<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Singapore-ETH Centre, Future Health Technologies Programme, CREATE campus, Singapore, Singapore; <sup>2</sup>Neural Control of Movement Laboratory, Department of Health Sciences and Technology, ETH Zurich, Zurich,

Switzerland

\*1 Create Way, CREATE Tower, #06-01, 138602 Singapore. E-mail: rita.cheng@sec.ethz.ch

*Introduction:* Non-invasive brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) enable users to modulate brain activity in a goal-directed manner. Most non-invasive BCIs can decode only gross movements but many daily tasks require finer finger and hand control. We developed a novel BCI using motor imagery (MI) and transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS)-based neurofeedback (NF) training to reinforce representations of complex hand actions in the brain. This proof-of-concept study investigates the utility of this BCI for training hand function via MI.

*Material, Methods and Results:* 12 participants (6 males, age  $32.0 \pm 2.7$  years) completed 4 (1 motor execution and 3 motor imagery (MI)) sessions of TMS-based NF training on 3 right-hand actions (holding a bottle, turning a key, and opening the hand). There were 4 blocks in each session. The MI sessions comprised 1 no NF and 3 NF blocks but Session 4 had an additional no NF block as ending. During the training, a personalized, adaptive support vector machine (SVM) ensemble was used to classify coming MI trials and provide NF accordingly. An SVM classifier with leave-one trial-out cross-validation was used to derive block-wise average classification accuracy as an outcome measure to assess the training effect. We used a linear mixed-effect model with MI without NF data and noted that the accuracy of the final block (60.5%) showed nearly significant improvement compared to the first block (53.3%;  $\beta = 0.091$ , t<sub>33</sub> = 1.974, p = 0.057; Figure 1). We used another linear mixed-effect model with MI+NF data to evaluate the learning effect and found that Session 3 accuracy (59.3%) was significantly higher than Session 2 (53.3%,  $\beta = -0.080$ , t<sub>88</sub> = -3.208, p = 0.006) and Session 4 accuracy (58.2%) was marginally significantly higher than Session 2 ( $\beta = -0.060$ , t<sub>88</sub> = -2.421, p = 0.053).

*Conclusion:* We developed and tested a novel, personalized, and adaptive MI and TMS-based BCI for complex hand actions. Our findings suggest that healthy adults could modulate brain activities for complex hand actions with the guidance of NF. This demonstrates that TMS-based BCI could be used for hand function training in individuals who are unable to produce overt motor output.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank all participants for their participation in this study. The research was conducted at the Future Health Technologies at the Singapore-ETH Centre, which was established collaboratively between ETH Zurich and the National Research Foundation Singapore. This research is supported by the National Research Foundation Singapore (NRF) under its Campus for Research Excellence and Technological Enterprise (CREATE) programme. The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.



Figure 1: Average cross-validation (CV) accuracy of all MI blocks. Overall, the CV accuracy increased with the training, indicating that participants could benefit from NF and retain the learning without NF immediately after the training as seen in Session 4.

# A Brain-Computer Interface Approach to Music and Sound Generation

## L. Bianchi<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Dipartimento di Ingegneria Civile e Ingegneria Informatica, Tor Vergata University, Rome, Italy \*Via del Politecnico, 1, 00133, Rome, Italy. E-mail: luigi.bianchi@uniroma2.it

*Introduction:* EEG-based BCI cannot directly provide the required bitrate to play music. However, digital instruments implement features that allow musicians to interact with them with minimal inputs and even generate entire phrases with different styles while requiring a low bandwidth.

*Material, Methods and Results:* MIDI (Musical Instrument Digital Interface) is a communication protocol that allows electronic musical instruments, computers, and other devices to connect and control each other. It transmits performance data—such as which notes are played, their intensity, timing, and modulation—rather than audio, enabling seamless interaction for music creation, playback, and production. A BCI software used to drive a videogame [1] was adapted to allow the output of MIDI messages.

Due to the low bandwidth provided by non-invasive BCIs, two classical paradigms were used: 1) mu-rhythm control, to deliver MIDI continuous and asynchronous control messages, such as Modulation Wheel, After Touch, Filter Cutoff, and resonance, allowing sound parameters to be modified during a performance. A preliminary calibration phase is required to acquire and compare relax epochs and motor imagery epochs. Differences in their power spectra are computed to train a regressor that will be used to deliver the selected MIDI messages and their corresponding values, which may vary in the range 0-127.

2) SSVEP, synchronized with the MIDI clock, to select notes, musical phrases, and samples or to

program and drive a Drum Machine. A system with 16 flashing LEDs is employed. A single musical measure is divided into 8 eighth notes, each of which can be selected via a specific LED. The remaining 8 LEDs allow the selection of the drum instrument (kick, snare, hi-hat open and closed, and crash) to correct a mistake and to increase or decrease the speed of the pattern. This setup enables the selection of the instrument and its temporal placement within the measure, making it possible to construct a drum pattern (Fig. 1). Future implementations will allow the selection of pitched notes from the chromatic scale.



Figure 1: A drum pattern generated with a BCI-based SSVEP paradigm

*Conclusion:* Integrating EEG-based BCIs with MIDI protocols enables effective control of musical instruments with minimal input, overcoming the bandwidth limitations typically associated with non-invasive brain-computer interfaces. Using mu-rhythm control and SSVEP paradigms, musicians can manipulate various sound parameters and construct rhythmic patterns with high precision. These techniques provide a promising foundation for future developments in BCI-driven music performance, including the potential for more complex musical compositions and pitch-based note selection.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this article.

### References:

[1] Bianchi, L. (2020). A Videogame Driven by the Mind: Are Motor Acts Necessary to Play?. In: Arai, K., Kapoor, S., Bhatia, R. (eds) Advances in Information and Communication. FICC 2020. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol 1129. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-39445-5\_5Anderson FA. Impedance plethysmography. In Webster JG (ed.). *Encyclopedia of Medical Devices and Instrumentation*. John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1988.

## Building a taxonomy of variability factors in active BCI

**P.**  $Dreyer^{1*}$ , **R.N.**  $Roy^2$ , **F.**  $Lotte^1$ 

<sup>1</sup> Centre Inria de l'Université de Bordeaux / LaBRI, Talence, France;
 <sup>2</sup>Fédération ENAC ISAE-SUPAERO ONERA, Université de Toulouse, France;
 \*Inria, 200 av Vieille Tour, 33400 Talence. E-mail: pauline.dreyer@inria.fr

*Introduction:* BCI performances are significantly affected by variabilities, both **inter- and intra-user** [1]. While there are advances in Machine Learning (ML) to deal with them, the understanding of the specific variability factors affecting BCI performance and EEG features remains limited. Thus, we are conducting a literature review to identify known variability factors and propose a taxonomy of them.

*Methods:* We conducted a literature review using the PubMed database, focusing on studies involving EEG-based active BCIs. The search query used was: ("Brain-Computer Interface" OR "BCI"

OR "Brain Computer Interface") AND ("nonstationarit\*" OR "non stationarit\*" OR "nonstationarit\*" OR "variabilit\*") AND ("active" OR "mental tasks" OR "motor imagery" OR "spontaneous"). This search initially yielded 177 articles. We then excluded studies focusing on passive or reactive BCIs, those using a main neuroimaging method other than EEG, or those unrelated to the BCI domain, leaving 155 articles. Next, we classified the articles into four main categories: articles focusing on "inter" or "intra" user variability factors, those addressing "both", and "method"—articles addressing ML methods to manage general inter- and/or intra-user variability without investigating its causes.



Figure 1: Categorization of the 155 queried articles. 117 were classified under "Method" (yellow), 25 under "Both" (green), 11 under "Inter" (orange), 9 under "Intra" (blue), and 23 were rejected (purple). 8 papers were counted twice as they fall into two categories.

Results: The majority of studies focuses on meth-

ods (62.9%) to manage variability, with limited attention to the factors causing it. Studies addressing inter-user variability constitute 5.9%, intra-user variability 5.4%, and both 13.4%, (see Fig. 1).

*Discussion:* This distribution stresses the need for more studies on the factors causing variability on BCI performance and EEG features, and on their effect. Inter- and intra-user variability factors can be broadly categorized as: **Experimental settings**: Experiment design or environment (e.g., electrodes position, task type, instructions, feedback, time of day, lab vs. home setting) [2]; **Individual traits**: User-specific demographic or cognitive characteristics (e.g., age, lifestyle habits, personality, attention span or visuo-motor coordination) [3]; **Structural Anatomy:** Anatomical attributes, such as gray matter density or cortical thickness [4]; **Physiological activity:** Non-neural signal (e.g., heart rate variability, muscular or ocular activity) [5]; **Psychological states:** Temporary mental or emotional states (e.g., mood, motivation, mental fatigue or frustration) [1]; **Neurophysiological activity:** Changes in brain activity (e.g., ERD/ERSs amplitude, Sensorimotor Rhythms at rest; band-power/spectrum fluctuations) [3]. Future work will include a more comprehensive review and a dedicated experimental campaign to systematically assess several variability factors, aiming to develop more robust BCIs.

Acknowledgments: This work was funded by ANR project PROTEUS (ANR-22-CE33-0015-01).

- [1] Saha S., Baumert M. Intra- and Inter-subject Variability in EEG-Based Sensorimotor BCI: A Review. In Front. Comput. Neurosci., 2020.
- [2] Vukelić M., Gharabaghi A. Oscillatory entrainment of the motor cortical network during motor imagery is modulated by the feedback modality. *In Neuroimage*, 2015.
- [3] Jeunet C., Lotte F. Predicting Mental Imagery-Based BCI Performance from Personality, Cognitive Profile and Neurophysiological Patterns. In PLoS One, 2015.
- [4] Kasahara K., Hanakawa T. Neuroanatomical correlates of brain-computer interface performance. In NeuroImage, 2015.
- [5] Nann M., Soekadar S.R. Heart rate variability predicts decline in sensorimotor rhythm control. In J Neural Eng, 2021.

## **Passive Neuroart BCI for Health: A Perspective**

M. Welter<sup>1\*</sup>, Tomasz M. Rutkowski<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Fabien Lotte<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Inria, LaBRI, Bordeaux, France; <sup>2</sup>RIKEN AIP, Tokyo, Japan; <sup>3</sup>The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan; <sup>4</sup>Nicolaus Copernicus University, Torun, Poland \*E-mail: marc.welter@inria.fr

*Introduction:* Engaging with art can be beneficial for health and well-being [1]. Neural correlates of art perception related to attentional, affective and hedonic processes are already used in Brain-Computer-Interfaces (BCIs) [2]. Therefore, we think that positive effects of aesthetic experience (AE) can be optimized by BCI. This work elaborates on potential health applications combining neuroart and passive BCI for neuroadaptive art presentation. Finally, we offer perspectives on new methods to further the development of such applications.

*Neuroadaptive art presentation:* As AE is highly subjective [3], we hypothesize that health benefits of art perception could be optimized by neuroadaptive art presentation. Here, the user's brain activity would be monitored by passive BCI during art perception. This information would then be fed into a recommender system in order to present subject-specific art that evokes desirable neural and mental states. Different optimization targets would result in different applications. For example, brain activity related to stress and relaxation during art gazing could be monitored to select art works that minimize a user's stress level. As artworks particularly afford attention [4], we also see potential for neuroadaptive art presentation in attention training. Such a study would assess markers of sustained attention to inform the selection of art that engages attentional capacities, or, in the context of dementia neurobiomarker elucidation, to inform the design of reminiscent interior images, as outlined in [5]. Although this technology could be beneficial, ethical concerns exist. For example, brain responses to caricatures or nudes could reveal political or sexual preferences. Thus, data privacy and responsible use should be technically ensured.

*Perspective on Methods:* Current AE decoding approaches impose unnatural art engagement constraints on participants, e.g. rating tasks, which biases neural activity [2]. Therefore, novel and naturalistic BCI protocols are needed. Instead of subjective ratings, engagement time could be used to implicitly label trials according to art appreciation [6]. As users might then gaze at only a few artworks for a long time and training data could be sparse, we propose leveraging unsupervised federated learning (FL) as outlined in [7]. This collaborative technique offers several advantages in the context of neuroart passive BCI, because FL facilitates efficient training while ensuring participant privacy.

*Conclusion:* This research perspective demonstrates the potential of personalized and privacy-preserving neuroart passive BCIs for well-being interventions. Future research should address the unique challenges of implementing diverse art modalities (visual, auditory, somatosensory, olfactory, etc.) in neuroart BCI scenarios. Key areas of focus include, ensuring fairness and equity across diverse populations, enhancing the security of FL systems and optimizing AE decoding performance which remains challenging. Furthermore, rigorous randomized controlled trials are essential to evaluate the effectiveness of neuroadaptive art presentation in improving health and well-being outcomes.

- M. Trupp, C. Howlin, A. Fekete, J. Kutsche, J. Fingerhut, and M. Pelowski, "The impact of viewing art on wellbeing—a systematic review of the evidence base and suggested mechanisms," 2024, preprint on webpage at: https://osf.io/preprints/osf/9z63t.
- [2] M. Welter and F. Lotte, "Ecological decoding of visual aesthetic preference with oscillatory electroencephalogram features—a minireview," Frontiers in Neuroergonomics, vol. 5, 2024.
- [3] R. Chamberlain, "The interplay of objective and subjective factors in empirical aesthetics," in *Human Perception of Visual Information: Psychological and Computational Perspectives*, B. Ionescu, W. A. Bainbridge, and N. Murray, Eds. Springer, 2022, pp. 115–132.
- [4] J.-M. Schaeffer, La Vie des arts : (mode d'emploi). Thierry Marchaisse, 2023.
- [5] T. M. Rutkowski, T. Komendziński, and M. Otake-Matsuura, "Mild cognitive impairment prediction and cognitive score regression in the elderly using EEG topological data analysis and machine learning with awareness assessed in affective reminiscent paradigm," *Frontiers* in Aging Neuroscience, vol. 15, 2024.
- [6] D. Brieber, M. Nadal, H. Leder, and R. Rosenberg, "Art in time and space: Context modulates the relation between art experience and viewing time," PLOS ONE, vol. 9, no. 6, 2014.
- [7] N. Lu, Z. Wang, X. Li, G. Niu, Q. Dou, and M. Sugiyama, "Federated learning from only unlabeled data with class-conditional-sharing clients," in *International Conference on Learning Representations*, 2022.

## Blink Artifacts in EEG For Classifying Sight-read Music

Abhinav Uppal<sup>1\*</sup>, Dillan Cellier<sup>1</sup>, Sean Bauersfeld<sup>1</sup>, Shihab A. Shamma<sup>2</sup>, Gert Cauwenberghs<sup>1</sup>, and Virginia R. de Sa<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of California – San Diego, La Jolla, USA, <sup>2</sup>University of Maryland, College Park, USA \*9500 Gilman Dr, UCSD M/C 0412, PFBH 306, La Jolla, USA. E-mail: auppal@ucsd.edu

*Introduction:* Eye-movement related artifacts including blinks and saccades are significantly larger in amplitude than cortical activity as recorded by scalp-EEG, but are typically removed from analysis. Accumulating evidence indicates that spontaneous eye blinks are not necessarily random, and can be modulated by attention and cognition beyond just physiological necessities [1, 2]. In this exploratory analysis, we reanalyze a public EEG dataset [3] of musicians listening to or imagining music (Bach chorales) while simultaneously reading sheet music (Fig. 1a). We ask whether just eye blink activity during sight-reading in music listening and imagery is sufficient to identify the musical piece being read.

Material, Methods and Results: We analyzed data from [3], where musicians listened to or imagined one of four Bach chorales 11 times each, totaling 88 trials per subject. 6 subjects' blink times were extracted using BLINKER [4] and manual inspection for all trials (Subject 1: Fig.1b). A spike-train distance metric (Victor-Purpura distance [5]) was used to compare intrasubject blink timings between the four chorales and listening/imagery conditions, Fig.1c. One trial-left-out cross-validation was used to identify the music based on the left-out trial's blinkdistance from the 10 remaining trials with above chance level accuracy (best subjects:  $\sim 50\%$  in imagery, chance: 25%). Accuracy varied with subject, condition, and a cost factor q for shifting blink times, Fig.1c–d.



Figure 1: (a) 4 chorales were sight-read by musicians while listening to or imagining music with vibrotactile cueing at 100 bpm, (b) extracted eye blinks plotted as dashes for 88 trials (4 chorales  $\times$  2 conditions  $\times$  11 trials), with diagonal saccades between music rows, (c) Decoding accuracy for Subject 1 based on shortest Victor-Purpura distance of tested trial's blink timing against remaining 10 training trials, (d) decoding accuracies for 6 analyzed subjects.

blink timing could still be task-relevant and may supplement brain decoding performance when utilized.

Acknowledgments: We thank G. Marion, G.M. Di Liberto, C. Pelofi, M. Rezaeizadeh, A. Karsolia, L. Fink, B. Voytek, 2022 Telluride Neuromorphic Cognition Engineering Workshop, and NSF IIS 1817226.

#### References:

Conclusion:

- E. B. Lange and L. K. Fink, "Eye blinking, musical processing, and subjective states—A methods account," Psychophysiology, vol. 60, no. 10, p. e14350, 2023, doi: 10.1111/psyp.14350.
- [2] Y. Bonneh, M. Fried, and Y. Adini, "Blinking by Surprise: Eye-Blink Rate and Latency Uncover Stimulus Predictability," Journal of Vision, vol. 15, no. 12, p. 779, Sep. 2015, doi: 10.1167/15.12.779.
- [3] G. Marion, G. M. D. Liberto, and S. A. Shamma, "The Music of Silence: Part I: Responses to Musical Imagery Encode Melodic Expectations and Acoustics," J. Neurosci., vol. 41, no. 35, pp. 7435–7448, Sep. 2021, doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0183-21.2021.
- [4] K. Kleifges, N. Bigdely-Shamlo, S. E. Kerick, and K. A. Robbins, "BLINKER: Automated Extraction of Ocular Indices from EEG Enabling Large-Scale Analysis," Frontiers in Neuroscience, vol. 11, 2017, doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00012
- [5] J. D. Victor and K. P. Purpura, "Metric-space analysis of spike trains: theory, algorithms and application," Network: Computation in Neural Systems, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 127–164, Jan. 1997, doi: 10.1088/0954-898X\_8\_2\_003.

Artifactual eye-

# Fostering Ethical Neurotechnology Leadership: Preparing BCI Innovators Through Education

MK. McIntosh, PhD<sup>1</sup>; S. Boehnke, PhD<sup>2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Dalhousie Medical School, Halifax, NS, Canada, B3H 4R2; <sup>2</sup>Centre for Neuroscience Studies at Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada, K7L 3N6

\*Botterell Hall, 18 Stuart Street Queen's University Kingston, ON, K7L 3N6. E-mail: kathryn.mcintosh@dal.ca

*Abstract*— As neurotechnology reshapes healthcare, industry and human-computer interaction, we have a rare opportunity to steer its burgeoning development with ethical leadership. Just as ethical principles guide engineering and medicine—ensuring public safety, trust, and accountability—they are equally important in neurotechnology. Programs that offer specialized education related to brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) must prepare future neurotech leaders to navigate complex ethical challenges associated with connecting minds with machines. Therefore, it is crucial that educational programs in this area not only develop technical expertise but also instil a sense of responsibility in advancing innovative technologies to enhance lives and benefit society.

The Neurotechnology Microcredential program (NTMC) at Queen's University offers foundational courses including The Neuroscience and Neurotech Primer, Neuro-electronic Recording and Processing,

Neuroimaging, as well as a hands-on Capstone Project course. NTMC implements ethical practice as a core competency of neurotechnology training. Ethical considerations are integrated throughout each course via presentation of case studies covering topics including data privacy breaches and device abandonment.

As of Jan 2025, we have had 114 enrolments across courses. Demographics indicate that half were University students (mostly upper year undergrads and graduate students), with many mature learners (28% over 35) and gender parity (44% female). Only 52% were Canadian (22%US, 13% Europe, 9% Australia) despite being a Canadian programme. This composition reflects the growing interest in neurotechnology education worldwide. With a cohort reaching over 70 credentials issued from these the courses, the program is being



Figure 1: The first Cohort of students in the intensive NTMC Capstone Project Course pictured sitting with Program directors Dr. Boehnke and Dr. McIntosh

expanded to offer Neuro-Entrepreneurship, Brain-Computer Interfaces, Neuromodulation, Behavioural Measurement and a focused course on Ethical Considerations in Neurotechnology.

A cornerstone of the curriculum is engagement with diverse, real-world challenges and perspectives. The program guides graduates to independently identify ethical challenges, practice humility, and engage in thoughtful, reflective discussions when co-creating solutions with the communities they serve. Reflections from executives of world-leading medical device companies, BCI startups and neuro-related corporations are integrated within the courses, providing practical context and insights for learning. Facilitators, with lived-experience, support students in grappling with challenges such as: access to therapies, risk of exploitation and regulatory challenges.

*Conclusion*— By emphasizing ethical leadership as a skill developed through the NTMC program, students think critically about the impact of their choices and about their approach to problem solving with BCIs. By equipping students with mentorship and practical strategies to navigate complex issues, the NTMC program lays a foundation for neurotech innovators to steer the field responsibly.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* We'd like to acknowledge NTMC course developers and collaborators from Queen's University, Dalhousie University and from NeuroTechX. We are grateful to our academic, clinician and industry partners for their valuable knowledge, feedback and time, and to the Queen's Office of Professional Development and Educational Scholarship for course production. This work is funded by the Community Impact Award and the Microcredential challenge fund, awarded by the Province of Ontario and the Connected Minds Program, supported by Canada First Research Excellence Fund, Grant #CFREF-2022-00010.
## DBS-evoked ECoG responses in depression: first characterization and possible implications for closed-loop applications

J. Pereira<sup>1,2,3</sup>\*, M. Dold<sup>2,1</sup>, B. Sajonz<sup>1</sup>, M. Tangermann<sup>2</sup>, V.A. Coenen<sup>1,3,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Stereotactic and Functional Neurosurgery, University Medical Center of Freiburg University, Germany; <sup>2</sup>Data-Driven NeuroTechnology Lab, Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud University, The Netherlands; <sup>3</sup>BrainLinks-BrainTools, University of Freiburg, Germany; <sup>4</sup>Center for Deep Brain Stimulation, University of Freiburg, Germany

\*Neurozentrum, Breisacher Str. 64 - 79106 Freiburg, Germany. E-mail: joana.pereira@uniklinik-freiburg.de

*Introduction:* Deep brain stimulation (DBS) of the superolateral medial forebrain bundle (slMFB) has shown promising results in the treatment of patients with otherwise treatment-resistant major depression disorder (MDD) and patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder [1]. Inspired by DBS research in Parkinson's disease, for which DBS-evoked cortical responses are seen as candidate biomarkers for closed-loop DBS, we investigate for the first time the cortical responses of slMFB-DBS using ECoG.

*Material, Methods and Results:* During the implantation of two therapeutic bilateral slMFB-DBS leads, four patients with MDD additionally received a unilateral and epidural 4-channel ECoG strip placed towards the prefrontal cortex to ideally cover BA8. The ECoG strip was removed after four days. During the measurements on the ward, our aim was to screen several 2Hz-DBS parameters (stimulation

channels, pulse width, and amplitude) over a series of 90-120 seconds runs during which the patients remained at rest. Due to two medical complications unrelated to our protocol, the measurements in two patients (P01 and P03) did not result in a comprehensive screening of DBS parameters. For the parameters screened, no clear evoked responses were observed. For P02, a comprehensive screening was possible, but no clear evoked response was visible. Interestingly, we found a fast and early (~2-10 ms) oculomotor response, measured via electrooculography, time-



Figure 1: *slMFB-DBS evoked responses at ECoG01 for P04, day 3, for different amplitudes. Stimulation channel: 1, return channels 2-3-4, pulse width: 60 \mus, frequency: 2 Hz (t = 0 shows stimulation artefact).* 

locked to the DBS pulses, despite the patient not reporting any side-effects at the screened DBS parameters. For P04, a very comprehensive screening was possible (Day 1: 11 runs, Day 2: 16 runs, Day 3: 25 runs). Consistent slMFB-DBS-evoked responses, distinct wr.t. timing (peak around 25 - 30 ms) and morphology from the oculomotor responses, were observed along a range of DBS parameters. These were modulated by the stimulation parameters, and stronger for the ECoG channels covering pre-frontal sites. Fig. 1 exemplifies the responses for P04 on ECoG01 when stimulating the left slMFB.

*Conclusion:* Our first results indicate that it is possible to measure DBS-evoked responses to slMFB-DBS, although only one patient out of four displayed a clear response, replicable over 3 days of measurements. Our measurements also highlight the particular issue of side-effects related with slMFB-DBS (co-activation of oculomotor nerve fibers) which can affect the outcome of the electrophysiology analysis, particularly if these side-effects are too subtle to be noticed by the patient. In the future, DBS-evoked responses could help guiding clinicians in the selection of optimal slMFB-DBS parameters and eventually be a candidate biomarker for a closed-loop DBS setting in MDD.

Acknowledgments: Work funded by the DFG Walter Benjamin Programme (510112977). Measurements were performed with Dareplane [2], a software platform supported by the Dutch Brain Foundation.

Döbrössy, M. D. et al. Neuromodulation in psychiatric disorders: experimental and clinical evidence for reward and motivation network deep brain stimulation: focus on the medial forebrain bundle. European Journal of Neuroscience (2021).

<sup>[2]</sup> Dold, Matthias, et al. "Dareplane: A modular open-source software platform for BCI research with application in closed-loop deep brain stimulation." *arXiv preprint arXiv:2408.01242* (2024).

## Benchmarking one-class Riemannian EEG classifiers to detect wakefulness under general anesthesia

V. Marissens Cueva<sup>1,2\*</sup>, S. Rimbert<sup>1</sup>, A. M. Cebolla Alvarez<sup>3</sup>, G. Cheron<sup>3</sup>, C. Meistelman<sup>4</sup>, S. J. Bidgoli<sup>5</sup>, F. Lotte<sup>1</sup>, L. Bougrain<sup>2,6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Inria Center at the University of Bordeaux / LaBRI, Talence, France; <sup>2</sup>Université de Lorraine, CNRS, LORIA, Nancy, France; <sup>3</sup>Laboratory of Neurophysiology and Movement Biomechanics, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Bruxelles, Belgium; <sup>4</sup>DevAH, University of Lorraine, Nancy, France; <sup>5</sup>CHU Brugmann, Bruxelles, Belgium; <sup>6</sup>Sorbonne Université, ICM, CNRS, Inria, Inserm, AP-HP, Hopital de la Pitié Salpêtrière, Paris, France; \*LORIA, Campus Scientifique, BP 239, 54506 Vandœuvre-lès-Nancy, France, E-mail: valerie.marissens@loria.fr

*Introduction:* Current brain monitors for detecting Accidental Awareness during General Anesthesia (AAGA) remain debated, as robust evidence supporting their effectiveness in reducing AAGA's incidence is lacking [1]. To address this, we propose a new brain-computer interface based on Median Nerve Stimulation (MNS), a painless stimulation that elicits motor patterns, to monitor depth of anesthesia [2]. Specifically, we train our algorithm with post-MNS EEG patterns recorded while patients are awake, enabling the detection of the return to an arousal state during the surgery under anesthesia. Since the anesthesia data is unavailable pre-surgery for BCI calibration, we focus on One-Class (OC) approaches. In this study, we evaluate three OC Riemannian methods for this task: K-Means (OC-RKM) [3], Minimum Distance to the Mean (OC-RMDM) [5] and Support Vector Machine (OC-RSVM) [4, 6].

*Material, Methods and Results:* This study includes 12 patients (6 women;  $50 \pm 14.3$  years) undergoing surgery under general anesthesia with propofol as the hypnotic agent, at CHU Brugmann in Belgium [7]. EEG data were collected in two sessions: preoperatively (awake) and intraoperatively (under anesthesia). Each session involves several recordings, each with 150 MNSs delivered at a frequency of 0.25 to 0.33 Hz. Features were extracted as covariance matrices 250 to 1000 ms post-MNS in the 8–30 Hz frequency band. Classification performances of the three OC Riemannian algorithms are summarized in Figure 1. A Student's t-test with Benjamini-Hochberg correction shows OC-RKM and OC-RMDM significantly outperform OC-RSVM (p < 0.05).

*Conclusion:* Results indicate that both OC-RKM and OC-RMDM effectively delimit an awake state in most subjects, though not all. In contrast, OC-RSVM has a lower perfor-



Figure 1: Test balanced accuracies obtained with 12 patients using OC classifiers trained on data when patients are awake. Best results with OC-RKM are with 2 prototypes, and thresholds of median + 3 × median absolute deviation. For OC-RSVM,  $\nu = 0.5$ . For OC-RMDM parameters, see [5]. \*p-value < 0.05.

mance, possibly due to the use of a Riemannian kernel reference point  $C_{ref}$  computed as the mean covariance matrix of the awake class, which may inadequately capture the geometry of both classes. Additionally,  $\nu$  was not optimized, as its tuning in a one-class context remains challenging. Future work will assess performance regarding the number of electrodes, alternative  $C_{ref}$ , and comparisons with other one-class algorithms. An ensemble method will also be considered to improve robustness for depth of anesthesia estimation across subjects, leveraging the strengths of each model.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank the Brugmann Foundation and the BCI4IA ANR project.

#### References:

[1] Laferrière-Langlois P, et al. Depth of Anesthesia and Nociception Monitoring: Current State and Vision For 2050. Anesth. Analg., 2024.

[2] Rimbert S, et al. Median Nerve Stimulation Based BCI: A New Approach to Detect Intraoperative Awareness During General Anesthesia. Front Neurosci. 2019.

- [4] Barachant A, et al. Classification of covariance matrices using a Riemannian-based kernel for BCI applications. Neurocomputing, 2013.
- [5] Marissens Cueva V, et al. One-Class Riemannian EEG Classifier to Detect Anesthesia. In 5th Intern. Neuroergonomics Conf., 2024.
- [6] Schölkopf B, et al. Support Vector Method for Novelty Detection. NIPS. 1999.
- [7] Rimbert S, et al. Detection of Motor Cerebral Activity After Median Nerve Stimulation During General Anesthesia (STIM-MOTANA): Protocol for a Prospective Interventional Study. JMIR Res Protoc. 2023.

<sup>[3]</sup> Navarro-Sune X, et al. Riemannian Geometry Applied to Detection of Respiratory States From EEG Signals: The Basis for a Brain–Ventilator Interface. In *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, 2017.

## Neuromorphic Processing of sEMG Signals for Finger Position Estimation

#### C. Piozin<sup>1</sup>\*, H. Fares<sup>1</sup>, F. Moradi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Electrical and Computer Engineering Department, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark

\*E-mail: cpiozin@ece.au.dk

*Introduction:* Neuroprosthetics aim to restore lost motor or sensory function. Upper limb myoelectric prostheses which rely on processing surface electromyography (sEMG) signals from the amputee's residual limb are of the most widely used devices. While traditional control relies on pattern recognition for identifying discrete hand movements, regression-based approaches offer a more intuitive control by modeling hand kinematics with sEMG [1,2]. However, implementing these methods on wearables faces challenges due to resource limitations (memory, power, latency). Neuromorphic computing, with its brain-inspired architecture and energy-efficient spike-based processing, offers a promising solution [3]. While explored in prosthetic control, its application to regression-based approaches remains limited [2]. This paper introduces a neuromorphic regression-based processing method for mapping sEMG signals to finger positions during hand movements, as illustrated in Figure 1.A.

*Methods and Results:* The regression task involved mapping 16 sEMG electrodes to 5 Degrees-of-Actuation (DoAs) corresponding to the position of the 5 fingers. sEMG signals taken from the dataset in [4] were downsampled from 2kHz to 250Hz, rectified, and normalized between 0 and 1. Each channel was then encoded into spike trains by a Leaky Integrate-and-Fire (LIF) neuron (16 total) [3]. These spike trains were fed into a Spiking Neural Network (SNN) with two hidden layers of 256 LIF neurons and a five-neuron output layer. The SNN was trained using a surrogate gradient and the Adam optimizer using the snnTorch library [5]. Regression accuracy was assessed by comparing the output neurons' membrane potentials to the ground truth DoAs using Mean Absolute Error (MAE). Preliminary results showed an MAE of  $6.0 \pm 3.3$  degrees, comparable to results reported in [2] using a similar dataset (see Figure 1.B for an example of the regression).



Figure 1: A. Schematic of prosthesis control using the proposed neuromorphic approach, 1: sEMG signal recording, 2: Event-based processing of the sEMG signal composed of spike encoding and SNN regression, 3: Finger movement restoration on prosthesis based on SNN output. B. Finger position (ground truth DoAs represented in green) estimation results for a lateral grasp. Neuron output (in purple) represents the neuron's membrane potential.

*Conclusion:* Preliminary results using event-based computation demonstrate successful finger position estimation from sEMG signals across six hand gestures, regardless of arm position. This suggests our decoding approach exhibits position invariance. Future work will focus on implementing the model on a 16-core SNN developed by our team [6].

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by the Neuro-Sense project, funded by the Lundbeck Foundation (grant R402-2022-1413).

- Hahne, J. M., Wilke, M. A., Koppe, M., Farina, D., & Schilling, A. F. (2020). Longitudinal case study of Regression-Based Hand Prosthesis Control in Daily Life. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 14.
- [2] Zanghieri, M., Benatti, S., Benini, L., & Donati, E. (2023). Event-based Low-Power and Low-Latency Regression Method for Hand Kinematics from Surface EMG. In 2023 9th International Workshop on Advances in Sensors and Interfaces (IWASI).
- [3] Baracat, F., Mazzoni, A., Micera, S., Indiveri, G., & Donati, E. (2024). Decoding gestures from intraneural recordings of a transradial amputee using event-based processing. *TechRxiv*
- [4] Kyranou, I., Szymaniak, K., & Nazarpour, K. (2025). EMG Dataset for Gesture Recognition with Arm Translation. *Scientific Data*, 12(1).
  [5] Eshraghian, J. K., Ward, M., Neftci, E. O., Wang, X., Lenz, G., Dwivedi, G., Bennamoun, M., Jeong, D. S., & Lu, W. D. (2023). Training spiking neural networks using lessons from deep learning. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 111(9), 1016–1054.
- [6] Sadeghi, M., Rezaeiyan, Y., Khatiboun, D. F., Eissa, S., Corradi, F., Augustine, C., & Moradi, F. (2024). NEXUS: A 28nm 3.3pJ/SOP 16-Core Spiking Neural Network with a Diamond Topology for Real-Time Data Processing. *IEEE transactions on biomedical circuits and systems*

#### A Novel Fully Implantable High Data Rate BCI for Speech Restoration.

D. M. Brandman<sup>1</sup>, V. Gilja<sup>2</sup>, S. Qiao<sup>2</sup>, K. Nishimura<sup>2</sup>, M. R. Angle<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dept. of Neurological Surgery, UC Davis, Sacramento, CA, USA <sup>2</sup> Paradromics, Inc. Austin, TX, USA

\*E-mail: dmbrandman@ucdavis.edu

Brain-computer Introduction: interfaces (BCIs) have demonstrated their ability to provide functional control of computing devices and to restore lost communication abilities for individuals with profound motor and speech deficits due to neural injury or progressive neuromuscular disease. Recently, these systems have achieved a level of performance high enough to enable restoration of interactive, conversational communication [1]. BCIs operating at these highest levels of performance are enabled by intracortical electrode arrays implanted in motor areas. Although BCIs are poised to address unmet clinical needs, current speech BCI studies utilize research devices with



**Figure 1:** (Left) Rendering of the fully implanted intracranial BCI. (Right) Photographs of the Cortical Module (top) and Internal Transceiver (bottom).

percutaneous components. We present a fully implantable, intracortical BCI system designed for clinical adoption while simultaneously supporting higher electrode counts that could facilitate increased BCI performance.

Materials, Methods, and Results: The system is composed of a cortical module, lead, and an internal transceiver. A single cortical module has 421 intracortical microelectrodes (each 1.5mm in length, 40 µm in diameter) that are amplified and digitized on the module to allow for neural signal transmission over a subcutaneous lead. The internal transceiver form factor and implant procedure follow an approach similar to that of an implantable pulse generator of a deep brain stimulator. The internal transceiver receives power for the system with a wireless inductive link from an external, wearable transceiver. Broadband data are telemetered via a wireless optical communications link and support extraction of spiking, spikeband, and local field potential (LFP) based features. Power delivery and optical communications bandwidth are designed to support up to four cortical modules, or 1684 intracortical microelectrodes. Preclinical testing of the system is underway for safety, biocompatibility, and functionality. In 31 research ovine model procedures, zero serious device or procedure-related events were observed, and signal stability has been observed out to 2 years. Twenty-six week biocompatibility is currently supported in accordance with ISO10993. Chronic implantation of the cortical module in ovine auditory cortex yields both neuronal spiking and LFP features, and demonstrates a high bit rate readout of brain state. Neural features were validated based upon their signal characteristics and their dynamics with respect to auditory stimuli.

*Conclusion:* This system will be tested in a First-In-Human clinical study, under IDE, to investigate the feasibility of speech restoration in a population suffering from impaired communication due to a progressive neuromuscular disease or a neural injury.

Disclosures: Paradromics, Inc. authors hold company equity. VG holds equity in Neuralink Corp. DMB is an inventor on IP owned by UC Davis, and is an ad-hoc surgical consultant for Paradromics Inc.

<sup>[1]</sup> Card NS, Wairagkar M, Iacobacci C, Hou X, Singer-Clark T, Willett FR, Kunz EM, Fan C, Vahdati Nia M, Deo DR, Srinivasan A, Choi EY, Glasser MF, Hochberg LR, Henderson JM, Shahlaie K, Stavisky SD\*, Brandman DM\*. An accurate and rapidly calibrating speech neuroprosthesis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 391(7), 609-618, 2024.

## **Enhanced SSVEP Classification with Pre-trained Models: The SSVEP-CAT Approach for Calibration-Free BCI**

Sara Houshmand<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Uchechi Ukaegbu<sup>1,2</sup>, Leah Hammond<sup>2</sup>, Kim Adams<sup>2,3</sup>, John Andersen<sup>2,4</sup>, Hossein Rouhani<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Alberta, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Imagination Centre Brain-Computer Interface Program, Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital. Canada; <sup>3</sup>Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta, Canada; <sup>4</sup>, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta, Canada. \*E-mail: shoushma@ualberta.ca

*Introduction:* This study addresses the challenge of developing calibration-free Steady-State Visual Evoked Potential (SSVEP) classification models for Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) systems. Interuser generalization may reduce the user burden of calibration sessions and improve user experience. However, deep learning technique requirements for large datasets hinder practical deployment. To address this limitation, we introduce the SSVEP-CAT (Convolution, Attention, and Transformer) model. We adopted a transfer learning approach that utilizes a pre-trained model including a Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) for feature extraction and a transformer-based classification module, leveraging self-attention to maintain high accuracy. This project aims to evaluate the impact of using a small number of users on SSVEP-CAT classification accuracy.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* We evaluated the SSVEP-CAT model on two open access datasets to verify if its use reduces data dependence. Dataset I [2] contained 12-class frequency-phase modulated SSVEPs from 10 users, and dataset II [3] included 64-channel EEG data from 35 users. From both datasets, data corresponding to 12 target stimuli and 8 occipital lobe channels were employed for analysis. The data underwent a 4th-order Butterworth band-pass filter, sliding window technique, and complex Fast Fourier Transform (FFT). The model used 2D CNNs for feature extraction, an attention layer for feature recognition, and a transformer encoder for complex temporal representation analysis (Figure 1). When trained on dataset I, SSVEP-CAT achieved an accuracy of 89%, outperforming the CCNN (CNN based on complex features) [1], which reached 81% (Table 1). An advantage of SSVEP-CAT lies in its ability to leverage pre-training on another dataset with a sufficiently large number of users and trials, such as Dataset II. When training was conducted on 3 users without pre-training, the accuracy achieved was 19% (CCNN) and 36% (SSVEP-CAT). However, this accuracy increased to 82% when pre-training was performed prior to fine-tuning on the same 3 users.



*Conclusion:* The proposed SSVEP-CAT model outperformed the CCNN without pre-training, highlighting its robustness as it generalized better with increasing fine-tuning data. Transfer learning enabled better performance of the SSVEP-CAT model on limited users, but its reliance on large datasets remains a limitation. The SSVEP-CAT improved classification accuracy demonstrating a potential strategy for addressing BCI calibration and improving BCI system user experience.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We acknowledge the funding provided by the Glenrose Hospital Foundation, MITACS, and SMART NSERC CREATE grant.

<sup>[1]</sup> Ravi A, Beni NH, Manuel J, Jiang N. Comparing user-dependent and user-independent training of CNN for SSVEP BCI. Journal of neural engineering. 17: 2, 2020.

<sup>[2]</sup> M. Nakanishi, Y. Wang, Y.-T. Wang, and T.-P. Jung, "A Comparison Study of Canonical Correlation Analysis Based Methods for Detecting Steady-State Visual Evoked Potentials," PLOS ONE, vol. 10, no. 10, p. e0140703, Oct. 2015, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140703.

Y. Wang, X. Chen, X. Gao, and S. Gao, "A Benchmark Dataset for SSVEP-Based Brain-Computer Interfaces," IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng., vol. 25, no. 10, pp. 1746–1752, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2016.2627556.

### Challenges in Common Spatial Pattern Reliability for Neurofeedback

C. Dumas<sup>1</sup>\*, C. Dussard<sup>1</sup>, N. George<sup>1, co-last</sup>, M.C. Corsi<sup>1, co-last</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Sorbonne Université, Institut du Cerveau - Paris Brain Institute - ICM, Inserm, CNRS, CENIR MEG-EEG &

INRIA NERV lab & Experimental Neurosurgery team, Paris, France

\*Pitié Salpêtrière, 47, Boulevard de l'Hôpital, 75013 Paris | E-mail: cassandra.dumas@icm-institute.org

*Introduction:* Motor imagery (MI)-based neurofeedback requires precise extraction of physiologically significant brain activity from EEG signals. A key challenge is the individualization of targeted activity, as commonly used methods like the Laplacian filter [1] may not capture subject-specific neural dynamics. Common Spatial Patterns (CSPs) [2] provide a personalized approach by extracting spatial filters from individual brain activity. However, CSPs are sensitive to noise and artifacts in EEG data, which can impact their reliability [3]. This study examines CSP reliability and explores the use of Representational Similarity Analysis (RSA) [4] to select neurophysiologically relevant CSPs. Preliminary findings highlight the challenges in isolating MI signatures with CSPs and the need to refine their selection to enhance neurofeedback protocols.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We used the EEG data from 21 participants (28 active electrodes) recorded during 10 alternating trials of rest and right-hand MI (8 seconds / trial; [1]). A virtual hand displayed clenching movement as visual stimulation during MI. The EEG signals were band-pass filtered between 8 and 30 Hz to focus on motor-related frequencies. CSPs were calculated and, for each subject, the most physiologically relevant CSP among the top six ones was visually selected by the authors (Figure 1a). The result highlighted the inter-individual variability of CSP decomposition, evidenced by the variable rank of the selected CSPs and the frequent presence of ocular artefacts signatures. This variability is further emphasized by Figure 1c, representing the average of the selected CSPs, and Figure 1d, showing the associated standard deviation across subjects, where high variability in temporal regions extending to the motor region can be seen. To evaluate the reliability of CSPs in isolating motor-related activity, CSPs pattern were then compared to the grand average difference topography between MI and rest (MI – Rest) using a leave-one-out RSA approach (Figure 1b). A match between the CSPs selected by the experts and those identified by RSA was observed in 45% of the subjects, with a RSA score of  $0.24 \pm 0.12$  (mean  $\pm$  SD).

*Conclusion:* This study underscores the variability and challenges in isolating physiologically relevant motor-related activity using CSPs. Preliminary results reveal that CSPs captured motor imagery patterns in 45% of the cases, emphasizing a lack of reliability. These findings underline the necessity of exploring alternative approaches to improve CSP selection, such as region-specific computations, advanced artifact correction techniques [5], or automated methods to detect and exclude artifact-contaminated CSPs. This also opens opportunities to explore innovative methodologies to address CSP limitations, aiming to improve their reliability and support the implementation of personalized neurofeedback protocols.



Figure 1: a) CSP patterns for three representative participants. Green boxes highlight the CSPs selected by the experts. Gray-shaded boxes indicate CSPs identified as contaminated by artifacts. b) MI-Rest topographies for the same three participants, illustrating MI-related activity. c) Mean and d) standard deviation of the CSPs selected by the experts across all participants.

Acknowledgments. This work was supported by the French National Research Agency (BETAPARK project, ANR-20-CE37-0012).

- Dussard C, Pillette L, Dumas C, Pierrieau E, Hugueville L, Lau B, Jeunet-Kelway C, George N. Influence of feedback transparency on motor imagery neurofeedback performance: The contribution of agency. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 21(5), 2024.
- [2] Blankertz B, Tomioka R, Lemm S, Kawanabe M, Muller K. Optimizing Spatial filters for Robust EEG Single-Trial Analysis. IEEE Signal Processing Magazine, 25(1), 41-56, 2008.
- [3] Yong X, Ward R, Birch G. Robust Common Spatial Patterns for EEG signal preprocessing. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc, 2087-90, 2008.
- [4] Kriegeskorte N, Mur M, Bandettini P. Representational Similarity Analysis connecting the branches of systems neuroscience. Front Syst Neurosci. 24; 2:4, 2008
- [5] Dumas C, Corsi MC, Dussard C, George N. Automatic Ocular Artifact Correction in Electroencephalography for Neurofeedback. BioSignals Conference, 2025.

Navigating the clinical trial pathway for implantable brain-computer interfaces: the COMMAND study Thomas J. Oxley<sup>1,2</sup>, Shahram Majidi<sup>3</sup>, Raul G. Nogueira<sup>4</sup>, Elad I Levy<sup>5</sup>, David Lacomis<sup>6</sup>, Amit Kandel<sup>7</sup>, Noam Y. Harel<sup>8,9</sup>, David F. Putrino<sup>9</sup>, Douglas J. Weber<sup>10,11,12</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, AUS

<sup>2</sup>Synchron Inc., Brooklyn, New York, USA

<sup>3</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA

<sup>4</sup>Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Stroke Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA

<sup>5</sup>Jacobs Institute, SUNY University at Buffalo and Kaleida Health, Buffalo, New York, USA <sup>6</sup>Departments of Neurology and Pathology (Neuropathology), University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

<sup>7</sup>Departments of Neurology and Fainology (Neuropainology), University of Finisburgh School of Medicine, Finisburgh, FA, USA <sup>7</sup>Department of Neurology and Emergency Medicine, Jacobs School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, New York, USA

<sup>8</sup>James J. Peters VA Medical Center, Bronx, NY, USA

<sup>9</sup>Department of Rehabilitation and Human Performance, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA

<sup>10</sup>Department of Mechanical Engineering, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

<sup>11</sup>NeuroMechatronics Lab, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

<sup>12</sup>The Neuroscience Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Email: thomas.oxley@unimelb.edu.au

*Introduction*: Implantable brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) can enable people with paralysis to control digital devices using decoded brain signals. Predominantly, implantable BCIs have required craniotomy to place penetrating or surface electrodes on the brain, with some of these systems depending on transcutaneous ports for connectivity, leaving components visible and outside of the body. The Synchron BCI is a fully implanted system delivered using a minimally invasive endovascular technique. Following a first-in-human study completed in Australia (SWITCH trial<sup>1</sup>; n=4 participants), we present the results of the COMMAND early feasibility study — the first FDA-approved trial of a permanently implanted BCI — along with key insights gained from the clinical trial pathway.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* The COMMAND study (ClinicalTrials.gov registration: NCT05035823) was a prospective, multi-center, single-arm, open label, early feasibility study (EFS) conducted under an investigational device exemption (G210178). The COMMAND EFS evaluated the safety and feasibility of the Synchron BCI in six participants with chronic severe bilateral upper limb paralysis. The primary endpoint was device related serious adverse events resulting in death or permanent increased disability. Secondary endpoints were device migration and target vessel patency. Additional outcomes explored BCI decoding of neural signals to generate 'digital motor outputs' for digital device control.

All six participants were successfully implanted with the endovascular BCI. Each participant met the primary study endpoint with no device related adverse events resulting in death or permanent increased disability during the one-year post-implant evaluation period. Additionally, there was preserved target vessel patency and no evidence of device migration at 3- and 12-months post-implant. Four out of six participants demonstrated consistent BCI decoding performance, enabling them to successfully perform various digital device control tasks throughout the one-year post-implant evaluation period. Of the remaining two participants: one experienced rapid progression of ALS leading to the withdrawal of life-sustaining care and the other encountered system signal artifacts, both of which impacted their ability to effectively use the BCI.

*Conclusion:* Endovascular access to brain regions for the placement of BCI sensors is an alternative to procedures requiring open-brain surgery. In addition to the favorable safety profile of endovascular procedures, the prevalence of angiography suites and neurointerventionalists capable of performing these procedures could promote wider and more rapid translation of BCI for people with paralysis. Results from the COMMAND EFS demonstrate early indication of safety and effectiveness of Synchron's endovascular BCI for participants with severe bilateral upper limb paralysis. Results and learnings from this study will contribute to the clinical translation of implantable BCIs via the clinical trial pathway.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: We thank the participants and their caregivers for their generously volunteered time and dedicated contributions to the clinical trials. TJO holds stock options in Synchron Inc.

<sup>1.</sup> Mitchell, P. et al. Assessment of Safety of a Fully Implanted Endovascular Brain-Computer Interface for Severe Paralysis in 4 Participants: The Stentrode With Thought-Controlled Digital Switch (SWITCH) Study. JAMA Neurol **80**, 270 (2023).

## Clinical Evaluation of Communication Brain Computer Interfaces in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: A Landscape Analysis

Melby, SR<sup>1</sup>, Asok Kumar JN<sup>1</sup>, McMullen DP<sup>2</sup>, Kellis, S<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Blackrock Neurotech, Salt Cake City, Utah, USA; <sup>2</sup>Office of Neurological and Physical Medicine Devices,

CDRH, FDA

\*630 Komas Dr, #200, UT-84108. E-mail: skellis@blackrockneuro.com

*Introduction:* Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease leading to severe paralysis and loss of communication, significantly impacting their quality of life. Communication brain-computer interfaces (cBCIs) offer a potential solution for paralyzed individuals, yet there are no standardized clinical outcome assessments (COAs) for evaluating their efficacy. This study conducts a landscape analysis, reviewing current communication efficacy approaches, COAs, and expert feedback to guide the development of cBCI-specific measures for ALS patients.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Through a project funded by the FDA's Rare Neurodegenerative Disease Grants Program (established under the Accelerating Access to Critical Therapies (ACT) for ALS act) we conducted a systematic literature review to identify existing measures that may be used or

adapted to assess the effectiveness of cBCIs. Using a comprehensive and robust search filter, two independent reviewers screened 13,620 published manuscripts across multiple databases. From those papers, we identified 21 COAs relevant to cBCI in ALS patients (Fig. 1). Concurrent with the literature review, we conducted a series of structured interviews with key opinion leaders (KOLs) (n=15). KOLs confirmed the relevance of many of the COAs previously identified and provided valuable insight on the evaluation of communication in ALS and cBCI assessment. No additional COAs were identified during KOL



cBCI assessment. No additional COAs were identified during KOL interviews for inclusion. Finally,

we assembled a panel of experts for an extended discussion on selected COAs. The panel reviewed 21 COAs, discussing their relevance, scale types, and applicability. It was concluded that while some metrics are useful, none were comprehensive enough for standalone clinical use, and modifications would be necessary for cBCI evaluation in ALS.

*Conclusion:* This study highlights the need for the development and application of comprehensive COAs for evaluating cBCIs in ALS patients. Through a comprehensive landscape analysis, we conclude that, although several relevant COAs exist in the scientific literature and current clinical practice that may be useful in the assessment of cBCI in ALS, none are suitable for use without some modification nor are any comprehensive enough for standalone use. Moving forward, patient-centered, adaptable evaluation approaches should be the primary focus guiding future development and validation efforts for metrics to assess cBCI efficacy and patient satisfaction.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank our clinical partners at Johns Hopkins University, Rancho Los Amigos National Rehabilitation Center, and the University of Utah for their ongoing collaboration and contribution to this work. The project described was supported by Grant Number 1UH2FD008137 from FDA's Office of Orphan Products Development. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the FDA nor FDA's Office of Orphan Products Development. The authors do not have any conflicts of interest to report.

### **Decoding of Coordinated Hand and Arm Movements**

M.M. Iskarous<sup>1</sup>\*, L.J. Endsley<sup>1</sup>, L.E. Miller<sup>2</sup>, J.L. Collinger<sup>3</sup>, N.G. Hatsopolulos<sup>1</sup>, J.E. Downey<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Univerity of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA; <sup>2</sup>Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA; <sup>3</sup>University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

\* 1027 E 57th St, Anatomy 100, Chicago, IL 60637. E-mail: miskarous@uchicago.edu

*Introduction:* Natural reaching entails the coordinated movements of joints distributed over the entire upper limb – including the arm and hand. Furthermore, individual neurons in motor cortex carry "multiplexed" signals associated with the coordinated control of both hand and arm movements [1]. Despite this, brain-computer interface (BCI) decoders for restoring upper limb movement have been trained with isolated, sequential movements of the arm, wrist, and hand [2]. Decoders trained on isolated movements do not lead to smooth, quick movements seen in native arm use during tasks requiring coordinated movements [2]. Additionally, previous work in non-human primates has demonstrated tuning to movement speed in addition to velocity [3,4]. Here we show that training on a task requiring coordinated movements and including a normalized speed term in the decoder, that accounts for hand, wrist and arm movements, improves BCI control during a coordinated grasp and transport task.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Data was collected from an individual (C1) with a C4 ASIA D spinal cord injury who was participating in an ongoing clinical trial (NCT01894802) for intracortical BCI control of a robotic prosthetic limb conducted under an FDA Investigational Device Exemption. They completed a 7-degree of freedom (DOF) grasp and transport task in Virtual Reality (VR). The DOFs correspond to hand translation (3D), wrist orientation (3D), and grasp aperture (1D). All DOFs were controlled simultaneously. The task was completed using two motor decoders: a velocity-based (V) decoder as used previously [1] and a new version that added a speed term (V+S). The participant failed the task if any phase of the task timed out (> 10 s) before they achieved the target posture in all DOFs. The decoders were trained and tested in a two-step training protocol used previously [1,2]. The computer assistance is titrated until the user has unassisted control of the VR arm. All results presented are for the unassisted trials.

Over 4 sessions, the participant attempted the simultaneous 7DOF grasp and transport task 180 times with each decoder. They successfully completed the entire task 50 and 80 times for V and V+S decoders, respectively (2-tailed 2-proportion z-test: p = 9.95e-4; Cohen's h: h = 0.349). For those successful trials, the task completion time on average was 21.52 s ( $\sigma = 4.11$ ) and 19.24 s ( $\sigma = 5.05$ ), respectively (2-tailed 2-sample t-test: p = 5.9e-3; Cohen's d: d = 0.482). Figure 1 shows task completion times for each successful trial, grouped by the decoder used.

*Conclusion and Discussion:* These results are promising evidence for the benefit of adding a speed term to the decoder when completing coordinated tasks. The participant completed more tasks successfully (p < 0.001 and "small" effect size) and faster (p < 0.01 and "medium" effect size) with the addition of a speed term. This important addition to decoder design promises to improve the smoothness and naturalness of BCI-controlled prosthetic arms for activities of daily living.



Figure 1: Task completion times for each motor decoder. The dots correspond to the completion times for individual trials. The V+S decoder shows significant improvement in task completion time compared to V (p < 0.01 and "medium" effect size).

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank the study participant for their effort and dedication. This work is supported by the NIH NINDS (1R01NS130302).

- [1] Wodlinger et al. Ten-dimensional anthropomorphic arm control in a human brain-machine interface. JNE, 12(1), 1-17, 2015.
- [2] Flesher et al. A brain-computer interface that evokes tactile sensations improves robotic arm control. Science, 372(6544), 831-836, 2021.
- [3] Moran and Schwartz. Motor cortical representation of speed and direction during reaching. J Neurophys, 82(5), 2676-2692, 1999.
  [4] Golub et al. Motor cortical control of movement speed with implications for brain-machine interface control. J Neurophys, 112(2) 411-429, 2014.

#### Motor-imagery neurofeedback for beta downregulation in Parkinson's disease

#### C. Dussard<sup>1</sup>\*, E. Pierrieau<sup>2</sup>, D. Ziri<sup>1</sup>, C. Dumas<sup>1</sup>, M.-L. Welter<sup>1,3</sup>, L. Hugueville<sup>1</sup>, B. Lau<sup>1</sup>, C. Jeunet-Kelway<sup>2</sup>, C. Karachi<sup>1</sup>, N. George<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Sorbonne Université, Institut du Cerveau – Paris Brain Institute, Inserm, CNRS, AP- HP, Hôpital de la Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, Fr; <sup>2</sup> Université de Bordeaux, CNRS, EPHE, INCIA, UMR5287, Bordeaux, Fr; <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurophysiology, Rouen University Hospital and University of Rouen, Rouen, Fr

\*Pitié Salpêtrière, 47, Boulevard de l'Hôpital, 75013 Paris. E-mail: cdussard@ensc.fr

*Introduction:* Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disease associated with motor and non-motor symptoms, with current treatments limited by eligibility criteria and side effects. Since 2002, neurofeedback (NF) has been explored as a complementary therapy, but evidence remains highly inconclusive, showing variability in NF metrics and motor outcomes [1]. One third of these studies have used EEG, often targeting generic neural activities unrelated to the mechanisms underlying PD [2]. Knowledge of PD pathophysiology has improved since, establishing alpha, beta and gamma bands as potential NF targets [1]. Yet, the pathological beta band has been targeted in only two studies [3, 4]. We aim to confirm the feasibility of a non-invasive beta downregulation NF protocol using motor imagery (MI) and explore its motor effects.

*Material,Methods and Results:* 14 PD patients on dopaminergic treatment performed an EEG-based NF session (64 electrodes). During NF trials, they used right-hand MI to reduce beta power (13-30 Hz) over the left motor cortex. Online feedback (FB) was provided by virtual hand movement amplitude, proportional to beta reduction relative to rest. The experiment included "MI" control trials, where patients performed MI without FB. Each patient completed 3-4 sequences of one MI trial followed by two NF trials. Every trial was immediately followed by a 7s-finger tapping task, measured via EMG and accelerometer.

Beta reduction (ie. NF performance) was greater in the NF condition than MI control for 13 out of 14 patients (Fig 1A). This reduction was associated with bilateral desynchronization, peaking over left central electrodes in the low beta band and on more central electrodes in the high beta band (Fig 1B, bottom row). In contrast, the MI control condition showed less pronounced and more widespread desynchronization, without clear focus on the targeted area (Fig 1B, top row). NF performance progressively increased along trials in the NF condition, while it remained stable in the MI condition. Eleven patients had shorter reaction times following NF than MI trials, and 10 of them showed an increased number of taps.



Figure 1: A. Individual neurofeedback performance during MI and NF trials for each subject (colored dots and lines), with the distribution of NF performance across subjects represented as a violin plot for each trial type. B. Grand average topographical maps of ERD/ERS in the low beta (13-20 Hz) and high beta (21-30 Hz) bands across the 14 participants during MI and NF trials.

*Conclusion:* ON-dopa PD patients can reduce successfully their beta activity in a single NF session. Providing FB induced a greater reduction of beta activity compared to performing MI alone. While the absence of a sham condition limits inferences about the specific impact of NF *per se*, MI was chosen because it is used in PD therapy and has been shown to improve motor function [5]. Our results suggest that enhancing beta desynchronization, here through NF, can be associated with improved motor function in PD, particularly the sequence effect of bradykinesia (i.e rapid decrement in amplitude and speed of repetitive movements). Future analyses will explore links between neurophysiological modulations and motor task performance.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by the French National Research Agency (BETAPARK project, ANR-20-CE37-0012) and a France Parkinson grant to C. Dussard.

- [1] Mehler, DM (2022). Turning markers into targets-scoping neural circuits for motor neurofeedback training in Parkinson's disease. *Brain-Apparatus Communication: A Journal of Bacomics*, 1(1), 1-27.
- [2] Esmail, S, & Linden, DE (2014). Neural networks and neurofeedback in Parkinson's disease. *Neuroregulation*, 1(3-4), 240-240.
- [3] Cook, AJ, Pfeifer, KJ, & Tass, PA (2021). A single case feasibility study of sensorimotor rhythm neurofeedback in Parkinson's disease. *Front. Neurosci.*, 65.
   [4] Romero, JP, Moreno-Verdú, M, Arroyo-Ferrer, A, Serrano, JI, Herreros-Rodríguez, J, García-Caldentey, J, ... & Del Castillo, MD (2024). Clinical and neurophysiological effects of bilateral repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation and EEG-guided neurofeedback in Parkinson's disease: a randomized, four-arm controlled trial. *J Neuroeng Rehabil*, 21(1), 135.
- [5] Bek, J., Gowen, E., Vogt, S., Crawford, T. J., & Poliakoff, E. (2019). Combined action observation and motor imagery influences hand movement amplitude in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, *61*, 126-131.

### **Consumer grade in-ear EEG for at home pediatric BCI**

**A. C. Luoma<sup>1</sup>\*, A. Kirton<sup>1</sup>, E. Kinney-Lang<sup>1</sup>** <sup>1</sup>University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada \*28 Oki Dr. Calgary AB, T3B 6A8. E-mail: adam.luoma@ucalgary.ca

*Introduction:* A primary objective for brain computer interface (BCI) research is to develop technologies that end users can use independently in their regular lives, namely at home. Key barriers for at home use identified by BCI users are headset comfort and ease of set up [1]. When comparing EEG headsets for BCI, end users have indicated preference for simple consumer grade headsets over full head research grade EEGs because of increased comfort and reduced setup time [2] (Figure 1). Furthermore, for individuals with thicker curly hair or diverse hairstyles, full head EEGs often underperform due to interference with the user's hair, thus making traditional scalp-based EEG headsets inequitable [3]. Fortunately, in-ear EEG may provide a solution. In-ear EEGs record a single channel that is comparable to a low-channel scalp EEG system [4]. Due to the low profile of these headsets (similar in size and shape to earbuds), these headsets are easy to set up, feel familiar to caregivers and users, and do not conflict with the user's hair or wheelchair headrest making them far more comfortable for prolonged wear. Thus, these headsets may be a viable solution to reduce barriers to at home BCI use. However, inear EEG systems still require additional validation for use in performing various BCI applications. In this study, we compare a consumer grade in-ear EEG to a research grade full head EEG to determine if in-ear EEGs may be sufficient for BCI use at home.

Materials and Methods: An in-ear, commercially available EEG system with audio playing capabilities was selected for this validation study (Headset 1). Typically developing young adult participants simultaneously wore both the in-ear headset and a gold-standard research-grade EEG headset for recordings (Headset 2). We have intentionally obscured the names of these two headsets to ensure fair validation of the systems, but can provide additional information on request. Participants were presented with commonly used BCI paradigms (auditory and visual P300, ASSR, and SSVEP) while EEG data was recorded. The resulting EEG data were then processed and classified offline with identical processing procedures. Across the two headsets, correlations between EEG data and classifier performance were compared to determine performance of the in-ear EEG compared to the goldstandard. Data collection and analysis are currently ongoing.

*Results and Conclusion:* Initial analysis (n=3) of the EEG signal from the in-ear EEG indicates that in-ear EEG appears to be able to detect the large positive inflections indicative of the P300 response (Figure 2). Further investigations into real time classification performance are being conducted to determine if consumer in-ear EEGs may be a viable long-term solution for comfortable, equitable, and easy to use EEG for at home BCI applications for children.



Figure 1: For some children, full head EEG headsets conflict with wheelchair headrests requiring additional supports and/or braces.



Figure 2: An averaged auditory P300 response from one participant recorded from Headset 1

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank Dani Jourdain for assistance with initial piloting of these experiments and the industry partners for providing headsets for evaluation.

- [1] Blain-Moraes et al. Barriers to and mediators of brain-computer interface user acceptance: Focus group findings. Ergonomics. 2012:55(5)
- [2] Jochumsen et al. Evaluation of EEG headset mounting for brain-computer interface-based stroke rehabilitation by patients, therapists, and relatives. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*. 2020:14(13)
- [3] Choy et al. Systemic racism in EEG research: Considerations and potential solutions Affective Science. 2022:3
- [4] Mandekar et al. Advancing towards ubiquitous EEG, correlation of in-ear EEG with forehead EEG. Sensors. 2022:22(4)

## **Closed Loop Decoding of Ipsilateral and Contralateral Proximal Movements in an Individual with Tetraplegia**

K. Rao<sup>1\*</sup>, H. Jenkins<sup>2</sup>, R. Li<sup>2</sup>, M. C. Ottenhoff<sup>2</sup>, R. Cheng<sup>1</sup>, A. Acosta<sup>3</sup>, B. E. Lacayo<sup>3</sup>, L. Panagos<sup>3</sup>, A. Dempsey<sup>3</sup>, S. Allcroft<sup>2.5</sup>, C. E. Vargas-Irwin<sup>1,4,5</sup>, L. R. Hochberg<sup>5,2,3,6,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dept. Of Neurosci., Brown Univ., Providence, RI; <sup>2</sup>Sch. Of Engin., Brown Univ., Providence RI; <sup>3</sup>Ctr. For Neurotechnology and Neurorecovery, Dept. of Neurol., Massachusetts Gen. Hosp., Boston, MA Brown Univ., Providence RI; <sup>4</sup>Carney Inst. for Brain Sci., Brown Univ., Providence, RI; <sup>5</sup>VA Ctr. for Neurorestoration and Neurotechnology., VA Providence Healthcare, Providence, RI; <sup>6</sup>Dept. of Neurol., Harvard Med. Sch., Boston, MA 131 Waterman Street Box D Providence, RI 02912 US E-mail: kushaal\_rao@brown.edu

*Introduction:* It is widely acknowledged that the output of cortical areas involved in movement generation is mainly focused on the contralateral side of the body. Accordingly, with a few exceptions<sup>1</sup>, most BCI research has focused on contralateral control of a single limb. However, numerous studies have shown that each hemisphere of the brain can drive movements of the ipsilateral limb independently<sup>2</sup>. Here, we study ipsilateral and contralateral control about a single proximal joint of a virtual anthropomorphic limb from unilaterally placed microelectrode arrays in an individual with tetraplegia.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We developed a virtual environment using the Unity software platform to enable control of ipsilateral and contralateral shoulder abduction of an anthropomorphic virtual avatar. Neural activity was recorded using two 96-channel microelectrode arrays placed in the left precentral gyrus of participant T11 in the BrainGate2 clinical trial (NCT00912041). T11 is a 40-year-old male with tetraplegia from a cervical spinal cord injury (C4 AIS-B). T11 completed a posture match task using shoulder abduction imagery to move the virtual arm to a discrete set of target angles presented on the screen. A 1D Kalman filter trained using rapid calibration enabled T11 to control both the ipsilateral and contralateral effector within seconds (without any previous open loop training data). T11 achieved a target accuracy of 86% within the ten second time limit for both the ipsilateral side and contralateral side. For analysis, we examined two types of features per electrode: multi-unit threshold-crossing spike rates and power in the spike band (250-5000 Hz). Using a Kruskal-Wallis test, 90 of the 384 features displayed significantly different values between upwards and downwards movements for both the ipsilateral and contralateral effector. Of those 90 features, 16 also showed significantly different activity between ipsilateral movement, thus discriminating between both effectors and direction of movements.

*Conclusion:* This work demonstrates an early characterization of neural representation of ipsilateral and contralateral upper limb proximal joint kinematics.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* CAUTION: Investigational Device. Limited by Federal Law to Investigational Use. This work was supported by American Heart Association 19CSLOI34780000; NIH-NIDCD U01DC017844, NIH-NINDS U01NS123101; Department of Veterans Affairs Rehabilitation Research and Development Service A2295R, A4820R, and N2864C. L. Hochberg: The MGH Translational Research Center has a clinical research support agreement (CRSA) with Axoft, Neuralink, Neurobionics, Paradromics, Precision Neuro, Synchron, and Reach Neuro, for which LRH provides consultative input. LRH is a non-compensated member of the Board of Directors of a nonprofit assistive communication device technology foundation (Speak Your Mind Foundation). Mass General Brigham (MGB) is convening the Implantable Brain-Computer Interface Collaborative Community (iBCI-CC); charitable gift agreements to MGB, including those received to date from Paradromics, Synchron, Precision Neuro, Neuralink, and Blackrock Neurotech, support the iBCI-CC, for which LRH provides effort. All other authors have no competing interests.

- Deo, D.R., Willett, F.R., Avansino, D.T. et al. Brain control of bimanual movement enabled by recurrent neural networks. Sci Rep 14, 1598 (2024). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-51617-3
- [2] Ganguly, K. et al., 2009. Cortical Representation of Ipsilateral Arm Movements in Monkey and Man. Journal of Neuroscience, 29(41).

## Designs for no-control functionality using dynamic stopping algorithms as gatekeepers in P300 BCIs

J.E. Huggins<sup>1</sup>\*, G. Ma<sup>2</sup>

University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA: <sup>1</sup>Dept of Physical Medicine & Rehab, <sup>2</sup>Dept of Biostatistics \*325 E Eisenhower Parkway, Ann Arbor, Michigan, United States. E-mail: janeh@umich.edu

*Introduction:* The ability to communicate only when intended is vital, but brain-computer interface (BCI) no-control performance is understudied. Dynamic stopping methods designed to improve the speed of event-related potential (ERP) BCI designs can also function as gatekeeper algorithms to enable no-control performance [1]. Conceptually, a dynamic stopping algorithm stops presenting stimuli when it finds the available information sufficient for an accurate decision. However, it may still produce an output, even if of questionable accuracy, when the pre-determined maximum sequences of stimuli are complete. Asynchronous BCIs may use separate control-state algorithms to decide if the user is attempting BCI use. Such control-state algorithms act as gatekeepers to determine whether the BCI types. However, there are several designs that enable the dynamic stopping algorithm to also function as a gatekeeper and produce asynchronous BCI function for P300 BCI designs.

*Methods and Results:* A P300 BCI speller is designed around classifying the brain response to each presented stimulus as indicating a target or non-target. A **sequence** contains one presentation of each stimulus. Stimuli are usually groups of keys (originally rows and columns). In the original design [2], the key at the intersection of the row and column with the highest average classification scores was selected after a fixed number of sequences. We define additional concepts: The **Decision Window** is the group of sequences used to make a selection, which can have a *fixed* duration (original P300 BCI) or a *variable* duration (dynamic stopping) with minimum and maximum numbers of sequences. If the duration is variable, a **Gatekeeper** algorithm is needed with **Gatekeeper Criteria** that must be met for a selection to be made. The **Decision Type** governs what happens at the end of the decision window. A *forced* decision type selects the key with the highest score, regardless of whether it met the gatekeeper criteria. A *forced-abstention* decision type produces an *explicit abstention* output if no key passes the gatekeeper criteria. After a forced or forced-abstention decision, a new decision window and appends a new sequence without pausing the stimulus presentations (an *implicit abstention*).

Decision window width, decision type, and gatekeeper criteria affect performance (Fig. 1). Forced decisions produce more errors but are less sensitive to optimal gatekeeper criteria than forced-abstention decisions, which can frustrate users by repeated failures to select a key. Sliding windows can appear to get stuck and make no selections if gatekeeper criteria are too stringent. However, sliding windows can also be both responsive during intended typing and robust during no-control. During intended typing, the decision window restarts after each selection, supporting rapid typing. But once the decision window is filled with no-control sequences, no-control performance is relatively robust.

*Conclusion:* Dynamic stopping algorithms used as gatekeepers can provide both rapid selections and robust no-control performance. On-line testing will quantify benefits and optimize gatekeeper criteria.

Ack & Disclosures: No conflicts. Funded by grant SB1DC015142, NIDCD, National Institutes of Health to PRC-Saltillo.

- Ma G, Kang J, Thompson DE and Huggins JE, "BCI-Utility Metric for Asynchronous P300 BCI Systems," IEEE TNSRE, vol. 31, pp. 3968-3977, 2023
- [2] Farwell and Donchin, "Talking off the top of your head...", *Electroenceph. Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 70(6) (1988): 510-523.



Figure 1: Six examples of the effects of different combinations of gatekeeper algorithm, decision type, and decision window duration. Explicit (Abst) and implicit abstentions (Abst or Abst) enable no-control performance instead of errors during distractions (sequences 6-12).

## **Phoneme Sequence Encoding in Ventral Motor Cortex**

C. Fan<sup>5\*</sup>, B. Meschede-Krasa<sup>3,6</sup>, E.M. Kunz<sup>2,3</sup>, F. Kamdar<sup>1</sup>, N.S. Card<sup>12</sup>, M. Wairagkar<sup>12</sup>, C. lacobacci<sup>12</sup>, L. Hochberg<sup>7,8,9,10,11</sup>, D.M. Brandman<sup>12</sup>, S.D. Stavisky<sup>12</sup>, S. Druckmann<sup>6</sup>, C. Manning<sup>5</sup>, J.M. Henderson<sup>1,3,4</sup>, F.R. Willett<sup>1,3</sup>

Stanford Univ., CA: <sup>1</sup>Neurosurg., <sup>2</sup>Elec. Eng., <sup>3</sup>Wu Tsai Neuro Inst., <sup>4</sup>Bio-X, <sup>5</sup>Comp. Sci., <sup>6</sup>Neurobio. | Brown Univ., RI: <sup>7</sup>Eng., <sup>8</sup>Carney Inst. for Brain Sci. | VA Med. Ctr., Providence, RI: <sup>9</sup>VA RR&D Neurorestoration & Neurotech. Ctr. | Mass Gen. Hosp, MA: <sup>10</sup>Neurotech. & Neurorecovery Ctr. | Harvard Med. Sch., MA: <sup>11</sup>Neurol. | UC Davis, CA: <sup>12</sup>Neurol. Surg. E-mail: stfan@stanford.edu

Introduction: Understanding the neural mechanisms of speech production is fundamental for advancing brain-computer interface (BCI) technologies and neuroscience. Intracortical speech BCIs not only achieve high-accuracy decoding<sup>1,2</sup> but also provide a unique window into how the ventral precentral gyrus (vPCG) encodes continuous speech. Here, we demonstrate that vPCG encodes the entire sequence of phonemes within a word during overt speech production, revealing limitations in traditional models of phoneme sequence representation, such as the competitive queue (CQ)<sup>3</sup> and slot-based models<sup>4</sup>.

Material, Methods and Results: Neural spiking activities were recorded from two BrainGate2 clinical trial participants, T12 and T15, while they attempted to speak English sentences. Both participants have amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), leaving us no reliable phoneme timing information. Additionally, each sentence spoken is unique, making it impossible to eliminate trial-to-trial variability in neural spiking activity by averaging multiple repetitions of the same condition. To address these challenges, we developed a recurrent neural network (RNN) encoding model capable of predicting neural firing rates and phoneme timings for any phoneme sequence. The model leveraged data from multiple sessions (14.1 hours for T12, 12.8 hours for T15) to model how vPCG represents sequences of phonemes, allowing us to investigate the neural mechanisms underlying speech production by interrogating the model.

The RNN model accurately predicted neural activity for novel English sentences (Pearson r: 0.80 for T12, 0.85 for T15). Analyses of model-generated neural activity revealed that vPCG simultaneously encodes up to eight phonemes within a word, with stronger encoding of future phonemes than the past. Using linear regression, we identified that subspaces encoding nearby phonemes were highly correlated, distinct from the orthogonal encoding subspaces observed for encoding actions in a motor sequence in the macaque prefrontal cortex<sup>5</sup>. The encoding magnitude for each phoneme followed a gradient-like pattern similar to the CQ model but showed a gradual decay after articulation. Phoneme representations transitioned dynamically through subspaces, moving from future encoding to output and finally to past subspaces, similar to a slot-based model.

Conclusion: Our findings show that vPCG simultaneously encodes multiple phonemes in correlated subspaces and dynamically transitions these representations through time. The serial order is encoded in both the magnitude and the order-specific subspaces. We believe these findings will advance our understanding of the neural coding of phoneme sequences in the ventral motor cortex.

Disclosures: L.R. Hochberg: Consultant to Neuralink, Synchron, Axoft, Precision Neuro, Reach Neuro. D.M. Brandman: Surgical consultant to Paradromics. S.D. Stavisky: Inventors on IP licensed by Stanford University to Blackrock Neurotech and Neuralink; Advisor to Sonera. J.M. Henderson: Inventors on IP licensed by Stanford University to Blackrock Neurotech and Neuralink; Consultant for Neuralink, Enspire DBS, and Paradromics; equity (stock options) in MapLight Therapeutics; cofounder and shareholder of Re-EmergeDBS. F.R. Willett: Inventors on IP licensed by Stanford University to Blackrock Neurotech and Neuralink.

- Card Nicholas S. et al. An Accurate and Rapidly Calibrating Speech Neuroprosthesis. N. Engl. J. Med. 391, 609-618 (2024). 1.
- 2 Willett, F. R. et al. A high-performance speech neuroprosthesis. Nature 620, 1031-1036 (2023).

<sup>3.</sup> Bohland, J. W., Bullock, D. & Guenther, F. H. Neural representations and mechanisms for the performance of simple speech sequences. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 22, 1504-1529 (2010).

<sup>4.</sup> Vousden, J. I., Brown, G. D. & Harley, T. A. Serial control of phonology in speech production: a hierarchical model. Cogn. Psychol. 41, 101-175 (2000).

Xie, Y. et al. Geometry of sequence working memory in macaque prefrontal cortex. Science 375, 632-639 (2022).

## A pilot study towards synthesizing speech during intraoperative recordings using the Layer 7 cortical interface

Miguel Angrick<sup>1\*</sup>, Shiyu Luo<sup>1</sup>, Daniel N. Candrea<sup>1</sup>, Rohit Ganji<sup>1</sup>, Katrina Barth<sup>2</sup>, Jackie Dister<sup>2</sup>, Josh Miller<sup>2</sup>, Elton Ho<sup>2</sup>, Kurt Lehner<sup>1</sup>, Youssef Comair<sup>1</sup>, Benjamin Rapoport<sup>2</sup>, Nathan E. Crone<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA; <sup>2</sup>Precision Neuroscience, New York City, USA

\*600 N. Wolfe Street, Baltimore, MD, USA. E-Mail: mangric1@jhu.edu

*Introduction*: Implantable Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) have shown promising results in establishing alternative communication means for people living with a neurodegenerative disease. Previous studies on electrocorticographic (ECoG) signals have shown that increasing the number of contacts and their density can improve speech decoding [1] and synthesis [2] applications. Here, we present a pilot study to test the feasibility of synthesizing speech using the Layer 7 cortical interface (Precision Neuroscience) during an awake craniotomy for glioma resection in the left frontal lobe. Equipped with a total of 1024 contacts placed over  $\sim 1.5$  cm<sup>2</sup> of face motor cortex, we conducted an experiment in which the patient spoke single words aloud from a list of four after hearing them audibly through a loudspeaker in the operating room. Both neural and acoustic data were simultaneously recorded.

*Material and Methods*: We developed a BCI system consisting of three components to (1) receive neural and acoustic data in real time and compute time-aligned high-gamma and acoustic features, (2) continuously train a transformer model on those incoming and accumulated features over time, and (3) decode the incoming signals using a continuously updating model. The transformer model maps high-gamma activity into linear predictive coding (LPC) coefficients and utilizes LPCNet to generate the acoustic waveform [3] which is directly written into the soundcard buffer for low-latency playback.



Figure 1. Patient and synthesized speech from the first two minutes in the operating room.

*Results*: Over time and with accumulating training data, the neural network started to output synthesized speech, at first very quietly, then more audibly. Figure 1 shows a snippet of the actual and reconstructed speech from the first experiment run, indicating that once enough trials have been seen during training, the model is capable of producing speech output at the time when the patient is speaking. Given the short period of time, both for training and data collection, all synthesized samples were not intelligible.

*Significance*: These preliminary results demonstrate the feasibility of intraoperative speech synthesis, which could be used to verify an effective anatomical placement of the Layer 7 cortical interface in future applications as a fully implantable speech BCI.

Disclosures: KB, JD, JM, EH, and BR have a financial interest in Precision Neuroscience.

#### References:

[1] Duraivel, S., Rahimpour, S., Chiang, C., Trumpis, M., Wang, C., Barth, K., Harward, S., et al., (2023). High-resolution neural recordings improve the accuracy of speech decoding. *Nature communications* 

<sup>[2]</sup> Metzger, S., Littlejohn, K., Silva, A., Moses, D., Seaton, M., Wang, R., Dougherty, M., Liu, J., Wu, P., et al. (2023). A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control. *Nature* 

<sup>[3]</sup> Wairagkar, M., Card, N., et al., (2024). An instantaneous voice synthesis neuroprosthesis. bioRxiv

## Intraoperative detection and classification of speech neural signals using the Layer 7 Cortical Interface

## Shiyu Luo<sup>1</sup>, Miguel Angrick<sup>1</sup>, Kurt Lehner<sup>1</sup>, Katrina Barth<sup>2</sup>, Jackie Dister<sup>2</sup>, Josh Miller<sup>2</sup>, Daniel N. Candrea<sup>1</sup>, Rohit Ganji<sup>1</sup>, Elton Ho<sup>2</sup>, Benjamin Rapoport<sup>2</sup>, Youssef Comair<sup>1</sup>, Nathan E. Crone<sup>1, \*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD; <sup>2</sup>Precision Neuroscience, New York City, NY

\*600 N. Wolfe Street, Baltimore, MD. E-mail: ncone@jhmi.edu

*Introduction*: Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) based on electrocorticography (ECoG) have seen broadening usage in clinical trials to augment and restore communication and control abilities for severely paralyzed individuals [1, 2]. Previous studies have shown that increased density of the electrodes can contribute to higher decoding accuracy from intraoperative data [3]. For these high-density grids, locating the ideal implantation site can be crucial for obtaining relevant information for decoding. It is therefore important to develop methods that can help assess implantation success and guide grid repositioning if necessary. This requires training and testing neural decoding models in real time during implantation surgery. However, it is not yet known whether detecting and classifying speech is possible in real time during awake surgery using high-density  $\mu$ ECoG grids.



Figure 1. Example of real-time speech detection results. Black trace is the average high gamma (HG) energy across all channels. Blue vertical lines represent stimulus onset, Green vertical lines represent detection.

*Material, Methods, and Results*: The 1024-channel Layer 7 Cortical Interface (Precision Neuroscience, NY, [4]) was temporarily placed on  $\sim$ 1.5 cm<sup>2</sup> of the face motor area of a participant with no speech impairments during an awake craniotomy for tumor resection. The participant performed a word repetition task where they spoke one of four words out loud. An online speech detection model was designed to identify energy increases in the high-gamma band (70-170 Hz). A real-time classification pipeline was developed to segment the trials, train a neural network model with the growing dataset online, and make classification decisions with the best available model at that time.



*Conclusion*: Real-time speech detection and classification is feasible using the Layer 7 cortical interface in a data-limited setting such as awake neurosurgical procedures.

Figure 2. Average high gamma energy across trials for each stimulus.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures*: We would like to thank the study participants who volunteered their time for this study. KB, JD, JM, EH, and BR have a financial interest in Precision Neuroscience.

- [1] S. L. Metzger *et al.*, "A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control," *Nature*, vol. 620, no. 7976, Art. no. 7976, Aug. 2023, doi: 10.1038/s41586-023-06443-4.
- [2] M. J. Vansteensel *et al.*, "Longevity of a Brain–Computer Interface for Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis," *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 391, no. 7, pp. 619–626, Aug. 2024, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2314598.
- [3] S. Duraivel *et al.*, "High-resolution neural recordings improve the accuracy of speech decoding," *Nat Commun*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 6938, Nov. 2023, doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-42555-1.
- [4] M. Hettick *et al.*, "The Layer 7 Cortical Interface: A Scalable and Minimally Invasive Brain–Computer Interface Platform," Jan. 30, 2024, *bioRxiv.* doi: 10.1101/2022.01.02.474656.

## **Towards Calibration-Free ECoG-Based Brain-Computer Interfaces: A Dual-Alignment Incremental Approach**

M. Justino<sup>1\*</sup>, F. Martel<sup>1</sup>, H. Lorach<sup>2,3</sup>, G. Charvet<sup>1</sup>, T. Aksenova<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CEA, Leti, Clinatec, F-38000 Grenoble, France
 <sup>2</sup>University of Lausanne (UNIL), Lausanne, Switzerland
 <sup>3</sup>NeuroRestore, Defitech Center for Interventional Neurotherapies, Lausanne, Switzerland
 \*17 Rue des Martyrs, 38054, Grenoble Cedex 9, France. E-mail: maria.verissimoduartejustino@cea.fr

*Introduction:* Autonomous usage of ECoG-based brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) is still hindered by the burden of frequent calibrations, which require extensive data collection, leading to potential user fatigue and signal degradation. Therefore, a rising interest in addressing inter-session variability and long-term signal drift emerges. Domain Adaptation (DA) strategies, adapted to online unsupervised scenarios, may offer a pathway to stabilize models' performances. Recent approaches typically rely on batch normalization either alone or paired with Euclidean or Riemannian alignments [1], requiring large storage of feature-space transformations. This work introduces a novel approach that incrementally aligns incoming data - target - to resemble what was previously seen by the model - source.

*Material, Methods and Results:* The developed method integrates a dual alignment strategy: (1) geometric, where the target's data structure is mapped to the source's one; and (2) distributional, to harmonize the target's statistical properties. Additionally, it leverages a compact latent space, reducing computational overhead and storage, opposing to literature's most recent studies attempting real-time data alignment. Pseudo-online results, obtained with three states classification data from the "STIMO-BSI" (NCT04632290) clinical trial [2], acquired using WIMAGINE technology [3], demonstrate significant improvements (F1-Score) in model performance across sessions over five months (Fig. 1).



Figure 1: Models' baseline performance compared with above-mentioned strategies and our approach, outperforming the others. The initial point represents the training day, while subsequent points correspond to the other existing sessions.

*Conclusion:* This real-time incremental strategy surpasses recent methods in unsupervised online DA, advancing calibration-free ECoG-based BCIs and enabling more reliable use in home settings. Future work includes testing on additional datasets (e.g., more classes, upper limbs) and in online experiments.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* We thank the teams at CEA-Leti-DTIS, CHUGA, EPFL, and CHUV for their contribution. This research was co-funded by the EU Horizon Europe MSCA-DN (Grant No.101073374 - ReWire) and supported by CEA, Carnot Institute CEA-Leti, ANR, SNF, Leenaards Fundation, and Fonds Clinatec. Content reflects only authors' views. No conflicts of interest reported.

- Wimpff, Martin, Mario Döbler, and Bin Yang. "Calibration-free online test-time adaptation for electroencephalography motor imagery decoding." 2024 12th International Winter Conference on Brain-Computer Interface (BCI). IEEE, 2024.
- [2] Lorach, Henri, et al. "Walking naturally after spinal cord injury using a brain-spine interface." Nature 618.7963 (2023): 126-133.
- [3] Mestais, Corinne S., et al. "WIMAGINE: wireless 64-channel ECoG recording implant for long term clinical applications." IEEE transactions on neural systems and rehabilitation engineering 23.1 (2014): 10-21.

## **Recent Improvements of the Wireless Link** of the CorTec Brain Interchange Implanted BCI

M. Schuettler\*, M. Theodor, C. Bentler, M. Moeller, M. Theodor,

C. Stolle, M. Burdumy, M. Maertz, F. Shaheen, A. Gkogkidis, F. Kohler

CorTec GmbH, Freiburg, Germany

\*Neuer Messplatz 3, D-79108 Freiburg, Germany. E-mail: martin.schuettler@cortec-neuro.com

*Introduction:* The CorTec Brain Interchange is a brain-computer interface system consisting of a headimplanted electronic unit (IEU) and body-external components. The IEU is implanted behind the ear and wirelessly powered by a magnetically suspended headpiece placed on the skin, similar to that used in cochlear implant systems. The IEU communicate via a radio-frequency link with the body-external components. The location of the antenna outside the body is known to be critical. Here, we investigate potential improvements of the robustness of the wireless data link by moving the antenna from the traditional location at the upper arm to the headpiece.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Two szenarios (see Figure 1) are compared with respect to their wireless data link robustness: RF communication between the implant and the antenna located (A) in the communication unit, 30cm away from the implant and (B) in the headpiece, opposite to the implant. The data link performance is quantified as data packets lost in percent. Moving the antenna to the headpiece reduced packet loss as shown in Table 1, in the scenarios investigated here.



Figure 2: Components of the Brain Interchange System. The two locations for the data-transmission antenna outside the body are: Inside the communication unit (3) and inside the headpiece (2).

*Conclusion:* Change of antenna position from communication unit to headpiece improved the wireless link quality. Note: as shown in [1], a reduced wireless communication packaet loss results in a lower noise level of the signals received by the computer.

(Communication Unit 1 and 2 refer to the same szenario but two different systems)				
Metric	Communication	Antenna in	Antenna in	Antenna in
	Direction	Com-Unit 1	Com-Unit 2	Headpiece
Packets	External to Implant	0.07%	0.02%	0.0%
Lost	Implant to External	8.08%	4.43%	0.9%

 Table 1: Packets lost in two scenarios

 (Communication Unit 1 and 2 refer to the same szenario but two different systems)

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was funded by the European Innovation Council (EIC) in the call HORIZON-EIC-2022-ACCELERATOR-01, Proj. No 190118958, "BIC ONE".

#### References:

 Ayyoubi AH, Fazli Besheli B, Quach MM, Gavvala JR, Goldman AM, Swamy CP, Bartoli E, Curry DJ, Sheth SA, Francis DJ, Ince NF. Benchmarking signal quality and spatiotemporal distribution of interictal spikes in prolonged human iEEG recordings using CorTec wireless brain interchange. *Scientific Reports.* 14(1): 2652, 2024

## **Improving validation of BCI-based CV assessment**

**Rueda-Parra, S.**<sup>1,2\*</sup>, **Norton, P. L.**<sup>1</sup>, **Gemoets, D. E.**<sup>1,2</sup>, **Norton, J. J. S.**<sup>1,2,3</sup> <sup>1</sup>NCAN, Albany, NY; <sup>2</sup>Stratton VA Medical Center, Albany, NY; <sup>3</sup>ECE, University at Albany, Albany, NY \* E-mail: sebastian@neurotechcenter.org

*Objective:* Our laboratory develops non-invasive brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) for assessing color vision (CV) and identifying CV deficiencies. These systems use steady-state visual evoked potentials (SSVEPs) to identify *metamers*—light sources with different spectral distributions that are the same color [1]—and are based on the theory that light sources that are metamers do not elicit SSVEPs. To validate CV assessments, experiments use the same visual stimulator to compare BCI- and behaviorally-identified metamers.

We compared the accuracy of two methods for behaviorally-identifying metamers. The first [2], *fixed luminance*, reduced the search space to a single dimension by limiting settings to those with equal luminance. The second, *variable luminance*, introduced a novel approach allowing participants independently adjust the stimulator settings in two dimensions. We hypothesized the variable luminance method would enable the identification of light sources that were closer to being metamers, and thus, elicit smaller SSVEPs.



Figure 1: Experimental results. a) Behavioral results. b) Comparison of min-max normalized SSVEPs for the two methods.

*Methods:* 14 participants (6F) without CV deficiencies (FM-100 test [3] (mean  $\pm$  SD: 40.6  $\pm$  24.3)) participated (approved by the Stratton VA IRB) in behavioral experiments, 3 returned for BCI-based experiments (1F). The stimulator alternated between a monochromatic (590 nm) *amber* light source and a dichromatic (525 and 625 nm) *green* and *red* light source at 10 Hz. The luminance of the monochromatic light source was always fixed at 2400 D/A units.

*Fixed luminance* method -20 stimulator settings (5 s/setting, 2 s ISI) were presented to participants in two orders (10 runs each). Order 1 – the dichromatic source initially emitted only green light (with equal luminance to the monochromatic light source), then gradually reduced green and increased red luminance, while maintaining constant overall luminance. Order 2 – reversed the sequence. Participants pressed a button to indicate the metamer; the final metamer was the median of the runs.

*Variable luminance* method – Participants controlled green and red luminances using 2 knobs and pressed a button when they identified the metamer; the final metamer was the median of 10 runs.

*BCI-based experiments* – 32 channels of EEG were recorded (g.tec; Brain Vision actiCAP). Four stimulator settings were presented (20 runs/setting): (1) Fixed luminance metamer, (2) Variable luminance metamer, (3) dichromatic source turned off (i.e., max SSVEP), and (4) constant amber (i.e., min SSVEP). SSVEPs were quantified using canonical correlation analysis (CCA) and min-max normalized.

*Results:* Metamers identified using the fixed luminance method (red: 1476, green: 526 A/D) elicited larger SSVEPs (p < 0.001) than the variable luminance method (red: 2001, green: 887 A/D) (Fig. 1).

*Conclusion:* The fixed luminance method for behaviorally-identifying metamers elicited smaller SSVEPs, suggesting these settings of the visual stimulator were more similar in color. An improved method for behaviorally-identifying metamers will enhance the development of BCI-based CV assessment systems.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* This work was supported by the NIBIB of the NIH (Grants R21EB036221 (JJSN) and P41EB018783 (JRW)) and resources from the Stratton VAMC.

- [2] M DiRaimo. Enhancing BCI-based CV assessment a new protocol for using SSVEPs to identify metamers. Master's thesis, Univ at Albany, 2023.
- [3] Dean Farnsworth. The Farnsworth-Munsell 100-hue and dichotomous tests for color vision. JOSA, 33(10):568–578, 1943.

<sup>[1]</sup> JJS Norton et al. BCI-based assessment of CV. JNE, 18(6):066024, 2021.

## **Enhancing Online Learning through Neuroadaptive Interfaces:** The Role of Motivation and Task Load Adaptation

K. Sollazzo<sup>1\*</sup>, A. J. Karran<sup>1</sup>, T. Rolon-Merette<sup>1</sup>, I. M. Stefanescu<sup>1</sup>, C. Coursaris<sup>1</sup>, P-M. Léger<sup>1</sup>, S.

Sénécal<sup>1</sup>

Tech3Lab, HEC Montréal, Information Technology Department, Montreal, OC, Canada 5540 Louis-Colin Ave., Montréal, Canada. E-mail: katrina.sollazzo@hec.ca

Introduction: Online learning has emerged as a transformative medium, with 21.8% of Canadians engaging in formal online training in 2022 [1]. However, ensuring optimal learning outcomes in such settings remains challenging. An important aspect to effective learning is the Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD), which delineates the range of tasks learners can achieve with scaffolding [2]. In brain-computer interfaces (BCIs), neuroadaptive systems (NS) provide a promising method to adapt cognitive states, such as cognitive load and task load (TL), in real time to maintain learners within their ZPD [3,4]. Unlike cognitive load, which is influenced by many factors, TL focuses on the mental effort explicitly required to complete a computerbased task. This study examines motivation in an online learning task, comparing the effects of extrinsic motivation (EM) and neuroadaptive countermeasures on a) Block 2 Group C

learning outcomes.

Material, Methods and Results: Fifty-one participants (M = 26.6 years) were assigned to one of three groups: control (C), reward-only (R), and neuroadaptive (N). A real-time NS was developed, which used EEG to calculate TL as the ratio of frontal alpha and parietal theta band powers from eight electrodes. Task load was classified as high or low based on 1st and 3rd quartile average theta- b) Block 4 Group C alpha ratios from the group C data, triggering changes in stimulus presentation speed. The task involved learning 32 constellations in four training blocks, with countermeasures for Group N and performance-based incentives for Group R. All groups demonstrated improved performance over time. Group R outperformed Group C and Group N in later blocks, reflecting the motivational benefits of rewards. Despite Group N achieving comparable results to Group C, EEG-based topographic maps revealed group-specific neural patterns, with Group N exhibiting more effective



Figure 1: EEG-based topographic maps displaying alpha and theta activity by group in the encoding phase of Block 2 (a) and Block 4 (b).

associative decoding than Group C providing evidence for TL's role in optimizing performance.

Conclusion: This study advances understanding of TL's role in NS, highlighting its potential to enhance learning by using real-time interventions. By objectively measuring TL using EEG, this study provides a robust framework for future research and practical applications in education and beyond. Future research should focus on refinement and explore broader applications of a NS.

Acknowledgements: This work was supported by SSHRC through the Canada Graduate Scholarships -Master's program, ALLRP 565704 – 2, and RGPIN-2020-06048.

- [1] Statistics Canada, "Selected online activities by gender, age group and highest certificate, diploma or degree completed." Government of Canada, 2023. doi: 10.25318/2210013701-ENG.
- L. S. Vygotsky and M. Cole, Mind in society: Development of higher psychological processes. Harvard university press, 1978.
- T. O. Zander and C. Kothe, "Towards passive brain-computer interfaces: applying brain-computer interface technology to human-machine [3] systems in general," J. Neural Eng., vol. 8, no. 2, p. 025005, Apr. 2011, doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/8/2/025005.
- [4] N. Beauchemin et al., "Enhancing learning experiences: EEG-based passive BCI system adapts learning speed to cognitive load in realtime, with motivation as catalyst," Front. Hum. Neurosci., vol. 18, p. 1416683, Oct. 2024, doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2024.1416683.

## Intracortical voice synthesis neuroprosthesis to restore expressive speech to an individual with ALS

M. Wairagkar<sup>1</sup>\*, N. S. Card<sup>1</sup>, T. Singer-Clark<sup>1</sup>, X. Huo<sup>1</sup>, C. Iacobacci<sup>1</sup>, L. M. Miller<sup>1</sup>, L. R. Hochberg<sup>2</sup>, D. M. Brandman<sup>1+</sup>, S. D. Stavisky<sup>1+</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of California, Davis, CA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Massachusetts General Hospital/ Brown University/ Harvard Medical School/ Providence VAMC, Boston, MA, USA \*UC Davis, Davis, CA, USA. E-mail: m.wairagkar@ucdavis.edu, + co-senior authors

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) have enabled people with speech loss due to neurological disease to communicate by decoding their neural activity into text<sup>1-3</sup>. However, text-based communication falls short of restoring crucial aspects of human speech such as prosody, intonation and voice feedback. In this study, we present a "brain-to-voice" neuroprosthesis that instantaneously synthesizes voice with continuous closed-loop audio feedback by decoding intracortical neural signals of a man with ALS. We also decode paralinguistic features of speech from neural activity, enabling the participant to modulate intonation and pitch of his BCI-synthesized voice.

*Materials and Methods:* A 45-year-old man 'T15' with ALS and severe dysarthria (unable to speak intelligibly) participated in the BrainGate2 clinical trial. Four microelectrode (Utah) arrays with a total of 256 electrodes placed in the precentral gyrus recorded intracortical signals as T15 attempted to speak. The absence of ground truth speech from T15 posed a major challenge for building an instantaneous voice neuroprosthesis. We overcame this hurdle by generating target speech time-aligned with neural activity as a proxy to T15's intended speech<sup>4</sup>. We developed a real-time causal neural decoding pipeline with a Transformer-based brain-to-voice model to predict spectral and pitch speech features from neural activity. A vocoder synthesized voice every 10 ms and played it aloud (**Fig.1a**). Separate paralinguistic decoders ran simultaneously to detect changes in intonation and pitch. We then modulated the synthesized voice in closed-loop, allowing T15 to ask a question, emphasize words, and "sing" melodies.



Fig. 1: Closed-loop expressive voice synthesis BCI. (a) Brain-to-voice decoder pipeline for instantaneous voice synthesis. (b) An example of causally synthesized speech from neural activity, which matches the target speech with high fidelity. (c) Intelligibility of synthesized speech-median phoneme and word error rates obtained via open transcription by human listeners. (d) Example trials of closed-loop modulation of paralinguistic speech features- question intonation modulation (top) and three-pitch melody (bottom). White trace shows synthesized pitch.

*Results:* The brain-to-voice BCI causally synthesized voice nearly-instantaneously with high accuracy (Pearson  $r=0.89\pm0.04$  with target speech across 40 Mel-frequencies) (**Fig.1b**). Human listeners performed an open transcription of the synthesized voice with a median phoneme error rate of 34.0% and word error rate of 43.8% (in contrast to 96.4% word error rate for T15's residual speech) (**Fig.1c**). Thus, the brain-to-voice BCI vastly improved T15's intelligibility. T15 used this BCI to produce flexible unrestricted vocalizations (including with a neural decoder that approximated his own voice). He could expressively modulate his BCI-voice to ask a question (accuracy: 90.5%), emphasize words (accuracy: 95.7%), and sing short melodies with three different pitch levels (**Fig.1d**).

*Conclusion and Significance:* These results demonstrate an unprecedented quality of expressive brain-to-voice synthesis, advancing the potential of BCIs to fully restore naturalistic speech.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank T15 and his family for their invaluable contribution. M. W., D.M.B., S.D.S.: Inventors on IP owned by UC Davis; L.R.H: Consultant to Neuralink, Synchron, Axoft, Precision Neuro, Reach Neuro; D.M.B: Surgical consultant to Paradromics; S.D.S: Inventor on IP owned by Stanford University licensed to Blackrock Neurotech and Neuralink, advisor to Sonera.

- [1] Card, NS et al. An accurate and rapidly calibrating speech neuroprosthesis. New Engl. J. Med. 391, 609–618 (2024).
- [2] Willett, FR et al. A high-performance speech neuroprosthesis. Nature 620, 1031-1036 (2023).
- [3] Metzger, SL et al. A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control. Nature 620, 1037–1046 (2023).
- [4] Wairagkar, M et al. Instantaneous voice synthesis neuroprosthesis. bioRxiv, 10.1101/2024.08.14.607690 (2024)

# Simultaneous independent control of two cursors on the first day of intracortical BCI use by a participant with microelectrode arrays in bilateral precentral gyri.

## M.C. Ottenhoff<sup>1,2</sup>, R. Li<sup>1</sup>, T.K. Pun<sup>1,2</sup>, S. Allcroft<sup>1,5</sup>, A. Dempsey<sup>3</sup>, A. Acosta<sup>3</sup>, B. Lacayo<sup>3</sup>, L.A. Panagos<sup>3</sup>, C. Vargas-Irwin<sup>2,3,4</sup>, L.R. Hochberg<sup>1,2,3,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Engineering, Brown University, Providence RI, USA; <sup>2</sup>Robert J. and Nancy D. Carney Institute for Brain Science, Brown University, Providence, RI, USA; <sup>3</sup>Center for Neurotechnology and Neurorecovery, Dept. of Neurology, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, MA, USA; <sup>4</sup>Department of Neuroscience, Brown University, Providence, RI, USA; <sup>5</sup>VA Center for Neurorestoration and Neurotechnology, VA Providence Healthcare System, RI, USA; Waterman Street 131 Box D, Providence RI. E-mail: <u>maarten\_ottenhoff@brown.edu</u>

*Introduction:* Although independent bimanual movements are ubiquitous in daily living, restoring this functionality for people with tetraplegia using intracortical brain-computer interface (iBCI) technology has received little attention. Electrophysiological studies in monkeys and humans have shown that neuronal ensemble activity in the unilateral motor cortex reflects both contralateral and ipsilateral movement<sup>1,2</sup>, which can be harnessed to control two cursors simultaneously<sup>3,4</sup>. However, neurons can be tuned differently to uni- and bilateral arm movements<sup>2,5</sup>, requiring non-linear decoders trained on multiple days of data order to gain bimanual cursor control<sup>4</sup>. Here, we demonstrate independent control of two cursors on the first session of closed-loop iBCI control by a BCI-naive participant using microelectrode arrays in bilateral motor cortices. A rapid calibration paradigm<sup>6</sup> enabled our participant to gain control of both cursors within minutes without the need for any prior training data.

*Material, methods and results*: We recorded data from a single human participant (T18) enrolled in the ongoing BrainGate pilot clinical trial (www.ClinicalTrials.gov; Identifier: NCT00912041). T18 is a 48 y/o male with tetraplegia from a cervical spinal cord injury (C4 ASIA A). T18 has six 64-channel intracortical microelectrode arrays placed in bilateral hand knob areas, of which four are in the left motor cortex and two in the right motor cortex. He was asked to perform a bimanual grid task, by moving two cursors simultaneously to their corresponding targets and holding both in place for 300ms. Once acquired, the next set of targets were immediately presented. T18 moved each cursor by attempting to control an imaginary joystick with the corresponding hand. A single Kalman filter was used to decode 2D directional vectors for both cursors simultaneously for a total of four control dimensions. A rapid calibration paradigm, where the decoder parameters were recomputed every 3 seconds, enabled T18 to gain control of the two cursors within minutes of the block on the first day of closed-loop iBCI sessions.

*Conclusion*: This work demonstrated that neuronal ensemble activity from bilateral precentral gyri enables a iBCI user to rapidly gain independent control of two independent effectors simultaneously operating in four dimensions, without the need for any open loop calibration block.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: The authors would like to acknowledge T18 and their carepartners, as well as Beth Travers, Maryam Masood, and Dave Rosler. This work was supported by Department of Veterans Affairs Rehabilitation Research and Development Service A2295R, A4820R, and N2864C; Cullen Education and Research Fund (CERF); NIH-NIDCD U01DC017844, NIH-NINDS U01NS123101. CAUTION: Investigational Device. Limited by Federal Law to Investigational Use LRH: The MGH Translational Research Center has a clinical research

CAO HON: Investigational Device. Limited by Federal Law to investigational Use LRH: The Mich Translational Research Center has a clinical research support agreement (CRSA) with Axoft, Neuralink, Neurobionics, Paradromics, Precision Neuro, Synchron, and Reach Neuro, for which LRH provides consultative input. LRH is a non-compensated member of the Board of Directors of a nonprofit assistive communication device technology foundation (Speak Your Mind Foundation). Mass General Brigham (MGB) is convening the Implantable Brain-Computer Interface Collaborative Community (IBCI-CC); charitable gift agreements to MGB, including those received to date from Paradromics, Synchron, Precision Neuro, Neuralink, and Blackrock Neurotech, support the iBCI-CC, for which LRH provides effort. All other authors have no competing interests.

- 1. Willett, F. R. et al. Hand Knob Area of Premotor Cortex Represents the Whole Body in a Compositional Way. Cell 181, 396-409.e26 (2020).
- Downey, J. E. et al. The Motor Cortex Has Independent Representations for Ipsilateral and Contralateral Arm Movements But Correlated Representations for Grasping. 1–10 (2020) doi:10.1093/cercor/bhaa120.
- Ifft, P. J., Shokur, S., Li, Z., Lebedev, M. A. & Nicolelis, M. A. L. A brain-machine interface enables bimanual arm movements in monkeys. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 5, 210ra154 (2013).
- 4. Deo, D. R. et al. Brain control of bimanual movement enabled by recurrent neural networks. Sci. Rep. 14, 1598 (2024).

<sup>5.</sup> Lai, D. et al. Neuronal representation of bimanual arm motor imagery in the motor cortex of a tetraplegia human, a pilot study. Front. Neurosci. 17, (2023).

Brandman, D. M. *et al.* Rapid calibration of an intracortical brain–computer interface for people with tetraplegia. *J. Neural Eng.* **15**, 026007 (2018).

## A Wearable BCI Mediated Generative AI System for Conversational Interactions

C. Heiner<sup>1</sup>, S. Park<sup>1</sup>, C. Hagmann<sup>1</sup>, D. Friedson-Trujillo<sup>1</sup>, G. Johns<sup>1</sup>, C. Ullrich<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Cognizion Corp., Santa Barbara, CA, USA.

\*24 E. Cota St. Ste 101, Santa Barbara, CA 93101. E-mail: chris@cognixion.com

*Introduction:* There are many existing speech generation systems that utilize BCI for individuals with severe motor impairments such as ALS [1][2][3]. This work presents a novel SSVEP based BCI system that is realized in a fully mobile and wearable form factor incorporating EEG sensing and an augmented reality heads up display. The system also incorporates a novel conversational copilot system that uses generative AI technologies to personalize conversational interactions. The system was evaluated with a cohort of ALS users in both acute and chronic use.

Material, Methods and Results: The generative AI system was developed using the Axon-R system from

Cognixion. This system includes an optical see through augmented reality display, Android 13 based wearable computer and an 8 channel EEG wet sensor array. A novel interaction framework was developed in Unity to enable lower accuracy SSVEP based BCI stimulusresponse classification user selection. The heads-up display interface is shown in Figure 1. The system incorporates a set of personalized generative AI conversation and word completion models to enable users to engage in near real-time communication with others using speech or a chat style interface. The system was evaluated and refined in a usability study in preparation for a longitudinal study, which is ongoing. Metrics captured included information transfer rate (ITR), system usability scale (SUS) [4] and clinical



Figure 1: Heads up generative AI driven conversational user interface.

quality of life measures. Results indicate that the refined interface, once users become proficient, provides a compelling conversational system for users that have no current technological options.

*Conclusion:* These results demonstrate that a near real-time conversational pace is possible for BCI interfaces augmented with generative AI capabilities.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The research team would like to thank the persons with ALS that participated in this study. This work would not have been possible without a generous grant from the Aleph Institute.

- P. Kellmeyer, M. Grosse-Wentrup, A. Schulze-Bonhage, U. Ziemann, and T. Ball, "Electrophysiological correlates of neurodegeneration in motor and non-motor brain regions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis—implications for brain–computer interfacing," Journal of Neural Engineering, vol. 15, no. 4, p. 041003, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.1088/1741-2552/AABFA5.
- [2] Wolpaw JR, Bedlack RS, Reda DJ, Ringer RJ, Banks PG, Vaughan TM, Heckman SM, McCane LM, Carmack CS, Winden S, McFarland DJ, Sellers EW, Shi H, Paine T, Higgins DS, Lo AC, Patwa HS, Hill KJ, Huang GD, Ruff RL. Independent home use of a brain-computer interface by people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurology. 2018 Jul 17;91(3):e258-e267.
- [3] H. Hu et al., "A Survey on Brain-Computer Interface-Inspired Communications: Opportunities and Challenges," in IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials, doi: 10.1109/COMST.2024.3396847.
- [4] Lewis, J. R. (2018). The System Usability Scale: Past, Present, and Future. *International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction*, 34(7), 577–590.

### Using a Long Short-Term Memory Neural Network for Generation of Control Signals from µECoG Data

#### Sankardas Kariparambil Sudheesh, Bradley Greger

Arizona State University PO Box 85288, 1255 E University dr, AZ USA. E-mail: skaripar@asu.edu

*Introduction:* Neural decoding studies highlight significant advancements in brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) for predicting motor intentions and controlling assistive technologies. Studies have demonstrated the robustness of using field potentials recorded from intraparenchymal BCIs as control signals for communication and motor prostheses [1, 2, 3]. We have similarly demonstrated that local field potentials recorded from epicortical micro-electrocorticography ( $\mu$ ECoG) BCIs can be decoded using Machine Learning (ML) algorithms, and serve as control signals for speech and motor prostheses [4,5].  $\mu$ ECoG offers a good balance between invasiveness, signal quality, and longevity, making it a viable choice for real-time neural control systems. Artificial Intelligence (AI) algorithms are currently being utilized for decoding behavioral states from cortical activity [6]. Despite its potential, challenges remain in translating  $\mu$ ECoG neural signals recorded during motor tasks. LSTM networks were selected due to their ability to model temporal dependencies in time-series data. The study aims to evaluate the AI model's ability to generalize and preserve temporal dependencies, which are critical for practical deployment in assistive technologies.

*Material, Methods and Results:* The  $\mu$ ECoG signals were recorded from a patient performing reaching movements toward multiple targets, with 16-channel grids implanted over the hand and arm regions of the primary motor cortex [5]. Common Average Referencing (CAR), comb filters, and low-pass filters were applied to clean the data, remove noise and artifacts, prior to extracting the features from the data for training the model. Model evaluation included scenarios where the X,Y positions of the mouse were predicted using interpolated data i.e., where temporal relationships are not maintained; and extrapolated data i.e., temporal relationships are maintained, in order to understand the temporal dependencies in the algorithm and its ability to provide a generalized solution.

Initial results demonstrated an accuracy of over 90% in predicting movement trajectories and classifying motor intentions within a single experimental session using interpolated data. This high accuracy was based on shuffled data, which does not accurately model real-world conditions. Subsequent investigations compared interpolated data (LSTM with shuffled data) and extrapolated data (LSTM with unshuffled data separated in time) to better assess generalization. Preliminary findings indicated that while the LSTM model performs well with interpolated data, the performance was reduced to approximately 70% accuracy when handling extrapolated data, highlighting challenges in capturing temporal dependencies effectively and utilizing AI models in real-time applications.

*Conclusion:* Our findings show that LSTM networks perform well with interpolated data but struggle to generalize when temporal relationships are preserved i.e., with extrapolated data. This highlights a critical limitation for real-world applications and aligns with existing research emphasizing the need for models that handle sequential neural data effectively.



Figure 1: A comparison plot in which the first one shows the predicted vs actual mouse positions of the interpolated data and the second one shows the same for extrapolated data.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* Tyler Davis MD/PhD, Sara Hanrahan PhD, Paul House MD, and Spencer Kellis PhD conducted the experiments and collected the data used in this study. The authors have no COI to disclose. Support from DARPA Revolutionizing Prosthetics 2009 contract N66001-06-C-8005.

- Chethan Pandarinath, Paul Nuyujukian, Christine H Blabe, Brittany L Sorice, Jad Saab, Francis R Willett, Leigh R Hochberg, Krishna V Shenoy, Jaimie M Henderson High performance communication by people with paralysis using an intracortical brain-computer interface (2017). doi: 10.7554/eLife.18554.
- [2] Flint RD, Ethier C, Oby ER, Miller LE, Slutzky MW. Local field potentials allow accurate decoding of muscle activity. J Neurophysiol. (2012) Jul. doi: 10.1152/jn.00832.2011.
- [3] Combrisson, E., Di Rienzo, F., Saive, AL. et al. Human local field potentials in motor and non-motor brain areas encode upcoming movement direction. (2024). doi:10.1038/s42003-024-06151-3
- [4] Spencer Kellis Kai Miller Kyle Thomson Richard Brown Paul House Bradley Greger. "Decoding spoken words using local field potentials recorded from the cortical surface" Journal of Neural Engineering vol. 7 issue 5 (2010). doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/7/5/056007.
- [5] S. Kellis, S. Hanrahan, T. Davis, P. A. House, R. Brown and B. Greger, "Decoding hand trajectories from micro-electrocorticography in human patients," 2012 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, San Diego, CA, USA, 2012. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2012.6346866.
- [6] Ajioka T, Nakai N, Yamashita O, Takumi T. End-to-end deep learning approach to mouse behavior classification from cortex-wide calcium imaging. PLoS Comput Biol.(2024) Mar 13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1011074.

## Decoding gestures from intracortical neural activity in ventral precentral gyrus

E.V. Okorokova<sup>1</sup>\*, T. Singer-Clark<sup>1</sup>, N.S. Card<sup>1</sup>, C. Iacobacci<sup>1</sup>, H. Peracha<sup>1</sup>, L.R. Hochberg<sup>2</sup>, D.M.

Brandman<sup>1\*\*</sup>, S.D. Stavisky<sup>1\*\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of California, Davis, CA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Massachusetts General Hospital/Brown University/Harvard Medical School/ Providence VAMC, Boston, MA, USA

\*Corresponding author: 202 Cousteau Pl., Room 160, Davis, CA 95618, USA. E-mail: eokorokova@ucdavis.edu; \*\*co-senior authors

*Introduction:* Intracortical brain-computer interfaces (iBCIs) can restore communication for individuals with paralysis by decoding their motor intent from neural signals and performing computer actions. Recently, we showed that precentral gyrus encodes a broad range of body movements/gestures and speech in a widely distributed manner [1,2]. Following this observation, in this study we integrated gesture decoding with computer cursor control driven by electrodes in <u>ventral (speech)</u> motor cortex with the goal of introducing discrete assistive computer actions, such as mouse right-click, scroll, copy/paste, etc. into an existing multimodal cursor and speech neuroprosthesis framework.

*Material, Methods and Results:* One participant with ALS was implanted with 4 Utah arrays in precentral gyrus (areas 4, 6v and 55b) [3,4]. We first collected a dataset examining the neural representation of 60 broadly sampled body movements, with a specific focus on hand and face (Figure 1a). Neural responses exhibited distinguishable signatures for most attempted body movements (Figure 1b), and these movements could be reliably decoded from the neural data (Figure 1c). Next, we selected a set of 2, 3, or 4 movements and asked the participant to perform a multi-gesture cursor and click task, in which the participant moved a cursor towards a target and then attempted a cued gesture to select it (Figure 1d). We observed significant neural modulation to both cursor direction and attempted gesture. Signals from all arrays contributed significantly to gesture decoding (Figure 1e). Cursor movement and gestures were decoded in real time as described in [3], and the participant achieved closed-loop decoding accuracy of 91%, 89% and 80% for 2, 3 and 4 gestures, respectively.

*Conclusion and future work:* We showed that gestures can be decoded from neural activity in cortical areas 6v, 4 and 55b in a closed-loop task. Next, we will integrate gesture decoding into personal computer use to allow flexible and intuitive mapping between attempted gesture and computer actions.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank participant T15 and his family for their valuable time and contribution to science. S.D.S. is a scientific advisor to Sonera, D.M.B. is a surgical consultant to Paradromics, L.R.H. is a consultant to Paradromics, Neuralink, Synchron, Axoft, Precision Neuro, Reach Neuro, Blackrock Neurotech. T.S-C, S.D.S and D.M.B have patents and/or patent applications.



Cursor and multi-gesture click Figure 1. a) Instructed delay task to evaluate neural tuning to 60 attempted movements. A cued movement was displayed on the screen above a red rectangle in the center of the screen. After a variable delay, the rectangle turned green (go cue), prompting the participant to execute the movement until a return cue was displayed. b) Trialaveraged firing rates (mean±s.e.) for five example conditions recorded from three example electrodes from different arrays, aligned to the go cue and color-coded by condition. c) Confusion matrix for gesture classification of a subset of gestures from the hand (blue), face (green), and speech (orange) was performed using Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA). Colored squares group gestures by their corresponding modality. d) Example cursor and gesture task. The participant was instructed to move the cursor to the green target and, once the target was reached, execute the prompted action. e) Offline decoding accuracy (LDA) of 2, 3 and 4 gestures with signals split by array. Grev bars indicate chance classification accuracy.

#### References:

[1] Deo, D. R., Okorokova E.V., et al. A mosaic of whole-body representations in human motor cortex. 2024.09.14.613041. Preprint at https://doi.org/10.1101/2024.09.14.613041 (2024).

[2] Vargas-Irwin C. et al. Gesture encoding in human left precentral gyrus neuronal ensembles. 2024.08.23.608325. Preprint at https://doi.org/10.1101/2024.08.23.608325 (2024).

[3] Singer-Clark, T. et al. Speech motor cortex enables BCI cursor control and click. 2024.11.12.623096 Preprint at https://doi.org/10.1101/2024.11.12.623096 (2024).

[4] Card, N. S. et al. An Accurate and Rapidly Calibrating Speech Neuroprosthesis. New England Journal of Medicine 391, 609-618 (2024).

#### TALES – Tech, Analysis, Legal, Ethics, Social: A Comprehensive Impact Assessment Framework for Responsible Neurotech Innovation J.D. Coutinho<sup>1</sup>\*, P. Gaprielian<sup>1</sup>, S. Boehnke<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre for Neuroscience Studies, Queen's University, Kingston, Canada; \*Botterell Hall, 18 Stuart St., Kingston, ON, Canada. E-mail: j.coutinho@queensu.ca

*Introduction:* Neurotech is a rapidly growing sector with extraordinary potential for improving human health and wellbeing, providing novel tools for basic research, and generating commercial and economic benefits. However, the development and application of neurotech also raises important legal, ethical, and social considerations. Recently, international organizations (e.g. OECD, UNESCO) have published consensus reports highlighting recommendations for responsible innovation in neurotech [1] and the risks and challenges of neurotech for human rights [2]. Health Canada has convened a Working Group on Responsible Innovation in Neurotech to develop an appropriate implementation of these strategies in Canada [3]. Furthermore, neurotech is increasingly utilizing methods from machine learning and artificial intelligence, which raise additional legal, ethical, and social considerations [4]. An emerging strategy aligned with these ethics recommendations is the development and usage of impact assessment frameworks throughout the innovation process, which serve to identify and assess benefits, concerns, and risks of emerging technology and provide guidance about risk prevention and mitigation [5,6,7].

*Material, Methods and Results:* We present the TALES neurotech impact assessment tool, which facilitates the evaluation of tech specifications, analysis methods, and legal, ethical, and social considerations related to the development and application of a neurotech device. We developed TALES for an educational context – as an integral part of the 'Ethical Considerations for Neurotech' course

within the Queen's University Neurotech Microcredential Program. The course consists of four modules and a final project. In the first module, learners are (re-)introduced to foundational neuroscience and ethics concepts and explore a variety of types of neurotech devices (neuroimaging, neuromodulation, and brain-computer interfaces). In subsequent modules, learners explore various use-case sectors (medical, consumer, organizational) with practical case-studies and learn to use the TALES impact assessment framework. In the final project, learners apply TALES to analyze a new case-study of their choice.

Conclusion: The TALES neurotech impact assessment tool is



Figure 1: <u>Queen's University Neurotech</u> <u>Microcredential Program.</u> Coming soon (2025): Ethical Considerations in Neurotech course.

a novel educational resource for learners in the 'Ethical Considerations in Neurotechnology' Microcredential course. In the future, adaptations of TALES could have further potential applications across industry and the public sector to guide, promote, recognize and set standards for responsible neurotech innovation.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: Funded by the Microcredential Challenge Fund (Province of Ontario) and the Connected Minds Program (Canada First Research Excellence Fund, Grant #CFREF-2022-00010). Financial compensation was received for curriculum development and teaching.

- OECD. Recommendation on Responsible Innovation in Neurotechnology. <u>https://legalinstruments.oecd.org/en/instruments/OECD-LEGAL-0457</u>, 2019.
- [2] UNESCO. The Risks and Challenges of Neurotechnologies for Human Rights. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000384185</u>, 2023.
- [3] UNESCO. Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000381137. 2022.
- [4] Illes J, Boehnke S, Chandler JA, Fecteau S, Gaprielian P, Lipsman N, Moffat G, Zarzeczny A. Principles and Priorities for Responsible Innovation in Neurotechnology for Canada. Can J Neurol Sci 1–4, doi:10.1017/cjn.2024.322, 2024.
- [5] UNESCO. Ethical Impact Assessment. A Tool of the Recommendation on the Ethics of Artificial Intelligence. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000386276, 2023.
- [6] Government of Canada. Algorithmic Impact Assessment Tool. https://www.canada.ca/en/government/system/digital-government/digital-government-innovations/responsible-use-ai/algorithmic-impact-assessment.html, 2024.
- [7] Ada Lovelace Institute. Algorithmic Impact Assessment: User Guide. <u>https://www.adalovelaceinstitute.org/resource/aia-user-guide/</u>. 2022.

## Comparative Analysis of the NeuroExo<sup>TM</sup>, the Stentrode<sup>TM</sup>, and the N1<sup>TM</sup> BCI devices

#### Z. Fazal<sup>1\*</sup>, J. L. Contreras-Vidal<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>*IUCRC BRAIN Center, University of Houston, Houston, USA* \*4222 Martin Luther King Boulevard Houston, TX 77204-4007. E-mail: zfazal@cougarnet.uh.edu

*Introduction:* Technology has revolutionized how we interact with others and view the world, with advancements in neural engineering enabling communication for users previously unable to do so. This technology, known as brain computer interfaces (BCI) translate brain activity into commands for virtual or physical machines to restore or rehabilitate motor, sensory or speech functions [1]. However, the recent convergence of BCIs and IoT can enable direct brain communication with appliances, vehicles, and even people [2]. This fosters advancements in communication for a diverse range of individuals, enhancing connectivity and interaction for all. Three BCI systems that stand out in creating devices that converge BCI and IoT are the NeuroExo from the BRAIN Center at University of Houston, the Stentrode from Synchron<sup>TM</sup>, and the N1 implant from Neuralink<sup>TM</sup>. This study aims to compare these three BCI devices in terms of their usability, device specifications, and trade-offs.

Material, Methods and Results: Data were sourced from peer-reviewed studies, patents, and company documentation. The product and engineering specifications of the BCIs were assessed based on the following categories: invasiveness, signal modality and processing, machine learning and tasks performed. NeuroExo is entirely non-invasive, using an external electroencephalography (EEG) headset with selfpositioning dry comb electrodes, while Stentrode requires minimally invasive surgery as it is placed into the superior sagittal sinus via the jugular vein, and N1 involves major intracranial surgery to place an implant directly on the motor cortex. Resolution also varies with invasiveness: NeuroExo has 8 channels with a sampling frequency (SF) of 500 Hz, Stentrode features 16 channels and has a SF of 2 kHz, and N1 offers 1,024 channels at a SF of 19.3 kHz. Signal modalities reflect similar trends. NeuroExo measures EEG and electrooculography (EOG) up to 131 Hz, suitable for movement related cortical potentials. Stentrode detects vascular electrocorticography (vECOG) up to 250 Hz, while N1 measures LFP and action potentials (AP) for the most granular neural data up to 3-27 kHz. All three BCI devices have analog signal conditioning (e.g., Bandpass filtering), but only the NeuroExo includes digital adaptive noise canceling necessary for artifact identification and removal. Classification algorithms include support vector machine (SVM) and linear discriminant analysis for NeuroExo and SVM for Stentrode, with N1 employing a custom spike detection system. IoT compatibility highlights distinctions, with NeuroExo seamlessly integrating BT and Wi-Fi. Stentrode relies on RF, while N1 claims BT support. The three BCI systems differ in the scope of tasks performed. Stentrode trials include communication tasks such as unsupervised typing at home, while NeuroExo focuses primarily on upper-limb stroke neurorehabilitation at both the clinic and at home. As per company social media posts, N1 has reported gaming applications, such as chess. Standardized and transparent testing protocols, as well as user, clinical and engineering outcome metrics are needed to allow quantitative comparison of these BCI systems.

*Conclusion:* The devices differ in invasiveness: NeuroExo is non-surgical, while Stentrode and N1 require surgical implantation. Stentrode and N1 have received an IDE from the FDA, while there is an FDA approved BCI predicate to NeuroExo. Despite differences, all three systems enable IoT integration, advancing connectivity and user interaction. This study underscores the importance of balancing risk, functionality, and user preferences to guide device selection in an increasingly IoT-connected world.

*Acknowledgments and Disclosures:* Funded by NSF (#2137255, #1827769), NIH (#R25HD106896). Thanks to D. C. Lopez, G. B. Sanchez. NeuroExo is a product of IUCRC BRAIN Center.

#### References:

 Patrick-Krueger, K.M., Burkhart, I. & Contreras-Vidal, J.L. (2024) The state of clinical trials of implantable brain-computer interfaces. Nat Rev Bioeng 3, 50–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/s44222-024-00239-5

<sup>[2]</sup> Oxley, T. J., Wright, J., Echavarria, C. (2024). Neuromonitoring systems. International Patent Application #PCT/US2024/0296318A1

### Multimodal Sensor Fusion for EEG-Based BCI Typing Systems

B. Celik<sup>1</sup>, T. Memmott<sup>2</sup>, G. Stratis<sup>1</sup>, M. Lawhead<sup>2</sup>, B. Peters<sup>2</sup>, D. Klee<sup>2</sup>, M. Fried-Oken<sup>2</sup>,

**D. Erdogmus**<sup>1\*</sup> on behalf of the Consortium for Accessible Multimodal Brain-Body Interfaces (CAMBI) <sup>1</sup>Northeastern University, Boston, MA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, USA <sup>\*409</sup> Dana Research Center, 360 Huntington Ave, Boston, MA 02115, USA. E-mail: <u>d.erdogmus@northeastern.edu</u>

*Introduction:* For people with severe speech and physical impairments (SSPI), a robust communication interface is often a necessity to improve quality of life. Non-implantable electroencephalography (EEG)-based BCI typing systems are one option in the field to restore communication. In an EEG-based typing interface, a sequence of symbols are presented consecutively on a screen, and the intended symbol is probabilistically inferred by the resulting event-related potentials (ERPs) [1]. Selecting the intended symbol often takes multiple attempts due to a subset of all symbols being presented in each sequence, and a decision cannot be made if the EEG evidence does not strongly support the intended symbol.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Here we describe a multimodal fusion algorithm combining EEG and gaze tracking (i.e., fixation and trajectory) for control of an ERP-based BCI. This work focuses on a specific BCI paradigm called single-character-presentation (SCP) based visual presentation, which consists of symbols presented in matrix form and individually highlighted in randomized order. We develop and compare probabilistic Bayesian fusion algorithms of increasing complexity to observe the effect of

probabilistic assumption sets on the multimodal BCI performance. We propose a method assuming positional and temporal dependence in gaze evidence. We collected calibration data from control participants (n=21, mean age 23.6±3.1 years) in a quiet lab room and participants with SSPI (n=8, mean age 62.6±15.7 years) in their homes. EEG data were collected using a DSI-24 cap (Wearable Sensing) at a sampling rate of 300 Hz, and the gaze data were collected using a portable eye tracker (Tobii Pro Nano) at a sampling rate of 60 Hz. The SCP matrix paradigm and the data acquisition modules are developed in BciPy [2], which is a standalone application for experimental data collection.



Figure 1: Performance analysis of EEG only (orange) and Multimodal Fusion (blue) models for 21 control (circle) and 8 SSPI (square) participants. The sequential data is bootstrap sampled (N=100) and split into train-test subsets for typing performance analyses.

*Conclusion:* Experiments with both control participants and people with SSPI show that the proposed multimodal Bayesian fusion method significantly improves performance in symbol selection (M=0.73, SD=0.11 for control; M=0.53, SD=0.15 for SSPI) compared to EEG-only BCI typing systems (M=0.30, SD=0.06 for control; M=0.26, SD=0.09 for SSPI) (see Fig. 1).

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors report no conflicts of interest. This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (R01DC009834).

#### References:

[1] Hild K, Orhan U, Erdogmus D, Roark B, Oken B, Purwar S, Nezamfar H, Fried-Oken M. An ERP-based brain-computer interface for text entry using rapid serial visual presentation and language modeling. In *Proceedings of the ACL-HLT 2011 System Demonstrations*, 38-43, 2011.

[2] Memmott T, Koçanaoğulları A, Lawhead M, Klee D, Dudy S, Fried-Oken M, Oken B. BciPy: brain-computer interface software in Python. *Brain-Computer Interfaces*, 8(4), 137-53, 2021.

#### A Family-centered Brain-Computer Interface Clinical Research Program for Children with Severe Disabilities

Kirton A<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Rowley D<sup>3</sup>, Kelly D<sup>1</sup>, Jadavji Z<sup>1</sup>, Zewdie E<sup>2</sup>, Barnfather A<sup>3</sup>, Wieler A<sup>3</sup>, Romanow N<sup>1</sup>, Floreani E<sup>2</sup>, Robu I<sup>3</sup>, Keough JRG<sup>2</sup>, Irvine B<sup>4</sup>, Minhas A<sup>2</sup>, Kim VSH<sup>2</sup>, Comaduran-Marquez D<sup>1</sup>, Kinney-Lang E<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pediatrics, University of Calgary, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Calgary, Canada; <sup>3</sup>Alberta Health Services, Calgary, Canada; <sup>4</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Calgary, Canada

28 Oki Drive, Calgary, AB, Canada, T3B 6A8. E-mail: adam.kirton@ahs.ca

*Introduction:* Cerebral palsy is the largest contributor to the global burden of severe neurological impairment. Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) are a potential solution, but pediatric populations have been neglected from research and progress [1]. We established a family-centered pediatric BCI clinical research program (BCI4kids) to enable children with severe motor impairments to realize new participation in life.

Materials, Methods and Results: Children and their families were identified within a population-based, tertiary-care children's hospital. Criteria included: 1) age 4-18 years, 2) severe physical disability (nonambulatory, minimal hand use, nonverbal), and 3) estimated grade 1 cognitive capacity. After initial screening for BCI competency, participants attended regular sessions, attempting commercially available and customized non-invasive BCI systems to operate a suite of applications (e.g., gaming, device control, art, communication). Outcome measures included personalized goal achievement (COPM), family engagement and experience (MPOC-20, PRIME-P), and technology efficacy and usability. Over 5 years, we have enrolled 34 participants (median 12.4 years, range 3-18, 53% male, 24 distinct etiologies). BCI systems and training were well tolerated with no serious adverse events. All but one participant demonstrated the ability to perform BCI tasks. More than 940 hours of participation have occurred across >820 sessions. Mental imagery-based tasks were the most successful, while other paradigms (P300, SSVEP) had lower efficacy and tolerability. Popular applications included painting, cooking, environment control, internet access, and video games. Six children chose and accomplished power mobility goals (Figure 1). Successful translation of BCI systems into home environments was demonstrated with 11 families, totaling >460 sessions. Families reported a major positive impact and their high engagement informed program development. The program has been implemented in the provincial healthcare system, with increasing referrals and waitlists.



Figure 1: An 11-year-old uses BCI to drive his wheelchair using a power trainer.

*Conclusions*: Family-centered clinical BCI programs can allow children with severe disabilities to achieve novel, personal goals that they previously considered impossible. Future directions include expansion to other hospital sites in Canada and additional resources to support home and community-based participation.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: We are grateful to all the families who have participated in the BCI4kids program. We also wish to acknowledge the efforts and innovations of our partners in Edmonton and Toronto. Authors Kelly, Floreani, Kinney-Lang and Kirton are co-founders of Possibility Neurotechnologies, a pre-revenue BCI start-up company. No products are promoted in this program.

#### References:

<sup>[1]</sup> Kirton A. Trapped Children: A Moral Imperative to Advance Pediatric Brain Computer Interfaces. JAMA Peds 2023 Jun 20. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2023.1744.

## **BCI-FIT: Effects of cBCI customization on performance**

B. Peters<sup>1</sup>\*, M. Kinsella<sup>1</sup>, D. Klee<sup>1</sup>, M. Lawhead<sup>1</sup>, T. Memmott<sup>1</sup>, S. Spaulding<sup>2</sup>, B. Oken<sup>1</sup>, &

M. Fried-Oken<sup>1</sup>, on behalf of the Consortium for Accessible Multimodal Brain-Body Interfaces <sup>1</sup>Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, USA; <sup>2</sup>University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA \*707 SW Gaines St, Portland, OR, 97239. E-mail: petersbe@ohsu.edu

Introduction: The BCI Functional Implementation Toolkit (BCI-FIT) is a customization protocol for EEG-based communication BCI (cBCI) systems that provides a set of system configuration options which might improve performance for individuals with severe disabilities [1]. We describe a single-case research design experiment investigating the effects of customization on typing performance.

Material, Methods and Results: BciPy software [2] was configured with options for: 1) event-related potential (ERP) typing interface (matrix or rapid serial visual presentation [RSVP]), 2) interface appearance (e.g. font or matrix size), 3) stimulus presentation (e.g. flash rate or number of characters flashed), 4) signal processing (e.g. trial window), and 5) cap (DSI-Flex or DSI-24, Wearable Sensing).

Using an alternating-treatments single-case research design, we compare typing performance with a customized BCI-FIT configuration to a non-customized single-character paradigm matrix speller. Up to 5 people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and speech and/or physical impairments are participating in weekly data-collection home visits. First visits include informed consent, clinical screening, initial calibration of the matrix and RSVP interfaces, and discussions about customization options. For each participant, the study team determines an initial BCI-FIT configuration based on clinical screening results, system performance, and user preferences. In subsequent visits, the participant completes system calibration and a typing task (copying four 5-letter words) for both the customized and non-customized conditions. After each typing task, participants provide feedback, including any requested changes to their customized configuration. Dependent variables (DV) include percent of target characters copied (primary typing performance DV), targets copied per minute, and participant-reported workload ratings. Ongoing formative assessment includes discussion of potential changes to the customized configuration based on typing performance, participant preferences, clinical observations, ERP characteristics, and simulations. Data collection continues until 1) sufficient differentiation is observed between the two conditions for percent of targets copied or targets copied per minute (e.g., five demonstrations), 2) percent of targets copied is below 90% in five visits and the study team agrees there are no more system modifications that might improve performance; or 3) 20 visits have been completed.

Figure 1 shows data from two participants, whose customized parameters included interface type, trial window, flash rate, number of characters flashed, and matrix size. P1 consistently copied 95-100% of target characters for both conditions starting in visit 2, so for him BCI-FIT was optimized for targets copied per minute. The final BCI-FIT configuration for P1 outperformed the standard condition with three demonstrations of effect. Typing performance for P2 was variable for both conditions and never reached 90% of targets copied. Although neither condition showed superior levels of performance for P2, outcome data were instrumental in understanding and refining customization for specific participant variables.

Conclusion: Customization may improve cBCI typing performance or user experience for some individuals with disabilities. Additional control signals (e.g. code visual evoked potential) and other options could support Figure 1: Data from 2 participants comparing performance successful typing for a wider range of users.





with non-customized and customized versions of the cBCI across multiple visits.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: Work supported by the NIH National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (R01DC009834). We thank Yonah Hendin for data collection support.

<sup>[1]</sup> Peters B, Eddy B, Galvin-McLaughlin D, Betz G, Oken B, Fried-Oken M. A systematic review of research on augmentative and alternative communication BCI systems for individuals with disabilities. Frontiers in human neuroscience. 2022 Jul 27;16:952380.

<sup>[2]</sup> Memmott T, Koçanaoğulları A, Lawhead M, Klee D, Dudy S, Fried-Oken M, Oken B. BciPy: brain-computer interface software in Python. Brain-Computer Interfaces. 2021 Oct 2;8(4):137-53.

## Neural Dynamics of Cognitive Tasks in Human Prefrontal and Parietal Cortex

#### L. Bashford<sup>1,2,\*</sup>, D. Bjånes<sup>3</sup>, J. Kowalczyk<sup>1</sup>, D. Kramer<sup>2</sup> and R. A. Andersen<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Newcastle University, Newcastle Upon Tyne, UK; <sup>2</sup>University of Colorado, Aurora, CO, USA; <sup>3</sup>California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, CA, USA. \*Corresponding author email: <u>luke.bashford@newcastle.ac.uk</u>

*Introduction:* Many neurological conditions are associated with deficits in cognitive or executive function, including existing populations for implanted brain-computer interfaces (iBCIs) e.g. spinal cord injury, motor neurone disease, and beyond e.g. dementia, mood disorders. Human iBCIs with electrodes in higher order cortical areas offer the potential to further elucidate the neural mechanisms of cognitive function, with the potential of restoring cognitive deficit similarly to the restoration of sensorimotor deficit to date. Here we focus on intracortical electrode arrays implanted in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (dlPFC) and supramarginal gyrus of parietal cortex (SMG) in one human participant. We use the Stroop task to

identify and decode the neural dynamics of an aspect of cognitive control – response inhibition and interference control.

Methods and Results: Neural recordings were made Utah using Arrays (Blackrock Neurotech, UT, USA) implanted in human prefrontal, parietal and sensorimotor cortices. The participant completed Stroop а task, in which presented text and text color differ, e.g. 'RED' shown in red



Figure 1: A-B Multi-unit activity of a single electrode in A) dlPFC and B) SMG to different confitions. C-D The LDA classification accuracy of congruent/incongruent from the population response in C) dlPFC and D) SMG.

or 'RED' shown in blue. Participants either reported the text (dominant response), or color (non-dominant) in congruent conditions, when the text and color match and incongruent, when they do not. We identified significant single-unit neurophysiological responses to the different color, text, congruent and incongruent conditions. In higher order cortical areas, the evoked neurophysiology for the dominant text response was indistinguishable between congruent and incongruent conditions. However, there were significant differences in the dynamics of the non-dominant color response, both compared to text response and within congruent and incongruent color in each cortical area we used a linear discriminant analysis (LDA) to classify congruent and incongruent trials, for text and color responses, Figure 1C, D. There was no significant classification for the non-dominant color response. No significant classification was found for any condition in primary sensorimotor areas.

*Conclusion:* These results demonstrate circuit level dynamics for response inhibition and interference control. Future work seeks to explore additional cognitive functions and assess the effects of closed-loop stimulation targeting these dynamics to alter performance in cognitive tasks.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was performed as part of an ongoing clinical trial (NCT01964261). The authors have nothing to disclose relating to this work. The authors wish to thank the participant for their involvement in the study.

## Neural activity during persistent sensations caused by intracortical microstimulation

Robin Lienkämper<sup>1</sup>\*, Taylor Hobbs<sup>1</sup>, Jorge Gonzalez-Martinez<sup>2</sup>, Michael Boninger<sup>1</sup>, Jennifer Collinger<sup>1</sup>, Robert Gaunt<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Rehab Neural Engineering Labs, Dept. of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Pittsburgh, PA, USA <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Neurological Surgery, University of Pittsburgh, PA, USA

\* Rehab Neural Engineering Labs, 1622 Locust St, 4th Floor, Pittsburgh, PA 15219, USA. E-mail: robin.lienkaemper@gmail.com

*Introduction:* Intracortical microstimulation (ICMS) in the somatosensory cortex (S1) can be used in closed-loop brain computer interfaces (BCIs) to provide artificial somatosensory feedback and can improve motor BCI performance [1]. When a tactile sensation is elicited using ICMS, it is expected to last exactly as long as the stimulation. However, on very rare occasions (41 cases in over 260,000 trials), some participants in our studies report sensations that outlast the stimulation period, typically by several seconds. The cause and underlying neurophysiological mechanisms of these persistent sensations are unknown.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Three people were implanted with microelectrode arrays in tactile regions of S1 as part of a clinical trial of an intracortical sensorimotor BCI (NCT01894802). The Neuroport System (Blackrock Neurotech) allowed us to simultaneously stimulate and record from these microelectrode arrays. Two participants reported percepts that outlasted stimulation at least once throughout their participation. In

some of these cases, we observed a large amplitude signal resembling self-limiting after discharges [2] observed in electrical cortical mapping studies and that disappear spontaneously (Fig. 1A). Apart from the extended percept duration, the only other effects the participants reported were infrequent and slight changes in the quality of the sensation. The sensations remained localized to the location where stimulation initially evoked a percept. The neural activity during these events occurred across all channels on the array containing the stimulation electrode, with the maximum amplitude  $(1.58 \pm 0.23 \text{ mV}, \text{ Fig. 1B})$ centered on or near the stimulated electrode (see Fig. 1C). The activity did not occur on any other array in the motor cortex or S1, demonstrating highly localized activity. In all cases, the activity vanished within 20 seconds after stimulation ended  $(12 \pm 4.3s)$ .



Figure 1: (A) Rhythmic neural activity during a persistent sensation. (B) Zoomed-in view of one burst. (C) Signal strength across the array.

*Conclusion:* These results indicate that in some study participants large amplitude rhythmic neural activity can occur in S1 after ICMS, and that this activity is sometimes associated with sensory percepts. This activity is spatially and temporally self-limiting. Whether this also occurs spontaneously is unknown. Apart from these infrequent persistent sensations, ICMS has not been associated with any significant clinical findings regardless of whether synchronous neural activity is observed or not. As this rhythmic neural activity is often associated with persistent sensations, which are undesirable, this activity may allow us to more rapidly identify and avoid these stimulus parameters.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors would like to express gratitude to the participants of our BCI studies and to our collaboration partners. This work was supported by NIH UH3NS107714. RG is on the advisory board of Neurowired and previously consulted for Blackrock Neurotech.

[2] G. P. Kalamangalam, N. Tandon, and J. D. Slater, "Dynamic mechanisms underlying afterdischarge: A human subdural recording study," *Clin. Neurophysiol.*, vol. 125, no. 7, pp. 1324–1338, Jul. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2013.11.027.

S. N. Flesher *et al.*, "A brain-computer interface that evokes tactile sensations improves robotic arm control," *Science*, vol. 372, no. 6544, pp. 831–836, May 2021, doi: 10.1126/science.abd0380.

# Long-term stability and performance of stimulation and recording in a human participant over 2,800 days

David A. Bjånes<sup>1</sup>\*, Sean S. Darcy<sup>1</sup>, Luke Bashford<sup>1</sup>, Kelsie Pejsa<sup>1</sup>,

Brian Lee<sup>2</sup>, Charles Y. Lu<sup>2</sup>, Richard A. Andersen<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Biology and Biological Engineering, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, USA; <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurological Surgery, Keck School of Medicine of USC; Los Angeles, USA \*Caltech, Pasadena, CA 91125, USA. E-mail: dbjanes@caltech.edu

*Introduction:* The long-term stability of recording and stimulation performance of implanted electrodes is a fundamental requirement for the viability of brain computer interfaces (BCI) as clinical and assistive devices. Chronically implanted devices have documented lifetimes up to 4 years in human participants [1]; however, the timeline of device material failure [2] and stability of the underlying neural population [3] are unknown for the duration of a multi-decade participant lifetime. In this work, we show the longest reported performance data (both stimulation and recording) from four micro-electrode arrays implanted in a human participant over 0.8 decades.

*Material & Methods:* Over the implant duration until present time, quantitative measurements were obtained at regular intervals for each electrode individually: RMS noise, 1 kHz impedance, and SNR. We used spatiotemporal patterns of intra-cortical microstimulation (ICMS) to elicit naturalistic somatosensory percepts. For each electrode, we quantified participant reported descriptions (Figure 1B) and projected fields (the somatotopic location of each percept, Figure 1A).

*Results:* Our data shows a stable electrical interface is possible for nearly a decade of chronic implantation. For the duration of study: electrodes on 4 (of 4) arrays were still able to record single neuron waveforms (Figure 1C) and the participant was able to volitionally modulate those measured neurons via mental imagery. Nearly every electrode on 1 (of 2) stimulation arrays (SIROF) continued to elicit somatosensory percepts via ICMS (Figure 1D). Finally, not only did projected fields significantly overlap across the measured time points (suggesting robust, longitudinal stability), but the projected field also expanded with time (Figure 1A).

*Conclusion:* This work demonstrates current technology has the ability to effectively both record and stimulate for nearly twice as long as previously reported in the literature. These significant advances validate long term performance over multi-year BCI clinical trials.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors would like to thank FG for their continued dedication, exemplary effort and engagement in this study. We also thank our clinical staff for their facilitation.

#### References:

- C.L. Hughes, et al, Neural stimulation and recording performance in human sensorimotor cortex over 1500 days, JNE (2021).
- [2] T.D.Y. Kozai, et al, Mechanical failure modes of chronically implanted planar silicon-based neural probes for laminar recording, Biomaterials (2015)
- [3] Bashford L, et al. Neural subspaces of imagined movements in parietal cortex remain stable over several years in humans. JNE 2024.



Figure 1: (A) The projected fields of ICMS evoked somatosensations during the first and last timepoints. Each grid space on the body (color-coded by category) was reported from at least one electrical stimulation pattern during a survey of all implanted electrodes in sensory cortex. (B) Reported descriptions of evoked sensation across all electrodes, as a percentage of all reported descriptions. (C) Percentage of electrodes on each array which recorded single neuron activity for the first and last timepoint. (D) One SIROF array maintained nearly 100% of electrodes able to elicit a percept. Reliable had >67% percept rate.

## Motor imagery and execution activate similar finger representations that are spatially consistent over time

I. A. Odermatt<sup>1</sup>\*, L. Schönberg<sup>1</sup>, C. Heimhofer<sup>1</sup>, P. Freund<sup>2,3,4</sup>, N. Wenderoth<sup>1,5</sup>, S. Kikkert<sup>1,2</sup> <sup>1</sup>ETH Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland; <sup>2</sup>University Hospital Balgrist, University of Zurich, Zurich,

Switzerland;<sup>3</sup>University College London, London, UK; <sup>4</sup>Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Leipzig, Germany; <sup>5</sup>Singapore-ETH Centre, Singapore, Singapore \*Gloriastrasse 37/39, 8092 Zurich, Switzerland. E-mail: ingrid.odermatt@hest.ethz.ch

*Introduction:* Sensorimotor representations can be activated through top-down processes in the absence of somatosensory input or motor output, e.g., through attempted or imagined movements. Such top-down tasks can even reveal fine-grained sensorimotor representations of individual fingers. These top-down activated representations are increasingly used to plan implantation of and control brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) in individuals with impaired sensorimotor function. While executed finger movements activate representations in the primary sensorimotor cortex that are spatially consistent over time within participants, the stability of top-down activated finger representations remains largely unexplored. Here,

we investigated the spatial consistency, and thereby reliability, of top-down activated finger representations in the primary somatosensory (S1) and primary motor cortex (M1) during a motor imagery task over time. Additionally, we tested the neural similarity of fine-grained finger representations activated trough motor imagery and motor execution.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Sixteen able-bodied participants imagined and executed individual finger movements (thumb, index, or little finger) in two 3T fMRI sessions that were ~2 weeks apart. We observed both highly overlapping finger-selective activity clusters (Fig. 1) and highly reproducible finger-specific activity patterns across sessions in S1 and M1 within participants (Fig. 2a) in the motor imagery and motor execution task. Further, we found that activity patterns elicited by motor imagery and execution share mutual information (Fig. 2b).



Figure 1: Spatial overlap (i.e., dice overlap coefficient; DOC) between univariate S1 activity clusters of same, neighbouring, and non-neighbouring fingers across sessions. Higher DOC for same compared to other finger representations shows consistent somatotopy across sessions. Similar results were obtained for M1. Dots depict data of individual participants. D1 (digit 1) = thumb; D2 = index; D5 = little.

*Conclusion:* Our results show that motor imagery activates neural activity patterns in S1 and M1 that are highly consistent across sessions. We further demonstrate neural similarity between finger representations activated through motor imagery and execution. These findings validate the use of top-down tasks, such as motor imagery, to reliably target finger representations in the context of BCIs.



Figure 2: Classification accuracy of individual fingers in the S1 hand area based on multivariate voxel-wise activity patterns. a) A classifier trained on activity patterns of one session successfully decoded individual fingers of the other session, demonstrating highly consistent activity patterns associated with individual fingers across sessions. b) A classifier trained on activity patterns elicited by motor execution successfully decoded imagined finger movements (and vice versa), indicating similar activity patterns between the two tasks. Similar results were obtained for the M1 hand area. Dots depict data of individual participants.

Disclosures: The authors declare no competing interest.

### Riemannian Tangent Alignment Enhances BCI Decoding Across Subjects, Sessions, and Modalities

#### S. Y. Yamauti<sup>1\*</sup>, G. A. M. Vasiljevic<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil; <sup>2</sup>Instituto Santos Dumont, Macaíba, Brazil; \*Rua Pedro de Toledo, 669 - Vila Clementino, São Paulo - SP, 04039-032, Brazil. E-mail: seidi.yonamine@unifesp.br

*Introduction:* Brain–computer interfaces (BCIs) face challenges in generalizability due to variability in neural representations across sessions, modes, and subjects [1]. This study tests the hypothesis that neural activity resides in a latent space [2], comparable across data sources via tangential Riemannian processing, to improve decoding accuracy [3].

*Material, Methods and Results:* We analyzed data from 16 subjects in the Multimodal Signal Dataset for 11 Intuitive Movement Tasks [4], focusing on motor imagery tasks for cylindrical, spherical, and lumbrical grasping. EEG signals were preprocessed (ICA, 8–40 Hz bandpass, downsampling to 250 Hz), and event-related windows (0.5–4 s post-event) were extracted from central and parietal channels. Covariance matrices were projected into the Riemannian tangent space, aligned via Procrustes Analysis, and reduced using the first three PCA components. The chance level for this dataset is 33%. Crosssession validation showed alignment improved accuracy from 33% to 45% (p < 0.05). In cross-mode validation, where models were trained on motor execution and tested on imagery, alignment reduced variability (t = -4.68, p < 0.001). Cross-subject validation, aligning one subject as reference and others as targets, yielded significant gains (t = -13.90, p < 0.001). To better understand alignment, each subject was used as the reference, aligning the remaining subjects to them. PCA plots showed improved clustering post-alignment, indicating enhanced representation consistency. Models trained on aligned data achieved 51% accuracy on the remaining subjects, compared to 34% without alignment (p < 0.001).

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates that it is possible to align neural data in a low-dimensional representation, improving BCI decoding across sessions, modes, and subjects. However, the optimal dimensionality for alignment remains untested, and the interpretability of this representation requires further investigation. These findings pave the way for future studies to explore optimal dimensionality and the underlying structure of aligned neural representations.



Figure 1: Visualization of results: (A) Cross-session (B) Cross-mode and (C) Cross-subject alignment. (D) Final validation includes PCAbased visualization of mental class clustering before and after alignment, the cumulative explained variance by PCA components, and leaveone-out accuracy comparison pre- and post-alignment.

- [1] Saha S, Baumert M. Intra-and inter-subject variability in EEG-based sensorimotor brain computer interface: a review. *Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience*. 2020;13:87. Frontiers Media SA.
- [2] Gallego JA, Perich MG, Miller LE, Solla SA. Neural manifolds for the control of movement. Neuron. 2017;94(5):978–984. Elsevier.
- [3] Bleuzé A, Mattout J, Congedo M. Transfer learning for the Riemannian tangent space: Applications to Brain-Computer Interfaces. In: 2021 International Conference on Engineering and Emerging Technologies (ICEET). IEEE; 2021. p. 1–6.
- [4] Jeong J-H, Cho J-H, Shim K-H, Kwon B-H, Lee B-H, Lee D-Y, Lee D-H, Lee S-W. Multimodal signal dataset for 11 intuitive movement tasks from single upper extremity during multiple recording sessions. *GigaScience*. 2020;9(10):giaa098. Oxford University Press.
## Decoding Text Embeddings From Functional MRI Data Using Deep Learning

Lorenzo Tomaz<sup>1</sup>, Judd Rosenblatt<sup>1</sup>, Diogo Schwerz de Lucena<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Agency Enterprise, Los Angeles, CA, USA \*1434 Abbot Kinney Blvd, Venice, CA 9029, United States. E-mail: diogo@ae.studio

*Introduction:* This study explores the relationship between brain activity (measured via fMRI from eight participants [5]) and the internal representations of language models like USE [1] and MPNet [4]. A deep neural network decoded text embeddings from fMRI voxel representations, leveraging a reading-out-loud task for alignment.

Materials, Methods, and Results: We analyzed the publicly available fMRI dataset [5], where nine

right-handed adults read Chapter 9 of Harry Potter and the Sorcerer's Stone [3], one word at a time (0.5 s/word). Imaging volumes were acquired every 2 s using a 3T scanner, vielding voxel-wise time series of approximately 25,000-31,000 voxels per participant. The final data encompassed 1211 time samples per subject. Two pre-trained embedding models were considered: paraphrase-MiniLM-L6-v2 (USE) [1], which produces 384-dimensional embeddings, and all-mpnet-base-v2 (MPNet) [4], which produces 768-dimensional embeddings. Each embedding was synchronized with the fMRI time series by grouping four consecutive words into



Figure 1. Overall similarity scores across subjects as a function of the embedding model and sequence length.

one embedding per 2 s interval, introducing a lag of eight words to account for delayed hemodynamic response [2]. Longer sequences (eight or twelve words) were also examined to assess the effect of additional context. A DNN mapped voxel intensities to text embeddings, and performance was evaluated via the cosine similarity index between predicted and actual embeddings using 5-fold cross-validation. USE and MPNet embeddings were decoded at the above-chance levels for all participants and at word-sequence lengths. USE consistently outperformed MPNet (F(2, 70)=132.75,  $p<10^{-17}$ ), and longer sequence lengths improved decoding accuracy (F(4, 70)=281.78,  $p<10^{-39}$ ), though there was no interaction between model type and sequence length (F(4, 70)=0.07, p>0.9).

*Conclusion:* This study validates the ability to decode text embeddings from fMRI data, providing a significant step toward mapping the internal representations of large language models (LLMs) to human cortical activity. Both USE and MPNet embeddings were successfully decoded, with the former showing more substantial alignment with brain representations. These findings underscore the potential for integrating human neural data with LLMs, advancing our understanding of AI-human cognitive alignment and paving the way for future cross-disciplinary research to refine and interpret these models.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors express gratitude to colleagues who provided feedback. No conflicts of interest are declared.

- [1] Cer, Daniel, Yinfei Yang, Sheng-yi Kong, Nan Hua, Nicole Limtiaco, Rhomni St. John, Noah Constant, et al. 2018. "Universal Sentence Encoder for English." In Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations, 169–74. Brussels, Belgium: Association for Computational Linguistics.
- [2] Holdgraf, C. R., Rieger, J. W., Micheli, C., Martin, S., Knight, R. T., & Theunissen, F. E. (2017). Encoding and decoding models in cognitive electrophysiology. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2017.00061
- [3] Rowling, J. K. 2012. Harry Potter and the Sorcerer's Stone: Harry Potter Series, Book 1. Valley View: Pottermore.
- [4] Song, Kaitao, Xu Tan, Tao Qin, Jianfeng Lu, and Tie-Yan Liu. 2020. "MPNet: Masked and Permuted Pre-Training for Language Understanding." In Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, edited by H. Larochelle, M. Ranzato, R. Hadsell, M. F. Balcan, and H. Lin, 33:16857–67. Curran Associates, Inc.
- [5] Wehbe, Leila, Brian Murphy, Partha Talukdar, Alona Fyshe, Aaditya Ramdas, and Tom Mitchell. 2014. "Simultaneously Uncovering the Patterns of Brain Regions Involved in Different Story Reading Subprocesses." Edited by Kevin Paterson.

## Impact of local Laplacian Spatial Filters on C-VEP-Based BCI Performance

### K. Nair, H. Cecotti

Dept. of Computer Science, California State University, Fresno, CA, USA 2576 E. San Ramon Ave., M/S ST90, Fresno, USA. E-mail: hcecotti@csufresno.edu

*Introduction:* Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) enable direct communication between the brain and external devices, offering potential for assistive communication [3]. It can be possible only if the brain responses can be reliably decoded over time. Code-Modulated Visual Evoked Potentials (C-VEPs) stand out for their high ITRs and minimal training requirements, leveraging m-sequences to elicit distinct neural responses [1]. However, real-time decoding faces challenges due to the non-stationarity properties of the EEG signal and its low spatial resolution [2]. We compare different Laplacian spatial filters, including weight calculation methods such as 1/d,  $1/d^2$ ,  $1/\log(d)$ , and  $1/\sqrt{d}$  where d is the orthodromic distance between two sensors, for enhanced signal quality and robust classification techniques, achieving improved accuracy and advancing the potential of non-invasive BCIs [2].

*Material, Methods and Results:* The study utilized a C-VEP paradigm with stimuli based on 63-symbol m-sequences [1]. EEG data was collected from eight sensors ( $O_1$ ,  $O_2$ ,  $P_z$ ,  $P_3$ ,  $P_4$ ,  $PO_7$ ,  $PO_8$ , and  $O_z$ ) with 13 participants focusing on visual stimuli across five sessions [3]. Preprocessing incorporated Laplacian spatial filtering, enhancing spatial resolution by emphasizing local neural activity [2]. Classifiers (LDA, BLDA, MLP, SVM, and k-nn) were compared using correlation-based features [4]. Testing different Laplacian methods, the 1/d weighting approach and a radius of 1 yielded the highest accuracy [2], and SVM showed consistently higher accuracy compared to other classifiers, demonstrating superior signal enhancement and classification performance [4]. These findings underline the critical role of advanced preprocessing and classifier selection in achieving reliable and high-speed BCI's.

*Conclusion:* This study highlights the effectiveness of Laplacian spatial filtering, achieving an accuracy of  $76.0\% \pm 18.9$  with the 1/d weighting method and an SVM classifier, compared to a baseline of  $59.7\% \pm 17.3$  without Laplacian filtering. The approach shows how the preprocessing steps substantially impact accuracy compared to the type of classifier used.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work has been supported by the NIH-R15 NS118581 project.



Figure 1: (A) Time-domain EEG plots showing mean signals with variability bounds, highlighting consistency in neural responses for templatebased feature extraction. (B) EEG cap layout highlighting VEP electrodes (green) and ground (blue). (C) Experimental paradigm.

- [1] Ivan Volosyak et al., "Biomed. Phys. Eng. Express 6 035034," 2020.
- [2] D.J. McFarland, "The advantages of the surface Laplacian in brain-computer interface research," Int J Psychophysiol, vol. 97, no. 3, pp. 271-276, Sep. 2015, DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2014.07.009.
- [3] H. Cecotti, "A self-paced and calibration-less SSVEP-based brain-computer interface speller," IEEE Trans. on Neural Sys. and Rehab. Eng., vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 127-133, 2010.
- [4] H. Raza, H. Cccotti, Y. Li, et al., "Adaptive learning with covariate shift-detection for motor imagery-based brain-computer interface," Soft Comput., vol. 20, pp. 3085–3096, 2016. doi: 10.1007/s00500-015-1937-5.

## Clinical Brain Computer Interface for adaptive neuromodulation in Parkinson's disease as regular clinical care: a protocol

Martijn G.J. de Neeling<sup>1</sup>, MD, Bart J. Keulen<sup>1</sup>, MSc, Mariëlle J. Stam<sup>1</sup>, MSc, Deborah Hubers<sup>1</sup>, MSc, Rob M.A. de Bie<sup>1</sup>, MD PhD, Bernadette C.M. van Wijk<sup>1,2</sup>, MSc PhD, P. Rick Schuurman, MD PhD<sup>3</sup>, M. Bot, MD PhD<sup>3</sup>, Arthur W.G. Buijink<sup>1</sup>, MD PhD, Martijn Beudel<sup>1</sup>, MD PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Amsterdam Neuroscience, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

<sup>2</sup>Department of Human Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, the Netherlands

<sup>3</sup>Department of Neurosurgery, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Amsterdam Neuroscience, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

**Background:** In Parkinson's disease (PD), spectral power of beta oscillations (13-30 Hz) in the subthalamic nucleus (STN) local field potentials (LFPs) are linked to motor symptom severity. Beta power typically decreases after levodopa intake or deep brain stimulation (DBS) and can guide adaptive DBS (aDBS), which adjusts stimulation in real-time using closed-loop control. Furthermore, 7 Tesla MRI connectivity analysis ensures precise brain-electrode placement in the STN motor subdivision for optimal beta signal localization. aDBS may alleviate adverse effects associated with continuous DBS (cDBS) or combined medical treatment ("ON-related adverse effects") and address insufficient efficacy while medication is wearing off ("OFF episodes"). The Medtronic BrainSense<sup>™</sup> technology in the Percept<sup>™</sup> DBS neurostimulator supports aDBS implementation as a clinical brain-computer interface (BCI).

**Methods:** Starting January 2025, Amsterdam UMC will evaluate aDBS in regular clinical care through a single-blinded, n-of-1 trial design to establish its efficacy for individual PD patients. Inclusion criteria include daily OFF periods (>2 hours), ON-related adverse effects (>2 hours), or inadequate symptom control during the ON state due to stimulation-induced adverse effects. Stimulation adverse effects, often affecting speech or gait, are assessed via the Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS). For each patient, 7T MRI connectivity (T2-weighted imaging and DWI probabilistic tractography) confirms electrode placement relative to the STN motor subdivision. Electrode contacts within this subdivision are used for LFP analysis and the aDBS algorithm. Eligible patients implanted with the Medtronic Percept<sup>TM</sup> system (~300) will be screened, with aDBS initiated for approximately 1 patient weekly. Beta power frequencies for the aDBS algorithm will be identified using cluster-based permutation tests and Cohen's d analysis of LFP spectral densities recorded during OFF- and ON-levodopa states. Participants will undergo 1-week periods of aDBS and cDBS in a blinded, randomized order over a 2-month evaluation phase. The primary outcome is the change in duration (hours/day) and intensity (VAS) of primary symptoms and adverse effects. Secondary measures include UPDRS, PDQ-39, BDI, SAS, and ISI scores. Therapy preference will be assessed via satisfaction VAS scales.

**Discussion:** This accumulated, n-of-1 study will provide important clinical evidence for and experience with the use of STN beta power-based commercial BCI technology in the management of advanced PD.

Disclosures: The authors do not have any conflicts of interest to disclose.

# Reporting checklist for observational implanted and non-implanted neural interface studies: protocol for a Delphi process

Martijn G.J. de Neeling<sup>1</sup>, MD, Katya Hill<sup>2</sup>, PhD, Ricardo Chavarriaga<sup>3</sup>, PhD, Jane E. Huggins<sup>4</sup>, Luigi Bianchi<sup>5</sup>, PhD, Armani Porter<sup>6</sup>, Msc, Mariska Vansteensel<sup>7</sup>, PhD

 Department of Neurology and Clinical Neurophysiology, Amsterdam University Medical Centers, Amsterdam, the Netherlands. 2. AAC-BCI iNNOVATION Laboratory, Communication Science and Disorders, School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA. 3. Responsible AI Innovation Group ZHAW School of

Engineering, Winterthur, Switzerland. 4. University of Michigan, Ann Arbor Michigan, United States. 5. Department of Civil Engineering and Computer Science, University of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy. 6. Avano Neuroscience. 7. Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, UMC Utrecht Brain Center, Utrecht, The Netherlands

#### Introduction

Standardization of reporting in neuroscience and electrophysiology literature has been a long-standing topic of interest. With the rise of neural interfaces (NIs), such as the brain-computer interface, electrophysiology has made its way into real-time clinical applications. Due to the complexity of these systems, the biomarkers they depend on and their recording and their various applications, reporting of this type of research is challenging. The IEEE Standards Working Group (SWG) P2794 aims to reduce heterogeneity in reporting and improve findability, interpretability and reproducibility (FAIR principles) of NI research by drafting and publishing a reporting checklist.

### Objective

Identify and describe a consensus-based set of reporting criteria for implanted and non-implanted observational and interventional neural interface studies.

#### Methods

Executive committee. From 2019 till 2025 the IEEE SWG P2794 has held numerous meetings to design and draft a reporting standard for neural interface research. Currently, the working group is conducting a multi-step approach to validate a reporting checklist by literature search, expert review and dissemination to the wider scientific community. Systematic review. Reporting guidelines that may include items relevant to observational and interventional neural interface studies and related research fields will be analyzed and compared with items that were found relevant by the IEEE SWG P2794, resulting in a finalized draft reporting checklist. We will search the following electronic databases from inception: EMBASE, Cochrane Library, PubMed, Web of Science, EQUATOR network. Expert review. From November 2024 till June 2025 a series of meetings are being held to review this reporting checklist for both observational and interventional neural interface research with selected subject matter experts (SMEs). Consensus process. During the BCI society meeting in June 2025, a Delphi procedure will be held as a workshop to finalize the checklist. A follow-up online meeting will be organized with the attendants. The Guidance on Conducting and REporting DElphi Studies (CREDES) will be used for the design, implementation and reporting of this study. Guideline validation. Expert reviews to the checklist will be analyzed qualitatively using semi-structured feedback and interviews, while the consensus process will utilize anonymous quantitative feedback and semi-structured qualitative feedback for adjusting and optimizing the checklist. Consensus will be defined as an anonymous agreement of >70% on each checklist item by workshop attendees. The final checklist will contain items that reached consensus and submitted to a peer-reviewed scientific journal by August 2025.

#### Conclusion

The finalized checklist is expected to reduce heterogeneity in the reporting of various non-implanted and implanted brain-computer interface studies by integrating feedback from literature, SMEs and the wider scientific community.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work would not have been possible without the support of the IEEE SWG P2794 members. The authors don't have any conflicts of interest to disclose.

## Multi-gesture BCI control of a communication board

Daniel N. Candrea<sup>1\*</sup>, Shiyu Luo<sup>1</sup>, Miguel Angrick<sup>1</sup>, Rohit Ganji<sup>1</sup>, Griffin W. Milsap<sup>2</sup>, Matthew S. Fifer<sup>2</sup>, Nicolas F. Ramsey<sup>3</sup>, Nathan E. Crone<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD; <sup>2</sup>Johns Hopkins Applied Physics Lab, Laurel, MD. <sup>3</sup>UMC Utrecht Brain Center, Utrecht, Netherlands

\*600 N. Wolfe Street, Meyer Building 2-161, Baltimore, MD, USA; E-mail: dcandre3@jh.edu

*Introduction:* Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) can lead to severe paralysis with impaired communication. Eye-trackers are commonly used for controlling assistive devices but can become unreliable due to eyemovement deterioration [1]. Alternatively, brain computer interfaces (BCIs) can be used to control assistive devices by translating neural signals during attempted movements into device-specific outputs. Despite previous studies demonstrating the potential for online decoding of upperlimb and facial gestures [2-5], multi-gesture decoding has not been applied for controlling assistive devices. Here we show that a clinical trial participant with ALS can control an assistive device by attempting six upper-limb and facial gestures. The BCI operated by translating electrocorticographic (ECoG) signals from a high-density 128-electrode grid over sensorimotor cortex (Figure 1) into directional control of a communication board (Figure 2).



Figure 1: ECoG grid over right sensory (orange) and motor cortex (purple) of speech and upper-limb representations.

*Materials, Methods, and Results:* We selected a set of six gestures for communication board control by first sampling multi-band frequency features from repeated trials of 16 gestures (200 trials/gesture). We then down-selected a set of six gestures that showed the highest performance in simulations. Specifically, we calculated a performance score for each gesture, which accounted for the sensitivity,

accuracy, precision, and false positive frequency, and used the six gestures with the highest performance scores (control gestures). The control gestures were each mapped to one of six communication board commands (up, down, left, right, enter, back). A gesture classification occurred when the probability of the rest class fell beneath a specified threshold. The control gesture class with the highest probability was classified. We determined our six control gestures and tested our model in real-time with the communication board (Figure 2) by verbally instructing the participant to attempt one of the six gestures.



Figure 2. Communication board where it is possible to navigate to, select, and de-select an n icon using BCI control.

*Conclusion:* Multi-gesture classification is a feasible BCI control strategy for a participant with ALS implanted with high-density ECoG electrodes.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank the clinical trial participant for offering his time for this research.

#### References:

[1] Sharma, R. (2011). Oculomotor dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Archives of Neurology*, 68(7), 857. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2011.130.

[2] Chestek, C. A., (2013). Hand posture classification using electrocorticography signals in the gamma band over Human Sensorimotor Brain Areas. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, *10*(2), 026002. https://doi.org/10.1088/1741-2560/10/2/026002

[3] Degenhart, A. D (2018). Remapping cortical modulation for Electrocorticographic Brain-computer interfaces: A somatotopy-based approach in individuals with upper-limb paralysis. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, *15*(2), 026021. https://doi.org/10.1088/1741-2552/aa9bfb [4] Willett, F. R., Deo, D. R., Avansino, D. T., Rezaii, P., Hochberg, L. R., Henderson, J. M., & Shenoy, K. V. (2020). Hand knob area of premotor cortex represents the whole body in a compositional way. *Cell*, *181*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.043

[5] Mitchell, P., (2023). Assessment of safety of a fully implanted endovascular brain-computer interface for severe paralysis in 4 patients. *JAMA Neurology*, *80*(3), 270. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2022.4847

## Design of a Sensor System for a Semi-Autonomous BCI Controlled Mobility Device

M. Kerr McNutt<sup>1</sup><sup>\*</sup>, A. Berezowski<sup>1</sup><sup>°</sup>, L. Workman<sup>1</sup>, H. Scheirman<sup>1</sup>, D. Jourdain<sup>1</sup>, P. Madill<sup>1</sup>, A.

Kirton<sup>1</sup>, E. Kinney-Lang<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Calgary, Calgary AB, Canada °Co-Authors with equal contributions to the work set forth below. \*2500 University Drive NW, Calgary AB, T2N 1N4, Canada. E-mail: morgan.kerr@ucalgary.ca

*Introduction:* Independent movement is one of the most highly requested Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) applications by families of children with complex physical needs. Key to supporting these children are Power Mobility Training Devices (PMTDs), which allow children to become comfortable using mobility devices. However, to advance PMTDs by implementing autonomous and long distance driving, a sensor system is needed. NeuroMove is a framework designed to allow PMTDs to implement autonomous and long distance driving via mixed-range sensors.

*Material, Methods and Results:* To perform the spatial mapping and collision avoidance critical to the PMTD's ability to navigate semi-autonomously, a multilevel sensor array was created. It includes a 3-dimensional LiDAR, ultrasonic sensors and force sensing resistors (FSRs). A Unitree 4D LiDAR RM sensor is mounted inverted above the head of the user [1]. It performs spatial mapping, capturing the layout of an area within a 30m radius of the LiDAR. An array of eight MaxBotix LV-MaxSonar-EZ MB1000 ultrasonic sensors are placed around the NeuroMove PMTD for local object detection. Three of the ultrasonic sensors are arranged across the front to completely cover an area in front of the trainer with a working range of 0.2m-6m. The other five sensors cover the sides and back of NeuroMove to detect objects while turning or reversing. The combination of LiDAR and ultrasonic sensors ensure that the system can detect objects that are near infrared absorbing, transparent, or sound absorbing that would be missed by a single sensor type. The Interlink Electronics FSR 408-500 is secured to a flexible "bumper" at the front of the trainer as a safety feature to detect if a collision occurs.

The ultrasonic sensors and FSRs are connected to an Arduino Uno to process and synthesize sensor data before sending it to the Raspberry Pi 5 (RPi). The RPi functions as NeuroMove's controller and is directly connected to the LiDAR for maximum data baud rate. The Unitree 4D LiDAR outputs a series of 4-dimensional tensors to the RPi, where each tensor contains the x, y, z, and sample time of a point in space. The RPi will convert these tensors into a 2-dimensional occupancy grid specifying where the PMTD is and isn't able to navigate to via a subtractive algorithm and downsampling. When a user desires to autonomously navigate to a destination, a modified jump point search algorithm is run on the occupancy grid to find the optimal path to said desired destination. While in motion, a software interrupt from the Arduino Uno due to the FSRs or ultrasonic sensors detecting a close object can halt NeuroMove. The RPi will utilize shared memory for all data transfer and low computational complexity algorithms where possible for maximum software efficiency.

*Conclusion:* The NeuroMove framework will allow for greater freedom of mobility for children with complex mobility needs by introducing more advanced driving operations. Combining different sensor types allows for full spatial visualization, and pathfinding gives users the option for easier navigation. By putting the NeuroMove framework on top of existing PMTDs, pediatric patients with complex physical needs will have an easier journey towards improved independent movement.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: A-MEDICO for providing the funding allowing this research to take place. The support of the BCI4Kids laboratory, Danette Rowley, and patient partners is deeply appreciated.

<sup>[1] &</sup>quot;Unitree 4D LiDAR L1," UnitreeRobotics. Accessed: Jan. 16, 2025. [Online]. Available: https://shop.unitree.com/en-ca/products/unitree-4d-lidar-l1

## **Observed Changes in the Visual Oddball Event-Related Potential in a 10-Session, Longitudinal Study**

J. Estepp<sup>1,2</sup>\*, S. Klosterman<sup>3</sup>, K. Alexander<sup>4,1</sup>, A. Stovall<sup>3</sup>, S. Elbasiouny<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1,2</sup> Wright State University, Dayton, OH, USA; <sup>2</sup>Air Force Research Laboratory, Wright-Patterson AFB, OH, USA; <sup>3</sup>BAE Systems, Inc., Dayton, OH, USA; <sup>4</sup>Oak Ridge Institute for Science and Education, Oak Ridge, TN,

USA

\*3640 Colonel Glenn Highway, Dayton, OH 45435, United States. E-mail: sherif.elbasiouny@wright.edu

*Introduction:* The visual oddball paradigm is used in psychophysiological research [1] and braincomputer interface paradigms [2] to elicit the P3b event-related potential (ERP). Generally, test-retest reliability of the P3b is thought to be high over repeated sessions [3-5]. However, there are few studies that have observed the elicitation of the P3b over many repeated sessions over several months. In this study, we elicited the P3b using a standard visual oddball paradigm [6] in 10 sessions over approximately 3-4 months and observed changes in both P3b morphology as well as ERP features (i.e., amplitude, latency) commonly derived from the P3b morphology over sessions.

*Material, Methods and Results:* 30 participants completed 400 trials of the visual oddball task, with a 4:1 oddball to standard stimulus ratio, in each of 10 sessions, held on the same day and at the same time each week, over approximately 3-4 months. Electroencephalography (EEG) data were collection using the BioSemi ActiveTwo (BioSemi, Amsterdam, The Netherlands) using a 2048 Hz sampling rate at 64

channels locations. In addition to group-averaged oddball, standard, and difference-wave ERPs, amplitude (as positive mean amplitude; Fig. 1) and latency (as 50% positive area latency; not shown) [7] of the P3b were calculated at the group level for each of the ten sessions, or days (D01 through D10), at Pz.

*Conclusion:* Test-retest reliability of the P3b should not be assumed in all situations given the clear, nearly monotonic changes over sessions observed in this longitudinal study (e.g., amplitude, Fig. 1). Although the factors leading to these changes need to be investigated in subsequent studies, and these data were collected open-loop, these results may have an impact on BCI decoder accuracy in long-term, daily use.



Figure 1: P3b amplitude at Pz, averaged at the group-level (N = 30), for each of the ten sessions, or days (D01 through D10). Error bars are  $\pm 1$  standard error of the mean (SEM).

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors would like to acknowledge Teresa L. Garrett for efforts coordinating participant compensation. This research was funded by the Air Force Office of Scientific Research Laboratory Research Initiation Request 20RHCOR049 and the United States Department of Defense as part of the congressional appropriation of the 6.2 (Applied Research) Research, Development, Test, and Engineering (RDT&E) budget category. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

- Polich, J., & Criado, J. R. (2006). Neuropsychology and neuropharmacology of P3a and P3b. International Journal of Psychophysiology, 60(2), 172-185.
- [2] Fazel-Rezai, R., Allison, B. Z., Guger, C., Sellers, E. W., Kleih, S. C., & Kübler, A. (2012). P300 brain computer interface: current challenges and emerging trends. *Frontiers in Neuroengineering*, 5, 28055.
- [3] Morand-Beaulieu, S., Perrault, M. A., & Lavoie, M. E. (2021). Test-retest reliability of event-related potentials across three tasks. *Journal of Psychophysiology*, 36(2).
- [4] Ip, C. T., Ganz, M., Ozenne, B., Sluth, L. B., Gram, M., Viardot, G., ... & Christensen, S. R. (2018). Pre-intervention test-retest reliability of EEG and ERP over four recording intervals. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 134, 30-43.
- [5] McEvoy, L. K., Smith, M. E., & Gevins, A. (2000). Test-retest reliability of cognitive EEG. Clinical Neurophysiology, 111(3), 457-463.
- [6] Fabiani, M., Karis, D., & Donchin, E. (1986). P300 and recall in an incidental memory paradigm. *Psychophysiology*, 23(3), 298-308.
- [7] Luck, S.J. An Introduction to the Event-Related Potential Techniques; The MIT Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2005; ISBN 9780262525855

#### From Research to Reality: Advancing Pediatric BCI Innovations into Clinical Practice

**D.** Rowley<sup>1\*</sup>, A. Barnfather<sup>1</sup>, A. Wieler, <sup>1</sup>J. Murphy<sup>1</sup>, I. Robu<sup>1</sup>, D. Comaduran<sup>2</sup>, E. Kinney-Lang<sup>2</sup>, N. Romanow<sup>2</sup>, A. Kirton<sup>2</sup> <sup>1\*</sup> Alberta Children's Hospital, Calgary, AB. Canada, <sup>2</sup> Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB. Canada. \*Alberta Children's Hospital, 28 Oki Dr NW, Calgary, Canada. e-mail: <u>danette.rowley@albertahealthservices.ca</u>

*Introduction:* Many children with moderate to severe quadriplegia are highly capable but may be unable to walk, use their hands, or speak. They face significant obstacles to their fundamental human right to interact with the world and to participate in life. Brain-computer interfaces (BCI) are a potential solution that removes the requirement of voluntary movement. Individuals can learn BCI by training their mental intent, similar to learning a new motor skill, and performance using a BCI system improves with training [1]. In July 2023, the Alberta Children's Hospital (ACH) implemented an Occupational Therapy (OT) led BCI clinical service in partnership with the BCI4Kids research program to provide novel interventions using BCI technology for these children.

*Methods:* The BCI@ACH clinical service was designed to provide noninvasive BCI options to allow children with moderate to severe motor impairments to achieve personalized goals (i.e., playing music/videos, baking, creative art, adapted gaming). The patient population included children ages 4 to 18 years old; the majority with quadriplegia (nonambulatory with minimal hand function) and varying degrees of vision, hearing, and communication (Fig. 1). Patients either did not yet have an access method using commercial assistive technology (AT) or used BCI



Figure 2: 4-year-old boy training calm state with self-reg. stuffy puppy paired with photo.

technology to augment their existing access method. A personalized approach aimed to teach children how to train their own BCI mental commands included the use of self-regulation tools, videos, photos, symbolic visuals and/or auditory prompts (Fig.2). Sessions included patient-motivating, goal-



Figure 1: 14-year-old boy with spastic quadriplegia, cochlear implants, and CVI using BCI to turn pages in his favourite books.

oriented activities to optimize repeated BCI practice. Room lighting, screen size and location, and visual software settings were adjusted based on patient needs. The use of both research and commercial BCI technologies allowed the OT to integrate with existing AT software. Customized social stories were created for the child/family to reinforce how they use BCI technology. Families also had the opportunity to receive training so their child could practice using BCI at home.

*Results:* Over 18 months, 33 children and families received at least one BCI session. Two patients declined, and one waited for equipment. A total of 327 BCI sessions were provided at ACH. Fifteen patients learned one mental command, 14 learned two, and one is on the verge of three. Presently, seven patients are learning to use their mental command(s) in conjunction with scanning access, whereby items in a selection set are highlighted, and the mental command selects the item. Three are using BCI to supplement an existing access method in a hybrid manner, such as a chin-joystick with BCI. Common challenges include headset fit and design (i.e., wires losing connection to electrodes). Most families express satisfaction with the BCI clinical intervention. One parent's feedback, "He definitely has more success with BCI than switches, yes, he gets tired but not frustrated; he never got this far with switches."

*Conclusion:* A clinical service using simple BCI solutions can be implemented into a public health care system to allow children with complex physical needs to achieve personalized goals.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We are grateful to all the families who have participated in the BCI@ACH clinical service. We also wish to acknowledge the efforts and innovations of the BCI4Kids research program and the collaboration with our clinical partners in Edmonton and Toronto. No conflicts of interest exist.

McFarland DJ, Wolpaw JR (2018) Brain computer interface use is a skill that user and system acquire together. PLoS Biol 16(7): e2006719. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pbio.2006719.

### Representation of syntax in intracortical inferior frontal gyrus signals

T. Lei<sup>1\*</sup>, P. Prakash<sup>1</sup>, C. Foli<sup>2</sup>, J. Glaser<sup>1</sup>, A. B. Ajiboye<sup>2,3</sup>, M.W. Slutzky<sup>1</sup>, <sup>1</sup>Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, USA <sup>2</sup>Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH <sup>3</sup>Louis Stokes Cleveland Dept of Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Cleveland, OH \*320 E Superior Ave., Chicago, IL, USA. E-mail: tianhao-lei@northwestern.edu

*Introduction*: Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) that decode speech have largely decoded phonemes and relied on large language models to form those into words and sentences. Forming words and sentences requires proper grammar, including syntax, both on word (tense, grammatical number, person) and sentence (subject/object/verb order) levels. Despite the critical role of syntax in natural language processing, electrophysiological evidence for its representation in the brain remains limited. Evoked responses in the inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), particularly in pars triangularis, showed some modulation with tense processing[1]. Imaging and lesion studies link IFG damage to deficits in syntax comprehension and agrammatism. However, the precise role of the IFG, especially pars opercularis, in syntactic processing remains unclear, including the specific type of processing involved and the extent of syntactic information represented at the neuronal scale. Decoding syntax directly from brain signals in the IFG could potentially improve BCIs by enabling more fluent and contextually appropriate sentence generation for individuals with impaired speech.

*Materials, Methods, and Results*: We recorded intracortical activity from a human participant as part of the Reconnecting the Hand and Arm to the Brain clinical trial. We recorded broadband (30 kHz sampling rate) signals with a 64-channel Utah array placed in caudal IFG (caudal border of pars opercularis). The participant silently read phrases, with missing verbs, displayed on a monitor at the start of each trial (phrase onset). After 2~2.5 s, the root verb was displayed on the screen (verb onset), and the participant determined how to conjugate the verb in agreement with the context of the phrase. After a go cue, the participant spoke the conjugated verb aloud. The task was designed to evaluate multiple types of syntax: different tense (present/past), person (first/second/third), number (singular/plural), and mood (imperative/indicative).

We analyzed a total of 1460 trials over 7 sessions. We extracted spike band power (300 Hz-1 kHz) and binned it at 100 ms. We observed that ~40% of the electrodes modulated prior to voice onset, while up to 20% modulated after voice onset. To decode each type of syntax, we built support vector machine decoders with a radial basis function kernel at multiple offsets between neural and task times. We used 10 causal bins of history as neural features, resulting in 520 features. We then computed principal components (PCs) of these features and used the first 25 PCs as inputs to the SVM decoder. We held out 30% of trials as a test set. We repeated the decoding procedure 30 times and compared the mean accuracy to the empirically shuffled (chance) accuracy distribution. We observed significantly above-chance decoding accuracy (~60%; p<0.05, permutation test) between verb and voice onset for tense decoding, and accuracy of 65% (p<0.05, permutation test) about 400 ms after phrase onset for person/mood (second imperative vs. third singular indicative) decoding.

*Conclusion*: These results suggest that caudal IFG may play a role in processing syntax for speech production. This information appears to occur at different times relative to the processing of the phrase context and to verb conjugation, depending on the aspect of syntax. This suggests that this area may be involved in multiple aspects of speech production. This could ultimately provide a useful input for a speech BCI.

*Acknowledgements*: This study was supported in part by NIH grants T32NS047987 and RF1NS125026, DoD CDMRP SCIRP SC180308 and VAMR 5101RX002654.

#### References:

[1] Sahin, N. T., Pinker, S., Cash, S. S., Schomer, D., & Halgren, E. (2009). Sequential processing of lexical, grammatical, and phonological information within Broca's area. *Science*, *326*(*5951*), *445-449*.

# Changes in globus pallidus internus local field potentials during freezing-of-gait in Parkinson's disease

### J Wallner<sup>1</sup>, K Koltermann<sup>2</sup>, G Blackwell<sup>3</sup>, H Shah<sup>5</sup>, G Zhou<sup>2</sup>, L Cloud<sup>3</sup>, I Pretzer-Aboff<sup>4</sup>, K Holloway<sup>5</sup>, D Krusienski<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Bioengineering, Virginia Commonwealth Univ., Richmond, VA; <sup>2</sup>Computer Science, College of William & Mary, Williamsburg, VA; <sup>3</sup>Neurology, Virginia Commonwealth Univ., Richmond, VA; <sup>4</sup>Nursing, Virginia Commonwealth Univ., Richmond, VA; <sup>5</sup>Neurosurgery, Virginia Commonwealth Univ., Richmond, VA

737 N 5th St, Richmond, VA 23219 email: djkrusienski@vcu.edu

*Introduction:* Freezing-of-gait (FoG) is a common phenomenon in Parkinson's disease and is characterized by the inability to step. This can occur in a variety of scenarios including gait initiation, tight spaces, or distracting environments. FoG's impact on quality of life can range in severity from annoyance to life-threatening due to the increased risk of falls it carries. Deep brain stimulation (DBS), an effective and widely used treatment for Parkinson's disease, is currently delivered in a continuous, unchanging manner. The field is pushing toward an adaptable approach where stimulation parameters are adjusted based on changes in the local field potentials they stimulate. If a neural signature associated with FoG could be identified, this could allow for tailored stimulation or external perturbation to shorten the freezing episode or eliminate it all together. Previous studies, limited to the subthalamic nucleus, showed that FoG was associated with beta bursts, more prolonged beta just prior to freezing, and excessive synchronization in the 18Hz beta band.

*Materials, Methods and Results:* This study evaluates the LFPs of the output nucleus of the globus pallidus internus (Gpi) in a real world setting with a sensing-enabled DBS device (Medtronic's Percept), and simultaneous ankle accelerometer data. Five individuals with Parkinson's-related FoG and a Percept DBS system were evaluated on medication and off stimulation. The participants walked an obstacle course of five FoG-triggering scenarios while simultaneous LFPs and ankle accelerometer data were collected. LFPs were analyzed during periods of freezing, standing, and walking. The modulation index, derived from the Kullback-Leibler divergence between the theta phase and various amplitude bands was computed as a measure of phase-amplitude coupling. Preliminary results show that phase-amplitude coupling during freezing followed the trend standing < freezing < walking for the alpha, beta, and gamma amplitude bands. The effect was the most pronounced for theta-gamma coupling.

*Conclusion:* These results suggest that changes in phase-amplitude coupling could be used to identify periods of freezing-of-gait directly from Gpi LFPs.



Figure 1: coupling between the theta phase and gamma amplitude during freezing tends to lay between that seen during walking and standing.

## Evaluation of spatial and frequency features for improving the classification of motor imagery

Eduardo V. Perez-Hernandez<sup>1\*</sup>, Margarita Aviña Corral<sup>1</sup>, Alejandro A. Torres-García<sup>1</sup>, J. A. Carrasco-Ochoa<sup>1</sup>, José Fco. Martínez-Trinidad<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Biosignals Processing and Medical Computing Laboratory, Computer Sciences Department, Instituto Nacional de Astrofísica Óptica y Electrónica, Puebla, Mexico

\*P.O. Box 72840, Luis Enrique Erro # 1, Tonantzintla, México. E-mail: eduardo.perezherna@inaoe.mx

*Introduction:* The classification of Motor Imagery (MI) is an essential component in the development of Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCI), given its potential in clinical applications such as rehabilitation of impaired motor functions. However, current systems face significant challenges to achieve optimal performance due to the complexity and volume of the features involved [1, 2]. In this context, EEGNet model has emerged as an efficient alternative, enabling classification even directly from raw EEG signals. This study addresses two key questions: first, we examine whether EEGNet performance can be improved implementing two additional stages, a scheme of filters based on MI-related rhythms followed by a feature extraction stage in two domains (spatial and frequency); and second, we evaluate whether the proposed additional stages for EEGNet outperform two commonly used classification models such as Support Vector Machine (SVM) and Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA).

*Material, Methods and, Results:* The present proposal focused on characterizing EEG signals from the sub-bands associated with MI, by extracting features to subsequently generate a feature vector, the dimensionality of which was reduced using the Relief-F algorithm before proceeding with performance evaluation. The evaluations were carried out using frequency-based features through Discrete Wavelet Transform (DWT) for the first evaluation, and spatial features using Common Spatial Pattern (CSP) for the second evaluation. The overall framework of the study can be seen in Fig.1a). For model evaluations, the IVa dataset from the III BCI Competition[3] was used, which includes the 118-channel EEG recordings from 5 subjects performing imagined movement tasks (right and left hand). The evaluations were performed using 5-fold cross-validation, obtaining the results shown in Fig.1 b). These show that the EEGNET+DWT model outperforms others, achieving an average of 71.13% (see Fig. 1 c)).

*Conclusion:* The results suggest that the combination of EEGNet with features extracted in the frequency domain (EEG+DWT) can be effective for binary classification of motor imagery tasks. In subject *aw*, the EEGNet+DWT model did not outperform traditional classifiers. However, no significant differences in performance were observed. Furthermore, spatial features did not contribute to enhancing EEGNet's performance (EEG+CSP). As future work, we will analyze if the fusion of both temporal and spectral features is relevant for this task, complemented by inter-subject regularization techniques, in order to improve the model's ability to generalize to new subjects. Last, an automatic channel selection method will assessed to discard redundant or non-relevant channels.



Figure 1: a) Model evaluation framework, b) Comparison of models and features, c) Average performance.

- S. Khooyooz and S. H. Sardouie, "Classification of Motor and Mental Imagery EEG Signals in BCI Systems Based on Signal-to-Image Conversion," 2022 29th National and 7th International Iranian Conference on Biomedical Engineering (ICBME), Tehran, Iran, Islamic Republic of, 2022, pp. 124-128, doi: 10.1109/ICBME57741.2022.10052897.
- [2] M. Moufassih, O. Tarahi, S. Hamou, S. Agounad and H. Idrissi Azami, "Spectral feature extraction from EEG based motor imagery using common spatial patterns," 2022 2nd International Conference on Innovative Research in Applied Science, Engineering and Technology (IRASET), Meknes, Morocco, 2022, pp. 1-6, doi: 10.1109/IRASET52964.2022.9738394.
- [3] Zhang, Rui; Xu, Peng; Guo, Lanjin; Zhang, Yangsong; Li, Peiyang; Yao, Dezhong (2015). Classification accuracies (%) comparison on Dataset IVa of BCI Competition III. PLOS ONE. Dataset. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074433.t002

## Population Transformer: Learning Population-level Representations of Neural Activity

G. Chau<sup>1\*\*</sup>, C. Wang<sup>2\*</sup>, S. Talukder<sup>1</sup>, V. Subramaniam<sup>2</sup>, S. Soedarmadji<sup>1</sup>, Y. Yue<sup>1</sup>, B. Katz<sup>2</sup>, A. Barbu<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> California Institute of Technology; <sup>2</sup> MIT CSAIL, CBMM

• Equal contribution, \*Corresponding email: <u>gchau@caltech.edu</u>

*Introduction:* We present a self-supervised framework that learns population-level codes for arbitrary ensembles of neural recordings such as intracranial electroencephalography (iEEG) at scale. We address key challenges in scaling models with neural time-series data, namely, sparse and variable electrode distribution across subjects and datasets. The Population Transformer (PopT) [1] stacks on top of pretrained representations of temporal activity (e.g. BrainBERT [2]) and enhances downstream decoding by learned aggregation of data channels. The pretrained PopT lowers the amount of data required for downstream decoding experiments, while increasing accuracy, even on held-out subjects and tasks. Beyond decoding, we visualize the learned attention weights to show how they can be used to extract neuroscience insights from large amounts of data. Full paper, code, and weights available at [1].

*Material, Methods and Results:* **Data**. iEEG data was collected from 10 subjects (total 1,688 electrodes, with a mean of 167 electrodes per subject) who watched 26 movies (19 for pretraining, 7 for downstream decoding) [3]. The downstream decoding tasks were auditory-linguistic features extracted from the movie audio and transcripts. **Model**. PopT consists of a transformer encoder stack, where the input tokens are a [CLS] token and temporal embeddings (E) from an ensemble of channels at time t. The 3D coordinates of each channel are added to each temporal embedding. **Pretraining**. Our self-supervised learning task has two discriminative components: (1) ensemble-wise – the model determines if activities from two channel ensembles occurred consecutively, and (2) channel-wise – the model identifies outlier channels that have been swapped with a different timepoint's activity. **Decoding**. We fine-tune and decode with the intermediate [CLS] embedding attached to a new single linear layer for the specific decoding task. **Results**. We find that fine-tuning and decoding with a pretrained PopT outperforms all baselines of aggregating individual channel embeddings across channel ensemble sizes (Fig 1a). Inspecting the attention weights on our model fine-tuned on decoding periods of Speech vs Non-speech reveals highly responsive language areas such as Wernicke's area (Fig 1b). We further show that pretraining allows one to reach similar performance levels as other models with far fewer samples and compute steps (Fig 1cd).

*Conclusion:* Our work reveals how beneficial self-supervised pretraining on large datasets can be for downstream decoding, neuroscience discovery, while being sample and compute efficient.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We would like to thank our funding sources: Caltech Chen Institute, Caltech Carver Mead New Adventures Fund, and MIT Center for Brains, Minds, and Machines.



Figure 1: Results on the Speech vs Non-speech decoding task. (a) Downstream decoding performance vs ensemble size, (b) attention weight maps from the [CLS] token after fine-tuning, (c,d) sample & compute efficiency of fine-tuning using pretrained vs non-pretrained models.

- Chau G, Wang C, Talukder S, Subramaniam V, Soedarmadji S, Yue Y, Katz B, Barbu A. Population Transformer: Learning Population-level Representations of Neural Activity. arXiv preprint <u>arXiv:2406.03044</u>, 2024 Jun 5.
- [2] Wang C, Subramaniam V, Yaari AU, Kreiman G, Katz B, Cases I, Barbu A. BrainBERT: Self-supervised representation learning for intracranial recordings. arXiv preprint arXiv:2302.14367, 2023 Feb 28.
- [3] Wang C, Yaari AU, Singh AK, Subramaniam V, Rosenfarb D, DeWitt J, Misra P, Madsen JR, Stone S, Kreiman G, Katz B. Brain Treebank: Large-scale intracranial recordings from naturalistic language stimuli. arXiv preprint arXiv:2411.08343. 2024 Nov 13.

## Exploring the Potential of Motor Imagery-Based BCIs for Targeted Motor Function Recovery

M. Hejazi<sup>1</sup>\*, S.Z. Raza<sup>2</sup>, M. Ploughman<sup>2</sup>, S.D. Power<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Engineering and Applied Science; <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University of Newfoundland. \*P.O. Box 4200, St. John's, NL, Canada. E-mail: mhejazi@mun.ca

*Introduction:* Motor imagery (MI)-based brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) activate motor-related brain regions and, through neurofeedback, foster neuroplasticity, offering significant potential for neurorehabilitation [1]. While MI-BCIs have shown success in restoring hand function after stroke, their use in mitigating upper-limb impairments in multiple sclerosis (MS)—a chronic neurodegenerative disorder characterized by impaired motor control and coordination—remains underexplored [2]. This study presents a preliminary investigation into the feasibility of using MI-BCI for targeted therapy of two specific motor function deficits. Using two representative hand tasks—one requiring coordination and the other control (see Figure 1A-B)—the objectives were: 1) to examine whether MI of these tasks alters corticospinal excitability (CSE), indicating the potential for fostering neuroplasticity and improving hand function, and 2) to determine if distinct task-specific neural activation patterns can be detected via electroencephalography (EEG), suggesting they may be targeted with BCI-based neurofeedback training.

*Material, Methods and Results:* Data from twenty-one healthy participants (8 males; mean age: 41.35 ± 8.36 years) were analyzed for this study. Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) was used to assess changes in CSE due to MI of the coordination and control tasks. A single TMS pulse was delivered during intervals of MI and rest and resulting motor-evoked potentials (MEPs) were measured from the first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle (Figure 1C). For the control task, MI significantly increased MEP amplitudes ( $\Delta$ =37.43 µV, p = .005), and decreased MEP latencies ( $\Delta$ =-0.38 ms, p = .003), compared to rest. For the coordination task, MI significantly decreased MEP latencies compared to rest ( $\Delta$ =-0.25 ms, p = .008), but MEP amplitudes were not significantly different ( $\Delta$ =29.69 µV, p = .19). CSE was also assessed during actual execution of the tasks (ME), and changes in both MEP amplitudes and latencies were significantly different from rest for both tasks (control:  $\Delta$ =508.94 µV, p < .001;  $\Delta$ =-1.94 ms, p < .001; coordination:  $\Delta$ =528.23 µV, p < .001;  $\Delta$ =-1.71 ms, p < .001).

In a separate session, 64-channel EEG was recorded as participants performed 60 intervals each of MI and ME of the two tasks, as well as rest. Data were analyzed using the Filter Bank Common Spatial Patterns (FBCSP) algorithm (using delta, theta, alpha, beta, gamma frequency bands) and Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) (see Figure 1D). The control and coordination tasks could be distinguished from rest with average accuracies of 76.3% and 70.2% for MI, and 83.3% and 87.2% for ME. While the average classification accuracies for control vs. coordination were just 61.3% (MI) and 63.6% (ME), accuracies for 9 participants for MI, and 6 for ME, exceeded 70%. The statistical threshold for chance for all accuracies is 58.3% (for n=120 trials,  $\alpha$ =0.05, based on binomial distribution).

*Conclusion:* Increased MEP amplitudes and decreased latencies indicate that CSE increased during the MI tasks, suggesting the potential of these tasks to foster neuroplasticity. On average, the distinct neural patterns differentiating motor control and coordination were detected with accuracy greater than chance, and for some participants with very high accuracy. The results suggest the potential for targeted BCI-based therapy for improving motor control and coordination, though further work is needed to more reliably and specifically identify the neural activation patterns associated with these functions.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors are grateful for the funding support of the MS Society of Canada and the School of Graduate Studies, Memorial University. We declare no conflict of interest.

TMS/EMG C) Mean of MEP Signal de/latency per each sition (MEP) EEG Filter Bank D Signal Feature Classificati isition Common Spatial Patterns (LDA) Extraction (EEG) Processin

Figure 1: (A) Motor Coordination: Touch each finger to the thumb sequentially, and repeat throughout interval.

(B) Motor Control: Extend the hand fully, then bring the four fingers and thumb together, and repeat throughout interval.(C) TMS/EMG Workflow: Key steps for processing MEP amplitude

and latency.

(D) EEG Workflow: Signal acquisition, processing, feature extraction, and classification using LDA to identify neural patterns.

#### References:

[1] M. A. Khan, et al, "Review on motor imagery based BCI systems for upper limb post-stroke neurorehabilitation: From designing to application," *Comput Biol Med*, vol. 123, p. 103843, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.compbiomed.2020.103843.

[2] R. Bertoni, et al, "Unilateral and bilateral upper limb dysfunction at body functions, activity and participation levels in people with multiple sclerosis," *Multiple Sclerosis*, vol. 21, no. 12, pp. 1566–1574, 2015, doi: 10.1177/1352458514567553.

# NAVSync: A Real-Time Neural Audiovisual Synchronization Platform for Silent Speech Research

**Q. Rabbani<sup>1</sup>\*, S. Shah<sup>2</sup>, M. S. Fifier<sup>3</sup>, L. Moro-Velazquez<sup>1</sup>, N. E. Crone<sup>2</sup>** <sup>1</sup>Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, USA; <sup>2</sup>Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA; <sup>3</sup>Johns Hopkins University Applied Physics Laboratory, Laurel, MD, USA

\*600 N Wolfe St, Baltimore, MD 21287. E-mail: qrabbani@jhu.edu

*Introduction:* NAVSync (Neural Audiovisual Synchronization) is a real-time platform developed for silent speech research, aiming to accommodate individuals who cannot produce overt vocal output. By aligning neural signals—such as electrocorticography, microelectrode arrays or neuromuscular recordings—with audiovisual and behavioral data, NAVSync facilitates the study of internal speech production and neural intent, without relying on users' own audio recordings. The system emphasizes ultra-low-latency synchronization, critical for silent speech investigations and interactive training scenarios.

*Material, Methods and Results:* NAVSync integrates multimodal data streams, including target audio playback and dynamic visual cues, to guide users' silent speech attempts. Through a time-synchronized slider interface, participants can align their speech efforts with predefined targets, allowing for userdriven refinement and neural decoding model supervision. The platform achieves packet-level synchronization at the 1-ms scale and system updates in as little as 5 ms, ensuring robust timing consistency across all streams. This versatility positions NAVSync as a useful framework for exploring a wide range of silent speech behaviors and neural decoding strategies, while remaining adaptable to various modalities and experimental contexts.

*Conclusion:* Conference attendees will experience a live, interactive demonstration of NAVSync's synchronization and feedback capabilities, underscoring its broader potential to enhance silent speech studies. By providing precise, real-time alignment of silently produced speech attempts with audiovisual cues, NAVSync can further our understanding of internal speech and help inform future approaches to communication restoration and neural interface design.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: NAVSync was originally developed during Qinwan Rabbani's doctoral work in the Crone and Moro-Velazquez Labs at Johns Hopkins University, supported by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS) Grant UH3NS114439. Qinwan Rabbani served as the primary developer. Foundational components of the web interface were contributed by Samyak Shah, with additional technical assistance and support from Rohit Ganji. System design guidance was provided by Dr. Nathan E. Crone, Dr. Laureano Moro-Velazquez and Dr. Matthew S. Fifer.

## The History and Future of (Re) Defining BCIs

B. Z. Allison<sup>1</sup>\*, G. Schalk<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of California at San Diego, La Jolla, CA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Fudan University, Shanghai, CN \*POB 595, Ridgway, CO. E-mail: ballison@ucsd.edu

*Introduction:* The term "brain-computer interface" and acronym "BCI" have become hot commodities. As BCIs and similar systems become more prominent and powerful, more companies, labs, and other groups will want to expand the definition of "BCI" to include systems that they sell, research, or otherwise promote. In science, engineering, and medicine, definitions are crucial for many reasons. Indeed, several efforts have been made to define BCIs, including clarifying key elements like sending information directly from a brain to a computer, providing feedback to the user, and (near) real-time operation [e.g., 1, 2]. However, other efforts have tried to redefine BCIs. Here, we address these efforts, introduce categories of redefinition approaches, and review why this issue matters.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We reviewed dozens of peer-reviewed articles and other materials that present or discuss the definition of a BCI. The term and acronym were introduced in the first peer-reviewed paper that described a working BCI [3], but this article did not focus on the definition. The first two reviews of BCIs did address the BCI definition [4,5], including key elements such as sending messages directly from the brain to an external device. Soon thereafter, the EU funded two major projects devoted partly to defining BCIs and associated terms [6,7]. IEEE developed a definition a few years ago [8]. The BCI Society devoted a major effort to the BCI definition in 2024, resulting in a definition similar to canon that represents the views of its 445 members at the time of voting [9]. Nonetheless, efforts to broaden the BCI definition continue, most recently and notoriously through [10].

We identify consistent approaches to (re)defining BCI and problems with them. Unsurprisingly, these efforts always try to expand the definition to add the non-BCI systems that its proponents use. Approaches may be nominal, focusing on the term itself. This approach ignores the well-known underlying problems with this term; if we go by the name alone, a keyboard or mouse provides an interface from a brain to a computer. We prefer a canonical approach that considers which systems have been presented as BCIs in conferences, papers, talks, and other mechanisms as well as established definitions. Other approaches include fatalistic, arguing that efforts to define BCI will inevitably be misconstrued by journalists and the public, or financial, which posits that a broader definition would encourage more funding (without mentioning that it would also increase the number of people seeking funding). Arguments have also been made that definitions should be inclusive to avoid hurt feelings.

*Conclusion:* Efforts to redefine BCIs will continue and elicit growing controversy. These redefinition efforts will rarely succeed in establishing a new definition that meets the expectations of its proponents. However, they will succeed in: fomenting and conveying fragmentation; necessitating discussions and replies; and confusing important groups including funding agencies, regulators, journalists, companies, researchers, medical and BCI practitioners, patients, students, instructors, and the public at large.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

- Allison, B. Z., Wolpaw, E. W., & Wolpaw, J. R. (2007). Brain-computer interface systems: progress and prospects. *Expert review of medical devices*, 4(4), 463-474.
- [2] Pfurtscheller, G., Allison, B. Z., Bauernfeind, G., Brunner, C., Solis Escalante, T., Scherer, R., ... & Birbaumer, N. (2010). The hybrid BCI. Frontiers in neuroscience, 4, 1283.
- [3] Vidal, J. J. (1973). Toward direct brain-computer communication. Annual review of Biophysics and Bioengineering, 2(1), 157-180.
- [4] Kübler, A., Kotchoubey, B., Kaiser, J., Wolpaw, J. R., & Birbaumer, N. (2001). Brain-computer communication: Unlocking the locked in. Psychological bulletin, 127(3), 358.
- [5] Wolpaw, J. R., Birbaumer, N., McFarland, D. J., Pfurtscheller, G., & Vaughan, T. M. (2002). Brain-computer interfaces for communication and control. *Clinical neurophysiology*, 113(6), 767-791.
- [6] Future BNCI Project (2012). Future BNCI: A Roadmap for Future Directions in Brain/Neuronal Computer Interaction.
- [7] Brunner, C., Birbaumer, N., Blankertz, B., Guger, C., Kübler, A., Mattia, D., ... & Müller-Putz, G. R. (2015). BNCI Horizon 2020: towards a roadmap for the BCI community. *Brain-computer interfaces*, 2(1), 1-10.
- [8] Easttom, C. (2021). BCI glossary and functional model by the IEEE P2731 working group. Brain-Computer Interfaces, 8(3), 39-41.
- [9] BCI Definition (BCI Society, 2024); <u>https://bcisociety.org/bci-definition</u>.
- [10] Robinson, J. T., Norman, S. L., Angle, M. R., Constandinou, T. G., Denison, T., Donoghue, J. P., ... & Xie, C. (2024). An application-based taxonomy for brain-computer interfaces. *Nature Biomedical Engineering*, 1-3.

## Versatile Modular Research Platform for Brain-Wide Neuroscience in Navigating Non-Human Primates

Jiapeng Yin<sup>1#</sup>, Bin Zhao<sup>1#</sup>, Guoliang Yi<sup>1#</sup>, Haonan Niu<sup>1#</sup>, Mengchuanzhi Yang<sup>1#</sup>, Xiliang Guo<sup>1</sup>, Qiangpei Fu<sup>1</sup>, Dan Li<sup>1</sup>, Jie Sun<sup>1</sup>, Xiaoxing Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Peiyuan Li<sup>1</sup>, Hao Li<sup>1</sup>, Ming Tian<sup>1</sup>, Zhihua Li<sup>1</sup>, Ji Mu<sup>1</sup>, Han Yang<sup>1</sup>, Wei Wang<sup>1</sup>, Yu Zhou<sup>1</sup>, Shibing Wei<sup>1</sup>, Yifan Huang<sup>1</sup>, Zhicheng Shi<sup>1</sup>, Guang Xiong<sup>1</sup>, Hongxiong Jiang<sup>1</sup>, Yafei Cui<sup>1</sup>, Qing Xu<sup>1</sup>, Xuqian Shi<sup>1</sup>, Yang Xie<sup>1</sup>,

Chengyu Tony Li<sup>1</sup>\*

 <sup>1</sup>Lingang Laborabory, Shanghai, 200031, China # These authors contributed equally to this work.
 \* Building 8, 319 Yueyang Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, China; E-mails: Chengyu T. Li, tonylicy@lglab.ac.cn

*Introduction:* Simultaneous high-throughput neural recordings across multiple brain areas significantly enhance our understanding of the neural basis underlying complex animal behaviors. In this study, we developed a versatile, modular research platform for brain-wide recording and modulation in non-human primates engaged in navigation tasks and validated its high performance.

Material, Methods and Results: We developed a highly customizable and modular research platform (Fig.1a) that integrates cranial implants with electrode protection, a low-cost wearable eye-tracking and scene-capturing system, a behavioral event alignment system, 3D-printable monkey chairs, and tailored hardware and software solutions. This platform enables ultra-high-throughput electrophysiology, supporting the simultaneous recording of over 10,000 channels in non-human primates. Additionally, it integrates with Automated Guided Vehicle (AGV) carts, allowing animals to navigate in twodimensional spaces. Using a macaque driving-foraging paradigm, we validated the system's efficiency and reliability for systems neuroscience studies (Fig.1b). Furthermore, an electrically stimulated blindfolded driving-foraging paradigm demonstrated the platform's potential for visual prosthetics research.

*Conclusion:* Our approach not only enhances the efficiency and accessibility of brain-wide systems neuroscience research but also supports BCI studies based on high-density ultra-flexible electrodes.



Figure 1: (a) Main part of the research platform. This platform employs a monkey driving-foraging task as the experimental paradigm and integrates multiple application modules for neuroscience research: 1. Behavioural monitoring of non-human primates, including eye tracking, hand movement monitoring, cart tracing, and joystick force recording. 2. Brain-wide systems neuroscience research, encompassing the design and surgical solutions for whole-brain cranial implants based on CT/fMRI, as well as ultra-high-throughput electrophysiological recording and data analysis solutions. 3. Visual prosthetics research: capturing external visual scenes with a scene capture camera, converting them into multi-channel electrical stimulation signals on line, and transmitting these signals to the monkey's signals recorded simultaneously from over 1,300 channels across more than 10 brain areas, when the monkey is performing a foraging task.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by Lingang Laboratory (Grant No.LG-202105), Shanghai Municipal Science and Technology Major Project (Grant No. 2021SHZDZX). The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

- Melin, M. D., A. Khanal, M. Vasquez, M. B. Ryan, A. K. Churchland and J. Couto (2024). "Large scale, simultaneous, chronic neural recordings from multiple brain areas." *bioRxiv*, 2023.12.22.572441.
- [2] Tian, Y. X., J. P. Yin, C. Y. Wang, Z. L. He, J. Y. Xie, X. S. Feng, Y. Zhou, T. Y. Ma, Y. Xie, X. Li, T. M. Yang, C. Ren, C. Y. Li and Z. T. Zhao (2023). "An Ultraflexible Electrode Array for Large-Scale Chronic Recording in the Nonhuman Primate Brain." Advanced Science 10(33).

## An Assessment of the Impact of Feature Preprocessing on Deep Learning Models for P300 Classification

R. Shimizu, L. M. Collins, B. O. Mainsah\*

Duke University, Durham, NC, USA \*E-mail: boyla.mainsah@duke.edu

*Introduction:* Feature preprocessing is a standard step when using traditional machine learning (ML) models for brain-computer interface (BCI) applications. In contrast, the full channel set and minimally processed data are typically used for deep learning models that automatically learn feature representations from the raw data. The high feature dimensionality of electroencephalography (EEG) signals has implications on BCI classifier performance given the typical amounts of available user-specific training data relative to the number of trainable parameters of a classifier model. The number of parameters is typically in the order of  $10^2$  for traditional ML models vs.  $10^3$  to  $10^6$  for deep learning models, while the amount of user-specific data ranges from  $1 \times 10^3$  to  $6 \times 10^3$  observations to train a P300 classifier. We investigate the impact of various feature preprocessing techniques on deep learning models for P300 classification.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We analysed data from the bigP3BCI dataset, which has data from online P300 speller studies with participants with and without amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) [1]. Participants without ALS in the bigP3BCI dataset have a broader range of online spelling accuracies when compared to participants with ALS in the dataset. Feature extraction techniques applied include channel subset, downsampling and xDAWN filtering [2]. Classifier models include linear discriminant analysis, convolutional neural network and long short-term memory (CNN-LSTM) network [3] and EEGNet [4]. User-specific P300 classifiers were trained on data from the calibration phase and data from the test phase were used to evaluate the performance of the trained classifiers.

Results grouped by participants with and without ALS are shown in Figure 1. The effect conferred by a combination of preprocessing techniques was classifier model and population dependent: all interaction effects of feature preprocessing were statistically significant (p < 0.05), except for CNN-LSTM with a downsampling decimation factor (DF) of 8 and xDAWN filtering.



Figure 1: Box plots of P300 speller character accuracy with various signal preprocessing methods and classifier models (linear discriminant analysis (LDA); convolutional neural network long short-term memory (CNN-LSTM) network; and EEGNet).

*Conclusion:* Overall, deep learning models for P300 classification can derive benefit from feature preprocessing over minimally processed features.

Acknowledgments: This work was funded by the National Institutes of Health (R21DC018347-02S1).

- [1] B. O. Mainsah, C. Fleeting, T. Balmat, E. W. Sellers, and L. M. Collins, "bigP3BCI: An Open, Diverse and Machine Learning Ready P300-based Brain-Computer Interface Dataset," ed. PhysioNet.
- [2] B. Rivet, A. Souloumiac, V. Attina, and G. Gibert, "xDAWN algorithm to enhance evoked potentials: application to brain-computer interface," *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 2035-2043, 2009.
- [3] O. Tal and D. Friedman, "Recurrent Neural Networks for P300-based BCI," in *7th Graz Brain-Computer Interface Conference*, 2017.
- [4] V. J. Lawhern, A. J. Solon, N. R. Waytowich, S. M. Gordon, C. P. Hung, and B. J. Lance, "EEGNet: a compact convolutional neural network for EEG-based brain–computer interfaces," *Journal of Neural Engineering*, vol. 15, no. 5, p. 056013, 2018.

## Fine-Tuning a Foundation Model for Motor Imagery Pediatric Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs)

#### M. Behboodi<sup>1</sup>\*, E. Kinney-Lang<sup>1</sup>, A. Kirton<sup>2</sup>, H. Abou-Zeid<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Schulich School of Engineering, <sup>2</sup>Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada \*University of Calgary, 2500 University Drive, Calgary, Canada. E-mail: <u>mohammadreza.behbood@ucalgary.ca</u>

*Introduction:* Previous research has shown that BCI classification accuracy heavily relies on the availability of sufficient training EEG data for each participant. However, limited EEG recording durations—especially in pediatric populations—pose significant challenges. Furthermore, variations in brain responses between users and across multiple BCI sessions hinder the generalizability of models, often necessitating lengthy calibration sessions [1]. Recent advancements in foundation models and self-supervised learning offer potential solutions to these challenges. Foundation models are large-scale, pre-trained neural networks designed to generalize across multiple tasks by learning from extensive, unlabelled datasets. They can be fine-tuned for specific downstream classification tasks using minimal labelled data. These models have achieved groundbreaking results in fields like natural language processing, setting new performance benchmarks. This research is the first to explore the application of foundation models in pediatric BCIs, addressing the critical issue of limited training data in this population.

*Material, Methods:* This study utilized a dataset comprising left/right hand Motor Imagery (MI) EEG data from 32 typically developing pediatric participants (ages 5–17). The dataset included 19 EEG channels following the standard 10-20 electrode placement system. We employed a pre-trained foundation model, EEGPT [2], which outperformed alternative models due to its pre-training on a large, multi-task adult EEG dataset. After preprocessing the pediatric dataset for compatibility with EEGPT, we developed a pipeline to fine-tune the model for the downstream classification task using a linear probing approach. Classification accuracies for the training and test sets were calculated for all participants and compared to those achieved by a Convolutional Neural Network (CNN) trained from scratch.

*Results:* Fig. 1 presents the classification accuracy for the 32 pediatric participants using the fine-tuned foundation model ( $58\%\pm3.7$ ) compared to a CNN classifier trained from scratch ( $48\%\pm5.8$ ). Early results demonstrate that the foundation model pre-trained on adult data and fine-tuned for pediatric data classification yields acceptable performance and outperforms the CNN model.

*Conclusion:* This study highlights the potential of foundation models in pediatric BCI systems, representing a significant step toward practical, high-performance pediatric BCI applications.

Acknowledgments: We thank the Alberta Graduate Excellence Scholarship for funding this research.

![](_page_233_Figure_10.jpeg)

Figure 1. Box plot with scatter points showing classification accuracies for the Motor Imagery task across 32 pediatric subjects.

#### *References:*

- [1] Guetschel P, Ahmadi S, and Tangermann M. Review of deep representation learning techniques for brain-computer interfaces. *Journal of Neural Engineering*, 2024.
- [2] Wang G, Liu W, He Y, Xu C, Ma L, and Li H. EEGPT: Pretrained Transformer for Universal and Reliable Representation of EEG Signals. presented at The Thirty-eighth Annual Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, 2024.

CC BY 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en This CC license does not apply to third party material and content noted otherwise

## **Considerations for Utilizing the mindBEAGLE's Hybrid BCI-Based Paradigms in Bilingual Patients with Decompressive** Hemicraniectomy and Hydrocephalus: A Case Study

A.M Lieto<sup>1</sup>\*, A.K Wagner<sup>2</sup>, S. Baker<sup>1</sup>, E. Mariperisena-Meinert<sup>1</sup>, S. Koo<sup>2</sup>, A. Yan<sup>2</sup>, K. Franzese<sup>2</sup>, G. Galang<sup>2</sup>, A. Bauer<sup>2</sup>, N. Enam<sup>3</sup>, K.Hill<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Pittsburgh School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, Pittsburgh, PA, USA; <sup>2</sup>University of Pittsburgh Medical Center (UPMC), Pittsburgh, PA, USA; <sup>3</sup>University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA \*6017 Forbes Tower, University of Pittsburgh, Oakland, PA 15260. E-mail: aml454@pitt.edu

Introduction: Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) like the mindBEAGLE offer promising avenues for assessing cognition and facilitating communication in patients with disorders of consciousness (DoC).[1] However, applying this technology to bilingual patients with complex neurological conditions, such as those who have undergone decompressive hemicraniectomy (DHC) and have

hydrocephalus, presents unique challenges. This case study investigates considerations and potential adaptations when using mindBEAGLE in this patient population.

Materials and Methods: This case study examines a 64-year-old female patient who underwent decompressive bilingual hemicraniectomy (DHC) following a ruptured arteriovenous malformation. The mindBEAGLE system was utilized to assess cognition and communication potential, with task instructions tailored to the patient's native language and cultural background.[2] Consideration was given to the effects of altered brain geometry and biomechanics due to DHC and hydrocephalus on EEG signal quality and reliability.[3-5] Data analysis is ongoing using g.tec's g.BSanalyze software. EEG recordings will be analyzed Figure 1 3D Brain Montage of EEG

![](_page_234_Picture_8.jpeg)

Figure 2 VT7 Assessment Output: Average Evoked Related Potential (ERP) of Channel Cz

![](_page_234_Picture_10.jpeg)

considering the Electrodes

disrupted skull integrity and potential changes in signal propagation. The presentation will include these results with an evaluation of biosignal quality, the significance of evoked potentials, and the electrode configurations required for successful paradigm completion.

Conclusion: This case study provides valuable insights into the challenges of applying BCI technology in patients with complex neurological conditions. Our findings highlight the obstacles

encountered and accommodations used to address the unique needs of this patient's altered brain biomechanics and bilingual background.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The team extends its gratitude to the Beckwith Institute Clinical Transformation Research Program and the UPMC Rehabilitation Institute for their funding and support. We also acknowledge Jessa Darwin for program management, Vishruth Pradeep Reddy and Celeste Picone for data management, and Jennifer Biller and Kim Huster for research coordination.

- [1] C. Guger et al., "MindBEAGLE-A new system for the assessment and communication with patients with disorders of consciousness and complete locked-in syndrom," in 2017 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC), 2017: IEEE, pp. 3008-3013.
- [2] C. Herbert, "Brain-computer interfaces and human factors: the role of language and cultural differences-Still a missing gap?," Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, vol. 18, 2024 Apr 11, doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2024.1305445.
- [3] S. Gholampour, D. Frim, B. Yamini, S. Gholampour, D. Frim, and B. Yamini, "Long-term recovery behavior of brain tissue in hydrocephalus patients after shunting," Communications Biology 2022 5:1, vol. 5, no. 1, 2022-11-08, doi: 10.1038/s42003-022-04128-8.
- B. Voytek et al., "Hemicraniectomy: A New Model for Human Electrophysiology with High Spatio-Temporal Resolution," Journal [4] of cognitive neuroscience, vol. 22, no. 11, 2010 Nov, doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21384.
- L. G, Z. L, W. X, Z. H, and L. Y, "Decompressive Craniectomy for Patients with Traumatic Brain Injury: A Pooled Analysis of [5] Randomized Controlled Trials - PubMed," World neurosurgery, vol. 133, 2020 Jan, doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2019.08.184.

# ezmsg: An Enhanced Open-Source Framework for High-Performance Brain-Computer Interface Development

C Boulay<sup>1,2</sup>, G Milsap<sup>3</sup>, P Peranich<sup>3</sup>, S Aswegan<sup>2</sup>, J Ramos da Cruz<sup>1</sup>, J Dunant<sup>1</sup>, D Ibanez<sup>1</sup>, S Kellis<sup>2</sup>, R Franklin<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>The Wyss Center for Bio and Neuro Engineering, Geneva, Switzerland. <sup>2</sup>Blackrock Neurotech, Salt Lake City UT, USA. <sup>3</sup>Applied Physics Laboratory, Johns Hopkins University, Laurel MD, USA.

We present significant updates to *ezmsg* ("easy message") – a high-performance execution engine and multiprocessing backend implemented in pure Python – to enhance its capability as a robust, flexible software framework for real-time signal processing in BCI development. Originally created at Johns Hopkins' Applied Physics Lab, and introduced publicly at Society for Neuroscience 2024 [1], *ezmsg* has been successfully deployed in multiple clinical BCI studies [2, 3], and in ongoing efforts at Blackrock Neurotech and the Wyss Center's INTRECOM and W-ICONS studies utilizing ABILITY implant technology.

This work introduces major enhancements to the *ezmsg* ecosystem that expand its utility for BCI research and development. Core improvements include state persistence and rehydration in *ezmsg-sigproc*, enabling module reuse on scalable cloud platforms. New modules provide essential functionality: *ezmsg-tools* for graph introspection and profiling, *ezmsg-learn* for machine learning inference and online adaptation, and *ezmsg-event* for processing sparse neural events such as action potentials and physiological signals. All components are available as open-source software under permissive licensing [4].

To demonstrate real-world performance, we implemented a representative BCI pipeline that processes 256-channel ECoG data for speech decoding, approximating the methodology described in Metzger et al., 2023 [5]. This implementation achieves processing latencies of 2.75 ms per data chunk on consumer hardware, extracting both high-gamma and low-frequency features and performing phoneme classification via PyTorch.

*ezmsg*'s combination of flexibility, modularity, and performance makes it well-suited for both rapid prototyping of online BCI systems and offline analysis for medical device validation. With continued industrial support, we are committed to expanding the *ezmsg*'s capabilities and optimizing its performance for the evolving needs of the BCI community.

#### References:

- [1] Milsap et al., Society for Neuroscience 2024. Online.
- [2] Luo S, Angrick M, Coogan C, Candrea D, Wyse-Sookoo K, Shah S, Rabbani Q, Milsap G, Weiss A, Anderson W, Tippett D, Maragakis N, Clawson L, Vansteensel M, Wester B, Tenore F, Hermansky H, Fifer M, Ramsey N, Crone N. Stable Decoding from a Speech BCI Enables Control for an Individual with ALS without Recalibration for 3 Months. Advanced Science, 10:35, 2023.
- [3] Angrick M, Luo S, Rabbani Q, Candrea D, Shah S, Milsap G, Anderson W, Gordon C, Rosenblatt K, Clawson L, Tippett D, Maragakis N, Tenore F, Fifer M, Hermansky H, Ramsey N, Crone N. Online speech synthesis using a chronically implanted brain-computer interface in an individual with ALS. Scientific Reports 14, 2024.

[5] Metzger S, Littlejohn K, Silva A, Moses D, Seaton M, Wang R, Dougherty M, Liu J, Wu P, Berger M, Zhuravleva I, Tu-Chan A, Ganguly K, Anumanchipalli G, Chang E. A high-performance neuroprosthesis for speech decoding and avatar control. Nature 620, 2023.

<sup>[4]</sup> https://github.com/ezmsg-org

## Gathering Clinicians' Perspectives for an Initial Design for Hybrid BCI Wheelchair Control

Maria Insuasty-Pineda<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Lesley Pritchard<sup>1,2</sup>, John Andersen<sup>2,3</sup>, Leah Hammond<sup>2</sup>, Kim

Adams<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta, Canada <sup>2</sup>Imagination Centre Brain-Computer Interface Program, Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital, Canada <sup>3</sup>Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta, Canada <sup>\*</sup>T6G 2G4, Edmonton, Canada. E-mail:insuasty@ualberta.ca

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) offer a potential solution for children with significant motor disabilities who experience limitations using powered wheelchairs with conventional control methods. Hybrid-BCI (hBCIs) offer enhanced control options compared to single-input BCI [1], yet their optimal design for pediatric users remains unexplored. This poster presents the pilot testing of an online asynchronous codevelopment method to build a clinically-informed initial design of an hBCI for wheelchair control before doing user-centred design and usability testing with children with motor disabilities and their families [2].

*Material, Methods and Results:* Using usability design approaches, we conducted sequential remote think-out-loud sessions with two occupational therapists (OTs) via  $Zoom^{TM}$ . OTs interacted with a low-fidelity prototype [3] of a switch and motor imagery-based hBCI, while controlling a simulated wheelchair with direct and indirect control methods (Fig. 1). The prototype included simulated input buttons, a wheelchair image that responded to directional commands, and targets in three predefined positions. OTs thought-out-loud about the function and design of the system while moving the wheelchair and their comments were recorded. GUI modifications based on clinician issues and

were implemented feedback during sessions. Qualitative data was collected through structured interviews (recorded, transcribed) addressing system functionality, graphics, accessibility, and usability. Recommended changes were made to the design and then used as the starting interface for the next OT. The two clinicians identified 14 design suggestions. Key modifications identified included using colour for engagement, enhanced contrast and interface element sizing for accessibility, and integration of audio for users with visual impairment (Fig 1).

![](_page_236_Figure_9.jpeg)

*Conclusion:* This pilot study involved clinicians in the early stages of hBCI design for wheelchair control. The iterative, clinician-informed design process advanced an initial prototype incorporating essential clinical considerations. This process and initial prototype will be used in a future study to gather user and system requirements with more clinicians. This clinician-driven approach will potentially lead to a more effective and user-friendly hBCI system for use in subsequent usability testing with children with motor disabilities to control powered mobility.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This research was funded by MITACS and the Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital Foundation. The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

- G. Pfurtscheller, B. Allison, C. Brunner, G. Bauernfeind, T. Solis-Escalante, Reinhold Scherer, T. Zander, G. Mueller-Putz, C. Neuper and N. Birbaumer. "The Hybrid BCI." Frontiers in Neuroscience, 4 (2010). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnpro.2010.00003</u>.
- [2] Kübler, A., Holz, E., Kaufmann, T., & Zickler, C. (2013). A User Centred Approach for Bringing BCI Controlled Applications to End-Users. In Brain-Computer Interface Systems—Recent Progress and Future Prospects. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/55802
- [3] Rubin, Jeffrey, and Dana Chisnell. Handbook of Usability Testing: How to Plan, Design, and Conduct Effective Tests, John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated, 2008.

# **Bimanual BCI: Combining a Brain-Controlled Hand Exoskeleton with the Functional Limb**

# Satyam Kumar<sup>1</sup>\*, Kanishka Mitra<sup>1</sup>, Ruofan Liu<sup>1</sup>, Hussein Alawieh<sup>1</sup>, Akhil Surapaneni<sup>2</sup>, Ashish D. Deshpande<sup>3</sup>, José del R. Millán<sup>1,2,4</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Chandra Family Dept. of Electrical and Computer Engineering, <sup>2</sup>Dept. of Biomedical Engineering, <sup>3</sup> Walker Dept. of Mechanical Engineering, <sup>4</sup>Dept. of Neurology. The University of Texas at Austin, TX, USA.

\* E-mail: satyam.kumar@utexas.edu, jose.millan@austin.utexas.edu

*Introduction:* Brain-controlled robotic systems have demonstrated promise as personalized assistive tools [1]. Yet current BCIs largely focus on unilateral exoskeletons for basic functions [2], offering limited utility in real-world tasks demanding bilateral coordination. This is critical for individuals with unilateral motor impairments, who could combine a BCI-controlled exoskeleton for the affected limb with overt motor actions of the healthy limb. Although the motor cortex supports simultaneous movements, non-invasive electroencephalogram (EEG)-based BCIs remain understudied in this context [3]. Here we show that a BCI decoder trained on a unimanual task can be reliably transferred to more complex bimanual tasks without requiring bimanual-specific calibration.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* The study involved 7 subjects completing 6 sessions, beginning with a calibration session to build a motor imagery (MI) BCI for right-hand flexion versus rest that controls a hand exoskeleton [4]. In the first two online sessions, subjects performed unimanual MI tasks (rest vs right-hand flexion imagery) with closed-loop feedback, while in the last three sessions, they performed bimanual tasks combining MI-BCI of the right hand with functional tasks of the left hand. Bimanual trials included combinations of left-hand rest/force application in a prespecified range and right-hand rest/exoskeleton control. We used a Riemannian approach [5] to cope with non-stationarities in feature distributions for robust decoder transfer across tasks and over multiple sessions. Figure 1(a) shows subject-level BCI decoding performance, with a significant improvement from U1 ( $0.301 \pm 0.199$ ) to U2 ( $0.440 \pm 0.232$ , p < 0.01), a decline from U2 to B1 (p = 0.0185), and subsequent improvement from B1 ( $0.217 \pm 0.157$ ) to B3 ( $0.368 \pm 0.201$ , p < 0.01). Figures 1(b) and 1(c) reveal that this improvement is guided with increased feature separability, as quantified by the Riemannian distinctiveness metric, improving from U1 ( $0.125 \pm 0.046$ ) to U2 ( $0.168 \pm 0.084$ , p = 0.039) and from B1 ( $0.104 \pm 0.041$ ) to B3 ( $0.150 \pm 0.069$ , p < 0.01).

![](_page_237_Figure_8.jpeg)

Figure 1. Bimanual BCI control a) Kappa value of BCI performance for unimanual (U) and bimanual (B) online sessions. b, c) Riemann Distinctiveness for unimanual and bimanual online sessions, respectively. Each marker represents an individual participant's data point, with lines connecting values across unimanual sessions U1, U2 and bimanual sessions B1, B2, B3.

*Conclusion:* Our findings demonstrate that unimanual-trained BCIs can successfully transfer to bimanual tasks, with participants achieving better feature distinctiveness and decoding performance through multi-day training, despite initial performance drops during the unimanual-to-bimanual transition. Our analysis highlights the importance of longitudinal training for robust bimanual BCI control. Our study highlights the viability of transferring unimanual BCI decoders to bimanual tasks, paving the way for more natural and efficient assistive control that enhances real-world functional independence for individuals with motor impairments.

#### **References:**

[1] Tonin L. and Millán J.d.R., "Noninvasive brain-machine interfaces for robotic devices." Annu. Rev. Control Robot. Auton. Syst., 2021.

[2] Mitra K., et. al., "Characterizing the onset and offset of motor imagery during passive arm movements induced by an upper-body exoskeleton." *IEEE IROS*, 2023.

[3] Cheung W., et. al., "Simultaneous brain-computer interfacing and motor control: Expanding the reach of non-invasive BCIs." IEEE EMBC, 2012.

[4] Yun Y., et. al., "Maestro: An EMG-driven assistive hand exoskeleton for spinal cord injury patients." IEEE ICRA, 2017.

[5] Kumar S. et. al., "Transfer learning promotes acquisition of individual BCI skills." PNAS Nexus, 2024.

# Brain-Computer Interface Operation in Virtual Reality for Children with Complex Mobility Needs

P. Madill<sup>1\*</sup>, Dr E. Sharlin<sup>1</sup>, Dr E. Kinney-Lang<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> University of Calgary, Calgary AB, Canada <sup>\*</sup>2500 University Drive NW, Calgary AB, T2N 1N4, Canada. E-mail: philippa.madill@ucalgary.ca

*Introduction:* Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCIs) are an interaction method that presents an abundance of opportunity for people with low or limited mobility which rely on power mobility devices (PMDs) such as power wheelchairs. Combining these technologies open the doors for independence of movement through BCI control of a power wheelchair. Testing such an apparatus in physical space presents many challenges and hazards, such as walls, ledges, and free standing physical obstacles. These challenges may be avoided

by testing an analogous system in a virtual environment using immersive Virtual Reality (VR). By practicing in VR, skills develop that should allow for increased performance of an analogous physical system without the hazards that operating such an apparatus with no prior experience would provide [1], [2]. Additionally, the novelty and potential gamification of the system may increase the appeal to juvenile populations and resultantly improve performance on an analogous physical system. This work aims to establish a Virtual Reality Digital Twin of these systems to

![](_page_238_Picture_6.jpeg)

Figure 1: Image of the preliminary setup in VR exemplifying how a user would interact with the system.

enable children with complex mobility needs to practice independent movement in comfortable and safe spaces.

*Material, Methods and Results:* An immersive simulation was designed in the Unity3D game engine in which users utilize a P300 paradigm to make selections to move throughout a simulated space (see Fig 1). This environment contains a road with multiple turns and straightaways for a user to engage with steering in more than one direction for varying durations.

Through testing of the system, it is expected that confidence in performance of both the individual and the physical system will increase, leading to increased independence of movement for juvenile populations in which this is lacking. Testing of the system involves a user donning both a DSI-7 (Wearable Sensing) dry-electrode BCI headset with 7 channels, placed underneath an immersive Meta Quest 2 VR headset. Participants are then instructed to attempt to complete one lap of the circuitous road in the simulation through P300 control. The time this takes for completion is recorded, along with the number of intended and unintended selections made by the user. After completing the single lap, participants are asked to complete a multi-question questionnaire to assess considerations about their mental workload, user experience, user interface, and overall satisfaction with the combined BCI+VR system.

*Conclusion:* This is ongoing work, and our early results are based on first prototypes tested with able bodied adults. This work enables operation of a power wheelchair through a BCI+VR system that can improve quality of life for many children. The potential to practice operating such a system safely in a virtual environment that mimics a real-world device, the Neuromove, is very promising; this eliminates many of the hazards present in the physical world and can make the application of relevant skills in the physical world much easier and more accessible, particularly for children.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: Thank you to the BCI4Kids and iLab laboratories at the University of Calgary, as well as the teaching team of CPSC502.07.

<sup>[1]</sup> Y.-P. Chen *et al.*, "Use of virtual reality to improve upper-extremity control in children with cerebral palsy: a single-subject design," *Phys. Ther.*, vol. 87, no. 11, pp. 1441–1457, 2007.

<sup>[2]</sup> S. Drisdelle, L. Power, S. Thieu, and J. Sheriko, "Developing an Immersive Virtual Reality Training System for Novel Pediatric Power Wheelchair Users: Protocol for a Feasibility Study," *JMIR Res. Protoc.*, vol. 11, no. 10, p. e39140, Oct. 2022, doi: 10.2196/39140.

## Brain-Computer Gaming Control through Imagined Speech Commands in Single-player

A. R. Cuevas Romero<sup>1\*</sup>, L. M. Alonso-Valerdi<sup>1</sup>, L. A. Muñoz-Ubando<sup>1</sup>, A. Torres-García<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Escuela de Ingeniería y Ciencias, Tecnológico de Monterrey, Nuevo León, México; <sup>2</sup>Instituto Nacional de Astrofísica, Óptica y Electrónica (INAOE), Puebla, México;

\*Escuela de Ingeniería y Ciencias, Tecnológico de Monterrey, Nuevo León, México. E-mail: A00825413@tec.mx

*Introduction:* Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) controls are traditionally managed by motor imagery, acting as a proxy for directional commands. Using imagined speech (IS), the user's intent directly conveys directions which makes the experience more engaging while closely mirroring real-life situations [1]. In this study, we developed two modes of a BCI controlled, calibration and singleplayer. We evaluated the user's subjective experience and examined whether these two modes shared similarities through a learning model. This approach integrates strategy, dynamic lighting, and immersive sounds, effectively mimicking the environments where a BCI would typically be utilized.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* Twenty-six healthy volunteers (19 males, 7 females, aged  $20.1 \pm 1.09$ , range 18–24) participated in the experiment. All were right-handed native Spanish speakers from Mexico with no speech or language production issues and no clinically diagnosed attention deficit disorders or physical impairments. EEG data was collected using an 8-channel EEG Unicorn Hybrid Black head-set (250Hz sampling rate) with electrodes placed at FC3, C3, F5, FC5, C5, F7, FT7, and T7.

Participants completed demographic questionnaires. They then engaged with a non-invasive, endogenous, synchronous, active, and discrete BCI in the form of a maze-like video game. Post-game, they answered a Flow State Questionnaire (FSQ) and Sense of Agency Scale (SoAS).

The calibration mode followed automatic movements to train a classifier, used in the singleplayer mode to predict their imagined speech commands in real time. Misclassifications provided additional samples for the classifier, which biased the data set in one direction, see Fig. 1.

The FSQ presented a score greater than 3 on a scale of 1 to 5. The lowest Sense of Positive Agency was 50% and the highest Sense of Negative Agency was 67%.

Regarding the EEG data, classifying the directions was underwhelming, with accuracies no bet-

![](_page_239_Figure_12.jpeg)

Figure 1: "Boxplot displaying the total commands per direction in singleplayer mode and the time taken to execute them. There were more trials for directions where the classifier had the highest error rates.

ter than chance level (25%). However, classification between the two game modes using EEGconformer [2] achieved an accuracy of 84%, a minimum accuracy of 48%, and a maximum accuracy of 100%.

*Conclusion:* Despite the biased real-time classifier, the overall public response showed a positive Sense of Agency and Flow State. Interestingly, even though the calibration and single-player EEG recordings were conducted within the same hour-long session, the classifier could distinguish them. This observation suggests that a dedicated calibration section might not be reliable for the game, as it may not capture the challenge of actual gameplay. Therefore, a dynamic approach where the game learns and adapts in real-time is recommended. Last, an additional contribution of this work is an IS-based dataset recorded during the two game modes.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was supported by Secihti, Tecnológico de Monterrey and the NeuroTechs research group. The authors declare no competing interests.

- A. Mohamed Selim, M. Rekrut, M. Barz, and D. Sonntag, "Speech Imagery BCI Training Using Game with a Purpose," Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference on Advanced Visual Interfaces. ACM, pp. 1–5, Jun. 03, 2024. doi: 10.1145/3656650.3656654.
- [2] Y. Song, Q. Zheng, B. Liu, and X. Gao, "EEG Conformer: Convolutional Transformer for EEG Decoding and Visualization," IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering, vol. 31. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), pp. 710–719, 2023. doi: 10.1109/tnsre.2022.3230250.

## **EEG Data Segmentation Inducing Performance Overestimation**

Nazmun N Khan<sup>1\*</sup>, Taylor Sweet<sup>1</sup>, Chase A Harvey<sup>1</sup>, Calder Knapp<sup>1</sup>, Dean J. Krusienski<sup>2</sup>, David E Thompson<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Mike Wiegers Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS, USA. <sup>2</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, USA.

\*1701D Platt St., Manhattan, KS 66506, USA. E-mail: nkhan1@ksu.edu

*Introduction:* We contend that methodological flaws can lead to overestimations in accuracy for affective state estimation using EEG. One significant methodological flaw is segmentation of EEG data. To explore how EEG data segmentation affects performance, we conducted binary classification experiments using two EEG-based emotion datasets and one additional EEG dataset collected from a watermelon.

*Material, Methods and Results:* One of the datasets, collected at Kansas State, includes three published stimuli sets. Each stimulus was presented for 15 seconds, and participants rated it on valence, arousal, and dominance using a 5-point Self-Assessment Manikin. Thirty participants experienced 240 stimuli in total. EEG data were recorded using a 64-channel Cognionics system sampling at 500 Hz. The second dataset, collected at Virginia Commonwealth University, consists of EEG signals from 30 participants who viewed 12 one-minute video clips [1]. The third dataset, inspired by [2] was also collected at Kansas State and consists of EEG data recorded from a watermelon over a one-hour session using the same experimental setup as the first dataset. We created forty 60-second trials with a 30-second interval between consecutive trials and assigned binary random ratings for each trial.

Each trial in the first dataset originally lasted 15 seconds. To increase the sample size, we segmented each trial into n-second intervals. For example, by segmenting into 1-second trials, the total number of trials increased to  $3600 (240 \text{ trials} \times 15 \text{ seconds})$ . By varying n (i.e., using different trial durations), we assessed the impact of segmentation on all three datasets. The power spectral density (PSD) was averaged across four frequency bands: theta, alpha, beta, and gamma band. A binary classification with kNN was applied using the mean valence ratings as a threshold, followed by 4-fold cross-validation to calculate accuracy.

Fig 1. shows the mean classification accuracy of all participants on the valence axis for the emotion datasets and accuracy for the watermelon EEG data. The blue line represents the original accuracy, and the orange line represents accuracy by applying leave-one-trial out. From the figure, it is observed that increasing the number of trials enhances classification performance in subject-dependent analyses. Nearly 93% accuracy can be achieved with the segmentation of watermelon EEG data. However, accuracy drops to chance levels when leave-one-trial out is performed.

*Discussion:* This study offers a preliminary analysis of EEG data segmentation's impact on affective state estimation. High classification accuracy from EEG signals of a watermelon can be achieved by simply segmenting trials, despite the absence of genuine neural responses. The overestimated accuracy across all three datasets suggests that it may be due to inherent temporal autocorrelations in EEG signals.

![](_page_240_Figure_11.jpeg)

Figure 1: Mean accuracy of all participants using different segmentation durations for three datasets (Top: Emotion dataset, Middle: VR dataset, Bottom: Watermelon dataset)

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This study was supported by NSF under award #1910526. Findings and opinions within this work do not necessarily reflect the positions of the National Science Foundation.

- M. Kumar, C. Delaney, P. Z. Soroush, Y. Yamani and D. J. Krusienski, "Characterization of Affective States in Virtual Reality Environments using EEG," 2021 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC), Melbourne, Australia, 2021, pp. 2689-2693, doi: 10.1109/SMC52423.2021.9658916.
- [2] Xu, X., Wang, B., Xiao, B., Niu, Y., Wang, Y., Wu, X., & Chen, J. (2024, May 27). Beware of Overestimated Decoding Performance Arising from Temporal Autocorrelations in Electroencephalogram Signals. arXiv.org. https://arxiv.org/abs/2405.17024.

## **Robotic Exploratory Control Via Subcortical Oscillations**

Ian Jackson<sup>1\*</sup>, Raunit Kohli<sup>1</sup>, Rhiannon Lucero-Moore<sup>1</sup>, Laleh K Quinn<sup>1</sup>, Leo Breston<sup>1</sup>, Janet Wiles<sup>2</sup>, Andrea A. Chiba<sup>1</sup>, Eric Leonardis<sup>1,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, USA; <sup>2</sup>The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia; <sup>3</sup>Salk Institute for Biological Studies, La Jolla, CA, USA

\*9500 Gilman Dr, La Jolla, CA, USA. E-mail: ijackson@ucsd.edu

Introduction: Navigation through real-world environments remains a difficult task in intelligent robotics, due to a constantly changing landscape of potential hazards and new information. To address this, roboticists and neuroscientists have turned to the brains and behaviors of rodents — some of nature's most successful explorers — to inspire optimal solutions. [1-2] Most approaches model patterns of activation in the hippocampus and associated circuitry, leveraging rodents' exceptional memory of spatiotemporal sequences for navigation. None, however, have utilized the coupled activity of multiple subcortical regions that balance navigation with regulation (e.g., grooming, immobility), a key optimization that animals use in real-world scenarios. Indeed, activity in the amygdala, olfactory bulb, hippocampus, along with their functional couplings, have been shown to be instrumental during free-roaming and navigation tasks involving potential stressors (e.g., novel objects, fear stimuli, conspecifics, or autonomous agents). [3-5] This recruitment of regions involved in both regulation and exploration reflects the strategy of switching between these behaviors observed in rats during these paradigms. The current research investigates the effectiveness of neural oscillations in these brain regions as control signals for robotic navigation, using the natural hierarchy of rodent subcortical activity as a decision-making architecture for a self-monitoring neurorobotic system. Building such hierarchical control systems with self-regulatory mechanisms is crucial for developing intelligent robotics that perform natural tasks as biological agents do.

Material, Methods and Results: For this study, we utilize PiRat, a rat-sized robot used in several previous ratrobot interaction studies. [3] In our simple paradigm, the robot is equipped with a two-dimensional action space A and a five-dimensional state space S (Fig. 1). We begin our investigation with an offline training procedure using data from previous recording sessions, during which rats with tetrode implants in the CA2 region of the hippocampus (CA2) and stereotrodes in the medial amygdala (MeA) and main olfactory bulb (MOB) were allowed

to roam freely in the presence of a conspecific. [3] During offline training, a behavioral cloning (BC) neural network model designed in PyTorch was trained to generate action  $a \in A$  based on state  $s \in S$  (70/30 train/test split). We then ran the model on the remaining test data, and the actions generated by the model at each timestep were combined into a continuous trajectory of resulting positions. These were compared to the actual rat positions at each corresponding timestep, serving as a metric for sen based on previous work). [3]

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{S} = \{ \mathbf{s} : (\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{LFP_{mob}}), \mathbf{LFP_{amyg}}, \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{LFP_{ca2}})) | \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{LFP} \in \mathbf{R} \} \\ \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{x}(\mathbf{t})) = \arg \max_{\mathbf{f} : \in [\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{12}]} \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{f}) \\ \mathbf{A} = \{ \mathbf{a} : (\mathbf{v}, \theta) | \mathbf{v} \in [-\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}], \theta \in [\mathbf{0}, \pi] \} \end{split}$$

Figure 1: State space (S) and Action space (A) defined for behavioral cloning model. Function M denotes frequency with greatest power within the theta frequency band (range cho-

how rodent-like the robot's free roaming behavior was. At the current stage of this work, we have learned a state and action space for the paradigm, and are in the development stages of the BC model.

Conclusion: The defined state and action spaces demonstrate that rodent-like exploratory and regulatory behaviors may be generated via streams of local field potential data from CA2, MOB, and MeA.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: Here we acknowledge the invaluable contributions of our team. These include Pauline Pounds, Scott Heath, Carlos Ramirez-Brinez, Jonathon Taufatofua, Ola Olsson, Luisa Schuster, without whom this work would not be possible. This work was funded by R01 MH110514/MH/NIMH and the NSF BRAIN EAGER SMA 1451221. The authors do not claim any conflict of interest.

- [1] Bai, Y., Shao, S., Zhang, J., Zhao, X., Fang, C., Wang, T., Wang, Y., Zhao, H. A Review of Brain-Inspired Cognition and Navigation Technology for Mobile Robots. In Cyborg and Bionic Systems (Vol. 5), 0128, 2024.
- [2] Tang, H., Yan, R., Tan, K. C. Cognitive Navigation by Neuro-Inspired Localization, Mapping, and Episodic Memory. In IEEE Transactions on Cognitive and Developmental Systems (Vol. 10, Issue 3), 751-761, 2018.
- [3] Leonardis, E. J., Breston, L., Lucero-Moore, R., Sena, L., Kohli, R., Schuster, L., Barton-Gluzman, L., Quinn, L. K., Wiles, J., Chiba, A. A. Interactive neurorobotics: Behavioral and neural dynamics of agent interactions. In Frontiers in Psychology (Vol. 13), 2022.
- [4] Gourévitch, B., Kay, L. M., Martin, C. Directional Coupling From the Olfactory Bulb to the Hippocampus During a Go/No-Go Odor Discrimination Task. In Journal of Neurophysiology (Vol. 103, Issue 5), 2633-2641, 2010.
- [5] Pitkanen, A., Pikkarainen, M., Nurminen, N., Ylinen, A. Reciprocal Connections between the Amygdala and the Hippocampal Formation, Perirhinal Cortex, and Postrhinal Cortex in Rat: A Review. In Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences (Vol. 911, Issue 1), 369-391, 2000.
- [6] Chiba, A. A., Krichmar, J. L. Neurobiologically Inspired Self-Monitoring Systems. In Proceedings of the IEEE (Vol. 108, Issue 7), 976–986, 2020.

# Accuracy Analysis of P300 BCI Famous Face Stimuli

FD Vigil<sup>1</sup>, G Ma<sup>2</sup>, JE Huggins<sup>3</sup>

University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan, U.S.A. <sup>1</sup>Department Of Mathematics, <sup>2</sup>Department of Biostatistics, <sup>3</sup>Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation E-mail: vigil@umich.edu

*Introduction:* The P300 brain-computer interface (BCI) paradigm relies on stimuli to elicit a P300 response in a BCI user. For the P300 BCIs that use flashing stimuli, prior literature [1] has shown that P300 systems that flash famous faces yield higher accuracy rates than the traditional flashing text stimuli. Currently the University of Michigan Direct Brain Interface (UMDBI) lab uses a tiled, repeating pattern of 16 famous faces as the flashing stimulus (Fig. 1). Faces are arranged to maximize visual contrast between adjacent faces. This study investigates if the different faces produce different accuracy in P300 BCI use.

*Methods:* The P300 BCI data analyzed for this investigation was collected from 5 participants over 6 sessions (about a week apart) using a P300 BCI to access a PRC-Saltillo communication device keyboard with word prediction. For each participant, the BCI was calibrated with data from 20 selections at 15 sequences and the number of sequences optimized for use. The calibration data included 12 of the 16 faces (missing Hathaway, RM, Redford, and Tan). Participants tested BCI performance by copying sentences and composing picture descriptions using both correction of errors and word prediction. Test data had an average of 552.8 selections per participant (range 388-633 selections). An offline analysis of the recorded selections was conducted using a Chi-squared test to assess whether accuracy was dependent on the face stimulus overlaying the intended target. Subsequent pairwise z-tests, with multiple comparison adjustments, were performed to identify the face stimuli that have significant differences in accuracy compared to others.

*Results:* The Chi-squared test showed significant differences in accuracy based on the face stimulus. Pairwise z-tests indicated that faces Hathaway, RM, and Tan had significantly lower accuracy than multiple other face stimuli. The percentage of intended selections per face varied from 0.43% to 13.64% (see Fig. 2). No statistically significant conclusions could be drawn for face Berry due to its infrequent selection rate (0.43%).

*Conclusion:* The 3 face stimuli with significantly lower performance were not included in the calibration session, which could contribute to the lower accuracy. The low percentage of times that these faces were the target also reduces the ability to access accuracy. Apart from these 3 faces the accuracy was relatively consistent between the different faces. Future studies should include all faces as targets in the calibration data and provide better balance of use of each face as the target during testing.

![](_page_242_Figure_9.jpeg)

Figure 2: Graph of the Accuracy and Intended selection rate of the 16 faces stimuli sorted by Intended selection rate. (\*) Mark low accuracy faces.

![](_page_242_Picture_11.jpeg)

Figure 1: *Tiled faces used as stimuli* (without the names) create visual contrast between adjacent faces.

Acknowledgments: Funded by National Institutes of Health (grant #SB1DC015142) through a grant to PRC-Saltillo, Wooster, Ohio, USA. Thanks to Katherine Colleran for her assistance with our data collection.

References:

[1] Kaufmann T, Schulz SM, Grünzinger C, Kübler A. Flashing characters with famous faces improves ERP-based brain-computer interface performance. J Neural Eng. 2011 Oct;8(5):056016

# Distinguishing foveal and peripheral vision from brain activity using fNIRS

MA Ramírez-Cruz<sup>1\*</sup>, CA Reyes-Garcia<sup>1</sup>, AS Sanchez-Sanchez<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Instituto Nacional de Astrofísica, Óptica y Electrónica, INAOE \*Luis Enrique Erro 1, Tonantzintla, Puebla, México. E-mail: manuel.ramirez@inaoep.mx

*Introduction:* Vision plays a crucial role in exploring our surroundings. It helps us to avoid dangerous situations and to respond to changes in the environment. The ability to recognize and interpret these scenarios is linked to the visual field, which is made up of both peripheral and foveal vision[1]. While foveal vision allows individuals to focus on specific details, peripheral vision enables to monitor what is happening around [2]. These aspects of vision provide essential information for performing daily tasks, such as navigation, where it's important to be aware of both the body's position and the objects nearby. We used fNIRS to detect differences in neural activity when central and peripheral vision stimuli are presented.

*Material, Methods and Results:* This study aims to determine whether fNIRS signals can distinguish cerebral responses to visual stimuli presented in central vision versus those in the peripheral. The experiment featured the projection of an optotype based on the Snellen chart that moved across the horizontal plane in two stages: first within the central vision, and then outside that field while the subject maintains focus on the center. Brain hemodynamic responses were recorded using the NIRx NIRScout device, which employed eight detectors and 16 emitters arranged over the somatosensory cortex and occipital lobe. Data processing was carried out using a custom Python algorithm, which performed a comparative analysis of various classification models based on statistical features and determined channels exhibiting the most significant differences. As a result, the algorithm distinguished between events involving foveal and peripheral vision. Additionally, it was possible to identify the region where variability is greater (see Fig. 1) and also determine that the Boosted Trees model achieved the highest classification accuracy (0.833) in these instances.

*Conclusion:* This study demonstrates the capability of fNIRS to distinguish neural activity between central and peripheral vision, highlighting its potential as a less invasive method for monitoring brain activity. Simultaneously, it provides valuable insights for the development of Brain-Computer Interface (BCI) systems using fNIRS-based neural signals to assist with navigation through vision. These findings serve as a starting point for future research, setting the stage for the creation of more advanced systems aimed at improving navigation and interaction through neural signals.

![](_page_243_Figure_8.jpeg)

Figure 1: Region identified with significant difference in central and peripheral vision

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This work was made possible through funding from CONAHCYT and the resources provided by INAOE.

<sup>[1]</sup> Stewart EEM, Valsecchi M, Schütz AC. A review of interactions between peripheral and foveal vision. In *Journal of Vision*, 20(12):2–2, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1167/jov.20.12.2

 <sup>[2]</sup> Vater C, Wolfe B, Rosenholtz R. Peripheral vision in real-world tasks: A systematic review. In *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 29(5):1531–1557, 2022. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-022-02117-w

# Smart Gel-Enabled EEG Systems for Brain-Computer Interfaces in Children with Profound Motor Impairments

Zhitong Lin<sup>1</sup>, Hyun-Joong Chung<sup>1\*</sup>, Eli Kinney-Lang<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada; <sup>2</sup>University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada \*9211 116 St NW, Edmonton, AB, Canada, <u>chung3@ualberta.ca</u>; 2500 University Dr NW, Calgary, AB, Canada, <u>eli.kinneylang@ucalgary.ca</u>

#### Introduction:

Millions of children worldwide are cognitively capable but unable to move or speak, leaving families seeking solutions to support their right to play, communicate, and interact. Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) offer a groundbreaking opportunity for these children to engage with their environment [1]. However, children remain significantly underserved in BCI research, with less than 2% of studies focusing on this population [2]. Addressing this gap is critical to enabling these children to express themselves and benefit from assistive technologies. Current EEG headsets used in BCI systems face significant challenges in daily use. For all-day measurement, the current EEG technology requires manual injection of conductive hydrogel into each electrode. The gel is commercially available and has toothpaste-like consistency. After applying it for a day, the gel dries up, gets jammed to hair, and is laborious to wash off. In addition, the current headsets require restrictive chin straps and transverse tightening to ensure for high-quality signals obtained using the conductive gel. For children with smaller head shapes and repetitive movements, overtightened caps cause discomfort, particularly for those with hypersensitivity. These barriers often force children to rely on less effective headsets, limiting their ability to benefit from BCI advancements and the life-changing potential of this technology [3].

#### Material, Methods and Results:

To improve on the current EEG headset design, a smart gel-enabled EEG system is under developing for practical daily EEG use. A polyampholyte sticky conductive gel is designed to transition from a solid-like consistency with firm adhesion to a water-like flow on demand. The precursor solutions are polymerized under UV for 8-10 hours to form the sticky conductive gel. When the gel is in the solidlike state, the highly adhesive property of the gel ensures firm adhesion between the scalp and the electrodes. The developed gel can also extend extensively with unaffected electrical conductivity. This allows EEG headset to experience head movements but still ensures high quality signals and adequate adhesion between the electrodes and the scalp. When needed, the bonding in the polyampholyte hydrogel can be disrupted by high concentration of salt. As a result, the solid-like gel is transitioned into a water-like flow using salt water. This transition in consistency allows for easier cleanup process after the end of the headset usage. This sticky hydrogel has been tested and compared to the current commercially available gel typically used in BCI systems. The EEG Quality Index was calculated and compared between the two gels under several different conditions including with and without the use of the chin strap. The preliminary data has indicated our proposed hydrogel was able to maintain a greater similarity in signal quality to the cleaned epoch of data even once the chin strap was released, as compared to the commercially available gel.

#### Conclusion:

This early result highlights the potential of our proposed gel to maintain high signal quality without applying continuous tension. With the highly adhesiveness and the controlled detachment of proposed gel, the EEG headset design is promising in providing reliable signals in less constrained conditions making the headset suitable for more situations in real life.

- Kinney-Lang E, Floreani ED, Hashemi N, Kelly D, Bradley SS, Horner C, Irvine B, Jadavji Z, Rowley D, Sadybekov I, Tou SLJ, Zewdie E, Chau T, Kirton A. Handbook of Human-Machine Systems. Ch 4. Pediatric Brain-Computer Interfaces: An Unmet Need. John Wiley & Sons, 2023.
- Kirton A. A Moral Imperative to Advance Brain-Computer Interfaces for Children with Neurological Disability. JAMA pediatrics. 177, 751-752, 2023
- [3] Jadavji Z, Zewdie E, Kelly D, Kinney-Lang E, Robu I, Kirton A. Establishing a Clinical Brain-Computer Interface Program for Children With Severe Neurological Disabilities. Cureus. 14, e26215, 2014.

# Parametric control of neurons in IT cortex as a stringent generalization test for deep encoding models

Jacob S. Prince<sup>1</sup>\*, Binxu Wang<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Akshay V. Jagadeesh<sup>3</sup>, Thomas Fel<sup>1,2</sup>, Emily Lo<sup>1</sup>, George A. Alvarez<sup>1</sup>, Margaret S. Livingstone<sup>3</sup>, Talia Konkle<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, USA; <sup>2</sup>Kempner Institute for the Study of Natural and Artificial Intelligence, Cambridge, MA, USA; <sup>3</sup>Harvard Medical School, Cambridge, MA, USA

\*33 Kirkland St., Cambridge, MA, USA. E-mail: jprince@g.harvard.edu

Introduction: Deep neural network (DNN) models have potential to transform our understanding of how sensory inputs are processed in cortex. While many models increasingly achieve high neural predictivity, a critical question is whether their predictive capacity generalizes robustly beyond the original training domain. We propose that a model's ability to control neural responses—rather than merely predict them-serves as a powerful indicator of such generalization. Materials, Methods and Results: Using neural recordings in macaque inferotemporal (IT) cortex, we compared two DNN-based encoding models: a standard ResNet-50 and an adversarially robust variant. Both achieved comparable predictive performance (R<sup>2</sup>) for natural images, yet differed substantially in their capacity for *parametric control*. We used an explainable AI method called "feature accentuation" to synthesize new images that systematically varied along each model's encoding axes. These accentuated stimuli were then presented to the same animal under identical conditions the next day. We found that stimuli from the robust model achieved precise modulation of neural firing: responses reliably and predictably aligned with each feature level. In contrast, baseline ResNet-derived stimuli showed far weaker parametric control. Qualitative analyses further showed that robust model accentuations emphasized cohesive object-like contours, whereas baseline accentuations altered mostly textural patterns. Conclusion: Parametric control offers a stronger test of whether an encoding model has genuinely identified the features represented in neural populations. This form of generalization will be essential for encoding-model-based BCI systems that must reliably operate under new conditions and stimuli. By identifying models whose representations support accurate neural modulation, this approach paves the way for more robust, flexible BCIs.

![](_page_245_Figure_7.jpeg)

Figure 1: (a) Schematic of the feature accentuation pipeline, which uses a DNN's encoding axes to generate "drive" and "suppress" stimuli at even intervals. (b) Example accentuated images from baseline vs. robust models. (c) Pilot data reveal stronger parametric control by the robust ResNet-50 (right) than by the baseline ResNet-50 (left), as indicated by higher correlations between predicted and recorded responses.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: This research was supported by NSF CAREER BCS-1942438 (TK), and an NDSEG grant (JSP).

#### CC BY 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en This CC license does not apply to third party material and content noted otherwise.

## Learning cause and effect using a BCI: two case studies

A. Corinne Tuck<sup>1</sup>\*, B. John Andersen<sup>1,2</sup>, C. Hosein Bahari<sup>1</sup>, D. Jonathan R. Wolpaw<sup>3,4</sup>, E. Jonathan S Carp<sup>3,4</sup>, F. Theresa M. Vaughan<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>BCI Program, Imagination Ctr, Glenrose Rehab Hosp, Edmonton, AB, CA; <sup>2</sup>Dept Pediatrics, Univ Alberta, Edmonton; AB, CA; <sup>3</sup>National Center for Adaptive Neurotechnologies (NCAN), Stratton VAMC, Albany, NY, USA; <sup>4</sup>Dept BMS, Univ Albany (SUNY), Albany, NY, USA

113 Holland Avenue, Albany, NY 12208 USA. E-mail: corinne.tuck@ahs.ca

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interface (BCI)-based interventions are inherently complex, making causal mechanistic studies difficult and expensive. Consequently, few BCI technologies have been translated to the clinic or to daily use. New recognition that the central nervous system (CNS) remains plastic throughout life, and new understanding of how muscle-based skills are learned and maintained can provide insight into how a BCI might provide opportunities for translation. The new *Heksor/Negotiated Equilibrium* paradigm explains how skills are acquired and maintained in the continually changing CNS. The network of neurons and synapses that maintains a skill was recently given the name heksor [1]. The concurrent adaptations of overlapping heksors require a *negotiated equilibrium* of CNS properties that ensures the maintenance of all their skills [2]. In this environment, targeted plasticity can have broad effects. Here, we present case studies of two individuals for whom BCI training improved ostensibly unrelated aspects of their CNS function. Further insight into how a BCI might emulate CNS processes and function more like muscle-based skills may improve BCI reliability and hold hope for widespread use of BCIs in translation.

*Materials, Methods and Results:* Participants were two non-speaking males with no useful motor control. P1, age 16, was diagnosed with cerebral palsy and was blind. P2, age 5, was diagnosed with GM3 synthase deficiency and had impaired vision and audition of cortical origin. Both were discharged from standard-of-care rehabilitation therapy due to failure to progress. Subsequently, they were enrolled in and completed 13 (P1) and 7 (P2) EEG-based motor imagery sessions (S). Signals were recorded with the Emotiv Epoc X cap and 14 saline Ag/AgCl electrodes at standard locations using Emotiv software. At each session, participants were asked to calibrate their BCI by following verbal instructions to either relax or imagine moving [pushing (P1), or hand tapping (P2)] 7-10 times for each condition. During sessions, P1 used the Assistive Technology Hub to turn on music and P2 used the Think2Switch to activate and maintain a switch-adaptive bubble maker. Level of engagement was followed using the Pediatric Rehabilitation Intervention Measure of Engagement - Service Provider version (PRIME-SP) (Scale 0-3, for affective, behavioral, and cognitive involvement) [3].

Both P1 and P2 demonstrated an understanding of cause and effect by session (S)2 of BCI training, i.e., they used motor imagery to successfully control their BCI. Both have re-entered regular hospital therapy where they continue to use a BCI, and, additionally, to practice with a conventional mechanical switch–P1 practicing with either hand and P2 practicing left finger movement. Prior to BCI training, PRIME SP scores for both participants were 0-1 for all categories. At Screening, P1 was rated at 3 for affective, 2 for behavioral and cognitive involvement. P2 was rated at 2 for affective, 1 for behavioral and cognitive. At S13, P1 was rated 3 for affective, behavioral and cognitive, and at S6, P2 was rated: 3 for affective, 2 for behavioral and cognitive. These scores indicate high engagement.

*Conclusion:* These two examples of improved ostensibly unrelated aspects of CNS function could reflect a re-negotiated equilibrium between heksors. However, these observations must be confirmed through investigation into the signals used for BCI control and into the repeatability and longevity of these effects.

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: We thank Eli Kinney-Lang and the BCI4KIDS program. NCAN support provided by NIH/NIBIB P41 EB018783 (Wolpaw) and Stratton VA Medical Center. The authors have no conflicts of interest.

- Wolpaw JR, Kamesar A. Heksor: the central nervous system substrate of an adaptive behaviour. J Physiol. 2022 Aug;600(15):3423-3452. doi: 10.1113/JP283291. Epub 2022 Jul 19. PMID: 35771667; PMCID: PMC9545119.
- Wolpaw JR. The negotiated equilibrium model of spinal cord function. J Physiol. 2018 Aug;596(16):3469-3491. doi: 10.1113/JP275532.
  Epub 2018 Jul 10. PMID: 29663410; PMCID: PMC6092289.
- [3] King G, Chiarello LA, McLarnon MJW, Einarson KM, Pinto M. Reliability and validity of a measure of service providers' perceptions of child and parent engagement in pediatric rehabilitation therapy sessions. Child Care Health Dev. 2024 Sep;50(5):e13319. doi: 10.1111/cch.13319. PMID: 39090032.

## Neural Symbolic Regression for Interpretable & Efficient Brain-Computer Interfaces

A. Minhas<sup>1,2</sup>\*, E. Kinney-Lang<sup>1,3</sup>, A. Kirton<sup>1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Cumming School of Medicine, <sup>2</sup>Neurosciences; <sup>3</sup>Biomedical Engineering. University of Calgary, Canada. <sup>\*2500</sup> University Drive NW, Calgary, AB, Canada, T2N 1N4. E-mail: araz.minhas @ucalgary.ca

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) offer transformative potential for underserved populations like children with neurological disabilities, by enabling environmental interaction via direct neural signals<sup>[1]</sup>. Scalable deep learning (DL) algorithms needed to learn from these signals effectively are central to improving BCI performance. However, the black-box nature and computational demands of DL pose many challenges to clinical deployment, mechanistic research, patient accessibility and do not provide the adaptability needed for pediatric BCI applications, wherein each child's unique neurodevelopmental profile necessitates continually-learning algorithms that can support personalized solutions.

*Material, Methods and Results:* We present a novel DL architecture that addresses these challenges by learning concise, interpretable mathematical expressions, while serving as a drop-in replacement for the most common DL module in DL/BCI pipelines– multilayer perceptrons (MLPs). Unlike traditional MLPs that learn opaque representations, our symbolic regression (SR) model aims to discover simple equations that describe the underlying relationships in data, and builds on past neuro-symbolic methods<sup>[2]</sup> by introducing: (1) self-compressive training via adaptive pruning, quantization and hyperparameter selection; (2) single-phase training compatible with standard DL workflows; (3) support for discontinuous operators via neural arithmetic logic units<sup>[3]</sup>; and (4) automatic feature selection for high-dimensional datasets. Preliminary evaluation on BCI Competition IV Dataset 2a<sup>[4]</sup> with standard training features demonstrate that the symbolic expressions obtained achieve higher classification accuracy than MLPs (52% vs. 47%), reduce model size by ~91%, inference time by ~83% and yield readable equations to compute classification class probabilities for motor imagery (Fig. 1c). Such interpretability may enable neurophysiological hypothesis generation, and the reduced computational overhead can facilitate deployment on resource-constrained devices common in clinical settings.

*Conclusion*: These improvements in efficiency and interpretability provide a foundation for more accessible and personalized BCI systems– aspiring to benefit pediatric applications where understanding individual variation and enabling widespread deployment are crucial for clinical success.

![](_page_247_Figure_8.jpeg)

Figure 1: *A)* Proposed self-compressive architecture that maintains concise symbolic representations across training. *B)* Classification performance across subjects compared to standard multilayer perceptron (MLP). *C)* Example of learnt symbolic classifiers for Subject 1 (C3/C4  $\approx$  motor cortex electrodes; CSP = Common Spatial Pattern features; NLEO = Nonlinear Energy Operator;  $\mu$ -power  $\approx$  motor-related mu-band power). *D)* Model compression and inference time comparisons against standard MLP (n = 5).

- [1] Kinney-Lang, E., Floreani, E. D., ... & Kirton, A. (2023). Pediatric Brain-Computer Interfaces: An Unmet Need. Handbook of Human-Machine Systems, 35-48.
- [2] Martius, G., & Lampert, C. H. (2016). Extrapolation and learning equations. arXiv preprint arXiv:1610.02995.
- [3] Trask, Andrew, et al. "Neural arithmetic logic units." Advances in neural information processing systems 31 (2018).
- [4] Brunner, C., Leeb, R., Müller-Putz, G., Schlögl, A., & Pfurtscheller, G. (2008). BCI Competition 2008–Graz data set A. Institute for knowledge discovery (laboratory of brain-computer interfaces), Graz University of Technology, 16, 1-6.

## **Improving Speech Perception Through Brain-Driven Target Speech Selection**

Vishal Choudhari<sup>1,2</sup>, Maximilian Nentwich<sup>3</sup>, Sarah Johnson<sup>3</sup>, Stephan Bickel<sup>3</sup>, Ashesh D. Mehta<sup>3</sup>, Adeen Flinker<sup>4</sup>, Daniel Friedman<sup>4</sup>, Edward F. Chang<sup>5</sup>, Nima Mesgarani<sup>1,2\*</sup> (nima@ee.columbia.edu)

<sup>1</sup>Columbia University, <sup>2</sup>Mortimer B. Zuckerman Mind Brain Behavior Institute, <sup>3</sup>Northwell Health, <sup>4</sup>New York University School of Medicine, <sup>5</sup>University of California San Francisco

**Introduction**: Environments with multiple competing conversations and background noise create significant challenges for focusing on a single speaker, particularly for individuals with hearing difficulties. Current hearing aids rely on techniques like directional microphones and beamforming, which often fail to align with the wearer's dynamic listening intent. Auditory attention decoding (AAD) presents a promising alternative by using neural data to identify the listener's target of attention and selectively enhance the desired speech signal relative to background noise.

**Gap**: While extensive research has focused on improving AAD algorithmic accuracy in offline settings, there has been limited exploration of real-time, closed-loop systems. Existing non-invasive approaches, though valuable, often exhibit slower response times and reduced accuracy. Importantly, no prior studies have demonstrated improved listening outcomes such as speech intelligibility or listening effort reduction. This leaves a critical gap in understanding the practical benefits of real-time AAD systems.

**Methods**: We developed and evaluated a real-time closed-loop AAD system (Figure 1A) with four self-reported normal-hearing participants (S1-S4) implanted with brain electrodes during epilepsy treatment. Participants were tasked with focusing on one of two competing conversations while the system dynamically adapted to their attention shifts.

**Results**: Utilizing invasive electroencephalography (iEEG), the system accurately decoded and enhanced the attended conversation. This led to significant improvements in speech intelligibility (Figure 1B) and reduced listening effort (Figure 1C), as corroborated by pupillometry. Importantly, participants could seamlessly switch attention between the two competing conversations, with the system adapting dynamically to their shifts in focus. All participants reported that the system would be useful, and psychophysical testing on individuals with hearing impairments further validated its effectiveness.

**Significance**: This study is the first to demonstrate that real-time, closed-loop AAD can improve both objective and subjective hearing outcomes. By bridging the gap between decoding success and practical auditory benefits, this work marks a significant step toward the development of brain-controlled hearing devices capable of improving auditory experiences in challenging listening environments for both normal-hearing and hard-of-hearing individuals.

![](_page_248_Figure_10.jpeg)

CC BY 4.0 https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/deed.en This CC license does not apply to third party material and content noted otherwise

## Unsupervised Manifold Stabilization Method for Across-Session Brain-Computer Interface Decoding

Mohammadali Ganjali<sup>1</sup>, Abed Khorasani<sup>2</sup>, Alireza Mehridehnavi<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biomedical Engineering Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran; <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurology, Northwestern University Chicago, IL, 60611, USA; \* P.O.Box: 8174673461 Isfahan, Iran. E-mail: mehri@med.mui.ac.ir

*Introduction:* Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) aim to convert cortical activities into motor commands to operate external devices, offering hope for individuals with movement disorders such as spinal cord injury (SCI). However, a major challenge for real-time BCIs is the variability in neural activities across sessions, requiring frequent recalibration to maintain decoding accuracy. One solution involves projecting neural signal onto low-dimensional manifolds and aligning them using methods such as canonical correlation analysis (CCA). However, CCA relies on knowing the subject's true intentions, such as target direction, which is often impractical in real-world applications. To address this, we developed an unsupervised approach to estimate target direction prior to alignment.

*Material, Methods, and Results:* An automatic algorithm Unsupervised Neural Manifold Alignment Decoding (UnMAD), was proposed to decode movement parameters without requiring target labels. UnMAD integrates three main stages: (1) Dimensionality reduction for extracting manifolds, (2) Discrete trajectory decoding for predicting target labels, and (3) Continuous movement decoding for aligning and decoding. We evaluated the proposed approach against two baseline methods: a supervised decoder that calibrates using day-k neural and behavioral data, and an unsupervised algorithm called distribution alignment decoding (DAD). DAD matches predicted movements on day k with historical manifold distributions through distribution alignment techniques. The primary goal was to decode 2D velocity (Fig. 1 A) from the neural activity of the primary motor cortex of two monkeys (Monkey C and Monkey M) during a reach center-out task. UnMAD compensated for manifold variability across two different recording sessions in two monkeys, increasing the average correlation between manifolds from R=0.47 (before UnMAD) to R=0.97 (after UnMAD). In decoding movement velocities (Fig. 1B-D) UnMAD outperformed unsupervised DAD approach in the average decoding performance ( $R^2$ = 0.65 vs. 0.21). Also, UnMAD achieved 84% of the decoding performance of the CCA supervised method ( $R^2$ = 0.65 vs. 0.77).

*Conclusion:* UnMAD provides an unsupervised approach for stabilizing neural manifolds without requiring target labels, making it promising for clinical applications of BCIs for individuals with SCIs.

R n С Δ DAD (R2 = 0.13 & R = 0.56) 40 Actual 2D Velocities UnMAD (R2 = 0.68 & R = 0.83) CCA (R2 = 0.78 & R = 0.88) 40 Vertical Velocity 20 0 -20 -40 -20 -60 <sup>\_\_</sup> -60 -40 └--40 -4 ' -3 -40 └ -40 -20 0 20 40 40 -2 3 -1 0 2 Horizontal Velocity

Acknowledgments and Disclosures: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Figure 1: Representation of hand 2D velocities and decoding performances. (A) *Actual 2D velocity*. (B-D) Comparison of predicted hand velocities of Monkey C using three different methods, UnMAD (B), DAD (C), and CCA (D). Each dot represents a time point, and different colors correspond to the eight distinct target directions.

- Gallego JA, Perich MG, Chowdhury RH, Solla SA, Miller LE. Long-term stability of cortical population dynamics underlying consistent behavior. Nature neuroscience. 2020 Feb;23(2):260-70.
- [2] Dyer EL, Gheshlaghi Azar M, Perich MG, Fernandes HL, Naufel S, Miller LE, Körding KP. A cryptography-based approach for movement decoding. Nature biomedical engineering. 2017 Dec;1(12):967-76.
- [3] Ganjali M, Mehridehnavi A, Rakhshani S, Khorasani A. Unsupervised Neural Manifold Alignment for Stable Decoding of Movement from Cortical Signals. Int. J. Neural Syst.. 2024 Jan 1;34(1):2450006-1.

# Brain-Informed Auditory Scene Understanding: A Listener-Aware Auditory Foundation Model for Personalized Speech Processing

Xilin Jiang<sup>1,2</sup>, Sukru Samet Dindar<sup>1,2</sup>, Vishal Choudhari<sup>1,2</sup>, Stephan Bickel<sup>3,4</sup>, Ashesh D. Mehta<sup>3,4</sup>, Catherine Schevon<sup>5</sup>, Guy M. McKhann<sup>5</sup>, Adeen Flinker<sup>6</sup>, Daniel Friedman<sup>6</sup>, Nima Mesgarani<sup>1,2\*</sup> (nima@ee.columbia.edu)

<sup>1</sup>Columbia University, <sup>2</sup>Mortimer B. Zuckerman Mind Brain Behavior Institute, <sup>3</sup>Hofstra Northwell School of Medicine, <sup>4</sup>The Feinstein Institutes for Medical Research, <sup>5</sup>Department of Neurology, Columbia University, <sup>6</sup>New York University School of Medicine

**Introduction:** Auditory foundation models represented by auditory large language models (LLMs) process speech and text inputs to analyze speech mixtures, recognize speakers, and transcribe content. However, they operate independently of the listener's perceptual experience, treating all auditory inputs equally. In reality, auditory perception is inherently selective—different listeners focus on different elements of the same acoustic scene at different times. We introduce a novel foundation model that extends auditory LLMs beyond traditional multimodal inputs by incorporating neural data from the listener, enabling personalized auditory scene understanding.

**Gap:** While multimodal foundation models integrate text and audio, they lack a mechanism to account for individual auditory attention. Existing models cannot distinguish between foreground and background speech based on the listener's intent, limiting their ability to provide personalized responses about the scene. Prior research in auditory attention decoding (AAD) has demonstrated that neural signals can reveal which speaker a person is focusing on, but this has not been integrated into auditory LLMs for selective response generation.

**Methods:** We introduce an attention-aware framework that integrates neural recordings into an auditory LLM, enabling selective speech processing. Our approach consists of two key steps. First, using intracranial EEG (iEEG) data, we decode the listener's auditory focus, predicting an attention token that represents the attended speaker. This token is derived from speaker-specific neural features, allowing the model to differentiate between attended and ignored speech sources. Next, the predicted attention token is incorporated into an auditory LLM's input, allowing it to generate responses that align with the listener's perceptual focus. A chain-of-thought reasoning mechanism ensures that transcriptions, summaries, and speech enhancements prioritize the listener's intended speaker while also enabling background summarization if needed.

**Results:** Our model enables a range of listener-personalized tasks, including speaker-aware transcription, selective speech enhancement, and customized background summarization. Experimental results demonstrate that the model can accurately extract and process speech from the attended source while filtering out distractions, outperforming traditional auditory foundation models that lack neural integration.

**Significance:** This work represents the first integration of listener-specific neural signals into a foundation model for auditory scene understanding, bridging the gap between passive speech processing and human-centered auditory AI. By extending auditory LLMs beyond text and audio to include neural data, we move toward AI systems that dynamically adapt to human perception. This advancement has significant implications for assistive hearing technologies, human-computer interaction, and personalized AI-driven auditory experiences.

![](_page_250_Figure_10.jpeg)

# Extensive, non-uniform neural activation from intracortical electrical stimulation drives weak sensory perception in mice

Jordan Hickman<sup>1</sup>, Daniel Denman, PhD<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus

correspondence email: jordan.hickman@cuanschutz.edu

*Introduction:* Electrical brain stimulation (EBS) is a powerful tool for modulating neural activity and influencing behavior, with growing potential for use in cortical prostheses to evoke perceptible sensations and provide sensory feedback. While biophysical models and clinical psychophysics offer insights into EBS effectiveness, *in vivo* validation is limited. This project aims to directly measure neural responses to single pulses of EBS in mouse V1 with high spatial precision, exploring the volume of evoked potentials, direct and circuit-wide responses of single neurons, and what EBS-evoked neural activity drives detectable sensations.

Material, methods, and results: We simultaneously implanted three Neuropixels orthogonal to a stimulating electrode in mouse primary visual cortex, allowing threedimensional sampling of neural tissue around a source of stimulation. First, the volume of the evoked potential increases sublinearly with stimulation amplitude. Further, the shape of the evoked potential was non-uniform, extending asymmetrically through cortex and less likely to penetrate subcortically beyond the corpus callosum (figure 1a). Next, we explored the direct single unit spiking response within the volume of activated tissue. Increasing amplitude recruits more directly responsive cells (example unit in figure 1b), but overall activation remains sparse, peaking

![](_page_251_Figure_7.jpeg)

Figure 1 a) asymmetric evoked potential (blue) with anatomical borders. b) example raster of direct responding unit. c) stacked raster of single units extending subcortically (left) and through cortex (right). d) behavioral detection of visual and EBS stimuli (single pulses: blue, trains: purple)

at ~10%. Fast-spiking units (putative inhibitory cells) were more likely to be directly activated and clustered closer to the electrode than regular-spiking units. Despite sparse direct activation of single units, we observed large, synchronous circuit responses spreading asymmetrically through the cortex but not subcortically (figure 1c). Lastly, we tested the behavioral availability of single pulses and trains of V1 EBS compared to visual stimuli of varying contrasts. The same single pulses that generated large, evoked potentials and synchronous circuit responses were weakly detected, comparable to 2-4% contrast visual stimuli, while high frequency trains were more detectable, comparable to 8% contrast visual stimuli (figure1d).

*Conclusion:* Overall, we show that the volume of evoked potentials is non-uniform, direct singleunit activation is sparse, and circuit responses are large and asymmetric yet weakly behaviorally available. Together, this suggests that EBS nonuniformly propagates through neural tissues, influenced by anatomical heterogeneity such as white matter boundaries and functional connectivity. Further, these results provide critical insights into the importance of neural specificity over activation strength when applying EBS to write information into the brain and call for spatiotemporal stimulation patterns that may better recapitulate sensory stimuli.
## Semantic Decoding Advances in BCI via the Novel Graded Inventory of Semantic Triggers (GIST)

J.J. Podmore<sup>1</sup>, M. Radman<sup>1</sup>, S. Paulmann<sup>2</sup>, R. Poli<sup>1</sup>, I. Daly<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Brain-Computer Interfaces and Neural Engineering Laboratory, School of Computer Science and Electronic Engineering, University of Essex, UK; <sup>2</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Essex, UK \*Postcode: CO4 3SQ, Wivenhoe Park, Colchester, Essex, England. E-mail: jp24194@essex.ac.uk

*Introduction:* Semantic decoding involves directly mapping neural activity to concepts, offering the potential to communicate entire concepts through *Semantic BCIs*, without having to translate them into words, e.g., via traditional BCI spellers [1]. This could significantly enhance information transfer rates, particularly for users with sensory impairments who cannot rely on exogenous stimuli for BCI control. Despite various paradigms for triggering semantic signals having been tested, significant challenges remain, such as the limited functional relevance of concept categories, confounding effects of cue stimuli, and delayed ideation during experiments.

Material, Methods and Results: To address existing limitations in semantic decoding experimental designs, we have developed a novel, gamified paradigm: the Graded Inventory of Semantic Triggers (GIST). GIST is specifically designed to enhance participant engagement and to more naturally evoke concepts, thereby increasing the strength of the associated semantic signals. Our paradigm, a wordguessing game adapted from [2] and [3], incorporates three semantic classes: food, musical instruments, and body parts. A unique set of 3 clues is presented for 432 trials. Each clue increases in specificity across the Superordinate (e.g., 'Is an organic object.'), Ordinate (e.g., 'Has the same colour as its name.') and Subordinate (e.g., 'Is high in vitamin C.') levels. Participants are instructed to perform a spacebar press when they have correctly identified the target word. This paradigm feature has been integrated to assist with intra-trial signal tracking and to boost participant engagement, as per [4]. Our preliminary analyses currently focus on the comprehensive extraction of signal features across different domains, feature selection using a fusion of filter-based methods and classification with Support Vector Machines (SVM). Thus far we have collected data from 8 participants, with the intention of collecting 20 participants in total. We have successfully classified all 2-class problem variants at the singleparticipant level, food vs musical instruments (avg.=72.5%, p<0.05), food vs body parts (avg.=73.2%, p < 0.05) and body parts vs musical instruments (avg.=73.3%, p < 0.05) in 4 of our 8 participants. Work is ongoing to enhance classification accuracies for the 3-class problem (food vs musical instruments vs body parts). Notably, the GIST paradigm demonstrates significant potential as the foundation for a mental imagery feedback training system that could enable real-time, bottom-up, concept decoding. GIST thus represents an important stepping-stone towards advancing BCI communication systems, with broad implications for the future of BCI design.

*Conclusion:* We introduce the Graded Inventory of Semantic Triggers (GIST): a gamified paradigm for naturally evoking semantic concepts and corresponding neural signals. Given our preliminary results, we believe that this platform and associated analysis pipeline will significantly improve the effectiveness of Semantic BCIs for communication applications.

Acknowledgements and Disclosures: This project is funded by the Leverhulme Trust (RPG-2023-207) and the authors give thanks to Prof. Luc Citi for their role as an advisor.

## *References:*

[1] M. Rybář and I. Daly, "Neural decoding of semantic concepts: A systematic literature review," Journal of Neural Engineering, vol. 19, no. 2, p. 021002, Apr. 2022.

[3] S. L. Kivisaari, M. van Vliet, A. Hultén, T. Lindh-Knuutila, A. Faisal, and R. Salmelin, "Reconstructing meaning from bits of information," Nature Communications, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 927, Feb. 2019.

[4] B. Murphy, M. Poesio, F. Bovolo, L. Bruzzone, M. Dalponte, and H. Lakany, "EEG decoding of semantic category reveals distributed representations for single concepts," Brain and Language, vol. 117, no. 1, pp. 12-22, 201

<sup>[2]</sup> G. Ghazaryan, M. van Vliet, A. Saranpää, L. Lammi, T. Lindh-Knuutila, A. Hultén, S. Kivisaari, and R. Salmelin, "Trials and tribulations when attempting to decode semantic representations from MEG responses to written text," Language, Cognition and Neuroscience, vol. 39, no. 9, pp. 1149-1160, Oct. 2024.

## Thank you to our Sponsors & Exhibitors



zander labs